










Small Business Regulatory Review Board Meeting 


Wednesday, July 19, 2017 


10:00 a.m. 


No. 1 Capitol District Building 


250 South Hotel Street, Honolulu, HI 


Conference Room 436 




David Y. Igc 
Governor 

Luis P. Salavcria 
DBEDT Director 

Members 

Anthony Borge 
Chai,person 

Oahu 

Robert Cundiff 
Vice Chai1perso11 

Oahu 

Garth Yamanaka 
2"d Vice Chai1person 

Maui 

Harris Nakamoto 
Oahu 

Nancy Atmospera-Walch 
Oahu 

Kyoko Kimura 
lvfaui 

Director, DBEDT 
Voting Ex Officio 

SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 


Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism (DBEDT) Tel 808 586-2594 
No. I Capitol District Bldg., 250 South Hotel St. 5m Fl., Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 2359, Honolulu, Hawaii 96804 
Email: DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov 
Website: dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb 

AGENDA 

Wednesday, July 19, 2017 * 10:00 a.m. 


No. 1 Capitol District Building 

250 South Hotel Street - Conference Room 436 


I. Call to Order 

II. Approval of June 28, 2017 Meeting Minutes 

III. Old Business 

A. 	Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments and the Small Business 
Statement After Public Hearing on Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR) 
Title 4, Chapter 161, Hawaii-Grown Industrial Hemp, promulgated by 
Depaiiment of Agriculture - Discussion Leader - Rob Cundiff 

IV. New Business 

A. 	Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 11 , 
Chapter 157, Examination and Immunization, promulgated by 
Depaiiment of Health - Discussion Leader - Harris Nakamoto 

B. 	Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to the "Interpretative 
Administrative Zoning Rules and Regulations (2014) of the Kauai Planning 
Commission," Relating to Chapter 8, 9, and 10 of the Kauai County Code 
(1987), Enforcement of KPAR 8-19, Kauai County Code, Chapter 8, 
Article 17, Relating to Transient Vacation Rentals of the Kauai County 
Code, promulgated by the County ofKauai Planning Commission 
Discussion Leader - Nancy Atmospera-Walch 

C. 	 Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Title 1, Rules of Practice 
and Procedure of the Kauai County Planning Commission (Codified May 
2014), as follows, promulgated by the County of Kauai Planning 
Commission - Discussion Leader - Nancy Atmospera-Walch 

1. 	 Chapter 9, Appeals from Actions of the Planning Director 
2. 	 Chapter 6, Agency Hearing Procedures 

V. Administrative Matters 

A. 	 Discussion with eGovernment Services & Customer Services Representative 
regarding the Development and Implementation of a New Website for the 
Board 

B. 	 Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Chapter 201M, Hawaii 
Revised Statutes (HRS) 

mailto:DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov


Small Business Regulatory Review Board 
July 19, 2017 
Page 2 

C. 	 Update on this Board's Newly Created Position, Office Assistant III 
D. 	 Update on the Board's Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in 

accordance with the Board's Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS 

VI. 	 Next Meeting: Scheduled for Wednesday, August 16, 2017, at 10:00 a.m., 
Capitol District Building, Conference Room 436, Honolulu, Hawaii 

VII. 	 Adjournment 

If you require special assistance or auxiliary aid and/or services to participate in the 
public hearing process (i.e., sign language, interpreter, wheelchair accessibility, or 
parking designated for the disabled), please call (808) 586-2594 at least three (3) 
business days prior to the meeting so arrangements can be made. 



II. Approval of June 28, 2017 Meeting Minutes 




Approved: _________ 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING - Draft 
Jun 28, 2017 
Conference Room 436 - No. 1 Capitol District Building, Honolulu, Hawaii 

I. 	 CALL TO ORDER: Chair Borge called the meeting to order at 10:01 p.m., with a quorum 
present. 

ABSENT MEMBERS: MEMBERS PRESENT: 
• 	 Anthony Borge, Chair • Garth Yamanaka, 2nd 


Vice Chair 
• 	 Robert Cundiff, Vice Chair 
• Kyoko Kimura • 	 Nancy Atmospera-Walch 

• 	 Harris Nakamoto 
• 	 David Sikkink 

STAFF:DBEDT Office of the Attorney General 

Dori Palcovich None 


II. 	 APPROVAL OF MAY 17, 2017 MINUTES 

Ms. Kimura made a motion to accept the May 17, 2017 minutes, as presented . Vice Chair 
Cundiff seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed . 

Ill. 	 OLD BUSINESS 

A. 	 Discussion and Action on proposed Amendments to Title 8 1 Chapter 101, Rules 
Governing the Manufacture and Sale of Intoxicating Liquor of the County of Maui, 
promulgated by the Department of Liquor Control, County of Maui 

Ms. Kimura explained that the amendments have already gone through public hearing and 
were adopted; however since then, there have been a lot of complaints by the community 
and even a lawsuit regarding some of the amendments. One major concern relates to the 
24-hour sales of retail licensees. 

Another concern requires every board member to disclose all fines, $25.00 or more, since he 
or she was eighteen years old. Ms. Kimura noted that many of the non-profit board 
members are over 70 years old and the fines would involve library fines, parking tickets, etc. 
Furthermore, if board members inadvertently forget to identify all the fines, it would be 
considered a falsification and they would be subject to having his or her membership 
revoked. 



Chair Borge stated that he encourages the Maui Liquor Commission to thoroughly vet the 
stakeholders' concerns, especially those involving the submission of past fines of non-profit 
board members. 

Ms. Kimura made a motion to proceed to public hearing in order to thoroughly address and 
vet the concerned issues brought forth by the small business stakeholders and the 
community, and to suggest changing some of the rules that were previously approved, 
particularly the requirement of non-profit board members disclosing information of past fines . 
Vice Chair Cundiff seconded the motion , and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

IV. NEW BUSINESS 

A. 	 Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Title 3, Rules of the Liquor 
Commission, City and County of Honolulu, State of Hawaii, promulgated by the 
City and County of Honolulu Liquor Commission 

1. 	Chapter 81, Liquor Commissions, Section 17.51 , License Fees 
2. 	 Chapter 81, Section 17.58, Trade Name; Change; Fee 
3. 	 Chapter 82, Licenses and Permits, General Provisions, Section 33.11, 

Applications for Individual Permits to Receive Shipments of Liquor 
4. 	 Chapter 82, Section 33.6, Direct Shipment of Wine by Wineries 
5. 	 Chapter 83, Procedure for Obtaining License, Section 54.1, Filing Fees 

Assistant Administrator, Ms. Anna Hirai, introduced Mr. Don Pacarro, Administrator, from the 
City and County of Honolulu Liquor Commission, and explained that the proposed rules 
represent the second of three major rule projects before this Board; the third project is 
expected to come in front of this Board sometime in 2018. 

The current amendments focus on proposed increased license fees, which has not occurred 
in several years. Extensive time to outreach was given to the stakeholders in order for the 
purpose of the increase to be fully understood and to solicit questions. On May 12th and the 
26th , meetings were held with much time explaining the significance of how the Liquor 
Commission is completely self-supporting with no financial assistance from the State's 
general fund , and that by law, it is unable to accumulate funds over successive years on 
large , extraordinary purchases. 

The Liquor Commission also discussed with the stakeholders the "fiscal picture" from 2005 
(the last time license fees were increased) to date, reporting that fiscal year 2017 revenues 
are expected to be at one of the lowest levels since 2011 . Every class of represented 
licensee, currently regulated, was invited to the meetings. 

Ms. Hirai explained that another main reason for the fee increase is due to the construction 
and implementation of the new custom-built computer system. At the stakeholder meetings, 
several questions and suggestions were made, of which, the Commission were open to. Ms. 
Hirai would like to go to public hearing within mid- to late-July for further vetting and 
feedback of the stakeholders. 

2 




It was explained that the licensees are subject to two different fees, the basic license fee that 
everyone is required to pay when licenses are renewed and an additional license fee that 
depends on what the businesses' reported gross liquor sales are; it is believed that paying 
this type of license is more equitable than the current process. Also noted was that the 
Commission is only allowed to keep twenty-percent (20%) of the monies collected. 

Chair Borge stated that the proposed fee increase is quite hefty, so this Board is appreciative 
of the Commission bringing the stakeholders into discussions before the formal public 
hearing. Ms. Hirai fully believes that Honolulu's Liquor Commission will have one of the 
most accurate data systems in liquor regulation as a vast number of licensees will now be 
able to administer their own input that allows for checking the accuracy of the on-line data. 

Ms. Kimura made a motion that the proposed rule amendments proceed to public hearing. 
Mr. Nakamoto seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

B. 	 Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Hawaii Administrative Rules 
to Title 11, Chapter 55, Water Pollution Control, promulgated by Department of 
Health (DOH) 

Mr. Alec Wong, Chief of DOH's Clean Water Branch , stated that he is looking to this Board 
for approval for the proposed rule amendments to go to public hearing, and explained that 
under these rules are the requirements of water pollution permits, which are part of the 
Federal Clean Water Act National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES). The 
NPDES is a permit system that authorizes certain types of point source discharges, as well 
as some storm water discharges, to surface water such as streams, lakes and oceans. 

The proposed rule revisions are meant to streamline the permitting process and include, 
among other requirements, updating the renewal terms and effective dates of the general 
permit, deleting the prohibition preventing General Permit coverages for discharges to Class 
AA (marine) and Class 1 (inland) State waters, and adding requirements for electronic 
reporting per federal regulations. Mr. Wong noted that the general filing fee for small 
businesses is reasonable at $500 and the renewal filing fee is $1,000; all fees are able to be 
renewed on-line, which is a benefit to businesses. 

Discussion leader, Mr. Nakamoto, stated that DOH's streamlining process of the rules is to 
be commended, and that DOH is very pro-active with its updates by addressing potential 
issues "now" rather than "later" as it relates to Hawaii's water quality. 

Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to support the proposed amendments and move them to 
public hearing. Ms. Kimura seconded the motion , and the Board members unanimously 
agreed. 

C. 	 Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 18, Chapter 231, 
Administration of Taxes, as follows, promulgated by Department of Taxation 
(Do Tax) 

Mr. Jacob Herlitz, DoTax Administrative Rules Specialist, and Supervisor, Ms. Kristen 
Sakamoto, discussed the following proposed rule amendments. 

3 




1. 	 Amendments to Section 3-14.17, Revocation of Licenses because of 
Abandonment 

Mr. Herlitz explained that in order to do business in the State of Hawaii, one must receive a 
general excise tax license. Once a license is received, one must then periodically file a 
return, even if no revenue is generated. When a company goes out of business, it is allowed 
to cancel its license and it will no longer be required to file a general excise tax return. 

However, a lot of companies that go out of business simply abandon their licenses. This has 
resulted in over a span of decades DoTax keeping a tremendous amount of backlogged 
abandoned licenses in its database. As DoTax is updating its records into a new computer 
system, it is imprudent to transfer hundreds of thousands of abandoned licenses into the 
new system. 

Therefore, in order to remove the old , abandoned licenses, DoTax will be publishing on its 
website that licensees will have 45 days to notify DoTax that their licenses are no longer 
required. DoTax will then revoke the licenses and get a fresh start with the current, existing 
licenses. However, even if down the road, a license is removed from the new system, it can 
still be recaptured from the old system if the business still exists. 

Chair Borge asked if DoTax's system to file on-line was revamped to be more "user friendly." 
In response, it is Mr. Herlitz's understanding that the people working on the new system are 
ironing out the glitches. 

Testifier, Mr. Reg Baker, recommended that Hawaii attorneys be notified of DoTax's ·new 
abandonment policy. This is because attorneys create "shelf corporations" in order to 
receive GET licenses when taxes are filed resulting in a lot of abandoned licenses for "shelf 
corporations" that need to be removed from the system. Ms. Kimura recommended that 
management companies be notified of the new abandonment process, and Mr. Sikkink 
suggested that a general notice be provided in a local publication. 

Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move the proposed amendments to public hearing. Mr. 
Sikkink seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

2. Proposed New Section 3-14.26, Registration of Representatives 

Mr. Herlitz explained that this proposed new rule gives DoTax the authority to require a 
person who represents a taxpayer to register with DoTax; the representatives may be CPA's, 
attorneys, or anyone who would otherwise be allowed to register. No fee is involved in 
registering; it simply allows the registered person to access and have authorization to the 
taxpayer's information. 

Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move the proposed new rule to public hearing. Ms. Kimura 
seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

4 




3. Amendments to Section 9.9-03, Taxpayers Subject to EFT Program 

Mr. Herlitz explained that the proposed amendments to the electronic funds transfer program 
allows DoTax the authority to enroll taxpayers/small businesses with taxable income of 
$100,000 or more a year into the EFT program, which then allows them to pay their taxes 
electronically. 

Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move the proposed amendments to public hearing. Ms. 
Kimura seconded the motion , and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

D. 	 Discussion and Action on HAR Title 18, Chapter 237, General Excise Tax Law, 
as follows, promulgated by DoTax 

1. 	 Amendments to Section 8.6, County Surcharge 

Ms. Sakamoto explained that when a business pays excise tax, they are required to report 
on its tax return the method as to where the gross income and gross proceeds go to each 
county. The proposed amendments will simplify the allocation method by eliminating the 
"nexus" analysis, which is currently an extra step. In addition, the amendments will 
automatically determine allocation of gross income and gross proceeds from services. 

Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move the proposed amendments to public hearing. Vice 
Chair Cundiff seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed . 

2. 	 Proposed New Section 29.53, Exported Services 

Ms. Sakamoto explained that because there are currently no rules within DoTax for exported 
services, this proposal provides for thirteen new sections which will clarify how to determine 
whether gross income, derived from services or contracting, is exempt from the general 
excise tax as exported services or contracting. Overall, this new section is expected to guide 
the taxpayer in filing exported services correctly, as there is no guidance right now from 
DoTax. 

Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move these new proposed rules to public hearing. Vice 
Chair Cundiff seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed . 

V. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

A. 	 Discussion and Action on this Board's Nominations of Proposed Board Members for 
Submission to the Governor, including Larry Anderson, Reg Baker, Pamela Tumpap, 
David S. Chang 

Chair Borge made a motion to submit the following names to the Governor for nominations 
of proposed members to this Board from Oahu: Messrs. Larry Anderson, Reg Baker, and 
David S. Chang; and from Kauai, Mr. Mark Perriello. Mr. Nakamoto seconded the motion , 
and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

5 




Staff will contact Ms. Pamela Tumpap, from Maui, to find out if she is still interested in 
becoming a member, and if so, to request that she register on-line with the Governor's 
boards and commissions website . 

B. 	 Discussion with an eGovernment Services & Customer Services Representative 
regarding the Development and Implementation of a New Website for the Board 

Deferred until the next board meeting. 

C. 	 Update on the Board's Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance 
with the Board's Powers under Section 201 M-5, HRS 

Chair Borge stated that a table-top retractable sign with the Board's logo and mission 
statement is in the process of being created to be used for upcoming trade shows. 

It was announced that Chair Borge and Ms. Kimura were on Reg Baker's ThinkTech 
Hawaii stream-lined show, which is the second time this Board was asked to partake 
in the show. The show was aired on Thur~day, June 8th and is currently on youtube. 

VI. NEXT MEETING-The next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, July 19, 2017, in 
Conference Room 436, 250 South Hotel Street, Honolulu, Hawaii at 10:00 a.m. 

VII. ADJOURNMENT  Chair Borge made a motion to adjourn the meeting and 
Mr. Nakamoto seconded the motion ; the meeting adjourned at 11 :54 a.m. 

6 



III. Old Business 

A. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments and 
the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing on 
HAR Title 4, Chapter 161, Hawaii-Grown Industrial 
Hemp, promulgated by DoAg 



SMALL BUSINESS STATEMENT "AFTER" PUBLIC HEARING 

TO THE 


SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 

(Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), §201 M-3) 

Department or Agency: Agriculture 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: Chapter4-161 

Chapter Name: Hawaii-Grown Industrial Hemp 

Contact Person/Title: Jeri Kahana 

Phone Number: 832-0705 

E-mail Address: Jeri.M.Kahana@hawail.gov 	 Date: June26,2017 

A. 	 To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in 
HRS §92-7, please attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general 
description of the subjects involved. 

B. 	 Are the draft rules available for viewing ~erson and on the Lieutenant Governor's 
Website pursuant to HRS §92-7? Yes L{j No D 
(If "Yes" please provide webpage address and when and where rules may be 
viewed in person.) https://hdoa.hawaii .gov/wp-content/uploads/2013/01 /Hemp-proposed-rule-Ramsey~r.pdf , 

(Please keep the proposed rules on this webpage until after the SBRRB meeting.) 

I. 	 Rule Description: Newl/'I Repeal D Amendment D Compilation D 
II. 	 Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? Yesl/'INoO(lf "No" you do 

not need to submit this form.) 

* 	 "Affect small business" is defined as "any potential or actual requirement imposed 
upon a small business ... that will cause a direct and significant economic burden 
upon a small business, or is directly related to the formation, operation, or expansion 
of a small business." HRS §201 M-1 

* 	 "Small business" is defined as a "for-profit enterprise consisting of fewer than one 
hundred full-time or part-time employees." HRS §201 M-1 

Ill. 	Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that 
does not require the agenc~ inter~rr or describe the requirements of the 
statute or ordinance? YesLJ No /' (If "Yes" no need to submit this form.) 
(e.g., a federally-mandated regulation a does not afford the agency the discretion 
to consider less restrictive alternatives.) HRS §201 M-2(d) 

IV. 	Is the proposed rule being adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? 
(HRS §201 M-2(a)) Yes D No I/'I (If "Yes" no need to submit this form.) 

* * * . 

REVI SED 7/29/20 I 6 

https://hdoa.hawaii
mailto:Jeri.M.Kahana@hawail.gov


Small Business Statement after Public Hearing - Page 2 

I. 	 Please explain how the agency involved small business in the development 
of the proposed rules. 

Rules were developed following enactment of Act 228, SLH 2016. 

a. 	 Were there any recommendations incorporated into the proposed rules? 
If yes, explain. If not, why not? 

No. There were three testimonies in favor and one testimony in opposition of the proposed rules. There were no suggested 
recommendations. 

II. 	 If the proposed rule(s) affect small business, and are not exempt as noted 
above, please provide the following information: 

1. 	·A description of how opinions or comments from affected small businesses 
were solicited. 

The proposed rules were developed per the enactment of Act 228, SLH 2016. The 
proposed rules were presented to interested parties at various hemp conferences. 

2. A summary of the public's and small businesses' comments. 
There were three testifiers in support of the adoption of the rules, stating that it is a possible crop to help Hawaii become self-sustaining 
and help the environment. One testifier was in opposition, stating that the State of Hawaii and the United States government are both 
illegal entities in Hawaii, and was concerned on the possible effect it may have on the quality of medical marijuana from cross-pollination. 

3. 	 A summary of the agency's response to those comments. 

The department supported the proposed rules as written. 

4. 	 The number of persons who: 
(i) 	 Attended the public hearing: 14 

(ii) Testified at the hearing: 4 

(iii) Submitted written comments: o 

5. 	 Was a request made at the hearing to change the proposed rule in a way that 
affected small business? 
(i) 	 If "Yes" was the change adopted? Yes D No lv"I 
(ii) If No, please explain the reason the change was not adopted and the 

problems or negative result of the change. 

There were no requests to change the proposed rule. 

* * * 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board / DBEDT 


Phone: (808) 586-2594 / Email: sbrrb@dbedt.hawaii.gov 

This statement may be found on the SBRRB Website at: http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb-impact-statements


pre-and-post-public-hearing 


REVISED 7/29/20 16 

http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb-impact-statements
mailto:sbrrb@dbedt.hawaii.gov


DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE 


Adoption of Chapter 4-161 

Hawaii Administrative Rules 


<Date of Adoption> 


1. Chapter 4- 161, Hawaii Administrative Rules , 
entitled "HAWAII-GROWN INDUSTRIAL HEMP ," is adopted to 
read as follows: --- ------- -------- - ~ 

1 




DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE 


SUBTITLE 7 


QU~LITY ASSURANCE DIVISION 


CHAPTER 161 


HAWAII-GROWN INDUSTRIAL HEMP 


§4-161-1 Definitions 
§4-161- 2 Licensing 
§4 - 161-3 Reports 
§4-161-4 Duties 
§4-161-5 Testing and Sampl ing 
§4-161-6 Violations 
§4-161-7 Profits 
§4-161-8 Waiver 

' 

§ 4 - 161-1 Definitions . As used in this chapter : 
"Program" means the industrial hemp pilot 

program . 
"Applicant" means a person that is an individual 

residing in Hawaii or an institution of higher 
education, a sole proprietorship, partnership, 
association , corporation , limited liability 
corporation , limited liability partnership, or any 
other business entity having _any: 

(1) 	 Place of business permanently located within 
the State ; 

(2) 	 Employees permanently assigned to work 
stations or areas located within the Stat e ; 
or 

(3) 	 Tangible assets permanently located within 
the State . 

"Board" means the board of agriculture or the 
board' s designee . 

"Chairperson means the chairperson of the board 
of agriculture or the chairperson ' s designee . 

2 



"Department" means the department of agriculture . 
"Industrial hemp" means the plant Cannabis sativa 

L. and any part of that plant, whether growing or not , 
with a delta-9 tetrahydrocannabinol concentration of 
not more than 0.3 per cent on a dry matter basis or a 
tetrahydrocannabinol concent ration allowed by federal 
law , whichever is greater , that is cultivated . 

"Law enforcement" means the federal, state , and 
local agencies responsible for maintaining public 
order and enforcing the law. 

"Licensed land area" means a contiguous land area 
registered wi t h the department on which a licensee 
p l ans to cultivate industrial hemp. A licensed land 
area may include land and buildi ngs that are not used 
for cultivation. 

"Licensure" means authorization by the department 
for any individual or legal entity to grow industrial 
hemp on a licensed land area . 

"Movement" means the shifting of industrial hemp 
from a licensed land area to another location, or into 
a licensed land area from another location . 

"Seed cultivar" means a variety of industrial 
hemp. 

"Variety" means a group of individual plants that 
exhibit the same observable physical characteristics 
of have the same genetic composition. 
[Eff ] (Auth : HRS §141-40) ( I mp : HRS 
§141-31) 

§ 4 - 161-2 Licensing . (a) Each applicant for an 
industrial hemp license shall submit a signed , 
complete , accurate , and legible application, on a form 
provided by the department , as speci~ied by statute, 
in which the applicant plans to grow industrial hemp, 
which shal l include the following: 

(1) 	 The applicant's name , mailing address , and 
phone number in Hawaii and, if applicable 
electronic mail address; 

(2) 	 If the applicant is a n individual or 
partnership, the date 0£ birth of the 
individual or partners; 

3 



(3) 	 If the applicant is any business entity 
other than an individual, partnership , or 
institution of higher education 
documentation that the entity is authorized 
to do business in Hawaii; 

(4) 	 The cultivated variety that wi ll be sown; 
(5) 	 The source and amount of seed, cuttings, or 

seedlings to be used; 
(A) 	 If seed importation assistance from the 

department i s requested , ihe applicant 
shall be responsible for all costs 
associated with the seed purchase and 
importation. 

(B) 	 If cuttings or seedl ings are the 
app l icant ' s initi al source and are 
approved in a pre-planting report, a 
movement report shall be submitted 
prior to any movement of the cuttings 
or seedlings and shall include the 
location from which the product will be 
moved, t he mode of transportation, the 
location to which the product will be 
moved, and the seed cultivar of the 
product . The department may require 
inspection or sampling of the product 
prior to movement. 

(6) 	 The number of acres to be cultivated for 
seed , viable grain, industrial products, or 
any combination thereof ; 

(7) 	 The global positi oning system coordinates in 
decimal degrees from t he cent ral most point 
of the licensed land area and a map showing 
the location of the l icensed area in terms 
of its legal address or legal description; 

(8) 	 A statement that the applicant is the fee 
simple owner of the licensed l"and area to be 
used for the cultivation or a statement 
signed by the fee simple owner of the 
licensed land area indicating that the owner 
has consented to that use; 

(9) 	 The address of the place in Hawaii where . the 
applicant will keep the records, books , 

4 




electronic data , or other documents that are 
required by this chapter; 

(10) 	 The name and address of each place where the 
industrial hemp is to be stored, sold, or 
provided, indicating fo r each place the form 
of the industrial hemp; and 

(11) 	 The applicant's acknowl edgement a nd 
agreement to t h e . fol l owing terms and 
conditions : 
(A) 	 Any information obtained by the 

department may be publicly disclosed 
and provided to law enforcement without 
further notice to the applicant or 
licensee; 

(B) 	 The applicant has the legal authority 
to grant the department access to the 
proposed licensed land area for 
inspection and sampling a nd agrees to 
al l ow any inspection and sampling the 
department deems necessary; 

(C) 	 The applicant agrees to pay for any 
sampling and' analysis cost the 
department deems necessary; 

(D) 	 The applicant agrees to submit all 
required report s by the applicable due 
dates specified by the department; and 

(E) 	 The applicant and any partners , 
directors, or members have not been 
convicted of any felony related to the 
possession, production, sale, or 
distribution of a controlled substance 
in any form in this or a ny other 
country. 

(b) An application may be received, as specified 
by statute, and shall be signed by the applicant or, 
in the case of a business entity, one of its officers, 
directors, or partners, as the case may be, and 
indicate that all information and documents s ubmitted 
in support of the application are correct and complete 
t o the best of the appl icant's knowledge . 

5 



(c) Any incomplete application for a license or 
an appl i cation received after April 1 of any year, 
shall be denied. 

(d) In addition t o the application form , each 
applicant for a lice nse shal l s ubmi t a non-refundable 
$500 application fee by certified c heck or cashier's 
check delivered or mailed by certified mail, return 
receipt . I f the fee does not accompany the 
application , the application for a license s hall be 
deemed incomplete . 

(e) The annual license fee for production of 
industrial hemp shall be $250 plus $2 per acr e , 
unprorated . The initial license fee s hall be due 
prior to the is s uance of a l icense, by certified check 
or cashier' s c heck delivered or mailed by certifi ed 
mail , return receipt . The subsequent annual license 
fee shall be due prior to one year after the date of 
issuance of the license . Failure to pay any license 
fees may result in denial, suspension, or revocation 
of a license and other penalties set forth in section 
4-161- 6. 

(f) Each licen se shall allow a lice nsee to 
cultivate up to a maximum of ten acres of industrial 
hemp on a single contiguous licensed land area . 
Additional or non-contiguous acreage s hall require a 
separate license . 

(g) Licenses shall be issued to successful 
applicants on a quarterly basis, in March, June, 
September, a n d Decembe r of the application year. Any 
changes to inf ormat i on in an application occurring 
prior to the issuance of a license shall be 
immediately reported to t h e depart ment . Failure to 
r ep ort any changes may result in denial, suspension , 
or revocation of a lic~nse a nd other penalties set 
forth in section 4-161-6 . 

Upon successfu l application , return o f a s igned 
licen se agreement , and remittal of the license fee by 
certified chec k or cashi er ' s ch ec k, the applicant 
shall receive a license with a date of issu a nce 
according to the qµarterly issuance schedule . 

(h) All licenses shall be valid for two years 
from the date of issuance , subject to r enewal or 

6 



revocation by the department as set forth in this 
c hapter. 

(i) To renew a license, applicants shall : 
(1) Submit an application form at least 

sixty days prior to the expiration date 
of the license specifying that i t is an 
application to renew a previous 
unrevoked license, a l ong with a renewal 
appl i cation fee of $350, by certified 
check or cashier's check delivered or 
mailed by certified mail, return 
receipt. 

(2) Upon successful application, return of 
a new signed license agreement, and 
remittal of the license fee by 
certified c h eck or cashier's check, the 
applicant for renewal shall receive a 
renewed license valid for two years 
from the date of issuance, subject to 
r enewal or revocation by the department 
as set forth in this chapter. 

(j ) Any licensee who wishes to alter the 
licensed ~and area on which the licensee shall conduct 
industrial hemp cultivation shall, before altering the 
area , submit to the department an updated address , 
global positioning system location , and map specifying 
the proposed alteration. If the department approves 
the altered land area , the department shall notify the 
licensee in writing that the licensee may begin to 
cultivate industrial h emp on the altered land area . 

(k) A licensee who wishes to change the cultivar 
grown shall submit to the department the name of the 
new, approved cultivar to be grown. If the department 
approves the change to the cultivar, the department 
shall notify t h e licensee in writing that the licensee 
may begin to cultivate the new, approved cultivar. 

(1) Licenses shall not be sold, assigned, 
transferred, or encumbered . 

(m) No land area shall be included in more than 
one license at the same time. 

7 



(n) Each non-contiguous land area on which 

industrial hemp is grown shall require a separate 

license . 


(o) Incomplete applications shall not be 
processed , and application fees shall not be refunded . 

(p) Any change to information provided in the 
application shall be submitted within ten days of when 
the change occurs. Failure to provide accurate 
information or to update any information in a timely 
manner may result in denial, suspension , or revocation 
of a license and other penalties set forth in section 
4-161-6 . [Eff ] (Auth : HRS §141-40) 
(Imp : HRS §141-33) 

§ 4-161-3 Reports. (a) Pre-planting report. 
Prior to planting any industrial hemp, a licensee 
shall file for the department ' s approval , on a form 
provided by the department, a pre- planting report that 
includes a description of the industrial hemp 
varieties to be planted on the licen sed land area, and 
a map showing where they will be planted. 

(b) Pianting Report. Within ten days after 
planting any industrial hemp in a licensed land area , 
each licensee shall file, on a form provided by the 
department, a planting report that includes: 

(1) 	 A list or description of all varieties of 
industrial hemp planted, or of volunteer 
industrial hemp plants that have emerged 
from a previous planting and are not 
destroyed , within a licensed land area ; and 

(2) 	 The location and actual acreage or square 
feet of each variety of industrial hemp 
planted, or of volunteer industrial hemp 
plants that have emerged and are not 
destroyed , within a licensed land area; 

A planting report shall be filed any time industrial 
hemp is planted in, moved within, or moved into a 
licensed land area , except when the industrial hemp is 
replanted into a larger container within the same 
indoor location in the licensed land area . Planting 
reports shall be filed for industrial hemp grown from 

8 



seed, industrial hemp grown from cuttings , and 

industrial hemp moved into the licensed land area 

whether as mature plants or as seedlings . 


(c) Harvest Report . At least thirty days prior 
to harvest, a licensee shall file, on a form provided 
by the department, a harvest report that includes: 

(1) 	 The harvest dates and location of each 
variety cultivated within a licensed land 
area . 
(A) 	 A licensee shall immediately notify the 

department of any changes in the 
reported harvest dates in excess of 
five days . If any changes to the 
harvest dates are made, the department 
may require additional inspection or 
sampling prior to the harvest . 

(2) 	 Documentation that the licensee has e ntered 
into a purchase agreement with an industrial 
hemp processor. If the licensee has not 
entered into a purchase agreement, the 
licensee shall include a statement of 
intended disposition of its industrial hemp 
crop , and shall confirm in writing its 
intended disposition within seven days prior 
to harvest . 
(A) 	 Licensees shall immediately notify the 

department of any changes to the 
purchase agreemen t o r disposition 
statement. 

(d) Movement Report. At least two business days 
prior to the movement of industrial hemp grain or 
plant material from a licensed land area, the licensee 
shall fil e , on a form provided by the department , an 
application for movement permit and movement report. 
The report shal l include the intended date of the 
move, the location from which the product will be 
moved , the mode of transportation, and the l ocation to 
which the product will be moved. The department may 
require inspection or sampl ing of the product prior to 
movement . 
[Eff ] (Auth: HRS §141 -40) (Imp : 
HRS §§141-34, 141-36) 

9 



§ 4 - 161-4 Duties. (a) The licensee shall 
continually ensure t hat all information provided to 
the department is accurate and up to date, and shall 
notify the departme n t within the time specified in 
this chapter , or if not specifieq, at least ten days 
prior to any changes , o r immediately upon discovery of 
the change if ten d ays prior is not possible . Failure 
to provide and maintain accurate and up to date 
informat i on on file with the department may result in 
t h e penal t i es set forth in section 4-161-6 . 

(b) The licensee shall conduct all agri cultural 
oper ations in a lawful ma nner consistent with the 
standards befitting of an official of the State , 
provided that such standards are subject to the sol e 
discretion and direction of the department. 

(c) The licensee s hal l abide b y a ll applicable 
laws and regulations incident to the growth, 
cultivation, or marketing of industrial hemp. 

(d) The licensee shall indemnify , hold harmless 
and release forever the State a nd its departments , 
agencies , officers , employees , and agents of a n y kind 
from a ll l iability c l a ims arisi ng ou t the licensee's 
actions involving t h e growth, cultivation, or 
marketing of industrial hemp. 

(e ) The licensee shall warrant t hat t h e licensee 
is not an empl oyee of t h e State and shall assume total 
and sole responsibility for any of the licensee's acts 
or omissions involving the growth or production of 
industrial hemp or arising out the licensee ' s 
participation in the industrial hemp pilot program. 

(f) The licensee shall al l ow any institution of 
highe r education in the State t o access the sites 
registered by the licensee with the department for 
production of industrial hemp for all purposes , as 
determined at the discretion of the department r elated 
to research, growth, cultivation, and marketing of 
indust r ial hemp. 

(g) The licensee shal l allow federal , state , or 
local a u t horities to inspect and sample the industrial 
h emp licensed land a r ea , plants, plant materials , 

10 




seeds, equipment, or facilities incident to the growth 
or production of industrial hemp . 

(h) The licensee shall remit to the department 

when due, all fees and other expenses required under 

t his chapter . 


(i) The licensee shall adhere narrowly to the 
research focus of the area in which the licensee is 
participating in the industrial hemp pilot program. 
The areas include one or more of the following : 

(1) 	 Planting and growing - tracking vital 
statisti cs and yield rates with respect to 
industrial hemp varieties and growing 
variables, including seed planting rate, 
soil composition , water usage, and planting 
and growing season; 

(2) 	 Pest - tracking the occurrence of pests and 
effectiveness of various preventative 
measures in correlation with the industrial 
h emp varieties; 

(3) 	 Cost center s and financing - tracking 
average cost estimates of producing 
industrial hemp varieti es , taking into 
account costs of participation in the 
industrial hemp pilot program, product 
acquisition , water usage , equipment , l abor, 
and securi ty measures and reporting 
financial resources availabl e for production 
of industrial hemp ; or 

(4) 	 Marketing and industrial development 
reporting market demand for industrial hemp 
varieties, raw materials and end products, 
including identification of actual or 
potential h emp products, processors , product 
manufacturers, wholesalers, retailers, and 
targeted consumers . 

(j) The licensee shall gather information and 
data generated by its industrial hemp research 
activi ties , and provide them to the department at the 
end of each license period in the form of a research 
report . A failure to submit the research report may 
result in the penalties set forth in section 4-161-6 . 

11 




(k) The licensee shall complete and submit all 
reports and statements requested by the department 
relative to the licensee's production of industrial 
hemp . . A failure to submit any required or requested 
report may result in revocation of the licensee's 
license a nd other penalties set forth in section 4 
161-6. 

(1) The licensee shall, at the discretion of and 
in a manner determined by the department, destroy or 
dispose of any industrial hemp crop, plant, plant 
material, or seed determined by t he department or law 
enforcement to be non-compliant with applicable laws 
a nd regulations, The licensee shall be responsible 
for all costs associated with the destruction or 
disposal of non-compliant crops, plants, plant 
material, or seeds . 

(m) The licensee shall use best management 
practices for growth a nd production of industrial 
hemp, as available, including the any best management 
practices specified in chapter 141, Part II , Hawai i 
Revised Statutes , and any county-specific b es t 
ma n agement practices . The licensee s hall further take 
reasonable precaution to prevent unauthorized growth 
or distribution of industrial h emp , including but not 
limited to: 

(1) 	 Taking the precautionary measures, as 
applicable, specified in c hapter 141, part 
II, Hawaii Revised Statutes; 

(2) 	 Reporting theft of industrial hemp plants, 
plant materials, or seeds to law enforcement 
and providing the department with a copy of 
the police report ; and 

(3) 	 Reducing the likelihood of cross pollination 
between varieties of industrial hemp and 
among the other plants by, whe n practicable, 
using feminized seed and el iminating male 
plants upon identification to prevent 
unnecessary pollen . [Eff 
(Auth : HRS §141-40) (Imp : HRS §141-36) 

12 




§ 4 - 161 - 5 Inspe ction and sampling . (a) All 
licensees are subject to inspection and sampling of 
their industrial hemp crop to verify that the delta-9
tetrahydrocannibinol concentration does not exceed 0.3 
per cent on a dry weight basis or a 
tetrahydrocannabinol concentration allowed by federal 
law, whichever is greater. 

(b) During the inspection, the licensee or the 
licensee ' s authorized representative shall be present 
at the licensed land area and shall provide the 
department with complete and unrestricted access to 
all industrial hemp plants, plant materials , and seeds 
within a licensed land area whether growing or 
harvesting, all land, buildings, and other structures , 
and all documents and records pertaining to the 
licensee ' s industrial hemp growing business. 

(c) Sampling of industrial hemp shall occur in 
the following manner: 

(1) 	 Individual and composite samples of each 
variety of industrial hemp may be sampled 
from the growing areas . 

(2) 	 Quantitative laboratory -determination of the 
delta-9-tetrahydrocannibinol concentration 
on a dry weight basis shall be performed . 

(3) 	 A sample test result greater than 0.3 per 
cent of delta-9-tetrahydrocannibinol 
concentration or a tetrahydrocannabinol 
concentration allowed by federal law , 
whichever is greater, shall be considered 
conclusive evidence that at least one 
cannabis plant or part of a plant in the 
growing area contains a delta-9
tetrahydrocannibinol concentration over the 
limit allowed of for industrial hemp and 
that the licensee of that growing area is 
therefore not in compliance with this 
chapter . Upon receipt of such a test 
result , the department may summarily suspend 
or revoke the licensee's license . The 
department shall furnish the licensee a 
portion of the violative sample if the 
l icensee · requests it in writing within 

13 




thirty days of the date of the department's 
notification of non-compliance to the 
licensee. 

(d) Test results from tests performed according 
to methods approved by the department from an 
institution of higher education may, at the 
department ' s discretion, be accepted in lieu of the 
department sampling . 

(e) Licensees shall pay a charge of $35 per hour 
per inspector for actual drive time, mileage, 
inspection, and sampling time . Payment shall be 
remitted within thirty days of the date of the 
invoice. 

(f) Licensees shall reimburse the department for 
all laboratory analysis costs incurred . Payment shall 
be remitted within thirty days of the date of the 
invoice. 

(g) All licensees are subject to routine 
inspection and sampling to verify that the delta-9
tetrahydrocannibinol concentration of the industrial 
hemp planted within a licensed land area does not 
exceed 0 . 3 per cent on a dry weight basis or a 
tetrahydrocannabinol concentration allowed by federal 
law , whichever is greater . All licensees are further 
subject to routine inspection and sampling to verify 
compliance with the reporting requirements of this 
chapter . The department may select up to one hundred 
per cent of licensees to be inspected. The department 
shall send notification to each licensee of their 
selection. The notification shall inform the licensee 
of the scope and process of the inspection and require 
the licensee to contact the department within ten days 
of the date of the notification to set a date and time 
for the inspection to occur . Failure to contact the 
department as required may result in the penalties set 
forth in section 4-161-6. 

(h) In addition to routine inspection and 
sampling under subsection (g), the department may 
inspect and take samples from any licensed land area 
during normal business hours without advance notice if 
the department has reason to believe a violation of 
this chapter may be occurring. The department may 

14 




also conduct such additional inspection and sampling 
as necessary to verify compliance with the reporting 
requirements of this chapter . . [Eff 
(Auth: HRS §141 - 40) (Imp: HRS §§141-36, 141-37) 

§ 4 - 161-6 Violations . (a) In addition to any 
violations of any provisions of this chapter , the 
following acts and omissions by any licensee or 
authorized representative thereof constitute 
violations for which civil penalties up to $500 and 
disciplinary sanctions, including suspension or 
revocation of a license and cease and desist orders, 
may be imposed by the department: 

(1) 	 Refusal or failure by a licensee or 
authorized representative to fully cooperate 
and assist the department with the 
inspection process ; 

(2) 	 Failure to provide any information required 
or requested by the department for purposes 
pursuant to this chapter ; 

(3) 	 Providing false, misleading, or incorrect 
information pertaining to the licensee ' s 
cultivation of industrial hemp to the 
department by any means , including but not 
limited to information provided in any 
appl ication form, report, record , or 
inspection required or maintained pursuant 
to this chapter; 

(4) 	 Growing industrial hemp that when tested is 
shown to have a delta-9-tetrahydrocannibinol 
concentration greater than 0.3 per cent on a 
dry weigh basis or tetrahydrocannabinol 
concentration allowed by federal law , 
whichever is greater; 

(5) 	 Failure to pay any fees or costs, when due, 
that are assessed by the department pursuant 
to this chapter; or 

(6) 	 Possessing , outside of a field of lawful 
cultivation, resin, flowering tops , or 
leaves that have been removed from the hemp 
plant , provided that the presence of d e 

15 




minimis amount, or insignificant number, of 
hemp leaves or flowering tops in hemp ba l es 
that result from the normal and appropriate 
processing of industrial hemp shall not 
apply to this paragraph . 
[Eff ] (Auth: HRS 
§141-40) (Imp: HRS §141-38) 

§ 4-161-7 Profits. The department shall forego 
any income or profit that licensees lawful l y obtained 
through the disposition of t h e licensees ' industrial 
hemp crop , provided that the licensee reports to the 
department : 

(1) 	 Any movement of the licensee ' s hemp plants , 
plant materials , or seeds outside the 
l icensed area ; 

(2) 	 Any sale of , or benefit received in exchan ge 
for , the licensee's industrial ·hemp plants , 
plant materials, or seeds; and 

(3) 	 Any commercial details of such movement, 
sale , or exchange for use by the department 
to research the marketability and l ogistical 
production of industrial hemp in the State. 
[Eff ] (Auth: HRS §141
40) 	 (Imp : HRS § 141-39) 

§ 4-161-8 Waiver. (a) If a sample of a 
licensee ' s industrial hemp tests higher than 0 . 3 per 
cent but not more than 1 per cent de l ta-9
tetrahydrocannabinol concentration the licensee may 
request a waiver t o the revocation or suspension of 
its license if the crop is destroyed or utilized on 
the licensed land area in a manner approved and 
verified by the department . 

(b) Licensees shall have ten days from the date 
of the notificat ion of a test resul t higher than 0 . 3 
per cent but not more than 1 per cent delta-9
tetrahydrocannibinol concentration to request a 
waiver . [Eff ] (Auth : HRS §141
40) ( Imp : HRS § 141-3 6) 

16 




2 . The adoption of chapter 4-1 61, Hawaii 
Administrative Rules, shall take effect ten days after 
filing with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

I certify that the foregoing are copies of t he 
rules , drafted in the Ramseyer format pursuant to the 
r equirements of section 91-4 . 1 , Hawaii Revised 
Statutes , which were adopted on Month xx, XXX, and 
filed with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor . 

SCOTT E . ENRIGHT 
Chairperson 
Board of Agriculture 

APPROVED AS TO FORM : 

Deputy Attorney General 

17 




IV. New Business 

A.Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments 
on HAR title 11, Chapter 157, Examination and 
Immunization, promulgated by DOH 



VIRGINIA PRESSLER, M.O.DAVIOY. IGE 
DIRECTOR OF IIEJl.TllGO\IERHOOOFIIAWNl 

June 21, 2017 

Ms. Dori Palcovich 
Administrator 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board 
Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism 
No. 1 Capitol District Building, Room 436 
250 South Hotel Street, 5th Floor 
Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 

Dear Ms. Palcovich: 

Enclosed for your review are copies of the Small Business Impact Statement and 
proposed amendment of Hawaii Administrative Rules, Title 11, Chapter 157, 
"Examination and Immunization." 

The purpose of the proposed amendment is to update the immunization requirements 
and immunization and examination requirements for school and post-secondary school 
attendance in Hawaii. The current regulations.were last amended in August 2001, and 
are in need of revision to reflect current national immunization guidelines. The 
proposed draft also provides clarification in areas regarding definitions, provisional 
attendance at school, and documentation. · 

Any questions or concerns may be directed to Sarah Y. Park, M.D., F.A.A.P., Chief, 
Disease Outbreak Control Division, at 587-6845 or to sarah.park@doh.hawaii.gov. 

Thank you for your time and attention to this matter. 

Sincerely, 

\F~~~ 
Virginia Pressler, M.D. 
Director of Health 

Enclosures 

mailto:sarah.park@doh.hawaii.gov


-----------

PRE-PUBLIC HEARING 

SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 


TO THE 

SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 


(Hawaii Revised Statutes §201 M-2) 

Department or Agency: Hawaii Department of Health 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: _T_it_le_1_1_,_C_h_a_.:_p_te_r_1_5_7________;__ 

Chapter Name: Examination and Immunization 

Contact Person/Title: Sarah Y. Park, M.D., F.A.A.P, Chief, Disease Outbreak Control Division 

Phone Number: 587-6845 

E-mail Address: sarah.park@doh.hawaii.gov Date: June 21, 2017 

A. 	 To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92
7, please attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general 
description of the subjects involved. 

B. 	 Are the draft rules available for viewing i~erson and on the Lieutenant Governor's 
Website pursuant to HRS §92-7? Yes I Non (If Yes, please provide 
webpage address and when and where ru es mayTe viewed in person© 
http://www.health.hawaii.gov/opppd/department-of-health-adminlstrallve-rules-tille-11/ : 1250 Punchbowl Street, Honolulu 96816 guard's desk 6126/2017 

(Please keep the proposed rules on this webpage until after the SBRRB meeting.) 

I. Rule Description: New D Repeal D Amendment Ill Compilation D 
II. 	 Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? Yes Ill No D (If No, no 

need to submit this form.) 

* 	 "Affect small business" is defined as "any potential or actual requirement imposed upon 
a small business ... that will cause a direct and significant economic burden upon a 
small business, or is directly related to the formation, operation, or expansion of a small 
business." HRS §201M-1 

* 	 "Small business" is defined as a "for-profit enterprise consisting of fewer than one 
hundred full-time· or part-time employees." HRS §201 M-1 

Ill. Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that 
' does not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the 

statute or ordinance? Yes D No 111 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 

(e.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the agency the discretion 
to consider less restrictive alternatives.) HRS §201 M-2(d) 

IV. Is the proposed rule bei~adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? 
(HRS §201 M-2(a)) Yes LJ No 111 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 

* * * 

Revised 1/05/2016 

http://www.health.hawaii.gov/opppd/department-of-health-adminlstrallve-rules-tille-11
mailto:sarah.park@doh.hawaii.gov


Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
Page 2 

If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, 
please provide a reasonable determination of the following: 

1. 	 Description of the small businesses that will be required to comply with the 
proposed rules and how they may be adversely affected. 

smaa btJslnosses that w• be required lo comply wlh the proposed rules lnc:fude htakh eare provtders, chief eare cenl~s, compulsory schools, and post-secondary schools. The proposed rules seek lo require &ddltlomll 

~:,~~!:~~~:11~:~;~=~~~k~~~='::e3~v:~:fya: e~~::!y8 1~:c::~~::~r~~::=:=1::.•:,;;,!~:/:~:c;~~~~-==:;~~~:: 1::~~~=;:,t::!:~:::=~~~,::~~h~r~.~~~~. 
compulso.y schools, and post-seconda,y schools alrtady monlto, thek' studenls' compliance wil:h HAR Chapter 11·157 at the nrst school allendanu and al alter.dance In kindergarten, 7lh grade, and at posl•socondary school entry. 
In the eflon lo assist schools and post-sKOndary schools wah lmplemantaUon ol th• updated requirement,, the OepartmenC ot Health has requested a delayed eltecth,e data fo, the revised requirements to ensure that tralnlog 
mate1fals can be propored and dln emlnl\led wen lo advance of the rules' erfectlve dale. 

2. 	 In dollar amounts, the increase in the level of direct costs such as fees or fines, 
and indirect costs such as reporting, recordkeeping, equipment, construction, 
labor, professional services, revenue loss, or other costs associated with 
compliance. 

Increased indirect costs associated with enhanced screening and recordkeeping may be 
incurred by some schools and post-secondary schools. The Department does not anticipate 
any increased costs associated with compliance to health care providers. 

If the proposed rule imposes a new or increased fee or fine : 

a. Amount of the current fee or fine and the last time it was increased. 

N/A I 

b. Amount of the proposed fee or fine and the percentage increase. 

N/A 

c. Reason for the new or increased fee or fine. 

N/A 

d. 	 Criteria or methodology used to determine the amount of the fee or fine 
(i.e., Consumer Price Index, Inflation rate, etc.). 

N/A 

3. 	 The probable monetary costs and benefits to the agency or other agencies 
directly affected, including the estimated total amount the agency expects to 
collect from any additionally imposed fees and the manner in which the moneys 
will be used. 

The monetary cost to the Department of Health Immunization Branch to implement the additional 
requirements has been determined to be approximately $60,000 for the first year of implementation (e.g., 
development of training materials, educational campaign for school , physicians, and parents/guardians, 
school/post-secondary school training sessions) and $5,000 per year thereafter for the cost of preparing 
and disseminating training/guidance materials for schools and post-secondary schools. No additionally 
imposed fees wil l result from implementation of the proposed rules. 

Revised 1/05/2016 



Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
Page 3 

4. 	The methods the agency considered or used to reduce the impact on small 

business such as consolidation, simplification, differing compliance or reporting 

requirements, less stringent deadlines, modification of the fines schedule, 

performance rather than design standards, exemption , or other mitigating 

techniques. 


To reduce the impact on providers, schools, and post-secondary schools, the Department of Health plans to implement a comprehensive training 
initiative to ensure that affected organizations understand the changes to the requirements and are able to screen records appropriately. 

5. 	 The availability and practicability of less restrictive alternatives that could be 
implemented in lieu of the proposed rules. 

The Department of Health is unaware of less restrictive alternatives that could be implemented 
in lieu of the proposed rules. 

6. 	 Consideration of creative, innovative, or flexible methods of compliance for small 

businesses. The businesses that will be directly affected by, bear the costs of, or 

directly benefit from the proposed rules. 


7. 	 How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed 

rules. 


The proposed rules were developed and reviewed In concert wilh the School Examination and Immunization Requirements Working Group, which comprises 
representatives from private compulsory and post-secondary Institutions, the American Academy of Pediatrlcs-Hawai'i Chapter, the Hawai'i Association of Independent 
Schools, and Kaiser Permanente, as well as the Department of Education, the Department of Human Services, and Tuberculosis Control, Public Health Nursing, Disease 
Investigation, and Immunization Branches of the Department of Health. 

a. If there were any recommendations made by small business, were the 
. recommendations incorporated into the proposed rule? 	 If yes, explain. If 
no, why not. 

School Examination and Immunization Requirements Working Group member organizations emphasized the need for a delayed effective 
date for the revised requirements to ensure that training materials can be prepared and disseminated well in advance of the rules' effective 
date. The Department concurred with this recommendation and a delayed effective date was incorporated into the proposed rules. 

8. 	 Whether the proposed rules include provisions that are more stringent than those 

mandated by any comparable or related federal, state, or county standards, with 

an explanation of the reason for imposing the more stringent standard. 


The proposed school examination and immunization regulations are consistent with the United States Centers for Disease 
Control and Prevention Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) recommendations and are comparable to and 
in some instances less stringent than other states' school and post-secondary school immunization and examination 
requirements. The proposed rules are not more stringent than any comparable or related federal, state or county standards. 

If yes, please provide information comparing the costs and benefits of the 
proposed rules to the costs and benefits of the comparable federal, state, or 
county law, including the following: 

Revised I /05/20 16 



Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
Page4 

a. 	 Description of the public purposes to be served by the proposed rule. 

N/A 

b. 	 The text of the related federal, state, or county law, including information 
about the purposes and applicability of the law. 

N/A 

c. 	 A comparison between the proposed rule and the related federal , state, or 
county law, including a comparison of their purposes, application, and 
administration. 

N/A 

d. 	 A comparison of the monetary costs and benefits of the proposed rule with 
the costs and benefits of imposing or deferring to the related federal, state, 
or county law, as well as a description of the manner in which any 
additional fees from the proposed rule will be used. 

N/A 

e. A comparison of the adverse effects on small business imposed by the 
proposed rule with the adverse effects of the related federal, state, or 
county law. 

N/A 

** * 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board/ DBEDT 

Phone: (808) 586-2594 


Email: dbedt.sbrrb@hawaii.gov 


This Statement may be found on the 

SBRRB Website at: 


http ://d bedt. hawai i.gov/sbrrb/sm all-b usiness-im pact-statements-pre-and-post-pub ic-h earing 


Revised 1/05/20 16 

mailto:dbedt.sbrrb@hawaii.gov


Rules Amending Title 11 
Hawaii Administrative Rules 

May 26, 2017 

-s6~U -·

1 . Chapter 157 of · .Title 11, Hawaii Administrative 
Rules , entitled "Examination and Immunization" is 
amended and 

§11-157-1 
§11-157-2 
§11-157-3 
§11-157-3 . 05 
§11-157-3.1 
§11-157-3 . 2 
§11-157-4 
§11-157-4.1 

§11-157-5 
§11-157-6 
§11-1 57-6 . 1 
§11-157-6.2 
§11-157-6.3 
§11-157-6 . 4 

§11-157-7 
§11-157-7.1 
§11-157-8 

compiled to read as follows : 

" HAWAII ADMINISTRATIVE RULES 

-TITLE 11 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 

CHAPTER 157 

EXAMINATION AND IMMUNIZATION 

Purpose \ 
Definitions 
Immunization 
Documentation of immunizat ions 
Responsibility 
Tuberculosis e xamination requirement s 
Performance of immunization; records 
Immunization of indigents and other 
persons 
Exemptions 
Repealed 
Health examination requirements 
Provisional attendance 
Not ice o f e xclusion and exclusion 
School and post-secondary school 
report i ng and records 
Penalties and remedies 
Suspension and revocation; exclusion 
Severability 

157-1 



§11-157-1 


§11-157-1 Purpose. The purpose of this chapter 
is to establish immunization requi rements a nd 
immunization and examination requirements for school 
and post-secondary school attendance in the State of 
Hawaii and to provide for the immunization of indigents 
and other high risk individuals . [Eff 11/5/81; am and 
comp 6/17/93; ·am and comp 10/23/97; comp 8/27/01 ; am 
and comp ] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 
321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32)· (Imp : HRS §§302A-901, 
302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325
13, 325-32 through 325-38) 

§11-157-2 Definitions. As used in this chapter : 
"Certificate of TB examination" means a dated 

report of a tuberculosis e x amination including the 
information specified in subsections 11-157- 3 . 2(c) to 
(e), on the stationery of a practitioner or the form of 

a health facility , health department, or school system, 
with the signature of [ a] the practitioner or the [a 
unique] stamp or imprinted name of the department of 
health, the practitioner, or the licensed facility at 
which the practitioner practices[, or the, department] . 

"Communicable tuberculosis " means tubercu losis in 
any form considered by the department to represent a 
risk of being transmitted to other individuals . 

"Department " means the department of health of the 
State of Hawaii, or any authorized officer or agent of 
the department[ . ] of health . 

" Director" means the director of health of the 
State of Hawaii or a duly authorized agent. 

"Epidemic " means the occurren ce in a community or 
region of an illness clearly in excess of normal 
expectancy, as determined by t h e department. 

"Grace period" means the four day period prior to 
minimum required ages or intervals during which an 
immunization may still b e considered valid. 

"Immunization" means the process of administering 
a [specific] vaccine, toxoid, or other substance 
licensed by the United States Food and Drug 

157-2 




§11-157-2 


Administration to promote an immune response, including 
antibody production, in conformance with recognized 
standar d medical practices. 

"Immunizing agent " means a vaccine, toxoid, or 
other substance licensed by the United States Food and 
Drug Administration used to increase an individual's 
immunity to a disease . The Mantoux tube rculin test is 
not an immunizing agent. 

"Mantoux tuberculin test" means an intradermal 
injection of five tuberculin units of Purified Protein 
Derivative (PPD) in 0 . 1 cc of sterile diluent, followed 
within forty-eight to seventy-two hours by recording of 
the palpable induration, with a positive r e action being 
10 mm or greater in its transverse diameter. 

"Outbreak" means the occurrence in a community or 
region of an illness clearly in excess of normal 
expectancy , as determined by the department . · 

"Physician " means a person licensed to practice 
medicineL[or] osteopathic medicine, or naturopathic 
medicine in any of the states or territories of the 
United States . A person whose license is on inactive 
status or who is not actively practicing shall not be 
deemed to be a physician for purposes of this chapter. 
Licensure or accreditation in chiropractic , homeopathy, 
acupuncture, or herbal heal ing do not qualify a person 
as a physician in this chapter. 

"Post-secondary school " means any [adult education 
school, business school, trade school,] community 
college, college [or]~ university , or any school 
enrolling or registering students above the age of 
compulsory school attendance . 

"Practitioner " means a physician, advanced 
practice registered nurse, or physician assistant 
licensed to practice in any of the states or 
territories of the United States . A physician, 
advanced practice registered nurse, or physician 
assistant whose license is on inactive status or who is 
not actively practicing ·shall not be d eemed to be a 

157-3 




§11-157-2 


practitioner for the purposes of this chap ter. 
"Recognized stan dard medical practices " means in 

accordanc e with t he United States Depart ment of Health 
and Human Services ' , Advisory Committee on 
Immunization Practices (ACIP) , General Best Practice 
Guidelines for Immuni zati on (April 20, 2017), and 
future amendments that are adopted by the department . 

•
11 School " means any child car e c enter ( infant and 

toddler child care center , p reschool , day care cent~r , 
day nursery, Head Start program, [group child care 
home,] group child care center, or other similar units 
operating under a ny name), kindergarten, elementary, 
intermediate , middle, or secondary school , but excludes 
a ft er~school programs, famil y child care homes , parent 
cooperatives, play groups, respit e programs, group 
child care homes, a nd drop-in child care centers . All 
schools a nd post-secondary schools that conduct c las ses 
and activities exclusively on-line or electronical ly 
via remote learning are excluded from t he requi rements 
of this chapter . 

"Student " means a ny child or adu lt enrolled in any 
school or any child or adult enrolled in any post 
secondary school in the State . Any studen t enrolled or 
regi ster e d with a school or post- secondary school who 
is required to be physically present for any amount of 
t ime at schoo l or post-secondary school campus or site 
must comply with this chapter . [Eff 11/5/81; am and 
c omp 6/17/93 ; am and comp 10/23/97 ; am and comp 
8/27 /01 ; am and comp ] (Auth : HRS 
§ §302A-1162 , 321-9 , 321-11 , 325-13 , 325-32) (Imp : HRS 
§§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1 1 63, 321-1, 321- 9 , 
321-11, 325- 13 , 325- 32 through 325-38) 

§11-157-3 Immuni zation . m__ Immunizations 
against certain [specified] vaccine preventable 
diseases , including minimum spacing between doses, and 
other conditions governing acceptability of 
immunizations, are required as set forth in the 
fo l~owi ng exhibits : 

15 7- 4 




§11-157-3 


Exhibit A, [ "Guide to Hawaii Pediatric 
Immunization Requirements (July 1, 2002) . ] "List 
of Required Vaccinations {July 1, 2018) ." 
Exhibit B, [ "Guide to Hawaii Immunization & 
Examination Requiremen ts for Schools (July 1 , 
2002) .] "General Best Pract ice Guidel ines for 
Immuni zation; Best Practices Guidance of the 
Advisory Committee on Immunizati on Practices 
{ACIP) {April 20, 2017) . " 
[Exhibit C, " Guide to Hawaii Post-Secondary School 
Immunization & Tubercu losis Examination 
Requirements (July 1, 2002 ) ." ] 

(b) The United States Department of Health and 
Human Services ', General Best Practice Guidelines for 
Immunization ; Best Practices Guidance of the Advisory 
Committee on Immunization Practices {ACIP) (April 20 , 
2017) , attached heret o as Exhibit B, are adopted as t h e 
requiremen ts in the State of Hawaii for minimum age , 
requ ired s pacing between doses , a n d other conditions · 
governing the acceptability of immunizations. Only 
those sections of Exhibit B that pertain to the 
requirements of this chapter , including the specific 
vaccinations l ist ed in Exhibit A, shal l apply . 

J.tl The Exhibits are located at the end of and 
are made a part of t hi s chapter . If an exhibit 
conflicts with this chapter , this chapter shall 
prevai l . Implementation of the amendments to this 
section shall occur on [July 1 , 2002.) July 1 , 2018 . 

(d) The director i s authorized to s uspend 
temporarily or amend any portion of the immunization 
requirements due to unforeseen circumstances . 
Affected schools and post-secondary schools wi l l be 
notified i n writing of any suspension or amendment . 
The notification will i n clude details of· the suspension 
or amendment, including the suspended or amended 
requirements, the anticipated duration of the 
s u s p e n sion or amendment , and policies to be implemented 
during the suspension or amendment . [Eff 11/5/81; am 
and comp 6/17/93; am and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 
8/27 /01; am and comp ] · (Auth : HRS 
§§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-11 , 325-13 , 325-32) (Imp : HRS 
§§302A-901 , 302A- 1154 through 302A-1163 , 321 -1 , 321-9 , 
321-11 , 325-13 , 325-32 through 325-38 ) 

157-5 




§11-157-3 . 05 


§11-157-3.05 Docume ntation of immunizations . (a) 
Documentation of immunizations shal l indicate the 
department of health or the name of the practitioner 
responsible for administering or review~ng each 
immunization [and] . The documentation shall also bear 
the signature of [~] the practitioner or [a unique ] the 
stamp or imprinted name of the department , the 
practitionerL or t he licensed facility at which ~he 
practitioner practices . 

(b) Documentation of immunizations shall include 
the complete date (recorded as month/day/year) the 
vaccine was administered . [A record with only the 
month and year of immunization] An immunization record 
without complete dat es may be accepted for school or 
post-secondary school attendance if i t can be 
determined that each vaccination complied with the 
minimum interval and age requirements . A grace period 
applies . to each minimum age and interval . The grace 
period does not apply to t he ' minimum int erval between 
two doses of injectable or nasally administered live 
virus vaccines . 

(c) Documentation of serologic evidence of 
immunity may be s ubstituted for a record o f 
immunizations for certain diseases as specified by the 
United States Department of Health and Human Services ' , 
Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices in its 
General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization 
(April 20c 2017), attached hereto as Exhibi t B . [in 
Exhibit Band Exhibit C . ] The documentation shall 
include a laboratory reportL [and certification] signed 
by a practitionerL certifying that _the [report provides 
evidence of immunity] student is immune ·to t he named 
[disease . ] diseases . 

(d) . A signed, documented history of a diagnosis 
of varicella by a practitioner or a signed report by ·a 
practitioner that the practitioner has reviewed a 
reported history of varicella infection and has made a 
clinical judgment that the individual is immune to 
varicella [Documentation of a history of varicella 
(ch icken pox) signed by a pract itioner as specified in 
Exhibit B] may be s ubstituted for a record of 
immunization with varicella vaccine. 

157 - 6 


http:11-157-3.05


§11-157-3 . 2 


(e) [Documentation of immunizations and evidence 
of immunity s hall be kept with the s t udent ' s health 
record . ] Electronic versions of the documentation of 
immunizations , documentation of serologic evidence of 
immunity , and documentation of a history of varicella 
(chicken pox), including records maintained in the 
Hawaii _Immunization Registry, are acceptable provided 
al l information required by this section is recorded . 

(f ) Documentation of immunizations and evidence 
of immunity shall be maintained by schools and post
secondary schools either as a part of the stu dent' s 
health record, other school or post- secondary school 
record , or as part of an electronic record that 
complies with this section . [Eff and comp 8/27/01 ; am 
a n d comp ] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1 1 62 , 
321-9, 321-11 , 325-13 , 325- 32) (Imp: HRS §§302A-1154 
through 302A-1156 , 321-1 , 321-9, 321-11 , 325-13 , 325
32 , 325-33 , 325-37) 

§11-157-3 . 1 Responsibility . . (a) Each person is 
responsible for his or her own immunizations , except 
that each parent, guardian , or other person who has 
care, custody , or control of a minor, protected person, 
or dependent is responsible for the immunization and 
examination of his or her minor, prot ected person, or 
dependent. 

(b) Each school and post-secondary school 
principal or administrator shall ensure that his or her 
school only admits students who comply with this 
chapter . [Eff and comp 10/23/97 ; am and comp 8/27 /01 ; 
comp ] (Auth : HRS §§302A-1162 , 321-9 , 
325-13 ) (Imp : HRS §§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A
1163, 321-1 , 321-9 , 321-11 , 325-1 3 , 325-32 through 325
38 , 325-71 through 325-84) 

§11-157-3 . 2 Tuberculosis. examination 
requirements . (a) Each student shall be examined for 
infection with tuberculosis by a practitioner or the 

157-7 




§11-157-3.2 


department within the twelve months prior to first 
attending school in Hawaii, except as noted in 
subsection (b). The tuberculosis examination 
requirements for attendance at post-secondary school 
are as provided in chapter 11-164[ . ] or as those rules 
are amended and renumbered by the department . 

(b) A student first attending school before 
twelve months of age shall obtain and present a 
certificate of TB examination prior to age fourteen 
months or be excluded from school until a certificate 
of TB examination is obtained and presented . 

(c) A certificate of TB examination shall report 
the results of a Mantoux tuberculin test , including the 
dates of administration and reading (recorded as 
month/day/year) and the transverse diameter of 
induration in millimet ers, a nd shall bear the signature 
of the practitioner or [unique] the stamp or imprinted 
name of the department of h ealth , the 
practitioner , or the licensed facility at which the 
practitioner practices[, or the department]. If the 
transverse diameter is equal to or greater than 10 mm., 
the certificate s hall also report the result of a chest 
x-ray, including the date and ' [location] facility at 
which the x-ray was obtained . If the reader of the x
ray or practitioner cannot determine that the student 
is free from communicable TB , then no certificate shall 
be issued [and the case shall be immediately referred 
to the department of health.], and the reader or 
practitioner shall immediately refer the· case to the 
department as specified in Exhibit A of chapter 11-156, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules. 

(d) A person providing written documentatio~ of a 
prior positive Mantoux tuberculin test result which 
includes the signature , stamp , or imprinted name of the 
practitioner or clinic administering the test , the 
dates of administration and reading and the diameter of 
induration in millimeters may have a certificate issued 
based on a chest x-ray without a repeat Mantoux 
t uberculin test , provided that the certificate shall 

157-8 




§11-157-4 


con tain the required information about the positive 

Mantoux tuberculin test . 


(e) A person with a chest x-ray consistent with 
tub erculosis s hall submit to further examination or 
treatment as deemed necessary by the department to 
exclude or treat a diagnosis of communicable , 
tuberculosis before iss uance of a valid TB certificate . 

( f) A certificate of TB examination issued within· 
12 months before first att endance at school in Hawaii 
shall not expire for purposes of school a ttendance and 
may be used fo r transfer or attendance at all schools 
and oost-secondarv sch ool s in Hawaii. 

(g) A certificat e of TB examination is required 
for school attendance . Every school and post-secondary 
sch ool shall maintain a copy of each student ' s 
certificate of TB examination while the student is 
enroll ed, shall make that copy availabl e for inspection 
by the department , and shall transmit a copy of the 
certifi cat e together with the student ' s health record 
to the school or p ost- secondary school to which a 
s tudent transfers . [Eff and comp 10/23/97; am a nd comp 
8/27 /01 ; am and comp ] (Auth : HRS 
§§302A-1162 , 321-9 , 321-11 , 325-13) (Imp : HRS §§302A
901 , 302A-1154 t hrough 302A-1163 , 32 1- 1 , 321-11 , 325-71 
through · 325-84 ) 

§ 11 - 157-4 Performance. of immunization ; records . 
(a) Any immuni zation required by these rul es shall b e 

performed by a practitioner or other medi cal personnel 

under the direction of a practitioner, or by [the] 

department [.] representatives . Th e manner and 

frequency of immunization administration shall conform 

with t h ese rules a nd r ecogn ized standard medical 

practices. 


(b) [Records of any examinat:j_on or immunization 

required by these rules shall be maintain e_d by t h e 

practitioner or the department and s hall be available 


_for inspection and copying by the department . ] Records 
of any immunizations requi red by these rules that are 

157-9 




§11-157-4 


not administered in the United States may be accepted 
if reviewed and signed or stamped by a practitioner. 

(c) Documentation of any examination or 
immunization required by these rules shall be 
maintained by the practitioner or the department and 
shall be available for inspection and copying by the 
department . [Eff . 11/5/81; am and comp 6/17/93; am and 
comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01 ; am and comp 

] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 321
11 (22), 325-13 , 325-32) {Imp: HRS §§302A-1154, 302A
1159 , 302A-1160, 302A-1162, 302A-1163 , 321-9, 321-11, 
325-13, 325-32, 325-33, 325-35) 

§11- 157-4.1 Immunization of indigents and other 

persons . {a) The department shall provide for free 

immunization for the indigent and medically indigent 

for their protection against the diseases required by 

these rules . In this section, "indigent " and 

"medically indigent " have the meanings defined in HRS 

section 325-38 . 


(b) The department may provide for free 
immunization of high risk individuals to interrupt 
transmission or limit morbidity from communicable 
diseases, or to protect employees of the department 
from communicable diseases which they may encounter in 
the performance of their duties. [Eff and comp 
10/23/97; comp 8/27/01; comp ] (Auth : 
HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9,· 321-11(22) , 325-13, 325-32, 
325-38) (Imp : HRS §§302A-1158, 325- 38) 

§11-157-5 Ex emptions. {a) Medical exemptions 
from the requirements for specific immunizing agents 
shall be granted upon certification by a physician [on 
the physician 1 s professional stationery] in a form or 
format specified by the department , that an 
immunization is medically contraindicated due to a 
stated cause , for a specific period of time [.] .,___in 
conformance with recognized standard medical practices. 
The [original certificate] form shall be provided to 

157-10 




§11-157-6 


the exempt perso_n or parent or guardian . [A copy] 
Copies of the [certificate] form shall be maintained in 
the student ' s school health record[.] or in the post
secondary school student's record . Issuing physicians 
shall forward a copy of the form to the department. 
Reports of such [certificates ] forms in a format 
specified by the department shall also be submitted to 
the department by each school [.] a nd post-secondary 
school. 

(b) A religious exemption shall be granted to a 
student whose parent, cu~todian, guardian, or other 
person in loco parentis certifies that the person ' s 
religious beliefs prohibit the practice of 
immunization . Requests for religious exemptions based 
on objections to specific immunizing agents will not be 
granted. Students who have reached the age of majority 
shall apply on their own behalf. The certification 
shall be r etain ed in the student's health record[ . ] or 
in the post-secondary school student ' s r ecord . Reports 
of such exemptions in a format specified by the 
department shall be submitted to the department by ·each 
school[.] and post-secondary school . 

(c), If at any time , the director determines that 
there is the danger or presence of an outbreak or . 
epidemic from any of the communicable diseases for 
which immunization is required under this chapter , the 
exemption from immunization ·against such disease shall 
not be recognized and inadequately immunized students 
shall be excluded from school or post-secondary school 
until the director has determined that the presence or 
danger of the outbreak or epidemic no longer exists . 
[Eff 11/5/81; am and comp 6/17/93 ; am and comp 
10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; am and comp 

] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9 , 321
11(22), 325-13, 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-1156, 302A
1157, 321-1, 321-9 , 32 1-11, 325-13, 325-3'2 , 325-34, 
325-35) 

§11-157-6 REPEALED. [R 10/23/97] 


157-11 




§11-157-6 . 1 


§11-157-6 . 1 Health examination requirements . (a) 
Each student shall present a record of his or her 
physical examination by a practitioner as specified in 
subsection (b) before the student first attends 
school . The examination shall occur within 12 months 
before the date of first [school] attendance[ . ] at 
school in Hawaii . The record shall be transferred to 
subsequent schools attended by the student, and re
examination is not required . 

(b) Results of the examination shall be reported 
to the school on a form or in a format approved by the 
department . The report of physical examination shall 
be signed by the practitioner performing the 
examination. 

(c) The report of physical examination shall be 

kept with t h e student ' s health record . [Eff and comp 

10/23/97 ; am and comp 8/27/01; am and comp 


] Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 

321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-901, 302A
1154 through 302A-1163 , 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 

325-32 through 325-38) 


§11-157-6 . 2 Provisional attendance. (a) A 
student who does not have evidence of all of the 
rBquired immunizations [or a report of physical 
examination] may attend school or post-secondary school 
provisionally upon submitting written evidence from a 
practitioner or the department stating that the student 
is in the process of receiving required immunizations 
[or physical examination] . A student who does not have 
a report of physical examination may attend school 
provisionally upon ·submitting written evidence from a 
practitioner stating that the student is in the process 
of receiving the physical examination . A physical 
examination is not required for post-secondary school 
attendance. An appointment notice from a 
practitioner ' s office or the department shall be 
recognized as written evidence . A student without 
written evidence shall not be allowed to attend school 
or post-secondary school . 

157-12 




§11-157-6.2 


(b) [If a preschool or K-12 student does not 
complete the required immunizations or examination 
within three months of the date of provisional entry, 
the school shall notify the parent by dated, written 
notice of exclusion that the student will be excluded 
from the school beginning 30 calendar days after th~ 
date of the notice . ] The provisional attendance period 
shall be no longer than three months after the date of 
provisional attendance to a school and no longer than 
45 days after the date of provisional attendance to a 
post-secondary school. 

(c) [Beginning on the school day 30 calendar days 
after the date of notice of exclusion, the student 
shall be prohibited from attending school unless and 
until complete documentation covering the required 
immunizations and physical examination is provided to 
the school.] A student who fails to keep a scheduled 
appointment with their practitioner or the department 
during the provisional attendance period may attend 
school or post-secondary school only upon submitting a 
new appointment notice from a practitioner 1 s office or 
the department. Failure to keep a scheduled 
appointment or transferring schools or post-secondary 
schools during the provisional attendance period does 
not extend the provisional attendance period past the 
periods listed in subsection (b). 

(d) If all of the required immunizations cannot 
be completed within [three months] the provisional 
attendance period due to the required minimum intervals 
between doses or othe~ medical necessity, the school or 
post-secondary school may extend provisional attendance 
[may be extended] as long as evidence is provided that 
appointments have been made to complete the required 
immunizations . If a student whose provisional 
attendance period has been extended fails to keep a 
scheduled appointment, he -or she shall be excluded from 
school or post-secondary school until evidence that the 
required immunizations have been obtained is presented 
to the school[.] or post-secondary school. 

(e) [If a post-secondary school student does not 
complete the required immunizations within 45 days of 

157-13 




§11-157-6 . 2 


the date of provisional entry, the school shall exclude 
the student from all school activities until 
documentation that the required immunizations have been 
obtained is provided to t he school . ] Provisional 
attendance may be suspended by the department when 
there is a dange r or presence of an outbreak or 
epidemic from any of the communicable diseases for 
which immunization is required u nder this chapter until 
the director has determined that the presence or danger 
of the outbreak or epidemic no longer exists . [Eff and 
comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; am and comp 

] (Auth : HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 
321-11 , 325-13, 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-1155 through 
302A-1157, 302A-1159, 302A-1160 , 302A-1162, 321-1, 321
9, 321-11 , 325-13, 325-32, 325-35, 325-36) 

§11-157-6 . 3 [ School r e porting and r e c o rds . ] 
Notice of exclusion and e xclus ion. (a) [Each school 
shall report to the department by October 10 a nd 
January 10 of each year t he names of all students who 
have been provisionally admitted, have been excluded 
for failure to comply fully with the immunization or 
examination requirements in this chapter, and who have 
medical or religious exemptions. This report shall 
include the types of immunizations a nd dose numbers 
which are incomplete for each of these students and 
s~all be in a format as specified by the department . ] 
If a student does not complete the required 
immunizations or e xamination within three months of t he 
date of provisional attendance , the school shall notify 
the parent by dated, written notice of exclusion that 
the student will be excluded from the school b eginning 
30 calendar days after the date of the notice . 

(b) [School and post-secondary school records 
documenting compl iance with this chapter shall be made 
available fo r inspection and copying by the department 
upon request . ] Beginning on the school day 30 cal endar 
days after the date of notice of exclusion, the school 
shall prohibit the student from attending school until 
complete documentation covering the required 

157 - 14 




§11-157-7 


immunizations and physical examination is provided to 
the school . 

(c) If a post-secondary school student does not 
complete the required immunizations within 45 days of 
the date of provisional attendance , the post-secondary 
school shall exclude the s t udent from attending classes 
and a l l post-secondary school activities until 
documentation that the required immunizations have been 
obtained is provided to the post- secondary school . 
[Eff and comp 10/23/97 ; am and comp 8/27/01; am and 
comp ] {Auth : HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 
321-11, 325-13 , 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-1155 , 302A:;
1157, 302A-1 159 , 302A-1160, 302A-1162, 32 1-1, 321-9 , 
321-11 , 325-13, 325-32, 325-35, 325-36) 

§11-157-6.4 School and post-secondary school 
r e portin~ and records. ~<=a~l-~E=a=c=h=----=s~c=h=o=o=l,___,s=h=a=l=l=----=r~e=p=o=r-=t 
to the department by October 10th and January 10th of 
each school year the names of all students who have 
been provisionall y admitted, who have been excluded for 
failure to comply fully with the immunization or 
examination requirements in this chapter, or who have 
medical or religious exemptions. This report shal l 
include the types of immunizations and dose numbers 
which are incomplete for each of these students and 
shall be in a format as specified by the department. 
Each school is required to submit the report even if 
all students have met the immunization and examination 
requirements . 

(b) School and post-secondary school records 
documenting compliance with this chapter shall be .made 
available for inspection and copying by the department 
upon request . [Eff and comp (Auth: 
HRS §§302A~l162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) {Imp : 
HRS §§302A-901 , 302A-1154 through 302A-1163 , 321-1, 
321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325- 32 through 325-38) 

§11-157-7 Penalties and remedie s. Penalties and 
remedies for fai l ure to comply with these rules are 

157-15 




§11-157-7 

provided in sections 321-18 , 321-20, 325-14, and 325
37, HRS . [Eff 11/5/81; am and comp 6/17 /93; comp 
10/23/97; comp 8/27 /01; comp ] (Auth : 
HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp : 
HRS §§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163 , 321-1, 
321-9, 321-11, 321-18 , 321-20, 325-13, 325 -14, 325-32 
through 325-38, 325-71 through 325-78) 

§11-157-7.1 Suspension and revocation ; e x clusion . 
(a) Valid [TB certificates,] certificates of TB 
examination, immunization records, physical examination 
records , and certificates of medidal or religious 
exemption (collectively "documents " ) may b e suspended 
or revoked if a preponderance of the evidence shows 
that a document contains a material inaccuracy, 
misrepresentation, or is fraudulent. 

(b) A [child or] student shall be excluded from 
school or post-secondary school if any document 
required by this chapter is suspended or revoked . 
[Eff an? comp 10/23/97; am.and comp 8/27/01; am and 
comp ] (Auth : HRS §§302A-1162 , 321
9, 321-11, 325-13 , 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-901 , 302A
1154 through 302A-1163 , 321-1, 321-9 , 321-11 , 325-13 , 
325-32 through 325-38) 

§11-157-8 Se verability . If any provision of this 
chapter , or its application to any p e rson or 
circumstance, is held invalid, the application of such 
provision to other persons or circumstances, and the 
remainder of this chapter, shall not be affected 
thereby ." [Eff 11/5/81; comp 6/17/93; comp 10/23/97; 
comp 8/27/01; comp ] (Auth: HRS 
§§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS 
§§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1 , 32 1-9 , 
321-11 , 325-13, 325-32 through 325-38 , 325-71 through 
325-78) 

2 . Material , except source notes, to be repealed 
is bracketed . Ne w material is underscored. 

157-16 



3 . Addition~ to update source notes to reflect 
these amendments and compilation are not underscored . 

4 . These amendments to and compilation of chapter 
11-157, Hawaii Administrative Rules, shall take effect 
ten days after f iling with the Office of the Lieutenant 
Governor; provided that the implementation of the 
amendments to section 11-157-3 shall take effect on 
July 1 , 2018 . 

I certify that the foregoing are copies of the 
rules, drafted in the Ramseyer format pursuant to the 
requirements of secti on 91-4.1, Ha wa ii Revised 
Statutes, which were adopted on and filed 
with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor . 

Virginia Pressler, M.D. 
Director of Health 

APPROVED AS TO FORM : 

Deputy Attorney General 



Exhibit A 

List of Required Vaccinations 


(July 1, 2018) 


Hawaii law allows the Director of Health, in consultation with the State Epidemiologist, to 
adopt, amend or .appeal as rules, the immunization recommendations of the United States 
Department of Health and Human Services, Advisory Committee· on Immunization Practices, 
including interim recommendations, as they apply to the listed vaccines indicated below. The 
United States Department of Health and Human Services' Advisory Committee on 
Immunization Practices' General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization (April 20, 
2017), attached as Exhibit B, is adopted as the requirement~ in the State of Hawaii for 
minimum age, required spacing between doses, and other conditions governing the 
acceptability of immunizations for these listed vaccines. 

Table 1 - List of Pediatric Vaccinations Required for Children in the 
State of Hawaii* 

DTaP [Diphtheria-Tetanus-acellular Pertussis] 

Haemophilus infiuenzae type b (Hib) 
Hepatitis A 

Hepatitis B 

Influenza 

MMR [Measles ffiubeola)-Mumps-Rubellal 

Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccin·e (PCV) 

Polio (IPV [Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine]) 

Rotavirus 

Varicella (chickenpox) 
*The immunizations specified in Table 1 are requfred for children born in Hawaii after January 
1, 1998, and all children born elsewhere after January 1, 1998 who become residents ofHawaii. 
Hawaii-born children are required to receive these immunizations within twenty-four months of 
their date ofbirth, and children born elsewhere who become residents are required to receive 
them within two years offirst residence, unless medically contraindicated. 

Table 2 - List of Vaccinations Required for Child-Care Center 
Attendance 

DTaP [Diphtheria-Tetanus-acellular Pertussis] or DTP [Diphtheria-Tetanus-
Pertussis] 


Haemophilus infl,uenzae type b (Hib) 

Hepatitis A 


Hepatitis B 


MMR [Measles (Rubeola)-Mumps-Rubellal 


Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine (PCV) 


Polio (IPV [Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine] or OPV [Oral Poliovirus Vaccine]) 


Varicella (chickenpox) 




Exhibit A - List of Required Vaccinations p. 2 

Table 3 - List of Vaccinations Required for Kindergarten  12th Grade 
Attendance 

DTaP [Diphtheria-Tetanus-acellular Pertussis] or DTP (Diphtheria-Tetanus-
Pertussisl 

Hepatitis A 

Hepatitis B 

HPVt [Human Papillomavirus Vaccine] 

MCVt [Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 

MMR [Measles (Rubeola)-Mmnps-Rubellal 

Polio (IPV [Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine] or OPV [Oral Poliovirus Vaccine]) 

Tdap t [Tetanus-diphtheria-acellular pertussis] 

Varicella (chickenpox) 
tOnly required for students first entering a Hawaii school in 7th grade Qr higher. 

Table 4 - List of Vaccinations Required for 7th Grade Attendancet 

HPV [Human Papillomavirus Vaccine] 

MCV [Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 

Tdap [Tetanus-diphtheria-acellular pertussis] 
tln addition to meeting the K-12 Immunization Requirements upon first school attendance listed 
in Table 3, all students must show evidence ofreceiving these immunizations prior to 7th grade 
attendance. 

Table 5 - List of Vaccinations Required for Post-Secondary School 
Attendance 

MCV** (Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 

MMR'I [Measles (Rubeola)-Mumps-Rubellal 

Tdap [Tetanus-diphtheria-acellular pertussis] 

Varicella (chickenpox) 
w*First-year students living in on-campus housing only. 

'l'Students born prior to 1957 are exempt from the MMR. vaccination requirement. 




Exhibit B 

General Best Practice Guidelines for 

Immunization 

Best Practices Guidance of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP) 

!(roger AT) Duchin J) Vazquez M 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization 
Kroger AT, Duchin J, Vazquez M. General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization. Best Practices Guidance of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). Https://www.cdc.gov/vacclnes/hcp/acip-recs/general-recs/downloads/genera l

recs.pdf. Accessed on April 20, 2017. 

1 

Https://www.cdc.gov/vacclnes/hcp/acip-recs/general-recs/downloads/general


General Best Practice Guidelines for 


Immunization 


Best Practices Gui4ance of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP) 

!(roger AT, Duchin J, Vazquez M 

1. Introduction 

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommends routine vaccination 


to prevent 17 vaccine-preventable diseases that occur in infants, children, adolescents, 


or adults. This report provides information for clinicians and other health care providers · 


about concerns that commonly arise when vaccinating persons ofvarious ages. 


Providers and patients must navigate numerous issues, such as the timing of each dose, 


screening for contraindications and precautions, the number of vaccines to be 


administered, the educational needs of patients and parents, and interpreting and 


responding to adverse events. Vaccination providers help patients understand the 


substantial body of ( occasionally conflicting) information about vaceination. 


This vaccination best practice guidance is intended for clinicians and other health care 


providers who vaccinate patients in varied settings, including hospitals, provider offices, 


pharmacies, schools, community health centers, and public health clinics. The updated 


guidelines include 1) new information on simultaneous vaccination and febrile seizures; 


2) enhancement' of the definition of a "precaution" to include any condition that might 

2 



confuse diagnostic accuracy; 3) confirmation that if a patient is not acutely moderately 

or severely ill, vaccination during hospitalization is a best practice; 4) more descriptive 

characterization of anaphylactic allergy; 5) incorporation of protocols for management 

of anaphylactic allergy; 6) allowances for alternate route (subcutaneous instead of 

intramuscular) for hepatitis A vaccination; 7) an age cutoff of 12 years through 17 years 

of age for validating a dose of intradermal influenza vaccine; 8) deletion of much of the 

content from storage and handling, including storage units, temperature monitoring, 

and expiration dates (because this content is now codified and continually updated in 

the CDC's Vaccine Storage and Handling Toolkit, available at 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm.); 9) incorporation of 

Infectious Diseases Society ofAmerica guidance on vaccination ofpersons with altered 

immunocompetence; 10) timing of intramuscular adill!nistration in patients with 

bleeding disorders; 11) updated data on vaccination record policy; 12) additional 

impacts of the Affordable Care Act (1,2) on adult vaccination; and 13) updated 

programmatic contact information on source material for vaccine information. 

The guidance is organized in the following 10 documents: 1) Timing and Spacing of 

Immunobiologics; 2) Contraindications and Precautions; 3) Preventing and Managing 

Adverse Reactions; 4) Vaccine Administration; 5) Storage and Handling of 

Immunobiologics; 6) Altered Immunocompetence; 7) Special Situations; 8) Vaccination 

Records; 9) Vaccination Programs; and 10) Vaccine Information Sources. A glossary 

follows (see Appendix 1: Glossary). 

This report will help vaccination providers to assess vaccine benefits and risks, use 

recommended administration practices, understand the most effective strategies for 

ensuring that vaccination coverage in the population remains high, and communicate 

the importance ofvaccination to reduce the effects of vaccine-preventable disease. These 

best practice guidelines are intended for use in the United States; vaccine availability, 

use, and epidemiologic circumstances might differ in other countries and might warrant 

different guidance. 

3 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm


4 




REFERENCES 

1. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No. 111-148 (2010) . 
\ 

2. 	 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Read the law: the Affordable 

Care Act, section by section. 2015; https://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/about

the-law/read-the-lavy/i~dex.html. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 

5 

https://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/about


2. Methods 

The Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) General Recommendations 

Work Group (GRWG) reviews the evidence for best practices regarding immunization 

and releases updated guidance every 3 to 5 years (see Appendix 2: Membership). Work 

group members are required to report conflicts of interests. Conflict of interest 

information for those individuals who must report is available upon request to the 

corresponding author. Relevant topics are those identified by ACIP as topics related to 

all vaccines, including timing and spacing of doses, vaccine administration, and vaccine 

storage and handling. New topics are added when ACIP decides previous ACIP good 

practice statements on general issues (such as combination vaccines, adolescent 

vaccination, or adult vaccination) should be revised and incorporated into the General 

Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization. 

The best practice guidelines in this report update the previous ACIP General 

Recommendations on Immunization (1) and are based both on review and analysis of 

available scientific evidence and on expert opinion of the diverse group of health-care 

providers and public health officials who are members of GRWG. This group includes 

professionals from academic medicine (pediatrics, family practice, and pharmacy); 

international (Canada), federal, and state public health professionals; and a member 

from the nongovernmental Immunization Action Coalition (see Appendix 2: 

Membership). This revision involved consensus-building based on new evidence from 

the published literature and opinion from subgroups of subject matter experts consulted 

on specific topics . 

. The process by which the guidelines were drafted varied for each document; each 

document is therefore discussed individually below. ACIP voted to accept the proposed 

guidance in October 2014; for additional information, see 

http: I lwww.cdc.gov/vaccines / acip/meetings /meetings-info .html. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 6 



Timing and Spacing of Immunobiologics 

GRWG met monthly beginning in January 2011, and formed a subgroup to focus on 

review of guidelines around administration of simultaneous vaccination and febrile 

seizures. Meetings were held in April, May, and June 2011 to discuss the evidence. Other 

issues related to timing and spacing of vaccinations were discussed between February 

2012 and September 2014 over 7 meetings (in February 2012, June 2012, August 2012, 

November 2012, January 2013, January 2014, May 2014, and September 2014). The 

evidence supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by 

consensus. Presentations of the evidence were made to ACIP in June 2011, October 

2011, and February 2013. Major changes include 1) guidance for simultaneous 

vaccination in the context of a risk for febrile seizures and 2) clarification of the use of 

the grace period between doses of the measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella vaccine 

(MMRV). 

Contraindications and Precautions 

GRWG met monthly and focused on revisions to the Contraindications and ~recautions 

section beginning in January 2012, over 6 meetings (January 2012, February 2012, June 

2012, August 2012, November, 2012, December 2012, and January 2013; see . 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/acip/meetings/meetings-info.htmD. The evidence 

supporting this document is based on a review of the published literature. Publications 

about vaccination during surgery, hospitalization, and anesthesia were obtained from 

the databases PubMed and MDConsult, searched from 1973 to 2014 using the MeSH 

(medical subject headings) terms "anesthesia" and "immunization". The search and 

selection of studies was limited to English-language and human studies. The search and 

selection process yielded 20 publications, including review articles, observational 

studies, and letters to the editor. Presentations of proposed best practices were made to 

ACIP in February 2013 and a vote from ACIP affirming the language below was made in 

October 2014. Major changes include 1) enhancement of the definition of a "precaution" 

to include any condition that might confuse diagnostic accuracy and 2) guidance to 

vaccinate during a hospitalization if a patient is not acutely moderately or severely ill. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 7 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/acip/meetings/meetings-info.htmD


Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 

GRWG met monthly and focused on revisions to the Preventing and Managing Adverse 

Reactions section beginning in April 2 013, following revision to the document by the 

Allergy Subgroup. Selected members from this subgroup participated in the April 2013 

main work group call. GRWG then met again in May 2 013 . The evidence supporting this 

document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. Presentations of 

proposed guidance were made to ACIP in June 2013, and a vote from ACIP affirming the 

language below was made in October 2 014. Major changes included 1) more descriptive 

characterization of anaphylactic allergy and 2) incorporation of protocols for managing 

adverse reactions. ACIP voted to accept the proposed statement in October 2014. 

Vaccine Administration 

GRWG met monthly beginning in May 2013 to dis_cuss Vaccine Administration and met 

for 4 additional meetings (July 2013, August 2013, December 2013 and September 

2014) . The evidence supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at 

by consensus. Presentations of the proposed guidance were made to ACIP in October 

2013, and a vote from ACIP affirming the language below was made in October 2014. 

Major changes from 2011 include 1) allowances for alternate administration route 

(subcutaneous instead of intramuscular) for hepatitis A vaccine and 2) an age cutoff of 

12 years through 17 years of age for validating a dose of intradermal influenza vaccine if 

given in e~ror. ACIP voted to accept the proposed statement in October 2014. 

Storage and Handling of Immunobiologics 

GRWG met in December 2013 to discuss Storage and Handling of Immunobiologics and 

met one additional time in·January 2014. The evidence supporting this document is 

based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. A presentation of proposed 

language was made to ACIP in February 2014, and a vote from ACIP approving the 

language below was made in October 2014. Most of the 2011 language was removed 

because this content is now codified and continually updated in the CDC's Vaccine 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 8 



Storage and Handling Toolkit, available at 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm. This content included Storage 

Units, Monitoring Storage Temperature, Vaccine Inventory, and Vaccine Transport. 

Altered Immunocompetence 

GRWG met twice in March and April 2014 to discuss best practices guidance· for Altered 

Immunocompetence. This section incorporates·general content from the Infectious 

Diseases Society of America (IDSA) policy statement 2013 IDSA Clinical Practice 

Guideline for Vaccination ofthe Immunocompromised Host (2), to which CDC 

provided input in November 2011. The evidence supporting this document is based on 

expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. ACIP voted to accept this proposed 

statement in June 2015. 

Special Situations 

GRWG met in April 2012 and then in 4 follow-up meetings in May, August, and 

November 2 012, and J anua1y 2013 . A focal point of discussion involved best practices 

guidance for intramuscular administration of persons with increased bleeding risk. 

Subject matter experts from the National Center for Birth Defects and Developmental 

Disabilities (NCBDDD) were invited' to a work group meeting, and revisions to the 

guidance involving the timing of intramuscular administration were made in 

collaboration with these subject matter experts, primarily to ensure that ACIP's best 
1 

practices guidance does not conflict with NCBDDD recommendations regarding the 

timing of clotting factor deficiency replacement. The evidence supporting this document 

· is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. 

GRWG presented the Special Situations section to ACIP in February 2013 . ACIP voted to 

accept the proposed staternent jn June 2015. 

Vaccination Records 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 9 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm


GRWG met in August and September 2 013, and presented the vaccination records 

language to ACIP in October 2 013. The evidence supporting this document is based on 

expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. ACIP voted to accept this proposed best 

practices guidance in June 2015. 

Vaccinatio1:- Programs 

GRWG met in April 2014. The major revision to this section is the addition of language 

related to Affordable Care Act (3,4) coverage of adult vaccination. The evidence 

supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. 

GRWG presented this section to.ACIP in June 2014. ACIP voted to accept this proposed 

statement in June 2015. 

Vaccination Information Sources 

GRWG met in September 2014 and presented this section to ACIP. The evidence 

supporting this document is based on expe1t opinion and arrived at by consensus. ACIP 

voted to accept this proposed statement in June 2015. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 10 



REFERENCES 

1. 	 Kroger AT, Sumaya CV, Pickering LK, Atkinson WL. General 

recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2011:1

60. 

2. 	 Rubin L, Levin M, Ljungman P, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for 

vaccination of the immunocompromised host. Clin Infect Dis. 

2014;58(3):e44-100. DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit684 

3. 	 The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No.111-148 (2010) . 

4. 	 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Read the law: the Affordable 

Care Act, section by section. 2015; https://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/about

the-law/read-the-law/index.html. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 11 

https://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/about


3. Timing and Spacing of Immunobiologics 

Updates 

Major changes to the best practice guidance for timing and spacing of immunobiologics 

include 1) guidance for simultaneous vaccination in the context of a risk for febrile 

seizures and 2) clarification of the use of the grace period between doses of MMRV. 

General Principles for Vaccine Scheduling 

Optimal response to a vaccine depends on multiple factors, including the type of 

vaccine, age of the recipient, and immune status of the recipient. Recommendations for 

the age at which vaccines are administered are influenced by age-specific risks for 

disease, age-specific risks for complications, age-specific responses to vaccination, and 

potential interference with the immune response by passively transferred maternal 

antibodies. Vaccines are generally recommended for members of the youngest age group 

at risk for experiencing the disease for which vaccine efficacy and safety have been 

demonstrated. 

Tetanus and diphtheria toxoids require booster doses to maintain protective antibody 

concentrations (1). Unconjugated polysaccharide vaccines do not induce T-cell memory, 

and additional doses (although they elicit the same or a lower antibody concentration) 

might increase the duration ofprotection. Conjugation with a protein carrier improves . 

the effectiveness of polysaccharide vaccines by inducing T-lymphocyte- dependent 

immunologic function (2). Many vaccines that stimulate both cell-mediated immunity . 

and neutralizing antibodies (e.g., live, attenuated virus vaccines) can usually induce 

prolonged immunity, even if antibody titers decline over time (3). Subsequent exposure 

to such viruses usually results in a rapid anamnestic antibody response without viremia. 

Approximately 90%-95% of recipients of a single dose of certain live vaccines 

administered by injection at the recommended age (i.e., measles, rubella, and yellow 

fever vaccines) develop protective antibodies, generally within 14 days of the dose. For 

varicella and mumps vaccines, 80%-85% of vaccinees are protected after a single dose. 

However, because a limited proportion (5%-20%) of measles, mumps, and rubella 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 12 



(MMR) or varicella vaccinees fail to respond to 1 dose, a second dose is recommended to 

provide another opportunity to develop immunity (4). Of those who do not respond to 

the first dose of the measles component ofMMR or varicella vaccine, 97%-99% respond 

to a second dose (5,6). 

The Recommended Immunization Schedules for Persons Aged o Through 18 Years and 

the RecommendedAdult.Jmmunization Schedule are revised annually. Physicians and 

other health-care providers should ensure that they are following the most up-to-date 

schedules, which are available from CDC at 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/hep /index.html . 

Spacing of Multiple Doses of the Same Antigen 

Vaccination providers should adhere to recommended vaccination schedules (Table 3

1). Administration at recommended ages and in accordance with recommended 

intervals between doses of multidose antigens provides optimal protection. 

Administration of doses of a multidose vaccine using intervals that are shorter than 

recommended might be necessary in certain circumstances, such as impending 

international travel or when a person is behind schedule on vaccinations but needs 

rapid protection. In these situations, an accelerated schedule can be implemented using 

intervals between doses that are shorter than intervals recommended for routine 

vaccination (7). The accelerated or minimum intervals and ages for scheduling catch-up 

vaccinations are available at http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/hcp/index.html. 

VacGine doses should not be administered at intervals less than these minimum 

intervals or at an age that is younger than the minimum age. *Ca) 

Before administering a vaccine dose, providers might need to verify that all previous 

doses were administered after the minimum age and in accordance with·minimum 

intervals (Table 3-1). In clinical practice, vaccine doses occasionally are administered at 

intervals less than the minimum interval or at ages younger than the minimum age. 

Doses administered too close together or at too young an age can lead to a suboptimal 

immune response. However, administering a dose a few days earlier than the minimum 

interval or age is unlikely to have a substantially negative effect on the immune response 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 13 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/hcp/index.html
http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/hep


to that dose. Known as the "grace period", vaccine doses administered :s:4 days before 

the minimum interval or age are considered valid; however, local or state mandates 

might supersede this 4-day guideline (7).Cb) (Day 1 is the day before the day that marks 

the minimum age or minimum interval for a vaccine.) The scenario most applicable to 

the grace period is a visit to a provider several days prior to the date indicated by the 

minimum interval, such as for a mild illness. Follow-up is unlikely soon after or even for 

a longer period of time following this mild illness visit; this therefore raises the question 

of whether vaccines be administered during the mild illness visit to avoid missed 

opportunities to vaccinate. Because of the unique schedule for rabies vaccine, the 4-day 

guideline does not apply to this vaccine (BJ. Doses of any vaccine administered ;::::5 days 

earlier than the minimum interval or age should not be counted as valid doses and 

should be repeated as age appropriate. The repeat dose should be spaced after the 

invalid dose by the recommended minimum interval (Table 3-1). For example, if the 

first and second doses of Haemophilus infl.uenzae type b (Hib) were administered only 

14 days apart, the second dose would be invalid and need to be repeated because the 

minimum interval from dose 1 to dose 2 is 4 weeks. The repeat dose should be 

administered ;::::4 weeks after the invalid dose (in this case, the. second) (7). The repeat 

dose is counted as the valid second dose. If the first and second doses of hepatitis A 

vaccine were administered less than 6 months apart, the second dose is invalid and 

should be repeated 6 months after the invalid second dose (7). However, if this repeat 

dose (the third dose) is administered anytime 6 months or more after the first dose, the 

series can be considered complete. 

If the first dose in a series is given ;:::: 5 days before the recommended minimum age, the 

dose should be repeated on or after the date when the child reaches at least the 

minimum age (7). If the vaccine is a live vaccine, ensuring that a minimum interval of 28 

days has elapsed from the invalid dose is recommended (7). For example, if.the first 

dose ofvaricella vaccine were inadvertently administered at age 10 months, the repeat 

dose would be administered no earlier than the child's first birthday (the minimum age 

for the first dose). If the first dose of varicella vaccine were administere~ at age 11 

months and 2 weeks, the repeat dose should be administered no earlier than 4 weeks 

thereafter, which would occur after the first birthday. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 14 



Certain vaccines (e.g., adult tetanus and diphtheria toxoids [Td], pediatric diphtheria 

and tetanus toxoids [DT], tetanus toxoid) produce increased rates oflocal or systemic 

reactions in certain recipients when administered more frequently than recommended 

(9,10) . Careful record keeping, maintenance of patient histories, use of immunization 

information systems (IISs), and adherence to recommended schedules can decrease the 

incidence of such reactions without adversely affecting immunity. 

Simultaneous Administration 

Simultaneous administration ofvaccines is defined as administering more than one 

vaccine on the same clinic day, at different anatomic sites, and not combined in the · 

same syringe. Experimental evidence and extensive clinical experience provide the 

scientific basis for administering vaccines simultaneously (11). Simultaneously 

administering all vaccines for which a person is eligible at the time of a visit increases 

the probability that a child, adolescent, or adult will be vaccinated fully by the 

appropriate age (12). A study conducted during a measles outbreak demonstrated that 

approximately one-third of measles cases among unvaccinated but vaccine-eligible 

preschool children might have been prevented if MMR had been administered at the 

same visit when another vaccine was administered (13). Simultaneous administration 

also is critical when preparing for foreign travel in the near future and when a health

care provider is uncertain that a patient will return for additional doses ofvaccine. 

With some exceptions, simultaneously administering the most widely used live and 

inactivated vaccines has produced seroconversion rates and rates for adverse reactions 

similar to those observed when the vaccines are administered separately (11, 14-16). 

Routine administration of all age-appropriate doses of vaccines simultaneously is 

recommended for children for whom no specific contraindications exist at the time of 

the visit (7). MMR and varicella vaccine can be administered simultaneously (7) . Live, 

attenuated influenza vaccine (LAN) does not interfere with the immune response to 

MMR or varicella vaccines administered at the same visit (17). No data exist about the 

immunogenicity of oral Ty21a typhoid vaccine when administered concurrently or 

within 30 days of live-virus vaccines. In the absence of such data, if typhoid vaccination 

is warranted, administration should not be delayed because of recent administration of 

Genera l Best Practice Gu idelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 15 



live, attenuated virus vaccines (18). Simultaneous administration of pneumococcal 

polysaccharide vaccine (PPSV) and inactivated influenza vaccine elicits a satisfactory 

antibody response without increasing the incidence or severity of adverse reactions (19). 

Simultaneous administration of PPSV23 and inactivated influenza vaccine is 

recommended for all persons for whom both vaccines are indicated. Tetanus toxciid, 

reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis vaccine (Tdap) and inactivated 

influenza vaccine (IIV) can be administered simultaneously (20). Hepatitis B vaccine 

administered with yellow fe_ver vaccine is as safe and immunogenic as when these 

vaccines are administered separately (21). Measles and yellow fever vaccines have been 

administered safely at the same visit and without reduction of immunogenicity of either 

component (22,23). 

During the 2010-2011 influenza season, surveillance systems detected safety signals for 

febrile seizures in young children following IIV and PCV13 vaccines (24). CDC studied 

the health-care visit records of more than 200,000 vaccinated children ages 6 months 

through 59 months through the Vaccine Safety Datalink Project during the 2010-2011 

influenza season. The analyses found that febrile seizures following IIV and PCV13 

vaccines given to.this age group were rare, but did occur at higher than expected rates. 

The risk for febrile seizures peaked in children age 16 months and were more common 

when the 2 vaccines were given during the same health-care visit. In this group, about 

one additional febrile seizure occurred among every 2,200 children vaccinated. After 

assessing benefits and risks, ACIP continues to recommend IIV and PCV13 be given 

concomitantly if both are recommended (24,25). 

There are 2 exceptions to the recommendation that vaccines should be administered 
'\ 

simultaneously. In persons with anatomic or functional asplenia, quadrivalent 

meningococcal conjugate vaccine (MCV4)-D (MenACWY-D, Menactra) and 

pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV)13 (PCV13, Prevnar 13) should not be 

administered simultaneously (26). This is based on immunogenicity studies that showed 

reduced antibody concentrations for 3 serotypes of pneumococcus (subtypes 4, 6B, and 

18C) when PCV7 was administered simultaneously with MenACWY-D. For persons with 

anatomic or functional asplenia, PCV13 should be administered first and MenACWY-D 

4 weeks later. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 16 



In patients recommended to receive both PCV13 and PPSV23, the 2 vaccines should not 

be administered simultaneously (27). PCV13 should be administered first. If PPSV23 

has been administered first, PCV13 should be administered no earlier than 8 weeks later 

in children 6-18 years, and one year later in adults 19 years and older. Immunogenicity 

studies evaluating responses to PCV13 and PPSV23 administered in series showed a 

be1;ter immune response when PCV13 was administered first. An evaluation of immune 

response after a second pneumococcal vaccination administered 1year after the initial 

study doses showed that subjects who received PPSV23 as the initial study dose had 

lower antibody responses after subsequent administration of PCW13 than those who had 

received PCV13 as the initial dose followed by a dose of PPSV23, regardless of the level 

of the initial response to PPSV23 (28,29). 

Depending on which vaccines are administered during the first year of life, a child might 

receive up to 9 injections at the 12- through 15-month visit (MMR, varicella, Bib, PCV13, 

pediatric diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis [DTaP], inactivated 

poliovirus [IPV], hepatitis A, hepatitis B [BepB], and influenza vaccines). Although 

there is no exact limit on the number of injections, with a little flexibility, a provider can 

ensure that the primary series doses are given without administering too many 

injections at each visit. To reduce the number of injections at the 12- through 15-month 

visit, the hepatitis B series and 3 doses of IPV (30) can be administered before the 

child's first birthday. 

There are many other examples of ways the vaccination schedule provides flexibility. 

The majority of children aged 1 year who have received 2 Bib vaccine doses 

(polyribosylribitol phosphate-meningococcal outer membrane protein [PRP-OMP]) or 3 

Bib vaccine doses (PRP-tetanus [PRP-T]) and 3 previous doses of DTaP and PCV13 have 

protection against Bib, diphtheria, pertussis, tetanus, and pneumococcus, which lasts 

throughout infancy (2,31). The third (PRP-OMP) or fourth (PRP-T) dose of the Bib 

series and the fourth doses of DTaP and PCV13 are critical in boosting antibody titer and 

ensuring continued protection (2,32-34). The fourth dose of DTaP is recommended at 

age 15-18 months but may be administered as early as age 12 months if 6 months have 

elapsed since the third dose and if there is concern that the child might not return by age 

18 months (32.). For infants at low risk for infection with hepatitis B virus (i.e., mother 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 17 



tested negative for h epatitis B surlace antigen [HBsAg] at the time of delivery and is not 

in a high risk group), the hepatitis B series can be completed at any time for children 

aged 6-18 months (35). The minimum age for administration of combination vaccines is 

the oldest minimum age for any of the individual components; the minimum interval 

between doses is equal to the greatest minimum interval of any of the individual 

components. With use of the combination Rib-hepatitis B vaccine, the minimum age of 

administration of the final dose is 12 months because of the minimum age requirement 

for the last dose ofthe Hib series (35). Recommended spacing of doses should be 

maintained (Table 3-1). 

Combination Vaccines 

Combination vaccines merge equivalent component vaccines into single products to 

prevent more than one disease or to protect against multipl~ strains of infectious agents 

causing the same disease. Licensed combination vaccines can be used whenever any 

components of the combination are indicated and its other components are not 

contraindicated and if licensed by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for that 

dose in the series. Use of combination vaccines can reduce the number of injections 

patients receive and alleviate concern associated with the number of injections 

(30,36)37). Studies have demonstrated that parents and providers might be 

uncomfortable with multiple injections during single visits (38-40). Potential 

advantages of combination vaccines include 1) improved vaccine coverage rates (41), 2) 

timely vaccination coverage for children who are behind the schedule (42-43), 3) 

reduced shipping and stocking costs, 4) reduced costs for extra health-care visits 

necessitated by deferral ofvaccination, and 5) facilitation of additional new vaccines 

into vaccination programs. 

Potential disadvantages of combination vaccines include the following: 1) adverse events 

that might occur more frequently after administration of a combination vaccine 

compared with administration of separate antigens at the same visit, such as fever that 

occurs with the combination MMRV vaccine and combination DTaP-HepB-IPVvaccine 

(44)45); 2) confusion and uncertainty about selection ofvaccine combinations and 

schedules for subsequent doses, especially when vaccinations are given by multiple 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 18 



providers who might be using different products; 3) reduced pathogen coverage if the 

combination product covers fewer types of one particular vaccine-preventable disease

causing agent (46); 4) extra doses of certain antigens in the combination product (e.g., a 

. provider who administers 4 doses of DTaP-HepB-IPV vaccine will give an extra dose of 

hepatitis B component); and 5) a shorter shelf-life than the individual component 

· vaccines. The economic impact of the use of combination vaccines is unclear because 

combination products have the potential for either increased or decreased costs 

compared with single-antigen component vaccines. The price of a combination vaccine 

might exceed the total price of separate vaccines containing the same antigens. 

However, combination vaccines might represent a better overall economic value if the 

direct and indirect costs of extra injections, delayed or missed vaccinations, and 

additional handling and storage are taken into consid_eration (47). 

Licensed Combination Vaccines 

In this report, a combination vaccine is defined as a product containing components 

that can be divided equally into independently available routine vaccines. A dash ( - ) 

between vaccine products indicates that products are supplied in their final form by the 

manufacturer and do not require mixing or reconstitution by the user. A slash ( / ) 

indicates that the products must be mixed or reconstituted by the user. Seven 

combination vaccines for which separate antigens or antigen combinations exist have 

been licensed by FDA since 1996 in the United States (Table 3-2) (48-54). In the future, 

combination vaccines might include increasing numbers of components in different 

arrays to protect against these and other diseases. (The status oflicensure and 

recommendations for new vaccines is available at 

http: //aapredbook.aappublications.org/news/vaccstatus.sh~ml.) The use of a 

combination vaccine generally is. preferred over separate injections of the equivalent 

component vaccines (55). Considerations should include provider assessment,Cc) patient 

preference, and the potential for adverse events. An exception is the first dose of MMRV. 

Unless the parent or caregiver expresses a preference for MMRV vaccine, MMR and 

varicella vaccii::ie should be administered for the first dose for children aged 12-47 

months (see Contraindications and Precautions) CAA) . 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 19 

http://aapredbook.aappublications.org/news/vaccstatus.sh~ml


Situations-might arise in which one component of a combination vaccine is specifically 

preferred to another component in that same vaccine. Future research considerations 

for newly licensed combination vaccines should focus on safety of doses that are not 

needed because a patient is already vaccinated against the agents, whether the 

combination vaccine will improve the timeliness ofvaccination, and potential reduced 

costs from disease prevention resulting from timely vaccination. 

Combination Vaccines and FDA Licensure 

Only combination vaccines licensed by FDA should be used (55). Vaccination providers 

should not combine separate vaccines into the same syringe to administer together 

unless mixing is indicated for the patient's age and is explicitly specified on the FDA

approved product label inserts. Only 2 combination vaccines, (DTaP-IPV /Hib vaccine, 

marketed as Pentacel, and Hib-MenCY, marketed as MenHibrix) contain separate 

antigen components for which FDA approves mixing by the user. The safety, 

immunogenicity, and effectiveness of unlicensed combinations are unlmown. 

Interchangeability of Formulations 

FDA generally licenses a combination vaccine based on studies demonstrating that the 

product's immunogenicity (or efficacy) and safety are comparable or equivalent to 

monovalent or combination products licensed previously (37). FDA licensure also 

generally indicates that a combination vaccine may be used interchangeably with 

monovalent formulations and other combination products with similar component 

antigens produced by the same manufacturer to con~inue the vaccination series. For 

example, DTaP, DTaP-IPV/Hib, DTaP-HepB-IPV, and future DTaP vaccines that 

contain similar acellular pertussis antigens from the same manufacturer may be used 

interchangeably iflicensed and indicated for the patient's age (3.4). 

Interchangeability of Combination Vaccines from Different 

Manufacturers 

Licensure of a vaccine by FDA does not necessarily indicate that the vaccine is 

interchangeable with products from other manufacturers. Such data are ascertained and 

interpreted more readily for diseases with known correlates of prntective immunity 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 20 



(e.g., specific serologic markers). For diseases without such surrogate laboratory 

markers, prelicensure field vaccine efficacy (phase III) trials or postlicensure 

surveillance generally are required to determine protection (56). ACIP prefers that doses 

of vaccine in a series come from the same manufacturer; however, if this is not possible 

or if the manufacturer of doses given: previously is unknown, providers should 

administer the vaccine that they have available. 

Vaccine Supply 

Although vaccination providers should stock sufficient quantities of combination and 

monovalent vaccines needed to vaccinate children, adolescents, and adults against all 

diseases for which vaccihes are recommended (30,37), all available types or brand-name 

products n eed not be stocked. Potential advantages of stocking a limited number of 

vaccines include 1) reducing confusion and potential errors when staff members must 

handle redundant products and formulations, 2) minimizing waste when less commonly 

used products expire, 3) decreasing cold storage capacity requirements, and 4) 

minimizing ~dministrative costs related to accounting, purchasing, and handling. Th e 

National Pediatric Vaccine Stockpile exists to offset supply challenges (57). 

Extra Doses of Vaccine Antigens 

Administering extra antigens contained in a combination vaccine should be avoided in 
most situations (55). Using combination vaccines containing certain antigens not 

indicated at the time of administration to a patient might be justified when 1) the extra· 

antigen is not contraindicated, 2) products that contain only the needed antigens are not 

readily available, and 3) potential benefits to the patient outweigh the potential risk for. 

adverse events associated with the extra antigens. An extra dose of many live-virus 

vaccines and Hib or hepatitis B vaccine has not been found to be harmful (58,59). 

However, the risk for an adverse event might increase when extra doses are 

administered at an earlier time than the recommended interval for certain vaccines 

(e.g., tetanus toxoid vaccines and PPSV) C1.9.,3_g,60). 

A vaccination provider might not have vaccines available that contain only the antigens 

needed as indicated by a child's vaccination history. Alternatively, although the 

indicated vaccines might be available, the provider might prefer to use a combination 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunizat ion: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 21 



vaccine to reduce the required number of injections. In such cases, the benefits and risks 

of administering the combination vaccine with an unneeded antigen should be carefully 

considered and discussed with the patient or parent. 

When inactivated (i.e., killed) or subunit vaccines (which are often adsorbed to 

aluminum-salt adjuvants) are administ~red, the reactogenicity of the vaccine must be 

considered in balancing the benefits and risks of extra doses (55). Because clinical 

experience suggests low reactogenicity, an extra dose of Hib or hepatitis B vaccine may 

be administered as part of a combination vaccine to complete a vaccination series for 

another component of the combination. Administration of extra doses of tetanus toxoid 

vaccines earlier than the recommended intervals can increase the risk for severe local 

reactions (~33.). Examples of such vaccines include DTaP, DT (for children), and Td 

(for adolescents and adults). Extra doses of tetanus-toxoid- containing vaccines might 

be appropriate for certain patients, including for children who previously received DT or 

Td vaccine and need protection from pertussis (in DTaP or Tdap) or for immigrants with 

uncertain vaccination histories. 

Conjugate Vaccine Carrier Proteins 

Protein conjugates used in Hib conjugate vaccines produced in the Unit~d States include 

tetanus toxoid (in PRP-T) which is also used as a component of DTaP and Tdap vaccines 

(61). Simultaneous or sequential vaccination with Hib and these t etanus-toxoid 

containing vaccines is recommended when both are indicated (55). MCV4 and PCV13 

both contain diphtheria-toxoid conjugates. There has been concern about simultaneous 

administration ofvaccines containing like conjugates. One brand of MCV4, MenACWY

D (Menactra), demonstrates reduced immunogenicity of the antibody response to 

Streptococcal pneumonia strains when administered simultaneously with PCV13 

compared with separate administration. It is recommended to space these vaccines by 

28 days in a person with anatomic asplenia (46). Simultaneous or sequential vaccination 

of MCV4-CRM (Menveo), PCV13, and Tdap (33,61), all of which contain diphtheria 

toxoid, is not associated with reduced immunogenicity or increase in local adverse 

events. 

Nonsimultaneous Administration 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 22 



There is no evidence that inactivated vaccines interfere with the immune response to 

other inactivated vaccines or to live vaccines. Any inactivated vaccine can be 

administered either simultaneously or at any time before or after a different inactivated 

vaccine or live vaccine (Table 3-3). The 2 exceptions, as mentioned above, are a 4-week 

interval between PCV13 and MenACWY-D in a person with anatomic asplenia and the 

separation of doses between PCV13 and PPSV23 (6-12 months recommended for non

high risk, 8 week minimum) if PCV13 is given first, 8 weeks in children 6-18 years, and 1 

year minimum in adults 19 years and older if PPSV23 is given first (26). 

Limited data are available regarding interference between live vaccines used in the 

United States. The immune response to one live-virus vaccine might be impaired if 

administered within 28 days (i.e., 4 weeks) of another live-virus vaccine (62,63) . In a 

study conducted in 2 U.S. health maintenance organizations, the risk for varicella 

vaccine failure (i.e., varicella disease in a vaccinated person) among persons who 

received varicella vaccine within 28 days of MMR vaccination was threefold higher than 

among persons who received varicella vaccine >28 days after MMR vaccination (64). 

Another study determined that the response to yellow fever vaccine is not affected by 

monovalent measles vaccine administered 1-27 days earlier (22). The effect of 

nonsimultaneous administration of rubella, mumps, varicella, and yellow fever vaccines 

is unknown. 

Two or more injectable or nasally administered live vaccines not administered on the 

same day should be separated by at least 4 weeks (Table 3-3), to minimize the potential 

risk for interference. If 2 such vaccines are separated by <4 weeks, the second vaccine 

administered should not be counted and the dose should be repeated at least 4 weeks 

later. On the day a live injectable or intranasal vaccine will be administered, providers 

should ensure that no live injectable or intranasal vaccine was given in the previous 28 

days. 

The 4-day grace period discussed earlier, which may be used to shorten the minimum 

interval between doses of the same vaccine, should not be applied to this 4-week interval 

between 2 different live vaccines (55). Confusion about this prohibition may arise when 

2 live vaccines whose intervals are identical are administered simultaneously. For 

example, ifMMR and varicella vaccines are administered on the same day, the second 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Tim ing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 23 



dose of each vaccine could come due 4 weeks later (depending on the patient's age). If 

eitlfer vaccine had been given alone at both time points, the 4-day grace period could be 

applied to the second dose. But in this situation the live vaccine rule prevents the grace 

period from being applied to the second dose of either vaccine, b ecause Varicella-2, if 

administered earlier than 4 weeks, could potentially be affected by MMR1, and likewise 

MMR2 could be affected by Varicella-1. Note that this prohibition also applies if the 

combination MMRV is used rather than individual MMR and varicella vaccines. 

The oral vaccines Ty21a typhoid vaccine and rotavirus can be administered 

simultaneously with or at any interval before or after other live vaccines (injectable or 

intranasal) if indicated ( 65). 

Spacing of Vaccines and Antibody-Containing Products 

Live Vaccines 

Ty21a typhoid, yellow fever, LAN, zoster, and rotavirus vaccines may be administer ed at 

any time before, concurrent with, or after administration of any antiqody-containing 

preparation such as immune globulin, hyperimmune globulin, or intravenous immune 

globulin (IGIV) (QQ). Blood (e.g., whole blood, packed red blood cells, and plasma) and 

other antibody-containing blood products (e.g., immune globulin, hyperimmune 

globulin, and IGIV) can inhibit the immune response to measles and rubella vaccines for 

:2:3 months. The effect of blood and immune globulin preparations on the response to 

mumps and varicella vaccines is unknown; however, commercial immune globulin 

preparations contain antibodies to these viruses. Blood products available in the United 

States are unlikely to contain a substantial amount of antibody to yellow fever virus. The 

length of time that interference with injectable live-virus vaccine ( other than yellow 

fever) can persist after the antibody-containing product is a function of the amount of 

antigen-specific antibody contained in the product (67-69). Therefore, after an 

antibody-containing product is received, live vaccines ( other than Ty21a typhoid, yellow 

fever, LA.IV, zoster, and rotavirus vaccines) should be delayed until the passive antibody 

has degraded (Table 3-4). If a dose of injectable live-virus vaccine (other than yellow 

fever and zoster) is administered after an antibody-containing product but at an interval 

shorter than recommended in this report, the vaccine dose should be repeated unless 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 24 



serologic testing is feasible and indicates a response to the vaccine. The repeat dose or 

serologic testing should be performed after the interval indicated for the antibody

containing product (Table 3-5). 

Although passively acquired antibodies can interfere with the response to rubella 

vaccine, the low dose of anti-Rho(D) globulin or any other blood product administered 

to postpartum women have not been demonstrated to reduce the response to the 

RA.27/3 strain rubella vaccine (70). Congenital rubella syndrome and congenital 

varicella are conditions with considerable morbidity and represent a true risk in future 

pregnancies. Because of the importance of rubella and varicella imm1Jnity among 

women of child-bearing age (4,zi), the postpartum vaccination of women without 

evidence of immunity to rubella or varicella with MMR, varicella, or MMRV vaccines 

should not be delayed because of receipt of anti-Rho(D) globulin or any other blood 

product during the last trimester of pregnancy or at delivery. An)' reduction in immunity 

caused by anti-Rho(D) globulin or other blood products is outweighed by the 

opportunity to generate immunity. These women should be vaccinated immediately 

after giving birth and, if possible, tested· :::0:3 months later to ensure immunity to rubella 

and, if appropriate, to measles (g). Measles and rubella serologies have a low false

positive rate and are therefore acceptable for use in this limited postpartum context. 

Interference might occur if administration of an antibody-containing product becomes 

necessary after administration of MMR or varicella vaccines. Usually, vaccine virus 

replication and stimulation of immun~ty occurs 1-2 weeks after vaccination. If the 

interval between administration of any of these vaccines and subsequent administration 

of an antibody-containing product is <14 days, vaccination should be repeated after the 

recommended interval (Tables 3-4 and 3-5) unless serologic testing indicates a 

protective antibody response (7). 

A humanized mouse m·onoclonal antibody product (palivizumab) is available as 

prophylaxis for serious lower respiratory tract disease from respiratory syncytial virus 

among infants and young children. This product contains only antibody to respiratory 

syncytial virus and does not interfere with the immune response to licensed live or 

inactivated vaccines. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 25 



Inactivated Vaccines 

Antibody-containing products interact less with inactivated, recombinant subunit, and 

polysaccharide vaccines and toxoids than with live vaccines (72). Therefore, 

administering inactivated vaccines and toxoids either simultaneously with or at any 

interval before or after receipt of an antibody-containing product should not 

substantially impair development of a protective antibody response (Table 3-4). The 

vaccine or toxoid and antibody preparation should be administered at different sites 

using the standard recommended dose. 

Interchangeability of Single-Component Vaccines from 

Different Manufacturers 

Certain vaccine? that provide protection from the same diseases are available from 

different manufacturers, and these vaccines usually are not identical in antigen content 

or in amount or method of formulation. Manufacturers use different production 

processes, and their products might contain different concentrations of antigen per dose 

or a different stabilizer or preservative. 

Available data indicate that infants who receive sequential doses of different Hib 

conjugate, hepatitis B, and hepatitis A vaccines produce a satisfactory antibody response 

after a complete primary series (73-76). All brands of Hib conjugate, hepatitis B,Cdl 

hepatitis A, rotavirus,Ce) and quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccines are 

interchangeable within their respective series. If different brands of a particular vaccine 

. require a different number of doses for series completion (e.g., Hib and rotavirus 

vaccines) and a provider mixes brands in the primary series, the higher number of doses 

is recommended for series completion ( e.g., doses of either rotavirus or Hib vaccine). 

For Hib vaccines, any monovalent or combination conjugate vaccine is acceptable for- . 

the booster dose of the series, if only one product was used for the primary seri~s (55). 

Limited data are available about the safety, immunogenicity, and efficacy of using 

acellular pertussis (i.e., DTaP) vaccines from different manufacturers for successive 

doses of the pertussis series. Data from one study indicate that for the first 3 doses of the 

DTaP series, 1-2 doses of Tripedia (Sanofi Pasteur) followed by Infanrix 

General Best Practice Guidelin es for Immunization : Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 26 



(GlaxoSmithKline) for the remaining dose (or doses) is comparable to 3 doses of 

Tripedia with regard to immunogenicity, as measured by antibodies to diphtheria, 

tetanus, and pertussis toxoids, and filamentous hemagglutinin (77). However, in the 

absence of a clear serologic correlate of protection for pertussis, the relevance of these 

immunogenicity data for protection against pertussis is unknown. When feasible, the 

same brand of DTaP vaccine should be used for all doses of the vaccination series (55). If 

vaccination providers do not know or have available the type of DTaP vaccine previously 

administered to a child, any DTaP vaccine may be used to continue or complete the 

series (55) . For a child who needs 2 doses of influenza vaccine (IIV or LAIV), it is 

preferable to use the same type of vaccine for both doses. However, if the child is eligible 

for either IIV or LAlV, and the type of vaccine used for the first dose is not available, 

either vaccine can be used for the second dose (55). in a postlicensure study, 

meni!!gococcal conjugate vaccines from different manufacturers were evaluated for 

successive doses of meningococcal conjugate vaccine. Persistence of antibodies were 

studied in recipients of MCV4-CRM after previous receipt of either MCV4-CRM or 

MenACWY-D. The percentage of persons with protective titers were the same for all 

serogroups. No data exist on the use of MenACWY-D after MCV4-CRM. Health-care 

providers should use every opportunity to provide a dose when indicated, regardless of 

the vaccine brand used for the previous dose or doses. For vaccines in general, 

vaccination should not be deferred because the brand used, for previous doses is not 

available or is unknown (30,78) . 

Lapsed Vaccination Schedule 

Vaccination providers should administer vaccines as close to the recommended intervals 

as possible. However, intervals between doses that are longer than recommended 

typically do not reduce final antibody concentrations, although protection might not be 

attained until the recommended number of doses has been administered. With some 

exceptions (e.g. oral typhoid vaccine) al) interruption in the vaccination schedule does 

not require restarting the entir·e series of a vaccine or toxoid or addition of extra doses 

Unknown or Uncertain Vaccination Status 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 27 



Vaccination providers frequently encounter persons who do not have adequate 

documentation of vaccinations. With the exception of influenza vaccine and PPSV23, 

providers should only accept written, dated records as evidence of vaccination; self

reported doses of influenza vaccine and PPSV23 are acceptable (60,79). The rationale 

for acceptance for influenza vaccine is that the time period of recall is one year or less, 

making it very likely that correct recall will occur. The rationale for acceptance for 

PPSV23 is high frequency ofvaccination leads to an increased rate oflocal reactions due 

to the reactogenicity of this vaccine. Although vaccinations should not be postponed if 

records cannot be found, an attempt to locate missing records should be made by 

contacting previous health care providers, reviewing state or local IISs, and searching 

for a personally held record. If records cannot be located within a reasonable time, these 

persons should be considered susceptible and started on the age-appropriate 

vaccination schedule. Serologic testing for immunity is an alternative to vaccination for 

certain antigens (e.g., measles, rubella, hepatitis A, and tetanus). However, commercial 

serologic testing J?lght not always be sufficiently sensitive or standardized for detection 

of vaccine-induced immunity (with the exception of hepatitis B vaccination at 1-2 

months after the final dose), and research laboratory testing might not be readily 

available. 

C•> During measles outbreaks, if cases are occuning among infants aged <12 months, measles vaccination of infants as young as 6 

months can be used as an outbreak control measure. However, doses administered at ages <12 months should notbe counted as part 

ofthe series (Bo). 

Cb) In certain situations, local or state requirements might mandate that doses ofselected vaccines be administered on or after 

specific ages. For example, a school entry requirement might not accept a dose ofMMR or varicella vaccine administered before the 

child's first birthday. ACIP recommends that physicians and other health-care providers comply with local or state vaccination 

requirements when scheduling and administering vaccines. 

(c) Provider assess_ment should include number of injections, vaccine availability, likelihood of improved coverage, likelihood of 

patient return, and storage and cost considerations. 

Cd> The exception is the 2-dose hepatitis B vaccination series for adolescents aged 11-15 years. Only Recombivax HB (Merck Vaccine 

Division) should be used in the schedule. Engerix-B (GlaxoSmithKline) is not approved by FDAfor this schedule. 

C•>Based on expert opinion. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 28 



TABLE 3-1. Recommended and minimum ages and intervals between 
vaccine doses<a),(b),(c),(d) 

Vaccine and 
dose 
number 

Recommended 
age for this dose 

Minimum 
age for this 
dose 

Recommended 
interval to next 
dose 

Minimum 
interval to 
next dose 

DTaP-1Ce) 2 months 6 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

DTaP-2 4months 10 weeks 8weeks 4 weeks 

DTaP-3 6 months 14 weeks 6-12 monthsCO 6 monthsCfJ 

DTaP-4 15-18 months 15 monthsCO 3 years 6 months 

DTaP-5 4-6 years 4 years - -

HepA-1(e) 12-23 months 12 months 6-18 months 6 months 

HepA-2 ~18 months 18 months - -

HepB-1 Birth Birth 4 weeks-4 months 4 weeks 

HepB-2 · 1-2 months 4 weeks 8 weeks-17 months 8 weeks 

HepB-3(g> 6-18 months 24 weeks - -

Hib-1Ce),(h) 2months 6weeks 8weeks 4 weeks 

Hib-2 4months 10 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

Hib-3Ci) 6 months 14 ·weeks 6-9 months 8weeks 

Hib-4 12-15 months 12 months - -

HPV-1Ci) 11-12 years 9 years 8 weeks 4 weeks 

HPV-2 11-12 years ( +2 
months) 

9 years (+4 
weeks) 

4months 12 weeksG> 

HPV-30>. Ck> 11-12 years ( +6 
months) 

9 years ( +5 
months) 

- -

HZVCI) ~60 years 6oyears - -

Influenza, 
inactivatedCm) 

~6 months 6 months(n) 4 weeks 4 weeks 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Tim ing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 29 



IPV-1<e) 2 months 6 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

IPV-2 4months 10 weeks 8 weeks-14 months 4 weeks 

IPV-3 6-18 months 14 weeks 3-5 years 6 months 

IPV-4<0) 4-6 years 4years - -

LAIV 
(intranasal)cm) 

2-49 years 2 years 4 weeks 4 weeks 

MenACWY-1Cp) 11-12 years 6 weeksCql 4-5 years 8 weeks 

MenACWY-2 16 years 11 years ( +8 
weeks)Cr) 

- -

MMR-1<s) 12-15 months 12 months 3-5 years 4 weeks 

MMR-2(s) 4-6 years 13 months - -

MPSV4-l (P) - 2 years 5 years 5 years 

MPSV4-2 - 7years - -

PCVi3-1Cb) 2 months 6 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

PCV13-2 4months 10 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

PCV13-3 6 months 14 weeks 6 months 8 weeks 

PCV13-4 12-15 months 12 months - -

PPSV-1 - 2 years 5 years 3 years 

PPSV-2Ct) - 7years - -

Rotavirus-1 Cu) 2 months 6 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

Rotavirus-2 4 m onths 1o weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

Rotavirus -3Cu) 6 months 14 weeks - -

Td 11-12 years 7years 10years 5 years 

TdapM ~11 years 7years - -

Varicella-1 12-15 months 12 months 3-5 years 12 weeksCw) 

Varicella-2 4-6 years 15 monthsCx) - -

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 30 



Abbreviations: DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = 
hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus influenzae type b; HPV = human papillomavirus; HZV = herpes zoster vaccine; IPV 
= inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal 
conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, murrips, rubella, and varicella; MPSV 4 
= quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PCV13 = pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= 
pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PRP-OMP = polyribosylribitol phosphate-meningococcal outer membrane 
protein conjugate; Td = tetanus and diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, n;duced diphtheria toxoid, and 
acellular pertussis. 

Cal Combination vaccines are available. Use oflicensed combination vaccines is generally preferred to separate 
injections of their equivalent component vaccines. When administering combination vaccines, the minimum age for 
administration is the oldest age for any ofthe individual components (exception: the minimum age for the first d ose 
of MenHibrix is 6 weeks). The minimum interval between doses is equal to the greatest interval of any of the 
individual components. ' 

Cbl Information on travel vaccines, including typhoid, Japanese encephalitis, and yellow fever, is available at 
http://www.cdc.gov/travel. Information on other vaccines that are licensed in the United States but not distributed, 
including anthrax and smallpox, is available at http ://emergency.cdc.gov/bioterrorism/ . 

Cc) "Months" refers to calenda r months. 

Cd) Within a number range, a hyphen(-) should be read as "through." 

(el Combination vaccines containing the hepatitis B component are available (see Table 3-2). These vaccines should 
not be administered to infants aged <6 weeks because of the other vaccine components (i.e., Hib, DTaP, HepA, and 
IPV). 

CO The minimum recommended interval between DTaP-3 and DTaP-4 is 6 months. However, DTaP-4 need not be 
repeated if administered at least 4 months after DTaP-3. This is a special grace period of 2 months which can be 
used if evaluating records retrospectively. An additional 4 days should not be added to this grace period. 

(g) HepB-3 should be administered at least 8 weeks after HepB-2 and a t least 16 weeks after HepB-1 and should not 
be administered before age 24 weeks . · 

Chl For Hib a11:d PCV13, children receiving the first dose ofvaccine at age '?.7 months require fewer doses to complete 
the series. 

Cil IfPRP-OMP (Pedvax-Hib, Merck Vaccine Division) was administered at ages 2 and 4 months, a dose at age 6 
months is not necessary. The final dose has a minimum age of12 months. 

Gl Quadrivalent and nine-valent HPV vaccines are approved for males and females aged 9-26 years. The minimum 
age for HPV-3 is based on the baseline minimum age for the first dose (i.e., 9 years) and the minimum interval of5 
months between the first and third dose. Dose 3 need not be repeated if it is administered at least 5 months afte r 
the first dose and the intervals between dose 1 and dose 2, and dose 2and dose 3, are maintained at 4 weeks and 12 
weeks, respectively. 

Ckl A two-dose schedule ofHPV vaccine is recom mended for most persons beginning the series between 9 through 
14 years of age. See HPV vaccine-specific recommendations for details. 
www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/wr/pdfs/mm6549a5.pdf / 

Cll Herpes zoster vaccine is recommended as a single dose for persons aged '?. 60 years. 

Cm) One dose of influenza vaccine per season is recommended for most persons. To determine which children 
younger than 9 years should receive 2 doses in a single season, please see influenza vaccine-specific 
recommendations (81). 

Cnl The minimum age for inactivated influenza vaccine varies by vaccine manufacturer. See package insert for 
vaccine-specific minimum ages. 

C0lAfourth dose is not needed if the third dose was administered at '?.4 years and at least 6 months after the 
previous dose. 

(pJ Revaccination with meningococcal vaccine is recommended for previously vaccinated persons who remain at 
high risk for meningococcal disease (46). 

(qJ MenACWY-D (Menactra) can be given as young as 9 months for high-risk persons. MenACWY=CRM (Menveo) 
can be given as young as 2 months for high-risk persons. Hib-MenCY can be given as young as 6 weeks for high -risk 
persons. Hib-MenCY is given as a 4-dose series at 2 months, 4 months, 6 months and 12-18 months. 

General Best Practice Guideli nes for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 31 

www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/wr/pdfs/mm6549a5.pdf
http://emergency.cdc.gov/bioterrorism
http://www.cdc.gov/travel


Cr) For routine non-high risk adolescent vaccination, the minimum age for the booster dose is 16 years. 

CsJ Combination MMRVvaccine can be used for children aged 12 months-12 years. See text for details. 

CtJA second dose ofPPSV235 years after the first dose is recommended for persons aged ~65 years at highest risk for 
serious pneumococcal infection and those who are likely to have a rapid decline in pneumococcal antibody 
concentration ( 60) . 

Cul The first dose of rotavirus must be administered at age 6 weeks through 14 weeks and 6 days. The vaccine series 
should not be started for infants aged ~15 weeks, o days. Rotavirus should not be administered to children older 
than 8 months, o days ofage regardless of the number ofdoses received between 6 weeks and 8 months, o days of 
age. If 2 doses ofRotarix (GlaxoSmithKline) are administered as age appropriate, a third dose is ~ot necessary. 

CvJ Only 1 dose ofTdap is recommended. Subsequent doses should be given as Td. For management of a tetanus
prone wound in persons who have received a primary series oftetanus-toxoid-containingvaccine, the minimum 
interv_al after a previous dose ofany tetanus-containing vaccine is 5 years. 

(w)A special grace period of 2 months, based on expert opinion, can be applied to the minimum interval of 3 
months, when evaluating records retrospectively, which results in an acceptable minimum interval of 4 weeks. An 
additional 4 days should not be added on to this grace period. 

CxJ A special grace period of 2 months, based on expert opinion, can be applied to the minimum age of15 months 
when evaluating records retrospectively, which results in an acceptable minimum age of13 months. An additional 4 
days should not be added on to this grace period. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immu nization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 32 



TABLE 3-2. FDA-licensed combination vaccinesCa) 

VaccineCb) Trade name Age range Routinely 
(year licensed) recommended ages 

HepA-HepB Twinrix (2001) Three dos.es on a schedule 
of o, 1, and 6 months 

~18 years 

DTaP~ HepB-IPV Pediarix (2002) 6 weeks-6 Three-dose series at 2, 4, 
years and 6 months of age 

Two doses, the first at 12-15 
years 

MMRV ProQuad (2005) 12 months-12 
months, the second at 4-6 
years 

DTaP-IPV Kinrix (2008) Fifth dose of DTaP and 
fourth dose of IPV 

4-6 years 

Pentacel (2008) Four-dose schedule at 2, 4, 
years 

DTaP-IPV/Hib 6 weeks-4 
6, and 15-18 months of age 

Hib-MenCY MenHibrix (2012) 6 weeks-18 Four-dose schedule at 2, 4, 
months 6, and 12-15 months of, 

ageCc) 

DTaP-IPV Quadracel (2015) Fifth dose of DTaP and 
fourth or fifth dose of IPV 

4-6 years 

Abbreviations : DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular 
pertussis; FDA= Food and Drug Administration; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus 
influenzae type b; IPV ·= inactivated poliovirus; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, mumps, 
rubella, and varicella; Td = tetanus and q.iphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and 
acellular pertussis. 

Source: (82) . 

C•l Although MMR, DTaP, DT, Td, and Tdap are combination vaccines, they are not included on this list because 
they are not available in the United States as single-antigen products. 

Cb) In descriptions of combination vaccines, dash (-) indicates products in which the active components are 
supplied in their final (combined) form by the manufacturer; slash (/)indicates products in which active 
components must be mixed by the user. 

Cc) Hib-MenCY can be used for routine dosing ofHib vaccine but is recommended only for meningococcal 
vaccination in persons at high-risk of meningococcal disease. 

General Best Practice Guide lines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 33 



TABLE 3-3. Guidelines for spacing of live and inactivated antigens· 

Antigen combination Recommended minimum interval between 
doses 

Two or more inactivated Ca),(b) May be administe red simultaneously or at any interval 
b etween doses 

Inactivated a nd liveCc) May be administer ed simultaneously or at a n y i nterval 

betwee n doses 

Two .or m ore live inject ableCc) 28 d ays minimum interval, if not administered 
simultaneously 

Source: (82). ! 
Cal Certain experts suggest a 28-day interval between tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular 
pertussis (Tdap) vaccine and tetravalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine if they are not administered 
simultaneously. 

Cb) In persons with functional or anatomic asplenia, MCV-D and PCV13 should not be administered simultaneously 
and should be spaced by 4 weeks. Likewise for persons with immunosuppressive high-risk conditions indicated for 
PCV13 and PPSV23, PCV13 should be administered first, and PPSV23 should be administered no earlier than 8 
weeks later. For persons 65 years old or older indicated for PCV13 and PPSV23, PCV13 should be administered first 
and PPSV23 should be administered 6-12 months later. 

(cl The live oral vaccines Ty21a typhoid vaccine and rotavirus vaccine may be administered simultaneously with or at 
any interval before or after inactivated or live injectable vaccines. 

_General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunizat ion: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 34 



TABLE 3-4. Guidelines for administering antibody-containing products<a) 
and vaccines 

Type of Products administered Recommended minimum 
administration interval between doses 

Simultaneous Antibody-containing products and Can be administered 
( during the same inactivated antigen simultaneously at different 
clinic day) anatomic sites or at any time 

interval between doses 

Antibody-containing products and Should not be administered 
live antigen simultaneously.CbJ If 

simultaneous administration 
of measles-containing vaccine 
or varicella vaccine is 
unavoidable, administer at 
different sites and revaccinate 
or test for seroconversion after 
the recommended interval (see 
Table 3-5) 

Nonsimultaneous Administered Administered 
first second 

Antibody- Inactivated No interval necessary 
containing antigen 

products 


Inactivated Antibody- No interval necessary 
antigen containing 

products 

Dose relatedCbl.Ccl 
containing 
Antibody- measles, 

mumps, rubella 
products vaccme, 

varicella 
vaccine, and 
combined 
measles, 
mumps, 
rubella, 
varicella 
vaccme 
antigens 

General Best Practice Guide lines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 35 



I 

MMR vaccine, 
varicella vaccine, 
and combined 
measles, mumps, 
rubella, varicella 
vaccine antigens 

2 weeksCb> 
containing 
products 

Antibody

(al Blood products containing substantial amounts ofimmune globulin include intramuscular, subcutaneous, and 
intravenous immune globulin, specific hyperimmune globulin (e.g., hepatitis B immune globulin, tetanus immune 
globulin, varicella zoster immune globulin, and rabies immune globulin), whole blood, packed red blood cells; 
plasma, and platelet products. 

Cb) Yellow fever vaccine; rotavirus vaccine; oral Ty21a typhoid vaccine; live, attenuated influenza vaccine; and zoster 
vaccine are exceptions to these recommendations. These live, attenuated vaccines can be administered at any time 
before or after or simultaneously with an antibody-containing product. 

Cc) The duration ofinterference ofantibody-containing products with the immune response to the measles 
component ofmeasles-containin·g vaccine, and possibly varicella vaccine, is dose related (see Table 3-5). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 36 



TABLE 3-5. Re.commended intervals between adminjstration of antibody-
containing products and measles- or varicella-containing vaccine, by 
product and indication for vaccination 

Product/Indication Dose (mg IgG/kg) Recommended interval 
and routeCa) before measles - or 

varicella-containing 
vaccineCb) 
administration 
(months) 

Blood transfusion 

RBCs, washed 10 mL/kg, negligible Nohe 
IgG/kg IV 

RBCs, adenine-sali11,e added 10 mL/kg (10 mg 3 
IgG/kg) IV 

Packed RBCs (hematocrit 65%)CcJ 610 mL/kg (60 mg 
IgG/kg) IV 

Whole blood (hematocrit 35% 10 mL/kg (80-100 6 
50%)CcJ mg IgG/kg) IV 

Plasma/platelet products 10 mL/kg (160 mg 7 
IgG/kg) IV 

Botulinum Immune Globulin 61.5 mL/kg (75 mg 
. Intravenous (Human) IgG/kg) IV 

Cytomegalovirus IGIV 6150 mg/kg 
maximum 

Hepatitis A JG 

Contact prophylaxis 0 .02 mL/kg (3.3 mg 3 
IgG/kg) IM 

International travel, <3 month 0.02 mL/kg (3.3 mg 3 
stay IgG/kg) IM 

International travel, ~3 month 0.06 mL/kg (10 mg 3 
stay IgG/kg) IM 

Hepatitis B IG 0.06 mL/kg (10 mg 3 
IgG/kg) IM 

IGIV 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 37 



Replacement therapy for immune 300-400 mg/kg IVCd) 8 

deficienciesCd) 


Immune thrombocytopenic 400 mg/kg IV 8 

purpura treatment 


Postexposure varicella 4oomg/kgIV 8 

prophyla:xis(e) 


Postexposure measles prophylaxis 400 mg/kg IV 8 

for immunocompromised contacts 


Immune thrombocytopenic 1000 mg/ kg IV 10 

purpura treatment 


Kawasaki disease 2g/kgIV 11 

Measles prophylaxis JG 

Standard (i.e., ·0.50 mL/kg (Bo mg 6 

nonimnmnocompromised) contact 
 IgG/ kg) IM 

Monoclonal antibody to None15 mg/kg IM 
respiratory syncytial virus F 
protein (e.g., Synagis 
[Mecllmmune])<fJ 

Rabies IG 20 IU/kg (22 mg 4 
IgG/kg) IM 

TetanusIG 250 units (10 mg 3 
IgG/kg) IM 

Varicella IG 125 units/10 kg (60 5 
200 mg IgG/kg) IM, 
maximum 625 units 

Abbreviations: HN =human immunodeficiency virus; IG =immune globulin; IgG =immune globulin G; IGIV = 
intravenous immune globulin; mg IgG/kg =milligrams of immune globulin G per kilogram ofbody weight; IM = 
intramuscular; N =intravenous; RBCs =red blood cells. 

(a) This table is not intended for determining the correct indications and dosages for using antibody-containing 
products. Unvaccinated persons might not be protected fully against measles during the entire recommended 
interval, and additional doses ofIG or measles vaccine might be indicated after measles exposure. Concentrations 
of measles antibody in an IG preparation can vary by manufacturer's lot. Rates of antibody clearance after receipt of 
an IG preparation also might vary. Recommended intervals are extrapolated from an estimated half-life of 30 days 
for passively acquired antibody and an observed interference with the immune response to measles vaccine for 5 
months after a dose of 80 mg IgG/kg. 

Cbl Does not include zoster vaccine. Zoster vaccine may be given with antibody-containing blood products. 

(cl Assumes a serum IgG concentration of 16 mg/mL. 

Genera l Best Practice Guide lines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 38 



Cdl Measles vaccination is recommended for children with mild or moderate immunosuppression from HIV 
infection, and varicella vaccination may be considered for children with mild or moderate immunosuppression, but 
both are contraindicated for persons with severe immunosuppression from HIV or any other immunosuppressive 
disorder. 

(el Licensed VariZIG, similar to licensed varicella-zoster 1G (VZIG), is a purified human IG preparation made from 
plasma containing high levels of antivaricella antibodies (IgG). 

<fl Contains antibody only to respiratory syncytial virus. 

, 

r 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 39 



REFERENCES 

1. 	 CDC. Diphtheria, t etanus, and pertussis: recommendations for vaccine use 

and other preventive measures. Recommendations of the Immunization 

Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR

10):1-28. 

2 . 	 CDC. Haemophilus b conjugate vaccines for prevention of Haemophilus 

influenzae type b disease among infants and children two months of age and 

older. Recommendations of the Immunization Practices Advisory Committee 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-1):1-7. 

3. 	 Plotkin SA. Immunologic correlates of protection induced by vaccination. 

Pediatr Infect Dis J .. 2001;20(1):63-75. DOI: 10 .1097/00006454-200101000

00013 

4. 	 Watson JC, Hadler SC, Dykewicz CA, Reef S, Phillips L. Measles, mumps, and 

rubella-vaccine use and strategies for ·elimination of measles, rubella, and 

congenital rubella syndrome and control of mumps: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm 

Rep. 1998;47(RR-8):1-57. 

5. 	 Watson JC, Pearson JA, Markowitz LE, et al. An evaluation of measles 

revaccination among school-entry-aged children. Pediatrics. 1996;97(5):613

618. 

6. 	 Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4) :1-40. 

7. 	 Atkinson WL, Pickering LK, Schwartz B, Weniger BG, Iskander JK, Watson 

JC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the 

Advisory Comrpittee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and the American 

Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP). MMWR Recomm R'ep. 2002;51(RR

2):1-35. 

8. 	 Manning SE, Rupprecht CE, Fishbein D, et al. Human rabies prevention

United States, 2008: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-3):1-28. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 40 



9. 	 Levine L, Edsall G. Tetanus toxoid: what determines reaction proneness? J 


Infect Dis. 1981;144(4):376. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/144-4.376 


10. 	 Edsall G, Elliott MW, Peebles TC, Eldred MC. Excessive use of tetanus toxoid 

boosters. JAMA. 1967;202(1):111-113. DOI: 

10.1001/jama.1967.03130140075069 

11. 	 King GE, Hadler SC. Simultaneous administration of childhood vaccines: an 

important public health policy that is s·afe and efficacious. Pediatr Infect Dis 

J. 1994;13(5):394-407. 

12. 	 National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Standards for child and adolescent 

immunization practices. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4):958-963. 

13. 	 Hutchins SS, Escolan J, Markowitz LE, et al. Measles outbreak among 

unvaccinated preschool-aged children: opportunities missed by health care 

providers to administer measles vaccine. Pediatrics. 1989;83(3):369-374. 

14. 	 Deforest A, Long SS, Lischner HW, et al. Simultaneous administration of 

measles-mumps-rubella vaccine with booster doses of diphtheria-tetanus

pertussis and poliovirus vaccines. Pediatrics. 1988;81(2):237-246. 

15. 	 Dashefsky B, Wald E, Guerra N, Byers C. Safety, tolerability, and 

immunogenicity of concurrent administration ofHaemophilus infiuenzae 

type b conjugate vaccine (meningococcal protein conjugate) with either 

measles-mumps-rubella vaccine or diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis and oral 

poliovirus vaccines in 14- to 23-month-old infants. Pediatrics. 1990;85(4 Pt 

2):682-689. 

16. 	 Giammanco G, Li Volti S, Mauro L, et al. Immune response to simultaneous 
I 	 . 

administration of a recombinant DNA hepatitis B vaccine and multiple 

compulsory vaccines in infancy. Vaccine. 1991;9(10):747-750 . DOI: 

10.1016/0264-410X(91)90291-D 

17. Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, Bresee JS, Broder KR, Karron RA. 

Prevention and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2015-16 

influenza season. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(30) :818-825. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Tim ing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 41 



18. 	 CDC. Typhoid immunization: recommendations of the Immunization 

Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1990;39(RR

10):1-5. 

19. DeStefano F, Goodman RA, Noble GR, McClary GD, Smith S, Broome CV. 

Simultaneous administration of influenza and pneumococcal vaccines. JAMA. 

_1982;247(18):2551-2554. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1982.03320430055032 

20. 	 Kretsinger K, Broder KR, Cortese MM, et al. Preventing t etanus, diphtheria, 

and pertussis among adults: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid 

and acellular pertussis vaccine recommendations of the Advisory Committee 

on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and recommendation of ACIP, supported 

by the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC), 

for use of Tdap among health-care personnel. MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2006;55(RR-17):1-37. 

21. Yvonnet B, Coursaget P, Deubel V, Diop-Mar I, Digoutte JP, Chiron JP. 

Simultaneous administration ofhepatitis B and yellow fever vaccines. J M ed 

Viral. 1986;19(4) :307-311. DOI: 10.1002/jmv.1890190403 

22. 	 Stefano I, Sato HK, Pannuti CS, et al. Recent immunization against meas1es 

does not interfere with the sero-response to yellow fever va·ccine. Vaccine. 

\ 1999;17(9-10):1042-1046. DOI: 10.1016/S0264-410X(98)00320-X 

23 . Staples JE, Gershman M, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine: recommendations 

of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR 

RecommRep. 2010;59(RR-7):1-27. 

24. 	 Leroy Z, Broder K, Menschik D, Shimabukuro T, Martin D. Febrile seizures 

after 2010-2011 influenza vaccine in young children, United States: a vaccine 

safety signal from the vaccine adverse event reporting system. Vaccine. 

2012;30(11):2020-2023. DOI: 10.1016/ j.vaccine.2011.12.042 

25. Tse A, Tseng HF, Greene SK, Vellozzi C, Lee GM. Signal identification and 

evaluation for risk offebrile seizures in children following trivalent 

in·activated influenza vaccine in the Vaccine Safety Datalink Project, 2010

2011. Vaccine. 2012;30(11):2024-2031. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.01.027 

26. 	 CDC. Recommendation ofthe Adviso1y Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP) for use of quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine 

Genera l Best Pract ice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 42 



(MenACWY-D) among children aged 9 through 23 months at increased risk 

for invasive meningococcal disease. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

2011;60(40):1391-1392. 

27. 	 CDC. Use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent 

pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine for adults with immunocompromising 

conditions: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP). MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2012;61(40):816-819. 

28. 	 CDC. Use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent 

pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine among children aged 6-18 years with 

immunocompromising conditions: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Morb Mortal Wkly 

Rep. 2013;62(25) :521-524. 

29. 	 Tomczyk S, Bennett NM, Stoecker C, et al. Use of 13-valent pneumococcal 

conjugate vaccine and 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine among 

adults aged > / =65 years: recommendatio:µs of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVRMorb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

2014;63(37):822-825. / 

30. 	 CDC. Recommended immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 

years-United States, 2011. MMvVRMorb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2011;60(5):1-4. 

31. 	 Shinefield HR, Black S, Ray P, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of 

heptavalent pneumococcal CRM197 conjugate vaccine in infants and toddlers. 

Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1999;18(9)757-763. DOI: 10.1097/ 00006454

199909000-00004 

32. 	 CDC. Pertussis vaccination: use of acellular pertussis vaccines among infants 

and young children. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 1997;46(RR-7) :1-25. 

33. 	 Broder KR, Cortese MM, Iskander JK, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, 

and pertussis among adolescents: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria 

toxoid and acellular pertussis vaccines recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 

2006;55(RR-3) :1-34. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 43 



34. 	 Nuorti JP, Whitney CG. Prevention of pneumococcal disease among infants 

and children - use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent 

pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine - recommendations of the Advis01y 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2010;59(RR-11) :1-18. 

35. 	 Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization 

strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United 

States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. 

MMWRRecommRep. 2005;54(RR-16) :1-31. 

36. 	 Committee on Infectious Diseases. Recommended childhood and adolescent 

immunization schedules- United States, 2010. Pediatrics. 2010;125(1):195

196. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2009-3194 

37. 	 CDC. Recommended adult immunization schedule- United States, 2011. 

MMWRMorbMortal Wkly Rep. 2011;60(4):1-4. 

38. 	 Woodin KA, Rodewald LE, Humiston SG, Carges MS, Schaffer SJ, Szilagyi PG. 

Physician and parent opinions. Are children becoming pincushions from 

immunizations? Arch Pediat:r AdolescMed. 1995;149(8):845-849 . DOI: 

10.1001/archpedi.1995.02170210019003 

39. 	 Kuppermann M, Nease RF, Jr., Ackerson LM, Black SB, Shinefield HR, Lieu 

TA. Parents' preferences for outcomes associated with childhood vaccinations. 

Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2000;19(2):129-133. DOI : 10.1097/00006454

200002000-00010 

40. Meyerhoff A, Jacobs RJ, Greenberg DP, Yagoda B, Castles CG. Clinician 

satisfaction with vaccination visits and the role of multiple injections, resu lts 

from the COVISE Study (Combination Vaccines Impact on Satisfaction and 

Epidemiology). Clin Pediatr (Phila). 2004;43(1):87-93. 

41. 	 Marshall GS, Happe LE, Lunacsek OE, et al. Use of combinatfon vaccines is 

associated with improved coverage rates. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 

2007;26(6):496-500. DOI: 10.1097/INF.ob013e31805d7f17 

42. 	 Kalies H, Grote V, Verstraeten T, Hessel L, Schmitt HJ, von Kries R. The u se 

of combination vaccines has improved timeliness of vaccination in children. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 44 



Pediatr Infect Dis J . 2006;25(6):507-512. DOI: 


10.1097/01.inf.0000222413,47344.23 


43. 	 Happe LE, Lunacsek OE, Kruzikas DT, Marshall GS. Impact of a pentavalent 

combination vaccine on immunization timeliness in a state Medicaid 

population. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2009;28(2):98-101. DOI: 

10.1097/INF.obo13e318187do47 

44. 	 Marin M, Broder KR, Temte JL, Snider DE, Seward JF. U~~ of combination 

measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella: vaccine: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm 

Rep. 2010;59(RR-3):1-12. 

45. 	 Thompson LA, Irigoyen M, Matiz LA, LaRussa PS, Chen S, Chimkin F. The 

impact of DTaP-IPV-HB vaccine on use of health services for young infant s. 

Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2006;25(9):826-831. DOI: 

10.1097I01.inf.0000232635.81312.06 

46. 	 Cohn AC, MacNeil JR, Clark TA, et al. Prevention and control of 

meningococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MM'WR Recomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-2):1-28. 

47. 	 Weniger BG, Chen RT, Jacobson SH, et al. Addressing the challenges to 

immunization practice with an economic algorithm for vaccine selection. 

Vaccine. 1998;16(19):1885-1897. DOI: 10.1016/So264-410X(98)00170-4 

48. 	 Liang J, Wallace G, Mootrey G. Licensure of a diphtheria and tetanus toxoids 

and acellular pertussis adsorbed and inactivated poliovirus vaccine and 

guidance for use as a booster dose. MM'WR Morb Mortal W/cly Report 

2015;64: 948-9. 

49. 	 CDC. FDA approval of a Haemophilus b Conjugate Vaccine combined by 

reconstitution with an acellular pertussis vaccine. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly 

Rep. 1996;45(45):993-995. 

50. 	 CDC. FDA approval for a ~ombined hepatitis A and B vaccine. MMWR Morb 

Mortal W/cly Rep. 2001;50(37):806-807. 

51. CDC. FDA licensure of diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis 

adsorbed, hepatitis B (recombinant), and poliovirus vaccine combined, 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 45 

http:01.inf.0000232635.81312.06
http:10.1097/01.inf.0000222413,47344.23


(PEDIARIX) for use in infants. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

2003;52(10) :203-204. 

52. 	 CDC. Licensure of a combined live attenuated measles, mumps, rubella, and 

varicella vaccine. MMvVRMorb Mortal W/cly Rep. 2005;54(47):1212-1214. 

53. 	 CDC. Licensure of a diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis 

adsorbed and inactivated poliovirus vaccine and guidance for use as a booster 

dose. MMvVR Morb Mortal W!cly Rep. 2008;57(39):1078-1079. 

54. 	 CDC. Licensure of a diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis 

adsorbed, inactivated poliovirus, and haemophilus B conjugate vaccine and 

guidance for use in infants and children. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 

2008;57(39):1079-1080. 

55. 	 Kroger AT, Sumaya CV, Pickering LK, Atkinson WL. General 

recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advisory 

Com:rp.ittee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2011:1

60. 

56. 	 Plotkin SA. Vaccines: correlates ofvaccine-induced immunity. Clin Infect Dis. 

2008;47(3):401-409. DOI: 10.1086/589862 

57. 	 Lane KS, Chu SY, Santoli JM. The United States pediatric vaccine stockpile 

program. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication ofthe Infectious 

Diseases Society ofAmerica. 2006;42 Suppl 3:S125-129. DOI: 

10.1086/ 499591 

58. 	 Midthun K, Horne AD, Goldenthal KL. Clinical safety evaluation of 

combination vaccines. Dev Biol Stand. 1998;95:245-249. 

59. 	 Pichichero ME, Blatter MM, Reisinger KS, et al. Impact of a birth dose of 

hepatitis B vaccine on the reactogenicity and immunogenicity of diphtheria

tetanus-acellular pertussis-hepatitis B-inactivated poliovirus-H aemophilus 

infiuen~ae type b combination vaccination. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 

2002;21(9):854-859. DOI: 10.1097/01.inf.0000027669.37444.24 

60. 	 CDC. Prevention of pneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory 
' Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm R ep. 

1997;46(RR-8) :1-24. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 46 

http:10.1097/01.inf.0000027669.37444.24


61. 	 Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. 

Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

62. 	 Petralli JK, Merigan TC, Wilbur JR. Action of endogenous interferon against 

vaccinia infection in children. Lancet. 1965;2(7409):401-405. DOI: 

10.1016/So140-6736(65)90755-5 

63. 	 Petralli JK, Merigan TC, Wilbur JR. Circulating interferon after measles 

vaccination. N Engl J Med. 1965;273:198-201. DOI: 

10.1056/nejm196507222730405 

64. 	 Verstraeten T, Jumaan AO, Mullooly JP, et al. Aretrospective cohort study of 

the association of varicella vaccine failure with asthma, steroid use, age at 

vaccination, and measles-mumps-rubella vaccination. Pediarrics. 

2003;112(2):e98-103. DOI: 10.1542/peds.112.2.e98 

65. 	 CDC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm 

Rep. 1994;43(RR-1):1-38. 

66. 	 ·Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-5) :1-30; quiz CE32-34. 

67. 	 Siber GR, Werner BG, Halsey NA, et al. Interference of immune globulin with 

measles and rubella immunization. J Pediatr. 1993;122(2):204-211. DOI: 

10.1016/Soo22-3476(06)80114-9 

68. 	 Mason WH, Schneider TL, Takahashi M. Duration of passively acquired 

measles antibody and response to live virus vaccination allowing gamma 

globulin therapy for Kawasald syndrome. Prag Pediatr Cardiol. 1992;1(1):82. 

DOI: 10.1016/S1058-9813(06)80067-6 

69. 	 Kaplan JE, Nelson DB, Schonberger LB, et al. The effect of immune globulin 

on the response to trivalent oral poliovirus and yellow fever vaccinations. Bull 

World Health Organ. 1984;62(4):585-590. 

70. 	 Black NA, Parsons A, Kurtz JB, McWhinney N, Lacey A, Mayon-White RT. 

Post-partum rµbella immunisation: a controlled trial of two vaccines. Lancet. 

1983;2(8357):990-992. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(83)90979-o 

Genera l Best Pract ice Guidelines for Immunization: Tim ing and Spacing of lmmunobio logics 47 



71. 	 CDC. Control and prevention ofrubella: evaluation and management of 


suspected outbreaks, rubella in pregnant women, and surveillance for 


congenital rubella syndrome. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2001;5o(RR-12) :1-23. 


72. 	 Siber GR, Snydman DR. Use of immune globulin in the prevention and 

treatment of infections. In: Remington J, Swartz M, eds. Current clinical 


. topics in infectious diseases. Vol 12. Malden, MA: Blackwell Science; 1992. 


73. 	 Greenberg·DP, Lieberman JM, Marcy SM, et al. Enhanced antibody responses 

in infants given different sequences of heterogeneous Haemophilus 

influenzae type b conjugate vaccines. J Pediatr. 1995;126(2):206-211. DOI: 

10.1016/Soo22-3476(95)70546-5 

74. 	 Anderson.EL, Decker MD, Englund JA, et al. Interchangeability of conjugated 

Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccines in infants. JAMA. 1995;273(11):849

853. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1995.03520350031024 

75. 	 Piazza M, Abrescia N, Picciotto L, et al. [Demonstration of the 

interchangeability of 2 types of recombinant anti-hepatitis-B vaccine]. Boll 

Soc Ital Biol Sper. 1993;69(4):273-280. 

76. 	 Bryan JP, Henry CH, Hoffman AG, et al. Randomized, cross-over, controlled 

comparison of two inactivated hepatitis A vaccines. Vaccine. 2000;19(7

8):743-750. DOI: 10.1016/So264-410X(oo)oo301-7 

77. 	 Greenberg DP, Pickering LK, Senders SD, et al. Interchangeability of 2 

diphtheria-tetanus-acellular pertussis vaccines in infancy. Pediatrics. 

2oo'2;109(4):666-672. DOI: 10.1542/peds.109,4.666 

78. 	 CDC. Use of diphtheria toxoid-tetanus toxoid-acellular pertussis vaccine as a 

five-dose series. Supplemental recommendations of the Advisory Committee 

on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-13) :1

8. 

79. 	 Fiore AE, Uyeld TM, Broder K, et al. Prevention and control of influenza with 

vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP), 2010. MMWRRecommRep. 2010;59(RR-8) :1-62. 

So. 	 McLean HQ, Fiebelkorn AP, Temte JL, Wallace GS. Prevention of measles, 

rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 48 

http:Anderson.EL


recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP).MMWRRecomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-4):1-34. 

81. 	 Grohskopf LA, Olsen SJ, Sokolow LZ, et al. Prevention and control of seasonal 

influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP)-United States, 2014-15 influenza season. 

MMWRMorbMortal Wlcly Rep. 2014;63(32):691-697. 

82. 	 American Academy of Pediatrics. Active Immunization. In: Pickering L, Baker 

C, Kimberlin D, Long S, eds. Red Boole 2012 Report ofthe Committee on 

Infectious Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of 

Pediatric; 2012. 

I 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 49 



4. Contraindications and Precautions 

Updates 

Major changes to the best practice guidance in this section include 1) enhancement of 

the definition of a "precaution" to include any condition that might confuse diagnostic 

accuracy and 2) recommendation to vaccinate during a hospitalization if a patient is not 

acutely moderately or severely ill. 

General Principles 

Contraindications ( conditions in a recipient that increases the risk for a serious adverse 

reaction) and precautions to vaccination are conditions under which vaccines should not 

be administered. Because the majority of contraindications and precautions are 

temporary, vaccinations often can be administered later when the condition leading to a 

contraindication or precaution no longer exists. A vaccine should not be administered 

when a contraindication is present; for example, MMR vaccine should not be 

administered to severelyimmunocompromisedpersons (1). However, certain conditions 

are commonly misperceived as contraindications (i.e., are not valid reasons to defer 

. vaccination). 

National standards for pediatric vaccination practices have been established and include 

descriptions ofvalid contraindications and precautions to vaccination (2) . Persons who 

administer vaccines should screen patients for contraindications and precautions to the 

vaccine before each dose of vaccine is administered (Table 4-1). Screening is facilitat ed 

by consistent use of screening questionnaires, which are available from certain state 

vaccination programs and other sources (e.g., the Immunization Action Coalition, 

http://www.immunize.org). 

Severely immunocompromised persons generally should not receive live vaccines (3) . 

Because of the theoretical risk to the fetus, women lmown to be pregnant generally 

should not receive live, attenuated virus vaccines (4). Persons who experienced 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions so 

http:http://www.immunize.org


encephalopathy within 7 days aft~r administration of a previous dose of pertussis

containing vaccine not attributable to another identifiable cause should not receive 

additional doses of a vaccine that contains pertussis (4,5). Severe Combined 

Immunodeficiency (SCID) disease and a history of intussusception are both 

contraindications to the receipt of rotavirus vaccines ( 6). 

A precaution is a condition in a recipient that might increase the risk for a serious 
l 

adverse reactio:r:i, might cause diagnostic confusion, or might compromise the ability of 

the vaccine to produce immunity (e.g., administering measles vaccine to a person with 

. passive immunity to measles from a blood transfusion administered up to 7 months 

prior) (7). A person might experience a more severe reaction to the vaccine than would 

have otherwise-been expected; however, the risk for this happening is less than the risk 

expected with a contraindication. In general, vaccinations should be deferred when a 

precaution is present. However, a vaccination might be indicated in the presence of a 

precaution if the benefit of protection from the vaccine outweighs the risk for an adverse 

reaction. 

The pres~nce of a moderate or severe acute illness with or without a fever is a precaution 

to administration of all vaccines (Table 4-1). The decision to administer or delay 

vaccination because of a current or recent acute illness depends on the severity of 

symptoms and etiology of the condition. The safety and efficacy of vaccinating persons 

who have mild illnesses have been documented (8-11). Vaccination should be deferred 

for per1?ons with a moderate or severe acute illness. This precaution avoids causing 

diagnostic confusion between manifestations of the underlying illness and possible 

adverse effects of vaccination or superimposing adverse effects of the vaccine on the 

underlying illness. After they are screened for contraindications, persons with moderate 

or severe acute illness should be vaccinated as soon as the acute illness has improved. 

Studies indicate that failure to vaccinate children with minor illnesses can impede 

vaccination efforts (12- 14). Among persons whose compliance with medical care cannot 

be ensured, use of every opportunity to administer appropriate vaccines is critical. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 51 



Hospitalization should be used as an opportunity to provide recommended vaccinations. 

Health-care facilities are held to standards of offering influenza vaccine for hospitalized 

patients, so providers are incentivized to vaccinate these patients at some point during 

hospitalization (15). Likewise, patients admitted for elective procedures will not be 
' 

acutely ill during all times during their hospitalization. Most studies that have explored 

the effect of surgery or anesthesia on the immune system were observational, included 

only infants and children, and were small and indirect, in that they did not look at the 

immune effect on the response to vaccination specifically (16-35) . They do not provide 

convincing evidence that recent ane.sthesia or surgery significantly affect response to 

vaccines. Current, recent, or upcoming anesthesia/ surgery /hospitalization is not a 

contraindication to vaccination (16-35). Efforts should be made to ensure vaccine 

administration during the hospitalization or at discharge. For patients who are deemed 

moderately or severely ill throughout the hospitalization, vaccination should occur at 

the earliest opportunity (i.e., during immediate post-hospitalization follow-up care, 

including home or office visits) when patients' clinical symptoms have improved. 

A personal or family history of seizur es is a precaution for MMRV vaccination; this is 

because a recent study found an increased risk for febrile seizures in children 12-23 

months who receive MMRV compared with MMR and varicella vaccine (36). 

Clinicians or other health-care providers might misperceive certain conditions or 

circumsta,pces as valid contraindications or precautions to vaccination when they 

actually do not preclude vaccination (2) (Table 4-2) . These misperceptions result in 

missed opportunities to administer recommended vaccines (37) . 

Routine physical examinations and procedures (e.g., measuring temperatures) are not 

prerequisites for vaccinating persons who appear to be healthy. The provider should ask 

the parent or guardian if the child is ill. If the child has a moderate or severe illnes·s, the 

vaccination should be postponed. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 52 



\... 

TABLE 4-1. Contraindications and precautionsCa) to commonly used vaccines 

Vaccine Citation 

DT, Td (4) 

DTaP (38) 

Contraindications 

Severe allergic reaction 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 

Severe allergic reaction 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 
Encephalopathy (e.g., 
coma, decreased level of 
consciousness, 
prolonged seizures), not 
attributable to another 
identifiab,e cause, 
within 7 days of 
administration of 
previous dose of DTP or 
DTaP 

Precautions 

GBS <6 weeks after previous dose of 
tetanus-toxoid-containing vaccine 
History of Arthus-type 
hypersensitivity reactions after a 
previous dose of diphtheria-toxoid
containing or t etanus-toxoid
containing vaccine; defer vaccination 
until at least 10 years have elapsed 
since the last tetanus-toxoid
containing vaccine 
Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

Progressive neurologic disorder, 
including infantile spasms, 
uncontrolled epilepsy, progressive 
encephalopathy; defer DTaP until 
neurologic status clarified and 
stabilized 
Temperature of :?:105°F (~40.5°C) 
within 48 hours after vaccination with 
a previous dose of DTP or DTaP 
Collapse or shock-like state (i.e ., 
hypotonic hyporesponsive episode) 
within 48 hours after receiving a 
previous dose of DTP /DTaP 
Seizure :,;;3 days after receiving a 
previous dose of DTP /DTaP 
Persistent, inconsolable crying lasting 
:?:3 hours within 48 hours after 
receiving a previous dose of 
DTP/DTaP 
GBS <6 weeks after previous dose of 
tetanus-toxoid-containing vaccine 
History ofArthus-type 
hypersensitivity reactions after a 
previous dose of diphtheria-toxoid
containing or tetanus-toxoid
containing vaccine; defer vaccination 
until at least 10 years have elapsed 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 53 



since the last tetanus-toxoid
containing vaccine 
Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 

Hepatitis A Severe allergic reaction (39) 
or without fever 

a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 

Hepatitis B Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 

(40) Severe allergic reaction 
or without fever 

a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 
Hypersensitivity to yeast 

Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 

Hib (41) Severe allergic reaction 
or without fever 

a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 
Age <6 weeks 

HPV (42) Severe allergic reaction Pregnancy 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after Moderate or severe acute illness with 
a previous dose or to a or without fever 
vaccine component 

IIV Severe allergic reaction GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 

(43) 
influenza vaccine 

previous dose of Moderate or severe acute illness with 
influenza vaccine or to or without fever 
vaccine component. Egg allergy other than hives, e.g., 

angioedema, respiratory distress, 
lightheadedness, recurrent emesis; or 
required epinephrine or another 
emergency medical intervention (IIV 
may be administered in an inpatient 
or outpatient medical setting and 
under the supervision of a health care 
provider who is able to recognize and 
manage severe allergic conditions). 

IPV Severe allergic reaction Pregnancy 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 

(44) 

General Best Pract ice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraind ications and Precautions 54 



a previous dose or to a Moderate or severe acute illness with 
vaccine component or without fever 

LAfVCb) GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
Severe allergic reaction (43) 

influenza vaccine 
a vaccine component, Asthma in persons aged 5 years old or 
including egg protein older 
Concomitant use of Medical conditions which might. . . . 
aspirmg or aspirm predispose to higher risk of 
containing medication complications attributable to 
in children and influenza Cc) 
adolescents Moderate of severe acute illness with 

or without fever 

MenACWY Severe allergic reaction Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 

(45) 
or without fever 

a previous dose or to a 
' vaccine component 

MMRC<l),Ce) (1) Severe allergic reaction Recent (:s;n months) receipt of 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after antibody-containing blood product 
a previous dose or to a (specific interval depends on product) 
vaccine component History of thrombocytopenia or 
Pregnancy thrombocytopenic purpura 
Known severe Need for tuberculin skin testing or 
immunodeficiency (e.g., interferon-gamma release assay 
from hematologic ?nd (IGRA) testingCg) 
solid tumors, receipt of Moderate or severe acute illness with 
chemotherapy, or without fever 
congenital 
immunodeficiency, 
long-term _ 
immunosuppressive 
therapyCfJ or patients 
with HN infection who 
are severely 
immunocompromised) ' 

MPSV4 (46) Severe allergic reaction Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after or without fever 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component_ 

Severe allergic reaction Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 

PCV13 (47) 
or without fever 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Contraind ications and Precautions 55 



.PPSV23 


RIV 


Rotavirus 

Tdap 

a previous dose of 
PCV13 or any 
diphtheria-toxoid
containing vaccine or to 
a component of a 
vaccine (PCV13 or any 
diphtheria-t oxoid
containing vaccine) 

Severe allergic reaction 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 

(48) 

Severe allergic reaction 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) to 
any component of the 
vaccme 

(43) 

Sev~re allergic reaction 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 
SCID 
History of 
· intussusception 

(6) 

Severe allergic reaction 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 
Encephalopathy (e.g., 
coma, decreased level of 
consciousness, 
prolonged seizures), not 
attributable to another 
identifiable cause, 
within 7 days of 
administration of 
previous dose of DTP, 
DTaP, or Tdap 

(49) 

Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of 
influenza vaccine 
Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

Altered immunocompetence other 
thanSCID 
Chronic gastroint~stinal disease(h) 
Spina bifida or bladder exst rophy(h) 
Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of 
tetanus-t oxoid-containing vaGcine 
Progressive or unstable neurological 
disorder, uncontrolled seizures, or 
progressive encephalopathy until a 
treatment regimen has been 
established and the condition has 
stabilized 
History ofArthus-type 
hypersensitivity reactions after a 
previous dose of diphtheria-toxoid
containing or tetanu~-toxoid
containing vaccine; defer vaccination 
until at least 10 years have elapsed 
since the last tetanus-toxoid
containing vaccine 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines· for Immunization : Contraindications and Precautions 56 



Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

Recent (~11 months) receipt of Severe allergic reaction VaricellaCd),(e (50) 
antibody-containing blood product ) (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
(specific interval depends on product)a previous dose or to a 

vaccine component Moderate or severe acute illness with 
Known severe or without fever 
immunodeficiency (e.g., 
from hematologic and 
solid tumors, receipt of 
chemotherapy, 
congenital 
immunodeficiency, 
long-term. .
1mmunosuppress1ve 
therapyCn or patients 
with HN infection who 
are severely 
immunocompromised)CeJ 

Pregnancy 

Moderate or severe acute illness withSevere allergic reaction 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 

(51)Zoster 
or without fever 

a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 
Known severe 
immunodeficiency (e.g., 
from hematologic and 
solid tumors, receipt of 
chemotherapy, 
congenital 
immunodeficiency, 
long-term 
immunosuppressive 
therapy(f) or patients 
with HN infection who 
are severely 
immunocompromised)ceJ 

Pregnancy 

Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellu1ar pertussis; 
DTP = diphtheria toxoid, tetanus toxoid, and pertussis; GBS = Gui11ain-Barre syndrome; Hib = Haemophilus influenzae 
type b; HIV = human immunodeficiency virus; HPV = human papillomavirus; !IV= inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV = 
inactivated po1iovirus; LAlV = live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate 
vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MPSV 4 = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PCV13 = 
pneurnococcal conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; SCID = severe combined 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 57 



immunodeficiency; RIV=recombinant influenza vaccine; Td = tetanus and diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, 
reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis. 

Ca) Events or conditions listed as precautions should be reviewed carefully. Benefits ofand risks for administering a 
specific vaccine to a person under these circumstances should be considered. Ifthe risk from the vaccine is believed to 
outweigh the benefit, the vaccine should not be administered . Ifthe benefit ofvaccination is believed to outweigh the risk, 
the vaccine should be administered. Whether and when to administer DTaP to children with proven or suspected 
underlying neurologic disorders should be decided on a case-by-case basis. 

Cb) In addition, ACIP recommends LAIV not be used for pregnant women, immunosuppressed persons, persons with egg 
allergy, and children aged 2-4 years who have asthma or who have had a wheezing episode noted in the medical record 
within the past 12 months, or for whom parents report that a health-care provider stated that they had wheezing or 
asthma within the last 12 months. LAIV should not be administered to persons who have taken influenza antiviral 
medications within the previous 48 hours. Persons who care for severely immunosuppressed persons who require a 
protective environment should not receive LAN, or should avoid contact with such persons for 7 days after receipt. 

Cc) Source: (52). 

Cd) HIV-infected children may receive varicella vaccine if CD4+ T-lymphocyte count is ~15% and should receive MMR 
vaccine ifthey are aged ~12 months and do not have evidence of current severe immunosuppression (i.e., individuals aged 
s5 years must have CD4+T lymphocyte [CD4] percentages ~15% for ~6 months; and individuals aged >s years must have 
CD4+percentages ~15% and CD4+~200 lymphocytes/mm3 for ~6 months) or other current evi9"ence ofmeasles, rubella, 
and mumps immunity. In cases when only CD4+cell counts or only CD4+percentages are available for those older than 
age 5 years, the assessment of severe immunosuppression can be based on the CD4+values (count or percentage) that are 
available. In cases when CD4+percentages are not available for those aged ss years, the assessment ofsevere 
immunosuppression can be based on age-specific CD4+counts at the time CD4+counts were measured; i.e., absence of 
severe immunosuppression is defined as ~6 months above age-specific CD4+count criteria: CD4+count >750 
lymphocytes/mm3 while aged s 12 months and CD4+count ~500 lymphocytes/mm3 while aged 1 through 5 years. 
Sources: (1,50). 

Ce) MMR and varicella-containing vaccines can b e administered on the same day. Ifnot administered on the same day, 
these vaccines should be separated by at least 28 days. 

CO A substantially immunosuppressive steroid dose is considered to be ~2 weeks ofdaily receipt of 20 mg or 2 mg/ kg body 
weight ofprednisone or equivalent. 

Cg) Ifactive tuberculosis is suspected, MMR should be delayed. Measles vaccination might suppress tuberculin reactivity 
temporarily. Measles-containing vaccine can be administered on the same day as tuberculin sldn or IGRA testing. If 
testing cannot be performed until after the day ofMMR vaccination, the test should be postponed for ~4 weeks after the 
vaccination. Ifan urgen~ need exists to skin test or IGRA, do so with the understanding that reactivity might be reduced 
by the vaccine. · 

Ch) For details, see (53). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 58 



TABLE 4-2. Conditions incorrectly perceived as contraindications to 
vaccination (i.e., vaccines may be given under these conditions) 
Vaccine Conditions commonly misperceived as 

contraindications 
Gener.al for all Mild acute illness with or without fever 

vaccines, including 
 Mild to moderate local reaction (i.e., swelling, redness, 

DTaP, pediatric DT, 
 soreness); low-grade or moderate fever after previous dose 

adult Td, 
 Lack of previous physical examination in well-appearing 

adolescent-adult 
 person 

Tdap, IPV, MMR, 
 Current antimicrobial therapyCa) 
Rib, hepatitis A, Convalescent phase of illness 
hepatitis B, Preterm birth (hepatitis B vaccine is an exception in certain 
varicella, rotavirus, circumstances)Cb) 


PCV13, IIV, LAIV, 
 Recent exposure to an infectious disease 
PPSV23, History ofpenicillin allergy, other nonvaccine allergies, 
MenACWY, MPSV 4, relatives with allergies, or receiving allergen extract 
HPV, and herpes irnmunotherapy 
zoster History of GBS(c) 

DTaP Fever of <105°F ( <40.5°C), fussiness or mild drowsiness after a 
previous dose of DTP /DTaP 
Family history of seizures 
Family history of sudden infant death syndrome 
Family history of an adverse event after DTP or DTaP 
administration 
Stable neurologic conditions (e.g., cere~ral palsy, well-
controlled seizures, or developmental delay) 

Hepatitis B Pregnancy 
Autoimmune disease (e.g., systemic lupus erythematosus or 
rheumatoid arthritis) 

HPV Immunosuppression 
Previous equivocal or abnormal Papanicolaou test 
Known HPV infection 
Breastfeeding 
History of genital warts 

IIV Nonsevere (e.g., contact) allergy to latex, thimerosal, or egg 
Concurrent administration of Coumadin (generic: warfarin) or 
aminophylline 

IPV Previous receipt of ~1 dose of oral polio vaccine 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 59 

http:Gener.al


Health-care providers that see patients with chronic diseases 
or altered immunocompetence (an exception is providers for 
severely immunocompromised patients requiring care in a 
protected environment) 
Breastfeeding 
Contacts of persons with chronic disease or alte_red 
immunocompetence (an exception is contacts of severely 
immunocompromised patients requiring care in a protected 
environment) 

MMRCd),Ce) 

LAN 

Positive tuberculin skin test 
Simultaneous tuberculin skin or interferon-gamma release 
assay (IGRA) t estingCf)' 
Breastfeeding 
Pregnancy of recipient's mother or other close or household 
contact 
Recipient is female of child-bearing age 
Immunodeficient family member or household contact 
Asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic HIV infection 
Allergy to eggs 

PPSV23 History of invasive pneumococcal disease or pneumonia 
Rotavirus Prematurity 

Immunosuppressed household contacts 
Pregnant household contacts 

Tdap History offever of ;?:105°F (;?:40.5°C) for <48 hours after 
vaccination with a previous dose of DTP or DTaP 
History of collapse or shock-like state (i.e., hypotonic 
hyporesponsive episode) within 48 hours after receiving a 
previous dose of DTP/DTaP 
History of seizure <3 days after receiving a previous dose of 
DTP/DTaP 
History of persistent, inconsolable crying lasting >3 hours 
within 48 hours after receiving a previous dose of DTP /DTaP 
History of extensive limb swelling after DTP/DTaP/Td that is 
not an Arthus-type reaction 
History of stable neurologic disorder 
History of brachial neuritis 
Latex allergy that is not anaphylactic 
Breastfeeding 
Immunosuppression 

Varicella Pregnancy of recipient's mother or other close or household 
contact 
Immunodeficient family member or household contactCg) 
Asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic HIV infection 
Humoral immunodeficiency (e.g., agammaglobulinemia) 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 60 



Zoster Therapy with low-dose methotrexate (:$;0-4 mg/kg/week), 
azathioprine (:$;3.0 mg/kg/day), or 6-mercaptopurine (:$;1.5 
mg/kg/ day) for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, 
polymyositis, sarcoidosis, inflammatory bowel disease, or other 
conditions 
Health-care providers of patients with chronic diseases or 
altered immunocompetence 
Contacts of patients with chronic diseases or altered 
immunocompetence 
Unknown or uncertain history of varicella in a U.S.-born 
person 

Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTP = diphtheria toxoid, tetanus toxoid, and pertussis; 
DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and a cellular pertussis; GBS = Guillain-Barre syndrome; HBsAg = hepatitis 
B surface antigen; Hib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b; HIV = human immunodeficiency virus; HPV =human 
papillomavirus; IIV = inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, attenuated influenza 
vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; 
MPSV 4 = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PCV = pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= 
pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; Td = tetanus and diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, reduced 
diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis. 

(a) Antibacterial drugs might interfere with Ty2ia oral typhoid vaccine, and certain antiviral drugs might interfere 
with varicella-containing vaccines and LAIV 4. · 

Cb) Hepatitis B vaccination should be deferred for infants weighing <2,000 g if the mother is documented to be 
HBsAg negative. Vaccination should commence at chronological age 1 month or at hospital discharge. For infants 
born to HBsAg-positive women, hepatitis B immune globulin and hepatitis B vaccip.e should be administered 
within 12 hours after birth, regardless ofweight. 

(cl An exception is Guillain-Barre syndrome within 6 weeks ofa dose of influenza vaccine or tetanus-toxoid
containing vaccine, which are precautions for influenza vaccines and tetanus-toxoid containing vaccines, 
respectively. 

Cd) MMR and varicella vaccines can be administered on the same day. Ifnot administered on the same day, these 
vaccines should be separated by at least 28 days. 

Ce) HIV-infected children should receive immune globulin after exposure to measles. HIV-infected children can 
receive varicella and measles vaccine if CD4+ T-1ymphocyte count is >15%. (54). 

CO Measles vaccination might suppress tuberculin reactivity temporarily. Measles-containing vaccine can be 
administered on the same day as tuberculin sldn or IGRA testing. If testing cannot be performed until after the day 
ofMMRvaccination, the test should be postponed for at least 4 weeks after the vaccination. Ifan urgent need 
exists.to skin test or IGRA, do so with the understanding that reactivity might be reduced by the vaccine. 

(g) Ifa·vaccinee experiences a presumed vaccine-related rash 7-25 days after vaccination, the person should avoid 
direct contact with immunocompromised persons for the duration ofthe rash. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immu nization: Contraindications and Precautioris 61 

http:exists.to


REFERENCES 


1. 	 McLean HQ, Fiebelkorn AP, Temte JL, Wallace GS. Prevention of measles, 

rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary 

recommendations of the Advisory ·committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWRRecommRep. 2013;62(RR-4):1-34. 

2. 	 National Vaccine Adviso1y Committee. Standards for child and adolescent 


immunization practices. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4):95~-963. 


· 	 3. Rubin L, Levin M, Ljungman P, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for 

vaccination of the immunocompromised host. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58(3):e44

100. DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit684 

4. 	 Kroger A, Atkinson W, Pickering L. General immunization practices. In: Plotkin 

S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 6th ed. China: Elsevier Saunders; 2013:88

111. 

5. 	 CDC. Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis: recommendations for vaccine use and 

other preventive measures. Recommendations of the Immunization Practices 

Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-10):1-28. 

6. 	 CDC. Addition of history of intussusception as a contraindication for rotavirus 

vaccination. MMWRMorbMortal Wlcly Rep. 2011;60(41):1427. 

7. 	 Siber GR, Werner BG, Halsey NA, et al. Interference of immune globulin with 


measles and rubella immunization. J Pediatr. 1993;122(2):204-211. DOI: 


10.1016/Soo22-3476(06)80114-9 


8 . 	 Halsey NA, Boulos R, Mode F, et al. Response to measles vaccine in Haitian 

infants 6 to 12 months old. Influence of maternal antibodies, malnutrition, and 

concurrent illnesses. N Engl J Med. 1985;313(9):544-549. DOI: 

10.1056/nejm198508293130904 

9. 	 Ndikuyeze A, Munoz A, Stewart J, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of measles 
' 

vaccine in ill African children. Int J Ep_idemiol. 1988;17(2):448-455. DOI:· 

10-..1093/ije/17.2.448 

10. 	 Lindegren ML, Atkinson WL, Farizo KM, Stehr-Green PA.Measles vaccination in 

pediatric emergency departments during a measles outbreak. JAMA. 

1993;270(18) :2185-2189. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1993.03510180055033 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 62 



11.· 	 Atkinson W, Markowitz L, Baughman A, et al. Serologic response to measles 

vaccination among ill children [Abstract 422]. 32nd Interscience Conference on 

Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy; 1992; Anaheim, CA. 

12. 	 Orenstein W, Rodewald L, Hinman A, Schuchat A. Immunization in the United 

States. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 5th ed. China: 

Saunders/Elsevier; 2008:1479-1510. 

13. 	 Lewis T, Osborn LM, Lewis K, Brockert J, Jacobsen J, Cherry JD. Influence of 

parental knowledge and opinions on 12-month diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis 

vaccination rates.Am J Dis Child. 1988;142(3):283-286. DOI: 

10.1001/archpedi.1988.02150030053018 

14. 	 Parizo KM, Stehr-Green.PA, Markowitz LE, Patriarca PA. Vaccination levels and 

missed opportunities for measles vaccination: a record audit in a public pediatric 

clinic. Pediatrics. 1992;89(4 Pt 1):589-592. 

15. 	 Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Overview of specifications of measures 

displayed on hospital compare as of December 14, 2006. 2006; 

http://www.cms.hhs.gov/Hospital Quality Inits/downloads/ HospitalOverviewOfS_ 

pecs200512.pdf. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 

16. 	 Donovan R, Soothill JF. Immunological studies in children undergoing 

tonsillectomy. Clin Exp Immunol. 1973;14(3) :347-357. 

17. Puri P, Reen DJ, Browne 0, Blake P, Guiney EJ. Lymphocyte response after 

surgery in the neonate. Arch Dis Child. 1979;54(8):599-603. DOI: 

10.1136/adc.54.8.599 

18. Mollitt DL, Steele RW,-Marmer DJ, Stevers Golladay E, Costas S. Surgically 

induced immunologic alterations in the child. J Pediatr Surg. 1984;19(6):818

822. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3468(84)80376-o 

19. 	 Mollitt DL, Marmer DJ, Steele RW. Age-dependent variation oflymphocyte 

function in the postoperative child. J Pediatr Surg. 1986;21(7):633-635. DOI: 

10.1016/S0022-3468(86)80420-1 

20. 	 Kurz R, Pfeiffer KP, Sauer H. Immunologic status in infants and children 

following surgery. Infection. 1983;11(2):104-113. DOI: 10.1007/ BF01641075 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 63 

http://www.cms.hhs.gov/Hospital
http:Stehr-Green.PA
http:rates.Am


21. 	 Merry C, Puri P, Reen DJ. Effect of major surgery on neutrophil chemotaxis and 

actin polymerization in neonates and children. J Pediatr Surg. 1997;32(6):813

817. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3468(97)90626-6 

22. 	 Platt MP, Lo;vat PE, Watson JG, Aynsley-GreenA. The effects of anesthesia and 

surgery on lymphocyte populations and function in infants and children. J 

Pediatr Surg. 1989;24(9):884-887. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3468(89)80588-3 

23. 	 Mattila-Vuori A, Salo M, Iisalo E. Immune response in infants undergoing · 

application of cast: comparison of halothane and balanced anesthesia. Can J 

Anaesth. 1999;46(11):1036-1042. DOI: 10.1007/bfo3013198 

24. 	 Espanol T, Todd GB, Soothill J F. The effect of anaesthesia on the lymphocyte 

response to phytohaemagglutinin. Clin Exp Immunol. 1974;18(1):73-79. 

25. 	 Hauser GJ, Chan MM, Casey WF, Midgley FM, Holbrook PR. Immune 

dysfunction in children after corrective surgery for congenital heart disease. Crit 

Care M ed. 1991;19(7):874-881. 

26. 	 Puri P, Lee A, Reen DJ. Differential susceptibility of neonatal lymphocytes to the 

i;mmunosuppressive effects of anesthesia and surgery. Pediatr Surg Int. 

1992;7(1):47-50. DOI: 10.1007/bfoo181002 

27. 	 Hansen TG, Tonnesen E, Andersen JB, Toft P, Bendtzen K. The peri-operative 

cytokine response in infants -and young children following major surgery. Eur J 

Anaesthesiol. 1998;15(1):56-60. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2346.1998.00230.x 

28. 	 Mattila-Vuori A, Salo M, Iisalo E, Pajulo 0, Viljanto J . Local and systemic 

immune response to surgery under balanced anaesthesia in children. Paediatr 

Anaesth. 2000;10(4):3"81-388 .. DOI: 10.1046/j.1460-9592.2000.00505.x 

29. 	 Romeo C, Cruccetti A, Turiaco A, et al. Monocyte and neutrophil activity after 

minor surgical stress. J Pediatr Surg. 2002;·37(5):741-744. DOI: 

10.1053/jpsu.2002.32268 

30. 	 VuoriA, Salo M, Viljanto J , Pajulo 0, Pullda K, Nevalainen T. Effects of post

operative pain treatment using non-steroidal anti-inflammatory analgesics, 

opioids or epidural blockade on systemic and local immune responses in 

children. ActaAnaesthesiol Scand. 2004;48(6):738-749. DOI:-10.1111/j.1399

6576.2004.00404.x 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Cont raindications and Precautions 64 



31. 	 Siebert J N, Posfay-Barbe KM, Habre W, Siegrist CA. Influence of anesthesia on 

immune responses and its effect on vaccination in children: review of evidence. 

Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17(5):410-420. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2006.02120.x 

32. Currie J. Vaccination: is it a real problem for anesthesia and surgery? Paediatr 

Anaesth. 2006;16(5):501-503. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2006.01898.x 

33. 	 Siebert J, Posfay-Barbe KM, Habre W, Siegrist C-A. Author's reply. Paediatr 

Anaesth. 2007;17(12):1218-1220. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2007.02369.x 

34. Nafiu 00, Lewis I. Vaccination and anesthesia: more questions than answers. 

Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17(12):1215-1215. DOI: 10.1111/ j .1460

9592.2007.02318.x 

·35. Short JA, Van Der Walt JH, Zoanetti DC. Author's reply. Paediatr Anaesth. 


2007;17(12):1215-1216. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2007.02321.x 


36. 	 Marin M, Broder KR, Temte JL, Snider DE, Seward JF. Use of combination 

measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella vaccine: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2010;59(RR-3) :1-12. 

37. 	 Szilagyi PG, Rodewald LE. Missed opportunities for immunizations: a review of 

the evidence. JPublicHealthManag Pract. 1996;2(1):18-25. DOI: 

10.1097/00124784-199600210-00005 

· 	 38. CDC. Use of diphtheria toxoid-tetanus toxoid-acellular pertussis vaccine as a five

dose series. Supplemental recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-13):1-8 . 

39. 	 FioreAE, Wasley A, Bell BP. Prevention of hepatitis A through active or passive 

immunization: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-7):1-23. 

40. 	 Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization strategy 

to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) 

part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2005;54(RR-16):1-31. 

41. 	 Briere EC, Rubin L, Moro PL, Cohn A, Clark T, Messonnier N. Prevention and 

control ofHaemophilus influenzae type b disease: recommendations of the 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Contraindicat ions and Precautions 65 



advisory committee on immunization practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2014;63(RR-1):1-14. 

42. 	 Markowitz L, Dunne E, Saraiya M, et al. Hu:man papillomavirus vaccination: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2014;63(RR-05):1-30. 

43. 	 Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, et al. Prevention and Control of Seasonal 

Influenza with Vaccines Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices - United States, 2016-17 Influenza Season. MMliVR 

RecommRep 2016;65(No. RR-5):1-54. 

44. 	 Prevots DR, Burr RK, Sutter RW, Murphy TV. Poliomyelitis prevention in the 

United States. Updated recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-5):1-22; 

quiz CE21-27. \ 

45. 	 Cohn AC, MacNeil JR, Clark TA, et al. Prevention and control of meningococcal 

disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMliVRRecomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-2):1-28. 

46 . Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. 

Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMliVR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

47. 	 Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. Preventing pneumococcal 

disease among infants and young children. Recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

2000;49(RR-9):1-35. 

48. 	 CDC. Prevention of pneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

1997;46(RR-8):1-24. 

49. 	 Broder KR, Cortese MM, Iskander JK, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, and 

pertussis among adolescents: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid 

and acellular pertussis vaccines recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-3):1-34. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 66 



50. 	 Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

51. 	 Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWRRecommRep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32-34. 

52. 	 Grohskopf LA, Olsen SJ, Sokolow LZ, et al. Prevention and control of seasonal 

influenza with vaccines: recommendatio:ps of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP)- United States, 2014-15 influenza season. 

MMWRMorb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(32):691-697. 

53. 	 Cortese MM, Parashar UD. Prevention of rot avirus gastroenteritis among infants 

and children: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2009;58(RR-2):1-25. 

54. 	 American .Academy of Pediatrics. Passive immunization. In: Pickering L, Baker C, 

Kimberlin D, Long S, eds. Red Boole: 2012 Report ofthe Committee on Infectious 

Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2012. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 67 



5. 	Preventing and Managing Adverse 

Reactions 

Updates 

Major changes to the best practice guidance include 1) more descriptive characterization 

of anaphylactic allergy and 2) incorporation of protocols for managing adverse 

reactions. 

Benefit and Risk Communication 

Parents, guardians, legal representatives, and adolescent and adult patients should be· 

informed about the benefits of and risks from vaccines in language that is culturally 

sensitive and at an appropriate educational level. Opportunity for questions should be 

provided before each vaccination. Discussion of the benefits of and risks from 

vaccination is sound medical practice and is required by law. 

The National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986 (1) requires that vaccine information 

materials be developed for each vaccine covered by the Act (uscode.house.gov). These 

materials, known as vaccine information statements (VISs), must be provided by all 

public and private vaccination providers each time a vaccine is administered. Copies of 

VISs are available from state health authorities responsible for vaccinatio,n and from 

CDC(http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/vis/index.html ). Translations ofVISs into 

languages other than English are available from certain state vaccination programs and 

from the Immunization Action Coalition website (http: //www.immunize.org). The act 

does not require that a signature be obtained; however, documentation of consent might 

be recommended or required by certain state or local health authorities or school 

authorities. 

Some parents or patients question the need for or safety of vaccinations and want to 

discuss the risks from and benefits of certain vaccines. Some refuse certain vaccines or 

reject all vaccinations for personal or religious reasons. Having a basic understanding of 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 68 

http:www.immunize.org
http:uscode.house.gov


how patients and parents ofpatients view vaccine risk and developing effective 

approaches to address vaccine safety concerns are imperative for vaccination providers. 

Each person understands and reacts to vaccine information on the basis of different 

factors, including previous experience, education, personal values, method of data 

presentation, perceptions of the risk for disease and perceived ability to control these 

risks, and risk tolerance. In some circumstances, q.ecisions about vaccination are based 
, 

on inaccurate information about risk provided by the media and certain websites. 

Websites and other sources ofvaccine information may be inaccurate or incomplete. 

Health care providers can be a pivotal source of science-based credible information by 

discussing with parents and patients the risks from and benefits of vaccines, which helps 

patients make informed decisions. 

When a parent or patient initiates a discussion about a perceived vaccine adverse 

reaction, the health care provider should discuss the specific concerns and provide 

factual information, using appropriate language. Effective, empathetic vaccine risk 

communication is essential in responding to misinformation and concerns, with health 

care providers recognizing that risk assessment and decision-making can be difficult 
I 

and confusing. Certain vaccines might be acceptable to a parent who is resistant to other 

vaccines. This partial acceptance can be used to facilitate additional communication. 

Their concerns can be addressed using the VIS and offering other resource materials 

(e.g., vaccination information from CDC: 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/vis/index.html ). 

The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) does not recommend that providers exclude 

from their practice patients whose parents or guardians question or refuse vaccination. 

However, an effective public health strategy is to identify common ground and discuss 

measures that need to be followed if the decision is to defer vaccination (2). Health care 

providers should reinforce key points about each vaccine, including safety, and 

emphasize risks for disease among unvaccinated children. Parents should be advised of 

state laws regarding entry to schools or child-care facilities, which might require that 

unvaccinated children be excluded from the facility during outbreaks 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 69 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/vis/index.html


(www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz

managers/coverage/schoolvaxview/requirements/index.html). These discussions 

should be documented in the patient's medical record, including the refusal to receive 

certain vaccines (i.e., informed refusal). When a vaccine is refused when first offered the 

provider should take the opportunity to offer the vaccine again at the next visit. 

Preventing Adverse Reactions 

Vaccines are intended to produce active immunity to specific antigens. An adverse 

reaction is an undesirable side effect that occurs after a vaccination. Vaccine adverse 

reactions are classified as 1) local, 2) systemic, or 3) allergic (additional information is 

available at http://www.fda.gQY). Local reactions (e.g., redness) are usually the least 

severe and most frequent. Systemic reactions (e.g., fever) occur less frequently than 

local reactions, and severe allergic reactions (e.g., anaphylaxis) are the least frequent 

reactions. s ·evere adverse reactions are rare (3). 

Some of the systemic reactions may be complicated by the onset of syncope. Syncope 

(vasovagal or vasodepressor reaction) can occur after vaccination and is most common 

among adolescents and young adults. In 2005, the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting 

System (VAERS) began detecting a t rend of increasing syncope reports that coincided 

with the licensure of 3 vaccines for adolescents: human papillomavirus (HPV), 

MenACWY, and Tdap (4). Of particular concern among adolescents has been the risk for 

serious seconda1:y injuries, including skull fracture and cerebral hemorrhage. Of 463 . 

VAERS reports of syncope during January 1, 2 005, to July 3;1., 2007, a total of 41 listed 

syncope with secondary injury with information on the timing after vaccination, and the 

majority of these syncope reports (76%) occurred among adolescents . Among all age 

groups, 80% of reported syncope episodes occur within 15 minutes ofvaccine 

administration (additional information is available at 

http: //www.cdc.gov/vaccinesafety/concerns/fainting.html ). Providers should take 

. appropriate measures to prevent injuries if a patient becomes weak or dizzy or loses 

consciousness. Adolescents and adults should be seated or lying down during 

vaccination. Vaccine providers, particularly when vaccinating adolescents, should 

General Best Practice Guidelines for_lmmunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 70 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccinesafety/concerns/fainting.html
http://www.fda.gQY
www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz


consider observing patients (with patients seated or lying down) for 15 minutes after 


vaccination to decrease the risk for injury should they faint (4). If syncope develops, 


patients should be observed until the symptoms resolve. 


Although allergic reactions are a common concern for vaccine providers, these reactions 

are uncommon and anaphylaxis following vaccines is rare, occurring at a rate of 

approximately one per million doses for many vaccines (5). Epinephrine and equipment 

for managing an airway should be available for immediate use ( 6). The best practice to 

prevent allergic reactions is to identify individuals at increased risk by obtaining a 

history of allergy to previous vaccinations ·and vaccine components that might indicate 

an underlying hypersensitivity. Acute allergic reactions following vaccinations might be 

caused by the vaccine antigen, residual animal protein, antimicrobial agents, 

preservatives, stabilizers, or other vaccine components (7) . Components of each vaccine 

are listed in the respective package insert. An extensive list of vaccine components and 

their use, as well as the vaccines that contain each component, has been published (8) 

and also is available from CDC 

(http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/pinkbook/ downloads/appendices/b / excipient

table-2.pd:f). Additional information and tables of potential allergens in different 

vaccines are available at .(http: //www.vaccinesafety.edu/ components-Allergens.htm) . 

The allergens identified in the history can be cross-checked against the allergens 

identified in package inserts. 

Managing Acute Vaccine Reactions 

Vaccine providers should be familiar with identifying immediate-type allergic reactions, 

including anaphylaxis, and be competent in treating these events at the time of vaccine 

administration. Providers should also have a plan in place to contact emergency medical 

services immediately in the event of a severe acute vaccine reaction. 

Allergic reactions can include: local or generalized urticaria (hives) or angioe~ema; 

respiratory compromise due to wheezing or swelling of the throat; hypotension; and 

shock. Immediate-immunoglobulin E (IgE)- mediated (type 1) immune reactions, such 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 71 

http:www.vaccinesafety.edu
http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/pinkbook


as anaphylaxis, usually occur within minutes ofparenteral administration and involve 

specific IgE interactions with discrete antigens (9,10) . Rapid recognition and initiation 

of treatment are required to prevent possible progression to respiratory failure or 

cardiovascular coilapse. It is important to note that urticaria may not be present in all 

cases of anaphylaxis. For respiratory or cardiovascular symptoms, or other signs or. 

symptoms of anaphylaxis, immediate intramuscular epinephrine is the treatment of 

choice (11,12). Additional doses of epinephrine as well as other drugs also might be 

indicated (Tables 5-1 and 5-2) (12). Ifhypotension is present, the patient should be 

placed in a recumbent position with the legs elevated. Maintenance of the airway, 

oxygen administration, and intravenous normal saline might be necessary. After the 

patient is stabilized, arrangements should be made for immediate transfer to an 

emergency facility for additioncj-1 evaluation and treatment. Because anaphylaxis may 

recur after patients begin to recover, monitoring in a medical facility for several hours is 

advised, even after complete resolution of symptoms and signs. Additional information 

on management of patients with anaphylaxis has been published (9). 

Persons Who Have Had an Allergic ~eaction Following a 

Previous Immunization 

For an individual patient who has experienced an immediate reaction to immunization, 

it is important to identify the type of reaction that occurred, obtain a history of prior 

allergic reactions, and try to identify the particular agent responsible. An algorithm 

approach to these patients has been published (13) and additional advice is available for 

allergists on the evaluation of these adverse events (10). In general, a history of a severe 

allergic reaction to a vaccine should be considered a contraindication to additional doses 

of the same vaccine (13). Referral of the individual to an allergist for evaluation is 
I 

usually indicated to possibly determine the component responsible, before maldng 

decisions regarding administration of the additional doses of the same vaccine or other 

vaccines that have the same components. Patients who have not had a severe allergic 

reaction following a vaccine, but who have a history of possible allergy to a vaccine 

component can often be vaccinated safely after careful evaluation (6). 

General Best Practice Guide lin es for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 72 



Influenza Vaccination ofPersons with a History ofEgg 

Allergy 

Severe allergic and anaphylactic reactions can occur in response to a number of 

influenza vaccine components, but such reactions are rare (6). All but the recombinant 

inactivated influenza vaccine may have come into contact with egg protein. The use of 

influenza vaccines for persons with a history of egg allergy has been reviewed recently by 

ACIP (14). VAERS data m:ining did not identify a higher than expected proportion of 

serious allergic events after influenza vaccination during the 2011-2012 season, relative 

to all other reported vaccines and adverse events in the database. Persons with a history 

of egg allergy should receive recombinant inactivated vaccine (if 18 years or older), or 

INwith the following safety measure: vaccine recipients should be observed for at least 

30 minutes for signs of a reaction after administration of each vaccine dose . . 

" 
Other measures, such as dividing and administering the vaccine by a 2-st ep approach 

and skin testing with vaccine, are not recommended (10). 

All vaccines should be administered in settings in which personnel and equipment for 

rapid recognition and treatment of anaphylaxis are available. ACIP recommends that all 


vaccination providers be certified in cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), have an 


office emergency plan, and ensure that all staff are familiar with the plan ( 6). Some 


persons who report allergy to egg might not be egg-allergic. Those who are able to eat 


lightly cooked egg (e.g., scrambled egg) without reaction are unlikely to be allergic. 


Egg-allergic persons might tolerate egg in baked products (e.g., bread or cake). 


Tolerance to egg-containing foods does not exclude the possibility of egg allergy (15). 


Egg allergy can be confirmed by a consistent medical history of adverse reactions to eggs 


and egg-containing foods, plus skin and/ or blood testing for IgE antibodies to egg 


proteins. 


General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 73 



A-previous severe allergic reaction to influenza vaccine, regardless of the component 

suspected to be responsible for the reaction, is a contraindication to future receipt of the 

vaccine (14). 

Yellow Fever Vaccination ofPersons with a History of 

Egg Allergy 

Yellow fever vaccine contains egg protein. There have been insufficient studies to 

determine which patients with egg allergy may be able to receive yellow fever vaccine, 

but there are reports of patients with true egg allergy safely receiving yellow fever 

vaccine after evaluation by specialists with expertise in the management of allergic 

reactions (16,17) . According to the manufacturer, persons who are able to eat eggs or egg 

products may receive the vaccine (18). However, potential hypersensitivity reactions 

might occur in persons with a history of minor reactions to eggs. For egg-sensitive 

persons, a scratch test or intradermal test can be performed before ad.ministering the 

vaccine to check for reactivity. If a person has a severe egg-sensitivity or has a positive 

skin test to the vaccine, but the vaccination is recommended because of their travel 

destination-specific risk, desensitization can be performed under direct supervision of a 

physician experienced in the management of anaphylaxis. The desensitization proce

dure is detailed in the product insert (see yellow fever recommendations at 

http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vatcines/ApprovedProducts/ucmo94o74. 

htm). 

Vaccines with MMR or Varicella Components and 

Persons with a History ofEgg Allergy 

Varicella vaccine is grown in human diploid cell cultures and can safely be administered 

to persons with a severe allergy to eggs or egg proteins (19). Measles and mumps vaccine 

viruses are grown in chick embryo fibroblast tissue culture. However, persons with a 

severe egg allergy can receive measles--or mumps-containing vaccines in the usual 

manner because the content of these proteins is extremely low (20) . The rare severe 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and M anaging Adverse Reactions 74 

http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vatcines/ApprovedProducts/ucmo94o74


allergic reactions after measles- or mumps-containing vaccines or varicella are thought 

to be caused by other components of the vaccine (e.g., gelatin) (21-24). MMR, MMRV, 

varicella and other vaccines contain hydrolyzed gelatin as a stabilizer. 

Vaccines and Persons with a History ofAllergy to 

Substances Other than Eggs 

Persons who have had an anaphylactic reaction to gelatin or gelatin-containing products 

should be evaluated by an allergist prior to receiving gelatin-containing vaccines (6) . 

Certain vaccines contain trace amounts of antimicrobial agents or other preservatives 

(e.g., neomycin or thim~rosal), although allergies to these are rare. No licensed vaccine 
, 

contains penicillin or penicillin derivatives. 

Most often, neomycin hypersensitivity manifests as contact dermatitis, a delayed-type 

(cell-mediated) immune response rather than immediate-hypersensit ivity (IgE

mediated allergy)- type response (25,26). A history of delayed-type reactions to 

neomycin is not a contraindication for administration of neomycin-containing vaccines. 

There has only been 1 reported case of immediate hypersensitivity reaction following a 

neomycin-containing vaccine (27) . Persons who have had anaphylactic reactions to 

neomycin should be evaluat ed by an allergist prior to receiving vaccines containing 

neomycin ( 6) . 

Thimerosal, an organic mercurial compound in use since the 1930s, is added to certain 

immunobiologics as a preservative. Since mid-2001, vaccines routinely recommended 

for infants younger than 6 months of age have been manufactured without thimerosal as 

a preservative (14) . Live, attenuated vaccines have never contained thimerosal. 

Thimerosal-free fo~mulations of inactivated influenza vaccine are available. Inactivated 

influenza vaccine also is available in formulations with only trace amounts of 

thimerosal, which remains as a manufacturing r esidual but is not added at the higher 

concent ration that would be necessary for it t o function as a preservative. Thimerosal at 

a preservative concentration is present in certain other vaccines that can be 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 75 



administered to children (e.g., Td and DT). Information about the thimerosal content of 

vaccines is available from FDA at http://www.fda.gov/cber/vaccine/thimerosal.htm. 

Reactions to thimerosal have been described as local delayed-type hypersensitivity 

reactions with only rare reports of immediate reactions (28-31). Thimerosal elicits 

positive delayed-type hypersensitivity patch tests in 1%-18% of persons tested; however, 

these tests have no relevance to acute allergic reactions that might occur within minutes 

or hours after immunization (32,33). The majority of persons do not experience 

reactions to thimerosal administered as a component ofvaccines even when patch or 

intradermal tests for thimerosal indicate hypersensitivity (31) . A local or delayed-type 

hypersensitivity reaction to thimerosal is not a contraindication to receipt of a vaccine 

that contains thimerosal (34). 

Latex is sap from the rubber tree. Latex contains naturally occurring plant proteins that 

can be responsible for immediate-type allergic reactions. Latex is processed to form 

either natural rubber latex products such as gloves or dry, natural rubber products such 

as syringe plunger tips and vial stoppers. Synthetic rubber is also used in gloves, syringe 

plungers, and vial stoppers but does not contain the latex proteins linked to immediate

type allergic reactions. Natural rubber latex or dry, natural rubber used in vaccine 

packaging generally is noted in the manufacturers' package inserts. 

Immediate-type allergic reactions due to latex allergy have been described after 

v;accination, but such reactions are rare (35) . 

.If a person reports.a severe anaphylactic allergy to latex, vaccines supplied in vials or 

syringes that contain natural rubber latex should be avoided if possible ( 6} If not, if the 

decision is made to vaccinate, providers should be prepared to treat immediate allergic 

r eactions due to latex, including anaphylaxis. The most common type oflatex 

hypersensitivity is a delayed~type (type 4, cell-mediated) allergic contact dermatitis (36). 

For patients with a history of contact allergy to latex, vaccines supplied in vials or 

syringes that contain dry natural rubber or natural rubber latex may be administered. 

Reporting Adverse Events After Vaccination 

Ge~eral Best Practice Guidelin es for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 76 

http://www.fda.gov/cber/vaccine/thimerosal.htm


Modern vaccines are safe and effective; however, adverse events have been reported 

after administration of all vaccines (3). More complete information about adverse 

reactions to a specific vaccine is available in the package insert for each vaccine and 

from CDC at http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vac-gen/side-effects.htm. An adverse event 

is an untoward event that occurs after a vaccination that might be caused by the vaccine 

product or vaccination process. These events range from common, minor, local 

reactions to rare, severe, allergic reactions (e.g., anaphylaxis). Reporting to VAERS 

helps establish trends,. identify clusters of adverse events, or generate hypotheses. 

However, establishing evidence for cause and effect on the basis of case reports and· case 

series alone is usually not possible, because health problems that have a temporal 

association with vaccination do not necessarily indicate causality. 

Many adverse events require more detailed epidemiologic studies to compare the 

incidence of the event among vaccinees with the incidence among unvaccinated persons. 

Potential causal associations between reported adverse events after vaccination can be . 

assessed through epidemiologic or clinical studies. 

The National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986 (1) requires health care personnel 

and vaccine manufacturers to report to V AERS specific adverse events that occur after 

. vaccination. The reporting requirements are different for nianufacturers and health care 

personnel. Manufacturers are required to report all adverse events that occur after 

vaccination to VAERS, whereas health-care providers are required t o report events that 
\ 

appear in the reportable events table on the V AERS website at 

http://vaers.hhs.gov/reportable.htm. 

In addition to the mandated reporting of events listed on the reportable events table, 

health care personnel should report to V AERS all events listed in product inserts as 

contraindications, as well as all clinically significant adverse events, even if they are 

uncertain that the adverse event is related causally to vaccination (6). Persons other 

than health care personnel also can report adverse events to V AERS. 

There are 3 ways to report to V AERS: 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 77 

http://vaers.hhs.gov/reportable.htm
http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vac-gen/side-effects.htm


1. 	 Submit the report online via a secure website at 


https://vaers.hhs.gov/esub/step1. 


2. 	 Fax a completed VAERS form to 877-721-0366, or 

3. 	 Mail a completed VAERS form to VAERS, P.O. Box 1100, Rockville, MD 

20849-1100. 

AVAERS form can be downloaded from the VAERS website at 

http://vaers.hhs.gov/resources/vaers form.pd£. VAERS forms also can be requested by 

e-mail (info@vaers.org), telephone (800-822-7967), or fax (877-721-0366). 

National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program 

The National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program, established by the National 

Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986 (1), is a no-fault system in which persons thought 

to have experienced an injury or to have died as a result of administration of a covered 

vaccine can seek compensation. The program became operational on October 1, 1988, 

and is intended as an alternative to civil litigation under the traditional tort system in 

that negligence need not be proven. Claims arising from covered vaccines must first be 

adjudicated through the program before civil litigation can be pursued. 

The program relies on the Vaccine Injury Table, which lists the vaccines covered by the 

program and the injuries (including death), disabilities, illnesses, and conditions for 

which compensation might be awarded. The table defines the time during which the first 

symptom or substantial aggravation of an injury must appear after vaccination to be 

eligible. Successful claimants receive a legal presumption of causation if a condition 

listed in the table is proven, thus avoiding the need to prove actual causation in an 

individual case. Claimants also can prevail for conditions not listed in the reportable 

events table if they prove causation for covered vaccines. Additional information is 

available from the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA at 

http://www.hrsa.gov/vaccinecompensation or by telephone at 800-338-2382). Persons 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 78 

http://www.hrsa.gov/vaccinecompensation
mailto:info@vaers.org
http://vaers.hhs.gov/resources/vaers
https://vaers.hhs.gov/esub/step1


who would like to file a claim for vaccine injury should contact the U.S. Court of Federal 

Claims (717 Madison Place, N.W., Washington, DC 20005; telephone: 202-357-6400). 

TABLE 5-1: Rapid overview: Emergent management ofanaphylaxis in 
infants and childrenCa) 

Diagnosis is 
made 
clinically: 

Acute 
management: 

~ 

Treatment of 
refractory 
symptoms: 

: 
The most common signs and symptoms are cutaneous (eg, sudden onset of generalized 
urticaria, angioedema, flushing, pruritus). However, 10 to 20% ofpatients have no skin 
findings. 
Danger signs: Rapid progression ofsymptoms, evidence of r,espiratory distress (e.g., stridor, 
""heezing, dyspnea, increased work ofbreathing, retractions, persistent cough, cyanosis), signs 
ofpoor perfusion, abdominal pain, vomiting, dysrhythmia, hypoten~ion, collapse. 
The firs t and most important therapy in anaphylaxis is epinephrine. There are NO absolute 
contraindications to epinephrine in the setting of anaphylaxis. 
Airway: Immediate intubation if evidence of impending airway obstruction from angioedema. 
Delay may lead to complete obstruction. Intubation can be difficult and should be performed 
by the most experienced clinician available. Cricothyrotomy may be necessary. 
IM epinephrine (1 mg/mL preparation): Epinephrine 0.01 mg/kg should be injected 
intramuscularly in the midouter thigh. For large children (>50 kg), the maximum is o .5 mg per 
dose. If there is no response or the response is inadequate, the injection can be repeated in 5 to 
15 minutes (or more frequently). Ifepinephrine is injected promptly IM, patients respond to 
one, two, or at most, three injections. Ifsigns ofpoor perfusion are present or symptoms are 
not responding to epinephrine injections, prepare N epinephrine for infusion (see below). 
Place patient in recumbent position, if tolerated and elevate lower extremities. 
Oxvgen: Give 8 to 10 L/minute via facemask or up to 100% oxygen, as needed. 
Normal saline rapid bolus: 1i·eat poor perfusion with rapid infusion of 20 mL/kg. Reevaluate 
and repeat fluid boluses (20 mL/ kg), as needed. Massive fluid shifts with severe,loss of 
intravascular volume can occur. Monitor urine output. 
Albuterol: For bronchospasm resistant to IM epinephrine, give albuterol 0.15 mg/kg 
(minimum dose: 2.5 mg) in 3 mL saline inhaled via nebulizer. Repeat, as needed. 
H1 antihistamine: Consider giving diphenhydramine 1 mg/kg (max 40 mg) N . 
H 2 antihistamine: Consider riving ranitidine 1 mg/kg (max 50 mg) IV. 
Glucocorticoid: Consider giving methvlprednisolone 1 mg/kg fmax 12s mg) IV. 

Monitoring: Continuous noninvasive hemodynamic monitoring and pulse oximetry monitoring 

should be performed. Urine output should be monitored in patients receiving IV fluid 

resuscitation for severe hypotension or shock. 

Epinephrine infusion:lb) In patients with inadequate response to IM epinephrine and N saline, 
give eninephrine continuous infusion at 0.1 to 1 mcg/kg/minute, titrated to effect. 
Vasopressors:lb) Patients may require large amounts of N crystalloid to maintain blood 
pressure. Some patients may require a second vasopressor (in addition to epinephrine). All 
vasopressors should be given by infusion pump, with the doses titrated continuously according 
to blood pressure and cardiac rate/function monitored continuously and oxygenation 
monitored bv pulse oximetrv 

IM: intramuscular; N: intravenous. 
(a) A child is defined as a prepubertal patient weighing less than 40 kg. 
lbl All patients receiving an infusion of epinephrine and/or another vasopressor require continuo·us noninvasive 
monitoring of blood pressure, heart rate and function, and oxygen saturation. We suggest that pediatric centers 
provide instructions for preparation ofstandard concentrations and also provide charts for established infusion 
rate for epinephrine and other vasopressors in infants and children. 

Table 5-2: Rapid overview: Emergency management of anaphylaxis in 
adults 

The most common signs and symptoms are cutaneous 
(e.g., sudden onset ofgeneralized urticaria, 
angioedema, flushing, pruritus). However, 10 to 20% of 
patients have no skin findings. 

Diagnosis is made clinically: 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Prevent ing and Managing Adverse Reactions 

t.. 

79 



Danger signs: 'Rapid progression ofsymptoms, 
respiratory distress (e.g., stridor, wheezing, dyspnea, 
increased work of breathing, persistent cough, 
cyanosis), vomiting, abdominal pain, hypotension, 
dvsrhvthmia, chest oain, collanse. 

Acute management: The first and most important treatment in anaphylaxis 
is epinephrine. 'fhere are NO absolute contraindications 
to epinephrine in the setting of anaphvlaxis. 
Airway: Immediate intubation if evidence of impending 
airway obstruction from angioedema. Delay may lead to 
complete obstruction. Intubation can be difficult and 
should be perlormed by the most experienced clinician 
available. Cricothvrotomv rnav be necessarv. 

Promptly and simultaneously, give: IM epinephrine (1 mg/mL preparation); Give 
epinephrine 0.3 to 0.5 mg intramuscularly, preferably 
in the midouter thigh. Can repeat every s to 15 minutes 
(or more frequently), as needed. Ifepinephrine is 
.injected promptly IM, most patients respond to one, 
two, or at most, three doses. Ifsymptoms are not 
responding to epinephrine injections, prepare 'IV 
epinephrine for infusion (see below). 
Place patient in recumbent position, if tolerated, and 
elevate lower extremities. 
Oxygen: Give 8 to 10 L/minute via facemask or up to 
100% oxvgen, as needed. 
Normal saline rapid bolus: Treat hypotension with -
rapid infusion of 1 to 2 liters IV. Repeat, as needed. 

Massive fluid shifts with severe loss of intra vascular 

volume can occur. 

Albuterol (salbutamol): For bronchospasm resistant to 

IM epinephrine, give 2.5 to s mg in 3 mL saline via 

nebulizer. Reneat, as needed. 


Adjunctive therapies: . H1 antihistamine:C•l Consider giving diphenhydramine 
2fi to 50 mg 'IV (for relief ofmticaria and itching only). 
Ifa antihistamine:C•l Consider giving ranitidine so mg 
N . 
. Glucocorticoid:C•l Consider giving methylprednisolone 
12fimg'IV. 
Monitoring: Continuous noninvasive hemodynamic 
monitoring and pulse oximetry monitoring should be 
perlormed. Urine output should be monitored in 
patients receiving 'IV fluid resuscitation for severe 
hypotension or shock. 

Treatment of refractory symptoms: Epinephrine infusion : For patients with inadequate 
response to IM epinephrine and 'IV saline, give 
epinephrine continuous infusion, beginning at 0.1 

mcg/kg/minute by infusion pump . Titrate the dose 
continuously according to blood pressure, cardiac rate 
and function, and oxve:enation. 
Vasopressors: Some patients may require a second 
vasopressor (in addition to epinephrine). All 
vasopressors should be given by infusion pump, with 
the doses titrated continuously according to blood 
pressure and cardiac rate/function and oxygenation 
monitored bv nulse oximetrv. 
Glucagon: Patients on beta blockers may not respond to 
epinephrine and can be given glucagon 1 to 5 mg N 
over 5 minutes, followed by infusion of 5 to 15 
mcg/minute. <bl,C•>Rapid administration ofglucagon can 
cause vomiting. 

Instmctions on how to prepare and administer epinephrine for IV continuous infusions are available as 
separate tables in UpToDate. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 80 



IM: intramuscular; IV: intravenous. , 

<•) These medications should not be used as initial or sole treatment. 

Cb) All patients receiving an infusion of epinephrine and another vasopressor require continuous noninvasive 

monitoring of blood pressure, heart rate and function, and oxygen saturation. · 

Cc) For example, the initial infusion rate for a 70 kg patient would be 7 mcg/minute. This is consistent with the 

recommended range for non...:.weight-based dosing for adults, which is 2 to 10 mcg/minute. Non- weight-based 

dosing can be used if the patient's weight is not known and cannot be estimated. 


Reproduced with permission from: Campbell RL, Kelso JM. Anaphylaxis: Emergency treatment. In: 


UpToDate, Post TW (Ed), UpToDate; Walth~m, MA. (Accessed on 03/08/2017) Copyright© 2017 


UpToDate, Inc. For more information visit www.uptodate.com. 


Source: (37) . 


General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 81 

http:www.uptodate.com


REFERENCES 


1. 	 National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act, 42 U.S.C. Sect. 3ooaa-1 to 3ooaa-34 

(1986). 

2. 	 Opel DJ, Heritage J, Taylor JA, et al. The architecture ofprovider-parent 

vaccine discussions at health supervision visits. Pediatrics. 2013:2013-2037. 

DOI: 10.1542/peds.2013-2037 

3. 	 CDC. Update: vaccine side effects, adverse reactions, contraindications, and 

precautions. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1996;45(RR-12):1-35. 

4. 	 CDC. Syncope after vaccination- United States, January 2005-July 2007. 

MMWRMorbMortal Wldy Rep. 2008;57(17):457-460. 

5. 	 Bohlke K~ Davis RL, Marcy SM, et al. Risk of anaphylaxis after vaccination of 

children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4):815-820. DOI: 

10.1542/peds.112-4.815 

6. 	 Kroger A, Atkinson W, Pickering L. General immunization practices. In: 

Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 6th ed. China: Elsevier 

Saunders; 2013:88-111. 

7. 	 Grabenstein JD. <;::Iinical management of hypersensitivities to vaccine 

components. Hospital Pharmacy. 1997;32:77-87. 

8. 	 Grabenstein JD. ImmunoFacts: Vaccines and Immunologic Drugs-2013. 

38th ed. St. Louis, MO: Lippincott Williams &Wilkins; 2012. 

9. 	 Lieberman P, Nicklas RA, Oppenheimer J, et al. The diagnosis and 

management of anaphylaxis practice parameter: 2010 update. J Allergy Clin 

Immunol. 2010;126(3)=477-480.e471-442. DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.06.022 

10. 	 Kelso JM, Greenhawt MJ, Li JT, et al. Adverse reactions to vaccines practice 

parameter 2012 update. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2012;130(1):25-43. DOI: 

10.1016/j.jaci.2012.04.003 

11. 	 Ruggeberg JU, Gold MS, Bayas JM, et al. Anaphylaxis_: case definition and 

guidelines for data collection, analysis, and presentation of immunization 

safety data. Vaccine. 2007;25(31):5675-5684. DOI: 

10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.02.064 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 82 



12. 	 Sampson HA, Munoz-Furlong A, Bock SA, et al. Symposium on the definition 

and management of anaphylaxis: summary report. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 

2005;115(3):584-591. DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.01.009 

13. 	 Wood RA, Berger M, Dreskin SC, et al. An algorithm for treatment of patients 

with hypersensitivity reactions after vaccines. Pediatrics. 2008;122(3) :e771

777. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2008-1002 

14. 	 Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, Bresee JS, Broder KR, Karron RA. 

Prevention and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee OJ?- Immunization Practices, United States, 2015-16 

influenza season. MMWRMorbMortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(30):818-825. 

15. 	 Erlewyn-Lajeunesse M, Brathwaite N, Lucas JS, Warner JO. 

Recommendations for the administration of influenza vaccine in children 

allergic to egg. BMJ. 2009;339:b3680. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b3680 

16. 	 Mosimann B, Stoll B, Francillon C, PecoudA. Yellow fever vaccine and egg 

allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1995;95(5 Pt 1):1064. DOI: 10.1016/Soo91

6749(95)70118-4 

17. 	 Munoz-Cano R, Sanchez-Lopez J, Bartra J, Valero A. Yellow fever vaccine and 

egg allergy: really a problem? Allergy. 2010;65(4):533-534 .. DOI: 

10.1111/j.1398-9995 .2009.02205.x 

18. 	 Sanofi Pasteur Inc. Yellow fever vaccine: 1'.F-VAX®[Paclcage insert]. 

Swiftwater, PA: Sanofi Pasteur Inc.; 2015. Available at: 

http://www.fda.gov/ downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vaccines/ Approved 

Products/UCM142831.pdf. Accessed 02 Feb 2017. 

19. 	 Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4) :1-40. 

20. 	 Watson JC, Hadler SC, Dykewicz (_;A, Reef S, Phillips L. Measles, mumps, and 

rubella- vaccine use and strategies for elimination of measles, rubella, and 

congenital rubella syndrome and control of mumps: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm 

Rep. 1998;47(RR-8):1-57. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 83 

http:http://www.fda.gov


21. 	 Kelso JM, Jones RT, Yunginger JW. Anaphylaxis to measles, mumps, and 


rubella vaccine mediated by IgE to gelatin. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 


1993;91(4):867-872. DOI: 10.1016/0091-6749(93)90344-F 


22. 	 Sakaguchi M, Nakayama T, Inouye S. Food allergy to gelatin in children with 

systemic immediate-type reactions, including anaphylaxis, to vaccines. J 

Allergy Clinim.munol. 1996;98(6 Pt 1):1058-1061. DOI: 10.1016/Soo91

6749(96)80191-6 

23. 	 Sakaguchi M, Ogura H, Inouye S. IgE antibody to gelatin in children with 

immediate-type reactions to measles and mumps vaccines. J Allergy Clin 

Immunol. 1995;96(4):563-565. DOI: 10.1016/Soo91-6749(95)70304-7 

24. 	 Sakaguchi M, Yamanaka T, Ikeda K, et al. IgE-mediated systemic reactions to 

gelatin included in the varicella vaccine. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 

1997;99(2) :263-264. DOI: 10.1016/Soo91-6749(97)70108-8 

25. 	 Rietschel RL, Bernier R. Neomycin sensitivity and the MMR vaccine. JAMA. 

1981;245(6):571. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1981.03310310017008 

26. 	 Elliman D, Dhanraj B. Safe MMR vaccination despite neomycin allergy. 

Lancet. 1991;337(8737):365. DOI: 10.1016/0140-6736(91)90995-2 

27. 	 Kwittken PL, Rosen S, Sweinberg SK. MMR vaccine and neomycin allergy. 

Am J Dis Child. 1993;147(2) :128-129. DOI: 

10.1001/archpedi.1993.02160260018005 

28. 	 Aberer W. Vaccination despite thimerosal sensitivity. Contact Dermatitis. 

1991;24(1):6-10. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.1991.tbo1621.x 

29. 	 Cox NH, Forsyth A. Thiomersal allergy and vaccination reactions. Contact 

Dermatitis. 1988;18(4):229-233. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.1988.tbo2809.x 

30. 	 Kirkland LR. Ocular sensit ivity to thimerosal: a problem with hepatitis B 

vaccine? South Med J. 1990;83(5):4'97-499. 

31. 	 Zheng W, Dreskin SC. Thimerosal in influenza vaccine: an immediate 

hypersensitivity reaction. AnnAllergy Asthma Immunol. 2007;99(6):574
. 	 ' 

575. DOI: 10.1016/s1081-1206(10)60391-2 

32. Wantke F, Demmer CM, Gotz M, Jarisch R. Contact dermatitis from 

thimerosal. Contact Dermatitis. 1994;30(2):115. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600

0536.1994.tboo580.x 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 84 



33. 	 Moller H. All these positive tests to thimerosal. Contact Dermatitis. 

1994;31(4) :209-213. DOI: 10.1111/j .1600-0536.1994.tbo1989.x 

34. 	 Russell M, Pool V, Kelso JM, Tomazic-Jezic VJ. Vaccination of persons 

allergic to latex: a review of safet.y data in the Vaccine Adverse Event 

Reporting System (VAERS). Vaccine. 2004;23(5) :664-667. DOI: 

10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.06.042 

35. 	 Lear JT, English JS. Anaphylaxis after hepatitis B vaccination. Lancet. 

1995;345(8959):1249. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(95)92039-o 

36. 	 Slater JE. Latex allergy. J Allergy Clin.Immunol. 1994;94(2 Pt 1):139-149; 

quiz 150. DOI: 10.1053/ai.1994.v94.a55437 

37. 	 Adapted from: Simons FER. Anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 

2010;-125:S161. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 85 



6. Vaccine Administration 

Updates 

Major changes to the best practice guidance include 1) allowances for alternate 

administration route (subcutaneous instead of intramuscular) for hepatitis A vaccine and 

2) an age cutoff of 12 years through 17 years of age for validating a dose of intradermal 

influenza vaccine if given in error. 

Infection Control and Sterile Technique 

General Precautions 

Persons administering vaccinations should follow· appropriate precautions to minimize 

risk for disease exposure and spread. Hands should be cleansed with an alcohol-based 

waterless antiseptic hand rub or washed with soap and water before preparing vaccines 

for administration and between each patient contact CJ.): occupational Safety and Health 

Administration (OSHA) regulations do not require gloves to be worn when 

administering vaccinations, unless p ersons administering-vaccinations have open 

lesions on their hands or are likely to come into contact with a patient's body fluids (2). 

If worn, gloves should be changed between patients. 

Vaccine Administration: Preparation and Timely 

Disposal 

Vaccines should be drawn up in a designated clean medication area that is not adjacent 

to areas where potentially contaminated items are placed. Multi-dose vials to he used for 

more than one patient should not be kept or accessed in the immediate patient 

treatment area. This is to· prevent inadvertent contamination of the vial through direct 

or indirect contact with potentially contaminated surfaces or equipment that could then 

lead to infections in subsequent patients (3). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 86 



Different vaccines should never be mixed in the same syringe unless specifically licensed 

for such use (4). Single-dose vials and manufacturer-filled syringes are designed for 

single-dose administration and should be discarded ifvaccine has been withdrawn or 

reconstituted and subsequently not used within the time frame specified by the 

manufacturer. Syringes that are prefilled by the manufacturer and activated (i.e., syringe 

cap removed or needle attached) but unused should be discarded at the end of ~he clinic 

day. For inactivated vaccines manufacturers, typically recommend use within the sam e 

day that a vaccine is withdrawn or reconstituted. When in doubt about the appropriate 

handling of a vaccine, vaccination providers should contact that vaccine's manufacturer. 

ACIP discourages the routine practice ofproviders' prefilling syringes for several 

reasons. Because the i:najority ofvaccines have a similar appearance after being drawn 

into a syringe, prefilling might result in administration errors. Because unused prefilled 

syringes also typically must be discarded if not used within the same day that they are 

filled, vaccine wastage might occur. The FDA does not license administration syringes 

for vaccine storage. 

In certain circumstances in which a single vaccine type is.being used (e.g., in 

preparation for a community influenza vaccination campaign), filling a small number 

(10 or fewer) of syringes may be considered (5). The doses should be administered as 

soon as possible after filling, by the same person who filled the syringes. Unused 

syringes that are prefilled by the manufacturer and activated (i.e., syringe cap removed 

or needle attached) should be discarded at the end of the clinic day. 

Safe Use ofNeedles and Syringes 

·Needles and syringes used for vaccine injections must be sterile and disposable. A 

separate n eedle and syringe should be used for each injection. Changing needles 

between drawing vaccine from a vial and injecting it into a recipient is not necessary 

unless the needle has been damaged or contaminated ( 6) .. 

Bloodborne diseases (e.g., hepatitis B, hepatitis C, human immunodeficiency virus 

[HIV]) are occupational hazards for clinicians and other health-care providers. The 
General Best Practice Guidelines for Immu nization: Vaccine Administration 87 



Needlestick Safety and Prevention Act (2) was enacted in 2000 to reduce the incidence 

of needlestick injury and the consequent risk for bloodborne diseases acquired from 

patients. The act directed OSHA to strengthen its existing bloodborne pathogen 

standards. The revised standards became effective in 2001 (2). These federal regulations 

require the use of engineering .and work practice controls to eliminate or minimize 

employee exposure to bloodborne pathogens (see 

https://www.osha.gov/SLTC/bloodbornepathogens/standards.html). Engineering 

controls means controls (e.g., sharps disposal containers, self-sheathing needles, safer 

medical devices, such as sharps with engineered sharps injury protections and 

needleless systems) that isolate or remove the bloodborne pathogens hazard from the 

workplace (see 

https://www.osha.gov/pls/oshaweb/owadisp.show_document?p_table==STANDARDS& 

. p_id=10051). Needle-shielding or needle-free devices that might satisfy the 

· occupational safety regulations for administering injectable vaccines are available in the 

United States (7-8). The regulations also require maintenance ofrecords documenting 

injuries caused by needles and other medical sharp objects and that nonmanagerial 

employees be involved in the evaluation and selection of safety-engineered devices 

before they are procured. Additional information about implementation and 

enforcement of these regulations is available from OSHA. 

To prevent inadvertent needlestick injury or reuse, safety mechanisms should be 

deployed after use and needles and syringes shm;ild be discarded immediately in labeled, 

puncture-proof containers located in the same room where the vaccine is administer ed 

(5). Used needles should never be recapp~d. 

Route of Administration 

Injectable Route 

Routes of administration are recommended by the manufacturer for each 

immunobiologic (Table 6-1). With the exceptions ofbacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) 

vaccine and smallpox vaccine (administered intraepidermally), injectable vaccines are 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 88 

https://www.osha.gov/pls/oshaweb/owadisp.show_document?p_table==STANDARDS
https://www.osha.gov/SLTC/bloodbornepathogens/standards.html


administered by the intramuscular, subcutaneous, or intradermal route. Deviation from 

the recommended route of administration might reduce vaccine efficacy (9, 10) or 

increase the risk for local adverse reactions (11-13) . 

The method of administration of injectable vaccines is determined, in part, by the 

inclusion of adjuvants in some vaccines. An adjuvant is a vaccine component distinct 

from the antigen that enhances the immune response to the antigen, but might also 

increase risk of adverse reactions. To decrease risk oflocal adverse events, inactivated 

vaccines containing an adjuvant should be injected into a muscle. Administering a 

vaccine containing an adjuvant either subcutaneously or intradermally can cause local 

irritation, induration, skin discoloration, inflammation, and granuloma formation. 

Intramuscular Injections 

Needle Length 

Injectable immunobiologics should be administered where local, neural, vascular, or 

tissue injury is unlikely. Use oflonger needles has been associated with less redness or 

swelling than occurs with shorter needles because of injection into deeper muscle mass 

(11). Appropriate needle length depends on age and body mass. Injection technique is 

the most important parameter to ensure efficient intramuscular vaccine delivery. 

For all intramuscular injections, the needle should be long enough to reach the muscle 

mass and prevent vaccine from seeping into subcutaneous tissue, but not so long as t o 

involve underlying nerves, blood vessels, or bone (10,14-16) . Vaccinators should be 

familiar with the anatomy of the area into which they are injecting yaccine. 

Intramuscular injections are administered at a 90-degree angle to the skin, preferably 

into the anterolateral aspect ofthe thigh or the deltoid muscle of the upper arm, 

depending on the age ofthe patient (Table 6-2). 

The needle gauge for intramuscular injection is 22-25 gauge. A decision on needle 

length and site of injection must be made for each person on the basis of the size of the 

muscle, the thickness of adipose tissue at the injection site, the volume of the material to 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Admin istration 89 



be administered, injection technique, and the depth below the muscle surface into which 

the material is to be injected (Figure 1). Some experts allow intramuscular injection with 

. a 5/s-inch needle but ONLY if the skin is stretched flat (16). Ifthe subcutaneous and 

muscle tissue are bunched to minimize the chance of strildng bone (14), a 1-inch needle 

or larger is required to ensure intramuscular administration. Aspiration before injection 

of vaccines or toxoids (i.e., pulling back on the syringe plunger after needle insertion but 

before injection) is not necessary because no large blood vessels are present at the 

recommended injection sites, and a process that includes aspiration might be more 

painful for infants (17) . 

Infants (Aged <12 Months) 

For the majority of infants, the anterolateral aspect of the thigh is the recommended site 

for injection because it provides comparatively larger muscle mass than the deltoid 

(Figure 2) (18). In certain circumstances (e.g., physical obstruction to other sites and no 

reasonable indication to defer doses), the gluteal muscle can be used. If the gluteal 

muscle must be used, care should be taken to define the anatomic landmarks.Ca) For the 

majority of infants, a 1-inch needle is sufficient to penetrate the thigh muscle. 

Toddlers (Aged 12 Months~2 Years) 

For toddlers, the anterolateral thigh muscle is preferred, and when this site is used, the 

needle should be at least 1 inch long. The deltoid muscle can be used if the muscle mass 

is adequate. If2 vaccines are to be administered in a single limb, they should be spaced 

an inch apart (4,19). 

Children (Aged 3-10 Years) 

The deltoid muscle is preferred for children aged 3-10 years (18); the needle length for 

deltoid site injections can range from 5/s to 1 inch on the basis of technique. The 

anterolateral thigh can also be used (20). In this case the needle length should be 1 inch 

to 1.25 inches. Knowledge ofbody mass can be useful for .estimating the appropriate 

needle length (21). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunizat ion: Vaccine Admin istration 90 

http:landmarks.Ca


Young Adolescents (Aged 11-18 years) 

The delta.id muscle is preferred for adolescents 11-18 years of age. The anterolateral 

thigh can also be used. For injection into the anterolateral thigh, most adolescents will 

require a 1-1.5-inch needle to ensure intramuscular administration (21). 

Adults (Aged ~19 Years) 

For adults, the deltoid muscle is recommended for routine intramuscular vaccinations 

(18) (Figure 3). The anterolateral thigh also can be used. For adults a measurement of 

body mass/weight is allowable prior to vaccination, understanding that resources to 

measure body mass/weight are not available in all clinical settings. For men and women 

who weigh <130 lbs ( <60 kg), a 5/a-inch needle is sufficient to ensure.intramuscular 

injection in the deltoid muscle if the injection is made at a 90-degree angle and the 

tissue is not bunched. For men and women who weigh 130-152 lbs (60-70 kg), a 1-inch 

needle is sufficient. For women who weigh 152-200 lbs (70-90 kg) and men who weigh 

152-260 lbs (70-118 kg), a 1- to 1.5-inch needle is recommended. For women who weigh 

>200 lbs (>90 kg) or men wh9 weigh >260 lbs (>118 kg), a 1.5-inch needle is 

recommended (Table 6-2) (15). 

Subcutaneous Injections 

Subcutaneous injections are administered at a 45-degree angle, usually into the thigh for 

infants aged <12 months and in the upper-outer triceps area ofpersons aged ~12 

months. Subcutaneous injections may be administered into the upper-outer triceps area 

of an infant if necessary. A 5/a-inch, 23- to 25-gauge needle should be inserted into the 

subcutaneous tissue (Figures 4 and 5) (4). 

Intradermal Injections 

One brand ofinjectable influenza vaccine is licensed to be administered intradermally. 

It is packaged as a pre-filled 3/50-inch microneedle injector system and approved for 

persons 18-64 years of age. The approved site is the skin over the deltoid muscle. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 91 

http:delta.id


Intradermal influenza vaccine injection of someone 12-17 years of age can be counted as 

a valid dose on the presumption that their skin thickness is similar to someone 18-64 

years of age. A dose of intradermal vaccine given to someone younger than 12 years of 

age or older than 64 years of age should not be counted as valid (personal 

communication with manufacturer). 

Oral Route 

Rotavirus and oral typhoid vaccines are the only vaccines administered orally in the 

United States. Oral typhoid capsules should be administered as directed by the 

manufacturer. The capsules should not be opened or mixed with any other substance. 

Rotavirus vaccines are licensed for infants. There are 2 brands of rotavirus vaccine, and 

they have different types of applicators. Providers should consult package inserts for 

details. A dose of rotavirus vaccine need not be repeated if the vaccine is spit up or 

vomited. The infant should receive the remaining recommended doses of rotavirus 

vaccine following_the routine schedule (5) . 

Intranasal Route 

LAIV is approved for healthy nonpregnant persons aged 2-49 years and is the only 

vaccine administered by the intranasal route. The administration device is anasal 

sprayer with a dose-divider clip that allows introduction of one o .1-mL spray into each 

naris. The tip should be inserted slightly into the naris before administration. Even if the 

person coughs or sneezes immediately after administration or the dose is expelled any 

other way, the vaccine dos·e need not be repeated (5) . 

Severely immunosuppressed persons (i.e., those who require care in a protected 

environment, e.g., bone marrow transplant patients, patients with severe combined 

immunodeficiency disease) should not administer LAIV. It would be uncommon for 

persons with these conditions to be in a role administ ering vaccines. Other persons at 

increased risk for influenza complications can administer LAIV. These include persons 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 92 



with underlying medical conditions placing them at higher risk or who are likely to be at 

risk, including pregnant women, persons with asthma, and persons aged ::::50 years (22). 

Multiple Injections 

Ifmultiple vaccines are administered ·at a single visit, administer each preparation at a 

different anatomic site (23). The location of all injection sites with the corresponding 

vaccine injected should be documented in each patient's medical record. Health-care 

practices should consider using a vaccination site map so that all persons administering 

vaccines.routinely use a particular anatomic site for each particular vaccine. 

For infants and younger children, if more than 2 vaccines are injected in a single limb, 

the thigh is the preferred site because of the greater muscle mass; the injections should 

be sufficiently separated (i.e., ::::1 inch if possible) so that any local reactions can be 

differentiated (8,24). For older children and adults, the deltoid muscle can be used for 

more than one intramuscular injection. Ifa vaccine and an immune globulin 

preparation are administered simultaneously (e.g., Td/Tdap and tetanus immune 

globulin [TIG], hepatitis B and hepatitis B immunoglobulin [HBIG]), separate anatomic 

sites (i.e., diffetent limbs) should be used for each injection (25,26). 

Jet Injections 

Jet injectors are needle-free devices that pressurize liquid medication, forcing it through 

a nozzle orifice into a narrow stream capable of penetrating skin to deliver a drug or 

vaccine into intradermal, subcutaneous, or intramuscular tissues (27,28). Immune 

responses generated by jet injectors against both attenuated and inactivated viral and 

bacterial antigens are usually equivalent to, and occasionally greater than, immune 

r~sponses induced by needle injection. However, local reactions or injuries (e.g., skin 

laceration, transient neuropathy, hematoma) are sometimes more frequent on delivery 

of vaccine byjet injectors compared with needle injection, depending on the inherent 

irritability of the vaccine and operator technique (28). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 93 



Multiple use jet injectors using the same nozzle for consecutive injections without 

intervening sterilization were used in mass vaccination campaigns from the 1950s 

through the 1990s (28); however, these were found to be unsafe because of the 

possibility of bloodborne pathogen transmission (29-32) and should not be used. A new 

generation of jet injectors with disposable cartridges and syringes has been developed 

since the 1990s. With a new, sterile dose chamber and nozzle for each patient and 

correct use, these devices do not have the ~ame safety concerns as multiple-use nozzle 

jet injectors. Several of the newer devices have been approved by FDA for sale in the 

United States (28) and for use with individual vaccines. Jet injectors prevent needlestick 

injuries to health-care providers (2) and can overcome improper, unsterile reuse and 

other drawbacks of needles and syringes in developing countries (7,33,34). 

Methods for Alleviating Discomfort and Pain Associated 

with Vaccination 

Comfort measures, such as distraction (e.g., playing music o~ pretending to blow away 

the pain), cooling of the injection site(s), topical analgesia, ingestion of sweet liquids, 

breastfeeding, swaddling, and slow, lateral swaying can help infants or children cope 

with the discomfort associated with vaccination (35-37). Pretreatment (30-60 minutes 

before injection) with a 5% topical licl.ocaine-prilocaine emulsion might decrease the 

pain ofvaccination by causing superficial anesthesia (38,39). Evidence indicates that 

this cream does not interfere with the immune response to MMR (40) . Topical 

lidocaine-prilocaine emulsion should not be used on infants aged <12 months who are 

receiving treatment with methemoglobin-inducing agents (e.g., acetaminophen, amyl 

nitrate, nitroprusside, dapsone) because of the possible development of 

methemoglobinemia (41). Use of a topical refrigerant (vapocoolant) spray immediately 

before vaccination can reduce the short-term pain associated with injections and can be 

as effective as lidocaine-prilocaine cream (42). Evidence does not support use of 

antipyretics before or at the time of vaccination; however, they can be used for the 

treatment of fever and local discomfort that might occur following vaccination. Studies 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 94 



of children with previous febrile seizures have not demonstrated antipyretics to be 


effective in the prevention of febrile seizures (43). 


Clinical Implications of Nonstandard Vaccination Practices 

Best practice guidance for route, sit_e, and dosage ofimmunobiologics is derived from 

data from clinical trials, practical experience, normal periodicity of health-care visits, 

and theoretical considerations. ACIP discourages variations from the recommended 

route, site, volume, or number of doses of any vaccine. 

Variation from the recommended route and site can result in inadequate protection. In 

adults (but not in infants) (44), the immunogenicity of hepatitis Bis subst antially lower 

when the gluteal rather than the deltoid site is used for administration (6). Hepatitis B 

administered intradermally might result in a lower seroconversion rate and final titer of 

hepatitis B surface antibody than when administered by the deltoid intramuscular route 

(45,46) . Hepatitis B administered by any route other than intramuscular, or in adults at 

any site other than the delt oid or anterolateral thigh, should not be counted as valid and 

should be repeated (6). Similarly, doses of rabies vaccine administered in the gluteal site 

should not be counted as valid doses and should be repeated (47). Hepatitis A vaccine 

and meningococcal conjugate vaccine do not need to be repeated if administered by the 

subcutaneous route (48-49). However, for DTaP, Rib, and PCV13, there is no evidence 

relat ed to immunogenicity of these 3 vaccines given subcutaneously. Providers should 

address circumstances in which dose(s) of these vaccines have been administered 

subcutaneously on a case-by-case basis. Inactivated influenza vaccine is immunogenic 

when administered in a lower-than-standard dose by the intradermal route to healthy 

adult volunteers. Intradermal injection produced antibody responses similar to 

intramuscular injection in vaccinees aged 18-60 years (50) . However, the 

immunogenicity for persons aged :?:65 years is inadequate, and varying the 

recommended route and dose either with the intradermal product licensed through 64 

years of age or with other influenza vaccines is not recommended (19). 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 95 



Live, attenuated injectable vaccines ( e.g., MMR, varicella, yellow fever) and certain 

inactivated vaccines ( e.g., meningococcal polysaccharide) are recommended by the 

manufacturers to be administered by subcutaneous injection. PPSV23and IPV are 

recommended by the manufacturer to be administered by the subcutaneous or 

intramuscular route. Response to vaccines recommended by the subcutaneous route is 

unlikely to be affected if the vaccines are administered by the intramuscular rather than 

subcutaneous route. Repeating doses of vaccine administered by the intramuscular 

route when recommended to be by the subcutaneous route is not necessary ( 6). 

Administering volumes smaller than recommended (e.g., inappropriately divided doses) 

might result in inadequate protection. Using reduced doses administered at multiple 

vaccination visits that equal a full dose or using smaller divided doses is not 

recommended ( 4). Any vaccination using less than the standard dose should not be 

counted, and the person should be revaccinated according to age unless serologic testing 

indicates that an adequate response has developed. However, if 2 half-volume 

formuladons of vaccine have already been administered on the same clinic day to a 

patient recommended for the full volume formulation, these 2 doses can count as one 

full dose. Ifless than a full recommended dose of a vaccine is administered because of 

syringe, applicator, or needle leakage, the dose should be repeated (5) . Using larger

than-recommended dosages can be hazardous because of excessive local or systemic 

concentrations of antigens or other vaccine constituents. 

(a) Ifthe gluteal muscle is chosen, injection should be administered lateral and superior to a line between the posterior superior iliac 

spine and the greater trochanter or in the ventrogluteal site, the center ofa triangle bounded by the anterior superior iliac spine, the 

tubercle ofthe iliac crest, and the upper border of the greater trochanter. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Admin istration 96 



TABLE 6-1. Dose and route of administration for selected vaccines -

-Vaccine RouteDose 

DTaP, DT, Td, Tdap IMo.5mL 

DTaP-HepB-IPV IMo.5mL 

DTaP/Hib . o.5mL IM 

DTaP-IPV/Hib IM o.5mL 

DTaP-IPV IMo.5mL 

Hib o .5mL IM 

Hib-MenCY IMo.5mL 

HepA s;18 years: 0.5 mL IM 
::c:19 years: 1.0 mL 

s;19 years: 0.5 mL(a)HepB IM 
::c:20 years: 1.0 mL 

HepA-HepB ::c:18 years: 1.0 mL IM 

LAIV 0.2 mL divided-dose bet.ween Intranasal spray 
nares 

IIV IM 
::c:3 years: 0.5 mL 
18-64 years : 0.1 mL 

6-35 months: 0.25 mL or 0.5 mL 

ID 

MMR Subcuto.5mL 

MMRV o.5mL Subcut 

MenACWY o.5mL IM 
I 

MPSV4 Subcuto.5mL 

PCV13 o.5mL IM 

PPSV23 o.5mL IM orSubcut 

HPV IMo.5mL 

IPV o.5mL IM or Subcut 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Admin istration 97 



Rotavirus (RV1 or RVs) (1.0 mL or 2.0 mL) Oral 

Varicella o.5mL Subcut 

Herpes zoster o.65mL Subcut 

Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular 
pertussis; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus infl.uenzae type b; HPV = human 
papillomavirus; IIV = inactivated influenza vaccine; IM = intramuscular; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, 
attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; Men CY = bivalent 
meningococcal conjugate vaccine component; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, mumps, 
rubella, and varicella; MPSV 4 = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PCV13 = pneumococcal 
conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; RV1 = live, attenuated monovalent rotavirus 
vaccine; RV5 = live, reassortment pentavalent rotavirus vaccine; Subcut = subcutaneous; Td = tetanus and 
diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis. 

Smuce: Adapted from Immunization Action Coalition: http: //www.immunize.org. 

Cal Persons aged 11-15 years may be administered Recombivax HB (Merck), 1.0 mL (adult formulation) on a 2-dose 
schedule. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 98 



TABLE 6-2. Needle length and injection site of IM injections for children 

aged ~18 years (by age) and adults aged ~19 years (by sex and weight) 


Age group Needle length Injection site 

Children (birth-18 years) 

N eonatesCa) 5/8 inch (16 mm)Cb) Anterolateral thigh 


Infants, 1-12 months 
 1 inch (25 mm) Anterolateral thigh 


Toddlers, 1-2 years 
 Anterolateral thigh<c) 
mm) 

5/8Cb)-1 inch (16-25 

1-1.25 inch (25-32 

Deltoid muscle of arm 
mm) 

Children, 3-10 years Deltoid muscle of arm<c) 
mm) 

1-1.25 inches (25-32 

5/8Cb)-1 inch (16-25 

Anterolateral thigh 
mm) 

5/8Cb)-1 inch (16-25 Deltoid muscle of armCc) 

mm) 
Children, 11-18 years 

1-1.5 inches (25-38 Anterolateral thigh 
mm) 

Adults (219 years) 

Men and women, <60 kg (130 lbs) 1 inch (25 mm)cd) Deltoid muscle of arm 

Men and women, 60-70 kg (130  1 inch (25 mm) 

152 lbs) 


Men, 70-118 kg (152-260 lbs) 1-1.5 inches (25-38 

mm) 


Women, 70-90 kg (152-2(?0 lbs) 


Men, >118 kg (260 lbs) 1.5 inches (38 mm) 


Women, >90 kg (200 lbs) 


General Best Practice Guide lin es for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 99 



Abbreviation : IM = intramuscular. 

Som·ce: (14). 

(a) First 28 days oflife. 


Cb) Ifskin is stretched tightly and subcutaneous tissues are not bunched. 


(c) Preferred site. 


Cd) Some experts recommend a 5/8-inch needle for men and women who weigh <60 kg. 


General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 100 



Figure 1. Intramuscular needle insertion 

Dermis --~~~,_:_:.:~=-"=·...~~ ~.;;.!!,,l.,=4-"'-'!.!.tl.'·' 

· 

Fatty tissue 
(subcutaneous) 

Muscle tissue ~ 

Source: Adapted from California Immunization Branch. 

Alternate Text: This drawing shows intramuscular needle insertion int o a cross

section of sldn. The needle is inserted at a go-degree angle and penetrates the dermis, 

fatty tissue (subcutaneous), and muscle tissue. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Vaccine Adm inistration 101 



Figure 2. Intramuscular/subcutaneous site of administration: anterolateral 

thigh 

Source: Adapted from Minnesota Department of Health. 

Alternate Text: This drawing shows a mother holding an infant. The anterolateral 

aspect of the infant's thigh is shaded, showing the proper site for 

intramuscular/subcutaneous vaccine adminis_tration. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmmu nization: Vaccine Administration 102 



Figure 3. Intramuscular site of administration: deltpid 

Source: Adapted from Minnesota Department of Health. 

Alternate Text: This line drawing is a side view of an adult. The deltoid muscle of the 

arm is shaded, showing the proper site for intramuscular vaccine administration. 

' 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 103 



Figure 4. Subcutaneous site ofadministration: triceps 

: I 

Source: _Adapted from the Minnesota Department of Health. 

Alternate Text: This line drawing is a rear/dorsal view of an adult. The triceps muscle 

of the arm is shaded, showing the proper site for subcutaneous vaccine administration. 

General Best Practice Guidelin es for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 104 



45'angle""' 

Dermis ----tlll"• P,~'-,--'"-=="-,:;...:....-..,;i,w,,=-=-=;;.,e'-½'),=e=i. 

Figure 5. Subcutaneous needle insertion 

fatty tissue 
(subcutaneou~} 

Musde tissue -----11o- ; 

Source: Adapted from California Immunization Branch. 

Alternate Text: This drawing shows subcutaneous needle insertion into a cross

section of skin. The needle is inserted at a 45-degree angle and penetrates the dermis 

and fatty tissue (subcutaneou~) but not the muscle tissue. 

General Best Practice Guidelin es for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 105 



REFERENCES 

1. 	 Boyce JM, Pittet D. Guideline for hand hygiene in health-care settings. 

Recommendations ofthe Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory 

Committee and the HICPAC/SHEA/ APIC/IDSA Hand Hygiene Task Force. 

MMWRRecommRep. 2002;51(RR-16):1-45, quiz CE41-44. 

2. 	 Occupational Health and Safety Administration. Occupational exposure to 

bloodborne pathogens; needlesticks and other sharps injuries; Final Rule (29 

CFR Part 1910). Fed Regist. 2001;66(12) :5318-5325. 

3. 	 Siegel J, Rhinehart E, Jackson M, Chiarello L, the Healthcare Infection 

Control Practices Advisory Committee. 2007 guideline for isolation 

precautions: preventing transmission ofinfectious agents in healthcare 

settings Atlanta, GA: CDC;2007. 

4. 	 CDC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practice's (ACIP). MMWR Recomm 

Rep. 1994;43(RR-1):1-38. 

5. 	 Kroger AT, Sumaya CV, Pickering LK, Atkinson WL. General 

recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2011:1

60. 

6. 	 Atkinson WL, Pickering LK, Schwartz B, Weniger BG, Iskander JK, Watson 

JC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and the American 

Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2002;51(RR

2):1-35. 

7. 	 Drucker E, Alcabes PG, Marx PA. The injection century: massive unsterile 

injections and the emergence of human pathogens. Lancet. 

2001;358(9297):1989-1992. DOI: 10.1016/so140-6736(01)06967-7 

8. 	 International Health Care Worker Safety Center . List of safety-engineered 

sharp devices and other products designed to prevent occupational exposures 

to bloodborne pathogens. 2003; 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Admin istration 106 



https://www.medicalcenter.virginia.edu/epinet/safetydevice.html. Accessed 

07 Feb 2017. 

9. 	 Shaw FE, Jr., Guess HA, Roets JM, et al. Effect of anatomic injection site, age 

and smoking on the immune response to hepatitis B vaccination. Vaccine. 

1989;7(5):425-430. DOI: 10.1016/0264-410X(89)90157-6 

10. Zuckerman JN. The importance of injecting vaccines into muscle. Different 

patients need different needle sizes. BMJ. 2000;321(7271) :1237-1238. DOI: 

10.1136/bmj.321.7271.1237 

11. 	 Ipp MM, Gold R, Goldbach M, et al. Adverse reactions to diphtheria, tetanus, 

pertussis-polio vaccination at 18 months of age: effect of injection site and 

needle length. Pediatrics. 1989;83(5):679-682. 

12. 	 Michaels L, Poole RW. Injection granuloma of the buttock. CanMedAssoc J. 

1970;102(6):626-628. 

13. 	 Haramati N, Lorans R, Lutwin M, Kaleya RN. Injection granulomas. 

Intramuscle or intrafat? Arch Fam Med. 1994;3(2):146-148. 

14. 	 Bergeson PS, Singer SA, Kaplan AM. Intramuscular injections in children. 

Pediatrics. 1982;70(6):944-948. 

15. 	 Poland GA, BorrudA, Jacobson RM, et al. Determination of deltoid fat pad 

thickness. Implications for needle length in adult immunization. JAMA. 

1997;277(21):1709-1711. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1997.03540450065037 

16. 	 Groswasser J, Kahn A, Bouche B, Hanquinet S, Perlmuter N, Hessel L. Needle 

length and injection technique for efficient intramuscular vaccine delivery in 

infants and children evaluated through an ultrasonographic determination of 

subcutaneous and muscle layer thickness. Pediatrics. 1997;100(3 Pt 1):400

403. DOI: 10.1542/peds.100.3-400 

17. 	 Ipp M, Taddio A, Sam J, Gladbach M, Parkin PC. Vaccine-related pain: 

randomised controlled trial of two injection techniques. Arch Dis Child. 

_2007;92(12):1105-1108. DOI: 10.1136/adc.2007.118695 

18. CDC. Recommendation ofthe Immunization Practices Advisory Committee: 

general recommendations on immunization MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

1983;32(1):1-16. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Vaccine Administration 107 

http:https://www.medicalcenter.virginia.edu


19. 	 Kroger AT, Atkinson WL, Marcuse EK, Pickering LK. General 

recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advis01y 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2006;55(RR-15) :1-48. 

20. 	 Jackson LA, Yu 0, Nelson JC, et al. Injection site and risk of medically 

attended local reactions to acellular pertussis vaccine. Pediatrics. 

2011;127(3):e581-587. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2010-1886 

21. 	 Middleman AB, Anding R, Tung C. Effect of needle length when immunizing 

obese adolescents with hepatitis B vaccine. Pediatrics. 2010;125(3) :e508-512. 

DOI: 10.1542/peds.2009-1592 

22. 	 Fiore AE, Uyeki TM, Broder K, et al. Prevention and control of influenza with 

vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP), 2010. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-8):1-62. 

23. 	 CDC. General recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the 

Public Health Service Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. 

MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep . 1976;25(44):1-3. 

24. 	 Scheifele D, Bjornson G, Barreto L, Meekison W, Guasparini R. Controlled 

trial ofHaemophilus influenzae type B diphtheria toxoid conjugate combined 

with diphtheria, tetanus and pertussis vaccines, in 18-month-old childrnn, 

including comparison of arm versus thigh injection. Vaccine. 1992;10(7):455

460. DOI: 10.1016/0264-410X(92)90394-Y 

25. 	 CDC. Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis: recommendations for vaccine use 

and other preventive measures. Recommendations of the Immunization 

Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR

10) :1-28. \ 

26. 	 Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization 

strategy to eliminate transmission ofhepatitis B virus infection in the United 

States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. 

MMWRRecommRep. 2005;54(RR-16):1-31. 
' ' 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 108 



27. 	 Hingson RA, Davis HS, Rosen M. Historical development of jet injection and 

envisioned uses in mass immunization and mass therapy based upon 2 

decades experience. Mil Med. 1963;128(6):516-524. 

28. 	 Weniger B, Papania M. Alternative vaccine delivery methods. In: Plotldn S, 

Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 5th ed. Chiria: Saunders/Elsevier; 

2008:1357-1392. 

29. CDC. Hepatitis B associated with jet gun injection- California. MMWR Morb 

Mortal Wkly Rep. 1986;35(23):373-376. 

30. Canter J, Mackey K, Good LS, et al. An outbreak of hepatitis B associated with 

jet injections in a weight reduction clinic. Arch Intern Med. 1990;150(9):1923

1927. DOI: 10.1001/archinte.1990.00390200105020 

31. 	 Hoffman PN, Abuknesha RA, Andrews NJ, Samuel D, Lloyd JS. A model to 

assess the infection potential of jet injectors used in mass immunisation. 

Vaccine. 2001;19(28-29):4020-4027. DOI: 10.1016/So264-410X(o1)00106-2 

32. 	 Kelly K, Loskutov A, Zehrung D, et al. Preventing contamination between 

injections with multiple-use nozzle needle-free injectors: a safety trial. 

Vaccine . 2008;26(10):1344-1352. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.12.041 

33. 	 Simonsen L, Kane A, Lloyd J, Zaffran M, Kane M. Unsafe injections in the 

developing world and transmission ofbloodborne pathogens: a review. Bull 

World Health Organ. 1999;77(10):789-800. 

34. 	 Kane A, Lloyd J, Zaffran M, Simonsen L, Kane M. Transmission ofhepatitis B, 

hepatitis C and human immunodeficiency viruses through unsafe injections in 

the developing world: model-based regional estimates. Bull World Health 

Organ. 1999;77(10):801-807. 

35. 	 Gray L, Watt L, Blass EM. Sldn-to-sldn contact is analgesic in healthy 

newborns. Pediatrics. 2000;105(1):e14. DOI: 10.1542/peds.105.1.e14 

36. 	 Gray L, Miller LW, Philipp BL, Blass EM. Breastfeeding is analgesic in healt_hy 

newborns. Pediatrics. 2002;109(4):590-593. DOI: 10.1542/peds.109-4.590 

37. 	 Harrington JW, Logan S, Harwell C, et al. Effective analgesia.using physical 

interventions for infant immunizations. Pediatrics. 2012;129(5):815-822. 

DOI: 10.1542/peds.2011-1607 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 109 



38. 	 Taddio A, Nulman I, Goldbach M, Ipp M, Koren G. Use of lidocaine-prilocaine 

cream for vaccination pain in infants. J Pediatr. 1994;124(4):643-648. DOI: 

10.1016/Soo22-3476(05)83150-6 

· 	 39. Uhari M. A eutectic mixture oflidocaine and prilocaine for alleviating 

vaccination pain in infants. Pediatrics. 1993;92(5):719-721. 

40. 	 Halperin SA, McGrath P, Smith B, Houston T. Lidocaine-prilocaine patch 

decreases the pain associated with the subcutaneous administration of 

measles-mumps-rubella vaccine but does not adversely affect the antibody 

response. J Pediatr. 2000;136(6):789-794. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22

3476(00)64169-o 

41. 	 Frayling IM, Addison GM, Chattergee K, Meakin G. Methaemoglobinaemia in 

children treated with prilocaine-lignocaine cream. BMJ. 1990;301(6744):153

154. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.301.6744.153 

42. 	 Reis EC, Holubkov R. Vapocoolant spray is equally effective as EMLA cream 

in reducing immuniz~tion pain in school-aged children. Pediatrics. 

1997;100(6):E5. DOI: 10.1542/peds.100.6.e5 

43. 	 American Academy of Pediatrics Steering Committee on Quality 

Improvement and Management, Subcommittee on Febrile Seizures. Febrile 

seizures: clinical practice guideline for the long-term management of the child 

with simple.febrile seizures. Pediatrics. 2008;121(6):1281-1286. DOI: 

10.1542/peds.2008-0939 

44. 	 Cook IF, Murtagh J. Comparative immunogenicity of hepatitis B vaccine 

administered into the ventrogluteal area and anterolateral thigh in infants. J 

Paediatr Child Health. 2002;38(4):393-396. DOI: 10.1046/j.1440

1754.2002.00013.x 

45. 	 Redfield RR, Innis BL, Scott RM, Cannon HG, Bancroft WH. Clinical 

evaluation of low-dose intradermally administered _hepatitis B virus vaccine. A 

cost reduction strategy. JAMA. 1985;254(22):3203-3206. DOI: 

10.1001/jama.1985.03360220069031 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 110 

http:10.1542/peds.100.6.e5


46. 	 Coleman PJ, Shaw FE, Jr., Serovich J, Hadler SC, Margolis HS. Intradermal 

hepatitis B vaccination in a large hospital employee population. Vaccine. 

1991;9(10):723-727. DOI: 10.1016/0264-410X(91)90287-G 

47. 	 Fishbein DB, Sawyer LA, Reid-Sanden FL, Weir EH. Administration of 

human diploid-cell rabies vaccine in the gluteal area. N Engl J Med. 

1988;318(2):124-125. DOI: 10.1056/nejm198801143180219 

48. 	 CDC. Inadvertent misadministration of meningococcal conjugate vaccine

United States, June-August 2005. MMWR Morb Mortal W/cly Rep. 

2006;55(37):1016-1017. 

49. 	 Ragni MV, Lusher JM, Koerper MA, Manco-Johnson M, Krause DS. Safety 

and immunogenicity of subcutaneous hepatitis A vaccine in children with 

haemophilia. Haemophilia. 2000;6(2):98-103. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365

2516.2000.00386.x 

50. 	 Belshe RB, Newman FK, Cannon J, et al. Serum antibody responses after 

intradermal vaccination against influenza. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(22):2286

2294. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoao43555 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Admin istration 111 



7. Storage and Handling of Immunobiologics 

Updates 

Most of the 2011 language was removed because this content is now codified and 

continually updated in the CDC's Vaccine Storage and Handling Toolkit, available at 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/ default.htm. This content included Storage 

Units, Monitoring Storage Temperature, Vaccine Inventory, and Vaccine Transport. 

General Principles 

Failure to adhere to recommended specifications for storage and handling of 

immunobiologics can reduce or destroy their potency, resulting in in,adequate or no 

immune response in the recipient 

(www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm.) . Recommendations 

in the prodqct package inserts, including methods for reconstitution of the vaccine, 

should be followed carefully. Maintenance of vaccine quality is the shared responsibility 

of all handlers of vaccines from the time a vaccine is manufactured until administration. 

All vaccines should be inspected on delivery and monitored during storage to ensure 

that the recommended storage temperatures are maintained. Vaccines should continue 

to be stored at recommended temperatures immediately upon receipt until use. 

Inadequate vaccine storage also can result in significant costs to replace vaccine 

inventory(www.cdc.gov/vaccines /recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm). 

Storage Temperature 

Vaccines licensed for refrigerator storage should be stored at 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C). 

Liquid vaccines containing an aluminum adjuvaf!-t permanently lose potency when 

exposed to freezing temperatures. Inactivated vaccines that are stored in a liqu1d stat e 

(i.e., non-lyophilized [freeze-dried]) but that do not contain aluminum adjuvants should 

also generally be kept at refrigerator temperature, although whether or not they lose 

potency when frozen is not known. Inactivated lyophilized vaccines generally do not 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Storage and Handling of lmmunobiologics 112 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm
www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit


need to be frozen, but lyophilized varicella-containing vaccines that are recommended 

to be stored frozen lose poten~y when exposed to higher temperatures because the 

viruses degrade more quickly at storage temperatures that are warmer than 

recomm_ended (Table 7-1). These varicella-containing vaccines also can be prone to 

losses in sterility if kept too cold, due to increased gas permeability of the rubber vaccine 

vial (observed with use of dry ice at temperatures below -58°F or -50°C [personal 

communication, manufacturer]). 

Response to Out-of-Range Temperature Reading 

An out-of-range temperature reading should prompt immediate action. A plan should 

be developed ahead of time to address various types of emergencies that might require 

removal of vaccine from the original storage un1t. Transfer ofvaccines to a 

predesignated alternative emergency storage site might be necessary if a temperature 

problem cannot be resolved immediately (e.g., plugging in an unplugged unit or closing 

a door that has been left open). It is critical to avoid freezing vaccine during transport 

(improperly packing vaccine with ice can damage vaccines). Vaccine should be marked 

"do not use" and moved to the alternate site after verifying that the alternate unit is at 

the proper temperature. Determinations ofvaccine viability in practice include 

consideration ofboth time and magnitude of temperature excursions and should be 

made in consultation with state/local public health departments or the vaccine 

manufacturer, as one or both of these groups may have additional information based on 

a broad international perspective. Damage to the immunogenicity of a vaccine exposed 

to temperatures outside of the recommended range might not be apparent visually. AB a 

general rule, vaccines that have been stored at inappropriate temperatures should not 

be administered unless public health authorities or the manufacturer determine it is safe 

and effective to do so. If such vaccines already have been administered, vaccine exposed 

to inappropriate temperatures that is inadvertently administered should generally be 

repeated. Clinicians should consult promptly with state or local health departments in 

these situations. Consultation with CDC is available wh en necessary. 

General Best Practice Guide lines for Immunization: Storage and Handling of lmmunobiologics 113 



TABLE 7-1. Vaccine storage temperature recommendations 


Nonlyophilized, aluminum-adjuvanted vaccines 


Vaccines 
 Vaccine storage Diluent storage temperature 
temperature 

No dilu entCa) 

containing vaccines 


Diphtheria-t etanus 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 

Do not freeze 

(DT, Td) or pertussis-

containing vaccines 

(DTaP, Tdap) 


HepA and I-IepB 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 
Do not freeze 

'-... 

PCV 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 
Do not freeze 

HPVCb) 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 

Do not freeze 

.Nonlyophilized, nonaluminmn-adjuvanted vaccines 

Vaccines Vaccine storage Diluent storage temperature 
temperature 

PRP-OMP Hib 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 


IPV 
 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 


MenACWYCb).cc) 
 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 
' 

PPSV 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 


IlVCb) 
 36°-F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 

Lyophilized (non-varicella) vaccines 

Vaccines Vaccine storage Diluent storage temperature 
temperature 

PRP-T HibCb) 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)Cd) 35°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 

Do not freeze 

PRP-T Hib-Men CY 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 
Do not freeze 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Storage and Handling of lmmunobiologics 114 

http:MenACWYCb).cc


MMRCb> 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)cd> 35°F-77°F(2°C-25°C) 
Can be refrigerated or stored at 
room temperature 

36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)cd> Data are lacking on ideal pre
reconstitution storage requirements. 
After reconstitution, vaccine should 
be stored at 35°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
Do not freeze 

MPSV4 

Varicella-containing vaccines 

Vaccines -Diluent storage temperature 
temperature 
Vaccine storage 

MMRVCb> -58°F-5°F (-50°C to  35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 
1s0 c) Can be refrigerated or stored at 

room temperature 

VaricellaCb> ' -58°F-5°F° (-50°C to  35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 
15°C) Can be refrigerated or stored at 

room temperature 

Herpes zoster Cb> -58°F-5°F (-50°C to  35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 
15°C) Can be refrigerated or stored at 

room temperature 

N oninjectable vaccines 

Vaccines Vaccine storage Diluent storage temperature 
temperature 

RVs vaccineCb> 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 
Do not freeze 

RV1 vaccineCbJ 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) The diluent may be stored at a 
controlled room temperature 20°C~Do not freeze 
25°C (68°F-77°F). 
Do not freeze 

LAIV 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 

Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular 
pertussis; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b ; HPV = human 
papillomavirus; !IV= inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAN= live, attenuated influenza 
vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; 
MMRV = measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella; MPSV4. = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; 
PCV13 = pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PRP-OMP = 
polyribosylribitol phosphate-meningococcal outer membrane protein conjugate; PRP-T = polyribosylribitol 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Storage and Handling of lmmunobiologics 115 



phosphate polysaccharide conjugated to a tetanus toxoid; PRP-T Hib =polyribosylphosphate tetanus-toxoid 
conjugate Hib vaccine; PRP-T Hib-MenCY =polyribosylphosphate-tetanus-toxoid Hib vaccine with a bivalent 
Meningococcal vaccine; RV = rotavirus; RV1 =live, attenuated monovalent rotavirus vaccine; RVs =live , 
reassortment pentavalent rota virus vaccine; Td = tetanus and diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, reduced 
diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pe1tussis. 

Sources: (1,2). 

C•l DTaP-Triped_ia is sometimes used as a diluent for ActHib. 

Cbl Protect from light. 

Cc) There are 2 meningococcal conjugate vaccines; Menactra is nonlyophilized, and Menveo is lyophilized. Both 
powder and diluent should be stored at 35°F-46°F. 

Cd) The lyophilized pellet may be stored at freezer temperature; the reconstituted vaccine should be stored at 
refrigerator temperature. 

General Best Pract ice Guidelines for Immu nization: St orage and Handling of lmmunobiologics 116 



REFERENCES 
1. 	 Kroger A, Atkinson W, Pickering L. General immunization practices. In: 

Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines . 6th ed. China: Elsevier 

Saunders; 2013:88-111. 

2. 	 CDC. Guidelines for maintaining and managing the vaccine cold chain. 

MMWRMorbMortal Wlcly Rep. 2003;52(42):1023-1025. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Storage and Handling of lmmunobiologics 117 



8. Altered Immunocompetence 

Updates 

This section incorporates general content from the Infectious Diseases Society of 

America policy statement, 2013 IDSA Clinical Practice Guideline for Vaccination ofthe 

Immunocompromised Host (1), to which CDC provided input in November 2011. The 

evidence supporting this guidance is based on expert opinion arid arrived at by 

consensus. 

General Principles 

Altered immunocompetence, a term often used synonymously with 

immunosuppression, immunodeficiency, and imm-µnocompromise, can be classified as 

primary or secondary. Primary immunodeficiencies generally are inherited and include 

conditions defined by an inherent absence or quantitative deficiency of cellular, 

humeral, or both components that provide immunity. Examples include congenital 

immunodeficiency diseases such as X-linked agammaglobulinemia, SCID, and chronic 

granulomatous disease. Secondary immunodeficiency is acquired and is defined by loss 

or qualitative deficiency in cellular or humeral immune components that occurs as a 

result of a disease process or its therapy. Examples of secondary immunodeficiency 
' 

include HN infection, hematopoietic malignancies, treatment with radiation, and 

treatment with immunosuppressive drugs. The degree to which immunosuppressive 

drugs cause clinically significant immunodeficiency generally is dose related and varies 

by drug. Primary and secondary immunodeficiencies might include a combination of 

deficits in both cellular and humeral immunity. Certain conditions like asplenia and 

chronic renal disease also can cause altered immunocompetence. 

Determination of.altered immunocompetence is important to the vaccine provider 

because incidence or severity of some vaccine-preventable diseases is higher in persons 

with altered immunocompetence; therefore, certain vaccines (e.g.,-inactivated influenza 

vaccine, pneumococcal vaccines) are recommended specifically for persons with these 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 118 



diseases (2,3). Administration oflive vaccines might need to be deferred until immune 

function has improved. This is primarily a safety concern, because persons who have 

altered immunocompetence and receive live vaccines might be at increased risk for an 

adverse reaction because of uninhibited growth of the attenuated live virus or bacteria. 

Vaccines might be less effective during the period of altered immunocompetence. 

Inactivated vaccines might best be deferred during a period of altered 

immunocompetence; in this circumstance, the concern is with effectiveness and not 

safety. Additionally, if an inactivated vaccine is administered during the period of 

altered immunocompetence, it might need to be repeated after immune function has 

improved. 

The degree of altered immunocompetence in a patient should be determined by a 

physician. The challenge for clinicians and other health-care providers is assessing the 

safety and effectiveness ofvaccines for conditions associated with primary or secondary 

immunodeficiency, especially when new therapeutic modalities are being used and 

information about the safety and effectiveness ofvaccines has not been characterized 

fully in persons receiving _these drugs (Table 8-1). Laboratory studies can be useful for 

assessing the effects of adisease or drug on the immune system. Tests useful ~o assess 

humoral immunity include immunoglobulin (and immunoglobulin subset) levels and 

specific antibody levels (e.g., tetanus and diphtheria). Tests that demonstrate the status 

of cellular immunity include lymphocyte numbers (i.e., a complete blood count with 

differential), a test that delineates concentrations and proportions oflymphocyte 

subsets (i.e., B and T lymphocytes, CD4+ B lymphocytes versus CDS+ T lymphocytes), 

and tests that measure T-cell proliferation or function in response to specific or 

nonspecific stimuli (e.g., lymphocyte proliferation assays) (4,5). The ability to 

characterize a drug or disease condition as affecting cellular or ~rnmoral immunity is 

only the.first step; using this information to draw inferences about whether particular 

vaccines are indicated or whether caution is advised with use of live or inactivated 

vaccines is more complicated and might require consultation with an infectious diseases 

or immunology specialist. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelin es for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 119 



Altered Immunocompet ence as ari Indication to Receive a 


Vaccine Outside of Rou tinely Recommended Age Grou ps 


This section describes situations in which vaccines are recommended outside of the 

routine-age-based recommendation because the risk for vaccine-preventable disease is 

increased due to altered immunocompetence. Persons with altered immunocompetence 

generally are recommended to receive polysaccharide-based vaccines (PCV13, PPSV23, 

and Hib), on the basis of increased risk for disease if the vaccine is withheld. For certain 

specific categories of altered immunocompetence, patients are also recommended to 

receive polysaccharide based vaccines (MenACWY, Hib-MenCY, and MPSV 4). 

Pneumococcal Vaccines 

Two types of vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease are available in the United 

States: PCV13 and PPSV23. PCV13 is recommended routinely for all children beginning 

at age 2 months through age 59 months and for adults aged 65 years or older. PCV13 is 

also recommended for children, adolescents, and adults with conditions that place them 

at high risk for invasive disease from Streptococcus pneumoniae. PCV13 is 

recommended for persons aged 6-64 years who have not previously received PCV13 and 

have congenital immunodeficiency disorders (including B- or T-lymphocyte deficiency, 

complement deficiencies, and phagocytic disorders), anatomic or functional asplenia 

(including sickle cell disease and other hemoglobinopathies), HIV infection, cochlear 

implant, cerebrospinal fluid leak, chronic renal failure, nephrotic syndrome, iatrogenic 

immunosuppression, or other immunocompromising conditions. 

PPSV23 is licensed for use in persons aged ~2 years and recommended routinely for 

adults aged 65 years and older. PPSV23 is also recommended for persons age 2 through 

64 years with congenital immunodeficiency disorders, anatomical and functional 

·asplenia, HIV infection, cochlear implant, cerebrospinal fluid leak, and iatrogenic 

immunosuppression. Complete recommendations on use of PCV13 and PPSV23 are 

available in the Recommended Immunization Schedules for Persons Aged o Through 18 

Years and the Recommended Adult Immunization Schedule (2,6). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Alt ered lmmunocompetence 120 



Meningococcal Vaccines 

Three types of meningococcal vaccines are licensed in the United States: meningococcal 

conjugate (MenACWY and Hib-MenCY), meningococcal polysaccharide (MPSV4), and 

serogroup B meningococcal (MenB) vaccines. Persons with functional or anatomic 

asplenia (including sickle cell disease) and persistent complement component deficiency 

(including persons taldng eculizumab [Soliris]) (7) are at increased risk for 

meningococcal disease and should receive both MenACWY and MenB vaccines. For 

chiklJ:en 2 months through 23 months of age, an age-appropriate series of 

meningococcal conjugate vaccine should be administered. If MenACWY-D (Menactra) is 

administered to a child with asplenia, it should be after 2 years of age and at least 4 

weeks after the completion of all PCV13 doses. A 2-dose primary series of either 

MenACWY-CRM (Menveo) or MenACWY-D (Menactra) should be administered to 
. . 

persons 2 years of age or older with asplenia or complement deficiency. Following the 

primary series of vaccine, a 3-year interval to the next dose is recommended for persons 

who received their previous dose at younger than 7 years. A 5-year interval is 

recommended for persons who received their previous dose at age 7 years or older. 

Although MPSV 4 is the only meningococcal vaccine licensed for persons older than 55 

years of age, adults 56 years and older with asplenia or complement deficiency should be 

vaccinated with MenACWY-CRM or MenACWY-D rather than MPSV4 (8). 

Meningococcal serogroup B vaccines are licensed for persons 10-25 years of age and are 

recommended for persons 10 years of age or older for persons with high-risk conditions 

like functional or anatomic asplenia or persistent complement component deficiency. 

There are presently no recommendations for booster doses of either M;en.B vaccine 

(9,10). Complete recommendations for use of meningococcal vaccines are available in 

the Recommended Immunization Schedules for Persons Aged o Through 18 Years and 

the Recommended A dultSchedule (2,6). 

Hib Vaccines 

Hib conjugate vaccines are available in single or combined antigen preparations. Hib . / 

vaccine is recommended routinely for all children through age 59 months. Children 12 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines fo r Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 121 



through 59 months who are at high risk for invasive Hib disease (i.e., recipients of 

chemotherapy or radiation for ,malignant neoplasms, recipients ofhematopoietic cell 

transplant, or those with functional or anatomic asplenia, HN infection, 

immunoglobulin deficiency, or early complement component deficiency) and who are 

unvaccinated or received only one dose of Hib disease before 12 months of age should 

receive 2 additional doses of Hib vaccine; those who received 2 or more doses of Hib 

before 12 months of age should receive on~ additional dose. A child younger than 5 years 

of age receiving chemotherapy or radiation therapy should have Hib doses repeated if 

the doses were received during therapy or within 14 days of starting therapy; repeat 

doses should be started at least 3 months after completion of therapy. Recipients of 

hematopoietic cell transplants should be revaccinated with 3 doses of Hib vaccine, 

starting 6-12 months after successful transplant, regardless of vaccination history or 

age. Children 5-18 years of age with HN who are unimmunizedCa) should receive a dose 

of Hib vaccine; Hib vaccination is not recommended in RN-infected adults. 

UnimmunizedCa) asplenic patients older than 59 months of age or adults should receive a 

dose of Hib vaccine. Anyone 15 months of age or older who is undergoing a splenectomy 

and is unimmunizedCa) should receive a dose of Hib vaccine (11). Complete 

recommendations for use of Hib vaccine are available in the Recommended 

ImmunizationSchedulesfor PersonsAged o Through18 Years and the Recommended 

Adult Immunization Schedule (2,6). 

Vaccination of Contacts of Persons with Altered 

Immunocompetence 

Household contacts and other close contacts of persons with altered 

immunocompetence should receive all age- and exposure-appropriate vaccines, with the 

exception of smallpox vaccine (12,13). Receipt ofvaccines will prevent the vaccine

preventable disease, so there can be no potential transmission to the contact with 

altered immunocompetence. The live MMR, varicella~ and rotavirus vaccines should be 

administered to susceptible household contacts and other close contacts of 

immunocompromised patients when indicated. Zoster vaccine can be administered 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 122 



when indicated. MMR vaccine viruses are not transmitted to contacts, and transmission 

rof varicella-zoster virus vaccine strain is rare (14,15). No specific precautions are needed 

unless the varicella vaccine recipient has a rash after vaccination, in which case direct 

contact with susceptible household contacts with altered immunocompetence should be 

avoided until the rash resolves (14,15). All members of the household should wash their 

hands after changing the diaper of an infant who received rotavirus vaccine. This 

minimizes rotavirus transmission, as shedding may occur up to one month after the_last 

dose (16,17). Household and other close contacts of persons with altered 

immunocompetence should receive annual influenza vaccination. Introduction oflow 

levels ofvaccine viruses into the environment likely i_s unavoidable when administering 

LAIV. LAIV vaccine viruses are cold-adapted, so they can replicate in the nose and 

generate an immune response without entering the lungs (i.e., they are temperature 

sensitive and replicate poorly at core body temperatures). No instances have been 

reported of illness caused by attenuated vaccine virus infections among health-care 

providers or immunocompromised patients. LAlV may be administered to healthy 

household and other close contacts of persons with altered immunocompetence unless 

the person with altered immunocompetence is in a protective environment, typically 

defined as a specialized patient-care area with a positive airflow relative to the corridor, 

high-efficiency particulate air filtration, and frequent air changes (3). No preference 

exists for inactivated influenza vaccine use by health-care workers or other persons who 

have close contact with persons with lesser degi·ees of immunosuppression (e.g., 

persons with diabetes, persons with asthma taking high-dose corticosteroids, or persons 

infected with HIV), and no preferen ce exists for inactivated influenza vaccine use by 

health-care workers or other healthy persons aged 5-49 years in close contact with all 

other groups at high risk. 

Inactivated Vaccines : Safety 

All inactivated vaccines can be administered safely to persons with altered 

immunocompetence, whether the vaccine is a killed whole-organism or a recombinant, 

subunit, split-virus, toxoid, polysaccharide, or polysaccharide protein-conjugate vaccine. 

Genera l Best Practice Gu idelines fo r Immunization : Altered lmmunocompetence 123 



Inactivated Vaccines: Effectiveness 

Except for inactivated influenza vaccine, vaccination during chemotherapy or radiation 

therapy should be avoided if possible because antibody response might be suboptimal. 

Patients vaccinated within a 14-day period before starting immunosuppressive therapy 

or while receiving immunosuppressive therapy should be considered unimmunized and 

should be revaccinated at least 3 months after therapy is discontinued if immune 

competence has been restored. Patients who have quantitative B-cell deficiencies and 

are receiving immunoglobulin therapy should not receive either inactivated or live 

vaccines while receiving the immunoglobulin therapy because of concerns about 

effectiveness of the vaccines. Patients on chemotherapy with anti-B cell antibodies (e.g., 

rituximab) should wait at least 6 months after therapy before being vaccinated with 

inactivated vaccines. Some experts recommended longer than 6 months for some anti-B 

cell antibodies. For other forms of altered immunocompetence, if inactivated vaccines 

are indicated, the usual schedules are recommended. However, the effectiveness of such 

vaccinations might be suboptimal (1). 

Live, Attenuated Viral and Bacterial Vaccines: Effectiveness 

The same rationale regarding effectiveness that exists with inactivated vaccines also 

exists with live vaccines. 

Live, Attenuated Viral and Bacterial Vaccines: Safety 

Severe complications have followed vaccination with certain live, attenuated viral and 

live, attenuated bacterial vaccines among persons with altered immunocompetence (18
/

26). Persons with most forms of altered immunocompetence should not receive live 

vaccines (MMR, varicella, MMRV, LAIV, zoster, yellow fever, Ty21a oral typhoid, BCG, 

smallpox, and rotavirus). However, exceptions exist, and are discussed in this section. 

Patients with any defect in phagocytic function (e.g., chronic granulomatous disease, 

leukocyte adhesion deficiency, myeloperoxidase deficiency, Chediak-Higashi syndrome) 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Alt ered lmmunocompetence 124 



should NOT receive live bacterial vaccines. Patients with a specific type of defect in 

phagocytic function- chronic granulomatous disease-should receive otherwise 

indicated live attenuated viral vaccines in addition to inactivated vaccines but should 

NOT receive live bacterial vaccines. Patients with defects in phagocytic function that are 

undefined or Im.own to be accompanied by defects in T-cell and natural killer cell 

function (e.g., leukocyte adhesion deficiency, myeloperoxidase deficiency, Chediak

Higashi syndrome) should NOT receive live attenuated viral or bacterial vaccines. These 

conditions include specific deficits in T-cell and natural killer cell function, reducing the 

response to live viral vaccine antigens to an extent not seen in Ghronic granulomatous 

disease (1). Children with deficiencies in complement should receive otherwise indicated 

live, attenuated viral and live, attenuated bacterial vaccines. Children with asplenia 

should not receive LAIV, but can receive other indicated live, attepuated viral and live, 

attenuated bacterial vaccines. 

Persons with severe cell-mediated immunodeficiency should not receive live, attenuated 

viral or bacterial vaccines. Patients with defects of the interferon-gamma/interleukin-12 

axis should not receive live bacterial vaccines. Patients with deficiencies of interferon

gamma or interferon-alpha should not receive live viral or live bacterial vaccine. These 

defects involve a deficiency in cytokine production which affects the immune response 

to a wide scope of antigens, both bacterial and viral (1). Two factors support vaccination 

of HIV-exposed or HIV-infected infants with rotavirus vaccines: 1) the HIV diagnosis 

might not be established in infants born to HIV-infected mothers before the age of the 

first rotavirus vaccine dose (only 1.5%-3% of HIV-exposed infants in the United States 

will be determined to be HIV-infected), and 2) the vaccine strains of rotavirus are 

considerably attenuated. Patients taking exogenous interferon as therapy should not 

receive live bacterial or live viral vaccines. 

Children with HIV infection are at increased risk for complications from varicella and 

herpes zoster infection compared with immunocompetent children (27,28). Limited 

data among HIV-infected children younger than 8 years (specifically, those individuals 

with CDC class N, A, or B with age-specific CD4+ T-lymphocyte percentages of ~15%) 

indicate that single-component varicella vaccine is immunogenic, effective, and safe 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompet ence 125 



(14,28). Data on use of varicella vaccine in HIV-infected adolescents and adults are 

lacking. However, on the basis of expert opinion, the safety ofvaricella vaccine in HIV

infected persons older than 8 years with comparable levels of immune function 

(CD4+ T-lymphocyte count greater than 200 cells/mm3) is likely t o be similar to that of 

children aged younger than 8 years (14). Varicella vaccine should be considered for 

persons who meet these criteria. Eligible HIV-infected persons 12 months of age or 

older should receive 2 doses of single-component varicella vaccine with a 3:-month 

interval between doses (14,28). Doses separated by <3 months are invalid for persons 

with HIV infection. MMRV vaccine should not be administered to any HIV-infected 

person. 

Persons with HIV infection ar.e at increased risk for severe complications if infected with 

measles. No severe or unusual adverse events have been reported after measles 

vaccination among HIV-infected persons who did not have evidence of severe 

immunosuppression (29-32). Two doses of MMR vaccine are recommended for all HIV

infected individuals aged ;;::12 months who do not have evidence of current severe 

immunosuppression (i.e., individuals aged =s:5 years must have CD4+ T lymphocyte 

[CD4+] percentages ;;::15% for ;;::6 months, and individuals aged >5 years must have 

CD4+percentages ;;::15% and CD4+:?:200 lymphocytes/mm3 for :?:6 months) and do not 

have current evidence of measles, rubella, and mumps immunity. In cases when only 

CD4+cell counts or only CD4+percentages are available for those >5 years, the 

assessment of severe immunosuppression can be based on the CD4+values (count or 

percentage) that are available. In cases when CD4+percentages are not available for 

those aged :::;5 years, the assessment of severe immunosuppression can be based on age

specific CD4+counts at the time CD4+counts were measured; i.e., absence of severe 

immunosuppression is defined as :?: 6 months above age-specific CD4+count criteria: 

CD4+count >750 lymphocytes/mm3 while aged :::;12 months and CD4+count :?:500 

lymphocytes/mm3 while aged 1 through 5 years (33). Similarly, repeat doses of MMR 

vaccination are recommended for individuals with perinatal HIV infection who were 

vaccinated prior to establishment of effective combination antiretroviral therapy 

( cART). They should receive 2 appropriately spaced doses of MMR vaccine once 

effective cART has been established (individuals aged =s:5 years must have 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 126 



CD4+percentages ;,:15% for ;,:6 months; individuals aged >5 years must have 

CD4+percentages ;,:15% and CD4+;,:200 lymphocytes/mms for ;,:6 months) unless they 

have other acceptable current evidence of measles, rubella, and mumps immunity. 

HIV-infected persons who_ are receiving regular doses of IGIV are unlikely to respond to 

varicella vaccine or MMR vaccine because of the continued presence of passively 

acquired antibody. However, because of the potential benefit, MMR and varicella 

vaccines should be considered approximately 14 days before the next scheduled dose of 

IGIV (if not otherwise contraindicated), although an optimal immune response might 

not occur depending on the presence of neutralizing antibodies against the vaccine 

virus. Vaccination should be repeated (if not otherwise contraindicated) after the 

recommended interval (see Table 3-5 in the Timing and Spacing of Immunobiologics of 

this document). In most cases, this is after the therapy has been discontinued. 

Patients with leukemia, lymphoma, or other malignancies whose disease is in remission, 

who have restored immunocompetence, and whose chemotherapy has been 

discontinued for at least 3 months can receive live-virus va~cines. Persons with impaired 

humoral immunity (e.g., hypogammaglobulinemia or dysgammaglobulinemia) may be 

vaccinated with varicella vaccine (14) . However,· most persons with these ¢iisorders also 

receive periodic doses of IGIV. Appropriate spacing should be maintained between 

administration of IGIV and varicella vaccine in an attempt to prevent an inadequate 

response to vaccination caused by the presence of neutralizing antibodies from the IGIV. 

Zoster incidence is higher in persons with altered immunocompe-i:ence (34). ~ dults with 

most types of altered immunocompetence are expected to maintain residual immunity 

to varicella-zoster virus because of chronic latent infection that protects against primary 

varicella but provides incomplete protection against zoster. Zoster vaccine is 

contraindicated in persons with primary or acquired immunodeficiency (e.g., 

lymphoma, leukemia, tumors involving bone marrow, and patients receiving 

chemotherapy) and some HIV infected patients (34). Zoster vaccine may be 

administered to certain persons age 60 or older with altered immunocompetence, such 

as persons receiving low dosages of immunosuppressive medications, those with 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 127 



isolated B-cell deficiencies (i.e., impairedhumoral immunity), or those with HIV 


infection who have CD4+ T-lymphocyte counts >200 cells/mm3. 


Recipients of Hematopoietic Cell Transplants 

A hematopoietic cell transplant (HCT) results in immunosuppression because of the 

hematopoietic ablative therapy administered before the transplant, drugs used to 

preven~ or treat graft-versus-host disease, and, in some cases, from the unde_rlying 

disease proces_s necessitating transplantation (35-37) . HCT invol~es ablation of the bone 

marrow followed by reimplantation of the person's own stem cells or stem cells from a 

donor. Antibody titers to vaccine-preventable diseases (e.g., tetanus, poliovirus, 

measles, mumps, rubella, and encapsulated bacteria) decrease 1-4 years after autologous 

or allogeneic HCT if the recipient is not revaccinated. HCT recipients of all ages are at 

increased risk for certain vaccine-preventable diseases, including diseases caused by 

encapsulated bacteria (i.e., pneumococcal, meningococcal, and Hib infections). As a 

result, HCT recipients who received vaccines prior to their HCT should be revaccinated 

routinely after HCT, regardless of the.source of the transplanted stem cells (35-37). 

Vaccination or revaccination doses ofpneumocciccal vaccines, DTaP vaccine, Hib 

vaccine, hepatitis A vaccine, hepatitis B vaccine, meningococcal vaccines, IPV, 

inactivated influenza.vaccines, and human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccines (for 

individuals aged 9-26 years) are recommended after HCT (1,35). Varicella, zoster, and 

MMR vaccines may be administered after HCT if 24 months have passed since HCT, the 

patient does NOT have graft-vs-host disease, and is considered immunocompetent. 

Yellow fever vaccine, rabies vaccine, tick-borne encephalitis vaccine, and Japanese 

encephalitis vaccine are not routinely administered vaccines, so their use post-HCT will 

be-driven by a disease-specific risk such as exposure or travel. If someone has received 

yellow fever vaccine prior to an HCT, another dose should be administered post-HCT 

(38). BCG, LAIV, typhoid vaccine, and rotavirus vaccine are not recommended after 

HCT. Most inactivated vaccines should be initiated 6 months after the HCT (;37). 

Inactivated influenza vaccine should be administered beginning at least 6 months after 

HCT and annually thereafter for the life of the patient. A dose of inactivated influenza 

vaccine can be given as early as 4 months after HCT, but a second dose should be 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Alt ered lmmunocompetence 128 



considered in this situation (37) . A second dose is recommended routinely for all 

children-younger than 9 years receiving influenza vaccine for the first time. Sequential 

administration of 3 doses of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine is recommended, 

beginning 3-6 months after the transplant, followed by a dose of PPSV23 (35) . Some 

sources state a 4-week interval between these doses as reasonable with the dose of 

PPSV23 being replaced by a dose of PCV13 in the context of graft-versus-host disease 

(35). Others sources support 3 doses of PCV13 at 8-week intervals, with a dose of 

PPSV23 recommended 8 weeks after the last dose of PCV13 and 12 months after the 

HCT (1) . A 3-dose regimen of Hib vaccine should be administered beginning 6 months 

after t ransplant; at least 1 month should separate the doses (37). This series should be 

given regardless of whether or not vaccine doses were administered prior to the HCT. 

The revaccination schedule for pertussis-containing vaccines includes 3 doses of DTaP 

for patients <7 years (14). For patients ?.7 years, providers have 3 options for 

revaccination: 1) 3 doses of DTaP; 2) one dose of Tdap and 2 doses of DT; or 3) one dose 

ofTdap and 2 doses of Td (16). 

Providers need to malce a clinical judgment whether they will follow the revaccination 

schedule described above, even if doses were not administered prior to the HCT. There 

are specific recommendations for Hib and pertussis-containing vaccines. Use of the 3

dose Hib schedule following HCT is supported for botli patients that received Hib prior 

to HCT and those who did not receive Hib prior to HCT (6,11). For child.re~ >6 years 

who did not receive previous doses of pertussis-containing vaccine prior _to the HCT, the 

preferred schedule following a dose of HCT is a dose ofTdap followed by 2 doses of Td 

(personal communication, subject matter experts). This is ~dentical to one of the 

alternative regimens for revaccination doses, described above. 

Conditions or Drugs that Might Cause Immunodeficiencies 

Asplenia and use of corticosteroids or certain drugs have the potential to be 

immunosuppressive and are presumed to cause some degree of altered 

immunocompetence. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Altered lmmunocompetence 129 

http:child.re


Anatomic or Functional Asplenia 

Persons with anatomic asplenia (e.g., surgical removal or congenital absence of the 

spleen) or functional asplenia (as occurs in persons with sickle cell disease) are at 

increased.risk for infection by encapsulated bacteria, especially S. pneumoniae 

(pneumococcus), N. meningitidis (meningococcus), and Hib (zB,39) . Children should 

receive an age-appropriate series of PCV13. Unvaccinated children 2-5 years should 

receive 2 doses of PCV13. Children :2:6 years should receive a dose of PCV13 if they have 

not previously received a dose of PCV13. Persons aged 2:2 years should receive 2 doses of 

PPSV23 separated by 5 years, beginning 8 or more weeks after completing all 
., 

recommended doses of PCV13 (6,7,40,41). In circumstances where both PCV13 and 

PPSV23 are indicated, doses of PCV13 should be administered first followed by PPSV23 

8 weeks after the last dose of PCV13. 

Meningococcal conjugate (MenACWY) and serogroup B (MenB) vaccines are 

recommended ·for persons with anat omic or functional asplenia (including sickle cell 

disease). For children 2-23 months of age, a series of MenACWY-CRM (Menveo) or Hib

MenCY (MenHibrix) should be administered. For persons 2:2 years of age, a 2-dose 

primary series of either MenACWY-CRM or MenACWY-D (Menactra) should be 

administered. If a person with functional or anatomic asplenia is catching up on 

pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV13), and the provider only carries MenACWY-D, 

indicated doses of PCV13 should be completed first and MenACWY-D should be given 4 

weeks after the PCV13 series is completed. Following the primary series of vaccine, a 3

year interval to the next dose is recommended for asplenic children who received their 

last previous dose at age younger than 7 years. A 5-year interval for asplenic persons is 

recommended for persons who r eceived their last previous dose at age 7 years or older. 

Meningococcal B (MenB) vaccine should be administered as either a 2-dose series of 

MenB-4C (Bexsero) or a 3-dose series of MenB-FHbp (Trumenba) . The same vaccine 

product must be used for all doses. Based on available data and expert opinion, MenB

4C or MenB-FHbp may be administered concomitantly with MenACWY vaccines, but at 

a different anatomic site, if feasible. There are presently no recommendations for 

booster doses of either MenB vaccine. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Altered lmmunocompetence 130 



Rib vaccine is recommended routinely for all children through age 59 months. Children 

12-59 months with functional or anatomic asplenia and who are unvaccinated or who 

received only one dose of Rib disease before 12 months of age should receive 2 doses of 

Rib vaccin e; those who received 2 or more doses of Rib before 12 months of age should 

receive one additional dose. UnimmunizedCa) asplenic patients older than 59 months of 

age should receive one dose of Rib vaccine. Anyone ~15 months,of age who is 

undergoing a splenectomy and is unimmunizedCa) should receive one dose of Hib 

vaccme. 

Pneumococcal, meningococcal, and Hib vaccinations should be administered at least 14 

days before elective splenectomy, if possible. If the vaccinations are not administered 

before surgery, they should be administered after the procedure as.soon as the patient's 

condition is stable. 

Corticosteroids 

The amount of systemically absorbed corticosteroids and the duration of administration 

needed to suppress the immune system of an otherwise immunocompetent person are 

not well defined. Although the immunosuppressive effects of steroid treatment vary, the 

majority of clinicians consider a dose equivalent to either ~ 2 mg/kg ofbody weight or 

~ 20 mg/day ofprednisone or equivalent for persons who weigh >10 kg when 

administered for ~14 consecutive days as sufficiently immunosuppressive to raise 

concern about the safety ofvaccination with live-virus vaccines (37) . This dosage is 

referred to as "high-dose corticosteroids". Corticosteroids used in greater than 

physiologic doses also can reduce the immune response to vaccines. Vaccination 

providers should defer live~virus vaccination for at least 1 month after discontinuation 

of high-dose systemically absorbed corticosteroid therapy administered for ~14 days. 

Following vaccination, the decision needs to be made when to restart 

immunosuppressive therapy. There are no specific recommendations about when to 

restart immunosuppressive medicines. However, when initiating immunosuppressive 

therapy, providers should wait 4 weeks after a live vaccine and 2 weeks after an 

inactivated vaccine. However, if patients require therapy for chronic inflammatory 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 131 



conditions, this therapy should not be delayed because of past administration of 

vaccines (1). 

Corticosteroid therapy usually is not a contraindication to administering live-virus 

vaccine when administration is 1) short term (i.e., <14 days); 2) a low to moderate dose 

(i.e., <20 mg of prednisone or equivalent per day or <2mg/kg body weight per day for a 

young child); 3) long-term, alternate-day treatment with short-acting preparations; 4) 

maintenance physiologic doses (replacement therapy); or 5) topical (skin or eyes), 

inhaled, o~ by intra-articular, bursal, or tendon injection (37). No evidence of an 

increased risk for more severe reactions to live, attenuated viral vaccines has been 

reported among persons receiving corticosteroid therapy by aerosol, and such therapy is 

not a reason to delay vaccination. 

Other Immunosuppressive Drugs 

When feasible, clinicians should administer all indicated vaccines before initiation of 

chemotherapy, before treatment with other immunosuppressive drugs, and before 

radiation or splenectomy. Persons receiving chemotherapy or radiation for leukemia 

and other hematopoietic malignancies, or for solid tumors, should be assumed to have 

altered immunocompetence. Live, attenuated vaccines should not be administered for at 

least 3 months after such immunosuppressive therapy. Inactivated vaccines 

administered during chemotherapy should b e readministered after immune competence 

is regained. Children vaccinated before receiving chemotherapy for leukemia, 

lymphoma, other malignancies, or radiation generally are thought to retain immune 

memory after treatment, although revaccination with the common childhood vaccines 

after chemotherapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia might be indicated (42). In 

general, revaccination of a person after chemotherapy or radiation therapy is considered 

unnecessary if the previous vaccination occurred before therapy and not du~ing therapy, 

with the exception of recipients of HCT, who should be revaccinated as recommended 

previously. Determination of the level of immune memory and the need for 

revaccination should be made by the treating physician. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 132 



Certain immunosuppressive medications are administered to prevent solid organ 

transplant rejection. Live vaccines should be withheld for 2 months following 

discontinuation of anti-rejection therapies in patients with a solid organ transplant. 

Zoster vaccine should be withheld one month following discontinuation of anti-rejection 

therapies (34) . 

Other immunosuppressive medications include human immune mediators like 

interleukins and colony-stimulating factors, immune modulators, and medicines like 

tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitors and anti-B cell antibodies. Inactivated and live 

vaccines should be administered 2 or more weeks before initiating such therapies. Live 

vaccines should be withheld 3 months fo~lowing such therapies, and both inactivated 

and live vaccines should be withheld at least 6 months following therapy with anti-B cell 

antibodies. Some experts recommend longer than 6 months following anti-B cell 

antibodies. Anti-B cell antibodies suppress antibody-producing cells for a prolonged 

duration, hence the longer interval recommended before administering vaccines (17) . 

Zoster vaccine is an exception and should be withheld 1 month following anti-B cell 

antibodies. 

<•i Patients who have not received a primary series and booster dose or at least 1 dose of Hib vaccine after 14 months of age are 

considered unimmunized. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 133 



TABLE 8-1. Vaccination ofpersons with primary and secondary 
immunodeficiencies 
Primary Effectiveness 

immunodeficiency 
Specific Contraindicated Risk-specific 

vaccinesCa) and comments 
vaccinesCa) 

B

recomm~nded 

OPVCb)Severe antibody Rib ( children The 

lymphocyte 
 SmallpoxCc) effectiveness 

(humoral) 


deficiencies (e.g., 12-59 months 
of age)Cd).LAIV of any vaccin e 

agammaglobuline 
X-linked 

ECG is uncertain if 
mia and common Ty21a (live it depends 
variable only on the 
immunodeficiency 

typhoid) 
Yellow fever humoral 

) response (e.g., 
MMRV 
MMR 

PPSV23or 
MPSV4) 

IGIV 
interferes with 
the immune 
response to 
measles 
vaccine and 
possibly 
varicella 
vaccine 

Less severe OPVCb) All vaccines 
antibody 

Pneumococcal 
likely 

deficiencies (e.g., 
BCG Rib ( children 
Yellow feverCe) effective; 

selective IgA 
12-59 months 
of age)Cd) immune 

deficiency and IgG 
Other live 
vaccines appear response 

subclass to be safe might be 
deficiency) attenuated 

T- Complete defects Pneumococcal Vaccines likely 
lymphocyte 

All live 
vaccinesCf),(g),Ch)(e.g., SCID disease, Rib (children to be effective 

(cell complete 12-59 months 
mediated of age)Cd) 
and 

DiGeorge 

syndrome) 


humoral) Partial defects All live Pneumococcal Effectiveness 
(e.g., most patients vaccinesCf),Cg),Ch) of any vaccine 
with DiGeorge 

Meningococca 
depends on 

syndrome, 
1 

degree of 
Wiskott-Aldrich 

Rib ( children 
immune 

syndrome, ataxia
12-59 months 
of age)Cd) suppression 

telangiectasia) 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompet ence 134 



All live bacterial None 
gamma/ 
Interferon-

vaccines 

Interleukin 12 axis 
 (All live 

deficiencies 
 vaccmes 

contraindicated 
in Interferon-
gamma or 
interferon-alpha 
deficiencies) 

All routinePneumococcal 
vaccines likely 

NonePersistentComplemen 
Meningococca 

prop erdin, or 
t complement, 

effective 
factor B deficiency; 

1 
Rib ( children 

or taking 12-59 months 
eculizumab of age)Cd) 
(Soliris) 

Live viral Live bacterial None 
vaccines likely 

ChronicPh agocytic 
vaccinesCf) 


disease 

granulomatousfunction 

safe and 
effective 

All inactivated 
deficiencies that 

Pneumococcal MMRPhagocytic 
vaccines safe 

are undefined or 
MMRV 

and likely 
accompanied by 

Varicella 
OPVCb) effective 

defects in T-cell Smallpox 

andNKcell 
 BCG 

dysfunction (such 
 LAIV 

Ty21a 

Higashi syndrome, 

as a Chediak-

Yellow Fever 

Leukocyte 
 an d bacterial 

Adhesion 
 vaccines(f),Cg) 

Deficiency [LAD], 

and 

myeloperoxidase 

deficienc}'.") 


General Best Practice Guide lines for Immunization : Alt ered lmmunocompetence 135 



Secondary RN/AIDS OPVCb) Pneumococcal MMRand 
Smallpox HibC<l), <i) Varicella 
ECG HepB vaccme m 
LAN those with 
MMRV mild 

immunosuppr 
Withhold MMR, ess10n, 
varkella, and rotavirus, and 
zoster in all inactivated 
severely vaccines, 
immunocompro including 
mised persons inactivated 

influenza as 
Yell ow fever per routine 
vaccine might vaccination 
have a schedule, 
contraindication might be 
or a precaution · effectiveCk) 

depending on 
clinical 
parameters of 
nnmune 
functionCi) 

Generalized Live viral and Pneumococcal Effectiveness 
malignant bacterial, HibCm) of any vaccine 
neoplasm, depending on depends on 
transplantation, immune ' degree of . .
immunosuppressiv statusCfJ,(g),Cl) immune 
e or radiation suppress10n 
therapy 
Asplenia LAN Pneumococcal All routine 

Meningococca vaccines likely 
l effective 

' HibCd),Cn) 

Chronic renal LAN Pneumococcal All routine 
disease HepBC0) vaccines likely 

effective 
Abbreviations: AIDS = acquired immunodeficiency syndrome; BCG = bacille Calmette-Guerin; HepB = hepatitis 
B; Rib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b; HIV = human immunodeficiency virus; IG = immunoglobulin; IGIV = 
immune globulin intravenous; lg/} = immune globulin A; IgG = immune glob ulin G; LAIV = live, attenuated 
influenza vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella; MPSV 4 
= quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; OPV = oral poliovirus vaccine Oive); PPSV23= 
pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; SCID = severe combined immunodeficiency; Ty21a = live oral typhoid 
vaccine. 

Source: (43). 

<•> Other vaccines that are universally or routinely recommended should be given if not contraindicated. An 
exception is patients with B-cell deficiencies receiving immunoglobulins, who should not receive either Jive or 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 136 



inactivated vaccines, due to safety Oive vaccines) and efficacy Oive and inactivated vaccines) concerns. 
Cb) OPV is no longer available in the United States. 

Cc) This table refers to contraindications for nonemergency vaccination (i.e., the ACIP recommendations); 
emergency response recommendations are addressed in the clinical guidance for smallpox vaccine use in an 
emergency. 

Cd) Children 12-59 months: ifunimmunized or received zero or only 1 dose, and that dose was administered befor e 
12 months of age, should receive 2 Hib doses, 8 weeks apart; if received 2 or more doses before age 12 months, and 
none after 12 months, should receive 1 Hib dose 8 weeks after the last dose; if completed a primary series and 
received a booster dose at age 12 months or older, no additional Hib doses are recommended. 

Ce) There are no data to suppmt IgA deficiency as a contraindication for yellow fever vaccine. 

CO Live bacterial vaccines: BCG and oral Ty21a Salmonella Typhi vaccine. 

(g) Live viral vaccines: MMR, MMRV, OPV, LAIV, yellow fever, zoster, rotavirus, varicella, and vaccinia (smallpox). 
Nonemergency smallpox vaccination is not recommended for children younger than 18 years or the general public. 

Ch) Regarding T-lymphocyte immunodeficiency as a contraindication for rotavirus vaccine, data exist only for SCID. 

Ci) Symptomatic HIV infection or CD4 + T-lymphocyte count of <200/mmJ or <15% of total lymphocytes for 
children aged <6 years is a contraindication to yellow fever vaccine administration. Asymptomatic HIV infection 
with CD4+ T-lymphocyte count of 200-499/mmJ for persons aged ~6 years or 15%-24% oftotal lymphocytes for 
children aged <6 years is a precaution for yellow fever vaccine administration. Details ofyellow fever vaccine 
recommendations are available from CDC (44) 

Ci) Patients 5-18 years ofage who have not received a Hib primary series and a booster dose or at least one Hib dose 
after 14 months ofage. 

Ck) HIV-infected children should be considered for varicella vaccine if CD4+ T-lymphocyte count is ~15% and 
should receive MMR vaccine if they are aged ~12 months and do not have 1) evidence of current severe 
immunosuppression (i.e., individuals aged s5 years must have CD4+ T lymphocyte [CD4] percentages ~15% for ~6 
months; and individuals aged >5 years must have CD4+percentages ~15% and CD4+~200 lymphocytes/ mmJ for 
~6 months) and 2) other current evidence of measles, rubella, and mumps immu nity. In cases when only CD4+ cell 
counts or only CD4+percentages are available for those older than age 5 years, the assessment ofsevere 
irnmunostippression can be based on the CD4+values (count or percentage) that are available. In cases when 
CD4+percentages are not available for those aged s 5 years, the assessment ofsevere immunosuppression can be 
based on age-specific CD4+counts at the time CD4+counts were measured; i.e., absence ofsevere 
immunosuppression is defined as ~6 months above age-specific CD4 +count criteria: CD4+count >750 
lymphocytes/mmJ while aged s 12 months and CD4+count ~500 lymphocytes/mmJ while aged 1 through 5 years 
(33). 

O)Withholding inactivated vaccines also is recommended with some forms ofimmunosuppressive therapy, like 
anti-CD20 antibodies, induction or consolidation chemotherapy, or patients with major antibody deficiencies 
receiving immunoglobulins. Inactivated influenza vaccine is an exception, but consideration should be given to 
repeating doses of any inactivated vaccine administered during these therapies. 

Cm) Persons younger than 60 months undergoing chemotherapy or radiation therapy who have not received a H ib 
primary series and a booster dose or at least one Hib dose after 14 months of age; HCT patients of any ages, 
regardless ofHib vaccine his tory. 

Cn) Persons older than 59 months who are asplenic and persons 15 months or older who are undergoing elective 
splenectomy who have not received a Hib primary series and a booster dose or at least one Hib dose after 14 
months ofage. 

Col Indicated based on the risk from dialysis-based bloodborne transmission. 

r 

137Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Alt ered lmmuriocompetence 



REFERENCES 
1. 	 Rubin L, Levin M, Ljungman P, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for 

vaccination of the immunocompromised host. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58(3) :e44

100. DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit684 

2. 	 Kim DK, Bridges CB, Harriman KH. Advisory committee on immunization 

practices recommended immunization schedule for adults aged 19 years or 

older-United States, 2015. MMWRMorb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(4):91-92. 

3. 	 Grohskopf LA, Olsen SJ, Sokolow LZ, et al. Prevention and control of seasonal 

influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP)-United States, 2014-15 influenza season. 

MMWRMorbMortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(32):691-697. 

4. 	 Markert ML, Hummell DS, Rosenblatt HM, et al. Complete DiGeorge syndrome: 
f 

persistence of profound immunodeficiency. J Pediatr. 1998;132(1) :15-21. DOI: 

10.1016/Soo22-3476(98)70478-o 

5. 	 J effrey Modell Foundation Medical Advisory Board. 10 warning signs of primary 

immunodeficiency [Poster]. 2009; http://www.info4pi.org/library/educational

materials/10-warning-signs. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 

6. 	 Strikas RA. Advisory committee on immunization practices recommended 

immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 years-United States, 

2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(4):93-94. 

7. 	 Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. 

Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

8. 	 Cohn AC, MacNeil JR, Clark TA, et al. Prevention and control of meningococcal 

disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. ~013;62(RR-2) :1-28. 

9. 	 Folaranmi T, Rubin L, Martin SW, Patel M, MacNeil JR. Use of serogroup B 

meningococcal vaccines in persons aged > / =10 years at increased risk for 

serogroup B meningococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

2015;64(22): 608-612. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 138 

http://www.info4pi.org/library/educational


10. MacNeil JR, Rubin L, Folaranmi T, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Patel M, Martin SW. Use 

of serogroup B meningococcal vaccines in adolescents and young adults: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, 2015. 

MMWRMorbMortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(41):1171-1176. DOI: 

10.15585/mmwr.mm6441a3 

11. 	Briere EC, Rubin L, Moro PL, Cohn A, Clark T, Messonnier N. Prevention and 

control ofHaemophilus influenzae type b disease: recommendations of the 

advisory committee on immunization practices (ACIP). MMliVR Recomm Rep. 

2014;63(RR-1) :1-14. 

12. Petersen BW, Harms TJ, Reynolds MG, Harrison LH. Use ofvaccinia virus 

smallpox vaccine in laboratory and health care personnel at risk for occupational 

exposure to orthopoxviruses - recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP), 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal W!cly Rep. 

2016;65(10) :257-262. DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.mm651oa2 

13. Petersen BW, Damon IK, Pertowski CA, et al. Clinical guidance for smallpox 

vaccine use in a postevent vaccination program. MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2015;64(RR-2):1-26. 

14. Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

15. Grossberg R, Harpaz R, Rubtcova E, LoparevV, Seward JF, Schmid DS. 

Secondary transmission ofvaricella vaccine virus in a chronic care facility for 

children. J Pediatr. 2006;148(6):842-844. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.01.038 

16. Cortese MM, Parashar UD. Prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants 

-and children: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2009;58(RR-2):1-25. 

17. Anderson EJ. Rotavirus vaccines: viral shedding and risk of transmission. Lancet 

Infect Dis. 2008;8(10):642-649. DOI: 10.1016/s1473-3099(08)70231-7 

18. Sixb_ey JW. Routine immunizations and the immunosuppressed child. Adv 

Pediatr Infect Dis. 1987;2:79-114. 

General Best Practice Gui~elines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 139 



19. Wright PF, Hatch.MR, Kasselberg AG, Lowry SP, Wadlington WB, Karzon DT. 


Vaccine-associated poliomyelitis in a child with sex-linked agammaglobulinemia. 


J Pediatr. 1977;91(3):408-412. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(77)81309-7 


20.Wyatt HV. Poliomyelitis in hypogammaglobulinemics. J Infect Dis. 


1973;128(6):802-806. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/128.6.802 


21. Davis LE, Bodian D, Price D, Butler IJ, Vickers JH. Chronic progressive 


poliomyelitis secondary to vaccination of an immunodeficient child. N Engl J 


Med. 1977;297(5):241-245. DOI: 10.1056/nejm197708042970503 


22. CDC. DisseminatedMycobacterium bovis infection from BCG vaccination of a 

patient with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly 

Rep. 1985;34(16):227-:228. 

23. Ninane J, Grymonprez A, Burtonboy G, Francois A, .Corn-q. G. Disseminated BCG 

in HIV infection. Arch Dis Child. 1988;63(10):1268-1269. DOI: 

10.1136/adc.63.10.1268 

24.Redfield RR, Wright DC, James WD, Jones TS, Brown C, Burke DS. 

Disseminated vaccinia in a military recruit with human immunodeficiency virus 

(HIV) disease. N Engl J Med. 1987;316(11):673-676. DOI: 

10.1056/nejm198703123161106 

25. CDC. Measles pneumonitis following measles-mumps-rubella vaccination of a 

patient with HIV infection, 1993. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

1996;45(28):603-606. 

26. Cono J, Casey CG, Bell DM. Smallpox vaccination and adverse reactions. 

Guidance for clinicians. MMWRRecomm Rep. 2003;52(RR-4):1-28. 

27. DerryckA, LaRussa P, Steinberg S, Capasso M, Pitt J, Gershon AA. Varicella and 

zoster in children with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Pediatr Infect r 

Dis J. 1998;17(10):931-933. DOI: 10.1097/00006454-199810000-00023 

28.Levin MJ, Gershon AA, Weinberg A, Song LY, Fentin T, Nowak B. Administration 

oflive varicella vaccine to HIV-infected children with current or past significant 

depression of CD4(+) T cells. J Infect Dis. 2006;194(2) :247-255. DOI: 

10.1086/505149 

140Genera l Best Practice Guidel ines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 

http:Hatch.MR


29.Sprauer MA, Markowitz LE, Nicholson JK, et al. Response of human 

immunodeficiency virus-infected adults to measles-rubella vaccination. J Acquir 

Immune De.fie Syndr. 1993;6(9):1013-1016. 

30.McLaughlin M, Thomas P, Onorato I, et al. Live virus vaccines in human 

immunodeficiencyviru_s-infected children: a retrospectiv:e survey. Pediatrics. 

1988;82(2):22.9-233. 

31. Onorato IM, Markowitz LE, Oxtoby MJ.·Childhood immunization, vaccine

preventable diseases and infection with human immunodeficiency virus. Pediatr 

Infect Dis J. 1988;7(8):588-595. 

32. Palumbo P, Hoyt L, Demasio K, Oleske J, Connor E. Population-based study of 

measles and measles immunization in human immunodeficiency virus-infected 

children. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1992;11(12):1008-1014. 

33.McLean HQ, Fiebelkorn AP, Temte JL, Wallace GS. Prevention of m_easles, 

rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-4):1-34. 

34. Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32-34. 

35. Tamblyn M, Chiller T, Einsele H, et al. Guidelines for preventing infectious 

co~plications among hematopoietic cell transplantation recipients: a global 

perspective, #iol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2009;15(10):1143-1238 . DOI: 

10.1016/j.bbmt.2009.06.019 

36. Ljungman P, Cordonnier C, Einsele H, et al. Vaccination ofhematopoietic cell 

transplant recipients. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2009;44(8):521-526. DOI: 

10.1038/bmt.2009.263 

37. American Academy of Pediatrics. Immunization in special clinical circumstances. 

In: Pickering L, Baker C, Kimberlin D, .Long S, eds. Red Book: 2009 Report ofthe 

Committee on Infectious Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American 

Academy of Pediatrics; 2009. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 141 



38.Staples JE, Bocchini JA, Jr., Rubin L, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine booster 

doses: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, 

2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(23) :647-650. 

39. CDC. Haemophilus b conjugate vaccines for prevention of Haemophilus 

infl.uenzae type b disease among infants and children two months of age and 

older. Recommendations of the Immunization Practices Advisory Committee 

(ACIP) . MM'WR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-1):1-7. 

40.CDC. Prevention ofpneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Adviso1y 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMliVR Recomm Rep. 

1997;46(RR-8):1-24. 

41. Nuorti JP, Whitney CG. Prevention of pneumococcal disease among infants and 

children - use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent 

pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine - recommendations of the Adviso1y 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2010;59(RR-11) :1-18. 

42.Brodtman DH, Rosenthal DW, Redner A, Lanzkowsky P, Bonagura VR. 

Immunodeficiency in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia after 

completion of modern aggressive chemotherapeutic regimens. J Pediatr. 

2005;146(5):654-661. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.12.043 

43.American Academy of Pediatrics. Passive immunization. In: Pickering L, Baker C, 

Kimberlin D, Long S, eds. Red Boole: 2012 Report ofthe Committee on Infectious 

Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2012. 

44. Staples JE, Gershman M, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine: recommendations of 

the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm 

Rep. 2010;59(RR-7):1-27. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 142 



9. Special Situations 

Updates 

Major revisions to this section of the best practices guidance include the timing of 

intramuscular administration and the timing of clotting factor deficiency replacement. 

Concurrent Administration ofAntimicrobial Agents and Vaccines 

With a few exceptions, use of an antimicrobial agent does not interfere with the 

effectiveness ofvaccination. Antibacterial agents have no effect on inactivated, 

recombinant subunit, or polysaccharide vaccines or toxoids. They also have no effect on 

response to live, attenuated vaccines, except live oral Ty21a typhoid and BCG vaccines. 

Ty21a typhoid vaccine should not be administered to persons receiving antimicrobial 

agents until 72 hours after the last dose of antimicrobial (1). Iffeasible, to avoid a · 

possible reduction in vaccine effectiveness, antibacterial drugs should not be started or 

resumed until 1 week after the last dose of Ty21a. Antimicrobial or immunosuppressive 

agents may interfere with the immune response to BCG and should only be used under 

medical supervision (for additional information, see 

. http: //www.merck.com/product/usa/pi circulars/b/bcg/bcg pi.pdf). 

Antiviral drugs used for treatment or prophylaxis of influenza virus infections have no 

effect on the response to inactivated influenza vaccine (2). However, live, attenuated 

influenza vaccine should not be administered until 48 hours after cessation of therapy 

with antiviral influenza drugs. If feasible, to avoid possible reduction in vaccine 

effectiveness, antiviral medication should not be administered for 14 days after LAN 

administration (g). If influenza antiviral medications are administered within 2 weeks 

after receipt of LAN, the LAIV dose should be repeated 48 or more hours after the last 

dose of antiviral medication. Alternatively, persons receiving antiviral drugs within the 

period 2 days before to 14 days after vaccination with LAN may be revaccinated with 

another approved vaccine formulation (e.g., IIV or recombinant influenza vaccine). 

Antiviral drugs active against herpesviruses (e.g., acyclovir or valacyclovir) might reduce 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Specia l Situations 143 

http://www.merck.com/product/usa/pi


the efficacy ofvaccines containing live, attenuated varice11a zoster virus (i.e., Varivax, 

ProQuad, and Zostavax) (3,4). These drugs should be discontinued at least 24 hours 

before administration, if possible. If clinically appropriate, delay use or resumption of 

antiviral therapy for 14 days after vaccination. No data exist to suggest that commonly 

used antiviral drugs have an effect on rotavirus vaccine or MMR. 

Administration of Live Vaccines and Tuberculin Skin Tests 

(TSTs) and Interferon-gamma Release Assays (IGRAs) 

Measles illness, severe acute or chronic infections, HIV infection, and malnutrition can 

create a relatively an~rgic state during which the TST might have a false-negative 

reaction (5-7). Although live, attenuated measles vaccine theoretically can suppress TST 

reactivity, the degree of suppression is likely less than that occurring from acute 

infection from wild-type measles virus. Screening children for tuberculosis exposure is 

accomplished by medical history rather than TST t~sting; universal TST screening of all 

children is no longer recommended, though TST screening is sometimes indicated (e.g., 

for persons at increased risk for tuberculosis exposure based on medical history, or for 

employees for occupational health reasons) . 

In a general screening situation, a TST may be administered simultaneously with live 

vaccines, or should be deferred for 28 days after vaccination. The TST and measles

containing vaccine can be administered at the same'visit (this is the preferred option). 

Simultaneously administering the TST and measles-containing vaccine does not 

interfere with reading the TST result at 48-72 hours and ensures that the person has 

received measles vaccine. If the measles-containing vaccine has been administered 

recently, TST screening should be delayed for at least 4 weeks after vaccination. A delay 

'in performing the TST removes the concern of any theoretical transient suppression of 

TST reactivity. Some providers choose to perform TST screening and then delay the 

vaccine until the patient returns to have the TST read. This option is the least favored 

because it delays receipt of the measles-containing vaccine. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 144 



Because of similar concerns about smallpox vaccine and TST suppression, a TST should 

not be performed until 4 weeks after smallpox vaccination (8).No data exist regarding 

the potential degree of TST suppression that might be associated with othe~ live, 

attenuated virus vaccines (e.g., varicella or yellow fever) . However, in the absence of 

data, following guidelines for measles-containing vaccine when scheduling TST 

screening and administering other live, attenuated virus vaccines is prudent. If the 

opportunity to vaccinate might be missed, vaccination should not be delayed only 

because of these theoretical considerations. 

A test that is more specific for infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis than TST, the 

interferon-gamma release assay (IGRA), was licensed in 2005. The IGRA requires only a 

single visit to complete and is less sensitive to the effects of previous BCG vaccination 

(9) . The same timing guidelines that apply to the interval between a live vaccine and 

TST apply to IGRA (i.e ., 28 days between live vaccine and IGRA if they do not occur on 

the same day), because IGRA (like TST) might be suppressed through immunologic 

mechanisms. The potential for a previous TST to cause boosting of future TST results 

should be considered in adults who might have latent tuberculosis and have a negative 

initial TST (9). The 2-step test, in which the test is given twice in a short time frame, 

reduces the chance of these false negatives, which are important to identify among 

adults who may have had or plan to have repeat testing anyway-for example, health

care personnel who are tested yearly (9). Because this test consists of 2 TSTs (or a TST 

followed by IGRA) separated by an interval of 1-3 weeks, there is a greater window of 

time during which live vaccine replication could supptess reactivity. If a live vaccine is 

administered, the first dose of a 2-step TST should be delayed for 4 weeks, and if 

additional doses oflive v~ccines are indicated thereafter, they should be delayed until 

the second TST (or the IGRA after an initial TST). 

TST or IGRA reactivity in the absence of active tuberculosis is not a contraindication to 

administration of any vaccine, including live, attenuated virus vaccines. 

Note that TST screening of an asymptomatic individual is clinically different than 

testing a person suspected to have active tuberculosis. If a person is suspected to have 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Specia l Sit uations 145 



active tuberculosis, MMR vaccine is typically not administered. Active tuberculosis 

should be considered severe acute illness, and moderate or severe acute illness is a 

precaution for vaccination. 

Although no studies have reported ori the effects ofMMR vaccine on persons with active 

untreated tuberculosis, a theoretical basis exists for concern that measles vaccine might 

exacerbate active tuberculosis (10). As a result, before administering MMR to persons 

with untreated active tuberculosis, initiating antjtuberculosis therapy is advisable (10). · 

Considering whether concurrent immunosuppres~ion (e.g., immunosuppression caused 

by HIV infection) is present before administering live, attenuated vaccines also is 

necessa1y, because immunosuppression is a contraindication to MMR vaccine. 

Vaccination of Preterm Infants 

In the majority of cases, preterm infants (infants born before 37 weeks' gestation), 

regardless ofbirth weight, should be vaccinated at the same chronological age and 

according to the same schedule and using the same precautions as for full-term infants 

and children. Birth weight and size are not factors in deciding whether to vaccinate a 

clinically stable preterm infant (11-15), except for hepatitis Bvaccination. The full 

recommended dose of each vaccine should be used. Divided or reduced··doses are not 

recommended. 

Decreased seroconversion rates might occur among certain preterm infants (i.e., those 

with low birth weights [<2,000 g]) after administration ofhepatitis B vaccine at birth 

(16). However, by the chronological age of 1 month, all preterm infants, regardless of 

initial birth weight, are likely to respond as adequately as larger infants (17-19). Infants 

-w:eighing <2,000 g born to HBsAg-negative mothers should receive the first dose of the 

hepatitis Bvaccine series at chronological age 1 month or hospital discharge, if hospital 

discharge occurs when the infant is younger than one month of age. Preterm low-birth

weight- infants born to HBsAg-positive mothers should receive immunoprophylaxis 

with hepatitis B vaccine within 12 hours after birth. The initial vaccine dose should not 

be counted toward completion of the hepatitis Bseries, and 3 additional doses of 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 146 



hepatitis B vaccine should be administered, beginning when the infant is aged 1 month. 

For mothers with unlmown HBsAg status, hepatitis B vaccine is recommended within 12 

hours of birth regardless of low-birth-weight status. 

In addition to hepatitis B vaccines, hepatitis B Immunoglobulin (HBIG) is 

recommended for infants whose mothers are HBsAg positive or unlmown. If the mother 

is HBsAg positive, HBI G must be given within 12 hours ofbirth. If the mother's HBsAg 

status is unlmown, providers should first attempt to determine the mother's status. 

Regardless, if the infant is preterm or low birth weight, HBIG must be given within 12 

hours of birth. If the infant is neither preterm nor low birth weight, providers have up to 

7 days from birth to determine if the mother is HBsAg negative; because the protective 

efficacy of HBIG declines the longer that administration is delayed, if results are 

unlikely to be lmown by day 7 of life, HBIG should be given no later than day 7 if not 

earlier . If the mother is determined to be HBsAg positive, HBIG should be administered 

as soon· as possible (20). 

/ 

Ifa child aged at least 6 weeks has been in the hospital since birth, deferral of rotavirus 

vaccine is recommended until the time of discharg·e. Ifan infant were to be vaccinated 

with rotavirus vaccine while still needing care in the NICU or nursery, at least a 

theoretic risk exists for vaccine virus being transmitted to infants in the same unit who 

are acutely ill and to preterm infants who are not age-eligible for vaccine (21) . The 

rotavirus vaccine series should not be initiated for infants aged ~15 weeks, o days. 

Breastfeeding and Vaccination 

With 2 exceptions, neither inactivated rror live-virus vaccines administered to a lactating 

woman affect the safety ofbreastfeeding for women or their infants. Although live 

viruses in vaccines can replicate in the mother, the majority oflive viruses in vaccines 

have been demonstrated not to be excreted in human milk. Varicella vaccine virus has 

not been found in human milk (22) . Although rubella vaccine virus has been excreted in 

human milk, the virus usually does not infect the infant. If infection does occur, it is well 

tolerated because the virus is attenuated (23) . Inactivated, recombinant, subunit, 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Specia l Situations 147 



polysaccharide, and conjugate vaccines, as well as toxoids, pose no risk for mothers who 

are breastfeeding or for their infants. Breastfeeding is a contraindication for smallpox 

vaccination of the mother because of the theoretical risk for con tad: transmission from 

mother to infant. Yellow fever vaccine should be avoided in breastfeeding women, · 

because 2 cases (one confirmed, one probable) of yellow-fever vaccine associated acute 

neurotropic disease (YEL-AND) have been detected in infants whose mothers were 

vaccinated but were not vaccinated themselves. In both infants, vaccine virus was 

recovered from the cerebrospinal fluid of the infant, but the exact mode of transmission 

was not precisely determined because vaccine virus was not recovered from breast milk 

(24). However, when nursing mothers cannot avoid or postpone travel to areas endemic 

for yellow fever in which risk for acquisition is high, these women should be vaccinated. 

Limited data indicate that breastfeeding can enhance the response to certain vaccine 

antigens (25). There are no data to suggest that passive transfer of antibodies in human 

milk can affect the efficacy oflive-virus vaccines. Breastfed infants should be vaccinated 

according to the recommended schedule (26-28). 

Vaccination During Pregnancy 

No evidence exists of risk to the fetus from vaccinating pregnant women with 

inactivated virus or bacterial vaccines or toxoids (29,30). In spite of the lack of evidence 

of risk, HPV vaccine, an inactivated vaccine, is not recommended during pregnancy. 

Live vaccines administered to a pregnant woman pose a theoretical risk to the fetus; 

therefore, live, attenuated virus and live bacterial vaccines generally are contraindicated 

during pregnancy. Women should avoid conception for 4 weeks after vaccination with 

live vaccines. However, benefits of vaccinating pregnant women usually outweigh 

potential risks when the likelihood of disease exposure is high, when infection would 

pose a risk to the mother or fetus, and when the vaccine is unlikely to cause harm. 

Recommendations for vaccination during pregnancy are developed using ACIP's 

Guiding Principles for Development ofACIP Recommendations for Vaccination During 

Pregnancy and Breastfeeding (31). 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelin es for Immunization: Specia l Situations 148 



Women who are pregnant should receive a dose of Tdap for the prevention of infant 

pertussis whether or not they have previously received Tdap. Vaccination of the mother 

generates antibodies that pass transplacentally to the fetus (32). Vaccination in the third 

trimester optimizes the duration of this antibody protection until after birth. 

Additionally, preventing pertussis in the mother reduces the risk that the infant is 

exposed to pertussis after birth (33). Health care personnel should administer Tdap 

during pregnancy, preferably during the third trimester. If Tdap is not administered 

during pregnancy to women who have never received it, it should be administered 

immediately postpartum. Pregnant women who are not vaccinated or are only partially 

vaccinated against tetanus should complete the primary series (34). Women for whom 

Td is indicated but who did not complete the recommended 3-dose series during 

pregnancy should receive follow-up after delivery to ensure the series is completed. One 

dose of the tetanus vaccine series should be Tdap, if Tdap has not already been received. 

Pregnant and postpartum women are at higher risk for severe illness and complications 

from influenza than women who are not pregnant (2,35) . Pregnant women have 

protective levels of anti-influenza antibodies after vaccination (36,37) . Passive transfer of 

anti-influenza antibodies that might provide protection from vaccinated women to 

neonates has been reported (36,38-41). Routine vaccination with inactivated influenza 

vaccine is recommended for all women who are or will be pregnant (in any trimester) 

during influenza season. 

IPV can be administered to pregnant women who are at risk for exposure to wild-type 

poliovirus. This includes travelers to areas or countries where polio is epidemic or 

endemic; members of communities or specific population groups with disease caused by 

wild polioviruses; laboratory workers who handle specimens that might contain 

polioviruses; health-care personnel who have close contact with patients who might be 

excreting wild polioviruses; and unvaccinated persons whose children will be receiving 

oral poliovirus vaccine (42). Hepatitis A, pneumococcal polysaccharide, meningococcal 

conjugate, and meningococcal polysaccharide vaccines should be considered for women 

at increased risk for those infections (43-45) . Pregnant women who must travel to areas 

where there is a risk for acquiring yellow fever should receive yellow fever vaccine, 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelin es for Immunization: Specia l Situations 149 



because the limited theoretical risk from vaccination is outweighed substantially by the 

risk for yellow fever infection (24,46). Hepatitis B vaccine is not contraindicated in 

pregnancy and should be given to a pregnant woman for whom it is indicated (20,47). 

Pregnancy is a contraindication for smallpox (vaccinia) vaccine and measles-, mumps-, 

rubella-, and varicella-containing vaccines. Smallpox vaccine is the only vaccine known 

to harm a fetus when administered to a pregnant woman. In addition, smallpox vaccine 

should not be administered to a household contact of a pregnant woman ( 8). Women 

who are pregnant should not have close contact with anyone who has recently ( within 

the last 28 days) received the smallpox vaccine. Data from studies of chilc:lJ:en born to 

mothers inadvertently_vaccinated with rubella vaccine during pregnancy demonstrate 

rubella antibody in unvaccinated infants. This could represent passive transfer of 

maternal antibody or a fetal antibody response to vaccine virus infection in the fetus. No 

cases of congenital rubella _or varicella syndrome or abnormalities attributable to fetal 

infection have been observed among infants born to susceptible women who 

inadve1tently received rubella or varicella vaccines during pregnancy (48-50). Because 

of the importance of protecting women of childbearing age against rubella and varicella, 

reasonable practices in any vaccination program include asking women if they are 

pregnant or might become pregnant in the next 4 weeks; not vaccinating women who 

state that they are or plan to become pregnant within that interval; explaining the 

theoretical risk for the fetus if MMR, varicella, or MMRV vaccine were administered to a 

woman who is pregnant; and counseling women who are vaccinated not to become 

pregnant during the 4 weeks after MMR, varicella, or MMRV vaccination (10,48-51). 

MMRV is an unlikely option for a pregnant woman because the vaccine is only licensed 

through 12 years of age. Routine pregnancy testing of women of childbearing age before 

administering a live-virus vaccine is not recommended (3,1 o). If a pregnant woman is 

inadvertently vaccinated or becomes pregnant within 4 weeks after MMR or varicella 

vaccination, she should be counseled about the theoretical basis of concern for the fetus; 

however, MMR or varicella vaccination during pregnancy should not be considered a 

reason to terminate pregnancy (3,10,50) . 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunizat ion: Specia l Situations 150 



Persons who receive MMR vaccine do not transmit the vaccine viruses to contacts (1 o). 

Transmission ofvaricella vaccine virus to contacts is exceedingly rare (3) . MMR and 

varicella vaccines should be administered when indicated to children and other 

household contacts of pregnant women (1 o). Infants living in households with pregnant 

women should be vaccinated with rotavirus vaccine according to the same schedule as 

infants in households without pregnant women. 

Pregnant women should be evaluated for evidence of immunity to rubella and varicella 

and be tested for the presence of HBsAg during every pregnancy (10,20,52). Women 

without evidence of immunity to rubella and varicella should be vaccinated immediately 

after delivery. A second dose of varicella vaccine should be administered 4-8 weeks 

later. A woman found to be HBsAg positive should be followed-up carefully to ensure 

that the infant receives HBIG and begins the hepatitis B vaccine series no later than 12 

hours after birth and that the infant completes the recommended hepatitis B vaccine 

series on schedule (20). No lmown risk exists for the fetus from passive immunization of 

preg·nant women with immune globulin preparations. 

Persons Vaccinated Outside the United States 

Clinicians have a limited ability to determine whether persons are protected on the basis 

of their country of origin and their vaccination records alone. Vaccines administered 

outside the United States generally can be accepted as valid if the schedule (i.e., 

minimum ages and intervals) is similar to that recommended in the United States. With 

the exception of influenza vaccine, only wTitten documentation should be accepted as 

evidence of previous vaccination. Written records are more likely to predict protection if 

the vaccines, dates of administration, intervals between doses, and age at the time of 

vaccination are comparable to U.S. recommendations. Although vaccines with 

inadequate potency have been produced in other countries (53,54), the majority of 

vaccines used worldwide are produced with adequate quality control standards and are 

potent. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Specia l Situations 151 



Persons vaccinated outside of the United States can enter the country through a number 

of different mechanisms. Those seeking to immigrate to the United States may be 

vaccinated under the authority of a civil surgeon or a panel physician. Some enter the 

United States as refugees and are vaccinated under the authority of the Office of Refugee 

Resettlement, part of the Administration for Children and Families, in the Department 

of Health and Human Services. 

Adopted ~hildren's birth countries often have vaccination schedules that differ from the 

recommended childhood vaccination schedule in the United States. Differences in the 

U.S. schedule and those used in other countries include the vaccines administered, the 

r~commended ages of administration, and the number and timing of doses. 

Data are inconclusive regarding the extent to which an internationally adopted child's 

vaccination record reflects the child's protection. A child's· record might indicate 

administration of MMR vaccine when only single-antigen measles-vaccine was 

administered. A study of children ad?pted from orphanages in the People's Republic of 

China, Russia, and countries in Eastern Europe determined that 67% of children with 

documentation of >3 doses of DTP b efore adoption had nonprotective titers to these 

antigens (54). In contrast, children adopted from these countries who received 

vaccination in the community (not only from orphanages) and had documentation of ~1 

doses of DTP exhibited protective titers 67% of the time (54). However, antibody testing 

was performed by using a hemag;glutination assay, which tends to underestimate 

protection and cannot directly be compared with antibody concentration (55). Data are 

likely to remain limited for areas other than the People's Republic of China, Russia, and 

Eastern Europe. Health-care providers should ensure that household contacts of 

international adoptees are vaccinated adequately, particularly for measles, hepatitis A, 

and hepatitis B (56). 

Health-care providers- may use one of multiple approaches if the immunogenicity of 

vaccines or the completeness of series administered to persons outside the United States 

is in question. 1<..epeating the vaccinations is an acceptable option that usually is safe and 

prevents the need to obtain and interpret serologic tests. If avoiding unnecessary 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Specia l Situations 152 



injections is desired, ju~icious use of serologic testing might help determine which 

vaccinations are needed. For some vaccines, the most readily available serologic tests 

cannot document protection against infection. This best practices document provides 

guidance on possible approaches to evaluation and revaccination for each vaccine 

recommended in the United States (Table 9-1). 

DTaP Vaccine 

Vaccination providers can revaccinate children younger than 7 years of age with DTaP 

vaccine without regard to recorded doses; however, data indicat e increased rates of local 

adverse reactions after the fourth and fifth doses of DTaP (57) . If a revaccination 

approach is adopted and a severe local reaction occurs, serologic testing for specific IgG 

antibody to tetanus and diphtheria toxins can be measured before administering 

additional doses. Protective concentration Ca) indicates that additional doses are 

unnecessary and subsequent vaccination should occur as age appropriate. No 

established serologic correlates exist for protection against pertussis. 

For a child whose record indicates receipt of ~3 doses of DTP or DTaP, serologic testing 

for specific IgG antibody to both diphtheria and tetanus toxin before additional doses is 

a reasonable approach. Ifa protective concentration is present, recorded doses are 

considered valid, and the vaccination series should be completed ?-sage appropriate. An 

indeterminate antibody concentration might indicate immunologic memory but waning 

antibody; serologic testing can be repeated after a booster dose if vaccination providers 

or parents want to avoid revaccination with a complete series. 

Alternately, for achild whose records indicate receipt of ~3 doses, a single booster dose 

can be administered followed by serologic t esting after 1 month for specific IgG antibody 

to both diphtheria and tetanus toxins. If the child has a protective concentration, the 

recorded doses are considered valid, and the vaccination series should be completed as 

age appropriate. Children with an indet erminate concentration after a booster dose 

should be revaccinated with a complete series. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Special Situations 153 



Hepatitis A Vaccine 

Children aged 12-23 months without documentation of hepatitis A vaccination or 

serologic evidence of immunity should be vaccinated on arrival in the United States 

(45). Persons who have received 1 dose should receive the second dose if 6-18 months 

have passed since the first dose was administered. 

Hepatitis B Vaccine 

Persons not known to be vaccinated for hepatitis B should receive an age-appropriate 

series of hepatitis B vaccine. A person whose records indicate receipt of :2:3 doses of 

vaccine is considered protected, and additional doses are not needed if ~1 dose was 

administered at age ~24 weeks. Persons who received their last hepatitis B vaccine dose 

at an age <24 weeks should receive an additional dose at age ~24 weeks. People who 

have received <3 doses of vaccine should complete the series at the recommended 

intervals and ages. 

All foreign-born persons and immigrants, refugees, and internationally adopted 

childl'en born in Asia, the Pacific Islands, Africa, and other regions of high or 

intermediate hepatitis B endemicity should be tested for HBsAg, regardless of 

vaccination status (58). Those_determined to be HBsAg positive should be monitored for 

development ofliver disease. Household members of HBsAg-positive children or adults 

should be vaccinated if they are not already i:rnmune. 

Hib Vaccine 

Interpretation of a serologic test to_verify whether children who were vaccinated >2 

months previously are protected against Hib bacteria can be difficult. Because the 

number ofvaccinations needed for protection decreases with age and because adverse 

events are rare (59), age-appropriate vaccination should be provided. Hib vaccination is · 

not recommended routinely for persons aged :2:5 years (59) . 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 154 



Meningococcal Vaccine 

Quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccines are not routinely used in other 

countries in adolescents (the United Kingdom is the exception). Unless patients have 

documented receipt they should be considered unvaccinated and receive the age

appropriate doses. 

MMR Vaccine 

The simplest approach to resolving concerns about MMR vaccination is to revaccinate 

with 1 or 2 doses of MMR vaccine, depending on age. Serious adverse events after MMR 
) 

vaccinations are rare (10). No evidence indicates that administering MMR vaccine 

increases the risk for adverse reactions among persons who are already immune to 

measles, mumps, or rubella as a result of previous vaccination or natural disease. Doses 

of measles-containing vaccine administered before the first birthday should not be 

counted as part of the series (10). Alternatively, serologic testing for IgG antibody to 

vaccine viruses indicated on the vaccination record can be considered. Serologic testing 

is widely available for measles and rubella IgG antibody. A person whose record 

indicates receipt of monovalent measles or measles-rubella vaccine on or after the first 

birthday and who has protective antibody against measles and rubella should receive 1 

or 2 doses of MMR or MMRV as age appropriate to ensure protection against mumps 

and varicella (and rubella if measles vaccine alone had been administered). If a person 

whose record indicates receipt of MMR at age ~12 months has a protective 

concentration of antibody to measles, no additional vaccination is needed unless a 

second dose is required for school entry. 

):>neumococcal Vaccines 

Many industrialized countries now routinely use pneumococcal vaccines. Although 

recommendations for pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine also exist in many 

countries, the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine might not be routinely administered. 

General Best Practice Guidel ines for Immunization : Specia l Situations 155 



· PCV13 and PPSV23 should be administered according to age-appropriate vaccination 

schedules or as indicated by the presence of underlying medical conditions (43,60). 

Poliovirus Vaccine 

The simplest approach to vaccinating with poliovirus vaccine is to revaccinate persons 

aged <18 years with IPVaccording to the U.S. schedule. Adverse events after IPV are 

rare (42) . Children appropriately vaccinated with 3 doses of OPV in economically 

developing countries might have suboptimal seroconversion, including to type 3 

poliovirus (42). 

Rotavirus Vaccine 

Rotavirus vaccination should not be initiated for infants aged ~15 weeks, o days. Infants 

who began the rotavirus vaccine series outside the United States but who did not 

complete the series and who are still aged :,;;8 months, o days, should follow the routine 

schedule and receive doses to complete the series. If the brand of a previously 

administered dose is live, reassortment pentavalent rotavirus vaccine or is unknown, a 

total of 3 doses of rotavirus vaccine should be documented for series completion. All 

doses should be administered by age 8 months, o days. 

Td and Tdap Vaccines 

Children aged ~7 years who are not considered fully vaccinated for pertussis should 

receive Tdap vaccine. "Fully vaccinated" means at least 5 doses of DTaP before the 

seventh birthday or at least 4 doses of DTaP before the seventh birthday if the fourth 

dose is given after the fourth birthday. One dose of Tdap is recommended after the 

seventh birthday. If additional doses of vaccine are needed, Td should be administered 

as age appropriate. 

Varicella Vaccine 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Sit uations 156 



Varicella vaccine is not available in most countries. A person who lacks evidence of 

varicella immunity should be vaccinated as age appropriate (3,59) . 

Zoster Vaccine 

In the United States, zoster vaccination is recommended for all persons aged ~66 years 

who have no contraindications, including persons who report a previous episode of 

zoster or who have chronic medical conditions. For persons who do not have 

documentation ofreceipt of zoster vaccine, the vaccine should be offered at the patient's 

first clinical encounter with the health-care provider. The vaccine is administered as a 

single 0.65-mL subcutaneous dose. Zoster vaccination is not indicated to treat acute 

zoster, to prevent persons with acute zoster from developing postherpetic neuralgia, or 

to treat ongoing postherpetic neuralgia. Patients do not need to be asked about their 

history of varicella or to have serologic testing conducted to deterµrine zoster immunity 

prior to administration of zoster vaccine. 

Vaccinating Persons with Increased Bleeding Risk 

Providers often avoid giving intramuscular injections or choose alternative routes for 

persons with bleeding disorders because of the risk for hematoma formation after 

injections. In one study, hepatitis B vaccine was administered intramuscularly to 153 

persons with hemophilia. The vaccination was administered with a 23-gauge or smaller 

caliber needle, followed by application of steady pressure to the site for 1-2 minutes. The 

vaccinations resulted in a low (4%) bruising rate, and no patients required factor 

supplementation (61). Whether antigens that produce more local reactions (e.g., 

pertussis) would produce an equally low rate of bruising is unlmown. 

When hepatitis B or any other intramuscularly administered vaccine is indicated for a 

patient with a bleeding disorder, the vaccine should be administered intramuscularly if a 

physician familiar with the patient's bleeding risk determines that the vaccine can be 

administered by this route with reasonable safety. If the patient receives antihemophilia 

or similar therapy, intramuscularly administered vaccinations can be scheduled shortly 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Specia l Situations 157 



after such therapy is administered. A fine-gauge needle (23-gauge or smaller caliber) 

should be used for the vaccination, followed by firm pressure on the site, without 

rubbing, for at least 2 minutes. The patient or family should be given information on the 

risk for hematoma from the injection. Patients receiving anticoagulation therapy 

presumably have the same bleeding risk as patients with clotting factor disorders and 

should follow the same guidelines for intramuscular administration. If possible, 

vaccination could be scheduled prior to the use of these medications, so that the 

patients' risk of bleeding is not increased by their therapeutic action. 

C•J Enzyme immunoassay tests are available. Physicians should contact the laboratory performing the test for interpretive st1µ1dards 

and limitations. Protective concentrations for antibody to diphtheria and tetanus toxins are defined as·>0.1 IU/mL. 

h<>n<>r-il RPst Prnctice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 158 



TABLE 9-1. Approaches to evaluation and vaccination ofpersons 

vaccinated outside the United States who have no (or questionable) 

vaccination records 


Vaccine Alternative approach<a) 
approach 
Recommended 

DTaP Revaccination with DTaP, Persons whose records indicate 
with serologic testing for receipt of ~3 doses: serologic testing 
specific IgG antibody to for specific IgG antibody to 
tetanus and diphtheria diphtheria and tetanus toxins before 
toxins in the event of a administering additional doses (see 
severe local reaction text), or administ er a single booster 

dose of DTaP, followed by 
serological testing after 1 month for ,,... 
specific IgG antibody to .diphtheria 
and tetanus toxins with 
revaccination as appropriate (see 
text) 

HepA Age-appropriate Serologic testing for IgG antibodies 
revaccination to hepatitis A 

-
revaccination and serologic 
testing for HBsAgCb) 

HepB Age-appropriate 

I 

-
revaccination 

Hib Age-appropriat e 

HPV Age-appropriate -
revaccination 

Meningococcal Age-appropriate -
conjugate revaccination 
(MenACWY) 

MMR Revaccination with MMR Serologic testing for IgG antibodies 
to measles, mumps, and rubella 

Pneumococcal -
conjugate ( or in 

Age-appropriate 

revaccination 


some cases, both 
PCV13 and PPSV) 

Poliovirus -
inactivated poliovirus 
vaccme 

Revaccination with 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 159 



Rotavirus Age-appropriate 
revaccination 

-

Tdap Age-appropriate 
revaccination of persons . 
who are candidates for 
Tdap vaccine 

-

Varicella Age-appropriate 
revaccination of persons 
who lack evidence of 
varicella immunity 

-

Zoster Age-appropriate 
revaccination 

-

Abbreviations: DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; HBsAg = hepatitis B surface 
antigen; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b; HPV = human 
papillomavirus; IgG = immune globulin G; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; PCV13 = pneumococcal conjugate 
vaccine; PPSV23= pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and 
acellular pertussis. 

Ca) There is a recommended approach for all vaccines and an alternative approach for some vaccines. 

(b) In rare instances, hepatitis B vaccine can give a false-positive HBsAg result up to 18 days after vaccination; 
therefore, blood should be drawn to test for HBsAg before vaccinating (20) . 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Specia l Situations 160 



REFERENCES 

1. 	 Jackson BR, Iqbal S, Mahon B. Updated recommendations for the use of 

typhoid vaccine- Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United 

States, 2015. MMWR.Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(11):305-308. 

2. 	 Grohskopf LA, Shay DK, Shimabukuro TI, et al. Prevention and control of 

seasonal influenza with vaccines. Recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices-United States, 2013-2014. MMWR 

Recomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-7):1-43. 

3. 	 Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella : 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

4. 	 Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR.Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32-34. 

5. 	 Starr S, Berkovich S. Effects of measles, gamma-globulin-modified measles 

and vaccine measles on the tuberculin test. N Engl J Med. 1964;270:386-391. 

DOI: 10.1056/nejm196402202700802 

6. 	 Brickman HF, Beaudry PH, Marks ML The timing of tuberculin tests in 

relation to immunization with live viral vaccines. Pediatrics. 1975;55(3):392

396. 

7. 	 Berkovich S, Starr S. Effects oflive type 1 poliovirus vaccine and other viruses 

on the tuberculin test. N Engl J Med. 1966;274(2):67-72. DOI: 

10.1056/nejm196601132740203 

8. 	 Wharton M, Strikas RA, Harpaz R, et al. Recommendations for using 

smallpox vaccine in a pre-event vaccination program. Supplemental 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP) and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee 

(HICPAC). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2003;52(RR-7) :1-16. 

9. 	 Mazurek GH, Jereb J, Vernon A, LoBue P, Goldberg S, Castro K. Updated 

guidelines for using interferon gamma release assays to detect 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Specia l Situations 161 



Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection- United States, 2010. MMvVR 

Recomm·Rep. 2010;59(RR-5):1-25. 

10. 	 Watson JC, Hadler SC, Dykewicz CA, Reef S, Phillips L. Measles, mumps, and 

rubella- vaccine use and strategies for elimination of measles, rubella, and 

congenital rubella syndrome and control of mumps: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm 

Rep. 1998;47(RR-8):1-57. 

11. Bernbaum JC, Daft A, Anolik R, et.al. Response ofpreterm infants to 

diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis immunizations. J Pediatr. 1985;107(2):184-188. 

DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(85)80122-o 

12. 	 Koblin BA, Townsend TR, Munoz A, Onorato I, Wilson M, Polk BF. Response 

of preterm infants to diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis vaccine. Pediatr Infect Dis 

J. 1988;7(10):704-711. 

13. 	 Smolen P, Bland R, Heiligenstein E, Lawless MR, Dillard R, Abramson J . 

Antibody response to oral polio vaccine in premature infants. J Pediatr. 

1983;103( 6) :917-919. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3476(83)80714-8 

14. 	 Omenaca F, Garcia-Sicilia J, Garcia-Corbeira P, et al. Response of preterm 

newborns to immunization with a hexavalent diphtheria-tetanus-acellular 

pertussis-hepatitis B virus-inactivated polio andHaemophilus infl.uenzae type 

b vaccine: first experiences and solutions to a serious and sensitive issue. 

Pediatrics. 2005;116(6):1292-1298. DOI: 10.1.542/peds.2004-2336 

15. 	 Shinefield H, Black S, Ray P, Fireman B, Schwalbe J, Lewis E. Efficacy, 

immunogenicity and safety of heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate yaccine in 

low birth weight and preterm infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2002;21(3):182

186. DOI: 10.1097/00006454-200203000-00003 

16. Lau YL, Tam AY, Ng KW, et al. Response ofpret erm infants to hepatitis B 

vaccine. J Pediatr. 1992;121(6):962-965. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22

3476(05)80352-X 

17. 	 Patel DM, Butler J, Feldman S, Graves GR, Rhodes PG. Immunogenicity of 

hepatitis B vaccine in healthy very low birth weight infants . J Pediatr. 

1997;131(4):641-643. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3476(97)70078-7 

General Best Pract ice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 162 



18. 	 Kim SC, Chung EK, Hodinka RL, et al. Immunogenicity of hepatitis B vaccine 

in preterm infants. Pediatrics. 1997;99(4):534-536. DOI: 

10.1542/peds.99,4.534 

19. Losonsky GA, Wa~serman SS, Stephel)s I, et al. Hepatitis B vaccination of 

premature infants: a reassessment of current recommendations for delayed 

immunization. Pediatrics. 1999;103(2):E14. DOI: 10.1542/peds.103.2.e14 

20. 	 Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization 

strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United 

States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-16):1-31. 

21. 	 Cortese MM, Parashar UD. Prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis among 

infants and children: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2009;58(RR-2):1-25. 

22. 	 Bohlke K, Galil K, Jackson LA, et al. Postpartum varicella vaccination: is the 

vaccine virus excreted in breast milk? Obstet Gynecol. 2003;102(5 Pt 1):970

977. DOI: 10.1016/Soo29-7844(03)00860-3 

23. 	 Krogh V, Duffy LC, Wong D, Rosenband M, Riddlesberger KR, Ogra PL. 

Postpartum immunization with rubella virus vaccine and antibody response 

in breast-feeding infants. J Lab Clin Med. 1989;113(6):695-699. 

24. 	 Staples JE, Gershman M, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine: recommendations 

of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR 

Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-7):1-27. 

25. 	 Pickering LK, Granoff DM, Erickson JR, et al. Modulation of the immune 

system by human milk and infant formula containing nucleotides. Pediatrics. 

1998;101(2):242~249. DOI: 10.1542/peds.101.2.242 

26. 	 Kim-Farley R, Brink E, Orenstein W, Bart K. Vaccination and breast feeding. 

JAMA. 1982;248(19):2451-2452. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1982.03330190021019 

27. 	 Patriarca PA, Wright PF, John TJ. Factors affecting the immunogenicity of 

oral poliovirus vaccine in developing countries: review. Rev InfectDis. 

1991;13(5): 9 2 6-9 3 9. 

r:;.,nPrn l Rest Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Specia l Situations 	 163 · 



28. 	 Hahn-Zoric M, Fulconis F, Minoli I, et al. Antibody responses to parenteral 

and oral vaccines are impaired by conventional and low protein formulas as 

compared to breast-feeding. Acta Paediatr Scand. 1990;79(12) :1137-1142. 

DOI: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1990.tb11401.x 

29. 	 Koren G, Pastuszak A, Ito S. Drugs in pregnancy. N Engl J Med. 


1998;338(16):1128-1137. DOI: 10.1056/nejm199804163381607 


30. 	 Grabenstein JD. Vaccines and antibodies in relation to pregnancy and 

lactation. Hospital Pharmacy. 1999;34:949-960. 

31. 	 CDC. Guiding principles for development of ACIP recommendations for 

vaccination during pregnancy and breastfeeding. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly 

Rep. 2008;57(21):580. . 

32. 	 Mu·noz FM, Bond NH, Maccato M, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of 

tetanus diphtheria and acellular pertussis (Tdap) immunization during 

pregnancy in mothers and infants: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 

· 2014;311(17):1760-1769. DOI: 10.1001/jama.2014.3633 

33. 	 Wendelboe AM, Njamkepo_E, BourillonA, et al. Transmission of Bordetella 

pertussis to young infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J . 2007;26(4):293-299. DOI: 

10.1097/01.inf.0000258699.64164.6d 

34. 	 Kretsinger K, Broder KR, Cortese MM, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, 

and pertussis among adults: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid 

and acellular pertussis vaccine recommendations of the Advisory Committee 

on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and recommendation ofACIP, supported 

by the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC), 

for use of Tdap among health-care personnel. MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2006;55(RR-17):1-37. 

35. 	 Neuzil KM, Reed GW, Mitchel EF, Simonsen L, Griffin MR. Impact of 

influenza on acute cardiopulmonary hospitalizations in pregnant women. Am 

J Epidemiol. 1998;148(11):1094-1102. DOI: 

10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.aoo9587 

36. 	 Sumaya CV, Gibbs RS. Immunization of pregnant women with influenza 

A/New Jersey/76 virus vaccine: reactogenicity and immunogenicity in mother 

and infant. J Infect Dis. 1979;140(2):141-146. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/140.2.141 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 164 

http:10.1097/01.inf.0000258699.64164.6d


37. Munoz FM, Greisinger AJ, Wehmanen OA, et al. Safety ofinfluenza 

vaccination during pregnancy.Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2005;192(4):1098-1106. 

DOI: 10.1016/j.ajog.2004.12.019 

38. 	 Englund JA, Mbawuike IN, Hammill H, Holleman MC, Baxter BD, Glezen 

WP. Maternal immunization with influenza or tetanus toxoid vaccine for 

passive antibody protection in young infants. J Infect Dis. 1993;168(3):647

656. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/168.3.647 

39. 	 Puck JM, Glezen WP, Frank AL, Six HR. Protection of infants from infection 

with influenza A virus by transplacentaily acquired antibody. J Infect Dis. 

1980;142(6):844-849. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/142.6.844 

40. 	 Reuman PD, Ayoub EM, Small PA. Effect of passive maternal antibody on 

influenza illness in children: a prospective study of in~uenza A in mother

infant pairs. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1987;6(4):398-403. DOI: 

10.1097I00006454-198704000-00011 

41. 	 Steinhoff MC, Orner SB, Roy E, et al. Influenza immunization in pregnancy

/ 	
antibody responses in mothers and infants. N Engl J Med. 

2010;362(17):1644-1646. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMco912599 

42. 	 Prevots DR, Burr RK, Sutter RW, Murphy TV. Poliomyelitis prevention in the 

United States. Updated recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-5):1-22; 

quiz CE21-27. 

43. 	 CDC. Prevention of pneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

1997;46(RR-8) :1-24. 

44. 	 Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. 

Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWRRecomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

45. 	 Fiore AE, Wasley A, Bell BP. Prevention of hepatitis A through active or 

passive immunization: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-7) :1-23. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Special Situations 165 

http:pregnancy.Am


46. 	 Tsai TF, Paul R, Lynberg MC, Letson GW. Congenital yellow fever virus 


·infection after immunization in pregnancy. J Infect Dis. 1993;168(6):1520

1523. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/168.6.1520 


47. Mast EE, Weinbaum CM, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization 

strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United 

States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP) Part II: immunization of adults. MMWR Recomm(Rep. 

2006;55(RR-16):1-33; quiz CE31-34. 

48. 	 Wilson E, Goss MA, Marin M, et al. Varicella vaccine exposure during 

pregnancy: data from 10 years of the pregnancy registry. J Infect Dis. 

2008;197 Suppl 2:S178-184. DOI: 10.1086/522136 . 

49. 	 CDC. Revised ACIP ·recommendation for avoiding pregnancy after receiving a 

rubella-containing vaccine. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 

2001;50(49):1117. 

50. 	 CDC. Rubella vaccination during pregnancy-United States, 1971-1988. 

MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1989;38(17):289-293. 

51. 	 Black NA, Parsons A, Kurtz JB, McWhinney N, Lacey A, Mayon-White RT. 

Post-partum rubella immunisation: a controlled trial of two vaccines. Lancet. 

1983;2(8357):990-992. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(83)90979-o 

52. 	 CDC. Control and prevention of rubella: evaluation and management of 

suspected outbreaks, rubella in pregnant women, and surveillance for 

congenital rubella syndrome. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2001;5o(RR-12):1-23. 

53. 	 Murray TS, Groth ME, Weitzman C, Cappello M. Epidemiology and 

management of infectious diseases in international adoptees. Clin Microbial 

Rev. 2005;18(3):510-520. DOI: 10.1128/cmr.18.3.510-520.2005 

54. 	 Hostetter MK. Infectious diseases in internationally adopted children: 

findings in children from China, Russia, and eastern Europe. Adv Pediatr 

Infect Dis. 1999;14:147..:161. 

55. 	 Kriz B, Burian V, Slacllcy K, Burianova B, Mottlova 0, Roth Z. Comparison of 

titration results of diphtheric antitoxic antibodies obtained by means of 

Jensen's method and the methods of tissue cultures and haemagglutination. J 

Hyg Epidemiol Microbial Immunol. 1978;22(4):485-493. 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Special Situations 166 



56. 	 CDC. Updated recommeridations from the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP) for use of hepatitis A vaccine in close contacts 

ofnewly arriving international adoptees. MMWR Morb Mortal W/cly Rep. 

2009;58(36):1006-1007. 

57. 	 CDC. Use of diphtheria toxoid-tetanus toxoid-acellular pertussis vaccine as a 

five-dose series. Supplemental recommendations of the Advisory Committee 

on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MM'WR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-13):1

8. 

58. 	 Weinbaum CM, Williams I, Mast EE, et al. Recommendations for 

identification and public health management of persons with chronic 

hepatitis B virus infection. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-8) :1-20. 

59. 	 CDC. Recommended immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 

years-United States, 2011. MMWR Morb Mortal W/cly Rep. 2011;60(5):1-4. 

60. Nuorti JP, Whitney CG. Prevention of pneumococcal disease among infants 

and children - use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent 

pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine - recommendations of the Advis01y 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 

2010;59(RR-11):1-18. 

61. 	 Evans DI, Shaw A. Safety of intramuscular injection ofhepatitis B vaccine in 

haemophiliacs. BMJ. 1990;300(6741):1694-1695. DOI: 

10.1136/bmj.300.6741.1694-a 

-, 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Specia l Situations 167 



10. Vaccination Records 

Records of Health-Care Providers 

Appropriate and timely vaccination documentation helps ensure not only that persons 

in need of recommended vaccine doses receive them but also that adequately vaccinated 

patients do not receive excess doses. Curtailing the number of excess doses 

administered to patients controls costs incurred by patients, providers, insurers, 

vaccination programs, and other stakeholders. In addition, avoidance of excess doses of 

vaccines should decrease the number of adverse reactions to vaccines. Health care 

providers who administer vaccines covered by the National Vaccine Injury 

Compensation Program (VICP) are required under the National Childhood Vaccine 

Injury Act (1) to ensure that the permanent medical record of the recipient ( or a 

permanent office log or file) indicates the date the vaccine was administered, the vaccine 

manufacturer, the vaccine lot number, and the name, address, and title of the person 

administer~ng the vaccine. This Act applies to any vaccine for which there is a routine 

recommendation for childhood vaccination, even if many or most doses of the vaccine 

are administered to adults (e.g., influenza vaccine). In addition, the provider is required 

to record the edition date of the VIS distributed and the date those materials were 

provided. The Act considers a health-care provider to be any licensed health care 

professional, organization, or institution, whether private or public (including federal, 

state, and local departments and agencies), under whose authority a specified vaccine is 

administered. This information should be kept for all vaccines, not just for those 

required by the Act. Providers and staff members also should systematically update 

patients' permanent medical records to reflect any documented episodes of adverse 

events after vaccination and any serologic test results related to vaccine-preventable 

diseases (e.g., those for rubella screening and anti-HBs). 

Personal Records of Patients 

Official childhood vaccination records have been adopted by every state and territory 

and the District of Columbia to encourage uniformity of records and to facilitate 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Records 168 



assessment of vaccination status by schools and child-care centers. The records also are 

key tools in vaccination education programs aimed at increasing parental and patient 

awareness of the need for vaccines. This record can exist in electronic file format or in 

hardcopy format. A permanent vaccination record should be established for each 

newborn infant and maintained by the parent or guardian. The parent or guardian 

should be educated abo-q.t the importance of keeping the record up-to-date and 

instructed to keep the record indefinitely. These records should be distributed to new 

parents and/or guardians before discharge from the hospital or birthing center. Using 

vaccination records for adolescents and adults also is encouraged. Standardized adult 

vaccination records are available at http://www.immunize.org. 

Immunization Information Systems (IISs) 

IISs (formerly referred to as immunization registries) are confidential, population

based, computerized information systems that collect and consolidate vaccination data 

from multiple health care providers within a geographic area. IISs are a critical tool that 

can increase and sustain vaccination coverage by consolidating vaccination records from 

multiple providers, generating reminder and recall vaccination notices for each person, 

and providing official vaccination forms and vaccination coverage assessments (2) . 

Providers should be aware of state and/or regional IISs and requirements for reporting. 

Changing vaccination providers during the course of an individual's vaccination series is 

common in the United States. In addition to changes in providers, the vaccination 

records of persons who have changed vaccination providers often are unavailable or 

incomplete or might not have been entered into an IIS (2). Missing or inaccurate 

information regarding vaccines received previously might preclude accurate 

determination ofwhich vaccines are indicated at the time of a visit, resulting in 

administration of extra doses. 

A fully operational IIS also can prevent duplicate vaccinations, forecast when the next 

dose is due, limit missed appointments, allow recall for those who missed appointments, 

determine when vaccines need to be repeated (the technical IIS term for this is 

General Best Practice Guide lines for Immunization: Vaccination Records 169 

http:http://www.immunize.org


"evaluation"), reduce vaccine waste, and reduce staff time required to produce or locate 

vaccination records or certificates. Most IISs have additional capabilities, such as 

measurement of vaccination update and coverage, aid in tracking vaccine inventory and 

placing vaccine orders, recall ofvaccine by lot number, maintenance of lifetime 

vaccination histories, and interoperability with other health information systems. The 

National Vaccine Advisory Committee recommends that vaccination providers 

participate in these systems when possible. Electronic health records should maintain 

interoperability with IISs as part of an effort to improve the quality of care, reduce 

health disparities, engage patients and families in their health, improve the coordination 

of care, improve population health, and ensure adequate privacy and security protection 

for personal health information (see 

www.cdc.gov/ehrmeaningfuluse/introduction.html) 

One of the national Healthy People objectives for 2020 is 95% participation of children 

aged <6 years in a fully operational population-based IIS (objective 20.1) (3,4) . 

Participating in an IIS means having two or more vaccinations recorded in the IIS. 2012 

IIS data indicate that approximately 86% of children aged <6 years with two or more 

vaccinations were participating in IISs (4,5) . 

The National Vaccine Advisory Committee recommends that public health departments 

work toward including adults in all state IISs, reduce barriers to including adult 

vaccination records in IISs, and ensure that IISs meet new standards of EHR 

interoperability to track and maintain adult vaccination records (6). 

Nationally, 57.8 million U.S. adults aged 19 years or older participated in an IIS in 2012 

(4) . This number reflects adults who may have had childhood vaccines entered during 

childhood and now have aged to adults. In 2013, 32% of U.S. adults had a record in the 

IIS and at least one vaccination administered during adulthood. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunizat ion: Vaccination Records 170 

www.cdc.gov/ehrmeaningfuluse/introduction.html


REFERENCES 

1. 	 National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act, 42 U.S.C. Sect. 3ooaa-1 to 3ooaa-34 

(1986). 

2. 	 CDC. Immunization information systems progress- United States, 2006. MMWR 

MorbMortal W/cly Rep. 2008;57(11):289-291. 

3. 	 US Department of Health and Human Services. Immunization and infectious 

diseases. Healthy people 2010. Vol 1 (conference edition). 1st ed. Washington, 

DC: US Government Printing Office; 2000. 

4. 	 CDC. Progress in immunization information systems - United States, 2012. 


MMWRMqrbMortal W/cly Rep. 2013;62(49):1005-1008. 


5. 	 Mangione~Smith R, DeCristofaroAH, Setodji CM, et al. The quality of 


ambulatory care delivered to children in the United States. N Engl J Med. 


2007;·357(15)_:1515-1523. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMsao64637 


6. 	 National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Recommendations from the National 

Vaccine Advisory committee: standards for adult immunization practice. Public 

Health Rep. 2014;129(2):115-123. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Records 171 



11. Vaccination Programs 

Updates 

The major revision to this s_ection is the addition oflanguage related to Affordable Care 

Act (1) coverage of adult vaccination. 

General Principles 

Universal vaccination is a critical part of quality health-care and should be accomplished 

through routine and catch-up vaccination provided in physicians' offices, public health 

clinics, and other appropriate settings. In the United States, vaccination is considered 

primarily the responsibility of individual health care providers and health care systems 

serving patients. 

Certain programs and other efforts attempt to ensure all patients receive the full 

schedule of appropriate vaccinations by removing barriers posed by access to 

immunizations, cost, or other factors. Su~h efforts may include school-located clini"cs, 

school-based health centers, back-to-school immunization clinics, public health clinics 

for schoolchildren, periodic influenza vaccination clinics, public health nurse tracking of 

childhood immunizations, and government-sponsored financing of vaccines through the 

Vaccines for Children and Section 317 program http:// 

. www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/admin/vfc.html ). 

In the United States, vaccination programs have eliminated many vaccine-prev~ntable 

diseases and markedly reduced the incidence of others (2) . Because infants and young 

children were the principal recipients of most vaccines developed during the twentieth 

century (e.g., poliovirus vaccine), many persons in the United States might believe that 

vaccinations are solely for the young; however, vaccinations are recommended for 

persons of all ages (3,4). Improved vaccination coverage can result in additional 

reductions in the incidence of vaccine-preventable diseases that affect persons 

throughout the life span, and decrease associated morbidity· and mortality. 

·General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 172 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/admin/vfc.html


Vaccination of Children and Adolescents 

Physicians and other pediatric vaccination providers should adhere to the standards for 

child and adolescent vaccination practices (5) . These standards are published by the 

National Vaccine Advisory Committee and define appropriate vaccination practices for 

both public and private sectors. The standards provide guidance on practices that 

eliminate barriers t o vaccination, including eliminating unnecessary prerequisites for 

receiving vaccinations, eliminating missed opportunities to vaccinate, improving 

procedures to assess vaccination needs, enhancing knowledge about vaccinations among 

parents and providers, and improving management and reporting of adverse events. In 

addition, the standards address the importance of recall and reminder systems and 

using assessments to monitor clinic or office vaccination coverage levels. Health-care 

providers should simultaneously administer as many vaccine doses as possible as 

indicated on the Recommended Immunization Schedules for Persons Aged o Through 

18 Years (3). 

While rates of childhood vaccination are generally higher than rates of adult 

vaccination, for some doses <;:overage rates are still low, like the birth dose of hepatitis B 

vaccine. Community health-care providers, as well as state and local public health 

vaccination programs, should coordinate with partners to identify and maximize 

outreach to populations at risk for undervaccination and vaccine-preventable diseases. 

For example, the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and 

Children (WIC) is a categorical federal grant program administered by the U.S. 

Department of Agriculture through state health departments. The program provides 

supplemental foods, health-care referrals, and nutrition education to low-income 

pregnant, breastfeeding, or postpartum women, as wel~ as to infants and children aged 

<5 years. Between 8.5 and 8.9 million people participated in this program in 2013 

(http://www.fns.usda.gov/pd/wicmain.htm). In collaboration, WIC and state 

vaccination programs assess regularly the vaccination coverage levels ofWIC 

participants and develop new strategies and aggressive outreach procedures in sites with 

coverage levels <90%. Vaccination programs and private providers are encouraged to 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 173 

http://www.fns.usda.gov/pd/wicmain.htm


refer eligible children to obtain WIC nutritional services, at 

www.fns.usda.gov/wic/immunization-screening-and-referral-wic ( 6). 

Adolescent-Specific Issues 

Vaccinations are recommended throughout life, including during' adolescence. The age 

range for adolescence is defined as 11-21 years by many professional associations, 

including the American Academy of Pediatrics and the American Medical Association 

(7,8). Definitions of these age cutoffs differ depending on the ·source of the definition 

and the source's purpose for creating a definition. Vaccination of adolescents is critical 

for preventing diseases for which adolescents are at particularly high or increasing risk, 

such as meningococcal disease and human papillomavirus infection. Three vaccines 

recommended for adolescents have been licensed since 2005: MenACWY and Tdap 

were licensed in 2005, and HPV was licensed in 2006. A second dose of varicella vaccine 

is recommended for persons who received 1 dose of varicella vaccine after age 12 

months. In addition, annual seasonal influenza vaccination is recommended for persons 

aged >6 months who have no contraindications. To ensure vaccine coverage, clinicians 

and other health-care providers who treat adolescents must review vaccination history 

on every occasion that an adolescent has an office visit. 

National goals for vaccination coverage for adolescents aged 13-15 years were included 

in Healthy People 2020, athttp://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics

objectives/topic/immunization-and-infectious-diseases. Targets of 80% coverage were 

specified for one dose of Tdap, one dose of meningococcal conjugate vaccine, and 3 

doses of HPV vaccine. Results of the published 2014 National Immunization Survey

Teen indicate that coverage rates for 13-17 years olds is 87.6% for one dose of Tdap and 

79.3% for one dose of meningococcal vaccine. Coverage rates for 13-17 years olds for 

HPVvaccine are considerably lower-39.7% for females and 21.6% for males (9,10) . 

Ensuring adolescents receive routine and catch-up vaccination and achieving high levels 

of vaccination coverage present challenges. In general, adolescents do not visit health 

care providers frequently. Health care providers should promote annual preventive 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 174 

www.fns.usda.gov/wic/immunization-screening-and-referral-wic


visits (11), including one specifically for adolescents aged 11 and 12 years. The annual 

visits should be used as opportunities to provide routinely recommended vaccine doses, 

additional catch-up doses needed for lapsed vaccine series, vaccines recommended for 

high-risk groups, additional doses that might have been recently recommended, and · 

other recommended health-care services. Additional strategies include adolescent 

immunizations at community-based venues such as pharmacies and schools. 

All V9-ccine doses should be administered according to ACIP vaccine-specific statements 

and with the most recent schedules for both routine and catch-up vaccination. Before 

leaving any visit for medical care, adolescents should be encouraged to schedule return 

visits for any additional vaccine doses needed. During visits that occur outside of 

influenza season, providers should discuss and recommend seasonal influenza 

vaccination and make explicit plans for vaccination, including timing and anticipated 

setting (e.g., health care provider's office, school, or pharmacy). Catch-up vaccination 

with multidose adolescent vaccines generally can occur according to the routine dosing 

schedule for these vaccines, although in some circumstances the clinician or health care 

provider might use minimum intervals for vaccine doses. These circumstances include 

an outbreak that increases risk for disease or the likelihood that doses will b e missed in 

the future (e.g., because of transportation challenges). Because oflack of efficacy data 

for HPV vaccine administration using minimum intervals, providers are encouraged, 

when possible, to U$e routine dosing intervals for females aged 11-26 years and males 

aged _11-21 years who have no~yet received 3 HPVvaccine doses as recommended (3,4). 

One of the challenges of adolescent vaccination is ensuring that current, c<;>mplete 

vaccination histories are available. Insurers, covered services, or reimbursement levels 

can change, and these changes might affect reimbursement for vaccine doses and 

vaccination services directly while also causing disruptions in an adolescent's access to 

vaccination providers or venues. In circumstances in which a vaccination record is 

unavailable, vaccination providers should attempt to obtain this information from 

various sources (e.g., parent, previous providers, or school records). More detail about 

how to obtain these records is available from CDC at 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/immuniz-records.htm. With the exception of 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 175 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/immuniz-records.htm


influenza and pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccines, if documentation of a vaccine 

dose is not available, the adolescent should be considered unvaccinated for that dose. 

Regardless of the venue in which an adolescent receives a dose ofvaccine, that vaccine 

dose should be documented in the patient's ~hart or in an office log, and the information 

should be entered into an IIS. The adolescent also should be provided with a record that 

documents the vaccination history. 

Adult Vaccination 

In 2013, the National Vaccine Advisory Committee published updated standards for 

adult vaccination (12). These standards are targeted to distinct groups involved in adult 

vaccination, including immunizing providers, non-immunizing providers, professional 

health-care organizations, and public health departments. All health-care providers, 

whether they provide immunizations or not, should incorporate immunization needs 

assessment into every clinical encounter, strongly recommend needed vaccine(s) and 

either administer vaccine(s) or refer patients to a provider who can immunize, stay up

to-date on, and educate patients about vaccine recommendations, implement systems' to 

incorporate vaccine assessment into routine clinical care, and understand how to access 

immunization information systems (i.e., immunization registries) (12). 

Vaccination rates in adults are considered suboptimal (13,14). New Healthy People 

2020 goals include specific subsets of adults, including institutionalized adults aged ·;?;18 

years (for pneumococcal vaccines) and noninstitutionalized adults at high risk aged >18 

years (for pneumococcal vaccines) (9). 

The most substantial barrier to vaccination coverage is lack of lmowledge about these 

vaccines among adult patients and adult providers. Other barriers are cost (incomplete 

Medicare coverage for recommended vaccines) (15) and the lack of financing 

mechanisms for newly licensed and recommended vaccines. Effective for private health 

insurance plans drafted or updated after September 2010, coverage for all 

immunizations that are included on the immunization schedule(s) must be covered 

r-;PnPrn l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 176 



without deductibles or co-pays, when delivered by an in-network provider. For this 

reason, cost may present less of a barrier to adult vaccination as time passes. 

A common challenge for health-care providers is vaccinating adults with unknown 

vaccination records. In general (except for influenza and pneumococcal polysaccharide 

vaccines), adults should receive a vaccine dose if the dose is recommended and no 

record of previous administration exists. If an adult has a record of military service and 

does not have records available, providers can assume that the person has received all 

vaccines recommended by the military at the time of service entry. Serologic testing 

might be helpful in clarifying immune status if questions remain, because at different 

times and depending on military assignments, there might be inter-service and 

individual differences. 

Evidence-based Interventions to Increase Vaccination 

Coverage 

The independent, nonfederal Task Force on Community Preventive Services, whose 

membership is appointed by CDC, provides public health decision-makers with 

recommendations on population-based interventions to promote health and prevent 

disease, injury, disability, and premature death. The recommendations are based on 

systematic reviews of the scientific literature about effectiveness and cost-effectiveness 

of these interventions. In addition, the task force identifies critical information about 

the other effects of these interventions, the applicability to specific populations and 

settings, and the potential barriers to implement,~.tion. Additional information, 

including updates of published reviews, is available from The Community Guide at 

http: //www.thecommunityguide.org. 

Beginning in 1996, the task force systematically reviewed published evidence on the 

effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of population-based interventions to increase 

coverage ofvaccines recommended for routine use among children, adolescents, and 

adults. A total of 197 articles were identified that evaluated a relevant intervention, met 

inclusion criteria, and were published during 1980-1997. Reviews of 17 specific 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 177 

http:www.thecommunityguide.org


interventions were published in 1999 (13,14,16,17). Using the results of their review, the 

task force made recommendations about the use of these interventions (15). Several 

interventions were identified and recommended on the basis of published evidence. 

Follow-up reviews were published in 2000, and a review of interventions to improve the 

coverage of adults at high risk was conducted in 2005 (15,17). The interventions and the 

recommendations are summarized in this section of this report (Table 11-1). 

Interventions designated for adults younger than 65 years at high risk for influenza, 

invasive pneumococcal disease, and hepatitis B, include provider reminder systems or a 

menu of items (combinations of strategies) (Table 11-2). In 1997, the task force 

categorized vaccination requirements for child care, school, and college as a 

recommended strategy (1.4). 

A 2008 update of the original task force systematic review of the evidence on the 

effectiveness ofprovider assessment and feedback for increasing coverage rates found 

that this strategy remains an effective intervention (18). This later update reviewed 19 

new studies published during 1997-2007. The updated review supports the original task 

force recommendation for use of assessment and feedback based on strong evidence of 

effectiveness. The task force reviewed studies of assessment and feedback as a strategy 

that were conducted in a range of settings, including private practice, managed care, 

public health, community health settings, and academic centers. Studies have assessed 

the effectiveness of this intervention to improve coverage with MMR, DTP, DTaP, Hib, 

influenza, pneumococcal, and Td vaccines (16). The most updated information on this 

review is available at 

http://www.thecommunityguide.org/vaccines/universally/providerassessment.html. As 

recognized by the task force, routine assessment and feedback of vaccination rates 

obtained at the provider site is one of the most effective strategies for achieving high, 

sustainable vaccine coverage. Since 1995, all states receiving federal funds for 

vaccination programs have been required to conduct annllal assessments ofvaccination 

rates both in public health clinics and in private provider offices. Primarily to aid local 

and state health departments in their efforts to conduct assessments and assist 

providers, CDC has developed numerous software applications to measure vaccination 

rates·in provider practices. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 178 

http://www.thecommunityguide.org/vaccines/universally/providerassessment.html


Other General Programmatic Issues 

Programmatic challenges, evolving issues, and effective interventions related to adult 

and adolescent vaccination programs have been described by other advisory groups and 

expert groups. Additional evidence-based approaches are being developed for certain 

issues (e.g., settings for adolescent vaccination delivery) through ongoing research and 

evaluation. Among current programmatic challenges, vaccine financing is especially 

difficult because certain problems and solutions differ markedly from one state to 
' 

another. Practitioners interested in beginning or continuing to provide vaccinations to 

patients are encouraged to consult with local and state public health vaccination 

programs to learn about publicly funded programs that might be available in their areas 

for patients who need vaccination but have insufficient health insurance coverage and 

no financial resources. If not already participating, providers who care for adolescents 

and children aged <19 years should enroll in the Vaccines for Children Program (http:// 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/admin/vfc.html ). Through this program's provision of 

ACIP-recommended, federally purchased vaccines, participating providers are able to 

fully vaccinate eligible children whose parents might not otherwise be able to afford the 

vaccinations. Interested providers are encouraged to work with insurers, state and 

specialty-specific medical organizations, vaccine manufacturers, and other stakeholders 

to address financial barriers to achieving high vaccination coverage. With availability of 

safe and effective vaccines for 18 vaccine-preventable diseases, the capacity for realizing 

the potential benefits of these products in the United States depends on reaching 

children, adolescents, and adults through dedicated, knowledgeable vaccination 

providers and efficient, strong vaccination programs at local, state, and federal levels. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 179 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/admin/vfc.html


TABLE 11-1. Recommendations regarding interventions to improve 

coverage ofvaccines recommended for routine use among children, 

adolescents, and adults · 


Intervention 
 Recommendation 


Increase community demand for vaccination 


Client reminder or recall systems Recommended 


Requirements for entry to schools, child- care 
 Recommended 

facilities, and colleges 


Community education alone Insufficient evidence 


Community-based interventions implemented in 
 Recommended 

combination 


Clinic-based education Insufficient evidence 


Patient or family incentives 
 Recommended 


Patient or family monetary sanctions 
 Insufficient evidence 


Client-held medical records 
 Insufficient evidence 

Enhance access to vaccination services 

Reducing out-of-pocket costs Recommended 


Enhancing access through the U.S. Department of 
Recommended 
Agriculture's Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) 
program 

Home visits, outreach, and case management Recommended 
targeted to particularly hard-to-reach populations 
to increase vaccination rates 

Enhancing access at schools Recommended 


Expanding access in health-care settings 
 Recommended as part of 
multicomponent interventions 
only 

Enhancing access at organized child care centers Recommended 

Focus on providers 

Provider reminder or recall systems Recommended 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 180 



Provider assessment and feedback Recommended 

Standing orders Recommended 

Provider education alone Insufficient evidence 

Health-care systems-based interventions Recommended 
integrated in combination . 

Immunization information systems Recommended 

. Source: www.thecommunityguide.org/topic/vaccination. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 181 



TABLE 11-2. Strategies to improve influenza, pneumococcal 
polysaccharide, and hepatitis B vaccine coverage among high-risk adults 
younger than 65 years 
One or both of these interventions to 
improve access to vaccination services 

\ 
\ 

PLUS: 
One or more of these provider or syst em 
based interventions 

AND/OR: 
One or both of these interventions to 
increase client demand for vaccination 
serv1ces 

1. Expanded access in health-care settings 
2. Reducing client out-of-pocket costs 
1. Standing orders 
2. Provider reminder systems 
3. Provider assessment or feedback 
1. Client reminder systems 
2. Client education 

1 
n - - L n ~~r~; rn r.: 11 irlPlinP<; for Imm unization: Vaccination Programs 182 



Source (15) 

REFERENCES 
1. 	 The Pat ient Protection and.Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No. 111-148 (2010). 

2. 	 Roush SW, Murphy TV. Historical comparisons of morbidity and mortality for 

vaccine-preventable diseases in the United States. JAMA.. 2007;298(18):2155

2163. DOI: 10.1001/jama.298.18.2155 

3. 	 Strikas RA. Advis01y committee on immunization practices recommended 

immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 years-United States, 

2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(4):93-94. 

4. 	 Kim DK, Bridges CB, Harriman KH. Advisory committee on immunization 

practices recommended immunization schedule for adults aged 19 years or 

older-United States, 2015. MMWR Mo;b Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(4):91

92. 

5. 	 National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Standards for child and adolescent 

immunization practices. Pediatrics . 2003;112(4):958-963. 

6. 	 CDC. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 
' 

Practices: programmatic strategies to increase vaccination coverage by age 2 

years-	 linkage ofvaccination and WIC services. MMWRMorb Mortal Wkly 

Rep. 1996;45(10):217-218. 

7. 	 Hagan J, Shaw J, Duncan P, eds. Brightfutures: guidelines for health 

supervision on infants, children and adolescents. 3rd ed. Elk Grove Village, 

IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2008. 

8. 	 CDC. Immunization of adolescents. Recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices, the American Academy of Pediatrics, 

the American Academy of Family Physicians, and the American Medical 

Association. MMWR Recomm Rep. 1996;45(RR-13):1-16. 

9. 	 US Department of Health and Human Services. Immunization and infectious 

diseases. Healthy People 2020 website. 

https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/ immunization

and-infectious-diseases. Accessed 09 March, 2017. 

Genera l Best Practice Gu idelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 183 

http:https://www.healthypeople.gov


10. 	 CDC. U.S. vaccination coverage reported via NIS-Teen. 2016; https:/ / 


www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers/ coverage/teenvaxview /index.html. 


Accessed 09 March 2017. 


11. 	 Mangione-Smith R, DeCristofaro AH, Setodji CM, et al. The quality of 


ambulatory care delivered to children in the United States. N Engl J Med. 


2007;357(15) :1515-1523. DOI: 10.1056 /NEJMsao64637 


12. 	 National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Recommendations from the National 

Vaccine Advisory committee: standards for adult immunization practice. 

Public Health Rep. 2014;129(2):115-123. 

13. Shefer A, Briss P, Rodewald L, et al. Improving immunization coverage rates: 

an evidence-based review of the literature. Epidemiol Rev. 1999;21(1):96-142. 

14. CDC. Vaccine-preventable diseases: improving vaccination coverage in 

children, adolescents, and adults. A report on recommendations from the 

Task Force on Community Preventive Services. MMWR Recomm Rep. 

1999;48(RR-8):1-15. 

15. 	 Ndiaye SM, Hopkins DP, Shefer AM, et al. Interventions to_improve influenza, 

pneumococcal polysaccharide, and hepatitis B vaccination coverage among 

high-risk adults: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med. 2005;28(5 Suppl) :248

279. DOI: 10.1016/j.amepre.2005.02.016 

16. 	 Briss PA, Rodewald LE, Hinman AR, et al. Reviews of evidence regarding 

interventions to improve vaccination coverage in children, adolescents, and 

adults. The Task Force on Community Preventive Services. Am J Prev Med. 

2000;18(1 Suppl):97-140. DOI: 10.1016/So749-3797(99)00118-X 

17. 	 Task Force on Community Preventive S. Recommendations regarding 

interventions to improve vaccination coverage in children, adolescents, and 

adults12. Am J Prev Med. 2000;18(1, Supplement 1):92-96. DOI: 

10.1016/So749-3797(99)00121-X 

18. 	 CDC. Vaccination programs: provider assessment and feedback. The 

Com~unity Guide website. 2015; 

https:/ /www.thecommunityguide.org/findings/vaccination-programs

provider-assessment-and-feedback. Accessed 09 March 2017. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 184 

www.thecommunityguide.org/findings/vaccination-programs
www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers


12. Vaccine Information Sources 

In addition to these general recommendations, the following sources contain specific 

and updated vaccine information. 

CDC-INFO Contact Center · 

The CDC-INFO contact center is supported by CDC and.provides public health-relat ed 

information, including vaccination information, for health-care providers and the 

public, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. To contact CDC-INFO online at any time, visit 

wwwn.cdc.gov/dcs/RequestForm.aspx. To contact CDC-INFO by telephone, call 

between 8 am to 8 pm Eastern Time Monday through Friday at [English and Spanish]: 

800-232-4636; telephone [TTY]: 800-232-6348. 

CDC's National Center for Immunization and Respiratory 

Diseases 

CDC's National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases website provides 

direct access to ACIP's best practices for vaccination guidance, vaccination schedules, 

automated child schedulers, an adult immunization scheduler, vaccine safety 

information, publications, provider education and training, and links to other 

vaccination-related websites (h~tp://www.cdc.gov/vaccines). 

Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) 

Some ACIP guidance regarding vaccine use, statements of vaccine policy as they are 

developed, and reports of specific disease activity are published by CDC in the MMvVR 

series and can be found at http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/ACIP-list.htm. Electronic 

subscriptions are free (http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/mmwrsubscribe.html). 

Subscriptions to print versions also are available from the Superintendent of 

Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402-9235 

(telephone: 202-512-1800). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Information Sources 185 

http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/mmwrsubscribe.html
http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/ACIP-list.htm


American Academy of Famil:y Physicians (AAFP) 

Information from the professional organization offamily physicians is available at 

http: //www.aafp.org. 

American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) 

Every 3 years, AAP issues the Red Boole: Report ofthe Committee on Infectious 

Diseases, which contains a composite summary ofAAP and ACIP recommendations 

concerning infectious diseases and vaccinations for infants, children, and adolescents 

(telephone: 888-227-1770; website: http://www.aap.org). 

American College of Physicians (ACP) 

Produced by faculty ofACP's Quality Improvement Programs and members of the ACP 

Adult Immunization Advisory Board, the ACP Guide to Adult Immunization helps 

internists develop systematic processes for incorporating immunization in their day-to

day practice (seehttp://www.acponline.org/) .. 

American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) 

The American Congress of Obstetricians anQ. Gynecologists (ACOG), formerly the 

American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, is a professional association of 

physicians specializing in obstetrics and gynecology in the United States. Information 

about ACOG can be found at www.acog.org. 

American Pharmacists Association (APhA) 

Founded in 1852, APhA is the largest association ofpharmacists in the United States,
7 

with more than 62,000 practicing pharmacists, pharmaceutical scientists, student 

pharmacists, pharmacy technicians as mel!lbers. Information about APhA educational 

activities can be found at www.pharmacist.com/immunization-center. 

General Best Practice Gu idelines for Immunization: Vaccine lnformat"ion Sources 186 

www.pharmacist.com/immunization-center
http:www.acog.org
http:seehttp://www.acponline.org
http:http://www.aap.org
http:www.aafp.org


Group on Immunization Education of the Society of Teachers of 

Family Medicine 

The Group on Immunization Education of the Society ofTeachers of Family Medicine 

provides information for clinicians, including the free program Shots. Shots includes the 

childhood, adolescent, and adult schedules for iPhone, Palm, and Windows devices, as 

well as online versions (http://www.immunizationed.org/ ). 

Immunization Action Coalition (IAC) 

IAC provides child~ teen, and adult immunization information for health care 

professionals and their patients at http: //www.immunize.org. Free materials include 

CDC-reviewed technical pieces, patient handouts, VISs in multiple languages, and the 

weekly immunization news and information service "IAC Express," available at 

http://www.immunize.org/express. Information for the general public about vaccines 

and vaccine-preventable diseases is available at http: //www.vaccineinformation.org. 

Institute for Vaccine Safety 

Located at the Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, tp.e Institute for 

Vaccine Safety provides information about vaccine safety concerns and objective and 

timely information to physicians and health-care providers and parents. The Institute 

for Vaccine Safety also includes links to tables that include all vaccine components 

(http://www.vaccinesafety.edu) . 

State and Local Health Departments 

State and local health departments provide technical advice through hotlines, e-mail, 

and websites, including printed information regarding vaccines and_immunization 

schedules, posters, and other educational materials (see 

http ://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers/awardee-imz-websites.html and 

www.cdc.gov/mmwr /international/ relres.html). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Information Sources 187 

www.cdc.gov/mmwr
http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers/awardee-imz-websites.html
http:http://www.vaccinesafety.edu
http:http://www.vaccineinformation.org
http://www.immunize.org/express
http:www.immunize.org
http:http://www.immunizationed.org


Vaccine Education Center 

Located at the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, the Vaccine Education Center 

provides patient and provider vaccine information (http://www.chop.edu/centers

programs /vaccine-education-center). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Information Sources 188 

http://www.chop.edu/centers


Appendix 1: Glossary 

Adverse event. An untoward event that occurs after a vaccination that might be 

caused by the vaccine product or vaccination process. Adverse events include those that 

have the following characteristics: 1) vaccine induced (caused by the intrinsic 

characteristic of the vaccine preparation and the individual response of the vaccinee) : 

these events would not have occurred without vaccinatio,n (e.g., vaccine-associated 

para~ytic poliomyelitis); 2) vaccine potentiated: the events would have occurred anyway 

but were precipitated by the vaccination (e.g., first febrile seizure in a predisposed 

child); 3) programmatic error: the event was caused by technical errors in vaccine 

preparation, handling, or administration; and 4) coincidental: the event was associated 

temporally with vaccination by chance or caused by underlying illness. Special studies 

are needed to determine whether an adverse event is a reaction to the vaccine or the 

result of another cause. Sou~ces: Chen RT. Special methodological issues in 

pharmacoepidemiology studies of vaccine safety. In: Strom BL, ed. 

Pharmacoepidemiology. 3rd ed. Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons; 2000:707-732; 

and Fenichel GM, Lane DA, Livengood JR, Horwitz SJ, Menkes JH, Schwartz JF. 

Adverse events following immunization: assessing probability of causation. Pediatr 

Neural. 1989;5:287--90. 

Adverse reaction. An undesirable medical condition that has been demonstrated to 

be caused by a vaccin e. Evidence for the causal r elation is usually obtained through 

randomized clinical trials, controlled epidemiologic studies, isolation of the vaccine 

strain from the pathogenic site, or recurrence of the condition with repeated vaccination 

(i.e., rechallenge); synonyms include side effect and adverse effect. 

Adjuvant. A vaccine component distinct from the antigen that enhances the immune 

response to the antigen. 

Antitoxin. A solution of antibodies against a toxin. Antitoxin can.be derived from 

either human (e.g., tetanus immune globulin) or animal (usually equine) sources (e.g., 

189General Best Practice Guidelines fo r Immunization: Appendix 1: Glossary 



diphtheria and botulism antitoxin). Antitoxins are used to confer passive immunity and 

for treatment. 

Hyperimmune globulin (specific) . Special preparations obt ained from blood 

plasma from donor pools preselected for a high antibody content against a specific 

antigen (e.g., hepatitis B immune globulin, varicella-zoster immune globulin, rabies 

immune globulin, tetanus immune globulin, vaccinia immune globulin, cytomegalovirus 
I 

immune globulin, botulism immune globulin). 

Immune globulin. A sterile solution containing antibodies, which are usually 

obtained from human blood. It is obtained by cold ethanol fractionation oflarge pools of 

blood plasma and contains 15%-18% protein. Intended for intramuscular 

administration, immune globulin is primarily indicated for routine maintenance of 

immunity among certain immunodeficient persons and for passive protection against 

measles and hepatitis A. 

Immunobiologic. Antigenic substances (e.g., vaccines and toxoids) or antibody

containing preparations (e.g., globulins and antitoxins) from human or animal donors . 

These products are used for active or passive immunization or therapy. Examples of 

immunobiologics include antitoxin, immune globulin and hyperimmune globulin, 

monoclonal antibodies, toxoids, and vaccines. 

Intravenous immune globulin. A product derived from blood plasma from a donor 

pool similar to the immune globulin pool, but prepared so that it is suitable for 

intravenous use. Intravenous immune globulin is used primarily for replacement 

therapy in primary antibody-deficiency disorders, for treatment of Kawasaki disease, 

immune thrombocytopenic purpura, hypogammaglobulinemia in chronic lymphocytic 

leukemia, and certain cases of human immunodeficiency virus infection (Table 3-5). 

Monoclonal antibody. An antibody product prepared from a single lymphocyte 

clone, which contains only antibody against a single antigen. 

Simultaneous. In the context of vaccine timing and spacing, occurring on the same 

clinic day, at different anatomic sites, and not combined in the same syringe. 

190General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunizat ion: Appendix 1: Glossary 



Toxoid. A modified bacterial toxin that has .been made nontoxic, but retains the ability 

to stimulate the formation of antibodies to the toxin. 

Vaccination and immunization. The terms vaccine and vaccination are derived 

from vacca, the Latin term for cow. Vaccine was the term used by Edward Jenner to 

describe material used (i.e., cowpox virus) to produce immunity to smallpox. The term 

vaccination was used by Louis Pasteur in the 19th century to include the physical act of 

administering any vaccine or toxoid. Immunization is a more inclusive term, denoting 

the process of inducing or providing immunity by administering an immunobiologic. 

Immunization can be active or pa~sive. Active immunization is the production of 

antibody or other immune responses through administration of a vaccine or toxoid. 

Passive immunization means the provision of tempora1y immunity by the 

administration of preformed antibodies. Although persons often use the terms 

vaccination ana. immunization interchangeably in reference to active immunization, the 

terms are not synonymous because the administration of an immunobiologic cannot be 

equated automatically with development of adequate immunity. 

Vaccine. A suspension oflive (usually attenuated) or inactivated microorganisms (e.g., 

bacteria or viruses) or fractions thereof administered to induce immunity and prevent 

infectious disease or its sequelae. Some vaccines contain highly defined antigens (e.g., 

the polysaccharide of Haemophilus influenzae type b or the surface antigen of hepatitis 

B); others have antigens that are complex or incompletely defined (e.g., Bordetella 

pertussis antigens or live, attenuated viruses). 

Genera l Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 1: Glossary 191 



Appendix 2: Membership 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 


Membership List, October 2014 


Chair: TEMTE, Jonathan L., MD, PhD, University of Wisconsin School of Medicine 

and Public Health Madison, WI · 


Executive Secretary: Larry Pickering, MD, National Center for Immunization and 

Respiratory Diseases, CDC, Atlanta, Georgia. 


Members: BENNETT, Nancy, MD, MS, University of Rochester School of Medicine 

and Dentistry Rochester, NY 


· BELONGIA, Edward, MD, Marshfield Clinic Research Foundation Marshfield, WI 


BOCCHINI, Joseph A., Jr., MD, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center 

Shreveport, LA 


CAMPOS-OUTCALT, Douglas, MD, MPA, Mercy Care Plan Phoenix, AZ 


HARRIMAN, Kathleen, PhD, MPH, RN, California Department of Public Health 

Richmond, CA 


HARRISON, Lee H., MD, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA ,_ 


KARRON, Ruth A., MD, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health Baltimore, 

MD 


KEMPE, Allison, MD, MPH, The Children's Hospital of Denver, Denver, CO 


PELLEGRINI, Cynthia, March of Dimes Washington,_DC 


REINGOLD, Arthur L., MD, School of Public Health University of California Berkeley, 

CA 


RILEY, Laura E., MD, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA 


ROMERO, Jose R., MD, FAAP, Arkansas Children's Hospital Research Institute, Little 

Rock,AR 


RUBIN, Lorry, MD, Hofstra-North Shore LIJ School of Medicine Hempstead, NY 


VAzQUEZ, Marietta, MD, Yale University School of Medicine New Haven, CT 


Ex Officio Members: Amy Groom, MPH, Indian Health Service, .Albuquerque, New 

Mexico; J esse Geibe, MD, Department of Defense, CDC; Melissa Houston, MD, Health 
Resources and Services Administration;Rockville, Maryland; Bruce Gellin, MD, 
National Vaccine Program Office, Washington, District of Columbia; Mary Beth Hance, 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 2: M embership 192 



Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Baltimore, Maryland; Richard L. Gorman, 
MD, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland; Wellington Sun, MD, Food and 
Drug Administration, Bethesda, Maryland; Linda Kinsinger, MD, Department of 
Veterans Affairs, Durham, North Carolina. 

Liaison Representatives: American Academy of Family Physicians, Jamie Loehr, 
MD, Ithaca, New York; American Academy of Pediatrics, Carrie Byington, MD, Salt Lake 
City, Utah; David Kimberlin, MD, Birmingham, Alabama; American Academy of 
Physician Assistants, Marie-Michele Leger MPH, Alexandria, Virginia; American 
College Health Association, Susan Even, MD, Columbia, Missouri; American College of 
Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Kevin Ault, MD, Kansas City, Kansas; American 
College of Physicians, Sandra Adamson Fryhofer, MD, Atlanta, Georgia; Gregory 
Poland, MD, Rochester, Minnesota; .American Geriatrics Society, Kenneth Schmader, 
MD, Durham, North Carolina; America's Health Insurance Plans, Mark Netoskie, MD, 
MBA, Houston, Texas; American Medical Association, Sandra Adamson Fryhofer, MD, 
Atlanta, Georgia; American Nurses Association, Chad Rittle, DNP, Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania; Carol Hayes, CNM, Decatur, Georgia; American Osteopathic Association, 
Stanley Grogg, DO, Tulsa, Oldahoma; American Pharmacists Association, Stephan L. 
Foster, PharmD, Memphis, Tennessee; Association of Immunization Managers (AIM), . 
Kelly Moore, MD, Nashville, Tennessee; Association for Prevention Teaching and 
Research, W. Paul McKinney, MD, Louisville, Kentucky; Association of State and 
Territorial Health Officials, Terry Dwelle, MD, Bismarck, North Dakota; Biotechnology 
Industry Organization, Clement Lewin, PhD, Cambridge, Massachusetts; Canadian 
National Advisory Committee on Immunization, Ian Gemmill, MD, Kingston, Ontario, 
Canada; Infectious Diseases Society of America, Kathleen Neuzil, MD, Seattle, 
Washington; Carol Baker, JY.ID, Houston, Texas; National Association of Coutny and City 
Health Officials, Matthew Zahn, MD, Santa Ana, California; National Association of 
Pediatric Nurse Practitioners, Patricia Stinchfield, MPH, St Paul, Minnesota; National 
Foundation for Infectious Diseases, William Schaffner, MD, Nashville, Tennessee; 
National Immunization Council and Child Health Program, Mexico, Ignacio Villasenor. 
Ruiz, Mexico; National Medical Association, Patricia Whitley-Williams, MD, New 
Brunswick, New Jersey; National Vaccine Advisory Committee, Walter Orenstein, MD, 
Atlanta, Georgia; Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society, Mark Sawyer, MD, San Diego, 
California; Janet Englund, MD, Seattle, Washington; Pharmaceutical Research and 
Manufacturers ofAmerica, Damian A. Braga, Swiftwater, Pennsylvania; Society for 
Adolescent Medicine, Amy Middleman, MD, Houston, Texas; Society for Healthcare 
Epidemiology ofAmerica, David Weber, MD, Chapel Hill, North Carolina. 

Members of the General Recommendations on Immunization Working 
Group 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), Marietta Vazquez, MD; Dou g 
Campos-Outcalt, MD; Harriman, Kathleen, PhD, MPH, RN; Pellegrini, Cynthia; ACIP 
Liaison and Ex-Officio Members, Chris Barry, American Academy of Physician 
Assistants ; Katie Brewer, MSN, RN, American Nurses Associatfon; Stephan L. Foster, 
PharmD, American Pharmacists Association; Stanley E. Grogg, DO, American 
Osteopathic Association; Paul Hunter, MD, American Academy of Family Physicians; 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 2: Membership 19 3 



Shainoor Ismail, Public Health Association of Canada; Walter Orenstein, MD, American 

Academy of Pediatrics; Mark Sawyer, MD, Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society; David 

Weber, MD, Society for Healthcare Epidemiology ofAmerica; CDC Staff Members, 

Angela Calugar, MD, Robin Curtis, MD, Sophia Greer, Theresa Harrington, MD, 

Jennifer Liang, DVM, MPH, Elaine Miller, Gina Mootrey, DO, Larry Pickering, MD, 

Jean Smith, MD, Raymond Strikas, MD, MPH, Donna Weaver, MSN, Jessie Wing, MD, 

MPH, Joellen Walicki, RN, BSN, Skip Wolfe; other members and consultants, William 

Atkinson, MD, MPH, Immunization Action Coalition, Richard Clover, MD, University of 

Louisville School of Public Health, Jeffrey Duchin, MD, University of Washington, 

Susan Lett, MD, MPH, Massachusettes Department of Health, Kelly Moore, MD, MPH, 

Tennessee Department of Health, Deborah Wexler, MD, Immunization Action Coalition, 

Richard Zimmerman, MD. 


194General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 2: Membersh ip 



IV. New Business 

B.Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to 

the "Interpretative Administrative Zoning Rules and 
Regulations (2014) of the l(auai Planning 

Commission," Relating to Chapter 8, 9, and 10 of 
the l(auai County Code (1987), Enforcement of 

I<.PAR 8-19, l(auai County Code, Chapter 8, Article 

17, Relating to Transient Vacation Rentals of the 
Kauai County Code, promulgated by the County 
of l(auai Planning Commission 



lli ,:L lli' ~ ,:o:rn 
PRE-PUBLIC HEARING 


SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 

TO THE 
 ~~dllt-6SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 

(Hawaii Revised Statutes §201 M-2) 

Department or Agency: Kauai Planning Department 

Adm in istrative Ru Ie Ti tie and Chapter: lnlerprellve Administrative Zoning Rules and Regulations of !he Kauai Planning Commission 

Chapter Name: Administrative Rules Pertaining to tho lntorpretallon and Enforcement of Kauai County Code Chapter 8. Article 17 Relaling lo Transient Vacalion Rentals 

Contact Person/Title: Kaaina Hull, Deputy Director Planning Department; Jodi Higuchi, Deputy County Attorney 

Phone Number: (808)241 -4050; (808)241-4930 

E-mail Address: khull@kauai.gov; jhiguchi@kauai.gov Date: 1-30-17 

A 	 To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92
7, please attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general 

description of the subjects involved. · 


B. 	Are the draft rules available for viewing i~erson and on the Lieutenant Governor's 

Website pursuant to HRS §92-7? Yes ./ Non (If Yes, please provide 

webpage address and when and where ru es mayTe viewed in person© 

http:l/www.kauai.gov/Planning 

(Please keep the proposed rules on this webpage until after the SBRRB meeting.) 

I. 	 Rule Description: New I./IRepeal D Amendment D Compilation D 
II. 	 Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? Yes l./1 No D (If No, no 

need to submit this form.) 

* 	 "Affect small business" is defined as "any potential or actual requirement imposed upon 
a small business ... that will cause a direct and significant economic burden upon a 
small business, or is directly related to the formation , operation, or expansion of a small 
business." HRS §201 M-1 

* 	 "Small business" is defined as a "for-profit enterprise consisting of fewer than one 
hundred full-time or part-time employees." HRS §201 M-1 

Ill. Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that 
does not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the 
statute or ordinance? Yes D No l./1 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 

(e.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the agency the discretion 
to consider less restrictive alternatives.) HRS §201 M-2(d) 

IV. Is the proposed rule bei,!!.9.,adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? 
(HRS §201M-2(a)) Yes LJ No l./1 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 

* * * 

Revised I /05/20 16 

http:l/www.kauai.gov/Planning
mailto:jhiguchi@kauai.gov
mailto:khull@kauai.gov


Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
Page 2 

If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, 
please provide a reasonable determination of the following: 

1. 	Description of the small businesses that will be required to comply with the 

proposed rules and how they may be adversely affected. 


Owners and entities engaging in non-conforming transient vacation rental uses will be required to comply with the amended rules. 

Additional clarification is provided on the requirements of the NCUC renewal application. The most significant amendment 

eliminates the former grace period where renewal applications may be accepted 30 days past the deadline to renew, which 

conflicted with Kauai County Code §8-17.10. Finally, the fines schedule was amended to create consistency with KCC §8-1 7.6. 


2. 	 In dollar amounts, the increase in the level of direct costs such as fees or fines, 

and indirect costs such as reporting, recordkeeping, equipment, construction, 

labor, professional services, revenue loss, or other costs associated with 

compliance. 


The increased fines will be case-by-case-specific. 

If the proposed rule imposes a new or increased fee or fine: 

a. Amount of the current fee or fine and the last time it was increased. 
Fines for Class I or II structural violations found during an inspection connected to a NCUC renewal application was $250. Fines for 
other non-compliance with the TVR NCUC ordinance including having no NCUC sign posted was $250. 

b. Amount of the proposed fee or fine and the percentage increase. 


Increase is 100% and 400% respectively. 


c. 	 Reason for the new or increased fee or fine. 
KCC §8-17.6 requires a minimum $500 fine and maximum $10,000 fine. Thus, the amendment is consistent with the KCC and establishes consistency whether a Class I, II, or Ill 

structural violation. 

Many impacts and complaints of TVR impacts arise from neighbors Thus, an Increased fine for no NCUC sign posting is a high priority to the Department to emphasize the importance 

of such notice to neighboring landowners that a non-conforming TVR use is legal. 


d. Criteria or methodology used to determine the amount of the fee or fine 
(i.e., Consumer Price Index, Inflation rate, etc.). 

Fine is proposed relative to the other fines imposed, and under the maximum amount established by County Council. 

3. 	The probable monetary costs and benefits to the agency or other agencies 

directly affected , including the estimated total amount the agency expects to 

collect from any additionally imposed fees and the manner in which the moneys 

will be used. 


The fines are deposited in an account and those funds offset administrative costs for TVR 

enforcement activities. The clarification on procedures and requirements of the NCUC 

application will promote greater efficiency in the NCUC renewal process. 


Revised 1/05/20 16 



Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
Page 3 

4. 	 The methods the agency considered or used to reduce the impact on small 

business such as consolidation, simplification, differing compliance or reporting 

requirements, less stringent deadlines, modification of the fines schedule, 

performance rather than design standards, exemption, or other mitigating 

techniques. 


The amendment clarifies and updates the ordinance, which should reduce impacts in the NCUC renewal 
process. For instance, clarification was made to specify that "copies of annual tax returns and reconciliation 
reports for the previous year" should be submitted to evidence payment of GET and TAT taxes. 

5. 	 The availability and practicability of less restrictive alternatives that could be 

implemented in lieu of the proposed rules. 


The rules are the least restrictive alternative and should promote greater efficiency in the 

NCUC renewal process. 


6. 	 Consideration of creative, innovative, or flexible methods of compliance for small 

businesses. The businesses that will be directly affected by, bear the costs of, or 

directly benefit from the proposed rules. 


Again, the rules should clarify the NCUC renewal process. 

7. 	 How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed 

rules. 


The rules will be placed on the Planning Commission agenda where the public will be able to 
comment and suggest amendments to the amendments. 

a. 	 If there were any recommendations made by small business, were the 
recommendations incorporated into the proposed rule? If yes, explain. If 
no, why not. 

none. 

8. 	 Whether the proposed rules include provisions that are more stringent than those 

mandated by any comparable or related federal, state, or county standards, with 

an explanation of the reason for imposing the more stringent standard. 


The amendments are compliant with but do not impose more stringent provisions than the 
federal, state, or county standards. Many of the amendments were designed to be consistent 
with the implementing ordinance, KCC Chapter 8, Article 17. 

If yes, please provide information comparing the costs and benefits of the 
proposed rules to the costs and benefits of the comparable federal, state, or 
county law, including the following: 

Revised I /05/2016 



Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
Page4 

a. 	 Description of the public purposes to be served by the proposed rule. 

n/a 

b. 	The text of the related federal, state, or county law, including information 
about the purposes and applicability of the law. 

n/a 

c. 	 A comparison between the proposed rule and the related federal, state, or 
county law, including a comparison of their purposes, application, and 
administration. 

n/a 

d. 	 A comparison of the monetary costs and benefits of the proposed rule with 
the costs and benefits of imposing or deferring to the related federal, state, 
or county law, as well as a description of the manner in which any 
additional fees from the proposed rule will be used. 

n/a 

e. 	A comparison of the adverse effects on small business imposed by the 
proposed rule with the adverse effects of the related federal, state, or 
county law. 

n/a 

* * * 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board/ DBEDT 

Phone: (808) 586-2594 


Email: dbedt.sbrrb@hawaii.gov 


This Statement may be found on the 

SBRRB Website at: 


http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/small-business-impact-statements-pre-and-post-pubic-hearing 


Revised 1/05/20 16 

http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/small-business-impact-statements-pre-and-post-pubic-hearing
mailto:dbedt.sbrrb@hawaii.gov


A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please 
attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general description of the subjects 
involved. 

The amendment to the interpretive rules clarify the Planning Department's responsibilities in 
implementing Kaua'i County Code (KCC) Chapter 8, Article 17 Relating to Transient Vacation 
Rentals and the amendment brings the rules in line with the requirements of KCC Chapter 8, Article 
17. Namely, the amendment further elaborates what items must be submitted to the Planning 
Department along with applications to renew non-conforming use certificates (NCUC), the deadlines 
for NCUC applications, and the repercussions for failing to submit an application by the NCUC's 
annual expiration date. In addition, the amendment increases the per day fine amount for Class I or II 
type structural violations from $250 to $500 and non-compliance with the ordinance violations, which 
include posting· no NCUC sig·n from $250 to $1,000. 

Interpretive Administrative Zoning Rules and Regulations (2014) of the Kaua'i Planning Commission 
Relating to Chapter 8, 9, and 10 of the Kaua' i County Code (1987) 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
County ofKaua'i State of Hawai'i 

ADMINISTRATIVE RULES PERTAINING TO 
THE INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF KAUAI COUNTY OD R8, se04:5 

ARTICLE 17 RELATING TO TRANSIENT VACATION RENTALS 

AUTHORITY: 

Pursuant to Article XIV Section 14.03.E of the Kauai County Chaiter, the Planning Commission 
of the County of Kaua' i adopts the following administrative rulfs1pe1iaining to the responsibility 
of the Planning Department to enforce Chapter 8, Article l 7t~P1the Kauai County Code 1987, as 
amended, ("KCC") concerning to the certification and er,fHWb~ent ofTransient Vacation 

Rentals. 	 t!IIIIIIP"ll!lllljl 
Pursuant to KCC Section 8-1 7. l 2(h), the annuaj t~jjij I•al of a non-l~~'fvr,ning use certificate is 
require[d]s as prescribed--ifl [in accordance witH]iKee Sections 8-17-i'd(a·}1)-The renewal 
documentation requires at a minimum: 11 \liij ;j '11 ii!lllll 

~	 I@· "_------..,,,,1, -- ~ Jt1~ 
...pro_ofthat there is a _CU!Xef/~~J !f./_q0i~~~J.k'~ ?e~ lS~~ lt't:ense and_ 
transient accommo~ d£J,ifbehs,e,J01~th.e1n ncot1i ornung~ , · ,_Failure to meet this 

. . . . 1,..w..,1.1. 1, , ,t,~~ ''itl1,1, ,
condition will result m thejg.utemcfhc:'ll{17 f.al of~R,{~o or renewal ofthen~ g-tt~t~W~ ·q~ -11,q11i' 

1-	 _ wr~~ _,_ .: ' 1111 ll I 11,, - ·ill!111, 
Non-conforming use~ f! ''e19efi~ e\:l under KCm1sectjo'iJ i11l1a1.Q~iand s#ecifically Section 8-13 .2(b),

I 1	 ,, T:•11 'I1ti 11 ,, ,. 1qt;\' 

which states as follo'. ,.q: . 
1 !'It. -;il'!!!II, 1 

'
11 hl!l1 

111,l!, Pill 'i: 1Ifany nonconforinin'gyi1se ceqsGsfor any 11t asonfor a continuous period oftwelve (12) 
., :., u •11• } qii I•, 1Jl llri1~l'111111 if h!tjil b l h h h ll bcal1m uu,:

1 
1m'or1,t,1sor;t f\'0,;ie,11j 1SeijSIOlnz t eluwe eseasona, tent euses a not e: 	 1111 1 111 I 'II•, I(! !! 'I I I'. •, . I.I ) . .(i'~~}1~a a~alqTTfi!We oJ~1(ll' land or blif{«1~g t ereafter shall be zn full confornuty ofthe 


1!1?,r.l~viswns ofth1s·.~(1apter. 1llllll 11!!!1 

I 1111· 111111 i 111 


FINDINGS:11111111 1111l1 '1111111 
The re~eireme.JJl~~irr,ose ofthJJJ ,ruies is to eJC clarify the Planning Department's 
responsibilities in irhplementing!ilie-Chapter 8, Article 17 of the KCC,_ lack specificityIn 
particular, the rules clail{fx :rietjt~ihing to the annual renevv'al process, including late filing, the 
documentat10n an. ev1 eno~,,HIeqmre 1' . ~ • e med • T7 CCd 'd 1 

~ • d to mamtam a non-con1ormmg use as. d fi m 1-.... 

Section 8-13, and the procedures necessary for a ce1tificate holder to seek due process in the 
event ofnon-renewal. 

RULE: 

1. 	 NON-CONFORMING USE CERTIFICATE (NCUC) RENEWAL 

A. 	 A-Requirements for Renewal. Applications for renewal shall en!-y--be accepted by 
the Planning Department no earlier than sixty (60) days prior to the certificate's 
NCUC's renewal expiration date. The annual renewal deadline is on the same day and 

http:thejg.utemcfhc:'ll{17f.al


the same month and day of the original determination by the Planning Department, 

which cetiified the non-conforming usemade by the Planning Department certifying 

the non conforming use. 

Along with the mandatory renewal form, the following documents must accompany 

the submittal, pursuant to KCC 8-17. l 2(h)(l): 


DB. Renewal Applications. It is the certificate holder's responsibility to submit 
Submittalapplications to renew the NCUC by the renew·al NCUC's expiration date . 
Idate is the certificate holder's responsibility as the Planning Department shall not be 
responsible for notifying the holder of any pertinent deadlines . Renewals postmarked 
by the deadline and received within seven (7) days after the deadline shall be 
accepted by the Planning Department as submitted timely. 

2 




CF. Late Renewal Applications. Failure to submit an application to renew the 
NCUC by the NCUC' s expiration date wi ll result in the automatic denial of the 
application. The Planning Department shall not accept applications submitted after 
the expiration date. Renewal applications received by the Planning Department 
within thirty days (30) after the deadline may renew, provided that in addition to the 
renewal fee, a certificate holder shall pay an administrative processing fee of twice 
the renewal fee. 

3 




2. VIOLATIONS 

A. Transient Vacation Rentals with NCUC and Violations. Pursuant to KCC Section 
8-17.12(h)(2), the Planning Department may withhold the renewal of a NCUC if a 
violation of the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance (CZO) or other pertinent land use 
laws are identified on the property. A temporary cease and desist order shall be issued 
to the certificate holder to immediately suspend vacation rental activities until the 
violation has been rectified. Should the vacation rental use continue in violation of the 
temporary cease and desist order, and the order has not been appealed pursuant to 
Chapter 9 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the Planning Commission, fines 
shall be applicable as a non-allowed use outside the j~ f~itor Destination Area. 

I. 	 CZO Violations. For lots with active trans~*~~!' a~ation rental NCUCs, the 
Planning Department shall keep a recov~ jg~,a~~ [{R.t;11Plaints and violations on the 
property. Along with a withhold notice, ~gy viola'tidhs shall require the issuance 

. 1lll!!)JI h 'fi 'llli·\, ld . h' (10) dof a temporary cease and des1st qruei11to t e cert1 1cate1nR er wit m ten ays 
from submittal of the renewal fi ~tnWThe letter shall c1d!Ht1iState that any vacation 

·1 h l i 11 ,. • . ~ ,..l 'f 1i'n1 11i, d . 1 drenta1use must cease unt1 t e vto at10n 1s rectl e1,1sor 1 t e or er 1s appea e . 
F ·1 ·r he VlO· 1atlon ~ · ·'li1nrnh~~~~1:J\fif ' r~f'.l--,0f the¼~.Pt2!·im1~ ~!lStfandal Ure to rectl y t . lt}llf;~ 1

1 

desist order shal he c,01ilSia~r.ei.Virffiirfcicfnh1eiiH.tb.~rs:UaU(;.-t5"=1«es'¼~tion 8-23 .2(b).
'',Hn I,'1·::- · •tt'1 Vi1~~-L ,., ,

Fines for th@ a t-ea cv..,~ :WioJathons d:eaa·H\'-01ro ce1tific~ ithholding shall be1 1 \;.,\,VI~ , .~ '?i tf f l) ~ 
issued as a se r ttzb~ rJl:!:rtll ~eP,:-irately...,m~eill~~ 

tpl~ '•'l1/n~ rri·p11
-l:1~5Gl?,;~ 	 -e:.1'· ~- ~ n111,1 !11t 
- . iola~ s•.0Ji1pJp:ei]-h tt1ne .t l~and Us1i1ia~~· For lpfs,with active transient 

1 

vacattim#lti6~rnu*flru1JCs, the PJanningjWM~l4·Hnent silUii notify other County 
agenal:e m: the ndi m 11

1
,i 1~donformid~13'se ~

1·th instmbtibns to carbon copy any violation 
'~fll ' · 1 ti t q11 1 IJI.: ·11 •

notices 0fjJheir rele ant codes to.tn:e Planning Depaiiment. The Depmiment shall 
'l, q,. · 1 l!t · A''I H • f 1 l ld 1 dCata1og these1y10 atlO

1
fl1flOtlces. q 11 

.e time O renewa, S 10U a Cata oge 
1 

, 11j1
1vib~·a~· n noi1~¥i1l1.1 /~J.J~1e\it~~d actii~lh;\ the file, the Planning Department shall 

1 I 11111;\~1. I fl11i · d'GJl11. dq" 1 · h · ,:-. · h 'fil · 1ss e,~~1mporar)I cease an ues1st 9r er a ong wit m1ormat10n t e cert! 1cate11111
t! IlI!, holder triMt j'the a iUJle-renewatWiW be withheld pending resolution of anyIll ,r11 ~ i ·q11 11 

, J11 1 vio~ations.. 1fttgi1~~er s~~ll ~learly state that. any vacation re~tal use mus.t cease 
1 1!1mJtil the v10lati.,?i~,1s rectiifl

1
~?i and the order 1s appealable. Failure to rectify the

viRt~~ion within!~~ie o) ye~r' of the temporary cease and desist order shall be 
coH~

1
~qered abanqoHment pursuant to KCC Section 8-23.2(b). A letter from the 

Courit~ 
1

'agency tl1i~ 1the violation has been rectified must be submitted to the 
Planni~Ml~e.riai-HW~~t to release the hold on the renewal.

'•llldl!!l"' 
B. 	 Single-Family T'ransient Vacation Rentals Operating Without Certificate, A 

Zoning Compliance notice shall be issued on a lot where an inspection has 
ascertained a Single-Family Transient Vacation Rental use. An after-the-fact NCUC 
shall not be issued by the Planning Depaitment, the final appealable decision of the 
Director shall be upon the second notice, should the use persist, whereby the Director 
has levied a fine. 

4 




3. ENFORCEMENT. 

A. 	 Zoning Compliance Notice. A Zoning Compliance Notice related to Single-Family 
use shall require a response from the person notified within ten (10) days of service. 
A withholding of the renewal and temporary cease and desist order shall be treated as 
a Zoning Compliance Notice. 

B. 	 Notice of Violation. Should no response be received after service of a Zoning 
Compliance Notice, or the Planning Director finds lack of progress to timely rectify 
the violation the Planning Department shall issue a ¥btjce of Violation. The Notice of 

1 
!1Violation shall include a levy of fines, which maiji~~ Jppealed pursuant to Chapter 9 

of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the,PXM'i~ ng Commission. 

·tli 1111"'' 11 1111 
4. FINE SCHEDULE I fllllil ' ' 111111
 

11 

F . h 11 b 1 . d . dd" ~, 11 . . ~ ll.!lhd 'f hmess a e ev1e ma 1tlon to1~ _, perm1tt111g 1ees reqm~9 Ito rectI y t e 

1"-llj!I . 1 

qIJ1111violation. 	 ~ . 
11L " :rtm?ir ~ 

TVR NCUC FINE SCHEDULE 

Starting at $500 

Starting at $2,500 

Starting at $5,000 

$10,000 

Baseyard in Res District 
Startin at $5000 

TVR w/o NCUC 
$10,000 

OTHER VIOLATIONS 

Non-Compliance with 
Ordinance No NCUC Sign Starting at $2-W1 ,000 

5 




~®UW~~PLANNING COMMISSION 
County of Kaua'i State of Hawai'i 

JUL I l ,Z,ol /4 l! 
ADMINISTRATIVE RULES PERTAINING TO 

THE INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF KAUAI COUNT CO 
ARTICLE 17 RELATING TO TRANSIENT VACATION RENTALS 

AUTHORITY: 

Pursuant to Article XIV Section 14.03.E of the Kauai County Charter, the Planning Commission 
of the County ofKaua'i adopts the following administrative r~Wsipertaining to the responsibility 
of the Planning Depaiiment to enforce Chapter 8, Article 1 (!l~~lt~b Kauai County Code 1987, as 
amended, ("KCC") concerning to the certification and e !Ir rqgment of Transient Vacation 

pl<tjl''•
Rentals. t( ' 1l!i!jl11 1 

I. 8 17 12(h) h l "1llllli 1 f iln1i,,. . ' fi .Pursuant to Kee Section - . , t e annua ,!l'e ewa o a non-coq.rormmg use ce1i1 1cate 1s 
,l!P 11 H llj

require[ d]s as prescribed in [in accordance wi,H]l!WCC Sections 8-17-11Q~r.,~). The renewal 

documentation requires at a minimum: 111111!!' 11lllj11 
. . 111111 ,i.1111111, . 1111,!J., . 

...proofthat there is a currer1;tl~,dvalzd.State 0Jlflagwa11,/Meneral excise tax 0,eense and 
. d . wl.,11, fi h lfl 111v,, . D ·t h.transient accommo atlons ta1 W~n~f or t e non'. ,owormzng use. ral ure to meet t is 

condition will result in the autd~ 9tY.~)IJJenr·a1 ofthe 
1
b»Ji.,1·cationfor renewal ofthe 

11 I 111111 l) 't t !I
nonconforming use certificates. !'h ', iliJ'ji . I I'll 

11 
. ,,!!'! llll!i11 111,I . 1 

1\l1lI]111 , ' 1!'!lll, . . 
Non-conformmg uses ~ 9l~efin,t# under KC~ l! ect , [?]VilFif'and spec1fically Sect10n 8-l3,2(b), 
which states as follo:'. j I 

1 

111 111 i\lllltl I• dl1!JJ
1 


llll!i I 11 qil1
Ifany nonconfor,)ifng, rise .CeClf.eStrr any eason for a continuous period ofMelve (12) 
cale!M''llW/1 '"months o;o/J,i,id~~:lrqY1bttsQn ifthM!Hsle be seasonal, then the use shall not be 

f l II Hi I ff: 111 I I '• ' II I, I, ' . h , . .,~g)MaaM!il~n){!t(se oflflej land or oil1l'llin.g thereafter shall be m full conformity ofthe 
I IIIP' Hi, Ir ''II 11 •ffl!H 

I W,:~visions ofthlS 'a71uipter. 111' !II·I'!l I '!11 I· 11 11i1jj! 'j, 

FINDINGSl'lli1111 111111 j 1l111111 

The purpose of1A~~lf"les is to !/~rify the Planning Department's responsibilities in 
implementi~g Chapibi)i~'r ~ rti~}i ll\ P of the I~CC_. In pa1iicular, th~ rules clarify the . 
documentat10n and ev1cigHce jreijU1red to mamtam a non-conformmg use as defined 111 KCC 
Section 8-13, and the pr~gg~tjt~~ necessary for a ce1iificate holder to seek due process in the 
event of non-renewal. 

RULE: 

1. NON-CONFORMING USE CERTIFICATE {NCUC) RENEWAL 

A. Requirements for Renewal. Applications for renewal shall be accepted by the 
Planning Department no earlier than sixty (60) days prior to the NCUC's expiration 
date. The annual renewal deadline is on the same day and month of the original 
determination by the Planning Depaiiment, which certified the non-conforming use. 

1 




Along with the mandatory renewal form, the following documents must accompany 
the submittal, pursuant to KCC 8-l 7.12(h)(l): 

1. 	 The renewal fee in the amount set fo1ih by ordinance; 
2. 	 A copy of a current and valid General Excise Tax (GET) ce11ificate; and 
3. 	 A copy of a current and valid Transient Accommodation Tax (TAT) certificate. 

Fmiher, in order to comply with KCC Section 8-17.S(b) and asce1iain continuous use 
pursuant to KCC Section 8-13 .2(b ), the following shall also be submitted to the 
Planning Department: 

. d. d . . h . .fjil!lill• d I NCUC 'fi1. A copy o f a11 pnnt an internet a vert1smg t flt fnc u es t 1e certI 1cate 
number or registration number, and an on-''.~I~tlb!24/7 contact name and phone 
number. qjj 111 ' 'l!i 1111

1 1 

2. A dated, updated copy of the "For '(ldHf Safety ana_!cr0mfo11" information 
1	 111document provided to vacation retif ~dtenants; ,qJ'lil 

. f h . d ,llf>l "· • .I;+ . h h h .3. Adated picture o t e reqmre tfi·@s1ent vacation renta s15 n wit t e ouse m 
viewing range; and 'l!lllll!l ''till Iii, 

4. 	 A copy or copies of annual tax returll
1 1 

1and rec,oli'thliation repo tforl the previous 
'H,!).c RI II iii' 'I!'! Iyear that evidences payment of the GE .1!:an' ~AT taxes. 111I

11,dH) I I 11 II I 
5. 	 For the period of one ~((!1•)\?°TI from the dm;e 9l approval of these R7.lles, the 

c ll • 1. II l 1. f1 I1 • I11 I h ,10 owmg Stta a sou . . I· • ·,o·· . : 

after the deadfo\,~l~\1~~ renev,r, provided that in addition to the renewal fee, a 
ce1iificate holder shall pay an administrative processing fee of twice the renewal fee. 

D. 	 Inspections. Once an application is accepted, the Planning Department may require 
an inspection to verify the non-conforming use and compliance with the 
Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance and other pe1iinent land use laws. The Planning 
Department may withhold approval of a renewal application and issue cease and 
desist notices to the applicant until all violations have been resolved to the 
satisfaction of the Planning Director. 

2 



E 	 Renewal Notices. The Planning Department shall notify the certificate holder if the 
renewal application has been approved, approved pending a certain action, withheld, 
or denied within forty-five (45) days of the certificate's renewal deadline. 

F. 	 Non Compliance Timeline. After the thirtieth (30lh) day after the renewal deadline, 
the Department shall raject any rene\.val application and issue a forfeiture letter. 

F. 	 Appeal. Determination that the renewal application has been approved, approved 
pending a certain action, withheld, or denied may be appealed pursuant to Chapter 9 
of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the Planning Commission. 

G. Voluntary Forfeiture. A certificate holder m•nif »l~~ /arily forfeit the NCUC 

provided an declaration attesting to the voluntar¥ila~tion is submitted 


1contemporaneously with a form provided briltHJ1p1a%1'ng Department. 

I\· 1

!
1 111 j· 


. ir n1l11111 ,ll!111i11
1 	 1,uh 1 IJ11. 

·d111} q/111 

·1 1111 '1111111111,[1 !11!i!J1, I !!1111111 
'I d'1'11 I[! I ' ' (l !dlj111 111111 

111Il, ' It'Ii I:IilIllI iiiIIIII 
111 

lll!lil!lllll!1111 
11

11111,, ··:,;11, 1111111111'1 11111, 
1!! II 1!• I l 1 '!111·11 111.1 I !ijj!Jj1 

q11111· ti Iit I 

i, 111·111111111111111111111, 111111111111 · llll!!i!l11111111111,11111111, 

1111 ( 11'!' l!!i 111111!11I 

( lll\j!11• 111111111·1 11111111, 

11111111 ' '1 I1 ''!llh 

·tlp1, ·l 


•!!111 1 I l 

•1[1111111111!1 


3 




2. VIOLATIONS 

A. Transient Vacation Rentals with NCUC and Violations. Pursuant to KCC Section 
8-17.12(h)(2), the Planning Department may withhold the renewal of a NCUC if a 
violation of the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance (CZO) or other pertinent land use 
laws are identified on the property. A temporary cease and desist order shall be issued 
to the certificate holder to immediately suspend vacation rental activities until the 
violation has been rectified. Should the vacation rental use continue in violation of the 
temporary cease and desist order, and the order has not been appealed pursuant to 
Chapter 9 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the Planning Commission, fines 
shall be applicable as a non-allowed use outside the j~ ) itor Destination Area. 

1 

1. CZO Violations. For lots with active transi~.~~ljjacation rental NCUCs, the 
dl'li 1!1 11 1I,

Planning Department shall keep a rec01'. j9J1any,:9omplaints and violations on the 
1 

property. Along with a withhold noficlc, ~hy viola~ighs shall require the issuance 
of a temporary cease and desist or4~~!lib the certificrit~l»older within ten (10) days 
from submittal of the renewal ±;9:i$.1The letter shall cle1~l~! tate that any vacation 

111 	 ·1 th 1
,1 " · ·fi d or 1 t ne,or .IJ. der 1s appea e1 drenta use must cease untl e v10 at on 1s· rectl 1e 'f li · . 

F ·1 'f h . l . . 'ttt11f II (1) dh f h IIJ!lh, da1 ure to rect1 y t e v10 at10n wit 14 ~~e ,~ffflF•o t e tempqra1~y cease an 
desist order shall be f~f}~idered abanciontn~~'r i~rsuant to KCc's!~~tion 8-23.2(b). 
Fines for the actual c iol~i9.lations lead'Nl.~~o certificate withholding shall be 
• 	 I 111' lq 11P ' '( II
issued as a separate order!' ai\.cP-~eP.arately ap ecil~ble. 

II11 11 •i q!, r; ,. 'll'I i
'1 llqll11 •i Ii·I 

2. Violations of:lother Pertine1t~ ILand Us~1Ilaws. For l~ts,with active transient . 	 ,n1'"' ilm' l\l.l • ·'.111 11111 l, 't_!II, .vacat10~1,r~µta ~ ~ UCs, the l?;l,anm11Rlf.3ppa\',myq.t sriall notify other County 
agenc~ffa l~f the nJ1~fi~,rrormin~IVf,¢:t ith insd-Ul!lh~ns to carbon copy any violation 
notices ~t jtheir rele~~ft codes tol;tn~ Planning Department. The Depaiiment shall 
catalog thcl!~1Y·olatidn notices. Ai~He time of renewal, should a cataloged

1 1

IIHJ''' ' ii. t IHll!lilll 1Jl!Pj,, d ·i ui1. h fil h Pl . 	 h 11'll'1I ;it,mW,'?-~not1c.rt1n 1?res nt d1~,~;p~_ct1 lfdl1ll1t le 1 e, ~ he. cannm~ Dephaiime?fit s a 
' issue·a',kmporary, cease an uesist jor er a ong wit m101mat1on t e ce1i1 1cate 

(f 1Jllllrt 111), 111' I p11111! I I h?lde~· tnallt~~,a fut4}Jr- i1-;enewal wi }1be withheld pend~ng resolution of any 
.11111 v10lat10ns. lrhtHetter Mn~ll clearly state that any vacation rental use must cease 

'illlttntil the violati'.~n ,is redi!ried and the order is appealable, Failure to rectify theI 	

~~Ri~tion within!~~e(1) y~~l-' of the temporary cease and desist order shall be 
cdH~idered aban9prlrnent pursuant to KCC Section 8-23.2(b). A letter from the 
CourlWl1hrnncy tn~t1

1
1~he violation has been rectified must be submitted to the 

' ·lJ fp_ I Jl!jl
Planning!.LY~J.i ·r ment to release the hold on the renewal. 

'tiq ll Ip· 

B. 	 Single-Family Transient Vacation Rentals Operating Without Certificate. A 
Zoning Complia11ce notice shall be issued on a lot where an inspection has 
asce1iained a Single-Family Transient Vacation Rental use. An after-the-fact NCUC 
shall not be issued by the Planning Depaiiment, the final appealable decision of the 
Director shall be upon the second notice, should the use persist, whereby the Director 
has levied a fine. 

4 




3. ENFORCEMENT. 

A. 	 Zoning Compliance Notice. A Zoning Compliance Notice related to Single-Family 
use shall require a response from the person notified within ten (10) days of service. 
A withholding of the renewal and temporary cease and desist order shall be treated as 
a Zoning Compliance Notice. 

B. 	 Notice of Violation. Should no response be received after service of a Zoning 
Compliance Notice, or the Planning Director finds lack of progress to timely rectify 
the violation the Planning Department shall issue ~l¥btjce of Violation. The Notice of 
Violation shall include a levy of fines, which ma~~l!ppealed pursuant to Chapter 9 
of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of thel 11JE~ ng Commission. 

-i1 I j1P''1!1111 
4. FINE SCHEDULE ,,if'illlil' I.I 111111 I 


11 

Fines shall be levied in addition toi~!\~l~ermitting fees reql i~~d to rectify the 

1
violation. l 

11 !!l!1II . 11 d1l'l1II 

111' II !!1, ,diii!!'11 Ii It11 l!t 1 


TVR NCUC FINE SCHEDULE 

111111 "lllle'11mp1e 
1ll!![11,. Fine per instance or Type ld11 ~I , n,, 1I j 11, per day 

'Ulh '' 11\Pli[ 'liljll
STRU9f µRE VIOht.rip Ns I Ill·.rillll!l!ll!li11i I hi, f It • !I I 11, 1, I 

,il.Jl,11j1P' ' 11 y111 I Lawn B'~ilpir9,{Unp.ermift~~l11 , ~} Starting at $500Class 1:~nNrequire , 1.1ac;rr11 . l 
11 q ..uon 1 


111 l)p

Class Ill r~RHi_red l!l)unpermitt~ 1~·?nstruction Starting at $500 

'\Ult,. Starting at $2,500 
iii[ 111~- ill\; 

i lllBqJPrif..1V req ,r.ri~ rd II 1IP~nr.rr111itted 'lW,',;wtruction 

I!l l!lse Pe'ri:m:~aria'H~\eili'I\ lj l. i• q I Buildin'g ;eignt violation Starting at $5,000re'Ql!JI ~:d ', It. ·!I, , 

Not allowecll)hltr,e
1 $10,000'l!ll!!th, Illegal D~nsity 1h, zoninq disthct li 

'l1!111,111 ·,11 USE VIOLATIONS ' 1111111, llh 
Use:fi·e~r;niWariancell Baseyard in Res District 1r.~6'1;1ired 11' Startinq at $5000 

Not allo~Er~i in t~eIll! TVR w/o NCUC zoninQ cli~tri8d ll $10,000 
"h11' 

OTHER VIOLATIONS 

Non-Compliance with 
No NCUC Sign Starting at $1,000Ordinance 

5 




IV. New Business 

C. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to 
Title 1, Rules ofPractice and Procedure of the 
l(auai County Planning Commission (Codified May 
2014), as follows, promulgated by the County of 
l(auai Planning Commission: 

1. Chapter 9, Appeals from Actions of the 
Planning Director 

2. Chapter 6, Agency Hearing Procedures 



A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please 
attach a statement ofthe topic of the proposed rules or a general description of the subjects 
involved. 

The amendment to Chapter 9, Appeals from Actions of the Planning Director, Rules of Practice and 
Procedure of the Kauai County Planning Commission clarifies the actions of the Planning Director 
that may be appealed to the Planning Commission by eliminating reference to specific articles within 
the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision Ordinance. In addition, the amendment 
clarifies that any person, not just applicants, can petition to appeal actions under the Shoreline 
Setback Ordinance. Finally, the amendment clarifies the deadline for filing petitions to appeal for each 
type of action. These amendments are desig·necl to further clarify the process to eliminate 
controversies highlighted by recent contested case appeals. 

~ ©~OW~ ~ 

JUL 1 1 WI 1-.W 
I 

Interpretive Administrative Zoning Rules and Regulations (2014) of the Kaua' i Planning Commission 
Relating to Chapter 8, 9, and 10 of the Kaua'i County Code (1987) 



lo)~©~D W~ ~ 
CHAPTER9 lJl] JUL ' 1 ,z.o ( 1 ~ 

APPEALS FROM ACTIONS OF THE PLANNING DI 

1-9-1 	 Applicability. 

.ill)_ An applicant may petition to appeal an action of the Director in the administration of the 
Comprehensive Zoning and Subdivision Oordinances as provided for in Chapter 8 [, Articles 
17, 18, 19, 24 , ans 28] and Chapter 9 [, Articles 3 ans 5] of th~ Kaua'i County Codef,as

1
Amenses, 1987]. Intervention, pursuant to Chapter 4 of the~· ,1~vles, shall not be allowed in 

applicant appeals from actions of the Director. ril!l!I 1· 
/t..\ n · · 0t.. l' " t.. 1 n · · n · l n · · fillllllll Jli .llllil, n:n r~rtammg to any c11ore me cetuaci<: uetermmat10n, ,npprova ;·uema or uetermmat1on o 

l. t..'l' t.. l n· 	 ,lf'l l•i 'jld11 1 , c t.. n· .I	napp 10au11ty uy t1e utreetor, any person may ,petmon to appea at1.aflt10n od11e utrector m 
t.. ,.1 , , , c t.. ri t.. · -dl1J P 1'..i · !Ufi! l i c · rit.. 8 A • l'7ttte aum1mstrat10n o.dtte vomprettens1ve bOnin~,orumanoe as prov1ueo,J:Qr m vttapter, nrt1e e 

1111•1; ·111 11 1
27 of the Kaua'i Gounty Gose. t IHl[i . llillll 

. tllilh, rilljll!i• 1·\IJ!i .
b An erson who can show that a' clU'ect robable11arn:fao His or her erson 0l lh1s or her 

• b bl bl'li! t.!I')\ 1 ld 1111 h d • • ., • • lI f l prope1ty mterest, or pro a e pu 1c,uarm··cou occur rom t e ec1s10n may petlt10n to appea 
any Shoreline Setback Determination.Ult\p'#tb\ial,. Denial dPbetermination of Inapplicability by 

l / 11' 	 "I( I, J.J,llL
the Director pursuant to Chapter 8, Article 27 ofitlfo Kaua'i c;o;t.'mty Code. 


,· 
11j, 1 'l fl' l'l ·qwj 


1
1-9-2 	 Submission of A ea'.'Jli!llllllllllillj11 ··1,!!11111 -1:l!ji/!1/illillilil'iPjl' ! ll· 

1
1 1

1111 l' ' ·1 1 111'!; l' ii ' . 

.ill)_ Ti_me for Filing. Pdi!~f;0~s t~ ,~~Jl~ial an actidJ

1
ofthe Director shall be submitted and filed 


1 
with the,Qlerk of the Gbn11ntss10n.l j!Jll!I 

1llli1i 
!lllJ!!lill!ll tll !ll'll11, '1111 !I:'' l%111i11 l:il:I l 

1t!ll ll, i (1) jlR~:'~ppe lsl;o~,the Dir~c~<1n·1's actions pursuant to the Com~rehensive 
· 111111 Zolli1~ri Ord1M

1
~~1f;e, pet1t1ons shall be filed no later than thirty (30) days

1l\jj1
1h after tl1'Ji date ot tlie Director's decision or service of the Order. 

dl l!ii , 111111. t'I . . .. .
(29]l!lll For appealb of the D1rector's actions pursuant to the Subd1v1s10n 

1j1@Tdinan@ I' etitions shall be submitted no later than fifteen 15 da s 
1~:ft~rtlitJ1ofthe Director's decision or service Order. 

11' i!!l 1 

11 1 

(3) 	 For appeals of any Shoreline Setback Determination, Approval, Denial or 
Determination of Inapplicability by the Director pursuant to Chapter 8, 
Article 27 of the Kaua'i County Code, petitions shall be filed no later 
than thirty (30) days after the date of the Commission meeting that the 
Director notifies the Commission of the Director's decision . 

.(hl Contents of a Petition for Appeal. The petition to appeal shall contain the following: 



- -

(1) 	 The name, address and telephone number of the appellant. 

(2) 	 The identification of the prope1iy and the appellant's interest therein. 

(3) 	 The particular provision of the zoning ordinance or subdivision 
ordinance or regulation in question. 

(4) 	 All pertinent facts. 

(5) 	 The action of the Director. 111111 1 

• f 1111111. 
(6) 	 The reasons for the appeal, inctlld\~~l~lstatement as to why the appellant 

h h D' ',,llld, b11 !,TI fi d' fb l• at t e 1rector s ft9t1on was a e, on an erroneous 111 mg o ae 1eves t I 

material fact, or that the ~\t~Jior had act~a 1ijlflIT arbitrary or capricious 

manner, or had rnanif~ftli~!~bused his discretidqllllil, 
1

. d N . If .. 1/l,!1, . h ii • I lllhi, 'b d. 1 9 I 9 3 	 Contested C ase Heanng an ot1ce. a petition cor,ta111s t ef1;eqmrements prescn e 111 - 
• 	 ,, 111 . ,. 111!!1I ' 1!1 111 • •

2(1)-(6), the Director shall place the 1matter on the Co 1ss10n agenda and the <Domm1ss1on -,,1 1 ,lill: I !ill tpl • . 
shall afford the appellant an opp01t1.1pity1tt91qe heard. Suq Contested Case Hearing shall be 

1 

conducted in conformity with the apJ Heabre(~1royisions e Wim::;hed herein for Contested Case 
. 	 . . . '!Ill "'11(1•,J,1 · 111 11 · 

heanngs before the Comm1ss1011111 Chapter 6 of'tlies Rules. 1jl1lj 

·111llllllPP1 ' 1ll!11 ·q:: Iill1P1· II llli 
1-9-4 Commission Actio,1,1.;III / 1 l I llll!i 1ll\1 .. , 1r!lq 1 •' ,I 111!11111

·'i' ,·I)- ·1i;ll I· 1w:,I 11 11
I I l \ .

1	 11 

(a) In cases where appeals' clt·:eipursum\\ 1~0 the pro~i'~i!.:ms of the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance, 
the Commi sion i hall con~m~li ti 111 

sa~ eimithin SI~ty (60) days of the filing of the notice of 
appea1.1,1Hjtr~lg~ !l:i tere the1tgb~ is~i~~ 

1 
1~eai:~.th~tinatter, it must render a decision within 

. .r' mt J '' 111,li\r ,, •1!~ . ',l,•n,h, 	 . . . 
thuiyt;~3.0) days after tn~1~lose of[f1ear111g. In tH~1¢ase where a Hear111g Officer 1s appo111ted, the 
Comrr{rn!\w. must act od1i~~li-eco1rifirn11 ation within thirty (30) days after receipt of the Hearing 

, '"' ·,11, I ·11111Officer's reo,~,endation. I1 II I iJili 

(b) In cases where J ~~nts are pur\ J llnt to the provisions of the Subdivision Ordinance, the 
Commission shall c'0h sider thd ,~J

1 
me within fo1iy-five (45) days of the filing of the notice of 

111 11 11h ,1 c' · · h h · d d · · · h . appea.l I n t h l i!\He ,, omm1ss1on ears t e matter, 1t must ren er a ec1s1on wit 111e case w1et~
forty-five (45) days after th~1close of Hearing. In the case where a Hearing Officer is appointed, 
the Commission must act on its recommendation within thiiiy (30) days after receipt of the 
Hearing Officer's recommendation. 

(c) A longer period to rendering any decision in Sections 1-9-4 (a) and (b) may be permitted by 
agreement of the applicant. 

1-9-5 	 Decision and Order. The Director shall promptly notify the appellant of the decision of the 
Commission. If the Commission affirms the action of the Director, such order shall be 



accompanied by separate findings of fact and conclusions of law. A copy thereof shall be sent, 
return receipt, immediately to the [applicant] appellant. 



A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please 
attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general description of the subjects 
involved. 

The amendment to Chapter 6, Agency Hearing Procedures, Rules of Practice and Procedure of the 
Kauai County Planning Commission clarifies the rules for contested case proceedings by eliminating 
civil style discovery, clarifying the time for filing motions, requiring resolution of motions by the 
Presiding Officer without a hearing unless the Presiding Officer requires otherwise, and specifying 
that no reply or supplemental memoranda shall be filed unless required by the Presiding Officer. 
These amendments are designed to encourage an expeditious and inexpensive contested case process 
while providing for procedural clue process at the administrative level. 

Interpretive Administrative Zoning Rules and Regulations (2014) of the Kaua'i Planning Commission 
Relating to Chapter 8, 9, and 10 of the Kaua'i County Code (1987) 



~©rn~w ~~ 
PRE-PUBLIC HEARING JUL 1 1 ,lo/1-~ 

SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 

TO THE 


SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 

(Hawaii Revised Statutes §201 M-2) 

Department or Agency: Kauai Planning Department 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: Planning Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure, Chapter 6 

Chapter Name: CHAPTER 6 - AGENCY HEARING PROCEDURES 

Contact Person/Title: Kaaina Hull , Deputy Director Planning Department; Jodi Higuchi, Deputy County Attorney 

Phone Number: (808)241 -4050; (808)241-4930 

E-mai I Address: khull@kauai.gov; jhiguchi@kauai.gov Date: 7-10-17 

A. 	 To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92
7, please attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general 

description of the subjects involved. 


B. 	Are the draft rules available for viewing i~erson and on the Lieutenant Governor's 

Website pursuant to HRS §92-7? Yes ./ Non (If Yes, please provide 

webpage address and when and where ru es mayTe viewed in person© 

http://www.kauai.gov/Planning 

(Please keep the proposed rules on this webpage until after the SBRRB meeting.) 

I. 	 Rule Description: New D Repeal I./IAmendment D Compilation D 
II. 	 Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? Yes I./INo D (If No, no 

need to submit this form.) 

* 	 "Affect small business" is defined as "any potential or actual requirement imposed upon 
a small business ... that will cause a direct and significant economic burden upon a 
small business, or is directly related to the formation , operation , or expansion of a small 
business." HRS §201 M-1 

* 	 "Small business" is defined as a "for-profit enterprise consisting of fewer than one 
hundred full-time or part-time employees." HRS §201 M-1 

Ill. 	Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that 
does not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the 
statute or ordinance? Yes D No l./1 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 

(e.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the agency the discretion 
to consider less restrictive alternatives.) HRS §201 M-2(d) 

IV. Is the proposed rule bei~adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? 
(HRS §201M-2(a)) Yes LJ No l./1 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 

* * * 

Revised I /05/2016 

http://www.kauai.gov/Planning
mailto:jhiguchi@kauai.gov
mailto:khull@kauai.gov


Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
Page 2 

If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, 
please provide a reasonable determination of the following: 

1. 	 Description of the small businesses that will be required to comply with the 

proposed rules and how they may be adversely affected. 


Any person or entity appealing a Director's decision under the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision Ordinance, or requesting a 
contested case for an application for a zoning permit will have to comply with the proposed amendments. The amendments will streamline and clarify 
the process by ellmlnallng civil style discovery. The amendments also clarify the lime for filing motions, resolution of motions by the Presiding Officer 
without a hearing unless the Presiding Officer requires a hearing, and that no reply or supplemental memoranda shall be filed unless required by the 
Presiding Officer. 

2. 	 In dollar amounts, the increase in the level of direct costs such as fees or fines, 

and indirect costs such as reporting, recordkeeping, equipment, construction, 

labor, professional services, revenue loss, or other costs associated with 

compliance. 


Overall , the cost should decrease by preserving the administrative contested case process as 
a less formal process while still providing for procedural due process. 

If the proposed rule imposes a new or increased fee or fine: 

a. Amount of the current fee or fine and the last time it was increased. 

n/a 

b. 	 Amount of the proposed fee or fine and the percentage increase. 

n/a 

c. 	 Reason for the new·or increased fee or fine. 

n/a 

d. 	 Criteria or methodology used to determine the amount of the fee or fine 
(i.e., Consumer Price Index, Inflation rate, etc.). 

n/a 

3. 	 The probable monetary costs and benefits to the agency or other agencies 

directly affected , including the estimated total amount the agency expE;Jcts to 

collect from any add itionally imposed fees and the manner in which the moneys 

will be used. 


These amendments should foster expeditious and inexpensive determination of contested 

cases while providing for a just administrative contested case procedure. 


Revised I /05/20 16 



Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
Page 3 

4. 	 The methods the agency considered or used to reduce the impact on small 

business such as consolidation, simplification, differing compliance or reporting 

requirements, less stringent deadlines, modification of the fines schedule, 

performance rather than design standards, exemption, or other mitigating 

techniques. 


The amendments became necessary when many contested cases became backlogged and onerous while 
the Hearings Officer accommodated extensive motions and hearings on motions, and civil discovery. The 
amendments should simplify and encourage efficiency and a less costly contested case process. 

5. 	 The availability and practicability of less restrictive alternatives that could be 

implemented in lieu of the proposed rules. 


The rules are the least restrictive alternative and should help clarify and simplify the contested 
case process. 

6. 	 Consideration of creative, innovative, or flexible methods of compliance for small 

businesses. The businesses that will be directly affected by, bear the costs of, or 

directly benefit from the proposed rules . 


Again, the rules should help the foster expeditious and inexpensive determination of contested 
cases for applicants of zoning permits, and appellants of the Planning Director's actions. 

7. 	 How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed 

rules. 


The rules will be placed on the Planning Commission agenda where persons and entities may 
provide input on the rules 

a. 	 If there were any recommendations made by small business, were the 
recommendations incorporated into the proposed rule? If yes, explain . If 
no, why not. 

n/a 

8. 	 Whether the proposed rules include provisions that are more stringent than those 

mandated by any comparable or related federal, state, or county standards, with 

an explanation of the reason for imposing the more stringent standard. 


The rules are compliant with but do not impose more stringent provisions than state or other 
county standards. 

If yes, please provide information comparing the costs and benefits of the 
proposed rules to the costs and benefits of the comparable federal, state, or 
county law, including the following: 

Revised I /05/201 6 



Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
Page4 

a. Description of the public purposes to be served by the proposed rule. 

n/a 

b. The text of the related federal, state, or county law, including information 
about the purposes and applicability of the law. 

n/a 

c. A comparison between the proposed rule and the related federal, state, or 
county law, including a comparison of their purposes, application, and 
administration. 

n/a 

d. A comparison of the monetary costs and benefits of the proposed rule with 
the costs and benefits of imposing or deferring to the related federal, state, 
or county law, as well as a description of the manner in which any 
additional fees from the proposed rule will be used. 

n/a 

e. A comparison of the adverse effects on small business imposed by the 
proposed rule with the adverse effects of the related federal, state, or 
county law. 

n/a 

* * * 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board / DBEDT 

Phone: (808) 586-2594 


Email: dbedt.sbrrb@hawaii.gov 


This Statement may be found on the 

SBRRB Website at: 


http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/small-business-impact-statements-pre-and-post-pubic-hearing 


Revised 1/05/20 16 

http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/small-business-impact-statements-pre-and-post-pubic-hearing
mailto:dbedt.sbrrb@hawaii.gov


CHAPTER6 


AGENCY HEARING PROCEDURES 


1-6-1 Presiding Officer. 

(a) In all Agency Hearings before the Commission, the Chair, or one of the 
Commissioners, or a Hearing Officer duly appointed and designated shall preside at the hearing. 

(b) The Presiding Officer shall control the course of he~rmgs, administer oaths, receive 
evidence, hold appropriate conferences before or during headcl~s~l:ruJe upon all objections or 
motions, receive offers of proof, fix the time for the filing.o~i~\~l!Jmittals, dispose of any other 

1matter.that normally and properly arises in the course qm¥il~eJ~i~~: and take all other ~ctions 
authonzed by law that are deemed necessary to thelm'ife,,ry andll )/;l~fonduct of a hearmg. 

. Th Pl . D ' 111,U l. d . t1!1 111· d h . . h II .1-6-2 Partles. e anmng epartmen , aumitte mtervendrs ~n t e petitioner s a m
1

every case be patties to such proceedings. qlll,li' 'tql!\j''!j'! 
I 1111 lj1 

. Th p 'd' Offi 111
1 C t1!fll11 d !1 1!11, .1 6 3 Contmuance. resi mg cause, postp,0ne or contmue- - e iced nl:1);', 10 1gqo

· ,1111, !···'· 1f111i, . 1, .piany heanng from day to day, or to a aier1date, or to a d\ffel'ent place without not'lce other than 
lll]~: \,1 1,ji, • h 1111tt: 1· C s . I Mthe announcement thereof at tl1e Agen;? ·•11'.r au,ng w en an: 

1
apR ICant 1or a pec1a anagement

1
Area, Class IV, Use, Variance Permit, ·'.l1,~pJ~i~ljil?.fermit suBhpts1significant data, reports or 

d. h . f h h . . d I Ii . ! il!,!lr1 ri . l.!.\l,i, d h bl' .stu ies at t e time o t e earmg, 111 or e111t0 give·t \e,~ on1ll1iss19n j n t e pu 1c an opportumty 

to evaluate and considerifqFm~r 1 ll.reports ot;:studie\ '.j.llllllill! 11
, 

1 
11 1111 dilh llilh.1'!jlllil .i[l\!!Jh

1-6-4 Ex Pai e Communi'Gation. No pe1is~p·\¥hether or' not a party to a Proceeding 
h C . . 't, nll /1 11 'h· ilf d' b' f hb c e omm1ss10n sn~ f comm Wregar mg any su ~ect matter o t ee1ore t icate ex pa~

proceeding ij@·t~1anv merrihel1· of! 
1
Millt·,ommission' 011Mearing Officer who will be a participant in.· ·· 

• • f u i•.1m, '' ll!j 1'I ,, tq 11 111 ·1·111
the dec1sldH· · ('t.qglP.rRcess. ·, 11111! 11 11 

1111 I'' · 
111 111,11 ' 111 


1
lll111_6 5 Notice of~ enc JijMHn . 'I l!li 

111 11
 

111111 ' . . illi I I '.l11'1 1),. . 

(a) TH~ ln9t1ce of Agenc¼~eann~1~ tll be served upon all Parties and persons on the 

mailing list for tl{}~!Hurpose at d~~·r last recorded address at least fifteen (15) days prior to the 
Agency Hearing d

1
! ~e:i,unless othbrl

1
wise provided by law. Further, the notice will be filed at least•1n111 Ill I 

six (6) days prior to tn~ ~f"lI!~ earing with the Office of the CountyClerk.1 

(b) The notice shal !ulLain the appropriate information as required in Chapter 91, HRS. 

1-6-6 Waiver of Procedure. Any procedure in a Contested Case may be modified or 
waived by stipulation of the Parties and informal disposition may be made of any Contested Case 
by stipulation, settlement, agreement, consent order, or default. 

1-6-7 Prehearing Conference. A Presiding Officer or designated representative may 
hold a prehearing conference with the Parties for the purpose of formulating or simplifying the 
issues, arranging for the exchange ofproposed exhibits or proposed written testimony, setting of 

1 




schedules, exchanging names of witnesses, limitation of number of witnesses, and such 
other matters as may expedite orderly conduct and disposition of the Proceeding. 

1-6-8 Requests for Transcripts. Any Party may cequest transcripts according to the 
provisions see forth in Section 1-2-6 (b ). Requests shall be made in writing at least seven (7) days prior 
to the Agency Hearing. 

1-6-9 Limiting Testimony. Just, expeditious, and inexpensive determination. 

(a) To avoid unnecessary cumulative evidence, the Presiding Officer may limit the 
number of witnesses or the time for testimony upon a particu}a·,r~sue. 

(b) The P:13residing Oe fficer shall not order or appr.<'>~~!!eivil style discovery against 
non-parties; and unless stipulated to by all parties, the heUl-'.i'ii~s. officer shall not order or 
a rove civil st le discover between arties. Civil st ',fgJ1:hs28~~r, refers to rocedures 
initiated b arties under 'udicial rules of civil rod~'clut!e. s ecifi'bili includin but not 
I. . d d . . I . . fl 111 ii' . . 'III! l l • .C'mute to, epos1t10ns on ora or wntten guestlollS, wntten mterrogatvnes, requests 1or 
roduction of documents or thin s. re uests tW1~iter land or other rotl ~Ht I h sical and 

mental examinations, and requests for admissid~m ,111 lJjJ, ·qq l1111 

l . p· 	 d'~ fF C lllh,l ,t!.l [!lli fL N h' l!l1.1 , 11-6- lo Stl. u at10n as to m 1u· s o acts orio usi<:ms o aw. ot m~ m t 1ese 
rules shall prohibit Parties from entgl-r ,'M!,ht.o appropriaW ~~foulations as to findings of fact, 

. fl 	 d d' . 'f 11, 1:fllli,, . h l!!r!L,, . . l aw, an con 1t1ons, 1 i;wy, concernmg t e suuJect petition. cone us1ons o 

. . . lj!(li i 'I{ 
11~11111 l It . '

11
'.1111 ]t ' - . . 

(1) 	 A Pet1t10neult ho desires t~'.lehter mtolWst11::>ulat10nJshall prepare a stipulation as 
.ti!l/llh' fi' 11!J.1·1· f .c- l[!il l 1-

1dlH1!1if,•1•1 ''d!'l' d' · 'f 
to a~YilWW 11 miN,~~~ 0 1a~t.' l~wnc HSl, 1 I, an con 1tlons, 1 any,~IlS O !1 ijW

conc~u11111g the suBJ~ct petltlom!Jiljl 1111 1 II ll


''tllijp \ II; 1'
l ' 

(2) All PartiesllJtiall s·J the1;oropose~ tipulation as to any or all proposed findings 

ll!
'lil' 'i.n 	 ,Hn t1 m1H11i,1i t1111 1 t1.1ll! IH~!1flfl\ conclu. 10nf$1of· aW,\I\IBH concl.' ilpns, and proposed decision and order, if

'I\! I at Jn,1'4~~ shall 1t'W:5mit such st1gpl~tioh to the Commission seven (7) days prior I1 
1 t jt to the A~JHc.y HeJ ·i!\1g ,date, unl~!~lbtherwise permitted by the Presiding Officer. 

I I111 '11111' 11111111 

(3) 111!\\ffihe CommissJ~1may rJJHfre the parties to submit additional 
Jr·dence concer ·hg the stipulation and proposed decision and order. 

l t1\1111i.. . . , 1111 h d d . . d d b d'(4) 	 The G(ilmm1ss1<;>n tt{ay approve t e propose ec1s1on an or er y amen mg 
l!H lh 1-tlJlt! l d d . . d dor adoptmgjt ,1e-mropose ec1s10n an or er. 


'•q11111 1r 

1-6-11 Order of Agency Hearing Procedure. At the commencement of the 

Agency Hearing, the Presiding Officer may read the notice ofhearing and then briefly 
outline the procedures to be followed, which shall be in the following manner: 

(a) Entertain Requests for Intervention. All persons seeking to intervene as Parties 
shall be asked to identify themselves and their counsel. The Presiding Officer shall proceed 
in accordance with Chapter 4 herein. 

(b) Presentation of Evidence. The Department shall first present evidence and shall 

2 




be subject to questioning by all Parties and the Commission. The Petitioner may then make 
a presentation and be subject to questioning by all Parties and the Commission. In cases 
where intervention is allowed and a timetable for evidentiary Proceedings for the paiiies has 
been established, any questioning by the Parties and the Commission may be--suspended 
until such time as designated by the Presiding Officer. 

.(hl_Order of Presentation. The Petitioner's presentation shall be first, followed by the 
Department and then the intervenors. In cases where there multiple Intervenors, the Presiding_ 
Officer shall establish the order or the Intervenors' presentations. 

fct-£.!2ublic Testimony. The presiding officer shall then s9sp~li;ct the rules and open the 
Agency Hearing to the public as required by law. Cross-exami1 1l~l~lb'rpublic witnesses shall not be 

allowed ofthe Petitioner and Intervenorn. ' !JJ!ill fllllill 
11 

hl_ ,,,11111111 %111111 
(:ej(Q_LClose Public Testimony. Upon1tt'Jadmission or all publ1id1evidence, the1

Presiding officer shall close the public testimoriy !portion of the Agency 'PI~~·'ng.
1

··q111111l, ,11!ljj11 !1tt\l11h 
fB&_Additional Testimonyt1f~be Presiding o w c~r ,sp.all allow the SUOI1?-A$sion of 

additional written evidence from ptl~'.li~j~ i1Pesses up t~!!~~~n (7) days after the close of the 
. . h h c'lll, HI. ii• . d t!UJi• . h dAgency Heanng m cases w ere t e ommissron oes not ta.i: e act10n on t e same ay.

'll!llil ·t,'ll!lll!1' 'I 1l1ll111h' c 11L
1 

11Ln'i(f'R To sub . propose 111i' p·I d'mgS
1
'· !0·rF.1 one us10ns ofL D ...,o1i.i.L. equest , m1t m act, aw, ec1s10n

1,, !l .!j !l•l,1!,i , . 'lj'' 1/!l\;I1q1 • 111111 • •And Order When The1:e.1I~ No ~ terventron. hi cas~s'wp.eq; ,there rs no mterventron, the 
. . ft .f 1,1 , 'd L,lll~ . lJ! ,1 1 . , 1IP. htll1Jd1,, , k' · f hPet1troner may, a er,t e ev1 entiar, lport10n 'but p111nr to t e ·ctec.1s10n-ma mg portion o t e 

lj I I : ii l \II JI Ip' I ''I.
Meeting (when a duly~»}.~de motio11i by the Cornm,ission to act on the docket is made), 
request the opportunity 'Wjl:!µbmit ,~ ~rf?POsed Fi1~~J·~· gs of Fact, Conclusions ofLaw, Decision 

,, .• 111! l1 ,,It )1 11111! ·, I I• , . . . .
of Law. Sholifd11the .Pet1t10ne 1110t11,u1Jm1tt a11v·equest( t s.uch time, the Pet1t10ner's nght to . i1H1!l1J11 1 1 1 ·Hi1fll ~ ,,q .1 nr, mn, . . .1111 mi.,
subm1t,~ual~1aocument1! Ji~ll be :?,etlfued wai Y1m1m d the Comm1ss10n may commence with

I ,Ill . . I • h, .I\ I ,,t' . . . 
appropp~,e dec1sion-ma~w.~ actio ll t f a reque~tl1slmade, the Pres1dmg Officer may contmue 
the docU~tlflpd set a timetaijfFj or th'e.;{;~vduct or the post-hearing Proceedings pursuant to 

Section 1-<i( i~\I •[ ll d[!!11, 
!11111 ll ' 

(-1-Bf_g)_Re<i:!J'nv,ening of Col~tested Case Hearing Portion. In cases where there are 
'II II" J' I if

Intervenors or adve11~fj!farties,affd1a Contested Case Hearing is reconvened to complete the 
presentation of evideridy~;fht1 Pit'fididing Officer may explain the Proceedings, note and discuss 
objections to the ProceediliU' !from each Party, if any are submitted, and then administer the 

• I, tf f 
oath to witnesses. 

On.hw @f Pros~mtati@fl. Tho Potiti@flor's prosirntati@n shall 00 first, full@wo€1 hy tho 
Department afl€1 tlioR tlio intorvon0rs. In oases whore tlioro mHltiplo IPitorvorrnrs, tho 
Presiding Offioor shall ostaelish Hrn €H€lor 0r tho lfltorvm~0rs1 presontati0ns. 

t!0®-Cross-Examination. Each Party shall have the right to conduct such cross
examination of other Parties and their witnesses as may be required for a full and true 
disclosure of the facts. The order of cross-examination and re-cross shall be determined by 
the Presiding Officer. The Commission shall have the right to question each Paity after 

3 

http:The1:e.1I


completion of re-cross by the other Parties. 

E-1-)fil_Rebuttal Evidence. Each Party shall be afforded the opportunity ror rebuttal in 
the same order as item 1-6-11 (h) above. 

fmj{ilClose Contested Case Hearing. Upon completion of all testimony and evidence 
submitted by each party and their witnesses, the Presiding Officer shall close the Contested 
Case portion of the Hearing. 

l 6 12 Co-Counsel. No more than two (2) counsels may appear for any Party at 
any Proceeding before the Commission. Where a Party is reprd!~pted by more than one 

counsel, only . ll' !ll!111 
. . 

--l--e- l-J l-6-1 2 one of the counsel shall be permit ~~ j p1qross-examme a witness 
or to state any objections or to make closing argum~nt~) IP'' 1 l!;jll·i 

l-6-M I-6- 13 Reguests For Subpoenas. f111jli· ,qIJ ' 

1 11 
(a) Subpoenas of Witnesses. Requests! r,~~the issuance of subp~Wn:"r, requiring the 

atterdance of a witness for the purpose of takirl~!~ ·al testimoi;iy before t1m1~1·~P,1mission shall 
. .. d I 11 h h h l l!l. iit,,h · .t \_,,i,. d bbem wntmg, an s 1a state t e reasons w y t e testJmonv1orj~ e witness 1s i1;1_~1,~ve to e 

. . . , 'lillll, HI II,' . . ·i!!.n
matenal and relevant to the issues 1nVofiYed. Only Pai't1esbrla Comm1ss10ner may'request the 
. 'I IHI 'I\ ·111111111issuance of a subpoena. I]' I !Jlil1,, 1 11 . 

ll) il1i11 . II1II 1 

h 11 1f ..- 1c · · 

and shall command each~ erso 1 to whorrl.lft ·s direct ~ itft 1~ttend1~\idgive testimony at a time 
(b) Every subpoena s a state t I-ii'·~·t~· t e 1 ' u.1.

1 

Itue1t:· m·oceed'1ngt
11] 1:9r wh ' h · 1t 1s to be issue d, 

11 
and place therein specff}~H'. illj li'[.jl• lll ]1 ,111'1! lll I lll!lj!l!!'l• ''HI·

11-1,1111: ti 11 ,I1l!li! I l,ii
(c) Subpoenas ~«9es Tecuml Requests lfdfi the issuance or subpoenas for the 

1

production of documentJi6b·ecora~f shall be in «/rihng; shall specify the particular document 
, WIii!!• , ;H 1,h r!IJ )) Ol'Hli'I It•. 'l!I I

or record,H•b1 iP.~lT thereor, des1I1e@,to oe 'ihil'<a\lced; a1 t1 shall state the reasons why thefh 1111 .. '(ffljl' 1 1'1 1· 1m 11 111n !J {•. . 1 1 1!111, tin • .
produclt o thereof'1 ;oeheved tq16e matenal-anci·i;elevant to the issues mvolved. 

q11:· ''ll!!IJ' \I1111, 'I l1jj! ' 
q, 1jli, , Pli 
)l'Who May Issue Subpoena'st1,subpoenas may be issued by the Chair or in hisI'11l' • • '11 •'11../.1,1 1 flfli •absence, ai1y f[1omm1ss1oner. \~.o subpoe1i~)~hall be issued unless the Party requestmg the 

subpoena has u~~plied with t~~1~rovisioris herein and gives the name and address of the 
1 

desired witness. ~i~n~d and seaifi& blank subpoenas will not be issued to anyone. The name 
and address of the vtl~)~s shall' 1¥,b inserted in the original subpoena, a copy of which shall be 
filed in the proceedinl .Slfbp~ij~~s shall show at whose instance the subpoena is issued. The 
Patties at whose instanc~1~[~~bpoena is issued shall arrange for service thereof, and shall file a 
return and acknowledgment or service thereon. 

(e) Fees and Mileage. Witnesses summoned shall be paid the same fee and mileage as 
are paid witnesses in Circuit Courts of the State ofHawai'i and such fees and mileage shall be 
paid by the Party at whose instance the witness appear. 

(f) Oath. Witnesses shall be sworn under oath or affirmation prior to testifying. 

--l--6~1-6-14 Consolidation. The Commission, upon its own initiative or upon motion, 

4 




may consolidate for hearing or for other purposes, or may contemporaneously consider, two or 
more Proceedings which involve substantially the same parties or issues which are the same or 
closely related if it finds that such consolidation or contemporaneous consideration will be 
conducive to the proper dispatch of its business and to the ends ofjustice and will not unduly 
delay the Proceedings. 

-l-6-+el-6-15 Substitution of Parties. Upon motion and for good cause shown, the 
Commission may order substitution of Parties, except that in the case of death of a Party, 
substitution may be ordered without the filing of a motion. 

(2) 

(2) 

Motions i\fter the Start of the Contested Case Hearing. Motions may be
filed following the start of a Contested Case hearing if the factual basis 
for the motion arises d·aring the course of the Contested Case hearing. 
Motions made after a Hearing has started shall be-made at least fourteen 
(14) days prior to the date set for final argument on the matter. 

Motions that faii to meet the requirements set forth in this rule shall 
be deemed 1.vaived unless good cause is shown. 

5 



(a) Form and Contents. All motions shall be made in ,,vriting to the Commission or 
Hearing Officer, and shall state the relief sought and shall be accompanied by an affidavit or 
legal memorandum setting forth the grounds upon which they are based. For good cause 
shown the Commission may allow oral motions to be made during a Contested Case hearing. 

(a) Service of Motions. The moving party shall serve a copy of all motions on all 
other Parties and shall file with the Commission the original with proof ofservice. 

(a) Memorandum in Opposition. A memorand'dm in opfiosition or counter affidavit 
shall be served on all Parties and the original and proof of serv\6;e,shall be filed with the

1
Commission within seven (7) days after being served witlf'ff~9;tib~. The Presiding Officer may 

order the memorandum in opposition to be filed =~-,;~:==:::
Commission, for good cause shown, may continu ~~ ~ rder 

111 
iL /2:~\~, i ~ ~~ 

. I C . . . 1 e d I 'd t ~ '- • d memorandto give t1eon1ll11ss1on an opportumty to e','a 'da r,~conSI er t~~;rnot10n an Ul 
1

iH--eJ,position to the motion. I\ /II 1,I!: ' •ll!lilll 
· ', · · · ·· I. 11 • ' esition ~U1ft,metion er failure 

~ear at1eeanng mayeeeme a 1,va1ver Q,Ho,~eo,w, =i:-o t e grantmgJRr, ema O t e 
motion. A Party who does net Ojlpo10jt~e motion sh

1 l/ hi ty \he Presiding ollidel· and 
opposing counsel or Party prompt1Y.1! !ldjpi!~- illll Wit, . 

iq!! llq!l!j'1 •l 1111 

-l-/i---l-1l l-6-l 7 Evi~ence 11111 ! lill!li!lljj1; 111111111 
1111 t!! ll!.! 11 11 

. !l, . .,di ,111111,, -11lh .. 
(a) Form and lA/1fnissiH,p1

• 

ty. The C vun1~slq~1sHa11\iriql be bound by the Hawa1'1 Rules• • · rnn fl ,, , • '!IJn ,,Iii (j I 1 ,, , ,I ,

of Evidence relatmglt~;;~he adm1~~1br or reJeotto :~'k ev1dence, tBut may exercise its own 
discretion in such m~he 

1 
1 I ith a vigW suring that justice is served.W. IJ' towards 1U_

' 11!1 1! i q,,,1 
(b) BJ.Jrden of Proofl!Exiiepl its!Htherwise r,rp.vided by law, the Paity initiatingl', , I IHI 1I Ill I , , '\ / I 1~1 1 II I I I, 'J ll) L . .

Comm1ss1bnjHo :'!fie ·ation iH«{ hMve elBuhien oE
1
uroof, mcludmg the burden of1..i11 nr :·· · ·n , , , ·1. ·1 i,uP,, -1 1 

prodlwimMlevidence 
1Usl1i ,ef.J as tH~!?iw·den of pe~l ~Sl011. The degree or quantum ofproof 

shall Held1P,reponderance ~</ f,tfie evi'~fi ~ e. ' 
'I ilH 111111 11 hh 

( ) Ec ·~9lln~ us1on o · f Irre eI nli,y;apt Materl~ll.i.1· l. A.s a matter of po1icy, t · l1e Comm1ss10n s. . ha11 
. 1 h . . fl Ii . . . . .

provide for the ~~olus10n or 1nele;vant, 1mmatenal, or unduly repetlt10us evidence. 

(d) R I. 'ltjT 'dJll!ng:Offi h 11a I he adm1ss1'b'1l ' 1ty of 11 ev1'd Suchu mg. !!I1~<rJ]!ifnc._i·es1 1cer s ru e on t . a ence. 
11

ruling may be reviewed'~~ l\ ii.~lcommission in determining the matter on its merits. In 
extraordinary circumstanc'es llwhere prompt decision by the Commission is necessary to 
promote justice, the Presiding Officer may refer the matter to the Commission for 
determination. 

(e) Objections and Exceptions. When objections are made to the admission or 
exclusion of evidence, the grounds relied upon shall be stated briefly. Formal exceptions to 
rulings are unnecessary and need not be taken. 

(f) Offer of Proof. An offer ofproof for the record shall consist of a statement of 
the substance of the evidence to which objection has been sustained. 

6 



(g) Prepared Testimony. With the approval of the Presiding Officer, a witness may 
read into the record his testimony on direct examination. Before any prepared testimony is 
read, unless excused by the Presiding Officer, the witness shall deliver copies thereof to the 
Presiding Officer, the clerk reporter, and all counsel or Parties. Admissibility shall be subject 
to the rules governing oral testimony. If the Presiding Officer deems that substantial saving in 
time will result, a copy of the prepared testimony may be received in evidence without 
reading, provided that copies thereof shall have been served upon all Parties and the 
Commission to permit proper cross-examination of the witness on matters contained in said 
prepared testimony. 

(h) Documentary Evidence. If relevant and material [ill~1l~;.offered in evidence is 
embraced in a document containing other matters, the li~f*l;Jfifiering it shall designate 
specifically the matter so offered. Ifother matter in ,t1r~ ;a;b

1
c

1
uMtjk1 r,7ou1d unnecessarily 

1	 1encumber the record, the document will not be re.Gi~yyd in evid6hqti1put at the discretion of the 
1

Presiding Officer, the relevant and material m5tt~}j~1ay be read int~litt1:y ecord or copies thereof 
received as an exhibit. Other parties shall be 'JRfb11liaed opportunity to ~WJ~11ine the document, 

f-c: 	 'd h 11 t!.111'' d d 1'11.llt ,and • ence other port10ns t . ereof uer r ve matena. 1an re evanu ,too 1er m ev1 ·


. \ l I11!I1 · 11]lllIl I\ q1111 II 


(i) Exhibits. lilJIIJi!il , ' -I IIJJlj 111' 	 111 

(1) Form-Size. ExHib)J!~ha'.Il1be clear! !~dpermanently legible and in such
11111 

e: b • ·L11 '1!'-'· h C llfi H, • E h'b' h II b b d1orm as may e p~escnuea PY. jt. e oml1lffiWon. x 1 its s a e oun
1Oiifolde~ to the re~Bgctive aW i1~1t!·mate sii e!Jwhere practical. Wherever 

1111111m1 , 11ffh H~' l\PJ tt!~-' '• ·11 11 
1acti'ca l'e~1sheets o£1each d 'il.Wt sia:11 be numbered and data and other 

1

( M' ,· ''tll • ! tl'i ,JIil' I' 111 I1Itfigures slialljibe set fortH j'h ta ular Fo1m) 1Ill !I' 
f

ti II! 11 ii I' ' 
(2) 	 cr½:~·ies. W~'enlexhibits are offered in evidence, and when practicable the 

' \ t /,l!\, l .;.i lll!"'l (12) 11IH., h 11 b fu . h d h p 'd'
• , 1 on ma an:~rxe~e CO'tD~es S a e rms e tot e res1 mg 

·11!jjllllll1llll!lllliR~fi~iiJffi; U~ dgB~ltR];r,~,C~'Rijt!Y to the Proceed~ng other t~an the 

JIii I l [<r0rom1ssl~fi ; unless suolijoop1es have been previously furmshed or the
!	 1I 	 't!!fll! rm, ) ' il!I

lit Pre~tff 'ng O'fff~e · otherwise . 

1
. llllh11, 	 . . I 1l~h l!l! IJ11i1, .

G) C~l, 1n1ss1on Recor , r,jiThe file.[\<;ept by the Department on the matter pendmg 
before the Com"~l°n shall c ' lute evidence for the purposes of an Agency Hearing. 

11 
. . . (k) Official w~~k~ ~fi1i , ~s. Official notice 1:1~Y be t~ken o~ such matters as may be1
JUd1c1ally noticed by thJW9wt~;1of the State of Hawai' l. Official notice may also be taken of 
generally recognized techhiHMf or scientific facts within the Commission's specialized 
knowledge when Parties and given notice either before or during the hearing or the material so 
noticed and afforded the opportunity to contest the facts so noticed. 

(1) Additional Evidence. No supplemental evidence shall be accepted into the record 
after the Agency Hearing is closed. However, the Presiding Officer may, at the hearing, require 
the production of further evidence upon any issue. Upon agreement of the Paities, the Presiding 
Officer may authorize the filing of specific documentary evidence as a part of the record within 
a fixed time after submission reserving exhibit number therefor. 

7 



• • 

-l--6-+91-6-18 Post Hearing Procedures for Hearing Conducted By Commission. 

(a) Correction of Transcripts in Cases where Transcripts are Provided. Motions to 
conect a transcript shall be filed with the Commission within fourteen (14) days after receipt of 
the transcript unless otherwise directed by the Presiding Officer, and shall be served on all 
Parties. Motions to correct transcripts shall certify the date when the transcript was received. 
Any objections to proposed corrections must be served on all Paiiies and received by the 
Commission at least seven (7) days after the date of service of the corrections. Ifno objections 
are received, the transcript will, upon approval of the Commission, be changed to reflect such 
corrections. Ifobjections are received, the motion will be acted upon with due consideration to 

the stenographic transcript of the hearing. ii ljjlllJJJ1 

(b) Submittals of Proposed Decisions and Orde~st.j~ ~?~rParty to the proceeding may
1 

submit a pr~posed decisio~ and order to the Com~~~sf~H lthi6ij.!niw ll include findi~gs of fact 
and conclusions of law. Said proposals shall be senved to each PahiYJ ito the proceedmg.

1 11 

fs b · 1 u 1 h t1!1.Plilldl· db h P
U 1:11tta s. e1w1 1!·ecte ~m~
'.ll Ju. ofri 

re 1 .. 1cer, In 
·
· 
( )T. 

_c 1mmg O ~1~
n ess 0~ y t e 
proceedmgs where transcnpts are not required, ls,tibi;p1ttal of a lwoposed dcl~~ on and order 
shall be made within thitty (30) days from the dat~!~r iclos~· -~ qF the hearing. f!{JP,roceedings

1 
whereby transcripts are required, S\,9~ itltal shall be lli~tlNl: ~ti1/in fourteen (14) tlM~s from the

11
date or service of the transcript. ![ 111 l!Jp11 11 _, 1(

1l i •11 ,!!11· !Ii1 
(d) S b · 1 fE · oL.. · H111!l (.) d s·nli,, · 1 h c · · fu m1tta o xcept1ons to ~p1s10n aflulrnr er. u~p-Htta to t e omm1ss10n o 

1
exceptions to a proposeR1Hecision and or~~ l.-l shall b~1n\laa~ withib;~e11,en (7) days from the date 

1 1 11f · r ·d i <lJhl tl:i 1111 d d , · 1..,p, 11111' 111 •·· r' :,, ·fi db I P ·d· o service o sat pro~R!l~ll ec1s1qll ifi'~ or er, 9ifit •qinjlli' c1Vi!i\~l llo time spec, 1e y t 1e rest mg 
Officer. Such submittall snail be se11v~.R'l on all pa1t1es1.J II •Ii I 

111 1 
1• 111 ,111 1 11111 

(e) Final Argume~t~~if.he ,J=tre~iftiP.g Offic ;~!shall establish the date for presentation
ml'1111,,l) ,l. h' h 11·1-111nn111. 11 'l''' £ ,11 t. 11h d I h . d' db0 ffimaIat:'i'HJm entS ~ ll c S ,0 eGUr In t 1e1OJi owmg1or er, un ess ot erw1se ll'ecte y

1
the p:11f~Wli'l'lffib~rc11111,1 'I ., I1j i11 ,,, 111i111111111 'Ill'1 

li11111l, (1. ) Ent~~~~~li·enij~~~V,brnitted motion~, -:xceptions or corrections to 
lll\l the tra~ d ·1pt, 1f ai;tY,, by the Comm1ss10n;II I l .,1, 

(2jl!l\[li Presenta f~hof oral arguments by the Pet_itioner, Depaiiment, then 
qllnterver:(©·IfIn cases where there are multiple Intervenors, the 
'~ 111 • · ·ll111 o£fi h 11 d · h · d f ·v r~ 111g.· 1cer s a etermme t etr or er o presentat10n. 

• 1I IIll'. 
(3) Closing arguments or rebuttal by the Petitioner. 

The Presiding Officer may set appropriate time limitations for oral argument 
provided that not more than one (1) hour on each side of the Proceeding will be allowed for 
argument without special leave of the Commission. 

(f) Issuance of Decision and Order. A Proceeding shall stand submitted for decision by 
the Commission after the taking ofevidence and the presentation of such oral argument as may 
have been prescribed by the Presiding Officer. The Commission may: 

8 




(1) 	 Adopt a decision and order as submitted by any of the Parties, with 
or without revisions; 

(2) 	 Take action on the matter and may require the Department or a Party 
to the proceeding to submit a written decision and order which 
conforms with the evidence; or 

(3) 	 If no proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, decision and order 
have been submitted by any party, take action on the matter and 
require the Director to notify the Parties.. 

. f D . . D . . h 11 b d .,1,llll!JI '. b h D' b ·1 ·( ) Sg erv1ce o ec1s10ns. ec1s10ns s a e serve if11 i'?''ntmg y t e 1rector y ma1 mg 
copies thereof (return receipt) to the Parties ofrecord. \}[J111li9~ff~l'.Vice is not accomplished by 
mail, it may be effected by personal delivery of a cop){(tp,ereoi J[f ~en a party to a Proceeding 
has appeared by a representative, service upon su »ji;rp~·esentati~ijlp · counsel shall be deemed 

to be service upon the Party. ijj !IJ I 'illljj 
1 

(h) Withdrawal of Application. In case here an application is lliltii~.·awn by the 
P . . ft d d . . . d db Iii { !, C ,pt, . d . If! 1, h 'fi .et1t10ner a er an a verse ec1s1on 1s ren ere yt~/e1 011)tn1s~1on an pnor,, 0 

1
1t e ratl 1cat10n 

f~ . d f h fi I d .. ' d d h ljli l!., 1·1 In .JI b . 111111 i,. ·1ore 1ectlve ate o sue ma ec1s10n an or er, t e ap,P, ICfltlOn or su stantia yt1s1m1 ar
1

application shall not be resubmitted!~~dil~i' than one ci j:~g~r following the withdrawal. 
' 11!1' l!Jfii!I·, lltl!'I 

(i) Appeals. Any Paity aggrie e~bl a ~fl',~}order anll,~e.cision of the Planning
11111 h 	 1. . b . J d' . I . f1 . 1i, 111111 Ch 91Comm1ss10n mayo tam u 1c1a rev1ews,foereo 1.o; i~ ~ manne111~4rsuant to apter , 

1 

HRS. 1111111111i111111111 1111111 •j;j/11111111111011• •l!IIJ1 

-l--e-2Gl-6- l ~llr.ost A enc .l ~ earin P1db~!~J~s for HeJl!Jh Conducted b Hearin 

Office~·: 
1
tll!ljti 11·111 ':111]1 

1
1!illil!ll''11 q 1t1 11i!l-1

1II I l'llllll1 I '· lll 11 
~ai IJr¢.eon1*1~i;idatiori 1qvHearing tJfficer,: II 
1 111
 

111·1· IP ''· 111 llll1 j ' 11 11,1111. '· ~llt1111> •
I •I IJ · (1) U~~11l complep}-,Qn of takmg of the evidence, the Hearing Officer shall 
1lijl1! prep! ~~il;\ repo't'.t!Mefling for the proposed findings of fact, conclusions of 

11,lill· 1aw, th¼lreasons tk¢,efore, and a recommended order, and shall submit 
· 1111! 't the repo,ff the Proceeding to the Commission. · 

(2) ll,j~,\\ereccifJlhall include the petition, notice ofhearing, motions,
11 l'"dl!l 111 d . f h h . 'f . d dru lPR~'

1
01' ers, transcnpt o t e earmg, 1 reqmre , ocumentary 

evid~i\~e, stipulations, proposed findings, or other documents 
submitted by the Parties, objections to the conduct of the hearing and 
the report of the Hearing Officer and all other matters placed in 
evidence. 

(3) 	 The Hearing Officer shall cause a copy of the report to be served upon 
all Parties to the Proceedings. 

(b) Exception to Hearing Officer's Report and Recommendations. 

9 



(1) 	 Prior to seven (7) working days after service of the report and 
recommendations by the Hearing Officer, a Party may file with the 
Commission, exceptions to the report. Such Party shall serve copies 
of exceptions upon each party to the Proceeding. 

(2) 	 The exceptions shall: 

(i) Set forth specifically the questions ofprocedure, fact, law, or policy, 
to which exceptions are taken; 

(ii) Identify that part of the Hearing OfffJ~!i's report and 
recommended order to which obje~ti:i 1\~!~i·e made; 

(.. ') D . b . . 11l1rlUllllll!t1~. f h d 1. d m es1gnate y page c1tat1on•ro tue p01, fors o t e recor re 1e upon; 
· I 'll ' [111l!lill1, 11ll111. 

(iv) State all the grounds£ 
f 

!')exceptions to a ntlihg, finding, conclusion 
d . 	 TH'' .I l' d . d 11 ··~··m 11 dor ~·ecodmmen atlon. ,?i glf~un snot cite or spe ,ii '\cl!a y urge are 

waive 	. ! l!l!i. 1 j' ' I IJ11 ' 
!1• •I> 11111 ,111 II JI I • 1!,111 

(c) Support of Hearmg Offifrr;~,f eport and R~riorn1}7- ndations. ti I 

11
1111l 1lill111,, ll[llh,

(1) 	 Prior to seven (7t)jiW011~fhg days afterl~e·~vice of the exceptions taken to 
, 	 11,l '•llt,1If\, Ii! ii .

the Heanng Officyu's rep·011?~n.v other R1:trty may file with the 
. . dP, . 1n..n1, 111r;.i. r-c: 	 .Cori111,uss1on argume\its m suppor t 6f the Hearmg O 11cer's recommendations.

·'! Hll 11 '1 ill1! lili . 1 1dlll • Iii I), 1' .' · uch 'Par~.x,1shall serve co.pies u~9J:1. each, m~rty to the Proceed mg. 
11,1I ,r .11111, lti1111 '!11111 "iJ11lJ!l1 

(2) 	 Th Ml1bmittal snaH: 1 Ii 
1 

,·1i11lii111illl0!:1A:!]~[j,jp~~1w~l\i/Y,ilhe poin~ lbf procedure, fact, law or policy to 
1ilt!li· .i 	 " \,\,h1~h1 ~xcep~ig~s were t~l~¢~lllll I ill

Ill 	 'l!lilh,11 11 ' 'I 11i111111 	 I l
1

I 11111· (ii) State1\~r _facts fln~1reasons why the report and recommendations must be 

11111i affirmed; ,ill! II 11!1· 

!ll!k·· ·) D · li1lb · · h . f h d 1· d1 \~f
1	 

es1gna e y page citation t e port10ns o · t e recor re 1e upon. 
'i. I ll'I'11 

11h11 ,I 1,I
(d) Oral Argument Bpfi ~d1 e Commission. 

q! I!I11·,., 
(1) 	 If a Party desires to argue orally before the Commission, a written request 

with reasons therefore shall accompany the exceptions filed. The 
Commission may grant the request. 

(2) 	 The Commission may direct oral argument on its own motion. 

(e) Commission Action. 

(1) In the event no statement of exceptions is filed, the Commission may 
proceed to reverse, modify, or adopt the recommendations of the Hearing 

10 



Officer. 

(2) 	 Upon the filing of the exceptions and support documents, the Commission 
may: 

(i) Render its decision upon the record; 

(ii) If oral argument has been allowed, the Commission may render its 
decision after oral argument; or 

11 




CHAPTER6 


AGENCY HEARING PROCEDURES 


1-6-1 Presiding Officer. 

(a) In all Agency Hearings before the Commission, the Chair, or one of the 
Commissioners, or a Hearing Officer duly appointed and designated shall preside at the hearing. 

(b) The Presiding Officer shall control the course of he~rings, administer oaths, receive 
evidence, hold appropriate conferences before or during hear·n~~~Lrule upon all objections or 
motions, receive offers ofproof, fix the time for the filin~,rft s\\b'mittals, dispose of any other 
matter that normally and properly arises in the course off1J11Ml!ing, and take all other actionsfin 1JII! IJ!l!'l •
authorized by law that are deemed necessary to the orderly ana Jµst conduct of a hearmg. 

' III '' 111111 
· h 1 · ,,11 11 I11

· d · l11i1, d h · · h 11 ·1-6-2 Parties. T e P annmg DepartmYi , ~ mttte mtervenot~lflTI t e pet1ttoner s a m 
every case be parties to such proceedings. qi 1, 1d[]II'!

11' l , 11 
· Tl p 'd' Offi 1[1 1 c: .,tlllh d '..1llti.1 .1 6 3- - Contmuance. 1e rest mg tcer q l:liV? 1ot goo cause, postp0n.e or continue 

• ll•i PO 1111 111 1 • 'i t',I 1 
any heanng from day to day, or to a !i~ter1qate, or to a cl~~)eNent place without not&e other than 
the announcement thereof at the AgeWc~ 

1
4{e'aFing when ~W ~ab.plicant for a Special Management 

. p . !'I 18 ttql ' 1~ . Jti,1 1 . 'fi dArea, Class Iv, Use, Vanance erm1t, ;or pec1~ 11 !Yrm1t subrrpfs s1gm 1cant ata, reports or 
111 1 1

studies at the time of the h.earing, in ordJl 1io giv~' 4~ljG~mmisbhn j~nd the public an opportunity
'd }flll tl'' 1pl d' 'ldfl1111 Iii1 d r I ll!''j j]t'to eva uate an cons1 e1r1t 1e1,~t~, reports ot;·stu 1es. I 

1illlll1lpniio1,lllill!1 . '111!11. Ill1liP ., I liljjl-i 
1-6-4 Ex Pailte lcommunie~tion. No #{11~1,n \vhether dr, Yl'.ot a party to a Proceeding 

11 11 111 "b c: h C . . ·1> 11 • Olli d' b'1i f he1ore t e ommtss10n' s, a commup1cate ex papte regar mg any su ~ect matter o t e 
1

d. ' 1 l{1 l!h f H111 lhi" ' · tll lu · Offi h '11 b · · · procee mg w1t 11a.ny me.mu~n 0 It e ~ omnuss10n 0r1ruearmg teer w o w1 e a participant m 
ij!lllP Lill !.! '! 1 'Ir •1,· ..r111 

1 1111 't 'Ii11011the decisi?Hrp.;ial<iinq!firocess. d l ' ,li!tj1,11 

111111111 

. 111111ir , 11111, . 
111111n,


11

q~.5 Notice of Al enc Hearin .1
1 111 1·11 ·11· Ill I 
Tll]ll, fA 

I · 11 P · l( a) H · gern;:IJJyl1.ri.earmgn ll!1i,1 .ll be served upon a arties and persons on t 1e~nfitlce o w1 
mailing list for tHt~murpose at ti~,,}·r last recorded address at least fifteen (15) days prior to the 
Agency Hearing d!~rtJ,vnless ot1im{wise provided by law. Futther, the notice will be filed at least 
six (6) days prior to tH~j~ gencirilFiearing with the Office of the County Clerk. 

1dl I,·111! 11· 
(b) The notice shal ~ghtain the appropriate information as required in Chapter 91, HRS. 

1-6-6 Waiver of Procedure. Any procedure in a Contested Case may be modified or 
waived by stipulation of the Patties and informal disposition may be made of any Contested Case 
by stipulation, settlement, agreement, consent order, or default. 

1-6-7 Prehearing Conference. A Presiding Officer or designated representative may 
hold a prehearing conference with the Parties for the purpose of formulating or simplifying the 
issues, arranging for the exchange of proposed exhibits or proposed written testimony, setting of 

http:ll!1i,1.ll


schedules, exchanging names ofwitnesses, limitation of number of witnesses, and such 
other matters as may expedite orderly conduct and disposition of the Proceeding. 

1-6-8 Requests for Transcripts. Any Party may request transcripts according to the · 
provisions see fo1th in Section 1-2-6 (b). Requests shalI be made in writing at least seven (7) days prior 
to the Agency Hearing. 

1-6-9 	 Just, expeditious, and inexpensive determination. 

(a) To avoid unnecessary cumulative evidence, the Presiding Officer may limit the 

number of witnesses or the time for testimony upon a particula1'iissue. 


. (b) The Presi~ing Officer shall not _order or ap~r~~el~~Wi'f'~tyle discovery against non
partles; and unless stipulated to by all parties, the hean~gYldf~cer shall not order or approve 
. ·1 1 d' b . c· ·1 1 d'1sc0,yI, ullllYre1ers' to proced . . . dbyc1v1 sty e 1scovery etween parties. 1v1 sty e .~

1 
b 11 ures 1111tiate 

parties under judicial rules of civil procedure, sp~witiqatiy inc1~d1Wg,but not limited to, 
1depositions on oral or written questions, writtertlln't~l-~·ogatories, retjbg~ts for production of 

documents or th.mgs, requests to enter land ,pPriit' h . '1'!1H1w I01\ ot er property, p ys1ca an,u,menta 
11	 1

examinations, and requests for admissions. 1~ll 
1
j , 1111!1j

1
1 

1 . . I' f · 111111,l ,r1.11!l!IP· f :11111,.1)1-6-lo Stlpu at10n as to Fmd ngs o . Facts, Cone usl'0ns o Law. Nothmgm these 
h'b ' p . f ll l~•lfll!•', . lft!IIH, I . fi d' f-C1 h 	11ru es s a pro 1 1t artles rom enterp1g vuo appropriate1st~pu at10ns as to m mgs o iact, 

· f 1 	 d d' · ·flPT 1111!!11, . h IH,·fi' ..Icone us10ns O aw, an con ltlons, 1 ·,w,COl~Ylj~ g t e Sl\Tf[ i1 pet1t10n. 

1111 11
(1) A Petition~~jY,,ho desires to,!~n.ter intoll~~tip:ulatio~l!ihitll prepare a stipulation as 

to anwR 1:~Yl ·fil~tii'11gs of fact}!bbnclust~HY1~f!l~w. a~d)conditions, if any,
11conce~mgthe ~~ililclipetitio~t11i'i'iiil'" ·· 111111 

1
(2) All Par~ie11Jhap sii the propos~k.~tipulation as to any or all proposed findings

11
ll
,!!]li:lr~lf~a\ 1con~1W1t81~~IJr U~ an~ con~iiions, and proposed decision and order, if 

1 1 11 1~t·Jn~1.fild,-shall Y~&mit su~h Ytl~Ulatjdl{ to the Commission seven (7) days prior
t( 'lfll1111 1fl\tl, 'l!lllj, . . 	 ..Ill to the Agep:oy Hean,rg !date, unless otherwise permitted by the Pres1dmg Officer.

II11 111p11 •:11 11 
(3) 	 lll!l!fihe Commis1f~fiimay 1'.Jij~Jre the patties to submit additional 

1e~i~ence concei+~g the stipulation and proposed decision and order. 

Th1,11u11h . . l1ltJ h d d . . d d b d'(4) 	 e 0$mm1ss1dn ,may approve t e propose ec1s1on an or er y amen mg
11 ;1 I. d dor adoptlt}g, t1w·tf!fllll'propose . . d ordec1s10n an er.

lll!ll!1 
J' 

1-6-11 Order of Agency Hearing Procedure. At the commencement of the 
Agency Hearing, the Presiding Officer may read the notice ofhearing and then briefly 
outline the procedures to be followed, which shall be in the following manner: 

(a) Ente1tain Requests for Intervention. All persons seeking to intervene as Parties 
shall be asked to identify themselves and their counsel. The Presiding Officer shall proceed 
in accordance with Chapter 4 herein. 

(b) Order of Presentation. The Petitioner's presentation shall be first, followed by the 

2 




Department and then the intervenors. In cases where there multiple Intervenors, the Presiding 
Officer shall establish the order or the Intervenors' presentations. 

(c) Public Testimony. The presiding officer shall then suspend the rules and open the Agency 
Hearing to the public as required by law. Cross-examination of public witnesses shall not be allowed 
of the Petitioner aii.d Intervenors. 

(d) Close Public Testimony. Upon the admission or all public evidence, the Presiding 
officer shall close the public testimony portion of the Agency Hearing. 

(e) Additional Testimony. The Presiding Officer shall ~Ji0,w the submission of 
1additional written evidence from public witnesses up to se1fJb!('7)1days after the close of the 

Agency Hearing in cases where the Commission does n ·i11ri~b action on the same day. 

1111 11 '' 111 11111,
(f) Request To Submit Proposed Findings oflf'act, ConcluYi?ns of Law, Decision And 

Order When The~·e Is ~o Inter:ention. I~ casesd~?~ii _t~ere is n~ id <:;f~~~tion, the Petit~oner 
may, after the ev1dentlary portion but pnor tq jlfle!Hec1s1on-makmg po itiqh of the Meetmg 
(when a duly-made motion by the Commissiori ttb,~ct on the docket is rrid~~) request the 

D1111 . b . d F' d' f F 'i•JI ill l . 'Ji fL 1,. fLopportumty to su m1t a propose m mgs o act, tp nc US\Oti~•o aw, eo.\S ?in o aw. 
1

Should the Petitioner not submit a reg_uest at such tnJJ~jthe1~Uitioner's right t~ s~bmit such 
. d l'h,-il' i:.• C . . I, 1J.i_!IIJ . h ' .document s ha11 be deemed waive a 4 tue omm1ss10n 1p~Xcommence wit appropnate 

decision-making action. If a request i'!1~!de)'t~e Presiding!W'fficer may continue the docket , "II I 1ii ;JI , • {1I11,,, ,
and set a timetable for the conduct or tHy ,post-Heanng Procee'11,11gs pursuant to Section 1-6
18 . Iii It 'll ' q I I I I I 'II 

11111lj!ill!llill111 1
1111. ,:jlll!ll111 1111 1 I I Ill 

(g) Reconvetj ls,of Cont~~trd Case He~ri,~g !Portion: Ir \,yases where there are 
Intervenors or advers€ ~a,ties and l~lcontestedl~~se Hearing is reconvened to complete the 
presentation of evidenc~Ht~11PresM· ~ilOfficer &i~~Iexplain the Proceedings, note and discuss 

b. · tt..'' P d' 1 1ft · 11 I natty, 1 a 'f \ Hy are su m1tt· ed, and 1 d · · ho ~ect10ns to ue1 xocee mgs ·om eao hn b t 1en a mm1ster t e 
1Oath to1,,ci~~e~sek' i111111i!I ll;l1(1'•1;l l,i 11!11111,, I 

1"1 l 1 II !11! ,t11i I 1
(n \ ;: ·oss-Examinatidn Each f.m-cy shall have the right to conduct such cross

1 
examinati~-m,¼[ 1other Paitie~iJJct their Withesses as may be required for a full and true 'II ~ tl°I ! I fl 
disclosure oft ~ ~acts. The orde11of cross-·examination and re-cross shall be determined by 
the Presiding Off(~ 1er. The Co~~ission shall have the right to question each Party after 

. f 1lfllt h , JIii p .1comp et10n o re-cros~I fl t e o!t~~r arties. 
1,11 ,111111 

(i) Rebuttal Evideh~9
1
~ J Each Patty shall be afforded the opportunity ror rebuttal in the 

same order as item 1-6-11 (h) above. 

U) Close Contested Case Hearing. Upon completion of all testimony and evidence 
submitted by each party and their witnesses, the Presiding Officer shall close the Contested 
Case p01tion of the Hearing. 

1-6-12 Co-Counsel. No more than two (2) counsels may appear for any Pa1ty at 
any Proceeding before the Commission. Where a Party is represented by more than one 
counsel, only one of the counsel shall be permitted to cross-examine a witness or to state 
any objections or to make closing arguments. 

3 



1-6-13 Requests For Subpoenas. 

(a) Subpoenas of Witnesses. Requests for the issuance of subpoenas requiring the 
atterdance of a witness for the purpose of taking oral testimony before the Commission shall 
be in writing, and shall state the reasons why the testimony or the witness is believed to be 
material and relevant to the issues involved. Only Parties or a Commissioner may request the 
issuance of a subpoena. 

(b) Every subpoena shall state the title of the proceeding for which it is to be issued, 
and shall command each person to whom it is directed to attend and give testimony at a time 
and place therein specified. , H: 

1
i11

iJ11jli1I• 
(c) Subpoenas Duces Tecum. Requests for the ~s~~~~~Ti or subpoenas for the 

1
production of documents or records shall be in writin~j js,ila'II s~b'cify the particular document 

• 1, •t! !Jt I ,
or record, or part thereor, desJl'ed to be produced; and snail state qe•reasons why the 
production thereof is believed to be material ard11 &i~vant to the iss~~k 'involved. 

'\1!!1 jl 'll!lli; I 

(d) Who May Issue Subpoenas. Subpoenas may be is~ped by the ~~~ir or in his 
absence, any Commissioner. No subpoena shall be!J~wed ~~l~~s the Party 1(e~uesting the 

• • I • • • ,, :JI, . ,I I I .' ll/1,
subpoena has complied with the pror ~lons herem and1~1v 1the name and address of the 
desired witness. Signed and sealed 

1 

b\ lnk1~\\bpoenas will11P?i be issued to anyone. The name 
1 

and address of the witness shall be ins~ ;t~~!lti!tl~,r original S\1~~oena, a copy of which shall be 
filed in the proceeding. Subpoenas shall .

1 
~ow'kt 1~ hose instciHe,~ the subpoena is issued. The 

Parties at whose instance a·riubRoena is issued shall ~rt'·apge for ~bl·yice thereof, and shall file a 
II 11'11 , -1 1 1, • 11,11, 'IJI H!lj•II '1Ireturn and acknowledgmen 011 'service thereon. ,j I l' 1 · j , 

'1111_1 } j ," I I 1, 

(e) Fees and Mi)~eage. WitAe ses sum~q~~d shall be paid the same fee and mileage as 
are paid witnesses in CiIJ~~'fr ;Collrt~'1ofthe State '61

flHawai'i and such fees and mileage shall be 
• lll l'tt ·, 111 1, n 1 11 1111 1\! ' 

paid by thel:Pany,at, hose instai1ce1the w,ithe s appiear. 
1

1i 1111 plli l . 11! !!'11,' '1111!'1· '<11111111'"1 ljll
11!: t) Oath. Witne~s6s ·,shall Jl~worn unde1.to~th or affirmation prior to testifying. 

lij' 'II jl! . tt11'11 
1111 , 111!1 ld1h 

. l-6Ji~l1Cons.olidation. ~ pe Co~!ssion, upon its own initiative or upo? motion, may 
consolidate for h~anng or for other purposes, or may contemporaneously consider, two or more 
Proceedings whi 

1 

cl~1\nt olve subd\~1tially the same parties or issues which are the same or 
closely related if it fiqd~

1
that s

1
~1~Ii consolidation or contemporaneous consideration will be 

conducive to the propeh,1{spawW of its business and to the ends ofjustice and wm not unduly 
delay the Proceedings. 1•111111 

1-6-15 Substitution ofParties. Upon motion and for good cause shown, the Commission 
may order substitution ofParties, except that in the case ofdeath of a Party, substitution may be 
ordered without the filing of a motion. 

1-6-16 Motions. 

(a) Al l motions, other than those made during a hearing, shall be made in writing to the 
Presiding Officer, shall state the reliefsought, and shall be accompanied by an affidavit, declaration, 
and/or memorandum setting forth the grounds upon which they are based. 

4 



(b) All motions are non-hearing and shall be decided upon written submission, unless the 
Presiding Officer elects to set a time for hearing. 

(c) Unless otherwise specified by the Presiding Officer, a memorandum in opposition or a 
counter affidavit or declaration may be filed and served on all parties no later than fifteen (15) days after 
service of the motion. 

(d) No reply or supplemental memoranda shall be filed unless specifically allowed by the 
Presiding Officer. 

(e) The origina l documents and proof of service shall be ~\4~1with the commission. When 
service is made by mail, two calendar days shall be added to t.he i ~1·i6ds required in subsections (c). 

,1:!llll11t!llh 
(f) Unless otherwise specified by the Presiding Offi9er, all pretrial motions shall be filed no 

later than twenty (20) days prior to the assigned Contes 1d .case hearinMqat . 
111 11' 111 !I, 

1-6-17 Evidence. •11111 i: •li\J1iiiJ1 
11 

(a) Fann and Admissibility. The CommiJ~~f hall, ·~/1be bound b)11-f,1,j'awai'i Rules 
of Evidence relating to the admissi,o' ' 1l9r,rejection of e-l;,i~~Mpe1: but may exercis~ 1'its own 
d. . . h . l . \ I t I I d . . H11 ,,. • • d1scretlon m sue matter wit 1 a v1ew1owar s msunng t atuustice 1s serve . 


I' I 111 I 1 ' "'' 

(b) Burden of Proof. Except as1qtherwj~e Pfovided by)aw, the Pa1iy initiating

1 
Commission consideration shall have tnci;b\lrden 

1
ot'iproof, inciL~,·ng the burden of 

'dence as 1 '' llll; • h b d 1fJl1 h d I Ill jproducmg. ev1 we . asjt e ur en o ,•persua 1011..tl!,lj ·1 e egree or quantum of proof 
I'"1i, · ,l I 'I 1 J t ,I" 1 •111

shall be a preponderw,ic;~ of tne evidence. IiI , IJ! ' ' ,,lil!'I 11 

1111
'11 

1 
1111, 11 1111Iill! ' I 

. (c) Exclusion ~R~ rn~l~vant, at~rial. Asl~;m~tter of policy, ~~e Co~ission shall 
provide for the exc1us1on orlw · 1e1 

antV1mmatena1!10 · unduly repet1t10us ev1dence. 
11 llllllll 11 11!111111,, 1LI! 11111 

11 
" '!Lilll1!1 

1 
111 'i1 1 

1i!llt~) !Ruling. h~dR ·esidirig 0, fficer shall r,~l~ on the admissibility of all evidence. Such 
1 

ru mg may e rev1ewe D:Y. t e OIT\m1ss1on m eterm1111ng t e matter on its ments. nI. i) J: b . l11tt1· 1 C J fl, . . . d !II . . h . . I 

d'.!1 111 . • t Ii I, h 11!11\h, d · · b h C · · · extraor m~rn~ ctrcumstances, m:,ere proilfP,t eCISlOn y t e omm1ss1on IS necessary to
1

promote ju~h~~·, the Presiding b{ficer m aY,!refer the matter to the Commission for 
11 

1determination. I!\Iii 'li:ill 
(e) ObjectiJ IJ.\,d E"9~~fions. When objections are made to the admission or 

exclusion of evidence, thJ ps ;~l'.mds relied upon shall be stated briefly . Formal exceptions to 
rulings are unnecessary and,need not be taken. 

(f) Offer ofProof. An offer of proof for the record shall consist of a statement of 
the substance of the evidence to which objection has been sustained. 

(g) Prepared Testimony. With the approval of the Presiding Officer, a witness may 
read into the record his testimony on direct examination. Before any prepared testimony is 
read, unless excused by the Presiding Officer, the witness shall deliver copies thereof to the 
Presiding Officer, t~e clerk reporter, and all counsel or Parties. Admissibility shall be subject 
to the rules governing oral testimony. If the Presiding Officer deems that substantial saving in 

5 




time will result, a copy of the prepared testimony may be received in evidence without 
reading, provided that copies thereof shall have been served upon all Parties and the 
Commission to permit proper cross-examination of the witness on matters contained in said 
prepared testimony. 

(h) Documentary Evidence. Ifrelevant and material matter offered in evidence is 
embraced in a document containing other matters, the Party offering it shall designate 
specifically the matter so offered. Ifother matter in the document would unnecessarily 
encumber the record, the document will not be received in evidence, but at the discretion of the 
Presiding Officer, the relevant and material matter may be read into the record or copies thereof 
received as an exhibit. Other parties shall be afforded opportutl

1fY,to examine the document, 
and to offer in evidence other po1tions thereof believed m&tg1-1l! 1·~nd relevant. 

(i) Exhibits. 	 •lil!lilllliltljjjjlJ
1 

S. E h'b' h ll'b' !':l)I; I d ll!liii. l I 'bl d . h(1) 	 Form- ize. x 1 its s a n e c ear y an perm~nent y eg1 e an m sue 
form as may be prescrib~olby the Commission.1JS¾hibits shall be bound 
or fo~ded to the respectit~~ap~,~-o~imat~11~ize, whe1!b h,rfl~tical. Wherever 
practicable, sheets of each ex. 1 bit shajillo'e numbered 'an1tl1·1data and other 

'I "i if111 II' Tl II
figures shall 1b(j1set foit h in tabtUar 1or . 	 I · 

1 
(2) 	 Copies. Wheril~x~ibit~ 

1
are offere~

11hier idence, and when practicable the 
original and twi 1~·e·(l12)!bcmies shal11H,elifurnished to the Presiding'11 1 ,v,,,, T[i I 

Officer with a copy lto each Piflrcy to the Broceeding other than the 
, '· II 11 n. . fI II' I 1 f domw1ss10n, un es'1 l Ul. . 	 . 1 l::;Luch cop ~sj' ' I,ave been prev10us y• urms 1e. l or the 

I ~ {II J I ,,,,,fl, 1ll,1 i'Jil!lll '1 11111 p 
·esidirtg©f.ficer other:w~se I ,ijlllll

lIll! ; Ill I '11,,1,111 l 

1

l 
1

1·h1 II IUJ 1 

U) Commission lR.:t ·cords. ] e file kept Dv'J{he Department on the matter pending 
before the Commission ~~111 con~titlhe:evidence·tol· the purposes of an Agency Hearing.'I 'llll' Ill II ,·11 •H11 ,1 I1 jl ' 1r1/ ~ ii I' '. 111 II 11 H1,,, tiiiI1'. !1, 11II 1:, 1i1 

;j~l~J Official Noti'9e of Fact;S·,Officia ht>tice, may be taken of such matters as may be1 1 

judici~ll~
1
noticed by the1Jb4rts ofth ;~tate of Hawai' i. Official notice may also be taken of 

generally1H~1~.gnized teclmic:%,or sd~l~ti:fic facts within the Commission's specialized 
1knowledge Wtj~n Parties and ~ten notig~ 'either before or during the hearing or the material so 

noticed and aff~Hied the oppo1{~ility to contest the facts so noticed. 

. . 11111i, . ,d !ll . 	 .'11"1 'I''
(1) Addit1onal!Ev1dency, ~o supplemental evidence shall be accepted mto the record 

after the Agency HeariHtis ~1bk1ed. However, the Presiding Officer may, at the hearing, require 
the production of further d fH~nce upon any issue. Upon agreement of the Paities, the Presiding 
Officer may authorize the filing of specific documentary evidence as a pa1t of the record within 
a fixed time after submission reserving exhibit number therefor. 

1-6-l 8 Post Hearing Procedures for Hearing Conducted By Commission. 

(a) Correction of Transcripts in Cases where Transcripts are Provided. Motions to 
correct a transcript shall be filed with the Commission within fourteen (14) days after receipt of 
the transcript unless otherwise directed by the Presiding Officer, and shall be served on all 
Parties. Motions to correct transcripts shall ceitify the date when the transcript was received. 

6 



Any objections to proposed corrections must be served on all Parties and received by the 
Commission at least seven (7) days after the date of service of the corrections. If no objections 
are received, the transcript will, upon approval of the Commission, be changed to reflect such 
corrections. If objections are received, the motion will be acted upon with due consideration to 
the stenographic transcript of the hearing. 

(b) Submittals of Proposed Decisions and Orders. Each Party to the proceeding may 
submit a proposed decision and order to the Commission which shall include findings of fact 
and conclusions of law. Said proposals shall be served to each Party to the proceeding. 

(c) Timing of Submittals. Unless otherwise directed b)j jtffe Presiding Officer, in 
proceedings where transcripts are not required, submittal 9f 11 jptoposed decision and order 
shall be made within thi1ty (30) days from the date of closi'1gi?.f the hearing. In proceedings 
whereby transcripts are required, submittal shall be m~UFl~ itW¾ jfi utteen (14) days from the 
date or service ofthe u·anscript. i1Jj!J1 'lilll 

1 1 
(d) Submittal of Exceptions to DecisidU1~Id Order. Submittal 1ithe Commission of 

'll1I I 	 Hljexceptions to a proposed decision and order shal be made within seven (7J. jd1',YS from the date 
of service of said proposed decision and order, or witl{ih, l ~h p ),1~;'of time spec'iM~« lbri' the Presiding 
Officer. Such submittal shall be servedwr 1r ll parties. I 1111111 111 l 1,l 

. 	 11] ,!lli!!lll tc t I•, . .
(e) Fmal Arguments. The Pres1~}ng U1ifjcer shall e am sh the date for presentat1011 

offinal arguments which shall occur i~1t~e fo'ii8U,ih9order, 
1

iirilbss otherwise directed by 

the Presiding Officer: , !ltjjll!IIP! ·11111, ' 
1 

1l'!il!lj· •,l!Jjj1 
11!1•11 ,_I 111111, l'Jt. ,1l!ll1 ll_r '•I 1111111, 1 • • 

(I ) I11i,Wpterta111°:~n11t ·orf submbl~tU~lrnc, ot10n~, ~ q~ptlons or corrections to 
·tq~j1l·anscn~l'j 1 any, y ifjlh omm1ss10n;

Ill ,,, I 1111,, .. , l'J 
i1111\I!i

w
K1f~Hl1III Presen. filip of oniJ,ffP?i~me ~~ by the Pet_itioner, Depaitment, then 

I11[Ihtervendl}ll (11 cases ~l~yle lhi1b are multiple Intervenors, the 
11111 	 /nine their order of presentation.•I ~f(\ijJ~g·'l\,1t•II di¥e,
 

11111 1
l!!t(3) Closingl~rgumentJ/or rebuttal by the Petitioner. 

l1lJdlh11 	 Offi I ' • 1· . . C: l'llll i~! IThe Presi '~m11 1cer nt~ir, ,set appropnate time imitat10ns 1or ora argument 
provided that not mbi·i :than on 1~(b hour on each side of the Proceeding will be allowed for 

11 111. h . 11 ea! e f h omm1ss· 1on. argument wit out specrn ' ' t e C · 
I 1111 jl 

(f) Issuance ofDecision and Order. A Proceeding shall stand submitted for decision by 
the Commission after the taking ofevidence and the presentation of such oral argument as may 
have been prescribed by the Presiding Officer. The Commission may: 

(1) 	 Adopt a decision and order as submitted by any of the Parties, with 
or without revisions; 

(2) 	 Take action on the matter and may require the Department or a Patty 
to the proceeding to submit a written decision and order which 
conforms with the evidence; or 

7 



(3) 	 If no proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, decision and order 
have been submitted by any party, take action on the matter and 
require the Director to notify the Parties. 

(g) Service of Decisions. Decisions shall be served in writing by the Director by mailing 
copies thereof (return receipt) to the Parties of record. When service is not accomplished by 
mail, it may be effected by personal delivery of a copy thereof. When a pruty to a Proceeding 
has appeared by a representative, service upon such representative or counsel shall be deemed 
to be service upon the Party. 

(h) Withdrawal of Application. In cases where an flRil~lk\\on is withdrawn by the 
Petition~r after an adverse decisio.n.is rendered by the, C~~I,~ /on and prim: to th: r~tification 
or effective date of such final dec1s10n and order, the aBph·catA~,i i?ir substantially smi1lar 
application shall not be resubmitted sooner than on~l'(l)' year folio 'iirn the withdrawal. 

Illl I'' tp iI
(i) Appeals. Any Party aggrieved by a MHJ order and decisi6W(M the Planning 

Commission may obtain Judicial reviews the-i!d~£ ·n the manner pursuaHtll~1IChapter 91 ,
1'llj I 	 1111 11HRS 1

. ·111 1 j tll 11· 
, • 111111111r1 I 1 	 1111,

1-6-19 Post A enc Hearin ' 1#1:0cedures for HeahH , onducted b Hearm Officer. 
111'1:111 

11111, 1 

1 

'!!111 I 

(a) Recommendation ofHeariddmr ,dgt)i , lillllj
1

(I) tI»Slll~Ompletion Jf ll.king ~~fil~Jfriden~~Jllhe Hearing Officer shall 
1	 j1 11111P.'ii!1

p~}~ 1
~ ·enort settih~lfo -th~p' 1iotpH 6'cMijndi~gs of fact, conclusions of

1[1. P' 11r1i 9 'm 1IIT ''II Ill1 law, the reasons therefore1
, and a recommended order, and shall submit 

'1' 	 d Ill
tl\~/f port ot l e .Procee iq~rto the Commission. 


11ll1111u I1!!II,,11IIIII II 1l!1 1·,. ,1;!1P 


Ill1JI 1(0J 1.HI 111T,he reo9 ·~shall ih'el~'~e \he Pftition, notice of hearing, motions, 
11	 11

11111 I ' 1rUlings, Mahs, transc~-i~t1b~th~ hearing, if required, documentary 
11111/1 1J ll tl l(h'

llj eviqence, st1p lations, proposed findings, or other documents 
1Prn 't 1111·llj submitted by t 1~jfi~11:ies, objections to the conduct of the hearing and 111 

llljj· th: repg*il f. the Fi~~ring Officer and all other matters placed in 
1 1111 ev1denc~.I l 

' 1' 111
I Itt l1i, L,

(3) 	 The Hea ·i.ng Officer shall cause a copy of the rep011 to be served upon 
I II, ,i 	 1 ,1
all tF? rti~s to the Proceedings. 

11 IP 
(b) Exception to Hearing Officer's Report and Recommendations. 

(1) 	 Prior to seven (7) working days after service of the report and 
recommendations by the Hearing Officer, a Pru1:y may file with the 
Commission, exceptions to the repo11. Such Pai1:y shall serve copies 
of exceptions upon each party to the Proceeding. 

(2) 	 The exceptions shall: 

8 

http:decisio.n.is


(i) Set fmth specifically the questions ofprocedure, fact, law, or policy, 
to which exceptions are taken; 

(ii) Identify that part of the Hearing Officer's report and 
recommended order to which objections are made; 

(iii) Designate by page citation to the pmtions of the record relied upon; 

(iv) State all the grounds for exceptions to a ruling, finding, conclusion 
or recommendation. The grounds not cited or specifically urged are 

waived. 	 1 11illi1, 

(c) Support of Hearing Officer's Report and Re ~~W ndations. 
II I ql"Iil1111i 'I! t111 

(1) 	 Prior to seven (7) working d~ys after service1of the exceptions taken to 
1 	 11 11 

h H 	 • Offi " ·,, .. ,. h p I • fil • h ht e e~ru~g 1cer s r~?P~lany ot er a1t~ mfl~ ll 1_e wit t e . 
Corrumss1on argumentS ·in1~uppo1t of the Hearmg Oi[!c9r's recommendat1ons. 
Such Paity shall serve copi~s14pon each pa ·ty to the Prgbe~ding. 

'lit. 	 I ill' 
111 11

(2) 	 ,,1111 ·1111 1'111
The submittal sh~r·1111 . 1111:11, 1II· 
(. 'fi 1ll 1,1 lll!l\1 1, • f I dld f: l l'1) Answer spec1 1cat, Y. tHe 1p9mts o proc ;i:ire, act, aw or po icy to 

h. h . 1h ' k . 11,11w 1c exceptions were ta en; ,d I · !'I'll I I . q t!j·. ' '11' 1 '% I Iii 11l.Jtii!111 Iii 
(ii)iState the f: cts and reasons wh1, the 1;~po1t and recommendations must be 
*. Hit I 11 I' I lli 1l1 11 1ii1111111a1f.Ufped· and tj'lllj 'jl1 · 1 ,l11llll!lt ' 	 ll! 11., '!l 
.. . 1l1i, I .. ll,1, . 	 .

(111) D~~1g ate M1~age c1tat1on the port10ns of the record relied upon . 

r[dlji'IIJll!llll!l111, ;'I~ j 1111!~1!1 lliq~llll.ll,,1
111 

l'll,IJ1,
(d) 10v a 1gume1~ti8 e101e He 1 omm1ss1on. ,, 

,ill i1' 11 :11 11 I I II 

P tu! \ 111 11 ~ c ·1 
11,'1'! '\11)'V If a aity lfe~ll'es to · ' · argue ora y be1ore t he omm1ss10n, a · wntten · request

1''!Ill with reasdns therefore shall accompany the exceptions filed. The' 	 ·1111 • lJjl1l,1
1
•commission may grant the request. 

t I , 1l 'I Ii I 
i1.!l111 1111 

(2) 	 The\::ommi~i,ion may direct oral argument on its own motion. 

"illlll 11 1111111''
(e) Commission Action.II J 

(1) 	 In the event no statement of exceptions is filed, the Commission may 
proceed to reverse, modify, or adopt the recommendations of the Hearing 
Officer. 

(2) 	 Upon the filing of the exceptions and suppo1t documents, the Commission 
may: 

(i) Render its decision upon the record; 

9 


http:Action.II


(ii) If oral argument has been allowed, the Commission may render its 
decision after oral argument; or 

(iii) Reopen the docket and take further evidence or may take such 
other disposition of the case that is necessary under the circumstances. 

10 




V. Administrative Matters 

A. Discussion with eGovemment Services & 
Customer Services Representative regarding the 
Development and Implementation of a New 
Website for the Board 

No Handouts 



V. Administrative Matters 

B.Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to 
Chapter 201M, HRS 



§201M-5 Small business regulatory review board; powers. (a) 
There shall be established within the department of business, 
economic development, and tourism, for admini strative purposes , a 
small business regulatory review board to review any proposed new or 
amended rule or to consider any request from s mall business owners 
for review of a n y ru l e adopted by a state agency a nd to ma ke 
recommendation s to the agency or the l egislature regarding the need 
for a r ule change or l egislation . For requests regarding county 
ordinances , the board may make recommendations to the county council 
or the mayor for appropriate action . 

(b ) The board s ha l l consist of nine members , who shall be 
appointed by the governor pursuant t o section 26-34; provided t hat : 

(1) Three members shall be appointed from a list of nominees submitted by the president of the 
senate; 

(2) Three members shall be appointed from a list of nominees submitted by the speaker of the 
house of representatives; 

(3) Two members shall be appointed by the governor; 

(4) The director ofbusiness, economic development, and tourism, or the director's designated 
representative, shall serve as an ex officio[,] voting member of the board; 

(5) The appointments shall reflect representation of a variety of businesses in the State; 

(6) No more than two members shall be representatives from the same type of business; and 

(7) There shall be at least one representative from each county. 

For the purposes of paragraphs (1) and (2) , nominations shall be 
solicited from small business organizations , state and coun ty 
chambers of commerce , and other interested business organizations . 

(c) Except for t he ex officio member, all members of the board 
shall be either a current or former owner or officer of a business 
and shall not be an officer or empl oyee of the federal , state , or 
county government . A majority of t he board shall elect t he 
chairperson . The chairperson s hall serve a term of not more than 
one year, u nless removed earlier by a two - thirds vote of all members 
to which t he board is entitled . 

(d) A majority of all t he members to which t he board is 
entitled shall constitute a quorum to do business , and the 
concurrence o f a majority of all t he members to which the board is 
entit l ed s hall be necessary to make any action of the board valid . 

(e) In addi tion to any other powers provided by this chapter , 
the board may : 

(1) Adopt any rules necessary to implement this chapter; 

(2) Organize and hold conferences on problems affecting small business; and 



(3) Do any and all things necessary to effectuate the purposes of this chapter. 

(f) The board shall submit an annual report to the legislature 
twenty days prior to each regular session detailing any requests 
from small business owners for review of any rule adopted by a state 
agency , and any recommendations made by the board to an agency or 
the legislature regarding the need for a rule change or 
legislation. The report shall also contain a summary of the 
comments made by the board to agencies regarding its review of 
proposed new or amended rules . [L 1998, c 168, pt of §2, §5; am L 
2002, c 202 , §§3, 5; am L 2007 , c 217, §4; am L 2012 , c 241, §3) 

Previous Vol04 Ch0201-0257 Next 



§201M-7 Periodic review; evaluation report. (a) Each agency 
having ru l es that affect small business shal l submit by June 30 of 
each odd-numbered year , a list of those rules to the small business 
regulatory review board ; provided that , by June 30 of each year, 
each agency shall submit to the small business regul atory review 
board a list of a n y rules to be amended or repealed , based upon any 
new, amended , or repealed statute. The agency s hal l also submit a 
report describing t he specific public purpose or interest for 
adopti ng the respective rules that affect small business and any 
other reasons to justify their continued i mplementation. 

(b) The small business regulatory review board s hal l provide 
to the head of each agency a list of any rules adopted by the agency 
that affect small business and have generated complaints or 
concerns , including any rules that the board determines may 
duplicate, overlap , or conflict with othe r rules , or exceed 
s t atutory authority . Within forty - five days after being notified by 
the board of the list, the agency shall submit a written report to 
the board in response to the complaints or concerns . The agency 
shall also state whether the agency has considered the continued 
need for the rules and the degree to which technology, economic 
conditions , and other relevant factors may have diminished or 
eliminated t h e need for maintaining the rules . 

(c) The board may solicit testimony from the public regarding 
any report submitted by the agency under this section at a public 
meeting held pursuant to chapter 92. Upon considerat i on of any 
report submitted by an agency under this section and any public 
testimony, the board shall submit an evaluation report to t he next 
regular session of the legislature. The evaluation report shall 
include an assessment as to whether t he public interest 
significantly outweighs a rule's effect on small business and any 
legislative proposal to eliminate or reduce the effect on small 
business. The legislature may take any action in response to the 
report as it finds appropriate. [L 1998 , c 168, pt of §2, §5; am L 
2002, c 202 , §5; am L 2007 , c 217 , §6; am L 2012, c 241 , §4) 

Previous Vol04 Ch0201-0257 Next 



V. Administrative Matters 

C. Update on this Board's Newly Created Position, 

Office Assistant III 


No Handouts 



V. Administrative Matters 

D.Update on the Board's Upcoming Advocacy 
Activities and Programs in accordance with the 
Board's Powers, under Section 201M-5, HRS 

No Handouts 


	I. Agenda II. 6-28-17 Minutes III. Old Bus. 4-11 Hawaii-Grown Industrial Hemp
	Structure Bookmarks
	Small Business Regulatory Review Board Meeting .Wednesday, July 19, 2017 .10:00 a.m. .No. 1 Capitol District Building .250 South Hotel Street, Honolulu, HI .Conference Room 436 .
	Small Business Regulatory Review Board Meeting .Wednesday, July 19, 2017 .10:00 a.m. .No. 1 Capitol District Building .250 South Hotel Street, Honolulu, HI .Conference Room 436 .
	Figure
	David Y. Igc 
	Governor 
	Luis P. Salavcria 
	DBEDT Director 
	Members 
	Members 
	Anthony Borge 
	Chai,person Oahu 
	Robert Cundiff 
	Vice Chai1perso11 Oahu 
	Garth Yamanaka 
	2"d Vice Chai1person Maui 
	Harris Nakamoto 
	Oahu 
	Nancy Atmospera-Walch 
	Oahu 
	Kyoko Kimura 
	lvfaui 
	Director, DBEDT 
	Voting Ex Officio 

	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD .
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD .
	Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism (DBEDT) Tel 808 586-2594 No. I Capitol District Bldg., 250 South Hotel St. 5m Fl., Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 Mailing Address: P.O. Box 2359, Honolulu, Hawaii 96804 Email: Website: dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb 
	DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov 


	AGENDA .Wednesday, July 19, 2017 *10:00 a.m. .No. 1 Capitol District Building .250 South Hotel Street -Conference Room 436 .
	AGENDA .Wednesday, July 19, 2017 *10:00 a.m. .No. 1 Capitol District Building .250 South Hotel Street -Conference Room 436 .
	I. Call to Order 
	I. Call to Order 
	II. Approval of June 28, 2017 Meeting Minutes 

	III. Old Business 
	III. Old Business 
	A. .Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments and the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing on Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR) Title 4, Chapter 161, Hawaii-Grown Industrial Hemp, promulgated by Depaiiment of Agriculture -Discussion Leader -Rob Cundiff 
	IV. 
	IV. 
	IV. 
	IV. 
	New Business 

	A. .Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 11, Chapter 157, Examination and Immunization, promulgated by Depaiiment of Health -Discussion Leader -Harris Nakamoto 
	B. .Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to the "Interpretative Administrative Zoning Rules and Regulations (2014) ofthe Kauai Planning Commission," Relating to Chapter 8, 9, and 10 of the Kauai County Code (1987), Enforcement of KPAR 8-19, Kauai County Code, Chapter 8, Article 17, Relating to Transient Vacation Rentals of the Kauai County Code, promulgated by the County ofKauai Planning Commission Discussion Leader -Nancy Atmospera-Walch 
	C. .Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Title 1, Rules of Practice and Procedure ofthe Kauai County Planning Commission (Codified May 2014), as follows, promulgated by the County of Kauai Planning Commission -Discussion Leader -Nancy Atmospera-Walch 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	Chapter 9, Appeals from Actions of the Planning Director 

	2. .
	2. .
	Chapter 6, Agency Hearing Procedures 



	V. 
	V. 
	Administrative Matters 


	A. .Discussion with eGovernment Services & Customer Services Representative regarding the Development and Implementation of a New Website for the Board 
	B. .Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Chapter 201M, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) 
	B. .Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Chapter 201M, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) 
	Small Business Regulatory Review Board July 19, 2017 Page 2 

	C. .Update on this Board's Newly Created Position, Office Assistant III 
	D. .Update on the Board's Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board's Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS 
	VI. .Next Meeting: Scheduled for Wednesday, August 16, 2017, at 10:00 a.m., Capitol District Building, Conference Room 436, Honolulu, Hawaii 
	VII. .Adjournment 
	Ifyou require special assistance or auxiliary aid and/or services to participate in the 
	public hearing process (i.e., sign language, interpreter, wheelchair accessibility, or 
	parking designated for the disabled), please call (808) 586-2594 at least three (3) 
	business days prior to the meeting so arrangements can be made. 
	II. Approval ofJune 28, 2017 Meeting Minutes .
	Approved: _________ 
	Small Business Regulatory Review Board 
	MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING -Draft 
	Jun 28, 2017 
	Conference Room 436 -No. 1 Capitol District Building, Honolulu, Hawaii 
	I. .CALL TO ORDER: Chair Borge called the meeting to order at 10:01 p.m., with a quorum present. 
	ABSENT MEMBERS: 
	ABSENT MEMBERS: 
	MEMBERS PRESENT: 

	• .
	• .
	• .
	Anthony Borge, Chair Vice Chair .
	• Garth Yamanaka, 2
	nd .


	• .
	• .
	Robert Cundiff, Vice Chair 

	• 
	• 
	• .Nancy Atmospera-Walch 
	Kyoko Kimura 


	• .
	• .
	Harris Nakamoto 

	• .
	• .
	David Sikkink 


	STAFF:DBEDT Office of the Attorney General .Dori Palcovich None .
	II. .APPROVAL OF MAY 17, 2017 MINUTES 
	Ms. Kimura made a motion to accept the May 17, 2017 minutes, as presented. Vice Chair 
	Cundiff seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
	Ill. .OLD BUSINESS 
	A. .Chapter 101, Rules Governing the Manufacture and Sale of Intoxicating Liquor of the County of Maui, promulgated by the Department of Liquor Control, County of Maui 
	Discussion and Action on proposed Amendments to Title 8
	1 

	Ms. Kimura explained that the amendments have already gone through public hearing and were adopted; however since then, there have been a lot of complaints by the community and even a lawsuit regarding some of the amendments. One major concern relates to the 24-hour sales of retail licensees. 
	Another concern requires every board member to disclose all fines, $25.00 or more, since he or she was eighteen years old. Ms. Kimura noted that many of the non-profit board members are over 70 years old and the fines would involve library fines, parking tickets, etc. Furthermore, if board members inadvertently forget to identify all the fines, it would be considered a falsification and they would be subject to having his or her membership revoked. 
	Chair Borge stated that he encourages the Maui Liquor Commission to thoroughly vet the stakeholders' concerns, especially those involving the submission of past fines of non-profit board members. 
	Ms. Kimura made a motion to proceed to public hearing in order to thoroughly address and vet the concerned issues brought forth by the small business stakeholders and the community, and to suggest changing some of the rules that were previously approved, particularly the requirement of non-profit board members disclosing information of past fines. Vice Chair Cundiff seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
	IV. NEW BUSINESS 
	A. .Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Title 3, Rules of the Liquor Commission, City and County of Honolulu, State of Hawaii, promulgated by the City and County of Honolulu Liquor Commission 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	Chapter 81, Liquor Commissions, Section 17.51 , License Fees 

	2. .
	2. .
	Chapter 81, Section 17.58, Trade Name; Change; Fee 

	3. .
	3. .
	Chapter 82, Licenses and Permits, General Provisions, Section 33.11, Applications for Individual Permits to Receive Shipments of Liquor 

	4. .
	4. .
	Chapter 82, Section 33.6, Direct Shipment of Wine by Wineries 

	5. .
	5. .
	Chapter 83, Procedure for Obtaining License, Section 54.1, Filing Fees 


	Assistant Administrator, Ms. Anna Hirai, introduced Mr. Don Pacarro, Administrator, from the City and County of Honolulu Liquor Commission, and explained that the proposed rules represent the second of three major rule projects before this Board; the third project is expected to come in front of this Board sometime in 2018. 
	The current amendments focus on proposed increased license fees, which has not occurred in several years. Extensive time to outreach was given to the stakeholders in order for the purpose of the increase to be fully understood and to solicit questions. On May 12and the 26, meetings were held with much time explaining the significance of how the Liquor Commission is completely self-supporting with no financial assistance from the State's general fund, and that by law, it is unable to accumulate funds over su
	th 
	th 

	The Liquor Commission also discussed with the stakeholders the "fiscal picture" from 2005 (the last time license fees were increased) to date, reporting that fiscal year 2017 revenues are expected to be at one of the lowest levels since 2011 . Every class of represented licensee, currently regulated, was invited to the meetings. 
	Ms. Hirai explained that another main reason for the fee increase is due to the construction and implementation of the new custom-built computer system. At the stakeholder meetings, several questions and suggestions were made, of which, the Commission were open to. Ms. Hirai would like to go to public hearing within mid-to late-July for further vetting and feedback of the stakeholders. 
	2 .
	It was explained that the licensees are subject to two different fees, the basic license fee that everyone is required to pay when licenses are renewed and an additional license fee that depends on what the businesses' reported gross liquor sales are; it is believed that paying this type of license is more equitable than the current process. Also noted was that the Commission is only allowed to keep twenty-percent (20%) of the monies collected. 
	Chair Borge stated that the proposed fee increase is quite hefty, so this Board is appreciative of the Commission bringing the stakeholders into discussions before the formal public hearing. Ms. Hirai fully believes that Honolulu's Liquor Commission will have one of the most accurate data systems in liquor regulation as a vast number of licensees will now be able to administer their own input that allows for checking the accuracy of the on-line data. 
	Ms. Kimura made a motion that the proposed rule amendments proceed to public hearing. Mr. Nakamoto seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
	B. .Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Hawaii Administrative Rules to Title 11, Chapter 55, Water Pollution Control, promulgated by Department of Health (DOH) 
	Mr. Alec Wong, Chief of DOH's Clean Water Branch, stated that he is looking to this Board for approval for the proposed rule amendments to go to public hearing, and explained that under these rules are the requirements of water pollution permits, which are part of the Federal Clean Water Act National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES). The NPDES is a permit system that authorizes certain types of point source discharges, as well as some storm water discharges, to surface water such as streams, l
	The proposed rule revisions are meant to streamline the permitting process and include, among other requirements, updating the renewal terms and effective dates of the general permit, deleting the prohibition preventing General Permit coverages for discharges to Class AA (marine) and Class 1 (inland) State waters, and adding requirements for electronic reporting per federal regulations. Mr. Wong noted that the general filing fee for small businesses is reasonable at $500 and the renewal filing fee is $1,000
	Discussion leader, Mr. Nakamoto, stated that DOH's streamlining process of the rules is to be commended, and that DOH is very pro-active with its updates by addressing potential issues "now" rather than "later" as it relates to Hawaii's water quality. 
	Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to support the proposed amendments and move them to public hearing. Ms. Kimura seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
	C. .Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 18, Chapter 231, Administration of Taxes, as follows, promulgated by Department of Taxation (Do Tax) 
	Mr. Jacob Herlitz, DoTax Administrative Rules Specialist, and Supervisor, Ms. Kristen Sakamoto, discussed the following proposed rule amendments. 
	3 .
	1. .Amendments to Section 3-14.17, Revocation of Licenses because of Abandonment 
	Mr. Herlitz explained that in order to do business in the State of Hawaii, one must receive a general excise tax license. Once a license is received, one must then periodically file a return, even if no revenue is generated. When a company goes out of business, it is allowed to cancel its license and it will no longer be required to file a general excise tax return. 
	However, a lot of companies that go out of business simply abandon their licenses. This has resulted in over a span of decades DoTax keeping a tremendous amount of backlogged abandoned licenses in its database. As DoTax is updating its records into a new computer system, it is imprudent to transfer hundreds of thousands of abandoned licenses into the new system. 
	Therefore, in order to remove the old , abandoned licenses, DoTax will be publishing on its website that licensees will have 45 days to notify DoTax that their licenses are no longer required. DoTax will then revoke the licenses and get a fresh start with the current, existing licenses. However, even if down the road, a license is removed from the new system, it can still be recaptured from the old system if the business still exists. 
	Chair Borge asked if DoTax's system to file on-line was revamped to be more "user friendly." In response, it is Mr. Herlitz's understanding that the people working on the new system are ironing out the glitches. 
	Testifier, Mr. Reg Baker, recommended that Hawaii attorneys be notified of DoTax's ·new abandonment policy. This is because attorneys create "shelf corporations" in order to receive GET licenses when taxes are filed resulting in a lot of abandoned licenses for "shelf corporations" that need to be removed from the system. Ms. Kimura recommended that management companies be notified of the new abandonment process, and Mr. Sikkink suggested that a general notice be provided in a local publication. 
	Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move the proposed amendments to public hearing. Mr. Sikkink seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
	2. Proposed New Section 3-14.26, Registration of Representatives 
	Mr. Herlitz explained that this proposed new rule gives DoTax the authority to require a person who represents a taxpayer to register with DoTax; the representatives may be CPA's, attorneys, or anyone who would otherwise be allowed to register. No fee is involved in registering; it simply allows the registered person to access and have authorization to the taxpayer's information. 
	Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move the proposed new rule to public hearing. Ms. Kimura seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
	4 .
	3. Amendments to Section 9.9-03, Taxpayers Subject to EFT Program 
	Mr. Herlitz explained that the proposed amendments to the electronic funds transfer program allows DoTax the authority to enroll taxpayers/small businesses with taxable income of $100,000 or more a year into the EFT program, which then allows them to pay their taxes electronically. 
	Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move the proposed amendments to public hearing. Ms. Kimura seconded the motion , and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
	D. .Discussion and Action on HAR Title 18, Chapter 237, General Excise Tax Law, as follows, promulgated by DoTax 
	1. .Amendments to Section 8.6, County Surcharge 
	Ms. Sakamoto explained that when a business pays excise tax, they are required to report on its tax return the method as to where the gross income and gross proceeds go to each county. The proposed amendments will simplify the allocation method by eliminating the "nexus" analysis, which is currently an extra step. In addition, the amendments will automatically determine allocation of gross income and gross proceeds from services. 
	Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move the proposed amendments to public hearing. Vice Chair Cundiff seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
	2. .Proposed New Section 29.53, Exported Services 
	Ms. Sakamoto explained that because there are currently no rules within DoTax for exported services, this proposal provides for thirteen new sections which will clarify how to determine whether gross income, derived from services or contracting, is exempt from the general excise tax as exported services or contracting. Overall, this new section is expected to guide the taxpayer in filing exported services correctly, as there is no guidance right now from DoTax. 
	Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move these new proposed rules to public hearing. Vice Chair Cundiff seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
	V. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
	A. .Discussion and Action on this Board's Nominations of Proposed Board Members for Submission to the Governor, including Larry Anderson, Reg Baker, Pamela Tumpap, David S. Chang 
	Chair Borge made a motion to submit the following names to the Governor for nominations of proposed members to this Board from Oahu: Messrs. Larry Anderson, Reg Baker, and David S. Chang; and from Kauai, Mr. Mark Perriello. Mr. Nakamoto seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
	5 .
	Staff will contact Ms. Pamela Tumpap, from Maui, to find out if she is still interested in becoming a member, and if so, to request that she register on-line with the Governor's boards and commissions website. 
	B. .Discussion with an eGovernment Services & Customer Services Representative regarding the Development and Implementation of a New Website for the Board 
	Deferred until the next board meeting. 
	C. .Update on the Board's Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance 
	with the Board's Powers under Section 201 M-5, HRS 
	with the Board's Powers under Section 201 M-5, HRS 
	with the Board's Powers under Section 201 M-5, HRS 

	Chair Borge stated that a table-top retractable sign with the Board's logo and mission statement is in the process of being created to be used for upcoming trade shows. 
	Chair Borge stated that a table-top retractable sign with the Board's logo and mission statement is in the process of being created to be used for upcoming trade shows. 

	It was announced that Chair Borge and Ms. Kimura were on Reg Baker's ThinkTech Hawaii stream-lined show, which is the second time this Board was asked to partake in the show. The show was aired on Thur~day, June 8th and is currently on youtube. 
	It was announced that Chair Borge and Ms. Kimura were on Reg Baker's ThinkTech Hawaii stream-lined show, which is the second time this Board was asked to partake in the show. The show was aired on Thur~day, June 8th and is currently on youtube. 

	VI. 
	VI. 
	NEXT MEETING-The next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, July 19, 2017, in Conference Room 436, 250 South Hotel Street, Honolulu, Hawaii at 10:00 a.m. 

	VII. 
	VII. 
	ADJOURNMENT Chair Borge made a motion to adjourn the meeting and Mr. Nakamoto seconded the motion; the meeting adjourned at 11 :54 a.m. 


	6 
	III. Old Business 
	A. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments and the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing on HAR Title 4, Chapter 161, Hawaii-Grown Industrial Hemp, promulgated by DoAg 
	Figure
	SMALL BUSINESS STATEMENT "AFTER" PUBLIC HEARING .TO THE .SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD .
	(Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), §201 M-3) 
	Department or Agency: Agriculture 
	Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: Chapter4-161 
	Chapter Name: Hawaii-Grown Industrial Hemp 
	Contact Person/Title: Jeri Kahana 
	Phone Number: 832-0705 
	E-mail Address: Date: June26,2017 
	Jeri.M.Kahana@hawail.gov .

	A. .To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general description of the subjects involved. 
	B. .Are the draft rules available for viewing ~erson and on the Lieutenant Governor's Website pursuant to HRS §92-7? Yes L{j No D 
	(If "Yes" please provide webpage address and when and where rules may be viewed in person.) .gov/wp-content/uploads/2013/01 /Hemp-proposed-rule-Ramsey~r.pdf , 
	https://hdoa.hawaii 

	(Please keep the proposed rules on this webpage until after the SBRRB meeting.) 
	I. .Rule Description: Newl/'I Repeal D Amendment D Compilation D 
	II. .Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? Yesl/'INoO(lf "No" you do not need to submit this form.) 
	* .
	* .
	* .
	"Affect small business" is defined as "any potential or actual requirement imposed upon a small business ... that will cause a direct and significant economic burden upon a small business, or is directly related to the formation, operation, or expansion of a small business." HRS §201 M-1 

	* .
	* .
	"Small business" is defined as a "for-profit enterprise consisting of fewer than one hundred full-time or part-time employees." HRS §201 M-1 


	Ill. .Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that does not require the agenc~ inter~rr or describe the requirements of the statute or ordinance? YesLJ No /' (If "Yes" no need to submit this form.) (e.g., a federally-mandated regulation a does not afford the agency the discretion to consider less restrictive alternatives.) HRS §201 M-2(d) 
	IV. .Is the proposed rule being adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? (HRS §201 M-2(a)) Yes D No I/'I (If "Yes" no need to submit this form.) 
	* * . 
	* 

	REVISED 7/29/20 I 6 
	Small Business Statement after Public Hearing -Page 2 
	I. .Please explain how the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed rules. 
	Rules were developed following enactment of Act 228, SLH 2016. 
	a. .Were there any recommendations incorporated into the proposed rules? If yes, explain. If not, why not? 
	No. There were three testimonies in favor and one testimony in opposition of the proposed rules. There were no suggested recommendations. 
	II. .If the proposed rule(s) affect small business, and are not exempt as noted above, please provide the following information: 
	1. .·A description of how opinions or comments from affected small businesses were solicited. 
	The proposed rules were developed per the enactment of Act 228, SLH 2016. The proposed rules were presented to interested parties at various hemp conferences. 
	2. A summary of the public's and small businesses' comments. 
	There were three testifiers in support of the adoption of the rules, stating that it is a possible crop to help Hawaii become self-sustaining and help the environment. One testifier was in opposition, stating that the State of Hawaii and the United States government are both illegal entities in Hawaii, and was concerned on the possible effect it may have on the quality of medical marijuana from cross-pollination. 
	3. .A summary of the agency's response to those comments. 
	The department supported the proposed rules as written. 
	4. .The number of persons who: 
	(i) .
	(i) .
	(i) .
	Attended the public hearing: 14 

	(ii) 
	(ii) 
	4 
	Testified at the hearing: 



	(iii) Submitted written comments: o 
	5. .Was a request made at the hearing to change the proposed rule in a way that affected small business? 
	(i) .
	(i) .
	(i) .
	If "Yes" was the change adopted? Yes D No lv"I 

	(ii) 
	(ii) 
	If No, please explain the reason the change was not adopted and the problems or negative result of the change. 


	There were no requests to change the proposed rule. 
	* * 
	* 
	Small Business Regulatory Review Board / DBEDT .This statement may be found on the SBRRB Website at: .pre-and-post-public-hearing .
	Phone: (808) 586-2594 / Email: sbrrb@dbedt.hawaii.gov .
	http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb-impact-statements

	REVISED 7/29/20 16 
	DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE .
	Adoption of Chapter 4-161 .Hawaii Administrative Rules .
	<Date of Adoption> .
	1. Chapter 4-161, Hawaii Administrative Rules , entitled "HAWAII-GROWN INDUSTRIAL HEMP," is adopted to read as follows: -------------------~ 
	Figure
	DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE .SUBTITLE 7 .QU~LITY ASSURANCE DIVISION .CHAPTER 161 .HAWAII-GROWN INDUSTRIAL HEMP .
	§4-161-1 
	§4-161-1 
	§4-161-1 
	Definitions 

	§4-161-2 
	§4-161-2 
	Licensing 

	§4-161-3 
	§4-161-3 
	Reports 

	§4-161-4 
	§4-161-4 
	Duties 

	§4-161-5 
	§4-161-5 
	Testing and 
	Sampl ing 

	§4-161-6 
	§4-161-6 
	Violations 

	§4-161-7 
	§4-161-7 
	Profits 

	§4-161-8 
	§4-161-8 
	Waiver 

	' 
	' 


	§ 4-161-1 Definitions . As used in this chapter : "Program" means the industrial hemp pilot program. 
	"Applicant" means a person that is an individual residing in Hawaii or an institution of higher education, a sole proprietorship, partnership, association, corporation, limited liability corporation, limited liability partnership, or any other business entity having _any: 
	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	Place of business permanently located within the State; 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	Employees permanently assigned to work stations or areas located within the Stat e ; or 


	(3) .Tangible assets permanently located within the State . "Board" means the board of agriculture or the board' s designee . 
	"Chairperson means the chairperson of the board of agriculture or the chairperson' s designee . 
	"Department" means the department of agriculture . "Industrial hemp" means the plant Cannabis sativa 
	L. and any part of that plant, whether growing or not, with a delta-9 tetrahydrocannabinol concentration of not more than 0.3 per cent on a dry matter basis or a tetrahydrocannabinol concent ration allowed by federal law, whichever is greater, that is cultivated. 
	"Law enforcement" means the federal, state, and local agencies responsible for maintaining public order and enforcing the law. 
	"Licensed land area" means a contiguous land area registered wit h the department on which a licensee pl ans to cultivate industrial hemp. A licensed land area may include land and buildi ngs that are not used for cultivation. 
	"Licensure" means authorization by the department for any individual or legal entity to grow industrial hemp on a licensed land area . 
	"Movement" means the shifting of industrial hemp from a licensed land area to another location, or into a licensed land area from another location. 
	"Seed cultivar" means a variety of industrial hemp. "Variety" means a group of individual plants that exhibit the same observable physical characteristics 
	of have the 
	of have the 
	of have the 
	same 
	genetic composition. 

	[Eff 
	[Eff 
	] 
	(Auth : 
	HRS 
	§141-40) 
	(Imp : 
	HRS 

	§141-31) 
	§141-31) 


	§ 4-161-2 Licensing . (a) Each applicant for an industrial hemp license shall submit a signed, complete, accurate, and legible application, on a form provided by the department, as speci~ied by statute, in which the applicant plans to grow industrial hemp, which shall include the following: 
	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	The applicant's name , mailing address , and phone number in Hawaii and, if applicable electronic mail address; 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	If the applicant is an individual or partnership, the date 0£ birth of the individual or partners; 

	(3) .
	(3) .
	If the applicant is any business entity other than an individual, partnership, or institution of higher education documentation that the entity is authorized to do business in Hawaii; 

	(4) .
	(4) .
	The cultivated variety that wi ll be sown; 

	(5) .
	(5) .
	(5) .
	The source and amount of seed, cuttings, or seedlings to be used; 

	(A) .
	(A) .
	(A) .
	If seed importation assistance from the department i s requested, ihe applicant shall be responsible for all costs associated with the seed purchase and importation. 

	(B) .
	(B) .
	If cuttings or seedl ings are the applicant' s initial source and are approved in a pre-planting report, a movement report shall be submitted prior to any movement of the cuttings or seedlings and shall include the location from which the product will be moved, t he mode of transportation, the location to which the product will be moved, and the seed cultivar of the product . The department may require inspection or sampling of the product prior to movement. 



	(6) .
	(6) .
	The number of acres to be cultivated for seed, viable grain, industrial products, or any combination thereof; 

	(7) .
	(7) .
	The global positi oning system coordinates in decimal degrees from t he cent ral most point of the licensed land area and a map showing the location of the l icensed area in terms of its legal address or legal description; 

	(8) .
	(8) .
	A statement that the applicant is the fee simple owner of the licensed l"and area to be used for the cultivation or a statement signed by the fee simple owner of the licensed land area indicating that the owner has consented to that use; 

	(9) .
	(9) .
	The address of the place in Hawaii where .the applicant will keep the records, books, 


	electronic data, or other documents that are required by this chapter; 
	(10) .
	(10) .
	(10) .
	The name and address of each place where the industrial hemp is to be stored, sold, or provided, indicating for each place the form of the industrial hemp; and 

	(11) .
	(11) .
	(11) .
	The applicant's acknowl edgement and agreement to t he .foll owing terms and conditions : 

	(A) .
	(A) .
	(A) .
	Any information obtained by the department may be publicly disclosed and provided to law enforcement without further notice to the applicant or licensee; 

	(B) .
	(B) .
	The applicant has the legal authority to grant the department access to the proposed licensed land area for inspection and sampling and agrees to all ow any inspection and sampling the department deems necessary; 

	(C) .
	(C) .
	The applicant agrees to pay for any sampling and' analysis cost the department deems necessary; 

	(D) .
	(D) .
	The applicant agrees to submit all required report s by the applicable due dates specified by the department; and 

	(E) .
	(E) .
	The applicant and any partners, directors, or members have not been convicted of any felony related to the possession, production, sale, or distribution of a controlled substance in any form in this or any other country. 




	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	An application may be received, as specified by statute, and shall be signed by the applicant or, in the case of a business entity, one of its officers, directors, or partners, as the case may be, and indicate that all information and documents submitted in support of the application are correct and complete t o the best of the applicant's knowledge . 

	(c) 
	(c) 
	Any incomplete application for a license or an appli cation received after April 1 of any year, shall be denied. 

	(d) 
	(d) 
	In addition t o the application form, each applicant for a license shall submit a non-refundable $500 application fee by certified check or cashier's check delivered or mailed by certified mail, return receipt . I f the fee does not accompany the application, the application for a license shall be deemed incomplete . 

	(e) 
	(e) 
	The annual license fee for production of industrial hemp shall be $250 plus $2 per acr e , unprorated. The initial license fee shall be due prior to the issuance of a l icense, by certified check or cashier' s check delivered or mailed by certifi ed mail , return receipt . The subsequent annual license fee shall be due prior to one year after the date of issuance of the license . Failure to pay any license fees may result in denial, suspension, or revocation of a license and other penalties set forth in sec

	(f) 
	(f) 
	Each license shall allow a licensee to cultivate up to a maximum of ten acres of industrial hemp on a single contiguous licensed land area . Additional or non-contiguous acreage shall require a separate license . 

	(g) 
	(g) 
	Licenses shall be issued to successful applicants on a quarterly basis, in March, June, September, and Decembe r of the application year. Any changes to information in an application occurring prior to the issuance of a license shall be immediately reported to t he depart ment . Failure to r ep ort any changes may result in denial, suspension, or revocation of a lic~nse and other penalties set forth in section 4-161-6 . 


	Upon successful application, return o f a s igned license agreement, and remittal of the license fee by certified check or cashier' s check, the applicant shall receive a license with a date of issuance according to the qµarterly issuance schedule . 
	(h) All licenses shall be valid for two years from the date of issuance, subject to renewal or 
	revocation by the department as set forth in this 
	chapter. 
	chapter. 
	chapter. 

	(i) 
	(i) 
	To 
	renew 
	a 
	license, 
	applicants shall : 

	TR
	(1) 
	Submit 
	an 
	application 
	form 
	at 
	least 

	TR
	sixty days prior to 
	the expiration date 

	TR
	of the 
	license specifying that i t 
	is 
	an 

	TR
	application to 
	renew 
	a 
	previous 

	TR
	unrevoked license, 
	a l ong with 
	a 
	renewal 

	TR
	appli cation fee 
	of $350, 
	by certified 

	TR
	check 
	or 
	cashier's check delivered 
	or 

	TR
	mailed by certified mail, 
	return 

	TR
	receipt. 

	TR
	(2) 
	Upon 
	successful application, 
	return of 

	TR
	a 
	new 
	signed license agreement, 
	and 

	TR
	remittal of the 
	license fee 
	by 

	TR
	certified check 
	or 
	cashier's check, 
	the 

	TR
	applicant 
	for 
	renewal 
	shall receive 
	a 

	TR
	renewed license valid for 
	two 
	years 

	TR
	from the date of issuance, 
	subject to 

	TR
	r enewal 
	or 
	revocation by the department 

	TR
	as 
	set 
	forth in this chapter. 

	(j ) 
	(j ) 
	Any 
	licensee who 
	wishes 
	to 
	alter the 


	licensed ~and area on which the licensee shall conduct industrial hemp cultivation shall, before altering the area, submit to the department an updated address, global positioning system location, and map specifying the proposed alteration. If the department approves the altered land area, the department shall notify the licensee in writing that the licensee may begin to cultivate industrial h emp on the altered land area . 
	(k) 
	(k) 
	(k) 
	A licensee who wishes to change the cultivar grown shall submit to the department the name of the new, approved cultivar to be grown. If the department approves the change to the cultivar, the department shall notify t he licensee in writing that the licensee may begin to cultivate the new, approved cultivar. 

	(1) 
	(1) 
	Licenses shall not be sold, assigned, transferred, or encumbered . 

	(m) 
	(m) 
	No land area shall be included in more than one license at the same time. 

	(n) 
	(n) 
	Each non-contiguous land area on which .industrial hemp is grown shall require a separate .license. .

	(o) 
	(o) 
	Incomplete applications shall not be processed, and application fees shall not be refunded . 

	(p) 
	(p) 
	Any change to information provided in the application shall be submitted within ten days of when the change occurs. Failure to provide accurate information or to update any information in a timely manner may result in denial, suspension, or revocation of a license and other penalties set forth in section 4-161-6 . [Eff ] (Auth : HRS §141-40) 


	(Imp : HRS §141-33) 
	§4-161-3 Reports. (a) Pre-planting report. Prior to planting any industrial hemp, a licensee shall file for the department' s approval, on a form provided by the department, a pre-planting report that includes a description of the industrial hemp varieties to be planted on the licensed land area, and a map showing where they will be planted. 
	(b) Pianting Report. Within ten days after planting any industrial hemp in a licensed land area, each licensee shall file, on a form provided by the department, a planting report that includes: 
	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	A list or description of all varieties of industrial hemp planted, or of volunteer industrial hemp plants that have emerged from a previous planting and are not destroyed, within a licensed land area; and 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	The location and actual acreage or square feet of each variety of industrial hemp planted, or of volunteer industrial hemp plants that have emerged and are not destroyed, within a licensed land area; 


	A planting report shall be filed any time industrial hemp is planted in, moved within, or moved into a licensed land area, except when the industrial hemp is replanted into a larger container within the same indoor location in the licensed land area . Planting reports shall be filed for industrial hemp grown from 
	seed, industrial hemp grown from cuttings , and .industrial hemp moved into the licensed land area .whether as mature plants or as seedlings . .
	(c) 
	(c) 
	(c) 
	(c) 
	Harvest Report . At least thirty days prior to harvest, a licensee shall file, on a form provided by the department, a harvest report that includes: 

	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	The harvest dates and location of each variety cultivated within a licensed land area . 

	(A) .A licensee shall immediately notify the department of any changes in the reported harvest dates in excess of five days . If any changes to the harvest dates are made, the department may require additional inspection or sampling prior to the harvest . 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	Documentation that the licensee has entered into a purchase agreement with an industrial hemp processor. If the licensee has not entered into a purchase agreement, the licensee shall include a statement of intended disposition of its industrial hemp crop, and shall confirm in writing its intended disposition within seven days prior to harvest . 


	(A) .Licensees shall immediately notify the department of any changes to the purchase agreement or disposition statement. 

	(d) 
	(d) 
	Movement Report. At least two business days prior to the movement of industrial hemp grain or plant material from a licensed land area, the licensee shall file , on a form provided by the department , an application for movement permit and movement report. The report shall include the intended date of the move, the location from which the product will be moved, the mode of transportation, and the l ocation to which the product will be moved. The department may require inspection or sampling of the product p


	§ 4-161-4 Duties. (a) The licensee shall continually ensure t hat all information provided to the department is accurate and up to date, and shall notify the departmen t within the time specified in this chapter, or if not specifieq, at least ten days prior to any changes, o r immediately upon discovery of the change if ten days prior is not possible . Failure to provide and maintain accurate and up to date informati on on file with the department may result in the penalti es set forth in section 4-161-6. 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	The licensee shall conduct all agri cultural operations in a lawful manner consistent with the standards befitting of an official of the State, provided that such standards are subject to the sol e discretion and direction of the department. 

	(c) 
	(c) 
	The licensee shall abide by all applicable laws and regulations incident to the growth, cultivation, or marketing of industrial hemp. 

	(d) 
	(d) 
	The licensee shall indemnify, hold harmless and release forever the State and its departments, agencies, officers, employees, and agents of any kind from all liability cla ims arising out the licensee's actions involving t he growth, cultivation, or marketing of industrial hemp. 


	(e ) The licensee shall warrant t hat t he licensee is not an employee of t he State and shall assume total and sole responsibility for any of the licensee's acts or omissions involving the growth or production of industrial hemp or arising out the licensee ' s participation in the industrial hemp pilot program. 
	(f) 
	(f) 
	(f) 
	The licensee shall all ow any institution of highe r education in the State t o access the sites registered by the licensee with the department for production of industrial hemp for all purposes, as determined at the discretion of the department r elated to research, growth, cultivation, and marketing of industr ial hemp. 

	(g) 
	(g) 
	The licensee shall allow federal, state, or local aut horities to inspect and sample the industrial hemp licensed land a r ea , plants, plant materials , 


	seeds, equipment, or facilities incident to the growth or production of industrial hemp . 
	(h) 
	(h) 
	(h) 
	The licensee shall remit to the department .when due, all fees and other expenses required under .t his chapter . .

	(i) 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	The licensee shall adhere narrowly to the research focus of the area in which the licensee is participating in the industrial hemp pilot program. The areas include one or more of the following : 

	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	Planting and growing -tracking vital statisti cs and yield rates with respect to industrial hemp varieties and growing variables, including seed planting rate, soil composition, water usage, and planting and growing season; 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	Pest -tracking the occurrence of pests and effectiveness of various preventative measures in correlation with the industrial hemp varieties; 

	(3) .
	(3) .
	Cost center s and financing -tracking average cost estimates of producing industrial hemp varieti es , taking into account costs of participation in the industrial hemp pilot program, product acquisition, water usage, equipment, l abor, and securi ty measures and reporting financial resources availabl e for production of industrial hemp; or 

	(4) .
	(4) .
	Marketing and industrial development reporting market demand for industrial hemp varieties, raw materials and end products, including identification of actual or potential h emp products, processors, product manufacturers, wholesalers, retailers, and targeted consumers . 



	(j) 
	(j) 
	The licensee shall gather information and data generated by its industrial hemp research activities, and provide them to the department at the end of each license period in the form of a research report . A failure to submit the research report may result in the penalties set forth in section 4-161-6 . 

	(k) 
	(k) 
	The licensee shall complete and submit all reports and statements requested by the department relative to the licensee's production of industrial hemp . . A failure to submit any required or requested report may result in revocation of the licensee's license and other penalties set forth in section 4161-6. 

	(1) 
	(1) 
	The licensee shall, at the discretion of and in a manner determined by the department, destroy or dispose of any industrial hemp crop, plant, plant material, or seed determined by t he department or law enforcement to be non-compliant with applicable laws a nd regulations, The licensee shall be responsible for all costs associated with the destruction or disposal of non-compliant crops, plants, plant material, or seeds . 

	(m) 
	(m) 
	(m) 
	The licensee shall use best management practices for growth a nd production of industrial hemp, as available, including the any best management practices specified in chapter 141, Part II , Hawaii Revised Statutes, and any county-specific best management practices . The licensee shall further take reasonable precaution to prevent unauthorized growth or distribution of industrial hemp , including but not limited to: 

	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	Taking the precautionary measures, as applicable, specified in chapter 141, part II, Hawaii Revised Statutes; 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	Reporting theft of industrial hemp plants, plant materials, or seeds to law enforcement and providing the department with a copy of the police report ; and 

	(3) .
	(3) .
	Reducing the likelihood of cross pollination between varieties of industrial hemp and among the other plants by, when practicable, using feminized seed and eliminating male plants upon identification to prevent unnecessary pollen. [Eff 




	11 .
	(Auth : HRS §141-40) (Imp : HRS §141-36) 
	§ 4-161-5 Inspe ction and sampling . (a) All licensees are subject to inspection and sampling of their industrial hemp crop to verify that the delta-9tetrahydrocannibinol concentration does not exceed 0.3 per cent on a dry weight basis or a tetrahydrocannabinol concentration allowed by federal law, whichever is greater. 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	During the inspection, the licensee or the licensee' s authorized representative shall be present at the licensed land area and shall provide the department with complete and unrestricted access to all industrial hemp plants, plant materials, and seeds within a licensed land area whether growing or harvesting, all land, buildings, and other structures , and all documents and records pertaining to the licensee' s industrial hemp growing business. 

	(c) 
	(c) 
	(c) 
	Sampling of industrial hemp shall occur in the following manner: 

	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	Individual and composite samples of each variety of industrial hemp may be sampled from the growing areas . 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	Quantitative laboratory -determination of the delta-9-tetrahydrocannibinol concentration on a dry weight basis shall be performed. 

	(3) .
	(3) .
	A sample test result greater than 0.3 per cent of delta-9-tetrahydrocannibinol concentration or a tetrahydrocannabinol concentration allowed by federal law, whichever is greater, shall be considered conclusive evidence that at least one cannabis plant or part of a plant in the growing area contains a delta-9tetrahydrocannibinol concentration over the limit allowed of for industrial hemp and that the licensee of that growing area is therefore not in compliance with this chapter . Upon receipt of such a test




	thirty days of the date of the department's 
	notification of non-compliance to the 
	licensee. 
	(d) 
	(d) 
	(d) 
	Test results from tests performed according to methods approved by the department from an institution of higher education may, at the department' s discretion, be accepted in lieu of the department sampling . 

	(e) 
	(e) 
	Licensees shall pay a charge of $35 per hour per inspector for actual drive time, mileage, inspection, and sampling time . Payment shall be remitted within thirty days of the date of the invoice. 

	(f) 
	(f) 
	Licensees shall reimburse the department for all laboratory analysis costs incurred . Payment shall be remitted within thirty days of the date of the invoice. 

	(g) 
	(g) 
	All licensees are subject to routine inspection and sampling to verify that the delta-9tetrahydrocannibinol concentration of the industrial hemp planted within a licensed land area does not exceed 0 . 3 per cent on a dry weight basis or a tetrahydrocannabinol concentration allowed by federal law, whichever is greater. All licensees are further subject to routine inspection and sampling to verify compliance with the reporting requirements of this chapter . The department may select up to one hundred per cen

	(h) 
	(h) 
	In addition to routine inspection and sampling under subsection (g), the department may inspect and take samples from any licensed land area during normal business hours without advance notice if the department has reason to believe a violation of this chapter may be occurring. The department may 


	also conduct such additional inspection and sampling as necessary to verify compliance with the reporting requirements of this chapter . . [Eff 
	(Auth: HRS §141-40) (Imp: HRS §§141-36, 141-37) 
	§ 4-161-6 Violations . (a) In addition to any violations of any provisions of this chapter, the following acts and omissions by any licensee or authorized representative thereof constitute violations for which civil penalties up to $500 and disciplinary sanctions, including suspension or revocation of a license and cease and desist orders, may be imposed by the department: 
	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	Refusal or failure by a licensee or authorized representative to fully cooperate and assist the department with the inspection process ; 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	Failure to provide any information required or requested by the department for purposes pursuant to this chapter; 

	(3) .
	(3) .
	Providing false, misleading, or incorrect information pertaining to the licensee' s cultivation of industrial hemp to the department by any means , including but not limited to information provided in any application form, report, record, or inspection required or maintained pursuant to this chapter; 

	(4) .
	(4) .
	Growing industrial hemp that when tested is shown to have a delta-9-tetrahydrocannibinol concentration greater than 0.3 per cent on a dry weigh basis or tetrahydrocannabinol concentration allowed by federal law, whichever is greater; 

	(5) .
	(5) .
	Failure to pay any fees or costs, when due, that are assessed by the department pursuant to this chapter; or 

	(6) .
	(6) .
	Possessing, outside of a field of lawful cultivation, resin, flowering tops , or leaves that have been removed from the hemp plant, provided that the presence of de 


	minimis amount, or insignificant number, of hemp leaves or flowering tops in hemp bal es that result from the normal and appropriate processing of industrial hemp shall not apply to this paragraph. [Eff ] (Auth: HRS §141-40) (Imp: HRS §141-38) 
	§ 4-161-7 Profits. The department shall forego any income or profit that licensees lawfull y obtained through the disposition of t he licensees' industrial hemp crop, provided that the licensee reports to the department : 
	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	Any movement of the licensee' s hemp plants , plant materials, or seeds outside the l icensed area; 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	Any sale of, or benefit received in exchange for, the licensee's industrial ·hemp plants, plant materials, or seeds; and 

	(3) .
	(3) .
	Any commercial details of such movement, sale, or exchange for use by the department to research the marketability and l ogistical production of industrial hemp in the State. [Eff ] (Auth: HRS §141


	40) .(Imp: HRS §141-39) 
	§ 4-161-8 Waiver. (a) If a sample of a licensee' s industrial hemp tests higher than 0 . 3 per cent but not more than 1 per cent del ta-9tetrahydrocannabinol concentration the licensee may request a waiver t o the revocation or suspension of its license if the crop is destroyed or utilized on the licensed land area in a manner approved and verified by the department . 
	(b) Licensees shall have ten days from the date of the notificat ion of a test result higher than 0 . 3 per cent but not more than 1 per cent delta-9tetrahydrocannibinol concentration to request a waiver . [Eff ] (Auth : HRS §141
	40) (Imp : HRS §141-36) 
	2 . The adoption of chapter 4-161, Hawaii Administrative Rules, shall take effect ten days after filing with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 
	I certify that the foregoing are copies of t he rules, drafted in the Ramseyer format pursuant to the r equirements of section 91-4 . 1, Hawaii Revised Statutes, which were adopted on Month xx, XXX, and filed with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor . 
	SCOTT E . ENRIGHT Chairperson Board of Agriculture 
	APPROVED AS TO FORM : 
	Deputy Attorney General 
	Deputy Attorney General 






	IV. New Bus. A. 11-157 Exam & Immun. SBIS & Rules
	Structure Bookmarks
	IV. New Business 
	IV. New Business 
	A.Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments on HAR title 11, Chapter 157, Examination and Immunization, promulgated by DOH 
	A.Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments on HAR title 11, Chapter 157, Examination and Immunization, promulgated by DOH 
	VIRGINIA PRESSLER, M.O.
	Figure

	DAVIOY. IGE 
	DAVIOY. IGE 
	DIRECTOR OF IIEJl.Tll
	DIRECTOR OF IIEJl.Tll

	GO\IERHOOOFIIAWNl 
	June 21, 2017 
	June 21, 2017 

	Figure
	Sect
	Figure

	Ms. Dori Palcovich Administrator Small Business Regulatory Review Board Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism No. 1 Capitol District Building, Room 436 250 South Hotel Street, 5Floor Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 
	th 

	Dear Ms. Palcovich: 
	Enclosed for your review are copies of the Small Business Impact Statement and proposed amendment of Hawaii Administrative Rules, Title 11, Chapter 157, "Examination and Immunization." 
	The purpose of the proposed amendment is to update the immunization requirements and immunization and examination requirements for school and post-secondary school attendance in Hawaii. The current regulations.were last amended in August 2001, and are in need of revision to reflect current national immunization guidelines. The proposed draft also provides clarification in areas regarding definitions, provisional attendance at school, and documentation. · 
	Any questions or concerns may be directed to Sarah Y. Park, M.D., F.A.A.P., Chief, Disease Outbreak Control Division, at 587-6845 or 
	to sarah.park@doh.hawaii.gov. 

	Thank you for your time and attention to this matter. 
	Sincerely, 
	Sincerely, 




	\F~~~ 
	\F~~~ 
	Virginia Pressler, M.D. Director of Health 
	Enclosures 
	Figure
	PRE-PUBLIC HEARING .SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT .TO THE .SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD .
	Figure
	(Hawaii Revised Statutes §201 M-2) 
	Department or Agency: Hawaii Department of Health 
	Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: _T_it_le_1_1_,_C_h_a_.:_p_te_r_1_5_7________;__ 
	Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: _T_it_le_1_1_,_C_h_a_.:_p_te_r_1_5_7________;__ 
	Chapter Name: Examination and Immunization 
	Contact Person/Title: Sarah Y. Park, M.D., F.A.A.P, Chief, Disease Outbreak Control Division 

	Phone Number: 587-6845 
	Phone Number: 587-6845 
	E-mail Address: Date: June 21, 2017 
	sarah.park@doh.hawaii.gov 

	A. .To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §927, please attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general description of the subjects involved. 
	B. .Are the draft rules available for viewing i~erson and on the Lieutenant Governor's Website pursuant to HRS §92-7? Yes I Non (If Yes, please provide webpage address and when and where ru es mayTe viewed in person© 
	/: 1250 Punchbowl Street, Honolulu 96816 guard's desk 6126/2017 
	http://www.health.hawaii.gov/opppd/department-of-health-adminlstrallve-rules-tille-11

	(Please keep the proposed rules on this webpage until after the SBRRB meeting.) 
	I. Rule Description: New D Repeal D Amendment Ill Compilation D 
	II. .Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? Yes Ill No D (If No, no need to submit this form.) 
	* .
	* .
	* .
	"Affect small business" is defined as "any potential or actual requirement imposed upon a small business ... that will cause a direct and significant economic burden upon a small business, or is directly related to the formation, operation, or expansion of a small business." HRS §201M-1 

	* .
	* .
	"Small business" is defined as a "for-profit enterprise consisting of fewer than one hundred full-time· or part-time employees." HRS §201 M-1 


	Ill. Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that ' does not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the statute or ordinance? Yes D No 111 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 
	(e.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the agency the discretion to consider less restrictive alternatives.) HRS §201 M-2(d) 
	IV. Is the proposed rule bei~adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? 
	(HRS §201 M-2(a)) Yes LJ No 111 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 
	* * * 
	Revised 1/05/2016 
	Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement Page 2 
	If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, please provide a reasonable determination of the following: 
	1. .Description of the small businesses that will be required to comply with the proposed rules and how they may be adversely affected. 
	smaa btJslnosses that w• be required lo comply wlh the proposed rules lnc:fude htakh eare provtders, chief eare cenl~s, compulsory schools, and post-secondary schools. The proposed rules seek lo require &ddltlomll 
	~:,~~!:~~~:11~:~;~=~~~k~~~='::e~v:~:fya: e~~::!y1~:c::~~::~r~~::=:=1::.•:,;;,!~:/:~:c;~~~~-==:;~~~:: ::~~~=;:,t::!:~:::=~~~,::~~h~r~.~~~~. 
	3
	8 
	1

	compulso.y schools, and post-seconda,y schools alrtady monlto, thek' studenls' compliance wil:h HAR Chapter 11·157 at the nrst school allendanu and al alter.dance In kindergarten, 7lh grade, and at posl•socondary school entry. In the eflon lo assist schools and post-sKOndary schools wah lmplemantaUon olth• updated requirement,, the OepartmenC ot Health has requested a delayed eltecth,e data fo, the revised requirements to ensure that tralnlog mate1fals can be propored and dln emlnl\led wen lo advance of the
	2. .In dollar amounts, the increase in the level of direct costs such as fees or fines, and indirect costs such as reporting, recordkeeping, equipment, construction, labor, professional services, revenue loss, or other costs associated with compliance. 
	Increased indirect costs associated with enhanced screening and recordkeeping may be incurred by some schools and post-secondary schools. The Department does not anticipate any increased costs associated with compliance to health care providers. 
	If the proposed rule imposes a new or increased fee or fine: 
	Table
	TR
	a. 
	Amount of the current fee or fine and the last time it was increased. 

	N/A 
	N/A 
	I 

	TR
	b. 
	Amount of the proposed fee or fine and the percentage increase. 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	TR
	c. 
	Reason for the new or increased fee or fine. 

	N/A 
	N/A 


	d. .Criteria or methodology used to determine the amount of the fee or fine (i.e., Consumer Price Index, Inflation rate, etc.). 
	N/A 
	3. .The probable monetary costs and benefits to the agency or other agencies directly affected, including the estimated total amount the agency expects to collect from any additionally imposed fees and the manner in which the moneys will be used. 
	The monetary cost to the Department of Health Immunization Branch to implement the additional requirements has been determined to be approximately $60,000 for the first year of implementation (e.g., development of training materials, educational campaign for school, physicians, and parents/guardians, school/post-secondary school training sessions) and $5,000 per year thereafter for the cost of preparing and disseminating training/guidance materials for schools and post-secondary schools. No additionally imp
	Revised 1/05/2016 
	Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement Page 3 
	4. .The methods the agency considered or used to reduce the impact on small .business such as consolidation, simplification, differing compliance or reporting .requirements, less stringent deadlines, modification of the fines schedule, .performance rather than design standards, exemption, or other mitigating .techniques. .
	To reduce the impact on providers, schools, and post-secondary schools, the Department of Health plans to implement a comprehensive training initiative to ensure that affected organizations understand the changes to the requirements and are able to screen records appropriately. 
	5. .The availability and practicability of less restrictive alternatives that could be 
	implemented in lieu of the proposed rules. The Department of Health is unaware of less restrictive alternatives that could be implemented in lieu of the proposed rules. 
	6. .
	6. .
	6. .
	Consideration of creative, innovative, or flexible methods of compliance for small .businesses. The businesses that will be directly affected by, bear the costs of, or .directly benefit from the proposed rules. .

	7. .
	7. .
	How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed .rules. .


	The proposed rules were developed and reviewed In concert wilh the School Examination and Immunization Requirements Working Group, which comprises 
	representatives from private compulsory and post-secondary Institutions, the American Academy of Pediatrlcs-Hawai'i Chapter, the Hawai'i Association of Independent 
	Schools, and Kaiser Permanente, as well as the Department of Education, the Department of Human Services, and Tuberculosis Control, Public Health Nursing, Disease 
	Investigation, and Immunization Branches of the Department of Health. 
	a. If there were any recommendations made by small business, were the 
	. recommendations incorporated into the proposed rule? .If yes, explain. If no, why not. 
	School Examination and Immunization Requirements Working Group member organizations emphasized the need for a delayed effective date for the revised requirements to ensure that training materials can be prepared and disseminated well in advance of the rules' effective date. The Department concurred with this recommendation and a delayed effective date was incorporated into the proposed rules. 
	8. .Whether the proposed rules include provisions that are more stringent than those .mandated by any comparable or related federal, state, or county standards, with .an explanation of the reason for imposing the more stringent standard. .
	The proposed school examination and immunization regulations are consistent with the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) recommendations and are comparable to and in some instances less stringent than other states' school and post-secondary school immunization and examination requirements. The proposed rules are not more stringent than any comparable or related federal, state or county standards. 
	If yes, please provide information comparing the costs and benefits of the 
	proposed rules to the costs and benefits of the comparable federal, state, or 
	county law, including the following: 
	Revised I /05/2016 
	Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement Page4 
	a. .Description of the public purposes to be served by the proposed rule. 
	N/A 
	b. .The text of the related federal, state, or county law, including information about the purposes and applicability of the law. 
	N/A 
	c. .A comparison between the proposed rule and the related federal, state, or county law, including a comparison of their purposes, application, and administration. 
	N/A 
	d. .A comparison of the monetary costs and benefits of the proposed rule with the costs and benefits of imposing or deferring to the related federal, state, or county law, as well as a description of the manner in which any additional fees from the proposed rule will be used. 
	N/A 
	e. A comparison of the adverse effects on small business imposed by the 
	proposed rule with the adverse effects of the related federal, state, or county law. 
	N/A 
	*
	* * 
	Small Business Regulatory Review Board/ DBEDT .Phone: (808) 586-2594 .
	Email: dbedt.sbrrb@hawaii.gov .

	This Statement may be found on the .SBRRB Website at: .http ://d bedt. hawai i.gov/sbrrb/sm all-b usiness-im pact-statements-pre-and-post-pub ic-h earing .
	Revised 1/05/20 16 
	Rules Amending Title 11 Hawaii Administrative Rules 
	May 26, 2017 
	Figure

	-s6~U -·
	-s6~U -·
	1 . Chapter 157 of· .Title 11, Hawaii Administrative Rules, entitled "Examination and Immunization" is 
	amended and 
	§11-157-1 §11-157-2 §11-157-3 §11-157-3 . 05 §11-157-3.1 §11-157-3 . 2 §11-157-4 §11-157-4.1 
	§11-157-5 §11-157-6 §11-157-6. 1 §11-157-6.2 §11-157-6.3 §11-157-6 . 4 
	§11-157-7 §11-157-7.1 §11-157-8 
	compiled 
	compiled 
	compiled 
	to 
	read 
	as 
	follows : 

	"HAWAII 
	"HAWAII 
	ADMINIS
	TRA
	TIVE 
	RULES 

	TR
	-TITLE 
	11 


	DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 
	CHAPTER 157 
	EXAMINATION AND IMMUNIZATION 
	Purpose \ Definitions Immunization Documentation of immunizat ions Responsibility Tuberculosis examination requirements Performance of immunization; records Immunization of indigents and other persons Exemptions Repealed Health examination requirements Provisional attendance Not ice of exclusion and exclusion School and post-secondary school reporti ng and records Penalties and remedies Suspension and revocation; exclusion Severability 
	157-1 
	§11-157-1 .
	§11-157-1 Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to establish immunization requirements and immunization and examination requirements for school and post-secondary school attendance in the State of Hawaii and to provide for the immunization of indigents and other high risk individuals . [Eff 11/5/81; am and comp 6/17/93; ·am and comp 10/23/97; comp 8/27/01 ; am and comp ] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32)· (Imp : HRS §§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 32513
	§11-157-2 Definitions. As used in this chapter : 
	"Certificate of TB examination" means a dated 
	report of a tuberculosis examination including the 
	information specified in subsections 11-157-3 . 2(c) to 
	(e), on the stationery of a practitioner or the form of a health facility, health department, or school system, with the signature of [a] the practitioner or the [a unique] stamp or imprinted name of the department of health, the practitioner, or the licensed facility at which the practitioner practices[, or the, department] . 
	"Communicable tuberculosis" means tuberculosis in 
	any form considered by the department to represent a 
	risk of being transmitted to other individuals . 
	"Department" means the department of health of the State of Hawaii, or any authorized officer or agent of the department[ . ] of health. 
	"Director" means the director of health of the State of Hawaii or a duly authorized agent. 
	"Epidemic" means the occurrence in a community or region of an illness clearly in excess of normal expectancy, as determined by t he department. 
	"Grace period" means the four day period prior to minimum required ages or intervals during which an immunization may still be considered valid. 
	"Immunization" means the process of administering a [specific] vaccine, toxoid, or other substance licensed by the United States Food and Drug 
	§11-157-2 .
	Administration to promote an immune response, including 
	antibody production, in conformance with recognized 
	standar d medical practices. 
	"Immunizing agent" means a vaccine, toxoid, or 
	other substance licensed by the United States Food and 
	Drug Administration used to increase an individual's 
	immunity to a disease . The Mantoux tuberculin test is 
	not an immunizing agent. 
	"Mantoux tuberculin test" means an intradermal 
	injection of five tuberculin units of Purified Protein 
	Derivative (PPD) in 0 . 1 cc of sterile diluent, followed 
	within forty-eight to seventy-two hours by recording of 
	the palpable induration, with a positive r e action being 
	10 mm or greater in its transverse diameter. 
	"Outbreak" means the occurrence in a community or 
	region of an illness clearly in excess of normal 
	expectancy, as determined by the department . · 
	"Physician" means a person licensed to practice medicineL[or] osteopathic medicine, or naturopathic medicine in any of the states or territories of the United States . A person whose license is on inactive status or who is not actively practicing shall not be deemed to be a physician for purposes of this chapter. Licensure or accreditation in chiropractic, homeopathy, acupuncture, or herbal heal ing do not qualify a person as a physician in this chapter. 
	"Post-secondary school " means any [adult education school, business school, trade school,] community college, college [or]~ university, or any school enrolling or registering students above the age of compulsory school attendance . 
	"Practitioner" means a physician, advanced practice registered nurse, or physician assistant licensed to practice in any of the states or territories of the United States . A physician, advanced practice registered nurse, or physician assistant whose license is on inactive status or who is not actively practicing ·shall not be deemed to be a 
	§11-157-2 .
	practitioner for the purposes of this chap ter. 
	"Recognized standard medical practices" means in 
	accordance with t he United States Depart ment of Health 
	and Human Services ' , Advisory Committee on 
	Immunization Practices (ACIP) , General Best Practice 
	Guidelines for Immunizati on (April 20, 2017), and 
	future amendments that are adopted by the department . 
	11 School" means any child care center (infant and toddler child care center, preschool, day care cent~r, day nursery, Head Start program, [group child care home,] group child care center, or other similar units operating under any name), kindergarten, elementary, intermediate, middle, or secondary school, but excludes after~school programs, family child care homes , parent cooperatives, play groups, respit e programs, group child care homes, and drop-in child care centers . All schools and post-secondary s
	•

	"Student" means any child or adult enrolled in any school or any child or adult enrolled in any post secondary school in the State. Any student enrolled or registered with a school or post-secondary school who is required to be physically present for any amount of t ime at school or post-secondary school campus or site must comply with this chapter . [Eff 11/5/81; am and c omp 6/17/93; am and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; am and comp ] (Auth : HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS
	§11-157-3 Immuni zation . m__ Immunizations against certain [specified] vaccine preventable diseases, including minimum spacing between doses, and other conditions governing acceptability of immunizations, are required as set forth in the fol~owi ng exhibits : 
	§11-157-3 .
	Exhibit A, [ "Guide to Hawaii Pediatric Immunization Requirements (July 1, 2002) . ] "List of Required Vaccinations {July 1, 2018) ." Exhibit B, [ "Guide to Hawaii Immunization & Examination Requirements for Schools (July 1 , 2002) .] "General Best Practice Guidel ines for Immuni zation; Best Practices Guidance of the Advisory Committee on Immunizati on Practices 
	{ACIP) {April 20, 2017) . " [Exhibit C, "Guide to Hawaii Post-Secondary School Immunization & Tuberculosis Examination Requirements (July 1, 2002 ) ."] 
	(b) The United States Department of Health and Human Services ', General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization; Best Practices Guidance of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices {ACIP) (April 20 , 2017) , attached heret o as Exhibit B, are adopted as t he requirements in the State of Hawaii for minimum age , required spacing between doses , and other conditions · governing the acceptability of immunizations. Only those sections of Exhibit B that pertain to the requirements of this chapter, inc
	J.tl The Exhibits are located at the end of and are made a part of t his chapter . If an exhibit conflicts with this chapter, this chapter shall prevail . Implementation of the amendments to this section shall occur on [July 1 , 2002.) July 1 , 2018 . 
	(d) The director i s authorized to suspend temporarily or amend any portion of the immunization requirements due to unforeseen circumstances . Affected schools and post-secondary schools wil l be notified i n writing of any suspension or amendment . The notification will i nclude details of·the suspension or amendment, including the suspended or amended requirements, the anticipated duration of the s us pension or amendment , and policies to be implemented during the suspension or amendment . [Eff 11/5/81; 
	§11-157-3 . 05 .
	§Documentation of immunizations . (a) Documentation of immunizations shal l indicate the department of health or the name of the practitioner responsible for administering or review~ng each immunization [and] . The documentation shall also bear the signature of [~] the practitioner or [a unique] the stamp or imprinted name of the department, the practitionerL or t he licensed facility at which ~he practitioner practices . 
	11-157-3.05 

	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	Documentation of immunizations shall include the complete date (recorded as month/day/year) the vaccine was administered. [A record with only the month and year of immunization] An immunization record without complete dat es may be accepted for school or post-secondary school attendance if i t can be determined that each vaccination complied with the minimum interval and age requirements . A grace period applies .to each minimum age and interval . The grace period does not apply to t he' minimum int erval b

	(c) 
	(c) 
	Documentation of serologic evidence of immunity may be substituted for a record of immunizations for certain diseases as specified by the United States Department of Health and Human Services ' , Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices in its General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization 


	(April 20c 2017), attached hereto as Exhibit B. [in Exhibit Band Exhibit C. ] The documentation shall include a laboratory reportL [and certification] signed by a practitionerL certifying that _the [report provides evidence of immunity] student is immune ·to t he named 
	[disease . ] diseases . 
	(d) . A signed, documented history of a diagnosis of varicella by a practitioner or a signed report by ·a practitioner that the practitioner has reviewed a reported history of varicella infection and has made a clinical judgment that the individual is immune to varicella [Documentation of a history of varicella 
	(ch icken pox) signed by a pract itioner as specified in Exhibit B] may be s ubstituted for a record of immunization with varicella vaccine. 
	§11-157-3 . 2 .
	(e) [Documentation of immunizations and evidence of immunity shall be kept with the st udent's health record . ] Electronic versions of the documentation of immunizations, documentation of serologic evidence of immunity, and documentation of a history of varicella 
	(chicken pox), including records maintained in the Hawaii _Immunization Registry, are acceptable provided all information required by this section is recorded. 
	(f) Documentation of immunizations and evidence of immunity shall be maintained by schools and postsecondary schools either as a part of the student' s health record, other school or post-secondary school record, or as part of an electronic record that complies with this section. [Eff and comp 8/27/01; am and comp ] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162 , 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS §§302A-1154 through 302A-1156, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11 , 325-13, 32532 , 325-33, 325-37) 
	§11-157-3 . 1 Responsibility . . (a) Each person is responsible for his or her own immunizations , except that each parent, guardian, or other person who has care, custody, or control of a minor, protected person, or dependent is responsible for the immunization and examination of his or her minor, prot ected person, or dependent. 
	(b) Each school and post-secondary school principal or administrator shall ensure that his or her school only admits students who comply with this chapter. [Eff and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; comp ] (Auth : HRS §§302A-1162 , 321-9, 325-13) (Imp : HRS §§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A1163, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32 through 32538 , 325-71 through 325-84) 
	§11-157-3 . 2 Tuberculosis. examination requirements . (a) Each student shall be examined for infection with tuberculosis by a practitioner or the 
	§11-157-3.2 .
	department within the twelve months prior to first attending school in Hawaii, except as noted in subsection (b). The tuberculosis examination requirements for attendance at post-secondary school are as provided in chapter 11-164[ . ] or as those rules are amended and renumbered by the department . 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	A student first attending school before twelve months of age shall obtain and present a certificate of TB examination prior to age fourteen months or be excluded from school until a certificate of TB examination is obtained and presented. 

	(c) 
	(c) 
	A certificate of TB examination shall report the results of a Mantoux tuberculin test, including the dates of administration and reading (recorded as month/day/year) and the transverse diameter of induration in millimet ers, and shall bear the signature of the practitioner or [unique] the stamp or imprinted name of the department of health, the practitioner, or the licensed facility at which the practitioner practices[, or the department]. If the transverse diameter is equal to or greater than 10 mm., the c

	(d) 
	(d) 
	A person providing written documentatio~ of a prior positive Mantoux tuberculin test result which includes the signature, stamp, or imprinted name of the practitioner or clinic administering the test, the dates of administration and reading and the diameter of induration in millimeters may have a certificate issued based on a chest x-ray without a repeat Mantoux t uberculin test, provided that the certificate shall 


	§11-157-4 .
	contain the required information about the positive .Mantoux tuberculin test . .
	(e) 
	(e) 
	(e) 
	A person with a chest x-ray consistent with tuberculosis shall submit to further examination or treatment as deemed necessary by the department to exclude or treat a diagnosis of communicable, tuberculosis before iss uance of a valid TB certificate . 

	(f) 
	(f) 
	A certificate of TB examination issued within· 12 months before first att endance at school in Hawaii shall not expire for purposes of school attendance and may be used for transfer or attendance at all schools and oost-secondarv school s in Hawaii. 

	(g) 
	(g) 
	A certificat e of TB examination is required for school attendance . Every school and post-secondary sch ool shall maintain a copy of each student ' s certificate of TB examination while the student is enroll ed, shall make that copy availabl e for inspection by the department , and shall transmit a copy of the certifi cat e together with the student ' s health record to the school or post-secondary school to which a student transfers . [Eff and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27 /01; am and comp ] (Auth : HRS


	§11-157-4 Performance. of immunization ; records . 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	Any immuni zation required by these rul es shall b e .performed by a practitioner or other medi cal personnel .under the direction of a practitioner, or by [the] .department [.] representatives . The manner and .frequency of immunization administration shall conform .with t hese rules and r ecognized standard medical .practices. .

	(b) 
	(b) 
	[Records of any examinat:j_on or immunization .required by these rules shall be maintaine_d by t he .practitioner or the department and shall be available .


	_for inspection and copying by the department . ] Records of any immunizations requi red by these rules that are 
	§11-157-4 .
	not administered in the United States may be accepted 
	if reviewed and signed or stamped by a practitioner. 
	(c) Documentation of any examination or immunization required by these rules shall be maintained by the practitioner or the department and shall be available for inspection and copying by the department . [Eff. 11/5/81; am and comp 6/17/93; am and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; am and comp 
	] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 32111 (22), 325-13, 325-32) {Imp: HRS §§302A-1154, 302A1159, 302A-1160, 302A-1162, 302A-1163, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32, 325-33, 325-35) 
	§11-157-4.1 Immunization of indigents and other .persons . {a) The department shall provide for free .immunization for the indigent and medically indigent .for their protection against the diseases required by .these rules . In this section, "indigent" and ."medically indigent" have the meanings defined in HRS .section 325-38 . .
	(b) The department may provide for free immunization of high risk individuals to interrupt transmission or limit morbidity from communicable diseases, or to protect employees of the department from communicable diseases which they may encounter in the performance of their duties. [Eff and comp 10/23/97; comp 8/27/01; comp ] (Auth : HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9,· 321-11(22) , 325-13, 325-32, 325-38) (Imp : HRS §§302A-1158, 325-38) 
	§11-157-5 Exemptions. {a) Medical exemptions from the requirements for specific immunizing agents shall be granted upon certification by a physician [on s professional stationery] in a form or format specified by the department , that an immunization is medically contraindicated due to a stated cause , for a specific period of time [.].,___in conformance with recognized standard medical practices. The [original certificate] form shall be provided to 
	the physician 
	1 

	§11-157-6 .
	the exempt perso_n or parent or guardian. [A copy] 
	Copies of the [certificate] form shall be maintained in 
	the student ' s school health record[.] or in the post
	secondary school student's record. Issuing physicians 
	shall forward a copy of the form to the department. 
	Reports of such [certificates] forms in a format 
	specified by the department shall also be submitted to 
	the department by each school[.] and post-secondary 
	school. 
	(b) A religious exemption shall be granted to a student whose parent, cu~todian, guardian, or other person in loco parentis certifies that the person ' s religious beliefs prohibit the practice of immunization . Requests for religious exemptions based on objections to specific immunizing agents will not be granted. Students who have reached the age of majority shall apply on their own behalf. The certification shall be retained in the student's health record[ . ] or in the post-secondary school student ' s 
	department shall be submitted to the department by·each 
	school[.] and post-secondary school . 
	(c), If at any time, the director determines that there is the danger or presence of an outbreak or . epidemic from any of the communicable diseases for which immunization is required under this chapter, the exemption from immunization ·against such disease shall not be recognized and inadequately immunized students shall be excluded from school or post-secondary school until the director has determined that the presence or danger of the outbreak or epidemic no longer exists . [Eff 11/5/81; am and comp 6/17
	] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 32111(22), 325-13, 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-1156, 302A1157, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-3'2, 325-34, 325-35) 
	§11-157-6 REPEALED. [R 10/23/97] .
	§11-157-6 . 1 .
	§11-157-6 . 1 Health examination requirements . (a) Each student shall present a record of his or her physical examination by a practitioner as specified in subsection (b) before the student first attends school . The examination shall occur within 12 months before the date of first [school] attendance[ . ] at school in Hawaii . The record shall be transferred to subsequent schools attended by the student, and reexamination is not required. 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	Results of the examination shall be reported to the school on a form or in a format approved by the department . The report of physical examination shall be signed by the practitioner performing the examination. 

	(c) 
	(c) 
	The report of physical examination shall be .kept with t he student ' s health record. [Eff and comp .10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; am and comp .


	] Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, .321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-901, 302A1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, .325-32 through 325-38) .
	§11-157-6 . 2 Provisional attendance. (a) A student who does not have evidence of all of the rBquired immunizations [or a report of physical examination] may attend school or post-secondary school provisionally upon submitting written evidence from a practitioner or the department stating that the student is in the process of receiving required immunizations [or physical examination] . A student who does not have a report of physical examination may attend school provisionally upon ·submitting written evide
	practitioner ' s office or the department shall be recognized as written evidence . A student without written evidence shall not be allowed to attend school or post-secondary school . 
	§11-157-6.2 .
	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	[If a preschool or K-12 student does not complete the required immunizations or examination within three months of the date of provisional entry, the school shall notify the parent by dated, written notice of exclusion that the student will be excluded from the school beginning 30 calendar days after th~ date of the notice . ] The provisional attendance period shall be no longer than three months after the date of provisional attendance to a school and no longer than 45 days after the date of provisional at

	(c) 
	(c) 
	[Beginning on the school day 30 calendar days after the date of notice of exclusion, the student shall be prohibited from attending school unless and until complete documentation covering the required immunizations and physical examination is provided to the school.] A student who fails to keep a scheduled appointment with their practitioner or the department during the provisional attendance period may attend school or post-secondary school only upon submitting a s office or the department. Failure to keep
	new appointment notice from a practitioner 
	1 


	(d) 
	(d) 
	If all of the required immunizations cannot be completed within [three months] the provisional attendance period due to the required minimum intervals between doses or othe~ medical necessity, the school or post-secondary school may extend provisional attendance 


	[may be extended] as long as evidence is provided that appointments have been made to complete the required immunizations . If a student whose provisional attendance period has been extended fails to keep a scheduled appointment, he -or she shall be excluded from school or post-secondary school until evidence that the required immunizations have been obtained is presented to the school[.] or post-secondary school. 
	(e) [If a post-secondary school student does not complete the required immunizations within 45 days of 
	§11-157-6 . 2 .
	the date of provisional entry, the school shall exclude the student from all school activities until documentation that the required immunizations have been obtained is provided to t he school . ] Provisional attendance may be suspended by the department when there is a dange r or presence of an outbreak or epidemic from any of the communicable diseases for which immunization is required under this chapter until the director has determined that the presence or danger of the outbreak or epidemic no longer ex
	] (Auth : HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-1155 through 302A-1157, 302A-1159, 302A-1160 , 302A-1162, 321-1, 3219, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32, 325-35, 325-36) 
	§11-157-6 . 3 [School re porting and records .] Notice of exclusion and e xclus ion. (a) [Each school shall report to the department by October 10 a nd January 10 of each year t he names of all students who have been provisionally admitted, have been excluded for failure to comply fully with the immunization or examination requirements in this chapter, and who have medical or religious exemptions. This report shall include the types of immunizations a nd dose numbers which are incomplete for each of these s
	(b) [School and post-secondary school records documenting compl iance with this chapter shall be made available for inspection and copying by the department upon request . ] Beginning on the school day 30 cal endar days after the date of notice of exclusion, the school shall prohibit the student from attending school until complete documentation covering the required 
	§11-157-7 .
	immunizations and physical examination is provided to 
	the school . 
	(c) If a post-secondary school student does not complete the required immunizations within 45 days of the date of provisional attendance, the post-secondary school shall exclude the s t udent from attending classes and a l l post-secondary school activities until documentation that the required immunizations have been obtained is provided to the post-secondary school . [Eff and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; am and comp ] {Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-1155 , 3
	§11-157-6.4 School and post-secondary school 
	r e portin~ and records. ~<=a~l-~E=a=c=h=----=s~c=h=o=o=l,___,s=h=a=l=l=----=r~e=p=o=r-=t 
	partment by October 10th and January 10th of 
	to the de

	each school year the names of all students who have been provisionall y admitted, who have been excluded for 
	failure to comply fully with the immunization or examination requirements in this chapter, or who have medical or religious exemptions. This report shal l include the types of immunizations and dose numbers which are incomplete for each of these students and shall be in a format as specified by the department. Each school is required to submit the report even if all students have met the immunization and examination requirements . 
	(b) School and post-secondary school records documenting compliance with this chapter shall be .made available for inspection and copying by the department upon request . [Eff and comp (Auth: HRS §§302A~l162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) {Imp : HRS §§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32 through 325-38) 
	§11-157-7 Penalties and remedie s. Penalties and remedies for fail ure to comply with these rules are 
	§11-157-7 
	provided in sections 321-18 , 321-20, 325-14, and 32537, HRS . [Eff 11/5/81; am and comp 6/17 /93; comp 10/23/97; comp 8/27 /01; comp ] (Auth : HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163 , 321-1, 
	321-9, 321-11, 321-18 , 321-20, 325-13, 325-14, 325-32 through 325-38, 325-71 through 325-78) 
	§11-157-7.1 Suspension and revocation; e xclusion . 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	Valid [TB certificates,] certificates of TB examination, immunization records, physical examination records , and certificates of medidal or religious exemption (collectively "documents") may be suspended or revoked if a preponderance of the evidence shows that a document contains a material inaccuracy, misrepresentation, or is fraudulent. 

	(b) 
	(b) 
	A [child or] student shall be excluded from school or post-secondary school if any document required by this chapter is suspended or revoked . 


	[Eff an? comp 10/23/97; am.and comp 8/27/01; am and comp ] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162 , 3219, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp : HRS §§302A-901 , 302A1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 
	325-32 through 325-38) 
	§11-157-8 Se verability. If any provision of this chapter, or its application to any p e rson or circumstance, is held invalid, the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances, and the remainder of this chapter, shall not be affected thereby." [Eff 11/5/81; comp 6/17/93; comp 10/23/97; comp 8/27/01; comp ] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS §§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32 through 325-38 , 325-71 through 325-78) 
	2 
	2 
	2 
	. Material, except source notes, to be repealed is bracketed. New material is underscored. 

	3 
	3 
	. Addition~ to update source notes to reflect these amendments and compilation are not underscored . 

	4 
	4 
	. These amendments to and compilation of chapter 11-157, Hawaii Administrative Rules, shall take effect ten days after f iling with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor; provided that the implementation of the amendments to section 11-157-3 shall take effect on July 1, 2018 . 


	I certify that the foregoing are copies of the rules, drafted in the Ramseyer format pursuant to the requirements of secti on 91-4.1, Hawa ii Revised Statutes, which were adopted on and filed with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor . 
	Virginia Pressler, M.D. Director of Health 
	APPROVED AS TO FORM : 
	Deputy Attorney General 
	Exhibit A .List ofRequired Vaccinations .(July 1, 2018) .
	Hawaii law allows the Director ofHealth, in consultation with the State Epidemiologist, to adopt, amend or.appeal as rules, the immunization recommendations ofthe United States Department of Health and Human Services, Advisory Committee· on Immunization Practices, including interim recommendations, as they apply to the listed vaccines indicated below. The United States Department of Health and Human Services' Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices' General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization (Ap
	Table 1 -List of Pediatric Vaccinations Required for Children in the State of Hawaii* 
	Table 1 -List of Pediatric Vaccinations Required for Children in the State of Hawaii* 
	Table 1 -List of Pediatric Vaccinations Required for Children in the State of Hawaii* 

	DTaP [Diphtheria-Tetanus-acellular Pertussis] 
	DTaP [Diphtheria-Tetanus-acellular Pertussis] 

	Haemophilus infiuenzae type b (Hib) 
	Haemophilus infiuenzae type b (Hib) 

	Hepatitis A 
	Hepatitis A 

	Hepatitis B 
	Hepatitis B 

	Influenza 
	Influenza 

	MMR [Measles ffiubeola)-Mumps-Rubellal 
	MMR [Measles ffiubeola)-Mumps-Rubellal 

	Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccin·e (PCV) 
	Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccin·e (PCV) 

	Polio (IPV [Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine]) 
	Polio (IPV [Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine]) 

	Rotavirus 
	Rotavirus 

	Varicella (chickenpox) 
	Varicella (chickenpox) 


	*The immunizations specified in Table 1 are requfred for children born in Hawaii after January 
	1, 1998, and all children born elsewhere after January 1, 1998 who become residents ofHawaii. Hawaii-born children are required to receive these immunizations within twenty-four months of their date ofbirth, and children born elsewhere who become residents are required to receive them within two years offirst residence, unless medically contraindicated. 
	Table 2 -List of Vaccinations Required for Child-Care Center Attendance DTaP [Diphtheria-Tetanus-acellular Pertussis] or DTP [Diphtheria-Tetanus-
	Pertussis] .Haemophilus infl,uenzae type b (Hib) .Hepatitis A .
	Hepatitis B .MMR [Measles (Rubeola)-Mumps-Rubellal .Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine (PCV) .Polio (IPV [Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine] or OPV [Oral Poliovirus Vaccine]) .Varicella (chickenpox) .
	Exhibit A -List ofRequired Vaccinations p. 2 
	Table 3 -List ofVaccinations Required for Kindergarten 12th Grade Attendance 
	Table 3 -List ofVaccinations Required for Kindergarten 12th Grade Attendance 
	Table 3 -List ofVaccinations Required for Kindergarten 12th Grade Attendance 

	DTaP [Diphtheria-Tetanus-acellular Pertussis] or DTP (Diphtheria-Tetanus-Pertussisl 
	DTaP [Diphtheria-Tetanus-acellular Pertussis] or DTP (Diphtheria-Tetanus-Pertussisl 

	Hepatitis A 
	Hepatitis A 

	Hepatitis B 
	Hepatitis B 

	HPVt [Human Papillomavirus Vaccine] 
	HPVt [Human Papillomavirus Vaccine] 

	MCVt [Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 
	MCVt [Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 

	MMR [Measles (Rubeola)-Mmnps-Rubellal 
	MMR [Measles (Rubeola)-Mmnps-Rubellal 

	Polio (IPV [Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine] or OPV [Oral Poliovirus Vaccine]) 
	Polio (IPV [Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine] or OPV [Oral Poliovirus Vaccine]) 

	Tdap t [Tetanus-diphtheria-acellular pertussis] 
	Tdap t [Tetanus-diphtheria-acellular pertussis] 

	Varicella (chickenpox) 
	Varicella (chickenpox) 


	tOnly required for students first entering a Hawaii school in 7grade Qr higher. 
	th 

	Table 4 -List of Vaccinations Required for 7th Grade Attendancet 
	Table 4 -List of Vaccinations Required for 7th Grade Attendancet 
	Table 4 -List of Vaccinations Required for 7th Grade Attendancet 

	HPV [Human Papillomavirus Vaccine] 
	HPV [Human Papillomavirus Vaccine] 

	MCV [Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 
	MCV [Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 

	Tdap [Tetanus-diphtheria-acellular pertussis] 
	Tdap [Tetanus-diphtheria-acellular pertussis] 


	tln addition to meeting the K-12 Immunization Requirements upon first school attendance listed in Table 3, all students must show evidence ofreceiving these immunizations prior to 7grade attendance. 
	th 

	Table 5 -List of Vaccinations Required for Post-Secondary School Attendance 
	Table 5 -List of Vaccinations Required for Post-Secondary School Attendance 
	Table 5 -List of Vaccinations Required for Post-Secondary School Attendance 

	MCV** (Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 
	MCV** (Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 

	MMR'I [Measles (Rubeola)-Mumps-Rubellal 
	MMR'I [Measles (Rubeola)-Mumps-Rubellal 

	Tdap [Tetanus-diphtheria-acellular pertussis] 
	Tdap [Tetanus-diphtheria-acellular pertussis] 

	Varicella (chickenpox) 
	Varicella (chickenpox) 


	w*First-year students living in on-campus housing only. .'l'Students born prior to 1957 are exempt from the MMR. vaccination requirement. .




	IV. New Bus. A. 11-157 Exhibit B - Part 1
	Structure Bookmarks
	Exhibit B 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization 
	Best Practices Guidance ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) 
	!(roger AT) Duchin J) Vazquez M 
	!(roger AT) Duchin J) Vazquez M 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization 
	Kroger AT, Duchin J, Vazquez M. General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization. Best Practices Guidance of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). recs.pdf. Accessed on April 20, 2017. 
	Https://www.cdc.gov/vacclnes/hcp/acip-recs/general-recs/downloads/general

	1 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for .Immunization .
	Best Practices Gui4ance of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) 
	!(roger AT, Duchin J, Vazquez M 
	!(roger AT, Duchin J, Vazquez M 
	1. Introduction 
	1. Introduction 
	The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommends routine vaccination .to prevent 17 vaccine-preventable diseases that occur in infants, children, adolescents, .or adults. This report provides information for clinicians and other health care providers · .about concerns that commonly arise when vaccinating persons ofvarious ages. .Providers and patients must navigate numerous issues, such as the timing of each dose, .screening for contraindications and precautions, the number of vaccines to be 
	This vaccination best practice guidance is intended for clinicians and other health care .providers who vaccinate patients in varied settings, including hospitals, provider offices, .pharmacies, schools, community health centers, and public health clinics. The updated .guidelines include 1) new information on simultaneous vaccination and febrile seizures; .
	2) enhancement' of the definition of a "precaution" to include any condition that might 
	confuse diagnostic accuracy; 3) confirmation that if a patient is not acutely moderately or severely ill, vaccination during hospitalization is a best practice; 4) more descriptive characterization of anaphylactic allergy; 5) incorporation of protocols for management of anaphylactic allergy; 6) allowances for alternate route (subcutaneous instead of intramuscular) for hepatitis A vaccination; 7) an age cutoff of 12 years through 17 years of age for validating a dose ofintradermal influenza vaccine; 8) delet
	www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm

	The guidance is organized in the following 10 documents: 1) Timing and Spacing of Immunobiologics; 2) Contraindications and Precautions; 3) Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions; 4) Vaccine Administration; 5) Storage and Handling of Immunobiologics; 6) Altered Immunocompetence; 7) Special Situations; 8) Vaccination Records; 9) Vaccination Programs; and 10) Vaccine Information Sources. A glossary follows (see Appendix 1: Glossary). 
	This report will help vaccination providers to assess vaccine benefits and risks, use recommended administration practices, understand the most effective strategies for ensuring that vaccination coverage in the population remains high, and communicate the importance ofvaccination to reduce the effects of vaccine-preventable disease. These best practice guidelines are intended for use in the United States; vaccine availability, use, and epidemiologic circumstances might differ in other countries and might wa
	REFERENCES 
	1. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No. 111-148 (2010). 
	\ 
	2. .U.S. Department ofHealth and Human Services. Read the law: the Affordable Care Act, section by section. 2015; the-law/read-the-lavy/i~dex.html. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 
	https://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/about


	2. Methods 
	2. Methods 
	The Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) General Recommendations 
	Work Group (GRWG) reviews the evidence for best practices regarding immunization 
	and releases updated guidance every 3 to 5 years (see Appendix 2: Membership). Work 
	group members are required to report conflicts of interests. Conflict of interest 
	information for those individuals who must report is available upon request to the 
	corresponding author. Relevant topics are those identified by ACIP as topics related to 
	all vaccines, including timing and spacing of doses, vaccine administration, and vaccine 
	storage and handling. New topics are added when ACIP decides previous ACIP good 
	practice statements on general issues (such as combination vaccines, adolescent 
	vaccination, or adult vaccination) should be revised and incorporated into the General 
	Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization. 
	The best practice guidelines in this report update the previous ACIP General Recommendations on Immunization (1) and are based both on review and analysis of available scientific evidence and on expert opinion of the diverse group of health-care providers and public health officials who are members of GRWG. This group includes professionals from academic medicine (pediatrics, family practice, and pharmacy); international (Canada), federal, and state public health professionals; and a member from the nongove
	. The process by which the guidelines were drafted varied for each document; each 
	document is therefore discussed individually below. ACIP voted to accept the proposed 
	guidance in October 2014; for additional information, see 
	http:Ilwww.cdc.gov/vaccines / acip/meetings /meetings-info .html. 
	Timing and Spacing of Immunobiologics 
	Timing and Spacing of Immunobiologics 
	GRWG met monthly beginning in January 2011, and formed a subgroup to focus on review of guidelines around administration of simultaneous vaccination and febrile seizures. Meetings were held inApril, May, and June 2011 to discuss the evidence. Other issues related to timing and spacing of vaccinations were discussed between February 2012 and September 2014 over 7 meetings (in February 2012, June 2012, August 2012, November 2012, January 2013, January 2014, May 2014, and September 2014). The evidence supporti

	Contraindications and Precautions 
	Contraindications and Precautions 
	GRWG met monthly and focused on revisions to the Contraindications and ~recautions 
	section beginning in January 2012, over 6 meetings (January 2012, February 2012, June 
	2012, August 2012, November, 2012, December 2012, and January 2013; see . 
	. The evidence 
	http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/acip/meetings/meetings-info.htmD

	supporting this document is based on a review of the published literature. Publications 
	about vaccination during surgery, hospitalization, and anesthesia were obtained from the databases PubMed and MDConsult, searched from 1973 to 2014 using the MeSH 
	(medical subject headings) terms "anesthesia" and "immunization". The search and selection of studies was limited to English-language and human studies. The search and selection process yielded 20 publications, including review articles, observational studies, and letters to the editor. Presentations of proposed best practices were made to ACIP in February 2013 and a vote from ACIP affirming the language below was made in October 2014. Major changes include 1) enhancement of the definition of a "precaution"

	Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 
	Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 
	GRWG met monthly and focused on revisions to the Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions section beginning in April 2013, following revision to the document by the Allergy Subgroup. Selected members from this subgroup participated in the April 2013 main work group call. GRWG then met again in May 2 013 . The evidence supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. Presentations of proposed guidance were made to ACIP in June 2013, and a vote from ACIP affirming the language

	Vaccine Administration 
	Vaccine Administration 
	GRWG met monthly beginning in May 2013 to dis_cuss Vaccine Administration and met for 4 additional meetings (July 2013, August 2013, December 2013 and September 2014). The evidence supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. Presentations of the proposed guidance were made to ACIP in October 2013, and a vote from ACIP affirming the language below was made in October 2014. Major changes from 2011 include 1) allowances for alternate administration route (subcutaneous inste

	Storage and Handling of Immunobiologics 
	Storage and Handling of Immunobiologics 
	GRWG met in December 2013 to discuss Storage and Handling of Immunobiologics and met one additional time in·January 2014. The evidence supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. A presentation of proposed language was made to ACIP in February 2014, and a vote from ACIP approving the language below was made in October 2014. Most of the 2011 language was removed because this content is now codified and continually updated in the CDC's Vaccine 
	GRWG met in December 2013 to discuss Storage and Handling of Immunobiologics and met one additional time in·January 2014. The evidence supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. A presentation of proposed language was made to ACIP in February 2014, and a vote from ACIP approving the language below was made in October 2014. Most of the 2011 language was removed because this content is now codified and continually updated in the CDC's Vaccine 
	Storage and Handling Toolkit, available at 

	. This content included Storage 
	www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm

	Units, Monitoring Storage Temperature, Vaccine Inventory, and Vaccine Transport. 
	Altered Immunocompetence 
	Altered Immunocompetence 
	GRWG met twice in March and April 2014 to discuss best practices guidance· for Altered 
	Immunocompetence. This section incorporates·general content from the Infectious 
	Diseases Society of America (IDSA) policy statement 2013 IDSA Clinical Practice 
	Guideline for Vaccination ofthe Immunocompromised Host (2), to which CDC 
	provided input in November 2011. The evidence supporting this document is based on 
	expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. ACIP voted to accept this proposed 
	statement in June 2015. 

	Special Situations 
	Special Situations 
	GRWG met in April 2012 and then in 4 follow-up meetings in May, August, and 
	November 2012, and J anua1y 2013. A focal point of discussion involved best practices 
	guidance for intramuscular administration of persons with increased bleeding risk. 
	Subject matter experts from the National Center for Birth Defects and Developmental 
	Disabilities (NCBDDD) were invited'to a work group meeting, and revisions to the 
	guidance involving the timing of intramuscular administration were made in 
	collaboration with these subject matter experts, primarily to ensure that ACIP's best 
	collaboration with these subject matter experts, primarily to ensure that ACIP's best 
	1 

	practices guidance does not conflict with NCBDDD recommendations regarding the 
	timing of clotting factor deficiency replacement. The evidence supporting this document · is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. 
	GRWG presented the Special Situations section to ACIP in February 2013. ACIP voted to accept the proposed staternent jn June 2015. 
	Vaccination Records 
	GRWG met in August and September 2013, and presented the vaccination records 
	language to ACIP in October 2013. The evidence supporting this document is based on 
	expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. ACIP voted to accept this proposed best 
	practices guidance in June 2015. 
	Vaccinatio1:-Programs 
	Vaccinatio1:-Programs 
	GRWG met in April 2014. The major revision to this section is the addition oflanguage related to Affordable Care Act (3,4) coverage of adult vaccination. The evidence supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. GRWG presented this section to.ACIP in June 2014. ACIP voted to accept this proposed statement in June 2015. 

	Vaccination Information Sources 
	Vaccination Information Sources 
	GRWG met in September 2014 and presented this section to ACIP. The evidence supporting this document is based on expe1t opinion and arrived at by consensus. ACIP voted to accept this proposed statement in June 2015. 
	REFERENCES 
	REFERENCES 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	Kroger AT, Sumaya CV, Pickering LK, Atkinson WL. General recommendations on immunization: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2011:160. 

	2. .
	2. .
	Rubin L, Levin M, Ljungman P, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for vaccination of the immunocompromised host. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58(3):e44-100. DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit684 

	3. .
	3. .
	The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No.111-148 (2010). 

	4. .
	4. .
	U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Read the law: the Affordable the-law/read-the-law/index.html. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 
	Care Act, section by section. 2015; https://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/about



	3. Timing and Spacing of Immunobiologics 



	Updates 
	Updates 
	Major changes to the best practice guidance for timing and spacing of immunobiologics include 1) guidance for simultaneous vaccination in the context of a risk for febrile seizures and 2) clarification ofthe use ofthe grace period between doses of MMRV. 

	General Principles for Vaccine Scheduling 
	General Principles for Vaccine Scheduling 
	Optimal response to a vaccine depends on multiple factors, including the type of vaccine, age ofthe recipient, and immune status ofthe recipient. Recommendations for the age at which vaccines are administered are influenced by age-specific risks for disease, age-specific risks for complications, age-specific responses to vaccination, and potential interference with the immune response by passively transferred maternal antibodies. Vaccines are generally recommended for members ofthe youngest age group at ris
	Tetanus and diphtheria toxoids require booster doses to maintain protective antibody concentrations (1). Unconjugated polysaccharide vaccines do not induce T-cell memory, and additional doses (although they elicit the same or a lower antibody concentration) might increase the duration ofprotection. Conjugation with a protein carrier improves . the effectiveness ofpolysaccharide vaccines by inducing T-lymphocyte-dependent immunologic function (2). Many vaccines that stimulate both cell-mediated immunity . an
	Approximately 90%-95% of recipients of a single dose of certain live vaccines administered by injection at the recommended age (i.e., measles, rubella, and yellow fever vaccines) develop protective antibodies, generally within 14 days ofthe dose. For varicella and mumps vaccines, 80%-85% ofvaccinees are protected after a single dose. However, because a limited proportion (5%-20%) of measles, mumps, and rubella 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 
	(MMR) or varicella vaccinees fail to respond to 1 dose, a second dose is recommended to provide another opportunity to develop immunity (4). Of those who do not respond to the first dose ofthe measles component ofMMR or varicella vaccine, 97%-99% respond to a second dose (5,6). 
	The Recommended Immunization Schedules for Persons Aged o Through 18 Years and 
	the RecommendedAdult.Jmmunization Schedule are revised annually. Physicians and 
	other health-care providers should ensure that they are following the most up-to-date 
	schedules, which are available from CDC at 
	http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/hep /index.html . 
	http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/hep /index.html . 

	Spacing of Multiple Doses of the Same Antigen 
	Vaccination providers should adhere to recommended vaccination schedules (Table 3
	1). Administration at recommended ages and in accordance with recommended 
	intervals between doses of multidose antigens provides optimal protection. 
	Administration of doses of a multidose vaccine using intervals that are shorter than 
	recommended might be necessary in certain circumstances, such as impending 
	international travel or when a person is behind schedule on vaccinations but needs rapid protection. In these situations, an accelerated schedule can be implemented using 
	intervals between doses that are shorter than intervals recommended for routine vaccination (7). The accelerated or minimum intervals and ages for scheduling catch-up vaccinations are available at . VacGine doses should not be administered at intervals less than these minimum intervals or at an age that is younger than the minimum age. *Ca) 
	http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/hcp/index.html

	Before administering a vaccine dose, providers might need to verify that all previous doses were administered after the minimum age and in accordance with·minimum intervals (Table 3-1). In clinical practice, vaccine doses occasionally are administered at intervals less than the minimum interval or at ages younger than the minimum age. Doses administered too close together or at too young an age can lead to a suboptimal immune response. However, administering a dose a few days earlier than the minimum interv
	to that dose. Known as the "grace period", vaccine doses administered :s:4 days before the minimum interval or age are considered valid; however, local or state mandates might supersede this 4-day guideline (7).Cb) (Day 1 is the day before the day that marks the minimum age or minimum interval for a vaccine.) The scenario most applicable to the grace period is a visit to a provider several days prior to the date indicated bythe minimum interval, such as for a mild illness. Follow-up is unlikely soon after o
	vaccine were administered less than 6 months apart, the second dose is invalid and should be repeated 6 months after the invalid second dose (7). However, ifthis repeat dose (the third dose) is administered anytime 6 months or more after the first dose, the series can be considered complete. 
	Ifthe first dose in a series is given ;::::5 days before the recommended minimum age, the dose should be repeated on or after the date when the child reaches at least the minimum age (7). Ifthe vaccine is a live vaccine, ensuring that a minimum interval of 28 days has elapsed from the invalid dose is recommended (7). For example, if.the first dose ofvaricella vaccine were inadvertently administered at age 10 months, the repeat dose would be administered no earlier than the child's first birthday (the minimu
	Certain vaccines (e.g., adult tetanus and diphtheria toxoids [Td], pediatric diphtheria and tetanus toxoids [DT], tetanus toxoid) produce increased rates oflocal or systemic reactions in certain recipients when administered more frequently than recommended (9,10) . Careful record keeping, maintenance of patient histories, use of immunization information systems (IISs), and adherence to recommended schedules can decrease the incidence of such reactions without adversely affecting immunity. 

	Simultaneous Administration 
	Simultaneous Administration 
	Simultaneous administration ofvaccines is defined as administering more than one vaccine on the same clinic day, at different anatomic sites, and not combined in the · same syringe. Experimental evidence and extensive clinical experience provide the scientific basis for administering vaccines simultaneously (11). Simultaneously administering all vaccines for which a person is eligible at the time of a visit increases the probability that a child, adolescent, or adult will be vaccinated fully by the appropri
	With some exceptions, simultaneously administering the most widely used live and inactivated vaccines has produced seroconversion rates and rates for adverse reactions similar to those observed when the vaccines are administered separately (11, 14-16). Routine administration of all age-appropriate doses of vaccines simultaneously is recommended for children for whom no specific contraindications exist at the time of the visit (7). MMR and varicella vaccine can be administered simultaneously (7) . Live, atte
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 
	live, attenuated virus vaccines (18). Simultaneous administration of pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPSV) and inactivated influenza vaccine elicits a satisfactory antibody response without increasing the incidence or severity of adverse reactions (19). Simultaneous administration of PPSV23 and inactivated influenza vaccine is recommended for all persons for whom both vaccines are indicated. Tetanus toxciid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis vaccine (Tdap) and inactivated influenza vac
	During the 2010-2011 influenza season, surveillance systems detected safety signals for febrile seizures in young children following IIV and PCV13 vaccines (24). CDC studied the health-care visit records of more than 200,000 vaccinated children ages 6 months through 59 months through the Vaccine Safety Datalink Project during the 2010-2011 influenza season. The analyses found that febrile seizures following IIV and PCV13 vaccines given to.this age group were rare, but did occur at higher than expected rates
	There are 2 exceptions to the recommendation that vaccines should be administered simultaneously. In persons with anatomic or functional asplenia, quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine (MCV4)-D (MenACWY-D, Menactra) and pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV)13 (PCV13, Prevnar 13) should not be administered simultaneously (26). This is based on immunogenicity studies that showed reduced antibody concentrations for 3 serotypes of pneumococcus (subtypes 4, 6B, and 18C) when PCV7 was administered simultane
	'\ 

	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 
	In patients recommended to receive both PCV13 and PPSV23, the 2 vaccines should not be administered simultaneously (27). PCV13 should be administered first. If PPSV23 has been administered first, PCV13 should be administered no earlier than 8 weeks later in children 6-18 years, and one year later in adults 19 years and older. Immunogenicity studies evaluating responses to PCV13 and PPSV23 administered in series showed a be1;ter immune response when PCV13 was administered first. An evaluation ofimmune respon
	Depending on which vaccines are administered during the first year oflife, a child might receive up to 9 injections at the 12-through 15-month visit (MMR, varicella, Bib, PCV13, pediatric diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis [DTaP], inactivated poliovirus [IPV], hepatitis A, hepatitis B [BepB], and influenza vaccines). Although there is no exact limit on the number ofinjections, with a little flexibility, a provider can ensure that the primary series doses are given without administering t
	There are many other examples of ways the vaccination schedule provides flexibility. The majority of children aged 1 year who have received 2 Bib vaccine doses (polyribosylribitol phosphate-meningococcal outer membrane protein [PRP-OMP]) or 3 Bib vaccine doses (PRP-tetanus [PRP-T]) and 3 previous doses of DTaP and PCV13 have protection against Bib, diphtheria, pertussis, tetanus, and pneumococcus, which lasts throughout infancy (2,31). The third (PRP-OMP) or fourth (PRP-T) dose of the Bib series and the fou
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 
	tested negative for hepatitis B surlace antigen [HBsAg] at the time of delivery and is not in a high risk group), the hepatitis B series can be completed at any time for children aged 6-18 months (35). The minimum age for administration of combination vaccines is the oldest minimum age for any of the individual components; the minimum interval between doses is equal to the greatest minimum interval ofany ofthe individual components. With use of the combination Rib-hepatitis B vaccine, the minimum age of adm
	Combination Vaccines 
	Combination Vaccines 
	Combination vaccines merge equivalent component vaccines into single products to 
	prevent more than one disease or to protect against multipl~ strains of infectious agents 
	causing the same disease. Licensed combination vaccines can be used whenever any 
	components ofthe combination are indicated and its other components are not 
	contraindicated and iflicensed by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for that 
	dose in the series. Use of combination vaccines can reduce the number of injections 
	patients receive and alleviate concern associated with the number ofinjections 
	(30,36)37). Studies have demonstrated that parents and providers might be uncomfortable with multiple injections during single visits (38-40). Potential 
	advantages of combination vaccines include 1) improved vaccine coverage rates (41), 2) timely vaccination coverage for children who are behind the schedule (42-43), 3) reduced shipping and stocking costs, 4) reduced costs for extra health-care visits necessitated by deferral ofvaccination, and 5) facilitation of additional newvaccines into vaccination programs. 
	Potential disadvantages of combination vaccines include the following: 1) adverse events that might occur more frequently after administration of a combination vaccine compared with administration of separate antigens at the same visit, such as fever that occurs with the combination MMRVvaccine and combination DTaP-HepB-IPVvaccine (44)45); 2) confusion and uncertainty about selection ofvaccine combinations and schedules for subsequent doses, especially when vaccinations are given by multiple 
	providers who might be using different products; 3) reduced pathogen coverage ifthe 
	combination product covers fewer types of one particular vaccine-preventable diseasecausing agent (46); 4) extra doses of certain antigens in the combination product (e.g., a . provider who administers 4 doses of DTaP-HepB-IPV vaccine will give an extra dose of 
	hepatitis B component); and 5) a shorter shelf-life than the individual component 
	· vaccines. The economic impact ofthe use of combination vaccines is unclear because combination products have the potential for either increased or decreased costs compared with single-antigen component vaccines. The price of a combination vaccine might exceed the total price ofseparate vaccines containing the same antigens. However, combination vaccines might represent a better overall economic value ifthe direct and indirect costs of extra injections, delayed or missed vaccinations, and additional handli
	Licensed Combination Vaccines 
	In this report, a combination vaccine is defined as a product containing components that can be divided equally into independently available routine vaccines. A dash ( -) between vaccine products indicates that products are supplied in their final form by the manufacturer and do not require mixing or reconstitution by the user. A slash ( / ) indicates that the products must be mixed or reconstituted by the user. Seven combination vaccines for which separate antigens or antigen combinations exist have been l
	http://aapredbook.aappublications.org/news/vaccstatus.sh~ml

	Situations-might arise in which one component of a combination vaccine is specifically 
	preferred to another component in that same vaccine. Future research considerations 
	for newly licensed combination vaccines should focus on safety of doses that are not 
	needed because a patient is already vaccinated against the agents, whether the 
	combination vaccine will improve the timeliness ofvaccination, and potential reduced 
	costs from disease prevention resulting from timely vaccination. 
	Combination Vaccines and FDA Licensure 
	Only combination vaccines licensed by FDA should be used (55). Vaccination providers 
	should not combine separate vaccines into the same syringe to administer together 
	unless mixing is indicated for the patient's age and is explicitly specified on the FDA
	approved product label inserts. Only 2 combination vaccines, (DTaP-IPV /Hib vaccine, 
	marketed as Pentacel, and Hib-MenCY, marketed as MenHibrix) contain separate 
	antigen components for which FDA approves mixing by the user. The safety, 
	immunogenicity, and effectiveness of unlicensed combinations are unlmown. 
	Interchangeability of Formulations 
	Interchangeability of Formulations 
	FDA generally licenses a combination vaccine based on studies demonstrating that the 
	product's immunogenicity (or efficacy) and safety are comparable or equivalent to 
	monovalent or combination products licensed previously (37). FDA licensure also 
	generally indicates that a combination vaccine may be used interchangeably with 
	monovalent formulations and other combination products with similar component 
	antigens produced by the same manufacturer to con~inue the vaccination series. For 
	example, DTaP, DTaP-IPV/Hib, DTaP-HepB-IPV, and future DTaP vaccines that 
	contain similar acellular pertussis antigens from the same manufacturer may be used interchangeably iflicensed and indicated for the patient's age (3.4). 
	Interchangeability of Combination Vaccines from Different Manufacturers 
	Licensure of a vaccine by FDA does not necessarily indicate that the vaccine is interchangeable with products from other manufacturers. Such data are ascertained and interpreted more readily for diseases with known correlates of prntective immunity 
	Licensure of a vaccine by FDA does not necessarily indicate that the vaccine is interchangeable with products from other manufacturers. Such data are ascertained and interpreted more readily for diseases with known correlates of prntective immunity 
	(e.g., specific serologic markers). For diseases without such surrogate laboratory markers, prelicensure field vaccine efficacy (phase III) trials or postlicensure surveillance generally are required to determine protection (56). ACIP prefers that doses of vaccine in a series come from the same manufacturer; however, ifthis is not possible or ifthe manufacturer of doses given: previously is unknown, providers should administer the vaccine that they have available. 


	Vaccine Supply 
	Vaccine Supply 
	Although vaccination providers should stock sufficient quantities of combination and monovalent vaccines needed to vaccinate children, adolescents, and adults against all diseases for which vaccihes are recommended (30,37), all available types or brand-name products need not be stocked. Potential advantages of stocking a limited number of vaccines include 1) reducing confusion and potential errors when staff members must handle redundant products and formulations, 2) minimizing waste when less commonly used
	Extra Doses of Vaccine Antigens 
	Administering extra antigens contained in a combination vaccine should be avoided in most situations (55). Using combination vaccines containing certain antigens not indicated at the time of administration to a patient might be justified when 1) the extra· antigen is not contraindicated, 2) products that contain only the needed antigens are not readily available, and 3) potential benefits to the patient outweigh the potential risk for. adverse events associated with the extra antigens. An extra dose of many
	A vaccination provider might not have vaccines available that contain only the antigens needed as indicated by a child's vaccination history. Alternatively, although the indicated vaccines might be available, the provider might prefer to use a combination 
	A vaccination provider might not have vaccines available that contain only the antigens needed as indicated by a child's vaccination history. Alternatively, although the indicated vaccines might be available, the provider might prefer to use a combination 
	vaccine to reduce the required number of injections. In such cases, the benefits and risks of administering the combination vaccine with an unneeded antigen should be carefully considered and discussed with the patient or parent. 

	When inactivated (i.e., killed) or subunit vaccines (which are often adsorbed to aluminum-salt adjuvants) are administ~red, the reactogenicity of the vaccine must be considered in balancing the benefits and risks of extra doses (55). Because clinical experience suggests low reactogenicity, an extra dose of Hib or hepatitis B vaccine may be administered as part of a combination vaccine to complete a vaccination series for another component of the combination. Administration of extra doses of tetanus toxoid v
	Conjugate Vaccine Carrier Proteins 
	Protein conjugates used in Hib conjugate vaccines produced in the Unit~d States include tetanus toxoid (in PRP-T) which is also used as a component of DTaP and Tdap vaccines (61). Simultaneous or sequential vaccination with Hib and these tetanus-toxoid containing vaccines is recommended when both are indicated (55). MCV4 and PCV13 both contain diphtheria-toxoid conjugates. There has been concern about simultaneous administration ofvaccines containing like conjugates. One brand of MCV4, MenACWYD (Menactra),




	Nonsimultaneous Administration 
	Nonsimultaneous Administration 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 
	There is no evidence that inactivated vaccines interfere with the immune response to other inactivated vaccines or to live vaccines. Any inactivated vaccine can be administered either simultaneously or at any time before or after a different inactivated vaccine or live vaccine (Table 3-3). The 2 exceptions, as mentioned above, are a 4-week interval between PCV13 and MenACWY-D in a person with anatomic asplenia and the separation of doses between PCV13 and PPSV23 (6-12 months recommended for nonhigh risk, 8
	Limited data are available regarding interference between live vaccines used in the 
	United States. The immune response to one live-virus vaccine might be impaired if 
	administered within 28 days (i.e., 4 weeks) of another live-virus vaccine (62,63). In a 
	study conducted in 2 U.S. health maintenance organizations, the risk for varicella 
	vaccine failure (i.e., varicella disease in a vaccinated person) among persons who 
	received varicella vaccine within 28 days of MMR vaccination was threefold higher than 
	among persons who received varicella vaccine >28 days after MMR vaccination (64). 
	Another study determined that the response to yellow fever vaccine is not affected by 
	monovalent measles vaccine administered 1-27 days earlier (22). The effect of 
	nonsimultaneous administration of rubella, mumps, varicella, and yellow fever vaccines 
	is unknown. 
	Two or more injectable or nasally administered live vaccines not administered on the same day should be separated by at least 4 weeks (Table 3-3), to minimize the potential 
	risk for interference. If 2 such vaccines are separated by <4 weeks, the second vaccine administered should not be counted and the dose should be repeated at least 4 weeks later. On the day a live injectable or intranasal vaccine will be administered, providers should ensure that no live injectable or intranasal vaccine was given in the previous 28 days. 
	The 4-day grace period discussed earlier, which may be used to shorten the minimum interval between doses of the same vaccine, should not be applied to this 4-week interval between 2 different live vaccines (55). Confusion about this prohibition may arise when 2 live vaccines whose intervals are identical are administered simultaneously. For example, ifMMR and varicella vaccines are administered on the same day, the second 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 
	dose of each vaccine could come due 4 weeks later (depending on the patient's age). If eitlfer vaccine had been given alone atboth time points, the 4-day grace period could be applied to the second dose. But in this situation the live vaccine rule prevents the grace period from being applied to the second dose of either vaccine, because Varicella-2, if administered earlier than 4 weeks, could potentially be affected by MMR1, and likewise MMR2 could be affected by Varicella-1. Note that this prohibition also
	The oral vaccines Ty21a typhoid vaccine and rotavirus can be administered simultaneously with or at any interval before or after other live vaccines (injectable or intranasal) ifindicated ( 65). 
	Spacing of Vaccines and Antibody-Containing Products 
	Live Vaccines 
	Live Vaccines 
	Ty21a typhoid, yellow fever, LAN, zoster, and rotavirus vaccines may be administered at any time before, concurrent with, or after administration of any antiqody-containing preparation such as immune globulin, hyperimmune globulin, or intravenous immune globulin (IGIV) (QQ). Blood (e.g., whole blood, packed red blood cells, and plasma) and other antibody-containing blood products (e.g., immune globulin, hyperimmune globulin, and IGIV) can inhibit the immune response to measles and rubella vaccines for :2:3 
	serologic testing is feasible and indicates a response to the vaccine. The repeat dose or serologic testing should be performed after the interval indicated for the antibodycontaining product (Table 3-5). 
	Although passively acquired antibodies can interfere with the response to rubella vaccine, the low dose of anti-Rho(D) globulin or any other blood product administered to postpartum women have not been demonstrated to reduce the response to the RA.27/3 strain rubella vaccine (70). Congenital rubella syndrome and congenital varicella are conditions with considerable morbidity and represent a true risk in future pregnancies. Because of the importance of rubella and varicella imm1Jnity among women of child-bea
	Interference might occur if administration of an antibody-containing product becomes necessary after administration of MMR or varicella vaccines. Usually, vaccine virus replication and stimulation ofimmun~ty occurs 1-2 weeks after vaccination. Ifthe interval between administration of any of these vaccines and subsequent administration of an antibody-containing product is <14 days, vaccination should be repeated after the recommended interval (Tables 3-4 and 3-5) unless serologic testing indicates a protecti
	A humanized mouse m·onoclonal antibody product (palivizumab) is available as prophylaxis for serious lower respiratory tract disease from respiratory syncytial virus among infants and young children. This product contains only antibody to respiratory syncytial virus and does not interfere with the immune response to licensed live or inactivated vaccines. 
	Inactivated Vaccines 
	Inactivated Vaccines 
	Antibody-containing products interact less with inactivated, recombinant subunit, and 
	polysaccharide vaccines and toxoids than with live vaccines (72). Therefore, 
	administering inactivated vaccines and toxoids either simultaneously with or at any 
	interval before or after receipt of an antibody-containing product should not 
	substantially impair development of a protective antibody response (Table 3-4). The 
	vaccine or toxoid and antibody preparation should be administered at different sites 
	using the standard recommended dose. 
	Interchangeability of Single-Component Vaccines from 



	Different Manufacturers 
	Different Manufacturers 
	Certain vaccine? that provide protection from the same diseases are available from different manufacturers, and these vaccines usually are not identical in antigen content or in amount or method of formulation. Manufacturers use different production processes, and their products might contain different concentrations of antigen per dose or a different stabilizer or preservative. 
	Available data indicate that infants who receive sequential doses of different Hib 
	conjugate, hepatitis B, and hepatitis A vaccines produce a satisfactory antibody response 
	after a complete primary series (73-76). All brands of Hib conjugate, hepatitis B,Cdl 
	hepatitis A, rotavirus,Ce) and quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccines are 
	interchangeable within their respective series. If different brands of a particular vaccine . require a different number of doses for series completion (e.g., Hib and rotavirus 
	vaccines) and a provider mixes brands in the primary series, the higher number of doses 
	is recommended for series completion ( e.g., doses of either rotavirus or Hib vaccine). 
	For Hib vaccines, any monovalent or combination conjugate vaccine is acceptable for
	-
	. 
	the booster dose of the series, if only one product was used for the primary seri~s (55). Limited data are available about the safety, immunogenicity, and efficacy of using acellular pertussis (i.e., DTaP) vaccines from different manufacturers for successive doses of the pertussis series. Data from one study indicate that for the first 3 doses of the DTaP series, 1-2 doses of Tripedia (Sanofi Pasteur) followed by Infanrix 
	(GlaxoSmithKline) for the remaining dose (or doses) is comparable to 3 doses of Tripedia with regard to immunogenicity, as measured by antibodies to diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis toxoids, and filamentous hemagglutinin (77). However, in the absence of a clear serologic correlate of protection for pertussis, the relevance of these immunogenicity data for protection against pertussis is unknown. When feasible, the same brand of DTaP vaccine should be used for all doses of the vaccination series (55). If v
	Lapsed Vaccination Schedule 
	Lapsed Vaccination Schedule 
	Vaccination providers should administer vaccines as close to the recommended intervals as possible. However, intervals between doses that are longer than recommended typically do not reduce final antibody concentrations, although protection might not be attained until the recommended number of doses has been administered. With some exceptions (e.g. oral typhoid vaccine) al) interruption in the vaccination schedule does not require restarting the entir·e series of a vaccine or toxoid or addition of extra dos
	Unknown or Uncertain Vaccination Status 
	Vaccination providers frequently encounter persons who do not have adequate documentation of vaccinations. With the exception of influenza vaccine and PPSV23, providers should only accept written, dated records as evidence of vaccination; selfreported doses of influenza vaccine and PPSV23 are acceptable (60,79). The rationale for acceptance for influenza vaccine is that the time period of recall is one year or less, making it very likely that correct recall will occur. The rationale for acceptance for PPSV
	C•> During measles outbreaks, if cases are occuning among infants aged <12 months, measles vaccination ofinfants as young as 6 months can be used as an outbreak control measure. However, doses administered at ages <12 months should notbe counted as part ofthe series (Bo). 
	Cb) In certain situations, local or state requirements might mandate that doses ofselected vaccines be administered on or after specific ages. For example, a school entry requirement might not accept a dose ofMMR or varicella vaccine administered before the child's first birthday. ACIP recommends that physicians and other health-care providers comply with local or state vaccination requirements when scheduling and administering vaccines. 
	(c) Provider assess_ment should include number ofinjections, vaccine availability, likelihood ofimproved coverage, likelihood of patient return, and storage and cost considerations. 
	Cd> The exception is the 2-dose hepatitis B vaccination series for adolescents aged 11-15 years. Only Recombivax HB (Merck Vaccine Division) should be used in the schedule. Engerix-B (GlaxoSmithKline) is not approved by FDAfor this schedule. 
	C•>Based on expert opinion. 
	TABLE 3-1. Recommended and minimum ages and intervals between vaccine doses<a),(b),(c),(d) 
	TABLE 3-1. Recommended and minimum ages and intervals between vaccine doses<a),(b),(c),(d) 
	TABLE 3-1. Recommended and minimum ages and intervals between vaccine doses<a),(b),(c),(d) 

	Vaccine and dose number 
	Vaccine and dose number 
	Recommended age for this dose 
	Minimum age for this dose 
	Recommended interval to next dose 
	Minimum interval to next dose 

	DTaP-1Ce) 
	DTaP-1Ce) 
	2 months 
	6 weeks 
	8 weeks 
	4 weeks 

	DTaP-2 
	DTaP-2 
	4months 
	10 weeks 
	8weeks 
	4 weeks 

	DTaP-3 
	DTaP-3 
	6 months 
	14 weeks 
	6-12 monthsCO 
	6 monthsCfJ 

	DTaP-4 
	DTaP-4 
	15-18 months 
	15 monthsCO 
	3 years 
	6 months 

	DTaP-5 
	DTaP-5 
	4-6 years 
	4 years 
	-
	-

	HepA-1(e) 
	HepA-1(e) 
	12-23 months 
	12 months 
	6-18 months 
	6 months 

	HepA-2 
	HepA-2 
	~18 months 
	18 months 
	-
	-

	HepB-1 
	HepB-1 
	Birth 
	Birth 
	4 weeks-4 months 
	4 weeks 

	HepB-2 
	HepB-2 
	· 1-2 months 
	4 weeks 
	8 weeks-17 months 
	8 weeks 

	HepB-3(g> 
	HepB-3(g> 
	6-18 months 
	24 weeks 
	-
	-

	Hib-1Ce),(h) 
	Hib-1Ce),(h) 
	2months 
	6weeks 
	8weeks 
	4 weeks 

	Hib-2 
	Hib-2 
	4months 
	10 weeks 
	8 weeks 
	4 weeks 

	Hib-3Ci) 
	Hib-3Ci) 
	6 months 
	14 ·weeks 
	6-9 months 
	8weeks 

	Hib-4 
	Hib-4 
	12-15 months 
	12 months 
	-
	-

	HPV-1Ci) 
	HPV-1Ci) 
	11-12 years 
	9 years 
	8 weeks 
	4 weeks 

	HPV-2 
	HPV-2 
	11-12 years ( +2 months) 
	9 years (+4 weeks) 
	4months 
	12 weeksG> 

	HPV-30>. Ck> 
	HPV-30>. Ck> 
	11-12 years ( +6 months) 
	9 years ( +5 months) 
	-
	-

	HZVCI) 
	HZVCI) 
	~60 years 
	6oyears 
	-
	-

	Influenza, inactivatedCm) 
	Influenza, inactivatedCm) 
	~6 months 
	6 months(n) 
	4 weeks 
	4 weeks 


	IPV-1<e) 
	IPV-1<e) 
	IPV-1<e) 
	2 months 
	6 weeks 
	8 weeks 
	4 weeks 

	IPV-2 
	IPV-2 
	4months 
	10 weeks 
	8 weeks-14 months 
	4 weeks 

	IPV-3 
	IPV-3 
	6-18 months 
	14 weeks 
	3-5 years 
	6 months 

	IPV-4<0) 
	IPV-4<0) 
	4-6 years 
	4years 
	-
	-

	LAIV (intranasal)cm) 
	LAIV (intranasal)cm) 
	2-49 years 
	2 years 
	4 weeks 
	4 weeks 

	MenACWY-1Cp) 
	MenACWY-1Cp) 
	11-12 years 
	6 weeksCql 
	4-5 years 
	8 weeks 

	MenACWY-2 
	MenACWY-2 
	16 years 
	11 years ( +8 weeks)Cr) 
	-
	-

	MMR-1<s) 
	MMR-1<s) 
	12-15 months 
	12 months 
	3-5 years 
	4 weeks 

	MMR-2(s) 
	MMR-2(s) 
	4-6 years 
	13 months 
	-
	-

	MPSV4-l (P) 
	MPSV4-l (P) 
	-
	2 years 
	5 years 
	5 years 

	MPSV4-2 
	MPSV4-2 
	-
	7years 
	-
	-

	PCVi3-1Cb) 
	PCVi3-1Cb) 
	2 months 
	6 weeks 
	8 weeks 
	4 weeks 

	PCV13-2 
	PCV13-2 
	4months 
	10 weeks 
	8 weeks 
	4 weeks 

	PCV13-3 
	PCV13-3 
	6 months 
	14 weeks 
	6 months 
	8 weeks 

	PCV13-4 
	PCV13-4 
	12-15 months 
	12 months 
	-
	-

	PPSV-1 
	PPSV-1 
	-
	2 years 
	5 years 
	3 years 

	PPSV-2Ct) 
	PPSV-2Ct) 
	-
	7years 
	-
	-

	Rotavirus-1 Cu) 
	Rotavirus-1 Cu) 
	2 months 
	6 weeks 
	8 weeks 
	4 weeks 

	Rotavirus-2 
	Rotavirus-2 
	4 months 
	1o weeks 
	8 weeks 
	4 weeks 

	Rotavirus-3Cu) 
	Rotavirus-3Cu) 
	6 months 
	14 weeks 
	-
	-

	Td 
	Td 
	11-12 years 
	7years 
	10years 
	5 years 

	TdapM 
	TdapM 
	~11 years 
	7years 
	-
	-

	Varicella-1 
	Varicella-1 
	12-15 months 
	12 months 
	3-5 years 
	12 weeksCw) 

	Varicella-2 
	Varicella-2 
	4-6 years 
	15 monthsCx) 
	-
	-


	Abbreviations: DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus influenzae type b; HPV = human papillomavirus; HZV = herpes zoster vaccine; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, murrips, rubella, and varicella; MPSV 4 = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PCV13 = pneumococcal conjug
	Cal Combination vaccines are available. Use oflicensed combination vaccines is generally preferred to separate injections oftheir equivalent component vaccines. When administering combination vaccines, the minimum age for administration is the oldest age for any ofthe individual components (exception: the minimum age for the first dose of MenHibrix is 6 weeks). The minimum interval between doses is equal to the greatest interval ofany of the individual components. ' 
	Cbl Information on travel vaccines, including typhoid, Japanese encephalitis, and yellow fever, is available at . Information on other vaccines that are licensed in the United States but not distributed, including anthrax and smallpox, is available at/ . 
	http://www.cdc.gov/travel
	http://emergency.cdc.gov/bioterrorism

	Cc) "Months" refers to calendar months. 
	Cd) Within a number range, a hyphen(-) should be read as "through." 
	(el Combination vaccines containing the hepatitis B component are available (see Table 3-2). These vaccines should 
	not be administered to infants aged <6 weeks because ofthe other vaccine components (i.e., Hib, DTaP, HepA, and 
	IPV). 
	CO The minimum recommended interval between DTaP-3 and DTaP-4 is 6 months. However, DTaP-4 need not be 
	repeated ifadministered at least 4 months after DTaP-3. This is a special grace period of 2 months which can be 
	used ifevaluating records retrospectively. An additional 4 days should not be added to this grace period. 
	(g) HepB-3 should be administered atleast 8 weeks after HepB-2 and at least16 weeks after HepB-1 and should not be administered before age 24 weeks. · 
	Chl For Hib a11:d PCV13, children receiving the first dose ofvaccineat age '?.7 months require fewer doses to complete the series. 
	Cil IfPRP-OMP (Pedvax-Hib, Merck Vaccine Division) was administered at ages 2 and 4 months, a dose at age 6 
	months is not necessary. The final dose has a minimum age of12 months. 
	Gl Quadrivalent and nine-valent HPV vaccines are approved for males and females aged 9-26 years. The minimum 
	age for HPV-3 is based on the baseline minimum age for the first dose (i.e., 9 years) and the minimum interval of5 
	months between the first and third dose. Dose 3 need not be repeated ifit is administered atleast 5 months after 
	the first dose and the intervals between dose 1 and dose 2, and dose 2and dose3, are maintained at 4 weeks and 12 
	weeks, respectively. 
	Ckl A two-dose schedule ofHPV vaccine is recom mended for most persons beginning the series between 9 through 
	14 years of age. See HPV vaccine-specific recommendations for details. / 
	www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/wr/pdfs/mm6549a5.pdf 

	Cll Herpes zoster vaccine is recommended as a single dose for persons aged '?. 60 years. 
	Cm) One dose ofinfluenza vaccine per season is recommended for mostpersons. To determine which children younger than 9 years should receive 2 doses in a single season, please see influenza vaccine-specific recommendations (81). 
	Cnl The minimum age for inactivated influenza vaccine varies by vaccine manufacturer. See package insert for vaccine-specific minimum ages. 
	ClAfourth dose is not needed ifthe third dose was administered at '?.4 years and at least 6 months after the previous dose. 
	0

	(pJ Revaccination with meningococcal vaccine is recommended for previously vaccinated persons who remain at high risk for meningococcal disease (46). 
	(qJ MenACWY-D (Menactra) can be given as young as 9 months for high-risk persons. MenACWY=CRM (Menveo) can be given as young as 2 months for high-risk persons. Hib-MenCY can be given as young as 6 weeks for high-risk persons. Hib-MenCY is given as a 4-dose series at 2 months, 4 months, 6 months and 12-18 months. 
	Cr) For routine non-high risk adolescent vaccination, the minimum age for the booster dose is 16 years. 
	CsJ Combination MMRVvaccine can be used for children aged 12 months-12 years. See text for details. 
	CtJA second dose ofPPSV235 years after the first dose is recommended for persons aged ~65 years at highest risk for serious pneumococcal infection and those who are likely to have a rapid decline in pneumococcal antibody concentration ( 60) . 
	Cul The first dose ofrotavirus must be administered at age 6 weeks through 14 weeks and 6 days. The vaccine series should not be started for infants aged ~15 weeks, o days. Rotavirus should not be administered to children older 
	than 8 months, o days ofage regardless ofthe number ofdoses received between 6 weeks and 8 months, o days of 
	age. If 2 doses ofRotarix (GlaxoSmithKline) are administered as age appropriate, a third dose is ~ot necessary. 
	CvJ Only 1 dose ofTdap is recommended. Subsequent doses should be given as Td. For management ofa tetanus
	prone wound in persons who have received a primary series oftetanus-toxoid-containingvaccine, the minimum interv_al after a previous dose ofany tetanus-containing vaccine is 5 years. 
	(w)A special grace period of 2 months, based on expert opinion, can be applied to the minimum interval of3 months, when evaluating records retrospectively, which results in an acceptable minimum interval of 4 weeks. An additional 4 days should not be added on to this grace period. 
	CxJ A special grace period of 2 months, based on expert opinion, can be applied to the minimum age of15 months when evaluating records retrospectively, which results in an acceptable minimum age of13 months. An additional 4 days should not be added on to this grace period. 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	TABLE 3-2. FDA-licensed combination vaccinesCa) 
	VaccineCb) 
	VaccineCb) 
	Trade name 

	Age range 
	Age range 
	Routinely (year licensed) 
	recommended ages 
	HepA-HepB 
	HepA-HepB 
	Twinrix (2001) 

	Three dos.es on a schedule of o, 1, and 6 months 
	~18 years 
	DTaP~ HepB-IPV 
	DTaP~ HepB-IPV 
	DTaP~ HepB-IPV 
	Pediarix (2002) 

	6 weeks-6 

	Three-dose series at 2, 4, years 
	and 6 months ofage 
	Two doses, the first at 12-15 years 
	Two doses, the first at 12-15 years 
	Two doses, the first at 12-15 years 
	MMRV 

	ProQuad (2005) 

	12 months-12 
	months, the second at 4-6 years 
	DTaP-IPV 
	DTaP-IPV 
	DTaP-IPV 
	Kinrix (2008) 

	Fifth dose ofDTaP and fourth dose ofIPV 

	4-6 years 
	Pentacel (2008) 
	Four-dose schedule at 2, 4, years 
	Four-dose schedule at 2, 4, years 
	DTaP-IPV/Hib 

	6 weeks-4 
	6, and 15-18 months ofage 
	Hib-MenCY 
	Hib-MenCY 
	Hib-MenCY 
	MenHibrix (2012) 

	6 weeks-18 

	Four-dose schedule at 2, 4, months 
	6, and 12-15 months of, ageCc) 
	DTaP-IPV 
	DTaP-IPV 
	Quadracel (2015) 

	Fifth dose ofDTaP and fourth or fifth dose of IPV 
	4-6 years 
	Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; FDA= Food and Drug Administration; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus influenzae type b; IPV·= inactivated poliovirus; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella; Td = tetanus and q.iphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis. 
	Source: (82). 
	C•l Although MMR, DTaP, DT, Td, and Tdap are combination vaccines, they are not included on this list because they are not available in the United States as single-antigen products. 
	Cb) In descriptions of combination vaccines, dash (-) indicates products in which the active components are supplied in their final (combined) form by the manufacturer; slash (/)indicates products in which active components must be mixed by the user. 
	Cc) Hib-MenCY can be used for routine dosing ofHib vaccine but is recommended only for meningococcal vaccination in persons at high-risk of meningococcal disease. 
	TABLE 3-3. Guidelines for spacing oflive andinactivated antigens· 
	TABLE 3-3. Guidelines for spacing oflive andinactivated antigens· 
	TABLE 3-3. Guidelines for spacing oflive andinactivated antigens· 

	Antigen combination 
	Antigen combination 
	Recommended minimum interval between doses 

	Two or more inactivated Ca),(b) 
	Two or more inactivated Ca),(b) 
	May be administe red simultaneously or at any interval b etween doses 

	Inactivated a nd liveCc) 
	Inactivated a nd liveCc) 
	May be administer ed simultaneously or at a n y i nterval betwee n doses 


	Two .or m ore live injectableCc) 
	28 d ays minimum interval, if not administered simultaneously 
	Source: (82). 
	! Cal Certain experts suggest a 28-day interval between tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis (Tdap) vaccine and tetravalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine ifthey are not administered simultaneously. 
	Cb) In persons with functional oranatomic asplenia, MCV-D and PCV13 should not be administered simultaneously and should be spaced by 4 weeks. Likewise for persons with immunosuppressive high-risk conditions indicated for PCV13 and PPSV23, PCV13 should be administered first, and PPSV23 should be administered no earlier than 8 weeks later. For persons 65 years old or older indicated for PCV13 and PPSV23, PCV13 should be administered first and PPSV23 should be administered 6-12 months later. 
	(cl The live oral vaccines Ty21a typhoid vaccine and rotavirus vaccine may be administered simultaneously with or at any interval before or after inactivated or live injectable vaccines. 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	TABLE 3-4. Guidelines for administering antibody-containing products<a) andvaccines 

	Type of 
	Type of 
	Type of 
	Products administered 


	Recommended minimum administration 
	Recommended minimum administration 
	interval between doses 
	Figure
	Simultaneous 
	Simultaneous 
	Antibody-containing products and 

	Can be administered ( during the same 
	inactivated antigen 
	simultaneously at different clinic day) 
	anatomic sites or at any time interval between doses 
	Figure
	Antibody-containing products and 
	Should not be administered live antigen 
	simultaneously.CbJ If 
	simultaneous administration 
	of measles-containing vaccine 
	or varicella vaccine is 
	unavoidable, administer at 
	different sites and revaccinate 
	or test for seroconversion after 
	the recommended interval (see 
	Table 3-5) 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Nonsimultaneous Administered Administered first 

	second 
	second 
	Antibody-
	Antibody-
	Inactivated 

	No interval necessary containing 
	antigen .products .
	Inactivated 
	Inactivated 
	Antibody-

	No interval necessary antigen 
	containing 
	products 
	Dose relatedCbl.Ccl containing 
	Antibody-
	measles, 
	mumps, rubella products 
	vaccme, 
	varicella 
	vaccine, and 
	combined 
	measles, mumps, rubella, varicella vaccme antigens 
	measles, mumps, rubella, varicella vaccme antigens 
	MMR vaccine, varicella vaccine, and combined measles, mumps, rubella, varicella vaccine antigens 

	2 weeksCb> containing products 
	2 weeksCb> containing products 
	Antibody

	(al Blood products containing substantial amounts ofimmune globulin include intramuscular, subcutaneous, and 
	intravenous immune globulin, specific hyperimmune globulin (e.g., hepatitis B immune globulin, tetanus immune 
	globulin, varicella zoster immune globulin, and rabies immune globulin), whole blood, packed red blood cells; 
	plasma, and platelet products. 
	Cb) Yellow fever vaccine; rotavirus vaccine; oral Ty21a typhoid vaccine; live, attenuated influenza vaccine; and zoster 
	vaccine are exceptions to these recommendations. These live, attenuated vaccines can be administered at any time 
	before or after orsimultaneously with an antibody-containing product. 
	Cc) The duration ofinterference ofantibody-containing products with the immune response to the measles component ofmeasles-containin·g vaccine, and possibly varicella vaccine, is dose related (see Table 3-5). 
	TABLE 3-5. Re.commended intervals between adminjstration ofantibody-containing products andmeasles-or varicella-containingvaccine, by product andindication for vaccination 
	TABLE 3-5. Re.commended intervals between adminjstration ofantibody-containing products andmeasles-or varicella-containingvaccine, by product andindication for vaccination 
	TABLE 3-5. Re.commended intervals between adminjstration ofantibody-containing products andmeasles-or varicella-containingvaccine, by product andindication for vaccination 

	Product/Indication 
	Product/Indication 
	Dose (mg IgG/kg) 
	Recommended interval 

	TR
	androuteCa) 
	before measles-or 

	TR
	varicella-containing 

	TR
	vaccineCb) 

	TR
	administration 

	TR
	(months) 



	Blood transfusion 
	Blood transfusion 
	RBCs, washed 
	RBCs, washed 
	RBCs, washed 
	10 mL/kg, negligible 

	Nohe 

	IgG/kg IV RBCs, adenine-sali11,e added 
	10 mL/kg (10 mg 
	3 
	IgG/kg) IV Packed RBCs (hematocrit 65%)CcJ 
	610 mL/kg (60 mg 
	IgG/kg) IV Whole blood (hematocrit 35%
	10 mL/kg (80-100 
	10 mL/kg (80-100 
	6 

	50%)CcJ 
	mg IgG/kg) IV Plasma/platelet products 10 mL/kg (160 mg 
	7 
	IgG/kg) IV 
	Botulinum Immune Globulin 
	6
	6
	1.5 mL/kg (75 mg 

	. 

	Intravenous (Human) 
	Intravenous (Human) 
	IgG/kg) IV 

	Cytomegalovirus IGIV 
	Cytomegalovirus IGIV 
	6150 mg/kg 
	maximum 

	Hepatitis A JG 
	Hepatitis A JG 
	Contact prophylaxis 
	Contact prophylaxis 
	0.02 mL/kg (3.3 mg 

	3 
	IgG/kg) IM International travel, <3 month 
	0.02 mL/kg (3.3 mg 
	0.02 mL/kg (3.3 mg 
	3 

	stay 
	IgG/kg) IM International travel, ~3 month 
	0.06 mL/kg (10 mg 
	0.06 mL/kg (10 mg 
	3 

	stay 
	stay 
	IgG/kg) IM 

	Hepatitis B IG 
	0.06 mL/kg (10 mg 
	3 
	IgG/kg) IM 
	IGIV 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Replacement therapy for immune 
	300-400 mg/kg IVCd) 
	8 .deficienciesCd) .
	Immune thrombocytopenic 
	400 mg/kg IV 
	8 .purpura treatment .
	Figure
	Figure
	Postexposure varicella 
	4oomg/kgIV 
	8 .prophyla:xis(e) .
	Figure
	Postexposure measles prophylaxis 
	400 mg/kg IV 
	8 .for immunocompromised contacts .
	Figure
	Immune thrombocytopenic 
	1000 mg/ kg IV 
	10 .purpura treatment .
	Figure
	Kawasaki disease 
	2g/kgIV 
	11 
	Figure
	Measles prophylaxis JG 
	Measles prophylaxis JG 
	Standard (i.e., 
	·0.50 mL/kg (Bo mg 
	6 .nonimnmnocompromised) contact .
	IgG/ kg) IM 

	Monoclonal antibodyto 
	Monoclonal antibodyto 
	None
	15 mg/kg IM 
	respiratory syncytialvirus F protein (e.g., Synagis [Mecllmmune])<fJ 

	Rabies IG 
	Rabies IG 
	20 IU/kg (22 mg 
	4 IgG/kg) IM 

	TetanusIG 
	TetanusIG 
	250 units (10 mg 
	3 IgG/kg) IM 

	Varicella IG 
	Varicella IG 
	125 units/10 kg (60
	5 200 mg IgG/kg) IM, maximum 625 units 
	Abbreviations: HN =human immunodeficiency virus; IG =immune globulin; IgG =immune globulin G; IGIV = intravenous immune globulin; mg IgG/kg =milligrams of immune globulin G per kilogram ofbody weight; IM = intramuscular; N =intravenous; RBCs =red blood cells. 
	(a) This table is not intended for determining the correct indications and dosages for using antibody-containing products. Unvaccinated persons might not be protected fully against measles during the entire recommended interval, and additional doses ofIG or measles vaccine might be indicated after measles exposure. Concentrations of measles antibody in an IG preparation can vary by manufacturer's lot. Rates of antibody clearance after receipt of an IG preparation also might vary. Recommended intervals are e
	Cbl Does not include zoster vaccine. Zoster vaccine may be given with antibody-containing blood products. 
	(cl Assumes a serum IgG concentration of 16 mg/mL. 
	Cdl Measles vaccination is recommended for children with mild or moderate immunosuppression from HIV infection, and varicella vaccination may be considered for children with mild or moderate immunosuppression, but both are contraindicated for persons with severe immunosuppression from HIV or any other immunosuppressive disorder. 
	(el Licensed VariZIG, similar to licensed varicella-zoster 1G (VZIG), is a purified human IG preparation made from plasma containing high levels of antivaricella antibodies (IgG). 
	<fl Contains antibody only to respiratory syncytial virus. 
	, 
	r 




	REFERENCES 
	REFERENCES 
	1. .CDC. Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis: recommendations for vaccine use and other preventive measures. Recommendations ofthe Immunization Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR10):1-28. 
	2 . .CDC. Haemophilus b conjugate vaccines for prevention of Haemophilus influenzae type b disease among infants and children two months of age and older. Recommendations ofthe Immunization Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-1):1-7. 
	3. .
	3. .
	3. .
	Plotkin SA. Immunologic correlates of protection induced by vaccination. Pediatr Infect Dis J .. 2001;20(1):63-75. DOI: 10.1097/00006454-20010100000013 

	4. .
	4. .
	Watson JC, Hadler SC, Dykewicz CA, Reef S, Phillips L. Measles, mumps, and rubella-vaccine use and strategies for ·elimination of measles, rubella, and congenital rubella syndrome and control of mumps: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1998;47(RR-8):1-57. 

	5. .
	5. .
	Watson JC, Pearson JA, Markowitz LE, et al. An evaluation of measles revaccination among school-entry-aged children. Pediatrics. 1996;97(5):613618. 

	6. .
	6. .
	Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4) :1-40. 

	7. .
	7. .
	Atkinson WL, Pickering LK, Schwartz B, Weniger BG, Iskander JK, Watson JC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations ofthe Advisory Comrpittee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and the American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP). MMWR Recomm R'ep. 2002;51(RR2):1-35. 

	8. .
	8. .
	Manning SE, Rupprecht CE, Fishbein D, et al. Human rabies preventionUnited States, 2008: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-3):1-28. 

	9. .
	9. .
	Levine L, Edsall G. Tetanus toxoid: what determines reaction proneness? J .Infect Dis. 1981;144(4):376. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/144-4.376 .

	10. .
	10. .
	Edsall G, Elliott MW, Peebles TC, Eldred MC. Excessive use of tetanus toxoid boosters. JAMA. 1967;202(1):111-113. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1967.03130140075069 

	11. .
	11. .
	King GE, Hadler SC. Simultaneous administration of childhood vaccines: an important public health policy that is s·afe and efficacious. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1994;13(5):394-407. 

	12. .
	12. .
	National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Standards for child and adolescent immunization practices. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4):958-963. 

	13. .
	13. .
	Hutchins SS, Escolan J, Markowitz LE, et al. Measles outbreak among unvaccinated preschool-aged children: opportunities missed by health care providers to administer measles vaccine. Pediatrics. 1989;83(3):369-374. 

	14. .
	14. .
	DeforestA, Long SS, Lischner HW, et al. Simultaneous administration of measles-mumps-rubella vaccine with booster doses of diphtheria-tetanuspertussis and poliovirus vaccines. Pediatrics. 1988;81(2):237-246. 

	15. .
	15. .
	Dashefsky B, Wald E, Guerra N, Byers C. Safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity of concurrent administration ofHaemophilus infiuenzae type b conjugate vaccine (meningococcal protein conjugate) with either measles-mumps-rubella vaccine or diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis and oral poliovirus vaccines in 14-to 23-month-old infants. Pediatrics. 1990;85(4 Pt 2):682-689. 

	16. .
	16. .
	Giammanco G, Li Volti S, Mauro L, et al. Immune response to simultaneous 


	I .. 
	administration of a recombinant DNA hepatitis B vaccine and multiple compulsory vaccines in infancy. Vaccine. 1991;9(10):747-750. DOI: 10.1016/0264-410X(91)90291-D 
	17. 
	17. 
	17. 
	Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, Bresee JS, Broder KR, Karron RA. Prevention and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2015-16 influenza season. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(30):818-825. 

	18. .
	18. .
	CDC. Typhoid immunization: recommendations of the Immunization Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1990;39(RR10):1-5. 

	19. 
	19. 
	DeStefano F, Goodman RA, Noble GR, McClary GD, Smith S, Broome CV. Simultaneous administration of influenza and pneumococcal vaccines. JAMA. _1982;247(18):2551-2554. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1982.03320430055032 

	20. .
	20. .
	Kretsinger K, Broder KR, Cortese MM, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, and pertussis among adults: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid and acellular pertussis vaccine recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and recommendation of ACIP, supported by the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC), for use ofTdap among health-care personnel. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-17):1-37. 

	21. 
	21. 
	Yvonnet B, Coursaget P, Deubel V, Diop-Mar I, Digoutte JP, Chiron JP. Simultaneous administration ofhepatitis B and yellow fever vaccines. J Med Viral. 1986;19(4):307-311. DOI: 10.1002/jmv.1890190403 

	22. .
	22. .
	Stefano I, Sato HK, Pannuti CS, et al. Recent immunization against meas1es 


	does not interfere with the sero-response to yellow fever va·ccine. Vaccine. \ 1999;17(9-10):1042-1046. DOI: 10.1016/S0264-410X(98)00320-X 
	23. 
	23. 
	23. 
	Staples JE, Gershman M, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR RecommRep. 2010;59(RR-7):1-27. 

	24. .
	24. .
	Leroy Z, Broder K, Menschik D, Shimabukuro T, Martin D. Febrile seizures after 2010-2011 influenza vaccine in young children, United States: a vaccine safety signal from the vaccine adverse event reporting system. Vaccine. 2012;30(11):2020-2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.12.042 

	25. 
	25. 
	Tse A, Tseng HF, Greene SK, Vellozzi C, Lee GM. Signal identification and evaluation for risk offebrile seizures in children following trivalent in·activated influenza vaccine in the Vaccine Safety Datalink Project, 20102011. Vaccine. 2012;30(11):2024-2031. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.01.027 

	26. .
	26. .
	CDC. Recommendation ofthe Adviso1y Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) for use of quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine 


	(MenACWY-D) among children aged 9 through 23 months at increased risk 
	for invasive meningococcal disease. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 
	2011;60(40):1391-1392. 
	27. .
	27. .
	27. .
	CDC. Use of13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine for adults with immunocompromising conditions: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2012;61(40):816-819. 

	28. .
	28. .
	CDC. Use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine among children aged 6-18 years with immunocompromising conditions: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2013;62(25):521-524. 

	29. .
	29. .
	Tomczyk S, Bennett NM, Stoecker C, et al. Use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine among adults aged > / =65 years: recommendatio:µs of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVRMorb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(37):822-825. 
	/ 


	30. .
	30. .
	CDC. Recommended immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 years-United States, 2011. MMvVRMorb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2011;60(5):1-4. 

	31. .
	31. .
	Shinefield HR, Black S, Ray P, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of heptavalent pneumococcal CRM197 conjugate vaccine in infants and toddlers. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1999;18(9)757-763. DOI: 10.1097/ 00006454199909000-00004 

	32. .
	32. .
	CDC. Pertussis vaccination: use of acellular pertussis vaccines among infants and young children. Recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 1997;46(RR-7):1-25. 

	33. .
	33. .
	Broder KR, Cortese MM, Iskander JK, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, and pertussis among adolescents: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid and acellular pertussis vaccines recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-3):1-34. 

	34. .
	34. .
	Nuorti JP, Whitney CG. Prevention of pneumococcal disease among infants and children -use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine -recommendations of the Advis01y Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-11):1-18. 

	35. .
	35. .
	Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization ofinfants, children, and adolescents. MMWRRecommRep. 2005;54(RR-16):1-31. 

	36. .
	36. .
	Committee on Infectious Diseases. Recommended childhood and adolescent immunization schedules-United States, 2010. Pediatrics. 2010;125(1):195196. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2009-3194 

	37. .
	37. .
	CDC. Recommended adult immunization schedule-United States, 2011. MMWRMorbMortal Wkly Rep. 2011;60(4):1-4. 

	38. .
	38. .
	Woodin KA, Rodewald LE, Humiston SG, Carges MS, Schaffer SJ, Szilagyi PG. Physician and parent opinions. Are children becoming pincushions from immunizations? Arch Pediat:r AdolescMed. 1995;149(8):845-849. DOI: 10.1001/archpedi.1995.02170210019003 

	39. .
	39. .
	Kuppermann M, Nease RF, Jr., Ackerson LM, Black SB, Shinefield HR, Lieu TA. Parents' preferences for outcomes associated with childhood vaccinations. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2000;19(2):129-133. DOI: 10.1097/00006454200002000-00010 

	40. 
	40. 
	Meyerhoff A, Jacobs RJ, Greenberg DP, Yagoda B, Castles CG. Clinician satisfaction with vaccination visits and the role of multiple injections, results from the COVISE Study (Combination Vaccines Impact on Satisfaction and Epidemiology). Clin Pediatr (Phila). 2004;43(1):87-93. 

	41. .
	41. .
	Marshall GS, Happe LE, Lunacsek OE, et al. Use of combinatfon vaccines is associated with improved coverage rates. PediatrInfect Dis J. 2007;26(6):496-500. DOI: 10.1097/INF.ob013e31805d7f17 

	42. .
	42. .
	Kalies H, Grote V, Verstraeten T, Hessel L, Schmitt HJ, von Kries R. The u se of combination vaccines has improved timeliness of vaccination in children. 


	Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2006;25(6):507-512. DOI: .
	10.1097/01.inf.0000222413,47344.23 .

	43. .
	43. .
	43. .
	Happe LE, Lunacsek OE, Kruzikas DT, Marshall GS. Impact of a pentavalent combination vaccine on immunization timeliness in a state Medicaid population. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2009;28(2):98-101. DOI: 10.1097/INF.obo13e318187do47 

	44. .
	44. .
	Marin M, Broder KR, Temte JL, Snider DE, Seward JF. U~~ of combination measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella: vaccine: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-3):1-12. 

	45. .
	45. .
	Thompson LA, Irigoyen M, Matiz LA, LaRussa PS, Chen S, Chimkin F. The impact of DTaP-IPV-HB vaccine on use of health services for young infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2006;25(9):826-831. DOI: 10.1097I
	01.inf.0000232635.81312.06 


	46. .
	46. .
	Cohn AC, MacNeil JR, Clark TA, et al. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MM'WR Recomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-2):1-28. 

	47. .
	47. .
	Weniger BG, Chen RT, Jacobson SH, et al. Addressing the challenges to immunization practice with an economic algorithm for vaccine selection. Vaccine. 1998;16(19):1885-1897. DOI: 10.1016/So264-410X(98)00170-4 

	48. .
	48. .
	Liang J, Wallace G, Mootrey G. Licensure of a diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis adsorbed and inactivated poliovirus vaccine and guidance for use as a booster dose. MM'WR Morb Mortal W/cly Report 2015;64: 948-9. 

	49. .
	49. .
	CDC. FDA approval of a Haemophilus b Conjugate Vaccine combined by reconstitution with an acellular pertussis vaccine. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1996;45(45):993-995. 

	50. .
	50. .
	CDC. FDA approval for a ~ombined hepatitis A and B vaccine. MMWR Morb Mortal W/cly Rep. 2001;50(37):806-807. 

	51. 
	51. 
	CDC. FDA licensure of diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis adsorbed, hepatitis B (recombinant), and poliovirus vaccine combined, 


	(PEDIARIX) for use in infants. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 
	2003;52(10) :203-204. 
	52. .
	52. .
	52. .
	CDC. Licensure of a combined live attenuated measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella vaccine. MMvVRMorb Mortal W/cly Rep. 2005;54(47):1212-1214. 

	53. .
	53. .
	CDC. Licensure of a diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis adsorbed and inactivated poliovirus vaccine and guidance for use as a booster dose. MMvVR Morb Mortal W!cly Rep. 2008;57(39):1078-1079. 

	54. .
	54. .
	CDC. Licensure of a diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis adsorbed, inactivated poliovirus, and haemophilus B conjugate vaccine and guidance for use in infants and children. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2008;57(39):1079-1080. 

	55. .
	55. .
	Kroger AT, Sumaya CV, Pickering LK, Atkinson WL. General recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advisory Com:rp.ittee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2011:160. 

	56. .
	56. .
	Plotkin SA. Vaccines: correlates ofvaccine-induced immunity. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;47(3):401-409. DOI: 10.1086/589862 

	57. .
	57. .
	Lane KS, Chu SY, Santoli JM. The United States pediatric vaccine stockpile program. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication ofthe Infectious Diseases Society ofAmerica. 2006;42 Suppl 3:S125-129. DOI: 10.1086/ 499591 

	58. .
	58. .
	Midthun K, Horne AD, Goldenthal KL. Clinical safety evaluation of combination vaccines. Dev Biol Stand. 1998;95:245-249. 

	59. .
	59. .
	Pichichero ME, Blatter MM, Reisinger KS, et al. Impact of a birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine on the reactogenicity and immunogenicity of diphtheriatetanus-acellular pertussis-hepatitis B-inactivated poliovirus-H aemophilus infiuen~ae type b combination vaccination. Pediatr InfectDis J. 
	2002;21(9):854-859. DOI: 10.1097/01.inf.0000027669.37444.24 


	60. .
	60. .
	CDC. Prevention of pneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory 


	' 
	Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1997;46(RR-8) :1-24. 
	61. .
	61. .
	61. .
	Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

	62. .
	62. .
	Petralli JK, Merigan TC, Wilbur JR. Action of endogenous interferon against vaccinia infection in children. Lancet. 1965;2(7409):401-405. DOI: 10.1016/So140-6736(65)90755-5 

	63. .
	63. .
	Petralli JK, Merigan TC, Wilbur JR. Circulating interferon after measles vaccination. N Engl J Med. 1965;273:198-201. DOI: 10.1056/nejm196507222730405 

	64. .
	64. .
	Verstraeten T, Jumaan AO, Mullooly JP, et al. Aretrospective cohort study of the association of varicella vaccine failure with asthma, steroid use, age at vaccination, and measles-mumps-rubella vaccination. Pediarrics. 2003;112(2):e98-103. DOI: 10.1542/peds.112.2.e98 

	65. .
	65. .
	CDC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 1994;43(RR-1):1-38. 

	66. .
	66. .
	·Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32-34. 

	67. .
	67. .
	Siber GR, Werner BG, Halsey NA, et al. Interference of immune globulin with measles and rubella immunization. J Pediatr. 1993;122(2):204-211. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(06)80114-9 

	68. .
	68. .
	Mason WH, Schneider TL, Takahashi M. Duration of passively acquired measles antibody and response to live virus vaccination allowing gamma globulin therapy for Kawasald syndrome. Prag Pediatr Cardiol. 1992;1(1):82. DOI: 10.1016/S1058-9813(06)80067-6 

	69. .
	69. .
	Kaplan JE, Nelson DB, Schonberger LB, et al. The effect ofimmune globulin on the response to trivalent oral poliovirus and yellow fever vaccinations. Bull World Health Organ. 1984;62(4):585-590. 

	70. .
	70. .
	Black NA, Parsons A, Kurtz JB, McWhinney N, Lacey A, Mayon-White RT. Post-partum rµbella immunisation: a controlled trial oftwo vaccines. Lancet. 1983;2(8357):990-992. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(83)90979-o 

	71. .
	71. .
	CDC. Control and prevention ofrubella: evaluation and management of .suspected outbreaks, rubella in pregnant women, and surveillance for .congenital rubella syndrome. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2001;5o(RR-12) :1-23. .

	72. .
	72. .
	72. .
	Siber GR, Snydman DR. Use of immune globulin in the prevention and 

	treatment of infections. In: Remington J, Swartz M, eds. Current clinical .. topics in infectious diseases. Vol 12. Malden, MA: Blackwell Science; 1992. .

	73. .
	73. .
	Greenberg·DP, Lieberman JM, Marcy SM, et al. Enhanced antibody responses in infants given different sequences of heterogeneous Haemophilus influenzae type b conjugate vaccines. J Pediatr. 1995;126(2):206-211. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(95)70546-5 

	74. .
	74. .
	Decker MD, Englund JA, et al. Interchangeability of conjugated Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccines in infants. JAMA. 1995;273(11):849853. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1995.03520350031024 
	Anderson.EL, 


	75. .
	75. .
	Piazza M, Abrescia N, Picciotto L, et al. [Demonstration of the interchangeability of 2 types of recombinant anti-hepatitis-B vaccine]. Boll Soc Ital Biol Sper. 1993;69(4):273-280. 

	76. .
	76. .
	Bryan JP, Henry CH, Hoffman AG, et al. Randomized, cross-over, controlled comparison of two inactivated hepatitis A vaccines. Vaccine. 2000;19(78):743-750. DOI: 10.1016/So264-410X(oo)oo301-7 

	77. .
	77. .
	Greenberg DP, Pickering LK, Senders SD, et al. Interchangeability of 2 diphtheria-tetanus-acellular pertussis vaccines in infancy. Pediatrics. 2oo'2;109(4):666-672. DOI: 10.1542/peds.109,4.666 

	78. .
	78. .
	CDC. Use of diphtheria toxoid-tetanus toxoid-acellular pertussis vaccine as a five-dose series. Supplemental recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-13):18. 

	79. .
	79. .
	Fiore AE, Uyeld TM, Broder K, et al. Prevention and control ofinfluenza with vaccines: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), 2010. MMWRRecommRep. 2010;59(RR-8):1-62. 


	So. .McLean HQ, Fiebelkorn AP, Temte JL, Wallace GS. Prevention of measles, rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary 
	So. .McLean HQ, Fiebelkorn AP, Temte JL, Wallace GS. Prevention of measles, rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary 
	recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP).MMWRRecomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-4):1-34. 

	81. .
	81. .
	81. .
	Grohskopf LA, Olsen SJ, Sokolow LZ, et al. Prevention and control of seasonal influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP)-United States, 2014-15 influenza season. MMWRMorbMortal Wlcly Rep. 2014;63(32):691-697. 

	82. .
	82. .
	American Academy of Pediatrics. Active Immunization. In: Pickering L, Baker C, Kimberlin D, Long S, eds. Red Boole 2012 Report ofthe Committee on Infectious Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatric; 2012. 


	I 


	4. Contraindications and Precautions 
	4. Contraindications and Precautions 
	Updates 
	Updates 
	Major changes to the best practice guidance in this section include 1) enhancement of 
	the definition of a "precaution" to include any condition that might confuse diagnostic 
	accuracy and 2) recommendation to vaccinate during a hospitalization if a patient is not 
	acutely moderately or severely ill. 

	General Principles 
	General Principles 
	Contraindications ( conditions in a recipient that increases the risk for a serious adverse 
	reaction) and precautions to vaccination are conditions under which vaccines should not 
	be administered. Because the majority of contraindications and precautions are 
	temporary, vaccinations often can be administered later when the condition leading to a 
	contraindication or precaution no longer exists. A vaccine should not be administered 
	when a contraindication is present; for example, MMR vaccine should not be 
	administered to severelyimmunocompromisedpersons (1). However, certain conditions 
	are commonly misperceived as contraindications (i.e., are not valid reasons to defer . vaccination). 
	National standards for pediatric vaccination practices have been established and include descriptions ofvalid contraindications and precautions to vaccination (2) . Persons who administer vaccines should screen patients for contraindications and precautions to the vaccine before each dose of vaccine is administered (Table 4-1). Screening is facilitated by consistent use of screening questionnaires, which are available from certain state vaccination programs and other sources (e.g., the Immunization Action C
	http://www.immunize.org). 

	Severely immunocompromised persons generally should not receive live vaccines (3) . Because of the theoretical risk to the fetus, women lmown to be pregnant generally should not receive live, attenuated virus vaccines (4). Persons who experienced 
	Severely immunocompromised persons generally should not receive live vaccines (3) . Because of the theoretical risk to the fetus, women lmown to be pregnant generally should not receive live, attenuated virus vaccines (4). Persons who experienced 
	encephalopathy within 7 days aft~r administration of a previous dose of pertussiscontaining vaccine not attributable to another identifiable cause should not receive additional doses of a vaccine that contains pertussis (4,5). Severe Combined Immunodeficiency (SCID) disease and a history of intussusception are both contraindications to the receipt of rotavirus vaccines ( 6). 

	A precaution is a condition in a recipient that might increase the risk for a serious 
	l 
	adverse reactio:r:i, might cause diagnostic confusion, or might compromise the ability of 
	the vaccine to produce immunity (e.g., administering measles vaccine to a person with . passive immunity to measles from a blood transfusion administered up to 7 months prior) (7). A person might experience a more severe reaction to the vaccine than would have otherwise-been expected; however, the risk for this happening is less than the risk expected with a contraindication. In general, vaccinations should be deferred when a precaution is present. However, a vaccination might be indicated in the presence o
	The pres~nce of a moderate or severe acute illness with or without a fever is a precaution to administration of all vaccines (Table 4-1). The decision to administer or delay vaccination because of a current or recent acute illness depends on the severity of symptoms and etiology of the condition. The safety and efficacy of vaccinating persons who have mild illnesses have been documented (8-11). Vaccination should be deferred for per1?ons with a moderate or severe acute illness. This precaution avoids causin
	Hospitalization should be used as an opportunity to provide recommended vaccinations. Health-care facilities are held to standards of offering influenza vaccine for hospitalized patients, so providers are incentivized to vaccinate these patients at some point during hospitalization (15). Likewise, patients admitted for elective procedures will not be 
	' 
	acutely ill during all times during their hospitalization. Most studies that have explored 
	the effect of surgery or anesthesia on the immune system were observational, included 
	only infants and children, and were small and indirect, in that they did not look at the 
	immune effect on the response to vaccination specifically (16-35) . They do not provide 
	convincing evidence that recent ane.sthesia or surgery significantly affect response to 
	vaccines. Current, recent, or upcoming anesthesia/ surgery /hospitalization is not a 
	contraindication to vaccination (16-35). Efforts should be made to ensure vaccine 
	administration during the hospitalization or at discharge. For patients who are deemed 
	moderately or severely ill throughout the hospitalization, vaccination should occur at 
	the earliest opportunity (i.e., during immediate post-hospitalization follow-up care, 
	including home or office visits) when patients' clinical symptoms have improved. 
	A personal or family history of seizures is a precaution for MMRV vaccination; this is 
	because a recent study found an increased risk for febrile seizures in children 12-23 
	months who receive MMRV compared with MMR and varicella vaccine (36). 
	Clinicians or other health-care providers might misperceive certain conditions or 
	circumsta,pces as valid contraindications or precautions to vaccination when they 
	actually do not preclude vaccination (2) (Table 4-2). These misperceptions result in 
	missed opportunities to administer recommended vaccines (37). 
	Routine physical examinations and procedures (e.g., measuring temperatures) are not prerequisites for vaccinating persons who appear to be healthy. The provider should ask the parent or guardian ifthe child is ill. Ifthe child has a moderate or severe illnes·s, the vaccination should be postponed. 
	\... 
	TABLE 4-1. Contraindications and precautionsCa) to commonlyusedvaccines 
	Vaccine 
	Vaccine 
	Citation 
	DT, Td 
	(4) 
	DTaP 
	(38) 

	Contraindications 
	Contraindications 
	Severe allergic reaction (e.g., anaphylaxis) after a previous dose or to a vaccine component 
	Severe allergic reaction 
	(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	a previous dose or to a 
	vaccine component 
	Encephalopathy (e.g., 
	coma, decreased level of 
	consciousness, prolonged seizures), not attributable to another identifiab,e cause, within 7 days of administration of previous dose of DTP or DTaP 
	Precautions 
	GBS <6 weeks after previous dose of tetanus-toxoid-containing vaccine History of Arthus-type hypersensitivity reactions after a previous dose of diphtheria-toxoidcontaining or tetanus-toxoidcontaining vaccine; defer vaccination until at least 10 years have elapsed since the last tetanus-toxoidcontaining vaccine 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with or without fever 
	Progressive neurologic disorder, 
	including infantile spasms, 
	uncontrolled epilepsy, progressive 
	encephalopathy; defer DTaP until 
	neurologic status clarified and 
	stabilized 
	Temperature of :?:105°F (~40.5°C) within 48 hours after vaccination with a previous dose of DTP or DTaP 
	Collapse or shock-like state (i.e ., hypotonic hyporesponsive episode) within 48 hours after receiving a previous dose of DTP /DTaP 
	Seizure :,;;3 days after receiving a 
	previous dose of DTP /DTaP Persistent, inconsolable crying lasting :?:3 hours within 48 hours after receiving a previous dose of DTP/DTaP 
	GBS <6 weeks after previous dose of tetanus-toxoid-containing vaccine History ofArthus-type hypersensitivity reactions after a previous dose of diphtheria-toxoidcontaining or tetanus-toxoidcontaining vaccine; defer vaccination until at least 10 years have elapsed 
	GBS <6 weeks after previous dose of tetanus-toxoid-containing vaccine History ofArthus-type hypersensitivity reactions after a previous dose of diphtheria-toxoidcontaining or tetanus-toxoidcontaining vaccine; defer vaccination until at least 10 years have elapsed 
	since the last tetanus-toxoid

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	containing vaccine Moderate or severe acute illness with or without fever 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	Hepatitis A 

	Severe allergic reaction 

	(39) 
	or without fever a previous dose or to a vaccine component 
	Hepatitis B 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	(40) 
	Severe allergic reaction 
	or without fever a previous dose or to a vaccine component 
	Hypersensitivity to yeast 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	Hib 

	(41) 
	Severe allergic reaction 
	or without fever a previous dose or to a vaccine component 
	Age <6 weeks 
	HPV 
	(42) 
	Severe allergic reaction 
	Pregnancy (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with a previous dose or to a 
	or without fever 
	vaccine component 
	IIV 
	IIV 
	Severe allergic reaction 

	GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	(43) 
	influenza vaccine previous dose of 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with 
	influenza vaccine or to 
	influenza vaccine or to 
	or without fever 

	vaccine component. 
	Egg allergy other than hives, e.g., 
	angioedema, respiratory distress, 
	lightheadedness, recurrent emesis; or 
	required epinephrine or another 
	emergency medical intervention (IIV 
	may be administered in an inpatient 
	or outpatient medical setting and 
	under the supervision of a health care 
	provider who is able to recognize and 
	manage severe allergic conditions). 
	IPV Severe allergic reaction 
	Pregnancy (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	(44) 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	a previous dose or to a 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with vaccine component 
	or without fever 
	LAfVCb) 
	GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	Severe allergic reaction 
	(43) 
	influenza vaccine a vaccine component, 
	Asthma in persons aged 5 years old or 
	Asthma in persons aged 5 years old or 
	including egg protein 

	older Concomitant use of 
	Medical conditions which might
	. . . . 
	aspirmg or aspirm
	predispose to higher risk of containing medication 
	complications attributable to in children and 
	influenza Cc) adolescents 
	Moderate of severe acute illness with 
	or without fever 
	MenACWY 
	MenACWY 
	Severe allergic reaction 

	Moderate or severe acute illness with (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	(45) 
	or without fever a previous dose or to a 
	' 
	vaccine component 
	MMRC<l),Ce) 
	(1) 
	Severe allergic reaction 
	Recent (:s;n months) receipt of (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	antibody-containing blood product a previous dose or to a 
	(specific interval depends on product) vaccine component 
	History of thrombocytopenia or Pregnancy 
	thrombocytopenic purpura Known severe 
	Need for tuberculin skin testing or immunodeficiency (e.g., 
	interferon-gamma release assay from hematologic ?nd 
	(IGRA) testingCg) solid tumors, receipt of 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with chemotherapy, 
	or without fever 
	congenital 
	immunodeficiency, 
	long-term _ 
	immunosuppressive 
	therapyCfJ or patients 
	with HNinfection who 
	are severely 
	immunocompromised) 
	' 
	MPSV4 (46) Severe allergic reaction Moderate or severe acute illness with (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	or without fever a previous dose or to a vaccine component_ 
	Severe allergic reaction 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
	PCV13 
	(47) 
	or without fever 
	.PPSV23 .
	RIV .
	Rotavirus 
	Tdap 
	Tdap 
	a previous dose of PCV13 or any diphtheria-toxoidcontaining vaccine or to a component of a vaccine (PCV13 or any diphtheria-toxoidcontaining vaccine) 

	Severe allergic reaction (e.g., anaphylaxis) after a previous dose or to a vaccine component 
	(48) 
	Severe allergic reaction (e.g., anaphylaxis) to any component of the vaccme 
	(43) 
	Sev~re allergic reaction (e.g., anaphylaxis) after a previous dose or to a vaccine component 
	SCID History of 
	· intussusception 
	(6) 
	Severe allergic reaction (e.g., anaphylaxis) after a previous dose or to a vaccine component 
	Encephalopathy (e.g., coma, decreased level of consciousness, prolonged seizures), not attributable to another identifiable cause, within 7 days of administration of previous dose of DTP, DTaP, or Tdap 
	(49) 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with or without fever 
	GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of influenza vaccine Moderate or severe acute illness with or without fever 
	Altered immunocompetence other thanSCID Chronic gastroint~stinal disease(h) 
	Spina bifida or bladder exstrophy(h) Moderate or severe acute illness with or without fever 
	GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of 
	tetanus-toxoid-containing vaGcine Progressive or unstable neurological disorder, uncontrolled seizures, or progressive encephalopathy until a treatment regimen has been established and the condition has stabilized 
	History ofArthus-type hypersensitivity reactions after a previous dose of diphtheria-toxoidcontaining or tetanu~-toxoidcontaining vaccine; defer vaccination until at least 10 years have elapsed since the last tetanus-toxoidcontaining vaccine 
	History ofArthus-type hypersensitivity reactions after a previous dose of diphtheria-toxoidcontaining or tetanu~-toxoidcontaining vaccine; defer vaccination until at least 10 years have elapsed since the last tetanus-toxoidcontaining vaccine 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with or without fever 

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Recent (~11 months) receipt of 
	Recent (~11 months) receipt of 
	Severe allergic reaction 

	VaricellaCd),(e (50) 
	antibody-containing blood product 
	) 
	(e.g., anaphylaxis) after (specific interval depends on product)
	a previous dose or to a vaccine component 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with Known severe 
	or without fever immunodeficiency (e.g., from hematologic and solid tumors, receipt of chemotherapy, congenital 
	immunodeficiency, long-term
	. .
	1mmunosuppress1ve therapyCn or patients with HN infection who are severely immunocompromised)CeJ 
	Pregnancy 
	Moderate or severe acute illness with
	Moderate or severe acute illness with
	Severe allergic reaction (e.g., anaphylaxis) after 

	(51)
	Zoster 
	or without fever a previous dose or to a vaccine component Known severe 
	immunodeficiency (e.g., from hematologic and solid tumors, receipt of chemotherapy, congenital immunodeficiency, long-term immunosuppressive therapy(f) or patients with HN infection who are severely immunocompromised)ceJ 
	Pregnancy 
	Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellu1ar pertussis; DTP = diphtheria toxoid, tetanus toxoid, and pertussis; GBS = Gui11ain-Barre syndrome; Hib = Haemophilus influenzae type b; HIV= human immunodeficiency virus; HPV = human papillomavirus; !IV= inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV = inactivated po1iovirus; LAlV = live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MPSV 4 = q
	Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellu1ar pertussis; DTP = diphtheria toxoid, tetanus toxoid, and pertussis; GBS = Gui11ain-Barre syndrome; Hib = Haemophilus influenzae type b; HIV= human immunodeficiency virus; HPV = human papillomavirus; !IV= inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV = inactivated po1iovirus; LAlV = live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MPSV 4 = q
	immunodeficiency; RIV=recombinant influenza vaccine; Td = tetanus and diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, 

	reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis. 
	Ca) Events or conditions listed as precautions should be reviewed carefully. Benefits ofand risks for administering a 
	specific vaccine to a person under these circumstances should be considered. Ifthe risk from the vaccine is believed to 
	outweigh the benefit, the vaccine should not be administered. Ifthe benefit ofvaccination is believed to outweigh the risk, 
	the vaccine should be administered. Whether and when to administer DTaP to children with proven or suspected 
	underlying neurologic disorders should be decided on a case-by-case basis. 
	Cb) In addition, ACIP recommends LAIV not be used for pregnant women, immunosuppressed persons, persons with egg 
	allergy, and children aged 2-4 years who have asthma or who have had a wheezing episode noted in the medical record 
	within the past 12 months, or for whom parents report that a health-care provider stated that they had wheezing or 
	asthma within the last 12 months. LAIV should not be administered to persons who have taken influenza antiviral 
	medications within the previous 48 hours. Persons who care for severely immunosuppressed persons who require a 
	protective environment should not receive LAN, or should avoid contact with such persons for 7 days after receipt. 
	Cc) Source: (52). 
	Cd) HIV-infected children may receive varicella vaccine if CD4+ T-lymphocyte count is ~15% and should receive MMR vaccine ifthey are aged ~12 months and do not have evidence of current severe immunosuppression (i.e., individuals aged s5 years must have CD4+T lymphocyte [CD4] percentages ~15% for ~6 months; and individuals aged >s years must have CD4+percentages ~15% and CD4+~200 lymphocytes/mm3 for ~6 months) or other current evi9"ence ofmeasles, rubella, and mumps immunity. In cases when only CD4+cell coun
	Sources: (1,50). 
	Sources: (1,50). 
	Ce) MMR and varicella-containing vaccines can b e administered on the same day. Ifnot administered on the same day, these vaccines should be separated by atleast 28 days. 
	CO A substantially immunosuppressive steroid dose is considered to be ~2 weeks ofdaily receipt of 20 mg or 2 mg/kg body weight ofprednisone or equivalent. 
	Cg) Ifactive tuberculosis is suspected, MMR should be delayed. Measles vaccination might suppress tuberculin reactivity temporarily. Measles-containing vaccine can be administered on the same day as tuberculin sldn or IGRA testing. If testing cannot be performed until after the day ofMMR vaccination, the test should be postponed for ~4 weeks after the vaccination. Ifan urgen~ need exists to skin test or IGRA, do so with the understandingthat reactivity might be reduced by the vaccine. · 
	Ch) For details, see (53). 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	TABLE 4-2. Conditions incorrectlyperceived as contraindications to vaccination (i.e., vaccines may be given under these conditions) Vaccine 
	Conditions commonlymisperceived as contraindications 
	Figure
	Gener.al for all 
	Gener.al for all 

	Mild acute illness with or without fever .vaccines, including .
	Mild to moderate local reaction (i.e., swelling, redness, .DTaP, pediatric DT, .
	soreness); low-grade or moderate fever after previous dose .adultTd, .
	Lack ofprevious physical examination in well-appearing .adolescent-adult .
	person .Tdap, IPV, MMR, .
	Current antimicrobial therapyCa) Rib, hepatitis A, 
	Convalescent phase of illness hepatitis B, 
	Preterm birth (hepatitis B vaccine is an exception in certain varicella, rotavirus, 
	circumstances)Cb) .PCV13, IIV, LAIV, .
	Recent exposure to an infectious disease PPSV23, 
	History ofpenicillin allergy, other nonvaccine allergies, MenACWY, MPSV 4, 
	relatives with allergies, or receiving allergen extract HPV, and herpes 
	irnmunotherapy zoster 
	History of GBS(c) 
	Figure
	DTaP 
	DTaP 
	Fever of <105°F ( <40.5°C), fussiness or mild drowsiness after a previous dose of DTP /DTaP Family history of seizures Family history of sudden infant death syndrome Family history of an adverse event after DTP or DTaP administration Stable neurologic conditions (e.g., cere~ral palsy, well-controlled seizures, or developmental delay) 

	Hepatitis B 
	Hepatitis B 
	Pregnancy Autoimmune disease (e.g., systemic lupus erythematosus or rheumatoid arthritis) 

	HPV 
	HPV 
	Immunosuppression Previous equivocal or abnormal Papanicolaou test Known HPV infection Breastfeeding History of genital warts 

	IIV 
	IIV 
	Nonsevere (e.g., contact) allergy to latex, thimerosal, or egg Concurrent administration of Coumadin (generic: warfarin) or aminophylline 

	Figure
	IPV 
	Previous receipt of ~1 dose of oral polio vaccine 
	Health-care providers that see patients with chronic diseases or altered immunocompetence (an exception is providers for severely immunocompromised patients requiring care in a protected environment) Breastfeeding Contacts of persons with chronic disease or alte_red immunocompetence (an exception is contacts of severely immunocompromised patients requiring care in a protected environment) 
	MMRCd),Ce) 
	LAN 
	Positive tuberculin skin test Simultaneous tuberculin skin or interferon-gamma release assay (IGRA) testingCf)
	' 
	Breastfeeding Pregnancy ofrecipient's mother or other close or household contact Recipient is female of child-bearing age Immunodeficient family member or household contact Asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic HIV infection Allergy to eggs 
	PPSV23 
	History ofinvasive pneumococcal disease or pneumonia Rotavirus 
	Prematurity Immunosuppressed household contacts Pregnant household contacts 
	Tdap 
	Tdap 
	History offever of ;?:105°F (;?:40.5°C) for <48 hours after vaccination with a previous dose of DTP or DTaP History of collapse or shock-like state (i.e., hypotonic hyporesponsive episode) within 48 hours after receiving a previous dose of DTP/DTaP History of seizure <3 days after receiving a previous dose of DTP/DTaP History of persistent, inconsolable crying lasting >3 hours within 48 hours after receiving a previous dose of DTP /DTaP History of extensive limb swelling after DTP/DTaP/Td that is not an Art

	Varicella 
	Varicella 
	Pregnancy of recipient's mother or other close or household contact Immunodeficient family member or household contactCg) Asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic HIV infection Humoral immunodeficiency (e.g., agammaglobulinemia) 

	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 
	Figure
	Figure
	Zoster 
	Zoster 
	Therapy with low-dose methotrexate (:$;0-4 mg/kg/week), azathioprine (:$;3.0 mg/kg/day), or 6-mercaptopurine (:$;1.5 mg/kg/ day) for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, polymyositis, sarcoidosis, inflammatory bowel disease, or other conditions Health-care providers of patients with chronic diseases or altered immunocompetence Contacts of patients with chronic diseases or altered immunocompetence Unknown or uncertain history of varicella in a U.S.-born person 

	Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTP = diphtheria toxoid, tetanus toxoid, and pertussis; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and a cellular pertussis; GBS = Guillain-Barre syndrome; HBsAg = hepatitis B surface antigen; Hib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b; HIV = human immunodeficiency virus; HPV =human papillomavirus; IIV = inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MMR = 
	(a) Antibacterial drugs might interfere with Ty2ia oral typhoid vaccine, and certain antiviral drugs might interfere with varicella-containing vaccines and LAIV 4. · 
	Cb) Hepatitis B vaccination should be deferred for infants weighing <2,000 g ifthe mother is documented to be 
	HBsAg negative. Vaccination should commence at chronological age 1 month or at hospital discharge. For infants born to HBsAg-positive women, hepatitis B immune globulin and hepatitis B vaccip.e should be administered within 12 hours after birth, regardless ofweight. 
	(cl An exception is Guillain-Barre syndrome within 6 weeks ofa dose ofinfluenza vaccine or tetanus-toxoidcontaining vaccine, which are precautions for influenza vaccines and tetanus-toxoid containing vaccines, respectively. 
	Cd) MMR and varicella vaccines can be administered on the same day. Ifnot administered on the same day, these vaccines should be separated by at least 28 days. 
	Ce) HIV-infected children should receive immune globulin after exposure to measles. HIV-infected children can receive varicella and measles vaccine ifCD4+ T-1ymphocyte count is >15%. (54). 
	CO Measles vaccination might suppress tuberculin reactivity temporarily. Measles-containing vaccine can be administered on the same day as tuberculin sldn orIGRA testing. Iftesting cannot be performed until after the day ofMMRvaccination, the test should be postponed for at least 4 weeks after the vaccination. Ifan urgent need skin test or IGRA, do so with the understanding that reactivity might be reduced by the vaccine. 
	exists.to 

	(g) Ifa·vaccinee experiences a presumed vaccine-related rash 7-25 days after vaccination, the person should avoid direct contact with immunocompromised persons for the duration ofthe rash. 



	REFERENCES .
	REFERENCES .
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	McLean HQ, Fiebelkorn AP, Temte JL, Wallace GS. Prevention ofmeasles, rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary recommendations of the Advisory·committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWRRecommRep. 2013;62(RR-4):1-34. 

	2. .
	2. .
	National Vaccine Adviso1y Committee. Standards for child and adolescent .immunization practices. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4):95~-963. .


	· .3. Rubin L, Levin M, Ljungman P, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for vaccination ofthe immunocompromised host. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58(3):e44100. DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit684 
	4. .
	4. .
	4. .
	Kroger A, Atkinson W, Pickering L. General immunization practices. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 6ed. China: Elsevier Saunders; 2013:88111. 
	th 


	5. .
	5. .
	CDC. Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis: recommendations for vaccine use and other preventive measures. Recommendations ofthe Immunization Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-10):1-28. 

	6. .
	6. .
	CDC. Addition of history of intussusception as a contraindication for rotavirus vaccination. MMWRMorbMortal Wlcly Rep. 2011;60(41):1427. 

	7. .
	7. .
	Siber GR, Werner BG, Halsey NA, et al. Interference of immune globulin with .measles and rubella immunization. J Pediatr. 1993;122(2):204-211. DOI: .10.1016/Soo22-3476(06)80114-9 .

	8. .
	8. .
	Halsey NA, Boulos R, Mode F, et al. Response to measles vaccine in Haitian infants 6 to 12 months old. Influence of maternal antibodies, malnutrition, and concurrent illnesses. N Engl J Med. 1985;313(9):544-549. DOI: 10.1056/nejm198508293130904 

	9. .
	9. .
	Ndikuyeze A, Munoz A, Stewart J, et al. Immunogenicity and safety ofmeasles 


	' 
	vaccine in ill African children. Int J Ep_idemiol. 1988;17(2):448-455. DOI:· 10-..1093/ije/17.2.448 
	10. .Lindegren ML, Atkinson WL, Farizo KM, Stehr-Green PA.Measles vaccination in pediatric emergency departments during a measles outbreak. JAMA. 1993;270(18) :2185-2189. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1993.03510180055033 
	11.· .Atkinson W, Markowitz L, Baughman A, et al. Serologic response to measles vaccination among ill children [Abstract 422]. 32nd Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy; 1992; Anaheim, CA. 
	12. .
	12. .
	12. .
	Orenstein W, Rodewald L, Hinman A, Schuchat A. Immunization in the United States. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 5th ed. China: Saunders/Elsevier; 2008:1479-1510. 

	13. .
	13. .
	Lewis T, Osborn LM, Lewis K, Brockert J, Jacobsen J, Cherry JD. Influence of parental knowledge and opinions on 12-month diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis vaccination J Dis Child. 1988;142(3):283-286. DOI: 10.1001/archpedi.1988.02150030053018 
	rates.Am 


	14. .
	14. .
	Parizo KM, Markowitz LE, Patriarca PA. Vaccination levels and missed opportunities for measles vaccination: a record audit in a public pediatric clinic. Pediatrics. 1992;89(4 Pt 1):589-592. 
	Stehr-Green.PA, 


	15. .
	15. .
	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Overview of specifications of measures displayed on hospital compare as of December 14, 2006. 2006; Inits/downloads/ HospitalOverviewOfS_ pecs200512.pdf. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 
	http://www.cms.hhs.gov/Hospital Quality 


	16. .
	16. .
	Donovan R, Soothill JF. Immunological studies in children undergoing tonsillectomy. Clin Exp Immunol. 1973;14(3) :347-357. 

	17. 
	17. 
	Puri P, Reen DJ, Browne 0, Blake P, Guiney EJ. Lymphocyte response after surgery in the neonate. Arch Dis Child. 1979;54(8):599-603. DOI: 10.1136/adc.54.8.599 

	18. 
	18. 
	Mollitt DL, Steele RW,-Marmer DJ, Stevers Golladay E, Costas S. Surgically induced immunologic alterations in the child. J Pediatr Surg. 1984;19(6):818822. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3468(84)80376-o 

	19. .
	19. .
	Mollitt DL, Marmer DJ, Steele RW. Age-dependent variation oflymphocyte function in the postoperative child. J Pediatr Surg. 1986;21(7):633-635. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3468(86)80420-1 

	20. .
	20. .
	Kurz R, Pfeiffer KP, Sauer H. Immunologic status in infants and children following surgery. Infection. 1983;11(2):104-113. DOI: 10.1007/ BF01641075 

	21. .
	21. .
	Merry C, Puri P, Reen DJ. Effect ofmajor surgery on neutrophil chemotaxis and actin polymerization in neonates and children. J Pediatr Surg. 1997;32(6):813817. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3468(97)90626-6 

	22. .
	22. .
	Platt MP, Lo;vat PE, Watson JG, Aynsley-GreenA. The effects of anesthesia and surgery on lymphocyte populations and function in infants and children. J Pediatr Surg.1989;24(9):884-887. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3468(89)80588-3 

	23. .
	23. .
	Mattila-Vuori A, Salo M, Iisalo E. Immune response in infants undergoing · application of cast: comparison ofhalothane and balanced anesthesia. Can J Anaesth. 1999;46(11):1036-1042. DOI: 10.1007/bfo3013198 

	24. .
	24. .
	Espanol T, Todd GB, Soothill J F. The effect of anaesthesia on the lymphocyte response to phytohaemagglutinin. Clin Exp Immunol. 1974;18(1):73-79. 

	25. .
	25. .
	Hauser GJ, Chan MM, Casey WF, Midgley FM, Holbrook PR. Immune dysfunction in children after corrective surgery for congenital heart disease. Crit Care Med. 1991;19(7):874-881. 

	26. .
	26. .
	Puri P, Lee A, Reen DJ. Differential susceptibility ofneonatal lymphocytes to the i;mmunosuppressive effects of anesthesia and surgery. Pediatr Surg Int. 1992;7(1):47-50. DOI: 10.1007/bfoo181002 

	27. .
	27. .
	Hansen TG, Tonnesen E, Andersen JB, Toft P, Bendtzen K. The peri-operative cytokine response in infants -and young children following major surgery. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 1998;15(1):56-60. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2346.1998.00230.x 

	28. .
	28. .
	Mattila-Vuori A, Salo M, Iisalo E, Pajulo 0, Viljanto J. Local and systemic immune response to surgery under balanced anaesthesia in children.Paediatr Anaesth. 2000;10(4):3"81-388 .. DOI: 10.1046/j.1460-9592.2000.00505.x 

	29. .
	29. .
	Romeo C, Cruccetti A, Turiaco A, et al. Monocyte and neutrophil activity after minor surgical stress. J Pediatr Surg. 2002;·37(5):741-744. DOI: 10.1053/jpsu.2002.32268 

	30. .
	30. .
	VuoriA, Salo M, Viljanto J, Pajulo 0, Pullda K, Nevalainen T. Effects ofpostoperative pain treatment using non-steroidal anti-inflammatory analgesics, opioids or epidural blockade on systemic and local immune responses in children. ActaAnaesthesiolScand. 2004;48(6):738-749. DOI:-10.1111/j.13996576.2004.00404.x 

	31. .
	31. .
	Siebert JN, Posfay-Barbe KM, Habre W, Siegrist CA. Influence of anesthesia on immune responses and its effect on vaccination in children: review of evidence. Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17(5):410-420. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2006.02120.x 

	32. 
	32. 
	Currie J. Vaccination: is it a real problem for anesthesia and surgery? Paediatr Anaesth. 2006;16(5):501-503. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2006.01898.x 

	33. .
	33. .
	Siebert J, Posfay-Barbe KM, Habre W, Siegrist C-A. Author's reply. Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17(12):1218-1220. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2007.02369.x 

	34. 
	34. 
	Nafiu 00, Lewis I. Vaccination and anesthesia: more questions than answers. Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17(12):1215-1215. DOI: 10.1111/j.14609592.2007.02318.x 


	·35. Short JA, Van Der Walt JH, Zoanetti DC. Author's reply. Paediatr Anaesth. .2007;17(12):1215-1216. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2007.02321.x .
	36. .
	36. .
	36. .
	Marin M, Broder KR, Temte JL, Snider DE, Seward JF. Use of combination measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella vaccine: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-3):1-12. 

	37. .
	37. .
	Szilagyi PG, Rodewald LE. Missed opportunities for immunizations: a review of the evidence. JPublicHealthManag Pract. 1996;2(1):18-25. DOI: 10.1097/00124784-199600210-00005 


	· .38. CDC. Use of diphtheria toxoid-tetanus toxoid-acellular pertussis vaccine as a fivedose series. Supplemental recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-13):1-8. 
	39. .
	39. .
	39. .
	FioreAE, Wasley A, Bell BP. Prevention of hepatitis A through active or passive immunization: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-7):1-23. 

	40. .
	40. .
	Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization ofinfants, children, and adolescents. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-16):1-31. 

	41. .
	41. .
	Briere EC, Rubin L, Moro PL, Cohn A, Clark T, Messonnier N. Prevention and control ofHaemophilus influenzae type b disease: recommendations of the 


	advisory committee on immunization practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2014;63(RR-1):1-14. 
	42. .
	42. .
	42. .
	Markowitz L, Dunne E, Saraiya M, et al. Hu:man papillomavirus vaccination: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2014;63(RR-05):1-30. 

	43. .
	43. .
	Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, et al. Prevention and Control of Seasonal Influenza with Vaccines Recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices -United States, 2016-17 Influenza Season. MMliVR RecommRep 2016;65(No. RR-5):1-54. 

	44. .
	44. .
	Prevots DR, Burr RK, Sutter RW, Murphy TV. Poliomyelitis prevention in the United States. Updated recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-5):1-22; 
	quiz CE21-27. 
	\ 


	45. .
	45. .
	Cohn AC, MacNeil JR, Clark TA, et al. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMliVRRecomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-2):1-28. 

	46. 
	46. 
	Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. Recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMliVR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

	47. .
	47. .
	Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. Preventing pneumococcal disease among infants and young children. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2000;49(RR-9):1-35. 

	48. .
	48. .
	CDC. Prevention of pneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1997;46(RR-8):1-24. 

	49. .
	49. .
	Broder KR, Cortese MM, Iskander JK, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, and pertussis among adolescents: use oftetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid and acellular pertussis vaccines recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-3):1-34. 

	50. .
	50. .
	Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

	51. .
	51. .
	Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWRRecommRep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32-34. 

	52. .
	52. .
	Grohskopf LA, Olsen SJ, Sokolow LZ, et al. Prevention and control of seasonal influenza with vaccines: recommendatio:ps ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP)-United States, 2014-15 influenza season. MMWRMorb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(32):691-697. 

	53. .
	53. .
	Cortese MM, Parashar UD. Prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants and children: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2009;58(RR-2):1-25. 

	54. .
	54. .
	American .Academy of Pediatrics. Passive immunization. In: Pickering L, Baker C, Kimberlin D, Long S, eds. Red Boole: 2012 Reportofthe Committee on Infectious Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2012. 


	5. .Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 

	Updates 
	Updates 
	Major changes to the best practice guidance include 1) more descriptive characterization of anaphylactic allergy and 2) incorporation of protocols for managing adverse reactions. 

	Benefit and Risk Communication 
	Benefit and Risk Communication 
	Parents, guardians, legal representatives, and adolescent and adult patients should be· 
	informed about the benefits of and risks from vaccines in language that is culturally 
	sensitive and at an appropriate educational level. Opportunity for questions should be 
	provided before each vaccination. Discussion of the benefits of and risks from 
	vaccination is sound medical practice and is required by law. 
	The National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986 (1) requires that vaccine information materials be developed for each vaccine covered by the materials, known as vaccine information statements (VISs), must be provided by all public and private vaccination providers each time a vaccine is administered. Copies of VISs are available from state health authorities responsible for vaccinatio,n and from CDC(http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/vis/index.html ). Translations ofVISs into languages other than English are
	Act (uscode.house.gov). These 
	Immunization Action Coalition website (http: //www.immunize.org). The 

	Some parents or patients question the need for or safety of vaccinations and want to discuss the risks from and benefits of certain vaccines. Some refuse certain vaccines or reject all vaccinations for personal or religious reasons. Having a basic understanding of 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 
	how patients and parents ofpatients view vaccine risk and developing effective 
	approaches to address vaccine safety concerns are imperative for vaccination providers. 
	Each person understands and reacts to vaccine information on the basis of different 
	factors, including previous experience, education, personal values, method of data 
	presentation, perceptions of the risk for disease and perceived ability to control these 
	risks, and risk tolerance. In some circumstances, q.ecisions about vaccination are based 
	, 
	on inaccurate information about risk provided by the media and certain websites. Websites and other sources ofvaccine information may be inaccurate or incomplete. Health care providers can be a pivotal source of science-based credible information by discussing with parents and patients the risks from and benefits of vaccines, which helps patients make informed decisions. 
	When a parent or patient initiates a discussion about a perceived vaccine adverse 
	reaction, the health care provider should discuss the specific concerns and provide 
	factual information, using appropriate language. Effective, empathetic vaccine risk 
	communication is essential in responding to misinformation and concerns, with health 
	care providers recognizing that risk assessment and decision-making can be difficult 
	I 
	and confusing. Certain vaccines might be acceptable to a parent who is resistant to other vaccines. This partial acceptance can be used to facilitate additional communication. Their concerns can be addressed using the VIS and offering other resource materials (e.g., vaccination information from CDC: 
	http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/vis/index.html ). 

	The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) does not recommend that providers exclude from their practice patients whose parents or guardians question or refuse vaccination. However, an effective public health strategy is to identify common ground and discuss measures that need to be followed ifthe decision is to defer vaccination (2). Health care providers should reinforce key points about each vaccine, including safety, and emphasize risks for disease among unvaccinated children. Parents should be advised of
	The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) does not recommend that providers exclude from their practice patients whose parents or guardians question or refuse vaccination. However, an effective public health strategy is to identify common ground and discuss measures that need to be followed ifthe decision is to defer vaccination (2). Health care providers should reinforce key points about each vaccine, including safety, and emphasize risks for disease among unvaccinated children. Parents should be advised of
	(managers/coverage/schoolvaxview/requirements/index.html). These discussions should be documented in the patient's medical record, including the refusal to receive certain vaccines (i.e., informed refusal). When a vaccine is refused when first offered the provider should take the opportunity to offer the vaccine again at the next visit. 
	www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz


	Preventing Adverse Reactions 
	Vaccines are intended to produce active immunity to specific antigens. An adverse 
	reaction is an undesirable side effect that occurs after a vaccination. Vaccine adverse 
	reactions are classified as 1) local, 2) systemic, or 3) allergic (additional information is 
	available at ). Local reactions (e.g., redness) are usually the least 
	http://www.fda.gQY

	severe and most frequent. Systemic reactions (e.g., fever) occur less frequently than 
	local reactions, and severe allergic reactions (e.g., anaphylaxis) are the least frequent 
	reactions. s·evere adverse reactions are rare (3). 
	Some ofthe systemic reactions may be complicated by the onset of syncope. Syncope 
	(vasovagal or vasodepressor reaction) can occur after vaccination and is most common 
	among adolescents and young adults. In 2005, the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting 
	System (VAERS) began detecting a trend ofincreasing syncope reports that coincided 
	with the licensure of 3 vaccines for adolescents: human papillomavirus (HPV), 
	MenACWY, and Tdap (4). Of particular concern among adolescents has been the risk for 
	serious seconda1:y injuries, including skull fracture and cerebral hemorrhage. Of 463 . 
	VAERS reports of syncope during January 1, 2 005, to July 3;1., 2007, a total of41 listed 
	syncope with secondary injury with information on the timing after vaccination, and the 
	majority ofthese syncope reports (76%) occurred among adolescents. Among all age 
	groups, 80% ofreported syncope episodes occur within 15 minutes ofvaccine 
	administration (additional information is available at 
	). Providers should take . appropriate measures to prevent injuries if a patient becomes weak or dizzy or loses 
	http://www.cdc.gov/vaccinesafety/concerns/fainting.html 

	consciousness. Adolescents and adults should be seated or lying down during 
	vaccination. Vaccine providers, particularly when vaccinating adolescents, should 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for_lmmunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 
	consider observing patients (with patients seated or lying down) for 15 minutes after .vaccination to decrease the risk for injury should they faint (4). If syncope develops, .patients should be observed until the symptoms resolve. .
	Although allergic reactions are a common concern for vaccine providers, these reactions are uncommon and anaphylaxis following vaccines is rare, occurring at a rate of approximately one per million doses for many vaccines (5). Epinephrine and equipment for managing an airway should be available for immediate use ( 6). The best practice to prevent allergic reactions is to identify individuals at increased risk by obtaining a history of allergy to previous vaccinations ·and vaccine components that might indic
	http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/pinkbook
	vaccines are available at .(http: //www.vaccinesafety.edu/ components-Allergens.htm). 

	Managing Acute Vaccine Reactions 
	Vaccine providers should be familiar with identifying immediate-type allergic reactions, including anaphylaxis, and be competent in treating these events at the time of vaccine administration. Providers should also have a plan in place to contact emergency medical services immediately in the event of a severe acute vaccine reaction. 
	Allergic reactions can include: local or generalized urticaria (hives) or angioe~ema; respiratory compromise due to wheezing or swelling of the throat; hypotension; and shock. Immediate-immunoglobulin E (IgE)-mediated (type 1) immune reactions, such 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 
	as anaphylaxis, usually occur within minutes ofparenteral administration and involve specific IgE interactions with discrete antigens (9,10) . Rapid recognition and initiation oftreatment are required to prevent possible progression to respiratory failure or cardiovascular coilapse. It is important to note that urticaria may not be present in all cases of anaphylaxis. For respiratory or cardiovascular symptoms, or other signs or. symptoms of anaphylaxis, immediate intramuscular epinephrine is the treatment 
	Persons Who Have Had an Allergic ~eaction Following a Previous Immunization 
	For an individual patient who has experienced an immediate reaction to immunization, it is important to identify the type ofreaction that occurred, obtain a history of prior allergic reactions, and try to identify the particular agent responsible. An algorithm approach to these patients has been published (13) and additional advice is available for allergists on the evaluation of these adverse events (10). In general, a history of a severe allergic reaction to a vaccine should be considered a contraindicati
	I 
	usually indicated to possibly determine the component responsible, before maldng decisions regarding administration ofthe additional doses ofthe same vaccine or other vaccines that have the same components. Patients who have not had a severe allergic reaction following a vaccine, but who have a history ofpossible allergy to a vaccine component can often be vaccinated safely after careful evaluation (6). 
	General Best Practice Guidelin es for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 






	IV. New Bus. A. 11-157 Exhibit B - Part 2
	Structure Bookmarks
	Influenza Vaccination ofPersons with a History ofEgg Allergy 
	Severe allergic and anaphylactic reactions can occur in response to a number of influenza vaccine components, but such reactions are rare (6). All but the recombinant inactivated influenza vaccine may have come into contact with egg protein. The use of influenza vaccines for persons with a history of egg allergy has been reviewed recently by ACIP (14). VAERS data m:ining did not identify a higher than expected proportion of serious allergic events after influenza vaccination during the 2011-2012 season, rel
	" 
	Other measures, such as dividing and administering the vaccine by a 2-step approach 
	and skin testing with vaccine, are not recommended (10). 
	All vaccines should be administered in settings in which personnel and equipment for 
	rapid recognition and treatment of anaphylaxis are available. ACIP recommends that all .vaccination providers be certified in cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), have an .office emergency plan, and ensure that all staff are familiar with the plan ( 6). Some .persons who report allergy to egg might not be egg-allergic. Those who are able to eat .lightly cooked egg (e.g., scrambled egg) without reaction are unlikely to be allergic. .
	Egg-allergic persons might tolerate egg in baked products (e.g., bread or cake). .Tolerance to egg-containing foods does not exclude the possibility of egg allergy (15). .Egg allergy can be confirmed by a consistent medical history of adverse reactions to eggs .and egg-containing foods, plus skin and/ or blood testing for IgE antibodies to egg .proteins. .
	A-previous severe allergic reaction to influenza vaccine, regardless of the component suspected to be responsible for the reaction, is a contraindication to future receipt of the vaccine (14). 
	Yellow Fever Vaccination ofPersons with a History of Egg Allergy 
	Yellow fever vaccine contains egg protein. There have been insufficient studies to determine which patients with egg allergy may be able to receive yellow fever vaccine, but there are reports of patients with true egg allergy safely receiving yellow fever vaccine after evaluation by specialists with expertise in the management of allergic reactions (16,17). According to the manufacturer, persons who are able to eat eggs or egg products may receive the vaccine (18). However, potential hypersensitivity reacti
	http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vatcines/ApprovedProducts/ucmo94o74

	Vaccines with MMR or Varicella Components and Persons with a History ofEgg Allergy 
	Varicella vaccine is grown in human diploid cell cultures and can safely be administered to persons with a severe allergy to eggs or egg proteins (19). Measles and mumps vaccine viruses are grown in chick embryo fibroblast tissue culture. However, persons with a severe egg allergy can receive measles--or mumps-containing vaccines in the usual manner because the content of these proteins is extremely low (20) . The rare severe 
	Varicella vaccine is grown in human diploid cell cultures and can safely be administered to persons with a severe allergy to eggs or egg proteins (19). Measles and mumps vaccine viruses are grown in chick embryo fibroblast tissue culture. However, persons with a severe egg allergy can receive measles--or mumps-containing vaccines in the usual manner because the content of these proteins is extremely low (20) . The rare severe 
	allergic reactions after measles-or mumps-containing vaccines or varicella are thought 

	to be caused by other components of the vaccine (e.g., gelatin) (21-24). MMR, MMRV, 
	varicella and other vaccines contain hydrolyzed gelatin as a stabilizer. 
	Vaccines and Persons with a History ofAllergy to Substances Other than Eggs 
	Persons who have had an anaphylactic reaction to gelatin or gelatin-containing products should be evaluated by an allergist prior to receiving gelatin-containing vaccines (6). 
	Certain vaccines contain trace amounts of antimicrobial agents or other preservatives 
	(e.g., neomycin or thim~rosal), although allergies to these are rare. No licensed vaccine 
	, 
	contains penicillin or penicillin derivatives. 
	Most often, neomycin hypersensitivity manifests as contact dermatitis, a delayed-type 
	(cell-mediated) immune response rather than immediate-hypersensitivity (IgE
	mediated allergy)-type response (25,26). A history of delayed-type reactions to 
	neomycin is not a contraindication for administration of neomycin-containing vaccines. There has only been 1 reported case ofimmediate hypersensitivity reaction following a 
	neomycin-containing vaccine (27) . Persons who have had anaphylactic reactions to 
	neomycin should be evaluated by an allergist prior to receiving vaccines containing 
	neomycin ( 6). 
	Thimerosal, an organic mercurial compound in use since the 1930s, is added to certain immunobiologics as a preservative. Since mid-2001, vaccines routinely recommended for infants younger than 6 months of age have been manufactured without thimerosal as a preservative (14) . Live, attenuated vaccines have never contained thimerosal. Thimerosal-free fo~mulations of inactivated influenza vaccine are available. Inactivated influenza vaccine also is available in formulations with only trace amounts of thimerosa
	administered to children (e.g., Td and DT). Information about the thimerosal content of 
	vaccines is available from FDA at . 
	http://www.fda.gov/cber/vaccine/thimerosal.htm

	Reactions to thimerosal have been described as local delayed-type hypersensitivity 
	reactions with only rare reports of immediate reactions (28-31). Thimerosal elicits 
	positive delayed-type hypersensitivity patch tests in 1%-18% of persons tested; however, 
	these tests have no relevance to acute allergic reactions that might occur within minutes 
	or hours after immunization (32,33). The majority of persons do not experience 
	reactions to thimerosal administered as a component ofvaccines even when patch or 
	intradermal tests for thimerosal indicate hypersensitivity (31). A local or delayed-type 
	hypersensitivity reaction to thimerosal is not a contraindication to receipt of a vaccine 
	that contains thimerosal (34). 
	Latex is sap from the rubber tree. Latex contains naturally occurring plant proteins that 
	can be responsible for immediate-type allergic reactions. Latex is processed to form 
	either natural rubber latex products such as gloves or dry, natural rubber products such 
	as syringe plunger tips and vial stoppers. Synthetic rubber is also used in gloves, syringe 
	plungers, and vial stoppers but does not contain the latex proteins linked to immediate
	type allergic reactions. Natural rubber latex or dry, natural rubber used in vaccine 
	packaging generally is noted in the manufacturers' package inserts. 
	Immediate-type allergic reactions due to latex allergy have been described after 
	v;accination, but such reactions are rare (35) . 
	.If a person reports.a severe anaphylactic allergy to latex, vaccines supplied in vials or 
	syringes that contain natural rubber latex should be avoided if possible ( 6} If not, if the 
	decision is made to vaccinate, providers should be prepared to treat immediate allergic 
	reactions due to latex, including anaphylaxis. The most common type oflatex 
	hypersensitivity is a delayed~type (type 4, cell-mediated) allergic contact dermatitis (36). 
	For patients with a history of contact allergy to latex, vaccines supplied in vials or 
	syringes that contain dry natural rubber or natural rubber latex may be administered. 
	Reporting Adverse Events After Vaccination 
	Ge~eral Best Practice Guidelin es for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 
	Modern vaccines are safe and effective; however, adverse events have been reported after administration of all vaccines (3). More complete information about adverse reactions to a specific vaccine is available in the package insert for each vaccine and from CDC An adverse event is an untoward event that occurs after a vaccination that might be caused by the vaccine product or vaccination process. These events range from common, minor, local reactions to rare, severe, allergic reactions (e.g., anaphylaxis). 
	at http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vac-gen/side-effects.htm. 

	Many adverse events require more detailed epidemiologic studies to compare the incidence of the event among vaccinees with the incidence among unvaccinated persons. Potential causal associations between reported adverse events after vaccination can be. assessed through epidemiologic or clinical studies. 
	The National Childhood Vaccine InjuryAct of 1986 (1) requires health care personnel 
	and vaccine manufacturers to report to V AERS specific adverse events that occur after . vaccination. The reporting requirements are different for nianufacturers and health care 
	personnel. Manufacturers are required to report all adverse events that occur after 
	vaccination to VAERS, whereas health-care providers are required to report events that 
	\ 
	appear in the reportable events table on the V AERS website at 
	. 
	http://vaers.hhs.gov/reportable.htm

	In addition to the mandated reporting of events listed on the reportable events table, 
	health care personnel should report to V AERS all events listed in product inserts as 
	contraindications, as well as all clinically significant adverse events, even ifthey are 
	uncertain that the adverse event is related causally to vaccination (6). Persons other 
	than health care personnel also can report adverse events to V AERS. 
	There are 3 ways to report to V AERS: 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	Submit the report online via a secure website at .. .
	https://vaers.hhs.gov/esub/step1


	2. .
	2. .
	Fax a completed VAERS form to 877-721-0366, or 

	3. .
	3. .
	Mail a completed VAERS form to VAERS, P.O. Box 1100, Rockville, MD 20849-1100. 


	AVAERS form can be downloaded from the VAERS website at VAERS forms also can be requested by 21-0366). 
	http://vaers.hhs.gov/resources/vaers form.pd£. 
	e-mail (info@vaers.org), telephone (800-822-7967), or fax (877-7

	National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program 
	The National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program, established by the National 
	Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986 (1), is a no-fault system in which persons thought 
	to have experienced an injury or to have died as a result of administration of a covered 
	vaccine can seek compensation. The program became operational on October 1, 1988, 
	and is intended as an alternative to civil litigation under the traditional tort system in 
	that negligence need not be proven. Claims arising from covered vaccines must first be 
	adjudicated through the program before civil litigation can be pursued. 
	The program relies on the Vaccine Injury Table, which lists the vaccines covered by the 
	program and the injuries (including death), disabilities, illnesses, and conditions for which compensation might be awarded. The table defines the time during which the first symptom or substantial aggravation of an injury must appear after vaccination to be eligible. Successful claimants receive a legal presumption of causation if a condition listed in the table is proven, thus avoiding the need to prove actual causation in an individual case. Claimants also can prevail for conditions not listed in the rep
	http://www.hrsa.gov/vaccinecompensation or 

	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 
	who would like to file a claim for vaccine injury should contact the U.S. Court of Federal Claims (717 Madison Place, N.W., Washington, DC 20005; telephone: 202-357-6400). 
	TABLE 5-1: Rapid overview: Emergent management ofanaphylaxis in infants and childrenCa) 
	Diagnosis is made clinically: 
	Acute management: 
	~ 
	Treatment of refractory symptoms: 
	: 
	The most common signs and symptoms are cutaneous (eg, sudden onset of generalized urticaria, angioedema, flushing, pruritus). However, 10 to 20% ofpatients have no skin findings. 
	Danger signs: Rapid progression ofsymptoms, evidence of r,espiratory distress (e.g., stridor, ""heezing, dyspnea, increased work ofbreathing, retractions, persistent cough, cyanosis), signs ofpoor perfusion, abdominal pain, vomiting, dysrhythmia, hypoten~ion, collapse. 
	The first and most important therapy in anaphylaxis is epinephrine. There are NO absolute contraindications to epinephrine in the setting of anaphylaxis. 
	Airway: Immediate intubation ifevidence of impending airway obstruction from angioedema. Delay may lead to complete obstruction. Intubation can be difficult and should be performed by the most experienced clinician available. Cricothyrotomy may be necessary. 
	IM epinephrine (1 mg/mL preparation): Epinephrine 0.01 mg/kg should be injected intramuscularly in the midouter thigh. For large children (>50 kg), the maximum is o .5 mg per dose. Ifthere is no response or the response is inadequate, the injection can be repeated in 5 to 15 minutes (or more frequently). Ifepinephrine is injected promptly IM, patients respond to one, two, or at most, three injections. Ifsigns ofpoor perfusion are present or symptoms are not responding to epinephrine injections, prepare N ep
	Oxvgen: Give 8 to 10 L/minute via facemask or up to 100% oxygen, as needed. 
	Normal saline rapid bolus: 1i·eat poor perfusion with rapid infusion of20 mL/kg. Reevaluate and repeat fluid boluses (20 mL/kg), as needed. Massive fluid shifts with severe,loss of intravascular volume can occur. Monitor urine output. 
	Albuterol: For bronchospasm resistant to IM epinephrine, give albuterol 0.15 mg/kg (minimum dose: 2.5 mg) in 3 mL saline inhaled via nebulizer. Repeat, as needed. 
	H1 antihistamine: Consider giving diphenhydramine 1 mg/kg (max 40 mg) N. 
	H 2 antihistamine: Consider riving ranitidine 1 mg/kg (max 50 mg) IV. 
	Glucocorticoid: Consider giving methvlprednisolone 1 mg/kg fmax 12s mg) IV. .Monitoring: Continuous noninvasive hemodynamic monitoring and pulse oximetry monitoring .should be performed. Urine output should be monitored in patients receiving IV fluid .resuscitation for severe hypotension or shock. .
	Epinephrine infusion:lb) In patients with inadequate response to IM epinephrine and N saline, give eninephrine continuous infusion at 0.1 to 1 mcg/kg/minute, titrated to effect. Vasopressors:lb) Patients may require large amounts ofN crystalloid to maintain blood pressure. Some patients may require a second vasopressor (in addition to epinephrine). All vasopressors should be given by infusion pump, with the doses titrated continuously according to blood pressure and cardiac rate/function monitored continuou
	IM: intramuscular; N: intravenous. 
	(a) A child is defined as a prepubertal patient weighing less than 40 kg. lbl All patients receiving an infusion of epinephrine and/or another vasopressor require continuo·us noninvasive monitoring of blood pressure, heart rate and function, and oxygen saturation. We suggest that pediatric centers provideinstructions for preparation ofstandard concentrations and also provide charts for established infusion rate for epinephrine and other vasopressors in infants and children. 
	Table 5-2: Rapid overview: Emergency management ofanaphylaxis in adults 
	The most common signs and symptoms are cutaneous 
	(e.g., sudden onset ofgeneralized urticaria, 
	angioedema, flushing, pruritus). However, 10 to 20% of 
	patients have no skin findings. 
	Diagnosis is made clinically: 
	t.. 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Danger signs: 'Rapid progression ofsymptoms, respiratory distress (e.g., stridor, wheezing, dyspnea, increased work of breathing, persistent cough, cyanosis), vomiting, abdominal pain, hypotension, dvsrhvthmia, chest oain, collanse. 
	Acute management: 
	Thefirst and most important treatment in anaphylaxis is epinephrine. 'fhere are NO absolute contraindications to epinephrine in the setting ofanaphvlaxis. Airway: Immediate intubation if evidence ofimpending airway obstruction from angioedema. Delay may lead to complete obstruction. Intubation can be difficult and should be perlormed by the most experienced clinician available. Cricothvrotomv rnav be necessarv. 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Promptly and simultaneously, give: 
	IM epinephrine (1 mg/mL preparation); Give epinephrine 0.3 to 0.5 mg intramuscularly, preferably in the midouter thigh. Can repeat every s to 15 minutes (or more frequently), as needed. Ifepinephrine is .injected promptly IM, most patients respond to one, two, or at most, three doses. Ifsymptoms are not responding to epinephrine injections, prepare 'IV epinephrine for infusion (see below). Place patient in recumbent position, if tolerated, and elevate lower extremities. Oxygen: Give 8 to 10 L/minute via fac
	-
	rapid infusion of 1 to 2 liters IV. Repeat, as needed. .Massive fluid shifts with severe loss of intra vascular .volume can occur. .Albuterol (salbutamol): For bronchospasm resistant to .IM epinephrine, give 2.5 to s mg in 3 mL saline via .nebulizer. Reneat, as needed. .
	Adjunctive therapies:. 
	H1 antihistamine:C•l Consider giving diphenhydramine 2fi to 50 mg 'IV (for relief ofmticaria and itching only). Ifa antihistamine:C•l Consider giving ranitidine so mg 
	N . 
	. Glucocorticoid:C•l Consider giving methylprednisolone 12fimg'IV. Monitoring: Continuous noninvasive hemodynamic monitoring and pulse oximetry monitoring should be perlormed. Urine output should be monitored in patients receiving 'IV fluid resuscitation for severe hypotension or shock. 
	Treatment of refractory symptoms: 
	Epinephrine infusion : For patients with inadequate response to IM epinephrine and 'IV saline, give epinephrine continuous infusion, beginning at 0.1 
	mcg/kg/minute by infusion pump . Titrate the dose continuously according to blood pressure, cardiac rate and function, and oxve:enation. Vasopressors: Some patients may require a second vasopressor (in addition to epinephrine). All vasopressors should be given by infusion pump, with the doses titrated continuously according to blood pressure and cardiac rate/function and oxygenation monitored bv nulse oximetrv. Glucagon: Patients on beta blockers may not respond to epinephrine and can be given glucagon 1 to
	Figure
	Figure
	IM: intramuscular; IV: intravenous. , .<•) These medications should not be used as initial or sole treatment. .Cb) All patients receiving an infusion ofepinephrine and another vasopressor require continuous noninvasive .monitoring of blood pressure, heart rate and function, and oxygen saturation. · .Cc) For example, the initial infusion rate for a 70 kg patient would be 7 mcg/minute. This is consistent with the .recommended range for non...:.weight-based dosingfor adults, which is 2 to 10 mcg/minute. Non-we
	Reproduced with permission from: Campbell RL, Kelso JM. Anaphylaxis: Emergency treatment. In: .UpToDate, Post TW (Ed), UpToDate; Walth~m, MA. (Accessed on 03/08/2017) Copyright© 2017 .UpToDate, Inc. For more information visit . .Source: (37). .
	www.uptodate.com

	REFERENCES .
	REFERENCES .
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act, 42 U.S.C. Sect. 3ooaa-1 to 3ooaa-34 (1986). 

	2. .
	2. .
	Opel DJ, Heritage J, Taylor JA, et al. The architecture ofprovider-parent vaccine discussions at health supervision visits. Pediatrics. 2013:2013-2037. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2013-2037 

	3. .
	3. .
	CDC. Update: vaccine side effects, adverse reactions, contraindications, and precautions. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1996;45(RR-12):1-35. 

	4. .
	4. .
	CDC. Syncope after vaccination-United States, January 2005-July 2007. MMWRMorbMortal Wldy Rep. 2008;57(17):457-460. 

	5. .
	5. .
	Bohlke K~ Davis RL, Marcy SM, et al. Risk of anaphylaxis after vaccination of children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4):815-820. DOI: 10.1542/peds.112-4.815 

	6. .
	6. .
	Kroger A, Atkinson W, Pickering L. General immunization practices. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 6th ed. China: Elsevier Saunders; 2013:88-111. 

	7. .
	7. .
	Grabenstein JD. <;::Iinical management of hypersensitivities to vaccine components. Hospital Pharmacy. 1997;32:77-87. 

	8. .
	8. .
	Grabenstein JD. ImmunoFacts: Vaccines and Immunologic Drugs-2013. 38th ed. St. Louis, MO: Lippincott Williams &Wilkins; 2012. 

	9. .
	9. .
	Lieberman P, Nicklas RA, Oppenheimer J, et al. The diagnosis and management of anaphylaxis practice parameter: 2010 update. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;126(3)=477-480.e471-442. DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.06.022 

	10. .
	10. .
	Kelso JM, Greenhawt MJ, Li JT, et al. Adverse reactions to vaccines practice parameter 2012 update. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2012;130(1):25-43. DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.04.003 

	11. .
	11. .
	Ruggeberg JU, Gold MS, Bayas JM, et al. Anaphylaxis_: case definition and guidelines for data collection, analysis, and presentation of immunization safety data. Vaccine. 2007;25(31):5675-5684. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.02.064 

	12. .
	12. .
	Sampson HA, Munoz-Furlong A, Bock SA, et al. Symposium on the definition and management of anaphylaxis: summary report. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005;115(3):584-591. DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.01.009 

	13. .
	13. .
	Wood RA, Berger M, Dreskin SC, et al. An algorithm for treatment ofpatients with hypersensitivity reactions after vaccines. Pediatrics. 2008;122(3) :e771777. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2008-1002 

	14. .
	14. .
	Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, Bresee JS, Broder KR, Karron RA. Prevention and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee OJ?-Immunization Practices, United States, 2015-16 influenza season. MMWRMorbMortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(30):818-825. 

	15. .
	15. .
	Erlewyn-Lajeunesse M, Brathwaite N, Lucas JS, Warner JO. Recommendations for the administration of influenza vaccine in children allergic to egg. BMJ. 2009;339:b3680. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b3680 

	16. .
	16. .
	Mosimann B, Stoll B, Francillon C, PecoudA. Yellow fever vaccine and egg allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1995;95(5 Pt 1):1064. DOI: 10.1016/Soo916749(95)70118-4 

	17. .
	17. .
	Munoz-Cano R, Sanchez-Lopez J, Bartra J, Valero A. Yellow fever vaccine and egg allergy: really a problem? Allergy. 2010;65(4):533-534 .. DOI: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2009.02205.x 

	18. .
	18. .
	Sanofi Pasteur Inc. Yellow fever vaccine: 1'.F-VAX®[Paclcage insert]. Swiftwater, PA: Sanofi Pasteur Inc.; 2015. Available at: / downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vaccines/ Approved Products/UCM142831.pdf. Accessed 02 Feb 2017. 
	http://www.fda.gov


	19. .
	19. .
	Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4) :1-40. 

	20. .
	20. .
	Watson JC, Hadler SC, Dykewicz (_;A, ReefS, Phillips L. Measles, mumps, and rubella-vaccine use and strategies for elimination of measles, rubella, and congenital rubella syndrome and control of mumps: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1998;47(RR-8):1-57. 

	21. .
	21. .
	Kelso JM, Jones RT, Yunginger JW. Anaphylaxis to measles, mumps, and .rubella vaccine mediated by IgE to gelatin. J Allergy Clin Immunol. .1993;91(4):867-872. DOI: 10.1016/0091-6749(93)90344-F .

	22. .
	22. .
	Sakaguchi M, Nakayama T, Inouye S. Food allergy to gelatin in children with systemic immediate-type reactions, including anaphylaxis, to vaccines. J Allergy Clinim.munol. 1996;98(6 Pt 1):1058-1061. DOI: 10.1016/Soo916749(96)80191-6 

	23. .
	23. .
	Sakaguchi M, Ogura H, Inouye S. IgE antibody to gelatin in children with immediate-type reactions to measles and mumps vaccines. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1995;96(4):563-565. DOI: 10.1016/Soo91-6749(95)70304-7 

	24. .
	24. .
	Sakaguchi M, Yamanaka T, Ikeda K, et al. IgE-mediated systemic reactions to gelatin included in the varicella vaccine. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1997;99(2):263-264. DOI: 10.1016/Soo91-6749(97)70108-8 

	25. .
	25. .
	Rietschel RL, Bernier R. Neomycin sensitivity and the MMR vaccine. JAMA. 1981;245(6):571. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1981.03310310017008 

	26. .
	26. .
	Elliman D, Dhanraj B. Safe MMR vaccination despite neomycin allergy. Lancet. 1991;337(8737):365. DOI: 10.1016/0140-6736(91)90995-2 

	27. .
	27. .
	Kwittken PL, Rosen S, Sweinberg SK. MMR vaccine and neomycin allergy. Am J Dis Child. 1993;147(2):128-129. DOI: 10.1001/archpedi.1993.02160260018005 

	28. .
	28. .
	Aberer W. Vaccination despite thimerosal sensitivity. Contact Dermatitis. 1991;24(1):6-10. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.1991.tbo1621.x 

	29. .
	29. .
	Cox NH, Forsyth A. Thiomersal allergy and vaccination reactions. Contact Dermatitis. 1988;18(4):229-233. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.1988.tbo2809.x 

	30. .
	30. .
	Kirkland LR. Ocular sensitivity to thimerosal: a problem with hepatitis B vaccine? South Med J. 1990;83(5):4'97-499. 

	31. .
	31. .
	Zheng W, Dreskin SC. Thimerosal in influenza vaccine: an immediate hypersensitivity reaction. AnnAllergy Asthma Immunol. 2007;99(6):574


	. .' 
	575. DOI: 10.1016/s1081-1206(10)60391-2 
	32. 
	32. 
	32. 
	Wantke F, Demmer CM, Gotz M, Jarisch R. Contact dermatitis from thimerosal. Contact Dermatitis. 1994;30(2):115. DOI: 10.1111/j.16000536.1994.tboo580.x 

	33. .
	33. .
	Moller H. All these positive tests to thimerosal. Contact Dermatitis. 1994;31(4) :209-213. DOI: 10.1111/j .1600-0536.1994.tbo1989.x 

	34. .
	34. .
	Russell M, Pool V, Kelso JM, Tomazic-Jezic VJ. Vaccination of persons allergic to latex: a review ofsafet.y data in the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS). Vaccine. 2004;23(5):664-667. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.06.042 

	35. .
	35. .
	Lear JT, English JS. Anaphylaxis after hepatitis B vaccination. Lancet. 1995;345(8959):1249. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(95)92039-o 

	36. .
	36. .
	Slater JE. Latex allergy. J Allergy Clin.Immunol. 1994;94(2 Pt 1):139-149; quiz 150. DOI: 10.1053/ai.1994.v94.a55437 

	37. .
	37. .
	Adapted from: Simons FER. Anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;-125:S161. 



	6. Vaccine Administration 
	6. Vaccine Administration 
	Updates 
	Updates 
	Major changes to the best practice guidance include 1) allowances for alternate administration route (subcutaneous instead of intramuscular) for hepatitis A vaccine and 
	2) an age cutoff of 12 years through 17 years of age for validating a dose of intradermal influenza vaccine ifgiven in error. 

	Infection Control and Sterile Technique 
	Infection Control and Sterile Technique 
	General Precautions 
	General Precautions 
	Persons administering vaccinations should follow· appropriate precautions to minimize risk for disease exposure and spread. Hands should be cleansed with an alcohol-based waterless antiseptic hand rub or washed with soap and water before preparing vaccines for administration and between each patient contact CJ.): occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) regulations do not require gloves to be worn when administering vaccinations, unless persons administering-vaccinations have open lesions on the
	Vaccine Administration: Preparation and Timely Disposal 
	Vaccines should be drawn up in a designated clean medication area that is not adjacent to areas where potentially contaminated items are placed. Multi-dose vials to he used for more than one patient should not be kept or accessed in the immediate patient treatment area. This is to· prevent inadvertent contamination of the vial through direct or indirect contact with potentially contaminated surfaces or equipment that could then lead to infections in subsequent patients (3). 
	Different vaccines should never be mixed in the same syringe unless specifically licensed for such use (4). Single-dose vials and manufacturer-filled syringes are designed for single-dose administration and should be discarded ifvaccine has been withdrawn or reconstituted and subsequently not used within the time frame specified by the manufacturer. Syringes that are prefilled by the manufacturer and activated (i.e., syringe cap removed or needle attached) but unused should be discarded at the end of ~he cl
	ACIP discourages the routine practice ofproviders' prefilling syringes for several reasons. Because the i:najority ofvaccines have a similar appearance after being drawn into a syringe, prefilling might result in administration errors. Because unused prefilled syringes also typically must be discarded if not used within the same day that they are filled, vaccine wastage might occur. The FDA does not license administration syringes for vaccine storage. 
	In certain circumstances in which a single vaccine type is.being used (e.g., in preparation for a community influenza vaccination campaign), filling a small number (10 or fewer) of syringes may be considered (5). The doses should be administered as soon as possible after filling, by the same person who filled the syringes. Unused syringes that are prefilled by the manufacturer and activated (i.e., syringe cap removed or needle attached) should be discarded at the end of the clinic day. 
	Safe Use ofNeedles and Syringes 
	·Needles and syringes used for vaccine injections must be sterile and disposable. A 
	separate n eedle and syringe should be used for each injection. Changing needles between drawing vaccine from a vial and injecting it into a recipient is not necessary 
	unless the needle has been damaged or contaminated ( 6) .. 
	Bloodborne diseases (e.g., hepatitis B, hepatitis C, human immunodeficiency virus [HIV]) are occupational hazards for clinicians and other health-care providers. The 
	Bloodborne diseases (e.g., hepatitis B, hepatitis C, human immunodeficiency virus [HIV]) are occupational hazards for clinicians and other health-care providers. The 
	Needlestick Safety and Prevention Act (2) was enacted in 2000 to reduce the incidence of needlestick injury and the consequent risk for bloodborne diseases acquired from patients. The act directed OSHA to strengthen its existing bloodborne pathogen standards. The revised standards became effective in 2001 (2). These federal regulations require the use of engineering .and work practice controls to eliminate or minimize employee exposure to bloodborne pathogens (see ). Engineering controls means controls (e.g
	https://www.osha.gov/SLTC/bloodbornepathogens/standards.html
	https://www.osha.gov/pls/oshaweb/owadisp.show_document?p_table==STANDARDS


	. p_id=10051). Needle-shielding or needle-free devices that might satisfy the 
	· occupational safety regulations for administering injectable vaccines are available in the United States (7-8). The regulations also require maintenance ofrecords documenting injuries caused by needles and other medical sharp objects and that nonmanagerial employees be involved in the evaluation and selection of safety-engineered devices before they are procured. Additional information about implementation and enforcement of these regulations is available from OSHA. 
	To prevent inadvertent needlestick injury or reuse, safety mechanisms should be deployed after use and needles and syringes shm;ild be discarded immediately in labeled, puncture-proof containers located in the same room where the vaccine is administered (5). Used needles should never be recapp~d. 


	Route of Administration 
	Route of Administration 
	Injectable Route 
	Injectable Route 
	Routes of administration are recommended by the manufacturer for each immunobiologic (Table 6-1). With the exceptions ofbacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) vaccine and smallpox vaccine (administered intraepidermally), injectable vaccines are 
	Routes of administration are recommended by the manufacturer for each immunobiologic (Table 6-1). With the exceptions ofbacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) vaccine and smallpox vaccine (administered intraepidermally), injectable vaccines are 
	administered by the intramuscular, subcutaneous, or intradermal route. Deviation from the recommended route of administration might reduce vaccine efficacy (9, 10) or increase the risk for local adverse reactions (11-13) . 

	The method of administration of injectable vaccines is determined, in part, by the 
	inclusion of adjuvants in some vaccines. An adjuvant is a vaccine component distinct 
	from the antigen that enhances the immune response to the antigen, but might also 
	increase risk of adverse reactions. To decrease risk oflocal adverse events, inactivated 
	vaccines containing an adjuvant should be injected into a muscle. Administering a 
	vaccine containing an adjuvant either subcutaneously or intradermally can cause local 
	irritation, induration, skin discoloration, inflammation, and granuloma formation. 
	Intramuscular Injections 
	Intramuscular Injections 
	Needle Length 
	Needle Length 
	Injectable immunobiologics should be administered where local, neural, vascular, or 
	tissue injury is unlikely. Use oflonger needles has been associated with less redness or 
	swelling than occurs with shorter needles because of injection into deeper muscle mass 
	(11). Appropriate needle length depends on age and body mass. Injection technique is 
	the most important parameter to ensure efficient intramuscular vaccine delivery. 
	For all intramuscular injections, the needle should be long enough to reach the muscle 
	mass and prevent vaccine from seeping into subcutaneous tissue, but not so long as to involve underlying nerves, blood vessels, or bone (10,14-16) . Vaccinators should be familiar with the anatomy of the area into which they are injecting yaccine. Intramuscular injections are administered at a 90-degree angle to the skin, preferably into the anterolateral aspect ofthe thigh or the deltoid muscle of the upper arm, depending on the age ofthe patient (Table 6-2). 
	The needle gauge for intramuscular injection is 22-25 gauge. A decision on needle length and site of injection must be made for each person on the basis of the size of the muscle, the thickness of adipose tissue at the injection site, the volume of the material to 
	The needle gauge for intramuscular injection is 22-25 gauge. A decision on needle length and site of injection must be made for each person on the basis of the size of the muscle, the thickness of adipose tissue at the injection site, the volume of the material to 
	be administered, injection technique, and the depth below the muscle surface into which the material is to be injected (Figure 1). Some experts allow intramuscular injection with 

	. a 5/s-inch needle but ONLY if the skin is stretched flat (16). Ifthe subcutaneous and muscle tissue are bunched to minimize the chance of strildng bone (14), a 1-inch needle or larger is required to ensure intramuscular administration. Aspiration before injection of vaccines or toxoids (i.e., pulling back on the syringe plunger after needle insertion but before injection) is not necessary because no large blood vessels are present at the recommended injection sites, and a process that includes aspiration 
	Infants (Aged <12 Months) 
	For the majority ofinfants, the anterolateral aspect of the thigh is the recommended site for injection because it provides comparatively larger muscle mass than the deltoid (Figure 2) (18). In certain circumstances (e.g., physical obstruction to other sites and no reasonable indication to defer doses), the gluteal muscle can be used. If the gluteal muscle must be used, care should be taken to define the the majority ofinfants, a 1-inch needle is sufficient to penetrate the thigh muscle. 
	anatomic landmarks.Ca) For 

	Toddlers (Aged 12 Months~2 Years) 
	For toddlers, the anterolateral thigh muscle is preferred, and when this site is used, the needle should be at least 1 inch long. The deltoid muscle can be used ifthe muscle mass is adequate. If2 vaccines are to be administered in a single limb, they should be spaced an inch apart (4,19). 
	Children (Aged 3-10 Years) 
	The deltoid muscle is preferred for children aged 3-10 years (18); the needle length for deltoid site injections can range from /s to 1 inch on the basis of technique. The anterolateral thigh can also be used (20). In this case the needle length should be 1inch to 1.25 inches. Knowledge ofbody mass can be useful for .estimating the appropriate needle length (21). 
	5

	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 
	Young Adolescents (Aged 11-18 years) 
	Thmuscle is preferred for adolescents 11-18 years of age. The anterolateral 
	e delta.id 

	thigh can also be used. For injection into the anterolateral thigh, most adolescents will 
	require a 1-1.5-inch needle to ensure intramuscular administration (21). 
	Adults (Aged ~19 Years) 
	For adults, the deltoid muscle is recommended for routine intramuscular vaccinations 
	(18) (Figure 3). The anterolateral thigh also can be used. For adults a measurement of body mass/weight is allowable prior to vaccination, understanding that resources to measure body mass/weight are not available in all clinical settings. For men and women who weigh <130 lbs ( <60 kg), a 5/a-inch needle is sufficient to ensure.intramuscular injection in the deltoid muscle if the injection is made at a 90-degree angle and the tissue is not bunched. For men and women who weigh 130-152 lbs (60-70 kg), a 1-inc
	Subcutaneous Injections 
	Subcutaneous Injections 
	Subcutaneous injections are administered at a 45-degree angle, usually into the thigh for infants aged <12 months and in the upper-outer triceps area ofpersons aged ~12 months. Subcutaneous injections may be administered into the upper-outer triceps area of an infant ifnecessary. A 5/a-inch, 23-to 25-gauge needle should be inserted into the subcutaneous tissue (Figures 4 and 5) (4). 

	Intradermal Injections 
	Intradermal Injections 
	One brand ofinjectable influenza vaccine is licensed to be administered intradermally. It is packaged as a pre-filled 3/50-inch microneedle injector system and approved for persons 18-64 years of age. The approved site is the skin over the deltoid muscle. 
	Intradermal influenza vaccine injection of someone 12-17 years of age can be counted as 
	a valid dose on the presumption that their skin thickness is similar to someone 18-64 
	years of age. A dose of intradermal vaccine given to someone younger than 12 years of 
	age or older than 64 years of age should not be counted as valid (personal 
	communication with manufacturer). 




	Oral Route 
	Oral Route 
	Rotavirus and oral typhoid vaccines are the only vaccines administered orally in the 
	United States. Oral typhoid capsules should be administered as directed by the 
	manufacturer. The capsules should notbe opened or mixed with any other substance. 
	Rotavirus vaccines are licensed for infants. There are 2 brands of rotavirus vaccine, and 
	they have different types of applicators. Providers should consult package inserts for 
	details. A dose of rotavirus vaccine need not be repeated if the vaccine is spit up or 
	vomited. The infant should receive the remaining recommended doses of rotavirus 
	vaccine following_the routine schedule (5). 

	Intranasal Route 
	Intranasal Route 
	LAIV is approved for healthy nonpregnant persons aged 2-49 years and is the only vaccine administered by the intranasal route. The administration device is anasal sprayer with a dose-divider clip that allows introduction of one o .1-mL spray into each naris. The tip should be inserted slightly into the naris before administration. Even if the person coughs or sneezes immediately after administration or the dose is expelled any other way, the vaccine dos·e need not be repeated (5) . 
	Severely immunosuppressed persons (i.e., those who require care in a protected environment, e.g., bone marrow transplant patients, patients with severe combined immunodeficiency disease) should not administer LAIV. It would be uncommon for persons with these conditions to be in a role administering vaccines. Other persons at increased risk for influenza complications can administer LAIV. These include persons 
	Severely immunosuppressed persons (i.e., those who require care in a protected environment, e.g., bone marrow transplant patients, patients with severe combined immunodeficiency disease) should not administer LAIV. It would be uncommon for persons with these conditions to be in a role administering vaccines. Other persons at increased risk for influenza complications can administer LAIV. These include persons 
	with underlying medical conditions placing them at higher risk or who are likely to be at risk, including pregnant women, persons with asthma, and persons aged ::::50 years (22). 



	Multiple Injections 
	Multiple Injections 
	Ifmultiple vaccines are administered ·at a single visit, administer each preparation at a 
	different anatomic site (23). The location of all injection sites with the corresponding 
	vaccine injected should be documented in each patient's medical record. Health-care 
	practices should consider using a vaccination site map so that all persons administering 
	vaccines.routinely use a particular anatomic site for each particular vaccine. 
	For infants and younger children, ifmore than 2 vaccines are injected in a single limb, the thigh is the preferred site because of the greater muscle mass; the injections should be sufficiently separated (i.e., ::::1 inch if possible) so that any local reactions can be differentiated (8,24). For older children and adults, the deltoid muscle can be used for more than one intramuscular injection. Ifa vaccine and an immune globulin preparation are administered simultaneously (e.g., Td/Tdap and tetanus immune g

	Jet Injections 
	Jet Injections 
	Jet injectors are needle-free devices that pressurize liquid medication, forcing it through 
	a nozzle orifice into a narrow stream capable of penetrating skin to deliver a drug or vaccine into intradermal, subcutaneous, or intramuscular tissues (27,28). Immune responses generated byjet injectors against both attenuated and inactivated viral and bacterial antigens are usually equivalent to, and occasionally greater than, immune r~sponses induced by needle injection. However, local reactions or injuries (e.g., skin laceration, transient neuropathy, hematoma) are sometimes more frequent on delivery of
	Multiple use jet injectors using the same nozzle for consecutive injections without intervening sterilization were used in mass vaccination campaigns from the 1950s through the 1990s (28); however, these were found to be unsafe because ofthe possibility of bloodborne pathogen transmission (29-32) and should not be used. A new generation of jet injectors with disposable cartridges and syringes has been developed since the 1990s. With a new, sterile dose chamber and nozzle for each patient and correct use, th
	Methods for Alleviating Discomfort and Pain Associated with Vaccination 
	Comfort measures, such as distraction (e.g., playing music o~ pretending to blow away 
	the pain), cooling of the injection site(s), topical analgesia, ingestion of sweet liquids, 
	breastfeeding, swaddling, and slow, lateral swaying can help infants or children cope 
	with the discomfort associated with vaccination (35-37). Pretreatment (30-60 minutes before injection) with a 5% topical licl.ocaine-prilocaine emulsion might decrease the 
	pain ofvaccination by causing superficial anesthesia (38,39). Evidence indicates that this cream does not interfere with the immune response to MMR (40). Topical lidocaine-prilocaine emulsion should not be used on infants aged <12 months who are receiving treatment with methemoglobin-inducing agents (e.g., acetaminophen, amyl nitrate, nitroprusside, dapsone) because of the possible development of methemoglobinemia (41). Use of a topical refrigerant (vapocoolant) spray immediately before vaccination can redu
	of children with previous febrile seizures have not demonstrated antipyretics to be .effective in the prevention of febrile seizures (43). .
	Clinical Implications of Nonstandard Vaccination Practices 
	Best practice guidance for route, sit_e, and dosage ofimmunobiologics is derived from data from clinical trials, practical experience, normal periodicity of health-care visits, and theoretical considerations. ACIP discourages variations from the recommended route, site, volume, or number of doses of any vaccine. 
	Variation from the recommended route and site can result in inadequate protection. In adults (but not in infants) (44), the immunogenicity of hepatitis Bis substantially lower when the gluteal rather than the deltoid site is used for administration (6). Hepatitis B administered intradermally might result in a lower seroconversion rate and final titer of hepatitis B surface antibody than when administered by the deltoid intramuscular route (45,46). Hepatitis B administered by any route other than intramuscul
	Live, attenuated injectable vaccines ( e.g., MMR, varicella, yellow fever) and certain inactivated vaccines ( e.g., meningococcal polysaccharide) are recommended by the manufacturers to be administered by subcutaneous injection. PPSV23and IPV are recommended by the manufacturer to be administered by the subcutaneous or intramuscular route. Response to vaccines recommended by the subcutaneous route is unlikely to be affected ifthe vaccines are administered by the intramuscular rather than subcutaneous route.
	Administering volumes smaller than recommended (e.g., inappropriately divided doses) might result in inadequate protection. Using reduced doses administered at multiple vaccination visits that equal a full dose or using smaller divided doses is not recommended ( 4). Any vaccination using less than the standard dose should not be counted, and the person should be revaccinated according to age unless serologic testing indicates that an adequate response has developed. However, if2 half-volume formuladons of v
	(a) Ifthe gluteal muscle is chosen, injection should be administered lateral and superior to a line between the posterior superior iliac 
	spine and the greater trochanter or in the ventrogluteal site, the center ofa triangle bounded by the anterior superior iliac spine, the tubercle ofthe iliac crest, and the upper border ofthe greater trochanter. 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	TABLE 6-1. Dose and route ofadministration for selected vaccines 
	--
	Vaccine 
	Vaccine 
	Route

	Dose 
	Figure
	DTaP, DT, Td, Tdap 
	DTaP, DT, Td, Tdap 
	IM

	o.5mL 
	DTaP-HepB-IPV 
	DTaP-HepB-IPV 
	IM

	o.5mL 
	DTaP/Hib . o.5mL 
	IM 
	DTaP-IPV/Hib 
	DTaP-IPV/Hib 
	IM 

	o.5mL 
	DTaP-IPV 
	DTaP-IPV 
	IM

	o.5mL 
	Hib 
	o.5mL 
	IM 
	Hib-MenCY 
	Hib-MenCY 
	IM

	o.5mL 
	HepA 
	HepA 
	s;18 years: 0.5 mL 

	IM ::c:19 years: 1.0 mL 
	s;19 years: 0.5 mL(a)
	s;19 years: 0.5 mL(a)
	HepB 

	IM ::c:20 years: 1.0 mL 
	HepA-HepB 
	HepA-HepB 
	HepA-HepB 
	::c:18 years: 1.0 mL 

	IM 

	LAIV 
	0.2 mL divided-dose bet.ween 
	Intranasal spray 
	nares 
	IIV 
	IM ::c:3 years: 0.5 mL 18-64 years: 0.1 mL 
	IM ::c:3 years: 0.5 mL 18-64 years: 0.1 mL 
	IM ::c:3 years: 0.5 mL 18-64 years: 0.1 mL 
	6-35 months: 0.25 mL or 0.5 mL 

	ID 

	MMR 
	MMR 
	Subcut

	o.5mL 
	MMRV 
	o.5mL 
	Subcut 
	MenACWY 
	o.5mL 
	IM 
	I 
	MPSV4 
	MPSV4 
	Subcut

	o.5mL 
	PCV13 
	o.5mL 
	IM 
	PPSV23 
	o.5mL 
	IM orSubcut 
	HPV 
	HPV 
	IM

	o.5mL 
	IPV 
	o.5mL 
	IM or Subcut 
	Rotavirus (RV1 or RVs) 
	Rotavirus (RV1 or RVs) 
	Rotavirus (RV1 or RVs) 
	(1.0 mL or 2.0 mL) 
	Oral 

	Varicella 
	Varicella 
	o.5mL 
	Subcut 

	Herpes zoster 
	Herpes zoster 
	o.65mL 
	Subcut 

	Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus infl.uenzae type b; HPV = human papillomavirus; IIV = inactivated influenza vaccine; IM = intramuscular; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; Men CY = bivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine component; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = me
	Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus infl.uenzae type b; HPV = human papillomavirus; IIV = inactivated influenza vaccine; IM = intramuscular; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; Men CY = bivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine component; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = me


	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	TABLE 6-2. Needle length and injection site ofIM injections for children .aged ~18 years (by age) and adults aged ~19 years (bysex andweight) .
	Age group 
	Age group 
	Needle length 

	Injection site Children (birth-18 years) N eonatesCa) 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	5/8 inch (16 mm)Cb) 
	Anterolateral thigh .Infants, 1-12 months .
	Figure
	1 inch (25 mm) 
	Anterolateral thigh .Toddlers, 1-2 years .
	Anterolateral thigh<c) mm) 
	5/8Cb)-1 inch (16-25 
	1-1.25 inch (25-32 
	Deltoid muscle of arm mm) 
	Children, 3-10 years 
	Deltoid muscle of arm<c) mm) 
	1-1.25 inches (25-32 
	5/8Cb)-1 inch (16-25 
	Anterolateral thigh mm) 
	5/8Cb)-1 inch (16-25 
	Deltoid muscle of armCc) mm) Children, 11-18 years 1-1.5 inches (25-38 
	Anterolateral thigh mm) 
	Adults (219 years) 
	Figure
	Men and women, <60 kg (130 lbs) 
	1inch (25 mm)cd) 
	Deltoid muscle of arm Men and women, 60-70 kg (130
	Figure
	1inch (25 mm) .152 lbs) .
	Figure
	Men, 70-118 kg (152-260 lbs) 
	1-1.5 inches (25-38 .mm) .Women, 70-90 kg (152-2(?0 lbs) .
	Figure
	Figure
	Men, >118 kg (260 lbs) 
	1.5 inches (38 mm) .Women, >90 kg (200 lbs) .
	Figure
	Abbreviation: IM= intramuscular. Som·ce: (14). 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	First 28 days oflife. .Cb) Ifskin is stretched tightly and subcutaneous tissues are not bunched. .

	(c) 
	(c) 
	Preferred site. .Cd) Some experts recommend a 5/8-inch needle for men and women who weigh <60 kg. .


	Figure 1. Intramuscular needle insertion 
	Dermis --~~~,_:_:.:~=-"=·...~~~.;;.!!,,l.,=4-"'-'!.!.tl.'·' · 
	Fatty tissue 
	(subcutaneous) 
	Muscle tissue ~ 
	Source: Adapted from California Immunization Branch. 
	Alternate Text: This drawing shows intramuscular needle insertion into a crosssection of sldn. The needle is inserted at a go-degree angle and penetrates the dermis, fatty tissue (subcutaneous), and muscle tissue. 
	Figure 2. Intramuscular/subcutaneous site of administration: anterolateral thigh 
	Source: Adapted from Minnesota Department of Health. 
	Alternate Text: This drawing shows a mother holding an infant. The anterolateral aspect of the infant's thigh is shaded, showing the proper site for intramuscular/subcutaneous vaccine adminis_tration. 
	Figure 3. Intramuscular site ofadministration: deltpid 
	Source: Adapted from Minnesota Department of Health. 
	Alternate Text: This line drawing is a side view of an adult. The deltoid muscle of the arm is shaded, showing the proper site for intramuscular vaccine administration. 
	' 
	Figure 4. Subcutaneous site ofadministration: triceps 
	: I 
	Source: _Adapted from the Minnesota Department of Health. 
	Alternate Text: This line drawing is a rear/dorsal view of an adult. The triceps muscle ofthe arm is shaded, showing the proper site for subcutaneous vaccine administration. 
	45'angle""' Dermis ----tlll"• P,~'-,--'"-=="-,:;...:....-..,;i,w,,=-=-=;;.,e'-½'),=e=i. 
	Figure 5. Subcutaneous needle insertion 
	fatty tissue (subcutaneou~} 
	Musde tissue -----11o-; 
	Source: Adapted from California Immunization Branch. 
	Alternate Text: This drawing shows subcutaneous needle insertion into a crosssection of skin. The needle is inserted at a 45-degree angle and penetrates the dermis and fatty tissue (subcutaneou~) but not the muscle tissue. 
	REFERENCES 
	REFERENCES 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	Boyce JM, Pittet D. Guideline for hand hygiene in health-care settings. Recommendations ofthe Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee and the HICPAC/SHEA/ APIC/IDSA Hand Hygiene Task Force. MMWRRecommRep. 2002;51(RR-16):1-45, quiz CE41-44. 

	2. .
	2. .
	Occupational Health and Safety Administration. Occupational exposure to bloodborne pathogens; needlesticks and other sharps injuries; Final Rule (29 CFR Part 1910). Fed Regist. 2001;66(12) :5318-5325. 

	3. .
	3. .
	Siegel J, Rhinehart E, Jackson M, Chiarello L, the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. 2007 guidelinefor isolation precautions: preventing transmission ofinfectious agents in healthcare settings Atlanta, GA: CDC;2007. 

	4. .
	4. .
	CDC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practice's (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1994;43(RR-1):1-38. 

	5. .
	5. .
	Kroger AT, Sumaya CV, Pickering LK, Atkinson WL. General recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2011:160. 

	6. .
	6. .
	Atkinson WL, Pickering LK, Schwartz B, Weniger BG, Iskander JK, Watson JC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and the American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2002;51(RR2):1-35. 

	7. .
	7. .
	Drucker E, Alcabes PG, Marx PA. The injection century: massive unsterile injections and the emergence of human pathogens. Lancet. 2001;358(9297):1989-1992. DOI: 10.1016/so140-6736(01)06967-7 

	8. .
	8. .
	International Health Care Worker Safety Center. List ofsafety-engineered sharp devices and other products designed to prevent occupational exposures to bloodborne pathogens. 2003; 


	/epinet/safetydevice.html. Accessed 07 Feb 2017. 
	https://www.medicalcenter.virginia.edu

	9. .
	9. .
	9. .
	Shaw FE, Jr., Guess HA, Roets JM, et al. Effect of anatomic injection site, age and smoking on the immune response to hepatitis B vaccination. Vaccine. 1989;7(5):425-430. DOI: 10.1016/0264-410X(89)90157-6 

	10. 
	10. 
	Zuckerman JN. The importance ofinjecting vaccines into muscle. Different patients need different needle sizes. BMJ. 2000;321(7271):1237-1238. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.321.7271.1237 

	11. .
	11. .
	Ipp MM, Gold R, Goldbach M, et al. Adverse reactions to diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis-polio vaccination at 18 months of age: effect of injection site and needle length. Pediatrics. 1989;83(5):679-682. 

	12. .
	12. .
	Michaels L, Poole RW. Injection granuloma of the buttock. CanMedAssoc J. 1970;102(6):626-628. 

	13. .
	13. .
	Haramati N, Lorans R, Lutwin M, Kaleya RN. Injection granulomas. Intramuscle or intrafat? Arch Fam Med. 1994;3(2):146-148. 

	14. .
	14. .
	Bergeson PS, Singer SA, Kaplan AM. Intramuscular injections in children. Pediatrics. 1982;70(6):944-948. 

	15. .
	15. .
	Poland GA, BorrudA, Jacobson RM, et al. Determination of deltoid fat pad thickness. Implications for needle length in adult immunization. JAMA. 1997;277(21):1709-1711. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1997.03540450065037 

	16. .
	16. .
	Groswasser J, Kahn A, Bouche B, Hanquinet S, Perlmuter N, Hessel L. Needle length and injection technique for efficient intramuscular vaccine delivery in infants and children evaluated through an ultrasonographic determination of subcutaneous and muscle layer thickness. Pediatrics. 1997;100(3 Pt 1):400403. DOI: 10.1542/peds.100.3-400 

	17. .
	17. .
	Ipp M, Taddio A, Sam J, Gladbach M, Parkin PC. Vaccine-related pain: randomised controlled trial of two injection techniques. Arch Dis Child. _2007;92(12):1105-1108. DOI: 10.1136/adc.2007.118695 

	18. 
	18. 
	CDC. Recommendation ofthe Immunization Practices Advisory Committee: general recommendations on immunization MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1983;32(1):1-16. 

	19. .
	19. .
	Kroger AT, Atkinson WL, Marcuse EK, Pickering LK. General recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advis01y Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-15):1-48. 

	20. .
	20. .
	Jackson LA, Yu 0, Nelson JC, et al. Injection site and risk of medically attended local reactions to acellular pertussis vaccine. Pediatrics. 2011;127(3):e581-587. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2010-1886 

	21. .
	21. .
	Middleman AB, Anding R, Tung C. Effect of needle length when immunizing obese adolescents with hepatitis B vaccine. Pediatrics. 2010;125(3) :e508-512. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2009-1592 

	22. .
	22. .
	Fiore AE, Uyeki TM, Broder K, et al. Prevention and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), 2010. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-8):1-62. 

	23. .
	23. .
	CDC. General recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Public Health Service Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 1976;25(44):1-3. 

	24. .
	24. .
	Scheifele D, Bjornson G, Barreto L, Meekison W, Guasparini R. Controlled trial ofHaemophilus influenzae type B diphtheria toxoid conjugate combined with diphtheria, tetanus and pertussis vaccines, in 18-month-old childrnn, including comparison of arm versus thigh injection. Vaccine. 1992;10(7):455460. DOI: 10.1016/0264-410X(92)90394-Y 

	25. .
	25. .
	CDC. Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis: recommendations for vaccine use and other preventive measures. Recommendations of the Immunization Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR10) :1-28. \ 

	26. .
	26. .
	Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization strategy to eliminate transmission ofhepatitis B virus infection in the United States: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. MMWRRecommRep. 2005;54(RR-16):1-31. 


	' ' 
	27. .
	27. .
	27. .
	Hingson RA, Davis HS, Rosen M. Historical development ofjet injection and envisioned uses in mass immunization and mass therapy based upon 2 decades experience. Mil Med. 1963;128(6):516-524. 

	28. .
	28. .
	Weniger B, Papania M. Alternative vaccine delivery methods. In: Plotldn S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 5th ed. Chiria: Saunders/Elsevier; 2008:1357-1392. 

	29. 
	29. 
	CDC. Hepatitis B associated with jet gun injection-California. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1986;35(23):373-376. 

	30. 
	30. 
	Canter J, Mackey K, Good LS, et al. An outbreak of hepatitis B associated with jet injections in a weight reduction clinic. Arch Intern Med. 1990;150(9):19231927. DOI: 10.1001/archinte.1990.00390200105020 

	31. .
	31. .
	Hoffman PN, Abuknesha RA, Andrews NJ, Samuel D, Lloyd JS. A model to assess the infection potential of jet injectors used in mass immunisation. Vaccine. 2001;19(28-29):4020-4027. DOI: 10.1016/So264-410X(o1)00106-2 

	32. .
	32. .
	Kelly K, Loskutov A, Zehrung D, et al. Preventing contamination between injections with multiple-use nozzle needle-free injectors: a safety trial. Vaccine. 2008;26(10):1344-1352. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.12.041 

	33. .
	33. .
	Simonsen L, Kane A, Lloyd J, Zaffran M, Kane M. Unsafe injections in the developing world and transmission ofbloodborne pathogens: a review. Bull World Health Organ. 1999;77(10):789-800. 

	34. .
	34. .
	Kane A, Lloyd J, Zaffran M, Simonsen L, Kane M. Transmission ofhepatitis B, hepatitis C and human immunodeficiency viruses through unsafe injections in the developing world: model-based regional estimates. Bull World Health Organ. 1999;77(10):801-807. 

	35. .
	35. .
	Gray L, Watt L, Blass EM. Sldn-to-sldn contact is analgesic in healthy newborns. Pediatrics. 2000;105(1):e14. DOI: 10.1542/peds.105.1.e14 

	36. .
	36. .
	Gray L, Miller LW, Philipp BL, Blass EM. Breastfeeding is analgesic in healt_hy newborns. Pediatrics. 2002;109(4):590-593. DOI: 10.1542/peds.109-4.590 

	37. .
	37. .
	Harrington JW, Logan S, Harwell C, et al. Effective analgesia.using physical interventions for infant immunizations. Pediatrics. 2012;129(5):815-822. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2011-1607 

	38. .
	38. .
	Taddio A, Nulman I, Goldbach M, Ipp M, Koren G. Use oflidocaine-prilocaine cream for vaccination pain in infants. J Pediatr. 1994;124(4):643-648. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(05)83150-6 


	· .39. Uhari M. A eutectic mixture oflidocaine and prilocaine for alleviating vaccination pain in infants. Pediatrics. 1993;92(5):719-721. 
	40. .
	40. .
	40. .
	Halperin SA, McGrath P, Smith B, Houston T. Lidocaine-prilocaine patch decreases the pain associated with the subcutaneous administration of measles-mumps-rubella vaccine but does not adversely affect the antibody response. J Pediatr. 2000;136(6):789-794. DOI: 10.1016/Soo223476(00)64169-o 

	41. .
	41. .
	Frayling IM, Addison GM, Chattergee K, Meakin G. Methaemoglobinaemia in children treated with prilocaine-lignocaine cream. BMJ. 1990;301(6744):153154. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.301.6744.153 

	42. .
	42. .
	Reis EC, Holubkov R. Vapocoolant spray is equally effective as EMLA cream in reducing immuniz~tion pain in school-aged children.Pediatrics. 
	1997;100(6):E5. DOI: 10.1542/peds.100.6.e5 


	43. .
	43. .
	American Academy of Pediatrics Steering Committee on Quality Improvement and Management, Subcommittee on Febrile Seizures. Febrile seizures: clinical practice guideline for the long-term management of the child with simple.febrile seizures. Pediatrics. 2008;121(6):1281-1286. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2008-0939 

	44. .
	44. .
	Cook IF, Murtagh J. Comparative immunogenicity ofhepatitis B vaccine administered into the ventrogluteal area and anterolateral thigh in infants. J Paediatr Child Health. 2002;38(4):393-396. DOI: 10.1046/j.14401754.2002.00013.x 

	45. .
	45. .
	Redfield RR, Innis BL, Scott RM, Cannon HG, Bancroft WH. Clinical evaluation oflow-dose intradermally administered _hepatitis B virus vaccine. A cost reduction strategy. JAMA. 1985;254(22):3203-3206. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1985.03360220069031 

	46. .
	46. .
	Coleman PJ, Shaw FE, Jr., Serovich J, Hadler SC, Margolis HS. Intradermal hepatitis B vaccination in a large hospital employee population. Vaccine. 1991;9(10):723-727. DOI: 10.1016/0264-410X(91)90287-G 

	47. .
	47. .
	Fishbein DB, Sawyer LA, Reid-Sanden FL, Weir EH. Administration of human diploid-cell rabies vaccine in the gluteal area. N Engl J Med. 1988;318(2):124-125. DOI: 10.1056/nejm198801143180219 

	48. .
	48. .
	CDC. Inadvertent misadministration of meningococcal conjugate vaccineUnited States, June-August 2005. MMWR Morb Mortal W/cly Rep. 2006;55(37):1016-1017. 

	49. .
	49. .
	Ragni MV, Lusher JM, Koerper MA, Manco-Johnson M, Krause DS. Safety and immunogenicity of subcutaneous hepatitis A vaccine in children with haemophilia. Haemophilia. 2000;6(2):98-103. DOI: 10.1046/j.13652516.2000.00386.x 

	50. .
	50. .
	Belshe RB, Newman FK, Cannon J, et al. Serum antibody responses after intradermal vaccination against influenza. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(22):22862294. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoao43555 


	7. Storage and Handling of Immunobiologics 


	Updates 
	Updates 
	Most of the 2011 language was removed because this content is now codified and 
	continually updated in the CDC's Vaccine Storage and Handling Toolkit, available at 
	/ default.htm. This content included Storage 
	www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit

	Units, Monitoring Storage Temperature, Vaccine Inventory, and Vaccine Transport. 

	General Principles 
	General Principles 
	Failure to adhere to recommended specifications for storage and handling of immunobiologics can reduce or destroy their potency, resulting in in,adequate or no immune response in the recipient (.) . Recommendations in the prodqct package inserts, including methods for reconstitution of the vaccine, should be followed carefully. Maintenance of vaccine quality is the shared responsibility of all handlers of vaccines from the time a vaccine is manufactured until administration. All vaccines should be inspected
	www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm


	Storage Temperature 
	Storage Temperature 
	Vaccines licensed for refrigerator storage should be stored at 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C). Liquid vaccines containing an aluminum adjuvaf!-t permanently lose potency when exposed to freezing temperatures. Inactivated vaccines that are stored in a liqu1d state (i.e., non-lyophilized [freeze-dried]) but that do not contain aluminum adjuvants should also generally be kept at refrigerator temperature, although whether or not they lose potency when frozen is not known. Inactivated lyophilized vaccines generally do not 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Storage and Handling of lmmunobiologics 
	need to be frozen, but lyophilized varicella-containing vaccines that are recommended to be stored frozen lose poten~y when exposed to higher temperatures because the viruses degrade more quickly at storage temperatures that are warmer than recomm_ended (Table 7-1). These varicella-containing vaccines also can be prone to losses in sterility ifkept too cold, due to increased gas permeability ofthe rubber vaccine vial (observed with use ofdry ice at temperatures below -58°F or -50°C [personal communication, 
	Response to Out-of-Range Temperature Reading 
	An out-of-range temperature reading should prompt immediate action. A plan should be developed ahead of time to address various types ofemergencies that might require removal ofvaccine from the original storage un1t. Transfer ofvaccines to a predesignated alternative emergency storage site might be necessary ifa temperature problem cannot be resolved immediately (e.g., plugging in an unplugged unit or closing a door that has been left open). It is critical to avoid freezing vaccine during transport (imprope
	Figure
	Figure
	TABLE 7-1. Vaccine storage temperature recommendations .Nonlyophilized, aluminum-adjuvanted vaccines .Vaccines .
	Vaccine storage 
	Diluent storage temperature temperature 
	No diluentCa) .containing vaccines .
	Diphtheria-tetanus
	Diphtheria-tetanus
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 

	Do not freeze .(DT, Td) or pertussis-.containing vaccines .(DTaP, Tdap) .
	HepA and I-IepB 
	HepA and I-IepB 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 

	No diluent Do not freeze 
	'-...
	PCV 
	PCV 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 

	No diluent Do not freeze 
	HPVCb) 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	No diluent Do not freeze .Nonlyophilized, nonaluminmn-adjuvanted vaccines Vaccines 
	Vaccine storage 
	Figure

	Diluent storage temperature temperature 
	Figure

	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	PRP-OMP Hib 
	PRP-OMP Hib 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 

	No diluent .IPV .
	Figure
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	No diluent .
	MenACWYCb).cc) .

	Figure
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	No diluent 

	' 
	Figure
	PPSV 
	PPSV 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 

	No diluent .IlVCb) .
	36°-F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	36°-F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	No diluent 

	Lyophilized (non-varicella) vaccines Vaccines 
	Figure
	Vaccine storage 
	Diluent storage temperature temperature 
	Figure
	PRP-T HibCb) 
	PRP-T HibCb) 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)Cd) 

	35°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) Do not freeze 
	Figure
	PRP-T Hib-MenCY 
	PRP-T Hib-MenCY 
	PRP-T Hib-MenCY 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 

	35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) Do not freeze 

	Figure
	MMRCb> 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)cd> 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)cd> 
	35°F-77°F(2°C-25°C) Can be refrigerated or stored at room temperature 

	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)cd> 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)cd> 
	Data are lacking on ideal prereconstitution storage requirements. After reconstitution, vaccine should be stored at 35°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 

	Do not freeze 
	Do not freeze 
	MPSV4 

	Figure
	Varicella-containing vaccines 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Vaccines 
	-Diluent storage temperature temperature 
	-Diluent storage temperature temperature 
	Vaccine storage 

	MMRVCb> 
	-58°F-5°F (-50°C to 
	35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) c) 
	1s
	0 

	Can be refrigerated or stored at room temperature 
	VaricellaCb> ' 
	VaricellaCb> ' 
	-58°F-5°F° (-50°C to 

	35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 15°C) 
	Can be refrigerated or stored at room temperature 
	Figure
	Herpes zosterCb> 
	Herpes zosterCb> 
	-58°F-5°F (-50°C to 

	35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 15°C) 
	Can be refrigerated or stored at room temperature 
	Noninjectable vaccines 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Vaccines 
	Vaccines 
	Vaccine storage 

	Diluent storage temperature temperature 
	RVs vaccineCb> 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	No diluent Do not freeze 
	RV1 vaccineCbJ 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	The diluent may be stored at a controlled room temperature 20°C~

	Do not freeze 25°C (68°F-77°F). 
	Do not freeze 
	LAIV 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
	No diluent 

	Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b ; HPV = human papillomavirus; !IV= inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAN= live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella; MPSV4. = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccha
	Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b ; HPV = human papillomavirus; !IV= inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAN= live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella; MPSV4. = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccha
	phosphate polysaccharide conjugated to a tetanus toxoid; PRP-T Hib =polyribosylphosphate tetanus-toxoid conjugate Hib vaccine; PRP-T Hib-MenCY =polyribosylphosphate-tetanus-toxoid Hib vaccine with a bivalent Meningococcal vaccine; RV = rotavirus; RV1 =live, attenuated monovalent rotavirus vaccine; RVs =live, reassortment pentavalent rota virus vaccine; Td =tetanus and diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pe1tussis. 

	Sources: (1,2). 
	C•l DTaP-Triped_ia is sometimes used as a diluent for ActHib. 
	Cbl Protect from light. 
	Cc) There are 2 meningococcal conjugate vaccines; Menactra is nonlyophilized, and Menveo is lyophilized. Both powder and diluent should be stored at 35°F-46°F. 
	Cd) The lyophilized pellet may be stored at freezer temperature; the reconstituted vaccine should be stored at refrigerator temperature. 


	REFERENCES 
	REFERENCES 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	Kroger A, Atkinson W, Pickering L. General immunization practices. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines . 6th ed. China: Elsevier Saunders; 2013:88-111. 

	2. .
	2. .
	CDC. Guidelines for maintaining and managing the vaccine cold chain. MMWRMorbMortal Wlcly Rep. 2003;52(42):1023-1025. 



	8. Altered Immunocompetence 
	8. Altered Immunocompetence 
	Updates 
	Updates 
	This section incorporates general content from the Infectious Diseases Society of America policy statement, 2013 IDSA Clinical Practice Guideline for Vaccination ofthe Immunocompromised Host (1), to which CDC provided input in November 2011. The evidence supporting this guidance is based on expert opinion arid arrived at by consensus. 

	General Principles 
	General Principles 
	Altered immunocompetence, a term often used synonymously with immunosuppression, immunodeficiency, and imm-µnocompromise, can be classified as primary or secondary. Primary immunodeficiencies generally are inherited and include conditions defined by an inherent absence or quantitative deficiency of cellular, humeral, or both components that provide immunity. Examples include congenital immunodeficiency diseases such as X-linked agammaglobulinemia, SCID, and chronic granulomatous disease. Secondary immunodef
	' 
	include HN infection, hematopoietic malignancies, treatment with radiation, and 
	treatment with immunosuppressive drugs. The degree to which immunosuppressive 
	drugs cause clinically significant immunodeficiency generally is dose related and varies 
	by drug. Primary and secondary immunodeficiencies might include a combination of 
	deficits in both cellular and humeral immunity. Certain conditions like asplenia and chronic renal disease also can cause altered immunocompetence. 
	Determination of.altered immunocompetence is important to the vaccine provider because incidence or severity ofsome vaccine-preventable diseases is higher in persons with altered immunocompetence; therefore, certain vaccines (e.g.,-inactivated influenza vaccine, pneumococcal vaccines) are recommended specifically for persons with these 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 
	diseases (2,3). Administration oflive vaccines might need to be deferred until immune function has improved. This is primarily a safety concern, because persons who have altered immunocompetence and receive live vaccines might be at increased risk for an adverse reaction because of uninhibited growth of the attenuated live virus or bacteria. Vaccines might be less effective during the period of altered immunocompetence. Inactivated vaccines might best be deferred during a period of altered immunocompetence;
	The degree of altered immunocompetence in a patient should be determined by a physician. The challenge for clinicians and other health-care providers is assessing the safety and effectiveness ofvaccines for conditions associated with primary or secondary immunodeficiency, especially when new therapeutic modalities are being used and information about the safety and effectiveness ofvaccines has not been characterized fully in persons receiving _these drugs (Table 8-1). Laboratory studies can be useful for as
	Altered Immunocompetence as ari Indication to Receive a .Vaccine Outside of Routinely Recommended Age Groups .
	This section describes situations in which vaccines are recommended outside of the 
	routine-age-based recommendation because the risk for vaccine-preventable disease is 
	increased due to altered immunocompetence. Persons with altered immunocompetence 
	generally are recommended to receive polysaccharide-based vaccines (PCV13, PPSV23, 
	and Hib), on the basis of increased risk for disease ifthe vaccine is withheld. For certain 
	specific categories ofaltered immunocompetence, patients are also recommended to 
	receive polysaccharide based vaccines (MenACWY, Hib-MenCY, and MPSV 4). 
	Pneumococcal Vaccines 
	Pneumococcal Vaccines 
	Two types of vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease are available in the United 
	States: PCV13 and PPSV23. PCV13 is recommended routinely for all children beginning 
	at age 2 months through age 59 months and for adults aged 65 years or older. PCV13 is 
	also recommended for children, adolescents, and adults with conditions that place them 
	at high risk for invasive disease from Streptococcus pneumoniae. PCV13 is 
	recommended for persons aged 6-64 years who have not previously received PCV13 and 
	have congenital immunodeficiency disorders (including B-or T-lymphocyte deficiency, 
	complement deficiencies, and phagocytic disorders), anatomic or functional asplenia 
	(including sickle cell disease and other hemoglobinopathies), HIV infection, cochlear 
	implant, cerebrospinal fluid leak, chronic renal failure, nephrotic syndrome, iatrogenic 
	immunosuppression, or other immunocompromising conditions. 
	PPSV23 is licensed for use in persons aged ~2 years and recommended routinely for 
	adults aged 65 years and older. PPSV23 is also recommended for persons age 2 through 
	64 years with congenital immunodeficiency disorders, anatomical and functional ·asplenia, HIV infection, cochlear implant, cerebrospinal fluid leak, and iatrogenic 
	immunosuppression. Complete recommendations on use of PCV13 and PPSV23 are 
	available in the Recommended Immunization Schedules for PersonsAged o Through 18 
	Years and the Recommended Adult Immunization Schedule (2,6). 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 

	Meningococcal Vaccines 
	Meningococcal Vaccines 
	Three types of meningococcal vaccines are licensed in the United States: meningococcal conjugate (MenACWY and Hib-MenCY), meningococcal polysaccharide (MPSV4), and serogroup B meningococcal (MenB) vaccines. Persons with functional or anatomic asplenia (including sickle cell disease) and persistent complement component deficiency (including persons taldng eculizumab [Soliris]) (7) are at increased risk for meningococcal disease and should receive both MenACWY and MenB vaccines. For chiklJ:en 2 months through
	. . 
	persons 2 years of age or older with asplenia or complement deficiency. Following the primary series ofvaccine, a 3-year interval to the next dose is recommended for persons who received their previous dose at younger than 7 years. A 5-year interval is recommended for persons who received their previous dose at age 7 years or older. Although MPSV 4 is the only meningococcal vaccine licensed for persons older than 55 years of age, adults 56 years and older with asplenia or complement deficiency should be vac
	Hib Vaccines 
	Hib conjugate vaccines are available in single or combined antigen preparations. Hib 
	/ 
	. 

	vaccine is recommended routinely for all children through age 59 months. Children 12 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 
	through 59 months who are at high risk for invasive Hib disease (i.e., recipients of chemotherapy or radiation for ,malignant neoplasms, recipients ofhematopoietic cell transplant, or those with functional or anatomic asplenia, HNinfection, immunoglobulin deficiency, or early complement component deficiency) and who are unvaccinated or received only one dose of Hib disease before 12 months of age should receive 2 additional doses of Hib vaccine; those who received 2 or more doses ofHib before 12 months of a
	ImmunizationSchedulesfor PersonsAged o Through18 Years and the Recommended AdultImmunization Schedule (2,6). 
	Vaccination of Contacts of Persons with Altered Immunocompetence 
	Household contacts and other close contacts of persons with altered immunocompetence should receive all age-and exposure-appropriate vaccines, with the exception ofsmallpox vaccine (12,13). Receipt ofvaccines will prevent the vaccinepreventable disease, so there can be no potential transmission to the contact with altered immunocompetence. The live MMR, varicella~ and rotavirus vaccines should be administered to susceptible household contacts and other close contacts of immunocompromised patients when indi
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 
	when indicated. MMR vaccine viruses are not transmitted to contacts, and transmission rof varicella-zoster virus vaccine strain is rare (14,15). No specific precautions are needed unless the varicella vaccine recipient has a rash after vaccination, in which case direct contact with susceptible household contacts with altered immunocompetence should be avoided until the rash resolves (14,15). All members of the household should wash their hands after changing the diaper of an infant who received rotavirus va
	health-care workers or other healthy persons aged 5-49 years in close contact with all other groups at high risk. 
	Inactivated Vaccines: Safety 
	All inactivated vaccines can be administered safely to persons with altered immunocompetence, whether the vaccine is a killed whole-organism or a recombinant, subunit, split-virus, toxoid, polysaccharide, or polysaccharide protein-conjugate vaccine. 


	Inactivated Vaccines: Effectiveness 
	Inactivated Vaccines: Effectiveness 
	Except for inactivated influenza vaccine, vaccination during chemotherapy or radiation therapy shouldbe avoided ifpossible because antibody response might be suboptimal. Patients vaccinated within a 14-day period before starting immunosuppressive therapy or while receiving immunosuppressive therapy should be considered unimmunized and shouldbe revaccinated at least 3 months after therapy is discontinued ifimmune competence has been restored. Patients who have quantitative B-cell deficiencies and are receivi

	Live, Attenuated Viral and Bacterial Vaccines: Effectiveness 
	Live, Attenuated Viral and Bacterial Vaccines: Effectiveness 
	The same rationale regarding effectiveness that exists with inactivated vaccines also exists withlive vaccines. 
	Live, Attenuated Viral and Bacterial Vaccines: Safety 
	Severe complications have followed vaccination with certain live, attenuated viral and live, attenuated bacterial vaccines among persons with altered immunocompetence (18
	/
	26). Persons with most forms ofaltered immunocompetence should not receive live vaccines (MMR, varicella, MMRV, LAIV, zoster, yellow fever, Ty21a oral typhoid, BCG, smallpox, and rotavirus). However, exceptions exist, and are discussed in this section. 
	Patients with any defect in phagocytic function (e.g., chronic granulomatous disease, leukocyte adhesion deficiency, myeloperoxidase deficiency, Chediak-Higashi syndrome) 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 
	should NOT receive live bacterial vaccines. Patients with a specific type of defect in phagocytic function-chronic granulomatous disease-should receive otherwise indicated live attenuated viral vaccines in addition to inactivated vaccines but should NOT receive live bacterial vaccines. Patients with defects in phagocytic function that are undefined or Im.own to be accompanied by defects in T-cell and natural killer cell function (e.g., leukocyte adhesion deficiency, myeloperoxidase deficiency, ChediakHigas
	Persons with severe cell-mediated immunodeficiency should not receive live, attenuated viral or bacterial vaccines. Patients with defects ofthe interferon-gamma/interleukin-12 axis should not receive live bacterial vaccines. Patients with deficiencies of interferongamma or interferon-alpha should not receive live viral or live bacterial vaccine. These defects involve a deficiency in cytokine production which affects the immune response to a wide scope of antigens, both bacterial and viral (1). Two factors 
	Children with HIV infection are at increased risk for complications from varicella and herpes zoster infection compared with immunocompetent children (27,28). Limited data among HIV-infected children younger than 8 years (specifically, those individuals with CDC class N, A, or B with age-specific CD4+ T-lymphocyte percentages of ~15%) indicate that single-component varicella vaccine is immunogenic, effective, and safe 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 
	(14,28). Data on use of varicella vaccine in HIV-infected adolescents and adults are lacking. However, on the basis of expert opinion, the safety ofvaricella vaccine in HIVinfected persons older than 8 years with comparable levels of immune function (CD4+ T-lymphocyte count greater than 200 cells/mm3) is likely to be similar to that of children aged younger than 8 years (14). Varicella vaccine should be considered for persons who meet these criteria. Eligible HIV-infected persons 12 months of age or older 
	Persons with HIV infection ar.e at increased risk for severe complications if infected with measles. No severe or unusual adverse events have been reported after measles vaccination among HIV-infected persons who did not have evidence of severe immunosuppression (29-32). Two doses of MMR vaccine are recommended for all HIVinfected individuals aged ;;::12 months who do not have evidence of current severe immunosuppression (i.e., individuals aged =s:5 years must have CD4+ T lymphocyte [CD4+] percentages ;;::
	lymphocytes/mm3 while aged 1 through 5 years (33). Similarly, repeat doses of MMR vaccination are recommended for individuals with perinatal HIV infection who were vaccinated prior to establishment of effective combination antiretroviral therapy ( cART). They should receive 2 appropriately spaced doses of MMR vaccine once effective cART has been established (individuals aged =s:5 years must have 
	CD4+percentages ;,:15% for ;,:6 months; individuals aged >5 years must have 
	CD4+percentages ;,:15% and CD4+;,:200 lymphocytes/mms for ;,:6 months) unless they 
	have other acceptable current evidence of measles, rubella, and mumps immunity. 
	HIV-infected persons who_ are receiving regular doses of IGIV are unlikely to respond to 
	varicella vaccine or MMR vaccine because of the continued presence of passively 
	acquired antibody. However, because of the potential benefit, MMR and varicella 
	vaccines should be considered approximately 14 days before the next scheduled dose of 
	IGIV (if not otherwise contraindicated), although an optimal immune response might 
	not occur depending on the presence of neutralizing antibodies against the vaccine 
	virus. Vaccination should be repeated (if not otherwise contraindicated) after the 
	recommended interval (see Table 3-5 in the Timing and Spacing of Immunobiologics of 
	this document). In most cases, this is after the therapy has been discontinued. 
	Patients with leukemia, lymphoma, or other malignancies whose disease is in remission, who have restored immunocompetence, and whose chemotherapy has been discontinued for at least 3 months can receive live-virus va~cines. Persons with impaired humoral immunity (e.g., hypogammaglobulinemia or dysgammaglobulinemia) may be vaccinated with varicella vaccine (14) . However,· most persons with these ¢iisorders also receive periodic doses of IGIV. Appropriate spacing should be maintained between administration of
	Zoster incidence is higher in persons with altered immunocompe-i:ence (34). ~ dults with most types of altered immunocompetence are expected to maintain residual immunity to varicella-zoster virus because of chronic latent infection that protects against primary varicella but provides incomplete protection against zoster. Zoster vaccine is contraindicated in persons with primary or acquired immunodeficiency (e.g., lymphoma, leukemia, tumors involving bone marrow, and patients receiving chemotherapy) and som
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 
	isolated B-cell deficiencies (i.e., impairedhumoral immunity), or those with HIV .infection who have CD4+ T-lymphocyte counts >200 cells/mm3. .

	Recipients of Hematopoietic Cell Transplants 
	Recipients of Hematopoietic Cell Transplants 
	A hematopoietic cell transplant (HCT) results in immunosuppression because of the hematopoietic ablative therapy administered before the transplant, drugs used to preven~ or treat graft-versus-host disease, and, in some cases, from the unde_rlying disease proces_s necessitating transplantation (35-37). HCT invol~es ablation of the bone marrow followed by reimplantation ofthe person's own stem cells or stem cells from a donor. Antibody titers to vaccine-preventable diseases (e.g., tetanus, poliovirus, measle
	Yellow fever vaccine, rabies vaccine, tick-borne encephalitis vaccine, and Japanese encephalitis vaccine are not routinely administered vaccines, so their use post-HCT will be-driven by a disease-specific risk such as exposure or travel. If someone has received yellow fever vaccine prior to an HCT, another dose should be administered post-HCT (38). BCG, LAIV, typhoid vaccine, and rotavirus vaccine are not recommended after HCT. Most inactivated vaccines should be initiated 6 months after the HCT (;37). Inac
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 
	considered in this situation (37). A second dose is recommended routinely for all children-younger than 9 years receiving influenza vaccine for the first time. Sequential administration of 3 doses of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine is recommended, beginning 3-6 months after the transplant, followed by a dose of PPSV23 (35). Some sources state a 4-week interval between these doses as reasonable with the dose of PPSV23 being replaced by a dose of PCV13 in the context of graft-versus-host disease (35). Others s
	Providers need to malce a clinical judgment whether they will follow the revaccination schedule described above, even if doses were not administered prior to the HCT. There are specific recommendations for Hib and pertussis-containing vaccines. Use of the 3dose Hib schedule following HCT is supported for botli patients that received Hib prior to HCT and those who did not receive Hib prior to HCT (6,11). who did not receive previous doses ofpertussis-containing vaccine prior _to the HCT, the preferred sched
	For child.re~ >6 years 

	Conditions or Drugs that Might Cause Immunodeficiencies 
	Asplenia and use of corticosteroids or certain drugs have the potential to be immunosuppressive and are presumed to cause some degree of altered immunocompetence. 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 
	Anatomic or Functional Asplenia 
	Persons with anatomic asplenia (e.g., surgical removal or congenital absence ofthe spleen) or functional asplenia (as occurs in persons with sickle cell disease) are at increased.risk for infection by encapsulated bacteria, especially S. pneumoniae (pneumococcus), N. meningitidis (meningococcus), and Hib (zB,39). Children should receive an age-appropriate series of PCV13. Unvaccinated children 2-5 years should receive 2 doses of PCV13. Children :2:6 years should receive a dose of PCV13 ifthey have not previ
	., 
	recommended doses of PCV13 (6,7,40,41). In circumstances where both PCV13 and PPSV23 are indicated, doses ofPCV13 should be administered first followed by PPSV23 8 weeks after the last dose of PCV13. 
	Meningococcal conjugate (MenACWY) and serogroup B (MenB) vaccines are recommended ·for persons with anatomic or functional asplenia (including sickle cell disease). For children 2-23 months of age, a series of MenACWY-CRM (Menveo) or HibMenCY (MenHibrix) should be administered. For persons 2:2 years of age, a 2-dose primary series of either MenACWY-CRM or MenACWY-D (Menactra) should be administered. Ifa person with functional or anatomic asplenia is catching up on pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV13), an
	Rib vaccine is recommended routinely for all children through age 59 months. Children 12-59 months with functional or anatomic asplenia and who are unvaccinated or who received only one dose of Rib disease before 12 months of age should receive 2 doses of Rib vaccin e; those who received 2 or more doses of Rib before 12 months of age should receive one additional dose. UnimmunizedCa) asplenic patients older than 59 months of age should receive one dose of Rib vaccine. Anyone ~15 months,of age who is undergo
	Pneumococcal, meningococcal, and Hib vaccinations should be administered at least 14 
	days before elective splenectomy, if possible. Ifthe vaccinations are not administered 
	before surgery, they should be administered after the procedure as.soon as the patient's 
	condition is stable. 
	Corticosteroids 
	Corticosteroids 
	The amount ofsystemically absorbed corticosteroids and the duration of administration 
	needed to suppress the immune system of an otherwise immunocompetent person are 
	not well defined. Although the immunosuppressive effects of steroid treatment vary, the 
	majority of clinicians consider a dose equivalent to either ~2 mg/kg ofbody weight or 
	~20 mg/day ofprednisone or equivalent for persons who weigh >10 kg when 
	administered for ~14 consecutive days as sufficiently immunosuppressive to raise 
	concern about the safety ofvaccination with live-virus vaccines (37) . This dosage is referred to as "high-dose corticosteroids". Corticosteroids used in greater than physiologic doses also can reduce the immune response to vaccines. Vaccination providers should defer live~virus vaccination for at least 1 month after discontinuation of high-dose systemically absorbed corticosteroid therapy administered for ~14 days. Following vaccination, the decision needs to be made when to restart immunosuppressive thera
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 
	conditions, this therapy should not be delayed because of past administration of 
	vaccines (1). 
	Corticosteroid therapy usually is not a contraindication to administering live-virus vaccine when administration is 1) short term (i.e., <14 days); 2) a low to moderate dose (i.e., <20 mg of prednisone or equivalent per day or <2mg/kg body weight per day for a young child); 3) long-term, alternate-day treatment with short-acting preparations; 4) maintenance physiologic doses (replacement therapy); or 5) topical (skin or eyes), inhaled, o~ by intra-articular, bursal, or tendon injection (37). No evidence of 
	Other Immunosuppressive Drugs 
	Other Immunosuppressive Drugs 
	When feasible, clinicians should administer all indicated vaccines before initiation of 
	chemotherapy, before treatment with other immunosuppressive drugs, and before 
	radiation or splenectomy. Persons receiving chemotherapy or radiation for leukemia 
	and other hematopoietic malignancies, or for solid tumors, should be assumed to have 
	altered immunocompetence. Live, attenuated vaccines should not be administered for at least 3 months after such immunosuppressive therapy. Inactivated vaccines 
	administered during chemotherapy should be readministered after immune competence is regained. Children vaccinated before receiving chemotherapy for leukemia, lymphoma, other malignancies, or radiation generally are thought to retain immune memory after treatment, although revaccination with the common childhood vaccines after chemotherapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia might be indicated (42). In general, revaccination of a person after chemotherapy or radiation therapy is considered unnecessary ifthe pr
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 
	Certain immunosuppressive medications are administered to prevent solid organ transplant rejection. Live vaccines should be withheld for 2 months following discontinuation of anti-rejection therapies in patients with a solid organ transplant. Zoster vaccine should be withheld one month following discontinuation of anti-rejection therapies (34). 
	Other immunosuppressive medications include human immune mediators like interleukins and colony-stimulating factors, immune modulators, and medicines like tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitors and anti-B cell antibodies. Inactivated and live vaccines should be administered 2 or more weeks before initiating such therapies. Live vaccines should be withheld 3 months fo~lowing such therapies, and both inactivated and live vaccines should be withheld at least 6 months following therapy with anti-B cell antibodi
	<•i Patients who have not received a primary series andbooster dose or at least 1 dose of Hib vaccine after 14 months of age are considered unimmunized. 






	IV. New Bus. A. 11-157 Exhibit B - Part 3
	Structure Bookmarks
	TABLE 8-1. Vaccination ofpersonswith primary and secondary 
	immunodeficiencies 
	Primary 
	Effectiveness immunodeficiency 
	Figure

	Specific 
	Figure

	Contraindicated 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure

	Risk-specific 
	Figure
	Figure

	vaccinesCa) 
	and comments vaccinesCa) 
	Figure
	Figure

	Figure
	B
	B
	recomm~nded 

	OPVCb)
	Severe antibody 
	Severe antibody 
	Rib ( children 

	The .lymphocyte .
	SmallpoxCc) 
	effectiveness .(humoral) .
	deficiencies (e.g., 
	12-59 months 
	of age)Cd)
	.LAIV 
	of any vaccin e agammaglobuline 
	X-linked 
	X-linked 
	ECG 

	is uncertain if mia and common 
	Ty21a (live 
	it depends variable 
	only on the immunodeficiency 
	typhoid) 
	Yellow fever 
	humoral ) 
	response (e.g., MMRV 
	MMR 
	MMR 
	PPSV23or 

	MPSV4) 
	IGIV 
	interferes with 
	the immune 
	response to 
	measles 
	vaccine and 
	possibly 
	varicella 
	vaccine 
	Figure
	Less severe 
	OPVCb) 
	All vaccines antibody 
	Pneumococcal 
	likely deficiencies (e.g., 
	BCG 
	BCG 
	Rib ( children 

	Yellow feverCe) 
	effective; selective IgA 
	12-59 months 
	of age)Cd) 
	immune deficiency and IgG 
	Other live 
	vaccines appear 
	response subclass 
	to be safe 
	might be deficiency) 
	attenuated T-
	Figure
	Complete defects 
	Complete defects 
	Pneumococcal 

	Vaccines likely lymphocyte 
	All live 
	vaccinesCf),(g),Ch)
	(e.g., SCID disease, 
	Rib (children 
	Figure

	to be effective (cell
	complete 
	12-59 months mediated 
	of age)Cd) and 
	DiGeorge .syndrome) .
	humoral) 
	humoral) 
	Partial defects 

	Figure
	All live 
	All live 
	Pneumococcal 

	Effectiveness (e.g., most patients 
	Figure

	vaccinesCf),Cg),Ch) 
	of any vaccine with DiGeorge 
	Meningococca 
	depends on syndrome, 
	1 
	degree of Wiskott-Aldrich 
	Rib ( children 
	immune syndrome, ataxia
	12-59 months 
	of age)Cd) 
	suppression telangiectasia) 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	All live bacterial 
	None gamma/ 
	Interferon-
	vaccines .Interleukin 12 axis .
	(All live .deficiencies .
	vaccmes contraindicated in Interferon-gamma or interferon-alpha deficiencies) 
	vaccmes contraindicated in Interferon-gamma or interferon-alpha deficiencies) 
	All routine

	Pneumococcal vaccines likely 
	Pneumococcal vaccines likely 
	Pneumococcal vaccines likely 
	Pneumococcal vaccines likely 
	None

	Persistent

	Complemen 

	Meningococca properdin, or 
	t complement, 
	effective factor B deficiency; 
	1 
	Rib ( children or taking 
	12-59 months eculizumab 
	of age)Cd) (Soliris) Live viral 
	Live bacterial 
	None vaccines likely 
	None vaccines likely 
	None vaccines likely 
	Chronic

	Phagocytic 

	vaccinesCf) .disease .
	granulomatous
	granulomatous
	function 

	safe and effective 
	All inactivated deficiencies that 
	All inactivated deficiencies that 
	All inactivated deficiencies that 
	All inactivated deficiencies that 
	Pneumococcal 

	MMR

	Phagocytic 

	vaccines safe are undefined or 
	vaccines safe are undefined or 
	MMRV 

	and likely accompanied by 
	and likely accompanied by 
	Varicella 

	OPVCb) 
	effective defects in T-cell 
	Smallpox .andNKcell .
	BCG .dysfunction (such .
	LAIV 
	Ty21a .Higashi syndrome, .
	as a Chediak-
	Yellow Fever .Leukocyte .
	and bacterial .Adhesion .
	vaccines(f),Cg) .Deficiency [LAD], .and .myeloperoxidase .deficienc}'.") .
	Secondary 
	Secondary 
	Secondary 
	RN/AIDS 
	OPVCb) 
	Pneumococcal 
	MMRand 

	TR
	Smallpox 
	HibC<l), <i) 
	Varicella 

	TR
	ECG 
	HepB 
	vaccme m 

	TR
	LAN 
	those with 

	TR
	MMRV 
	mild 

	TR
	immunosuppr 

	TR
	Withhold MMR, 
	ess10n, 

	TR
	varkella, and 
	rotavirus, and 

	TR
	zoster in 
	all inactivated 

	TR
	severely 
	vaccines, 

	TR
	immunocompro 
	including 

	TR
	mised persons 
	inactivated 

	TR
	influenza as 

	TR
	Yell ow fever 
	per routine 

	TR
	vaccine might 
	vaccination 

	TR
	have a 
	schedule, 

	TR
	contraindication 
	might be 

	TR
	or a precaution 
	· 
	effectiveCk) 

	TR
	depending on 

	TR
	clinical 

	TR
	parameters of 

	TR
	nnmune 

	TR
	functionCi) 

	TR
	Generalized 
	Live viral and 
	Pneumococcal 
	Effectiveness 

	TR
	malignant 
	bacterial, 
	HibCm) 
	of any vaccine 

	TR
	neoplasm, 
	depending on 
	depends on 

	TR
	transplantation, 
	immune 
	' 
	degree of 

	TR
	. .immunosuppressiv 
	statusCfJ,(g),Cl) 
	immune 

	TR
	e or radiation 
	suppress10n 

	TR
	therapy 

	TR
	Asplenia 
	LAN 
	Pneumococcal 
	All routine 

	TR
	Meningococca 
	vaccines likely 

	TR
	l 
	effective 

	TR
	' 
	HibCd),Cn) 

	TR
	Chronic renal 
	LAN 
	Pneumococcal 
	All routine 

	TR
	disease 
	HepBC0) 
	vaccines likely 

	TR
	effective 


	B; Rib= Haemophilus injluenzae type b; HIV = human immunodeficiency virus; IG = immunoglobulin; IGIV = immune globulin intravenous; lg/} = immune globulin A; IgG = immune globulin G; LAIV = live, attenuated influenza vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella; MPSV 4 = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; OPV = oral poliovirus vaccine Oive); PPSV23= pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; SCID = severe combined immunodeficiency; Ty21a = live oral typ
	Abbreviations: AIDS = acquired immunodeficiency syndrome; BCG = bacille Calmette-Guerin; HepB = hepatitis 

	Source: (43). 
	<•> Other vaccines that are universally or routinely recommendedshould be given if not contraindicated. An 
	<•> Other vaccines that are universally or routinely recommendedshould be given if not contraindicated. An 
	exception is patients with B-cell deficiencies receiving immunoglobulins, who should not receive either Jive or 

	inactivated vaccines, due to safety Oive vaccines) and efficacy Oive and inactivated vaccines) concerns. 

	Cb) OPV is no longer available in the United States. 
	Cc) This table refers to contraindications for nonemergency vaccination (i.e., the ACIP recommendations); 
	emergency response recommendations are addressed in the clinical guidance for smallpox vaccine use in an 
	emergency. 
	Cd) Children 12-59 months: ifunimmunized or received zero or only 1 dose, and that dose was administered before 12 months ofage, should receive 2 Hib doses, 8 weeks apart; if received 2 or more doses before age 12 months, and none after 12 months, should receive 1 Hib dose 8 weeks after the last dose; ifcompleted a primary series and received a booster dose at age 12 months or older, no additional Hib doses are recommended. 
	Ce) There are no data to suppmt IgA deficiency as a contraindication for yellow fever vaccine. 
	CO Live bacterial vaccines: BCG and oral Ty21a Salmonella Typhi vaccine. 
	(g) Live viral vaccines: MMR, MMRV, OPV, LAIV, yellow fever, zoster, rotavirus, varicella, and vaccinia (smallpox). Nonemergency smallpox vaccination is not recommended for children younger than 18 years or the general public. 
	Ch) Regarding T-lymphocyte immunodeficiency as a contraindication for rotavirus vaccine, data exist only for SCID. 
	Ci) Symptomatic HIV infection or CD4 + T-lymphocyte count of <200/mmJ or <15% oftotal lymphocytes for 
	children aged <6 years is a contraindication to yellow fever vaccine administration. Asymptomatic HIV infection 
	with CD4+ T-lymphocyte count of 200-499/mmJ for persons aged ~6 years or 15%-24% oftotal lymphocytes for 
	children aged <6 years is a precaution for yellow fever vaccine administration. Details ofyellow fever vaccine 
	recommendations are available from CDC (44) 
	Ci) Patients 5-18 years ofage who have not received a Hib primary series and a booster dose or at least one Hib dose after 14 months ofage. 
	Ck) HIV-infected children should be considered for varicella vaccine ifCD4+ T-lymphocyte countis ~15% and should receive MMR vaccine ifthey are aged ~12 months and do not have 1) evidence ofcurrent severe immunosuppression (i.e., individuals aged s5 years must have CD4+ T lymphocyte [CD4] percentages ~15% for ~6 months; and individuals aged >5 years must have CD4+percentages ~15% and CD4+~200 lymphocytes/mmJ for ~6 months) and 2) other current evidence of measles, rubella, and mumps immunity. In cases when 
	(33). 
	O)Withholding inactivated vaccines also is recommended with some forms ofimmunosuppressive therapy, like anti-CD20 antibodies, induction or consolidation chemotherapy, or patients with major antibody deficiencies receiving immunoglobulins. Inactivated influenza vaccine is an exception, but consideration should be given to repeating doses ofany inactivated vaccine administered during these therapies. 
	Cm) Persons younger than 60 months undergoing chemotherapy or radiation therapy who have not received a H ib primary series and a booster dose or at least one Hib dose after 14 months ofage; HCT patients ofany ages, regardless ofHib vaccine history. 
	Cn) Persons older than 59 months who are asplenic and persons 15 months or older who are undergoing elective splenectomy who have not received a Hib primary series and a booster dose or atleast one Hib dose after 14 months ofage. 
	Col Indicated based on the risk from dialysis-based bloodborne transmission. 
	r 
	REFERENCES 
	REFERENCES 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	Rubin L, Levin M, Ljungman P, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for vaccination of the immunocompromised host. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58(3) :e44100. DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit684 

	2. .
	2. .
	Kim DK, Bridges CB, Harriman KH. Advisory committee on immunization practices recommended immunization schedule for adults aged 19 years or older-United States, 2015. MMWRMorb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(4):91-92. 

	3. .
	3. .
	Grohskopf LA, Olsen SJ, Sokolow LZ, et al. Prevention and control ofseasonal influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP)-United States, 2014-15 influenza season. MMWRMorbMortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(32):691-697. 

	4. .
	4. .
	Markert ML, Hummell DS, Rosenblatt HM, et al. Complete DiGeorge syndrome: 


	f 
	persistence of profound immunodeficiency. J Pediatr. 1998;132(1):15-21. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(98)70478-o 
	5. .
	5. .
	5. .
	J effrey Modell Foundation Medical Advisory Board. 10 warning signs of primary immunodeficiency [Poster]. 2009; materials/10-warning-signs. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 
	http://www.info4pi.org/library/educational


	6. .
	6. .
	Strikas RA. Advisory committee on immunization practices recommended immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 years-United States, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(4):93-94. 

	7. .
	7. .
	Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

	8. .
	8. .
	Cohn AC, MacNeil JR, Clark TA, et al. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. ~013;62(RR-2):1-28. 

	9. .
	9. .
	Folaranmi T, Rubin L, Martin SW, Patel M, MacNeil JR. Use of serogroup B meningococcal vaccines in persons aged > / =10 years at increased risk for serogroup B meningococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(22): 608-612. 

	10. 
	10. 
	MacNeil JR, Rubin L, Folaranmi T, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Patel M, Martin SW. Use ofserogroup B meningococcal vaccines in adolescents and young adults: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, 2015. MMWRMorbMortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(41):1171-1176. DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6441a3 

	11. .
	11. .
	Briere EC, Rubin L, Moro PL, Cohn A, Clark T, Messonnier N. Prevention and control ofHaemophilus influenzae type b disease: recommendations of the advisory committee on immunization practices (ACIP). MMliVR Recomm Rep. 2014;63(RR-1):1-14. 

	12. 
	12. 
	Petersen BW, Harms TJ, Reynolds MG, Harrison LH. Use ofvaccinia virus smallpox vaccine in laboratory and health care personnel at risk for occupational exposure to orthopoxviruses -recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal W!cly Rep. 2016;65(10):257-262. DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.mm651oa2 

	13. 
	13. 
	Petersen BW, Damon IK, Pertowski CA, et al. Clinical guidance for smallpox vaccine use in a postevent vaccination program. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2015;64(RR-2):1-26. 

	14. 
	14. 
	Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

	15. 
	15. 
	Grossberg R, Harpaz R, Rubtcova E, LoparevV, Seward JF, Schmid DS. Secondary transmission ofvaricella vaccine virus in a chronic care facility for children. J Pediatr. 2006;148(6):842-844. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.01.038 

	16. 
	16. 
	Cortese MM, Parashar UD. Prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants -and children: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2009;58(RR-2):1-25. 

	17. 
	17. 
	Anderson EJ. Rotavirus vaccines: viral shedding and risk of transmission. Lancet Infect Dis. 2008;8(10):642-649. DOI: 10.1016/s1473-3099(08)70231-7 

	18. 
	18. 
	Sixb_ey JW. Routine immunizations and the immunosuppressed child. Adv Pediatr Infect Dis. 1987;2:79-114. 

	19. 
	19. 
	AG, Lowry SP, Wadlington WB, Karzon DT. .Vaccine-associated poliomyelitis in a child with sex-linked agammaglobulinemia. .J Pediatr. 1977;91(3):408-412. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(77)81309-7 .
	Wright PF, Hatch.MR, Kasselberg 



	20.Wyatt HV. Poliomyelitis in hypogammaglobulinemics. J Infect Dis. .1973;128(6):802-806. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/128.6.802 .
	21. 
	21. 
	21. 
	Davis LE, Bodian D, Price D, Butler IJ, Vickers JH. Chronic progressive .poliomyelitis secondary to vaccination of an immunodeficient child. N Engl J .Med. 1977;297(5):241-245. DOI: 10.1056/nejm197708042970503 .

	22. 
	22. 
	CDC. DisseminatedMycobacterium bovis infection from BCG vaccination of a patient with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1985;34(16):227-:228. 

	23. 
	23. 
	Ninane J, Grymonprez A, Burtonboy G, Francois A, .Corn-q. G. Disseminated BCG in HIV infection. Arch Dis Child. 1988;63(10):1268-1269. DOI: 10.1136/adc.63.10.1268 


	24.Redfield RR, Wright DC, James WD, Jones TS, Brown C, Burke DS. Disseminated vaccinia in a military recruit with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) disease. N Engl J Med. 1987;316(11):673-676. DOI: 10.1056/nejm198703123161106 
	25. 
	25. 
	25. 
	CDC. Measles pneumonitis following measles-mumps-rubella vaccination of a patient with HIV infection, 1993. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1996;45(28):603-606. 

	26. 
	26. 
	Cono J, Casey CG, Bell DM. Smallpox vaccination and adverse reactions. Guidance for clinicians. MMWRRecomm Rep. 2003;52(RR-4):1-28. 

	27. 
	27. 
	DerryckA, LaRussa P, Steinberg S, Capasso M, Pitt J, Gershon AA. Varicella and zoster in children with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Pediatr Infect r Dis J. 1998;17(10):931-933. DOI: 10.1097/00006454-199810000-00023 


	28.Levin MJ, Gershon AA, Weinberg A, Song LY, Fentin T, Nowak B. Administration oflive varicella vaccine to HIV-infected children with current or past significant depression of CD4(+) T cells. J Infect Dis. 2006;194(2):247-255. DOI: 10.1086/505149 
	29.Sprauer MA, Markowitz LE, Nicholson JK, et al. Response of human immunodeficiency virus-infected adults to measles-rubella vaccination.J Acquir Immune De.fie Syndr. 1993;6(9):1013-1016. 
	30.McLaughlin M, Thomas P, Onorato I, et al. Live virus vaccines in human immunodeficiencyviru_s-infected children: a retrospectiv:e survey. Pediatrics. 1988;82(2):22.9-233. 
	31. Onorato IM, Markowitz LE, Oxtoby MJ.·Childhood immunization, vaccinepreventable diseases and infection with human immunodeficiency virus. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1988;7(8):588-595. 
	32.Palumbo P, Hoyt L, Demasio K, Oleske J, Connor E. Population-based study of measles and measles immunization in human immunodeficiency virus-infected children. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1992;11(12):1008-1014. 
	33.McLean HQ, Fiebelkorn AP, Temte JL, Wallace GS. Prevention ofm_easles, rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-4):1-34. 
	34.Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32-34. 
	35.Tamblyn M, Chiller T, Einsele H, et al. Guidelines for preventing infectious co~plications among hematopoietic cell transplantation recipients: a global perspective, #iol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2009;15(10):1143-1238. DOI: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2009.06.019 
	36. 
	36. 
	36. 
	Ljungman P, Cordonnier C, Einsele H, et al. Vaccination ofhematopoietic cell transplant recipients. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2009;44(8):521-526. DOI: 10.1038/bmt.2009.263 

	37. 
	37. 
	American Academy of Pediatrics. Immunization in special clinical circumstances. In: Pickering L, Baker C, Kimberlin D,.Long S, eds. Red Book: 2009 Report ofthe Committee on Infectious Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy ofPediatrics; 2009. 


	38.Staples JE, Bocchini JA, Jr., Rubin L, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine booster doses: Recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(23) :647-650. 
	39. CDC. Haemophilus b conjugate vaccines for prevention ofHaemophilus infl.uenzae type b disease among infants and children two months of age and older. Recommendations ofthe Immunization Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MM'WR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-1):1-7. 
	40.CDC. Prevention ofpneumococcal disease: recommendations ofthe Adviso1y Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMliVR Recomm Rep. 1997;46(RR-8):1-24. 
	41. Nuorti JP, Whitney CG. Prevention ofpneumococcal disease among infants and children -use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine -recommendations ofthe Adviso1y Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-11):1-18. 
	42.Brodtman DH, Rosenthal DW, Redner A, Lanzkowsky P, Bonagura VR. Immunodeficiency in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia after completion of modern aggressive chemotherapeutic regimens. J Pediatr. 2005;146(5):654-661. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.12.043 
	43.American Academy of Pediatrics. Passive immunization. In: Pickering L, Baker C, Kimberlin D, Long S, eds. Red Boole: 2012 Report ofthe Committee on Infectious Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2012. 
	44.Staples JE, Gershman M, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-7):1-27. 
	9. Special Situations 
	9. Special Situations 
	Updates 
	Updates 
	Major revisions to this section of the best practices guidance include the timing of 
	intramuscular administration and the timing of clotting factor deficiency replacement. 

	Concurrent Administration ofAntimicrobial Agents and Vaccines 
	Concurrent Administration ofAntimicrobial Agents and Vaccines 
	With a few exceptions, use of an antimicrobial agent does not interfere with the 
	effectiveness ofvaccination. Antibacterial agents have no effect on inactivated, 
	recombinant subunit, or polysaccharide vaccines or toxoids. They also have no effect on 
	response to live, attenuated vaccines, except live oral Ty21a typhoid and BCG vaccines. 
	Ty21a typhoid vaccine should not be administered to persons receiving antimicrobial 
	agents until 72 hours after the last dose of antimicrobial (1). Iffeasible, to avoid a · 
	possible reduction in vaccine effectiveness, antibacterial drugs should not be started or 
	resumed until 1 week after the last dose of Ty21a. Antimicrobial or immunosuppressive 
	agents may interfere with the immune response to BCG and should only be used under 
	medical supervision (for additional information, see circulars/b/bcg/bcg pi.pdf). 
	. http://www.merck.com/product/usa/pi 

	Antiviral drugs used for treatment or prophylaxis of influenza virus infections have no effect on the response to inactivated influenza vaccine (2). However, live, attenuated influenza vaccine should not be administered until 48 hours after cessation oftherapy with antiviral influenza drugs. Iffeasible, to avoid possible reduction in vaccine effectiveness, antiviral medication should not be administered for 14 days after LAN administration (g). Ifinfluenza antiviral medications are administered within 2 wee
	the efficacy ofvaccines containing live, attenuated varice11a zoster virus (i.e., Varivax, 
	ProQuad, and Zostavax) (3,4). These drugs should be discontinued at least 24 hours 
	before administration, if possible. If clinically appropriate, delay use or resumption of 
	antiviral therapy for 14 days after vaccination. No data exist to suggest that commonly 
	used antiviral drugs have an effect on rotavirus vaccine or MMR. 
	Administration of Live Vaccines and Tuberculin Skin Tests (TSTs) and Interferon-gamma Release Assays (IGRAs) 
	Measles illness, severe acute or chronic infections, HIV infection, and malnutrition can create a relatively an~rgic state during which the TST might have a false-negative reaction (5-7). Although live, attenuated measles vaccine theoretically can suppress TST reactivity, the degree of suppression is likely less than that occurring from acute infection from wild-type measles virus. Screening children for tuberculosis exposure is accomplished by medical history rather than TST t~sting; universal TST screenin
	In a general screening situation, a TST maybe administered simultaneously with live vaccines, or should be deferred for 28 days after vaccination. The TST and measlescontaining vaccine can be administered at the same'visit (this is the preferred option). Simultaneously administering the TST and measles-containing vaccine does not interfere with reading the TST result at 48-72 hours and ensures that the person has received measles vaccine. Ifthe measles-containing vaccine has been administered recently, TST
	'in performing the TST removes the concern of any theoretical transient suppression of 
	TST reactivity. Some providers choose to perform TST screening and then delay the vaccine until the patient returns to have the TST read. This option is the least favored because it delays receipt ofthe measles-containing vaccine. 
	Because ofsimilar concerns about smallpox vaccine and TST suppression, a TST should not be performed until 4 weeks after smallpox vaccination (8).No data exist regarding the potential degree of TST suppression that might be associated with othe~ live, attenuated virus vaccines (e.g., varicella or yellow fever). However, in the absence of data, following guidelines for measles-containing vaccine when scheduling TST screening and administering other live, attenuated virus vaccines is prudent. Ifthe opportunit
	A test that is more specific for infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis than TST, the interferon-gamma release assay (IGRA), was licensed in 2005. The IGRA requires only a single visit to complete and is less sensitive to the effects of previous BCG vaccination (9). The same timing guidelines that apply to the interval between a live vaccine and TST apply to IGRA (i.e., 28 days between live vaccine and IGRA ifthey do not occur on the same day), because IGRA (like TST) might be suppressed through immunolo
	TST or IGRA reactivity in the absence of active tuberculosis is not a contraindication to administration of any vaccine, including live, attenuated virus vaccines. 
	Note that TST screening of an asymptomatic individual is clinically different than testing a person suspected to have active tuberculosis. If a person is suspected to have 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 
	active tuberculosis, MMR vaccine is typically not administered. Active tuberculosis 
	should be considered severe acute illness, and moderate or severe acute illness is a 
	precaution for vaccination. 
	Although no studies have reported ori the effects ofMMR vaccine on persons with active untreated tuberculosis, a theoretical basis exists for concern that measles vaccine might exacerbate active tuberculosis (10). As a result, before administering MMR to persons with untreated active tuberculosis, initiating antjtuberculosis therapy is advisable (10). · Considering whether concurrent immunosuppres~ion (e.g., immunosuppression caused by HIV infection) is present before administering live, attenuated vaccines
	Vaccination of Preterm Infants 
	In the majority of cases, preterm infants (infants born before 37 weeks' gestation), 
	regardless ofbirth weight, should be vaccinated at the same chronological age and 
	according to the same schedule and using the same precautions as for full-term infants 
	and children. Birth weight and size are not factors in deciding whether to vaccinate a 
	clinically stable preterm infant (11-15), except for hepatitis Bvaccination. The full 
	recommended dose of each vaccine should be used. Divided or reduceddoses are not 
	··

	recommended. 
	Decreased seroconversion rates might occur among certain preterm infants (i.e., those 
	with low birth weights [<2,000 g]) after administration ofhepatitis B vaccine at birth 
	(16). However, by the chronological age of 1 month, all preterm infants, regardless of initial birth weight, are likely to respond as adequately as larger infants (17-19). Infants -w:eighing <2,000 g born to HBsAg-negative mothers should receive the first dose ofthe hepatitis Bvaccine series at chronological age 1 month or hospital discharge, if hospital discharge occurs when the infant is younger than one month of age. Preterm low-birthweight-infants born to HBsAg-positive mothers should receive immunopro
	(16). However, by the chronological age of 1 month, all preterm infants, regardless of initial birth weight, are likely to respond as adequately as larger infants (17-19). Infants -w:eighing <2,000 g born to HBsAg-negative mothers should receive the first dose ofthe hepatitis Bvaccine series at chronological age 1 month or hospital discharge, if hospital discharge occurs when the infant is younger than one month of age. Preterm low-birthweight-infants born to HBsAg-positive mothers should receive immunopro
	hepatitis B vaccine should be administered, beginning when the infant is aged 1 month. For mothers with unlmown HBsAg status, hepatitis B vaccine is recommended within 12 hours of birth regardless of low-birth-weight status. 

	In addition to hepatitis B vaccines, hepatitis B Immunoglobulin (HBIG) is recommended for infants whose mothers are HBsAg positive or unlmown. Ifthe mother is HBsAg positive, HBI G must be given within 12 hours ofbirth. Ifthe mother's HBsAg status is unlmown, providers should first attempt to determine the mother's status. Regardless, if the infant is preterm or low birth weight, HBIG must be given within 12 hours of birth. Ifthe infant is neither preterm nor low birth weight, providers have up to 7 days fr
	/ 
	Ifa child aged at least 6 weeks has been in the hospital since birth, deferral of rotavirus 
	vaccine is recommended until the time of discharg·e. Ifan infant were to be vaccinated 
	with rotavirus vaccine while still needing care in the NICU or nursery, at least a 
	theoretic risk exists for vaccine virus being transmitted to infants in the same unit who 
	are acutely ill and to preterm infants who are not age-eligible for vaccine (21) . The 
	rotavirus vaccine series should not be initiated for infants aged ~15 weeks, o days. 

	Breastfeeding and Vaccination 
	Breastfeeding and Vaccination 
	With 2 exceptions, neither inactivated rror live-virus vaccines administered to a lactating woman affect the safety ofbreastfeeding for women or their infants. Although live viruses in vaccines can replicate in the mother, the majority oflive viruses in vaccines have been demonstrated not to be excreted in human milk. Varicella vaccine virus has not been found in human milk (22). Although rubella vaccine virus has been excreted in human milk, the virus usually does not infect the infant. If infection does o
	With 2 exceptions, neither inactivated rror live-virus vaccines administered to a lactating woman affect the safety ofbreastfeeding for women or their infants. Although live viruses in vaccines can replicate in the mother, the majority oflive viruses in vaccines have been demonstrated not to be excreted in human milk. Varicella vaccine virus has not been found in human milk (22). Although rubella vaccine virus has been excreted in human milk, the virus usually does not infect the infant. If infection does o
	polysaccharide, and conjugate vaccines, as well as toxoids, pose no risk for mothers who 

	are breastfeeding or for their infants. Breastfeeding is a contraindication for smallpox 
	vaccination of the mother because of the theoretical risk for con tad: transmission from 
	mother to infant. Yellow fever vaccine should be avoided in breastfeeding women, · 
	because 2 cases (one confirmed, one probable) of yellow-fever vaccine associated acute 
	neurotropic disease (YEL-AND) have been detected in infants whose mothers were 
	vaccinated but were not vaccinated themselves. In both infants, vaccine virus was 
	recovered from the cerebrospinal fluid of the infant, but the exact mode of transmission 
	was not precisely determined because vaccine virus was not recovered from breast milk 
	(24). However, when nursing mothers cannot avoid or postpone travel to areas endemic 
	for yellow fever in which risk for acquisition is high, these women should be vaccinated. 
	Limited data indicate that breastfeeding can enhance the response to certain vaccine 
	antigens (25). There are no data to suggest that passive transfer of antibodies in human 
	milk can affect the efficacy oflive-virus vaccines. Breastfed infants should be vaccinated 
	according to the recommended schedule (26-28). 
	Vaccination During Pregnancy 
	Vaccination During Pregnancy 
	No evidence exists of risk to the fetus from vaccinating pregnant women with 
	inactivated virus or bacterial vaccines or toxoids (29,30). In spite of the lack of evidence 
	of risk, HPV vaccine, an inactivated vaccine, is not recommended during pregnancy. 
	Live vaccines administered to a pregnant woman pose a theoretical risk to the fetus; therefore, live, attenuated virus and live bacterial vaccines generally are contraindicated 
	during pregnancy. Women should avoid conception for 4 weeks after vaccination with live vaccines. However, benefits of vaccinating pregnant women usually outweigh potential risks when the likelihood of disease exposure is high, when infection would pose a risk to the mother or fetus, and when the vaccine is unlikely to cause harm. Recommendations for vaccination during pregnancy are developed using ACIP's 
	Guiding Principles for Development ofACIP Recommendations for Vaccination During Pregnancy and Breastfeeding (31). 
	Women who are pregnant should receive a dose of Tdap for the prevention of infant 
	pertussis whether or not they have previously received Tdap. Vaccination of the mother 
	generates antibodies that pass transplacentally to the fetus (32). Vaccination in the third 
	trimester optimizes the duration of this antibody protection until after birth. 
	Additionally, preventing pertussis in the mother reduces the risk that the infant is 
	exposed to pertussis after birth (33). Health care personnel should administer Tdap 
	during pregnancy, preferably during the third trimester. If Tdap is not administered 
	during pregnancy to women who have never received it, it should be administered 
	immediately postpartum. Pregnant women who are not vaccinated or are only partially 
	vaccinated against tetanus should complete the primary series (34). Women for whom 
	Td is indicated but who did not complete the recommended 3-dose series during 
	pregnancy should receive follow-up after delivery to ensure the series is completed. One 
	dose of the tetanus vaccine series should be Tdap, ifTdap has not already been received. 
	Pregnant and postpartum women are at higher risk for severe illness and complications from influenza than women who are not pregnant (2,35). Pregnant women have protective levels of anti-influenza antibodies after vaccination (36,37). Passive transfer of anti-influenza antibodies that might provide protection from vaccinated women to neonates has been reported (36,38-41). Routine vaccination with inactivated influenza vaccine is recommended for all women who are or will be pregnant (in any trimester) during
	IPV can be administered to pregnant women who are at risk for exposure to wild-type poliovirus. This includes travelers to areas or countries where polio is epidemic or endemic; members of communities or specific population groups with disease caused by wild polioviruses; laboratory workers who handle specimens that might contain polioviruses; health-care personnel who have close contact with patients who might be excreting wild polioviruses; and unvaccinated persons whose children will be receiving oral po
	IPV can be administered to pregnant women who are at risk for exposure to wild-type poliovirus. This includes travelers to areas or countries where polio is epidemic or endemic; members of communities or specific population groups with disease caused by wild polioviruses; laboratory workers who handle specimens that might contain polioviruses; health-care personnel who have close contact with patients who might be excreting wild polioviruses; and unvaccinated persons whose children will be receiving oral po
	because the limited theoretical risk from vaccination is outweighed substantially by the risk for yellow fever infection (24,46). Hepatitis B vaccine is not contraindicated in pregnancy and should be given to a pregnant woman for whom it is indicated (20,47). 

	Pregnancy is a contraindication for smallpox (vaccinia) vaccine and measles-, mumps-, rubella-, and varicella-containing vaccines. Smallpox vaccine is the only vaccine known to harm a fetus when administered to a pregnant woman. In addition, smallpox vaccine should not be administered to a household contact of a pregnant woman ( 8). Women who are pregnant should not have close contact with anyone who has recently ( within the last 28 days) received the smallpox vaccine. Data from studies of chilc:lJ:en born
	theoretical risk for the fetus if MMR, varicella, or MMRV vaccine were administered to a woman who is pregnant; and counseling women who are vaccinated not to become pregnant during the 4 weeks after MMR, varicella, or MMRV vaccination (10,48-51). MMRV is an unlikely option for a pregnant woman because the vaccine is only licensed through 12 years of age. Routine pregnancy testing of women of childbearing age before administering a live-virus vaccine is not recommended (3,1 o). If a pregnant woman is inadve
	Persons who receive MMR vaccine do not transmit the vaccine viruses to contacts (1 o). 
	Transmission ofvaricella vaccine virus to contacts is exceedingly rare (3). MMR and 
	varicella vaccines should be administered when indicated to children and other 
	household contacts of pregnant women (1 o). Infants living in households with pregnant 
	women should be vaccinated with rotavirus vaccine according to the same schedule as 
	infants in households without pregnant women. 
	Pregnant women should be evaluated for evidence of immunity to rubella and varicella and be tested for the presence of HBsAg during every pregnancy (10,20,52). Women without evidence of immunity to rubella and varicella should be vaccinated immediately after delivery. A second dose of varicella vaccine should be administered 4-8 weeks later. A woman found to be HBsAg positive should be followed-up carefully to ensure that the infant receives HBIG and begins the hepatitis B vaccine series no later than 12 ho
	Persons Vaccinated Outside the United States 
	Clinicians have a limited ability to determine whether persons are protected on the basis 
	of their country of origin and their vaccination records alone. Vaccines administered 
	outside the United States generally can be accepted as valid ifthe schedule (i.e., 
	minimum ages and intervals) is similar to that recommended in the United States. With the exception of influenza vaccine, only wTitten documentation should be accepted as evidence of previous vaccination. Written records are more likely to predict protection if the vaccines, dates of administration, intervals between doses, and age at the time of vaccination are comparable to U.S. recommendations. Although vaccines with inadequate potency have been produced in other countries (53,54), the majority of vaccin
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 
	Persons vaccinated outside of the United States can enter the country through a number of different mechanisms. Those seeking to immigrate to the United States may be vaccinated under the authority of a civil surgeon or a panel physician. Some enter the United States as refugees and are vaccinated under the authority of the Office of Refugee Resettlement, part ofthe Administration for Children and Families, in the Department of Health and Human Services. 
	Adopted ~hildren's birth countries often have vaccination schedules that differ from the recommended childhood vaccination schedule in the United States. Differences in the 
	U.S. schedule and those used in other countries include the vaccines administered, the r~commended ages of administration, and the number and timing of doses. 
	Data are inconclusive regarding the extent to which an internationally adopted child's vaccination record reflects the child's protection. A child's· record might indicate administration of MMR vaccine when only single-antigen measles-vaccine was administered. A study of children ad?pted from orphanages in the People's Republic of China, Russia, and countries in Eastern Europe determined that 67% of children with documentation of >3 doses ofDTP before adoption had nonprotective titers to these antigens (54)
	Health-care providers-may use one of multiple approaches if the immunogenicity of vaccines or the completeness of series administered to persons outside the United States is in question. 1<..epeating the vaccinations is an acceptable option that usually is safe and prevents the need to obtain and interpret serologic tests. If avoiding unnecessary 
	Health-care providers-may use one of multiple approaches if the immunogenicity of vaccines or the completeness of series administered to persons outside the United States is in question. 1<..epeating the vaccinations is an acceptable option that usually is safe and prevents the need to obtain and interpret serologic tests. If avoiding unnecessary 
	injections is desired, ju~icious use of serologic testing might help determine which 

	vaccinations are needed. For some vaccines, the most readily available serologic tests 
	cannot document protection against infection. This best practices document provides 
	guidance on possible approaches to evaluation and revaccination for each vaccine 
	recommended in the United States (Table 9-1). 

	DTaP Vaccine 
	DTaP Vaccine 
	Vaccination providers can revaccinate children younger than 7 years of age with DTaP vaccine without regard to recorded doses; however, data indicate increased rates of local adverse reactions after the fourth and fifth doses of DTaP (57) . If a revaccination approach is adopted and a severe local reaction occurs, serologic testing for specific IgG antibody to tetanus and diphtheria toxins can be measured before administering additional doses. Protective concentration Ca) indicates that additional doses are
	For a child whose record indicates receipt of ~3 doses of DTP or DTaP, serologic testing 
	for specific IgG antibody to both diphtheria and tetanus toxin before additional doses is 
	a reasonable approach. Ifa protective concentration is present, recorded doses are 
	considered valid, and the vaccination series should be completed ?-sage appropriate. An indeterminate antibody concentration might indicate immunologic memory but waning antibody; serologic testing can be repeated after a booster dose ifvaccination providers or parents want to avoid revaccination with a complete series. 
	Alternately, for achild whose records indicate receipt of ~3 doses, a single booster dose can be administered followed by serologic testing after 1 month for specific IgG antibody to both diphtheria and tetanus toxins. Ifthe child has a protective concentration, the recorded doses are considered valid, and the vaccination series should be completed as age appropriate. Children with an indeterminate concentration after a booster dose shouldbe revaccinated with a complete series. 
	Hepatitis A Vaccine 
	Hepatitis A Vaccine 
	Children aged 12-23 months without documentation of hepatitis A vaccination or 
	serologic evidence of immunity shouldbe vaccinated on arrival in the United States 
	(45). Persons who have received 1 dose should receive the second dose if 6-18 months 
	have passed since the first dose was administered. 

	Hepatitis B Vaccine 
	Hepatitis B Vaccine 
	Persons not known to be vaccinated for hepatitis B should receive an age-appropriate 
	series of hepatitis B vaccine. A person whose records indicate receipt of :2:3 doses of 
	vaccine is considered protected, and additional doses are not needed if ~1 dose was 
	administered at age ~24 weeks. Persons who received their last hepatitis B vaccine dose 
	at an age <24 weeks should receive an additional dose at age ~24 weeks. People who 
	have received <3 doses ofvaccine should complete the series at the recommended 
	intervals and ages. 
	All foreign-born persons and immigrants, refugees, and internationally adopted 
	childl'en born in Asia, the Pacific Islands, Africa, and other regions of high or intermediate hepatitis B endemicity should be tested for HBsAg, regardless of 
	vaccination status (58). Those_determined to be HBsAg positive should be monitored for 
	development ofliver disease. Household members of HBsAg-positive children or adults should be vaccinatedifthey are not already i:rnmune. 

	Hib Vaccine 
	Hib Vaccine 
	Interpretation of a serologic test to_verify whether children who were vaccinated >2 months previously are protected against Hib bacteria can be difficult. Because the number ofvaccinations needed for protection decreases with age and because adverse events are rare (59), age-appropriate vaccination should be provided. Hib vaccination is · not recommended routinely for persons aged :2:5 years (59) . 

	Meningococcal Vaccine 
	Meningococcal Vaccine 
	Quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccines are not routinely used in other 
	countries in adolescents (the United Kingdom is the exception). Unless patients have 
	documented receipt they should be considered unvaccinated and receive the age
	appropriate doses. 

	MMR Vaccine 
	MMR Vaccine 
	The simplest approach to resolving concerns about MMR vaccination is to revaccinate with 1 or 2 doses of MMR vaccine, depending on age. Serious adverse events after MMR 
	) 
	vaccinations are rare (10). No evidence indicates that administering MMR vaccine increases the risk for adverse reactions among persons who are already immune to measles, mumps, or rubella as a result of previous vaccination or natural disease. Doses of measles-containing vaccine administered before the first birthday should not be counted as part of the series (10). Alternatively, serologic testing for IgG antibody to vaccine viruses indicated on the vaccination record can be considered. Serologic testing 

	):>neumococcal Vaccines 
	):>neumococcal Vaccines 
	Many industrialized countries now routinely use pneumococcal vaccines. Although recommendations for pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine also exist in many countries, the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine might not be routinely administered. 
	· PCV13 and PPSV23 should be administered according to age-appropriate vaccination schedules or as indicated by the presence of underlying medical conditions (43,60). 


	Poliovirus Vaccine 
	Poliovirus Vaccine 
	The simplest approach to vaccinating with poliovirus vaccine is to revaccinate persons 
	aged <18 years with IPVaccording to the U.S. schedule. Adverse events after IPV are 
	rare (42) . Children appropriately vaccinated with 3 doses of OPV in economically 
	developing countries might have suboptimal seroconversion, including to type 3 
	poliovirus (42). 

	Rotavirus Vaccine 
	Rotavirus Vaccine 
	Rotavirus vaccination should not be initiated for infants aged ~15 weeks, o days. Infants who began the rotavirus vaccine series outside the United States but who did not complete the series and who are still aged :,;;8 months, o days, should follow the routine schedule and receive doses to complete the series. If the brand of a previously administered dose is live, reassortment pentavalent rotavirus vaccine or is unknown, a total of 3 doses of rotavirus vaccine should be documented for series completion. A

	Td and Tdap Vaccines 
	Td and Tdap Vaccines 
	Children aged ~7 years who are not considered fully vaccinated for pertussis should receive Tdap vaccine. "Fully vaccinated" means at least 5 doses of DTaP before the seventh birthday or at least 4 doses ofDTaP before the seventh birthday if the fourth dose is given after the fourth birthday. One dose of Tdap is recommended after the seventh birthday. If additional doses of vaccine are needed, Td should be administered as age appropriate. 
	Varicella Vaccine 
	Varicella vaccine is not available in most countries. A person who lacks evidence of 
	varicella immunity should be vaccinated as age appropriate (3,59). 
	Zoster Vaccine 
	Zoster Vaccine 
	In the United States, zoster vaccination is recommended for all persons aged ~66 years 
	who have no contraindications, including persons who report a previous episode of 
	zoster or who have chronic medical conditions. For persons who do not have 
	documentation ofreceipt of zoster vaccine, the vaccine should be offered at the patient's 
	first clinical encounter with the health-care provider. The vaccine is administered as a 
	single 0.65-mL subcutaneous dose. Zoster vaccination is not indicated to treat acute 
	zoster, to prevent persons with acute zoster from developing postherpetic neuralgia, or 
	to treat ongoing postherpetic neuralgia. Patients do not need to be asked about their 
	history of varicella or to have serologic testing conducted to deterµrine zoster immunity 
	prior to administration of zoster vaccine. 
	Vaccinating Persons with Increased Bleeding Risk 
	Providers often avoid giving intramuscular injections or choose alternative routes for persons with bleeding disorders because of the risk for hematoma formation after injections. In one study, hepatitis B vaccine was administered intramuscularly to 153 persons with hemophilia. The vaccination was administered with a 23-gauge or smaller caliber needle, followed by application of steady pressure to the site for 1-2 minutes. The vaccinations resulted in a low (4%) bruising rate, and no patients required facto
	When hepatitis B or any other intramuscularly administered vaccine is indicated for a patient with a bleeding disorder, the vaccine should be administered intramuscularly if a physician familiar with the patient's bleeding risk determines that the vaccine can be administered by this route with reasonable safety. If the patient receives antihemophilia or similar therapy, intramuscularly administered vaccinations can be scheduled shortly 
	When hepatitis B or any other intramuscularly administered vaccine is indicated for a patient with a bleeding disorder, the vaccine should be administered intramuscularly if a physician familiar with the patient's bleeding risk determines that the vaccine can be administered by this route with reasonable safety. If the patient receives antihemophilia or similar therapy, intramuscularly administered vaccinations can be scheduled shortly 
	after such therapy is administered. A fine-gauge needle (23-gauge or smaller caliber) should be used for the vaccination, followed by firm pressure on the site, without 

	rubbing, for at least 2 minutes. The patient or family should be given information on the risk for hematoma from the injection. Patients receiving anticoagulation therapy presumably have the same bleeding risk as patients with clotting factor disorders and should follow the same guidelines for intramuscular administration. Ifpossible, vaccination could be scheduled prior to the use of these medications, so that the patients' risk of bleeding is not increased by their therapeutic action. 
	C•J Enzyme immunoassay tests are available. Physicians should contact the laboratory performing the test for interpretive st1µ1dards and limitations. Protective concentrations for antibody to diphtheria and tetanus toxins are defined as·>0.1 IU/mL. 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	TABLE 9-1. Approaches to evaluation andvaccination ofpersons .vaccinated outside the United States who have no (or questionable) .vaccination records .
	Vaccine 
	Alternative approach<a) approach 
	Recommended 
	DTaP 
	DTaP 
	Revaccination with DTaP, 

	Persons whose records indicate with serologic testing for 
	receipt of ~3 doses: serologic testing specific IgG antibody to 
	for specific IgG antibody to tetanus and diphtheria 
	diphtheria and tetanus toxins before toxins in the event of a 
	administering additional doses (see severe local reaction 
	text), or administer a single booster dose of DTaP, followed by serological testing after 1 month for 
	,,... 
	specific IgG antibody to .diphtheria and tetanus toxins with revaccination as appropriate (see text) 
	HepA 
	HepA 
	Age-appropriate 

	Serologic testing for IgG antibodies revaccination 
	to hepatitis A 
	-revaccination and serologic testing for HBsAgCb) 
	-revaccination and serologic testing for HBsAgCb) 
	-revaccination and serologic testing for HBsAgCb) 
	HepB 

	Age-appropriate 

	I 
	-revaccination 
	-revaccination 
	-revaccination 
	Hib 

	Age-appropriate 

	HPV 
	HPV 
	Age-appropriate 

	-revaccination 
	Meningococcal 
	Age-appropriate 
	-conjugate 
	revaccination (MenACWY) 
	MMR 
	MMR 
	Revaccination with MMR 

	Serologic testing for IgG antibodies to measles, mumps, and rubella 
	Pneumococcal 
	-conjugate ( or in 
	Age-appropriate .revaccination .
	some cases, both 
	PCV13 and PPSV) 
	Poliovirus -inactivated poliovirus vaccme 
	Revaccination with 
	Rotavirus 
	Rotavirus 
	Rotavirus 
	Age-appropriate revaccination 
	-

	Tdap 
	Tdap 
	Age-appropriate revaccination of persons. who are candidates for Tdap vaccine 
	-

	Varicella 
	Varicella 
	Age-appropriate revaccination ofpersons who lack evidence of varicella immunity 
	-

	Zoster 
	Zoster 
	Age-appropriate revaccination 
	-

	Abbreviations: DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; HBsAg = hepatitis B surface antigen; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b; HPV = human papillomavirus; IgG = immuneglobulin G; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; PCV13 = pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis. Ca) There is a recommended approach for all vaccines and an alternative a
	Abbreviations: DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; HBsAg = hepatitis B surface antigen; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b; HPV = human papillomavirus; IgG = immuneglobulin G; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; PCV13 = pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis. Ca) There is a recommended approach for all vaccines and an alternative a



	REFERENCES 
	REFERENCES 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	Jackson BR, Iqbal S, Mahon B. Updated recommendations for the use of typhoid vaccine-Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2015. MMWR.Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(11):305-308. 

	2. .
	2. .
	Grohskopf LA, Shay DK, Shimabukuro TI, et al. Prevention and control of seasonal influenza with vaccines. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices-United States, 2013-2014. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-7):1-43. 

	3. .
	3. .
	Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

	4. .
	4. .
	Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR.Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32-34. 

	5. .
	5. .
	Starr S, Berkovich S. Effects of measles, gamma-globulin-modified measles and vaccine measles on the tuberculin test. N Engl J Med. 1964;270:386-391. DOI: 10.1056/nejm196402202700802 

	6. .
	6. .
	Brickman HF, Beaudry PH, Marks ML The timing of tuberculin tests in relation to immunization with live viral vaccines. Pediatrics. 1975;55(3):392396. 

	7. .
	7. .
	Berkovich S, Starr S. Effects oflive type 1 poliovirus vaccine and other viruses on the tuberculin test. N Engl J Med. 1966;274(2):67-72. DOI: 10.1056/nejm196601132740203 

	8. .
	8. .
	Wharton M, Strikas RA, Harpaz R, et al. Recommendations for using smallpox vaccine in a pre-event vaccination program. Supplemental recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2003;52(RR-7) :1-16. 

	9. .
	9. .
	Mazurek GH, Jereb J, Vernon A, LoBue P, Goldberg S, Castro K. Updated guidelines for using interferon gamma release assays to detect 


	Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection-United States, 2010. MMvVR Recomm·Rep. 2010;59(RR-5):1-25. 
	10. .
	10. .
	10. .
	Watson JC, Hadler SC, Dykewicz CA, Reef S, Phillips L. Measles, mumps, and rubella-vaccine use and strategies for elimination of measles, rubella, and congenital rubella syndrome and control of mumps: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 1998;47(RR-8):1-57. 

	11. 
	11. 
	Bernbaum JC, Daft A, Anolik R, et.al. Response ofpreterm infants to diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis immunizations. J Pediatr. 1985;107(2):184-188. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(85)80122-o 

	12. .
	12. .
	Koblin BA, Townsend TR, Munoz A, Onorato I, Wilson M, Polk BF. Response of preterm infants to diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis vaccine. Pediatr InfectDis J. 1988;7(10):704-711. 

	13. .
	13. .
	Smolen P, Bland R, Heiligenstein E, Lawless MR, Dillard R, Abramson J. Antibody response to oral polio vaccine in premature infants. J Pediatr. 1983;103( 6) :917-919. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3476(83)80714-8 

	14. .
	14. .
	Omenaca F, Garcia-Sicilia J, Garcia-Corbeira P, et al. Response of preterm newborns to immunization with a hexavalent diphtheria-tetanus-acellular pertussis-hepatitis B virus-inactivated polio andHaemophilus infl.uenzae type b vaccine: first experiences and solutions to a serious and sensitive issue. Pediatrics. 2005;116(6):1292-1298. DOI: 10.1.542/peds.2004-2336 

	15. .
	15. .
	Shinefield H, Black S, Ray P, Fireman B, Schwalbe J, Lewis E. Efficacy, immunogenicity and safety of heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate yaccine in low birth weight and preterm infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2002;21(3):182186. DOI: 10.1097/00006454-200203000-00003 

	16. 
	16. 
	Lau YL, Tam AY, Ng KW, et al. Response ofpreterm infants to hepatitis B vaccine. J Pediatr. 1992;121(6):962-965. DOI: 10.1016/Soo223476(05)80352-X 

	17. .
	17. .
	Patel DM, Butler J, Feldman S, Graves GR, Rhodes PG. Immunogenicity of hepatitis B vaccine in healthy very low birth weight infants. J Pediatr. 1997;131(4):641-643. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3476(97)70078-7 

	18. .
	18. .
	Kim SC, Chung EK, Hodinka RL, et al. Immunogenicity of hepatitis B vaccine in preterm infants. Pediatrics. 1997;99(4):534-536. DOI: 10.1542/peds.99,4.534 

	19. 
	19. 
	Losonsky GA, Wa~serman SS, Stephel)s I, et al. Hepatitis B vaccination of premature infants: a reassessment of current recommendations for delayed immunization. Pediatrics. 1999;103(2):E14. DOI: 10.1542/peds.103.2.e14 

	20. .
	20. .
	Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-16):1-31. 

	21. .
	21. .
	Cortese MM, Parashar UD. Prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants and children: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2009;58(RR-2):1-25. 

	22. .
	22. .
	Bohlke K, Galil K, Jackson LA, et al. Postpartum varicella vaccination: is the vaccine virus excreted in breast milk? Obstet Gynecol. 2003;102(5 Pt 1):970977. DOI: 10.1016/Soo29-7844(03)00860-3 

	23. .
	23. .
	Krogh V, Duffy LC, Wong D, Rosenband M, Riddlesberger KR, Ogra PL. Postpartum immunization with rubella virus vaccine and antibody response in breast-feeding infants. J Lab Clin Med. 1989;113(6):695-699. 

	24. .
	24. .
	Staples JE, Gershman M, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-7):1-27. 

	25. .
	25. .
	Pickering LK, Granoff DM, Erickson JR, et al. Modulation of the immune system by human milk and infant formula containing nucleotides. Pediatrics. 1998;101(2):242~249. DOI: 10.1542/peds.101.2.242 

	26. .
	26. .
	Kim-Farley R, Brink E, Orenstein W, Bart K. Vaccination and breast feeding. JAMA. 1982;248(19):2451-2452. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1982.03330190021019 

	27. .
	27. .
	Patriarca PA, Wright PF, John TJ. Factors affecting the immunogenicity of oral poliovirus vaccine in developing countries: review. Rev InfectDis. 1991;13(5): 9 2 6-9 3 9. 

	28. .
	28. .
	Hahn-Zoric M, Fulconis F, Minoli I, et al. Antibody responses to parenteral and oral vaccines are impaired by conventional and low protein formulas as compared to breast-feeding. Acta Paediatr Scand. 1990;79(12):1137-1142. DOI: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1990.tb11401.x 

	29. .
	29. .
	Koren G, Pastuszak A, Ito S. Drugs in pregnancy. N Engl J Med. .1998;338(16):1128-1137. DOI: 10.1056/nejm199804163381607 .

	30. .
	30. .
	Grabenstein JD. Vaccines and antibodies in relation to pregnancy and lactation. Hospital Pharmacy. 1999;34:949-960. 

	31. .
	31. .
	CDC. Guiding principles for development of ACIP recommendations for vaccination during pregnancy and breastfeeding. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2008;57(21):580. . 

	32. .
	32. .
	Mu·noz FM, Bond NH, Maccato M, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of tetanus diphtheria and acellular pertussis (Tdap) immunization during pregnancy in mothers and infants: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 


	· 2014;311(17):1760-1769. DOI: 10.1001/jama.2014.3633 
	33. .
	33. .
	33. .
	Wendelboe AM, Njamkepo_E, BourillonA, et al. Transmission of Bordetella pertussis to young infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2007;26(4):293-299. DOI: 
	10.1097/01.inf.0000258699.64164.6d 


	34. .
	34. .
	Kretsinger K, Broder KR, Cortese MM, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, and pertussis among adults: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid and acellular pertussis vaccine recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and recommendation ofACIP, supported by the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC), for use of Tdap among health-care personnel. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-17):1-37. 

	35. .
	35. .
	Neuzil KM, Reed GW, Mitchel EF, Simonsen L, Griffin MR. Impact of influenza on acute cardiopulmonary hospitalizations in pregnant women. Am J Epidemiol. 1998;148(11):1094-1102. DOI: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.aoo9587 

	36. .
	36. .
	Sumaya CV, Gibbs RS. Immunization of pregnant women with influenza A/New Jersey/76 virus vaccine: reactogenicity and immunogenicity in mother and infant. J Infect Dis. 1979;140(2):141-146. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/140.2.141 

	37. 
	37. 
	Munoz FM, Greisinger AJ, Wehmanen OA, et al. Safety ofinfluenza 


	J Obstet Gynecol. 2005;192(4):1098-1106. DOI: 10.1016/j.ajog.2004.12.019 
	vaccination during pregnancy.Am 

	38. .
	38. .
	38. .
	Englund JA, Mbawuike IN, Hammill H, Holleman MC, Baxter BD, Glezen WP. Maternal immunization with influenza or tetanus toxoid vaccine for passive antibody protection in young infants. J Infect Dis. 1993;168(3):647656. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/168.3.647 

	39. .
	39. .
	Puck JM, Glezen WP, FrankAL, Six HR. Protection of infants from infection with influenza A virus by transplacentaily acquired antibody. J Infect Dis. 1980;142(6):844-849. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/142.6.844 

	40. .
	40. .
	Reuman PD, Ayoub EM, Small PA. Effect of passive maternal antibody on influenza illness in children: a prospective study ofin~uenza A in motherinfant pairs. Pediatr InfectDis J. 1987;6(4):398-403. DOI: 10.1097I00006454-198704000-00011 

	41. .
	41. .
	Steinhoff MC, Orner SB, Roy E, et al. Influenza immunization in pregnancy


	antibody responses in mothers and infants. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(17):1644-1646. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMco912599 
	/ .

	42. .
	42. .
	42. .
	Prevots DR, Burr RK, Sutter RW, Murphy TV. Poliomyelitis prevention in the United States. Updated recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-5):1-22; quiz CE21-27. 

	43. .
	43. .
	CDC. Prevention of pneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1997;46(RR-8) :1-24. 

	44. .
	44. .
	Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWRRecomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

	45. .
	45. .
	Fiore AE, Wasley A, Bell BP. Prevention of hepatitis A through active or passive immunization: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-7):1-23. 

	46. .
	46. .
	Tsai TF, Paul R, Lynberg MC, Letson GW. Congenital yellow fever virus .·infection after immunization in pregnancy. J Infect Dis. 1993;168(6):15201523. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/168.6.1520 .

	4
	4
	7. Mast EE, Weinbaum CM, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) Part II: immunization of adults. MMWR Recomm(Rep. 2006;55(RR-16):1-33; quiz CE31-34. 

	48. .
	48. .
	Wilson E, Goss MA, Marin M, et al. Varicella vaccine exposure during pregnancy: data from 10 years ofthe pregnancy registry. J Infect Dis. 2008;197 Suppl 2:S178-184. DOI: 10.1086/522136 . 

	49. .
	49. .
	CDC. Revised ACIP ·recommendation for avoiding pregnancy after receiving a rubella-containing vaccine. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2001;50(49):1117. 

	50. .
	50. .
	CDC. Rubella vaccination during pregnancy-United States, 1971-1988. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1989;38(17):289-293. 

	51. .
	51. .
	Black NA, Parsons A, Kurtz JB, McWhinney N, Lacey A, Mayon-White RT. Post-partum rubella immunisation: a controlled trial of two vaccines. Lancet. 1983;2(8357):990-992. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(83)90979-o 

	52. .
	52. .
	CDC. Control and prevention of rubella: evaluation and management of suspected outbreaks, rubella in pregnant women, and surveillance for congenital rubella syndrome. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2001;5o(RR-12):1-23. 

	53. .
	53. .
	Murray TS, Groth ME, Weitzman C, Cappello M. Epidemiology and management of infectious diseases in international adoptees. Clin Microbial Rev. 2005;18(3):510-520. DOI: 10.1128/cmr.18.3.510-520.2005 

	54. .
	54. .
	Hostetter MK. Infectious diseases in internationally adopted children: findings in children from China, Russia, and eastern Europe. Adv Pediatr Infect Dis. 1999;14:147..:161. 

	55. .
	55. .
	Kriz B, Burian V, Slacllcy K, Burianova B, Mottlova 0, Roth Z. Comparison of titration results of diphtheric antitoxic antibodies obtained by means of Jensen's method and the methods of tissue cultures and haemagglutination. J Hyg Epidemiol Microbial Immunol. 1978;22(4):485-493. 

	56. .
	56. .
	CDC. Updated recommeridations from the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) for use of hepatitis A vaccine in close contacts ofnewly arriving international adoptees. MMWR Morb Mortal W/cly Rep. 2009;58(36):1006-1007. 

	57. .
	57. .
	CDC. Use of diphtheria toxoid-tetanus toxoid-acellular pertussis vaccine as a five-dose series. Supplemental recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MM'WR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-13):18. 

	58. .
	58. .
	Weinbaum CM, Williams I, Mast EE, et al. Recommendations for identification and public health management of persons with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-8) :1-20. 

	59. .
	59. .
	CDC. Recommended immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 years-United States, 2011. MMWR Morb Mortal W/cly Rep. 2011;60(5):1-4. 

	60. 
	60. 
	Nuorti JP, Whitney CG. Prevention of pneumococcal disease among infants and children -use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine -recommendations of the Advis01y Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-11):1-18. 

	61. .
	61. .
	Evans DI, Shaw A. Safety ofintramuscular injection ofhepatitis B vaccine in haemophiliacs. BMJ. 1990;300(6741):1694-1695. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.300.6741.1694-a 


	-, 




	10. Vaccination Records 
	10. Vaccination Records 
	Records of Health-Care Providers 
	Records of Health-Care Providers 
	Appropriate and timely vaccination documentation helps ensure not only that persons in need of recommended vaccine doses receive them but also that adequately vaccinated patients do not receive excess doses. Curtailing the number of excess doses administered to patients controls costs incurred by patients, providers, insurers, vaccination programs, and other stakeholders. In addition, avoidance of excess doses of vaccines should decrease the number of adverse reactions to vaccines. Health care providers who
	to record the edition date of the VIS distributed and the date those materials were provided. The Act considers a health-care provider to be any licensed health care professional, organization, or institution, whether private or public (including federal, state, and local departments and agencies), under whose authority a specified vaccine is administered. This information should be kept for all vaccines, not just for those required by the Act. Providers and staff members also should systematically update p
	Personal Records of Patients 
	Official childhood vaccination records have been adopted by every state and territory and the District of Columbia to encourage uniformity of records and to facilitate 
	assessment of vaccination status by schools and child-care centers. The records also are 
	key tools in vaccination education programs aimed at increasing parental and patient 
	awareness of the need for vaccines. This record can exist in electronic file format or in 
	hardcopy format. A permanent vaccination record should be established for each 
	newborn infant and maintained by the parent or guardian. The parent or guardian 
	should be educated abo-q.t the importance of keeping the record up-to-date and 
	instructed to keep the record indefinitely. These records should be distributed to new 
	parents and/or guardians before discharge from the hospital or birthing center. Using 
	vaccination records for adolescents and adults also is encouraged. Standardized adult 
	. 
	vaccination records are available at http://www.immunize.org

	Immunization Information Systems (IISs) 
	IISs (formerly referred to as immunization registries) are confidential, populationbased, computerized information systems that collect and consolidate vaccination data from multiple health care providers within a geographic area. IISs are a critical tool that can increase and sustain vaccination coverage by consolidating vaccination records from multiple providers, generating reminder and recall vaccination notices for each person, and providing official vaccination forms and vaccination coverage assessme
	Changing vaccination providers during the course of an individual's vaccination series is common in the United States. In addition to changes in providers, the vaccination records of persons who have changed vaccination providers often are unavailable or incomplete or might not have been entered into an IIS (2). Missing or inaccurate information regarding vaccines received previously might preclude accurate determination ofwhich vaccines are indicated at the time of a visit, resulting in administration of e
	A fully operational IIS also can prevent duplicate vaccinations, forecast when the next dose is due, limit missed appointments, allow recall for those who missed appointments, determine when vaccines need to be repeated (the technical IIS term for this is 
	A fully operational IIS also can prevent duplicate vaccinations, forecast when the next dose is due, limit missed appointments, allow recall for those who missed appointments, determine when vaccines need to be repeated (the technical IIS term for this is 
	"evaluation"), reduce vaccine waste, and reduce staff time required to produce or locate vaccination records or certificates. Most IISs have additional capabilities, such as measurement of vaccination update and coverage, aid in tracking vaccine inventory and placing vaccine orders, recall ofvaccine by lot number, maintenance oflifetime vaccination histories, and interoperability with other health information systems. The National Vaccine Advisory Committee recommends that vaccination providers participate 
	www.cdc.gov/ehrmeaningfuluse/introduction.html


	One ofthe national Healthy People objectives for 2020 is 95% participation of children aged <6 years in a fully operational population-based IIS (objective 20.1) (3,4). Participating in an IIS means having two or more vaccinations recorded in the IIS. 2012 IIS data indicate that approximately 86% of children aged <6 years with two or more vaccinations were participating in IISs (4,5) . 
	The National Vaccine Advisory Committee recommends that public health departments work toward including adults in all state IISs, reduce barriers to including adult vaccination records in IISs, and ensure that IISs meet new standards of EHR interoperabilityto track and maintain adult vaccination records (6). 
	Nationally, 57.8 million U.S. adults aged 19 years or older participated in an IIS in 2012 
	(4) . This number reflects adults who may have had childhood vaccines entered during childhood and now have aged to adults. In 2013, 32% of U.S. adults had a record in the IIS and at least one vaccination administered during adulthood. 
	REFERENCES 
	REFERENCES 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act, 42 U.S.C. Sect. 3ooaa-1 to 3ooaa-34 (1986). 

	2. .
	2. .
	CDC. Immunization information systems progress-United States, 2006. MMWR MorbMortal W/cly Rep. 2008;57(11):289-291. 

	3. .
	3. .
	US Department of Health and Human Services. Immunization and infectious diseases. Healthy people2010. Vol 1 (conference edition). 1st ed. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office; 2000. 

	4. .
	4. .
	CDC. Progress in immunization information systems -United States, 2012. .MMWRMqrbMortal W/cly Rep. 2013;62(49):1005-1008. .

	5. .
	5. .
	Mangione~Smith R, DeCristofaroAH, Setodji CM, et al. The quality of .ambulatory care delivered to children in the United States. N Engl J Med. .2007;·357(15)_:1515-1523. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMsao64637 .

	6. .
	6. .
	National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Recommendations from the National Vaccine Advisory committee: standards for adult immunization practice. Public Health Rep. 2014;129(2):115-123. 





	11. Vaccination Programs 
	11. Vaccination Programs 
	Updates 
	Updates 
	The major revision to this s_ection is the addition oflanguage related to Affordable Care 
	Act (1) coverage of adult vaccination. 

	General Principles 
	General Principles 
	Universal vaccination is a critical part of quality health-care and should be accomplished through routine and catch-up vaccination provided in physicians' offices, public health clinics, and other appropriate settings. In the United States, vaccination is considered primarily the responsibility of individual health care providers and health care systems serving patients. 
	Certain programs and other efforts attempt to ensure all patients receive the full 
	schedule of appropriate vaccinations by removing barriers posed by access to 
	immunizations, cost, or other factors. Su~h efforts may include school-located clini"cs, 
	school-based health centers, back-to-school immunization clinics, public health clinics 
	for schoolchildren, periodic influenza vaccination clinics, public health nurse tracking of 
	childhood immunizations, and government-sponsored financing of vaccines through the 
	Vaccines for Children and Section 317 program http:// 
	. www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/admin/vfc.html ). 

	In the United States, vaccination programs have eliminated many vaccine-prev~ntable diseases and markedly reduced the incidence of others (2). Because infants and young children were the principal recipients of most vaccines developed during the twentieth century (e.g., poliovirus vaccine), many persons in the United States might believe that vaccinations are solely for the young; however, vaccinations are recommended for persons of all ages (3,4). Improved vaccination coverage can result in additional redu
	Vaccination of Children and Adolescents 
	Physicians and other pediatric vaccination providers should adhere to the standards for child and adolescent vaccination practices (5) . These standards are published by the National Vaccine Advisory Committee and define appropriate vaccination practices for both public and private sectors. The standards provide guidance on practices that eliminate barriers to vaccination, including eliminating unnecessary prerequisites for receiving vaccinations, eliminating missed opportunities to vaccinate, improving pro
	While rates of childhood vaccination are generally higher than rates of adult vaccination, for some doses <;:overage rates are still low, like the birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine. Community health-care providers, as well as state and local public health vaccination programs, should coordinate with partners to identify and maximize outreach to populations at risk for undervaccination and vaccine-preventable diseases. For example, the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (
	http://www.fns.usda.gov/pd/wicmain.htm

	refer eligible children to obtain WIC nutritional services, at 
	www.fns.usda.gov/wic/immunization-screening-and-referral-wic ( 6). 
	www.fns.usda.gov/wic/immunization-screening-and-referral-wic ( 6). 

	Adolescent-Specific Issues 
	Adolescent-Specific Issues 
	Vaccinations are recommended throughout life, including during' adolescence. The age range for adolescence is defined as 11-21 years by many professional associations, including the American Academy of Pediatrics and the American Medical Association (7,8). Definitions of these age cutoffs differ depending on the·source of the definition and the source's purpose for creating a definition. Vaccination of adolescents is critical for preventing diseases for which adolescents are at particularly high or increasi
	National goals for vaccination coverage for adolescents aged 13-15 years were included in Healthy People 2020, athttp://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics
	objectives/topic/immunization-and-infectious-diseases. Targets of 80% coverage were specified for one dose of Tdap, one dose of meningococcal conjugate vaccine, and 3 doses of HPV vaccine. Results of the published 2014 National Immunization SurveyTeen indicate that coverage rates for 13-17 years olds is 87.6% for one dose of Tdap and 79.3% for one dose of meningococcal vaccine. Coverage rates for 13-17 years olds for HPVvaccine are considerably lower-39.7% for females and 21.6% for males (9,10) . 
	Ensuring adolescents receive routine and catch-up vaccination and achieving high levels of vaccination coverage present challenges. In general, adolescents do not visit health care providers frequently. Health care providers should promote annual preventive 
	Ensuring adolescents receive routine and catch-up vaccination and achieving high levels of vaccination coverage present challenges. In general, adolescents do not visit health care providers frequently. Health care providers should promote annual preventive 
	visits (11), including one specifically for adolescents aged 11 and 12 years. The annual visits should be used as opportunities to provide routinely recommended vaccine doses, additional catch-up doses needed for lapsed vaccine series, vaccines recommended for high-risk groups, additional doses that might have been recently recommended, and· other recommended health-care services. Additional strategies include adolescent immunizations at community-based venues such as pharmacies and schools. 

	All V9-ccine doses should be administered according to ACIP vaccine-specific statements and with the most recent schedules for both routine and catch-up vaccination. Before leaving any visit for medical care, adolescents should be encouraged to schedule return visits for any additional vaccine doses needed. During visits that occur outside of influenza season, providers should discuss and recommend seasonal influenza vaccination and make explicit plans for vaccination, including timing and anticipated setti
	One of the challenges of adolescent vaccination is ensuring that current, c<;>mplete vaccination histories are available. Insurers, covered services, or reimbursement levels can change, and these changes might affect reimbursement for vaccine doses and vaccination services directly while also causing disruptions in an adolescent's access to vaccination providers or venues. In circumstances in which a vaccination record is unavailable, vaccination providers should attempt to obtain this information from vari
	One of the challenges of adolescent vaccination is ensuring that current, c<;>mplete vaccination histories are available. Insurers, covered services, or reimbursement levels can change, and these changes might affect reimbursement for vaccine doses and vaccination services directly while also causing disruptions in an adolescent's access to vaccination providers or venues. In circumstances in which a vaccination record is unavailable, vaccination providers should attempt to obtain this information from vari
	http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/immuniz-records.htm

	influenza and pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccines, if documentation of a vaccine dose is not available, the adolescent should be considered unvaccinated for that dose. Regardless of the venue in which an adolescent receives a dose ofvaccine, that vaccine dose should be documented in the patient's ~hart or in an office log, and the information should be entered into an IIS. The adolescent also should be provided with a record that documents the vaccination history. 


	Adult Vaccination 
	Adult Vaccination 
	In 2013, the National Vaccine Advisory Committee published updated standards for adult vaccination (12). These standards are targeted to distinct groups involved in adult vaccination, including immunizing providers, non-immunizing providers, professional health-care organizations, and public health departments. All health-care providers, whether they provide immunizations or not, should incorporate immunization needs assessment into every clinical encounter, strongly recommend needed vaccine(s) and either a
	Vaccination rates in adults are considered suboptimal (13,14). New Healthy People 2020 goals include specific subsets of adults, including institutionalized adults aged ·;?;18 years (for pneumococcal vaccines) and noninstitutionalized adults at high risk aged >18 years (for pneumococcal vaccines) (9). 
	The most substantial barrier to vaccination coverage is lack of lmowledge about these vaccines among adult patients and adult providers. Other barriers are cost (incomplete Medicare coverage for recommended vaccines) (15) and the lack of financing mechanisms for newly licensed and recommended vaccines. Effective for private health insurance plans drafted or updated after September 2010, coverage for all immunizations that are included on the immunization schedule(s) must be covered 
	The most substantial barrier to vaccination coverage is lack of lmowledge about these vaccines among adult patients and adult providers. Other barriers are cost (incomplete Medicare coverage for recommended vaccines) (15) and the lack of financing mechanisms for newly licensed and recommended vaccines. Effective for private health insurance plans drafted or updated after September 2010, coverage for all immunizations that are included on the immunization schedule(s) must be covered 
	without deductibles or co-pays, when delivered by an in-network provider. For this 

	reason, cost may present less of a barrier to adult vaccination as time passes. 
	A common challenge for health-care providers is vaccinating adults with unknown vaccination records. In general (except for influenza and pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccines), adults should receive a vaccine dose if the dose is recommended and no record of previous administration exists. If an adult has a record of military service and does not have records available, providers can assume that the person has received all vaccines recommended by the military at the time of service entry. Serologic testing m
	Evidence-based Interventions to Increase Vaccination Coverage 
	The independent, nonfederal Task Force on Community Preventive Services, whose membership is appointed by CDC, provides public health decision-makers with recommendations on population-based interventions to promote health and prevent disease, injury, disability, and premature death. The recommendations are based on systematic reviews ofthe scientific literature about effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of these interventions. In addition, the task force identifies critical information about the other effe
	http: //www.thecommunityguide.org. 

	Beginning in 1996, the task force systematically reviewed published evidence on the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of population-based interventions to increase coverage ofvaccines recommended for routine use among children, adolescents, and adults. A total of 197 articles were identified that evaluated a relevant intervention, met inclusion criteria, and were published during 1980-1997. Reviews of 17 specific 
	Beginning in 1996, the task force systematically reviewed published evidence on the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of population-based interventions to increase coverage ofvaccines recommended for routine use among children, adolescents, and adults. A total of 197 articles were identified that evaluated a relevant intervention, met inclusion criteria, and were published during 1980-1997. Reviews of 17 specific 
	interventions were published in 1999 (13,14,16,17). Using the results of their review, the task force made recommendations about the use of these interventions (15). Several interventions were identified and recommended on the basis of published evidence. Follow-up reviews were published in 2000, and a review of interventions to improve the coverage of adults at high risk was conducted in 2005 (15,17). The interventions and the recommendations are summarized in this section ofthis report (Table 11-1). Inter

	A 2008 update of the original task force systematic review of the evidence on the effectiveness ofprovider assessment and feedback for increasing coverage rates found that this strategy remains an effective intervention (18). This later update reviewed 19 new studies published during 1997-2007. The updated review supports the original task force recommendation for use of assessment and feedback based on strong evidence of effectiveness. The task force reviewed studies of assessment and feedback as a strateg
	http://www.thecommunityguide.org/vaccines/universally/providerassessment.html

	Other General Programmatic Issues 
	Programmatic challenges, evolving issues, and effective interventions related to adult and adolescent vaccination programs have been described by other advisory groups and expert groups. Additional evidence-based approaches are being developed for certain issues (e.g., settings for adolescent vaccination delivery) through ongoing research and evaluation. Among current programmatic challenges, vaccine financing is especially difficult because certain problems and solutions differ markedly from one state to 
	' 
	another. Practitioners interested in beginning or continuing to provide vaccinations to 
	patients are encouraged to consult with local and state public health vaccination 
	programs to learn about publicly funded programs that might be available in their areas 
	for patients who need vaccination but have insufficient health insurance coverage and 
	no financial resources. Ifnot already participating, providers who care for adolescents 
	and children aged <19 years should enroll in the Vaccines for Children Program (http:// ). Through this program's provision of ACIP-recommended, federally purchased vaccines, participating providers are able to fully vaccinate eligible children whose parents might not otherwise be able to afford the vaccinations. Interested providers are encouraged to work with insurers, state and specialty-specific medical organizations, vaccine manufacturers, and other stakeholders to address financial barriers to achievi
	www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/admin/vfc.html 

	Figure
	Figure
	TABLE 11-1. Recommendations regarding interventions to improve .coverage ofvaccines recommendedfor routine use among children, .adolescents, and adults · .Intervention .
	Recommendation .Increase community demandfor vaccination .
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Client reminder or recall systems 
	Recommended .Requirements for entry to schools, child-care .
	Figure
	Recommended .facilities, and colleges .
	Community education alone 
	Insufficient evidence .Community-based interventions implemented in .
	Recommended .combination .
	Clinic-based education 
	Insufficient evidence .Patient or family incentives .
	Recommended .Patient or family monetary sanctions .
	Insufficient evidence .Client-held medical records .
	Insufficient evidence 
	Enhance access to vaccination services 
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Figure
	Reducing out-of-pocket costs 
	Recommended .Enhancing access through the U.S. Department of .
	Recommended Agriculture's Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) program 
	Figure
	Home visits, outreach, and case management 
	Recommended targeted to particularly hard-to-reach populations to increase vaccination rates 
	Enhancing access at schools 
	Recommended .Expanding access in health-care settings .
	Recommended as part of multicomponent interventions only 
	Enhancing access at organized child care centers 
	Enhancing access at organized child care centers 
	Recommended 

	Focus on providers 
	Figure
	Figure
	Provider reminder or recall systems 
	Provider reminder or recall systems 
	Recommended 

	Provider assessment and feedback 
	Provider assessment and feedback 
	Provider assessment and feedback 
	Recommended 

	Standing orders 
	Standing orders 
	Recommended 

	Provider education alone 
	Provider education alone 
	Insufficient evidence 

	Health-care systems-based interventions 
	Health-care systems-based interventions 
	Recommended 

	integrated in combination . 
	integrated in combination . 

	Immunization information systems 
	Immunization information systems 
	Recommended 

	. Source: www.thecommunityguide.org/topic/vaccination. 
	. Source: www.thecommunityguide.org/topic/vaccination. 


	TABLE 11-2. Strategies to improve influenza, pneumococcal polysaccharide, and hepatitis B vaccine coverage amonghigh-risk adults 
	younger than 65 years 
	improve access to vaccination services 
	One or both of these interventions to 

	\ 
	\ 
	PLUS: One or more of these provider or system based interventions 
	AND/OR: One or both of these interventions to increase client demand for vaccination serv1ces 
	1. 
	1. 
	1. 
	Expanded access in health-care settings 

	2. 
	2. 
	Reducing client out-of-pocket costs 


	1. 
	1. 
	1. 
	Standing orders 

	2. 
	2. 
	Provider reminder systems 

	3. 
	3. 
	Provider assessment or feedback 


	1. 
	1. 
	1. 
	Client reminder systems 

	2. 
	2. 
	Client education 


	n --L n ~~r~;rn r.: 11irlPlinP<; for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 
	1 

	Source (15) 

	REFERENCES 
	REFERENCES 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	The Patient Protection and.Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No. 111-148 (2010). 

	2. .
	2. .
	Roush SW, Murphy TV. Historical comparisons of morbidity and mortality for vaccine-preventable diseases in the United States. JAMA.. 2007;298(18):21552163. DOI: 10.1001/jama.298.18.2155 

	3. .
	3. .
	Strikas RA. Advis01y committee on immunization practices recommended immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 years-United States, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(4):93-94. 

	4. .
	4. .
	Kim DK, Bridges CB, Harriman KH. Advisory committee on immunization practices recommended immunization schedule for adults aged 19 years or older-United States, 2015. MMWR Mo;b Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(4):9192. 

	5. .
	5. .
	National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Standards for child and adolescent immunization practices. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4):958-963. 

	6. .
	6. .
	CDC. Recommendations ofthe Advisory Committee on Immunization 


	' 
	Practices: programmatic strategies to increase vaccination coverage by age 2 
	years-.linkage ofvaccination and WIC services. MMWRMorb Mortal Wkly 
	Rep. 1996;45(10):217-218. 
	7. .
	7. .
	7. .
	Hagan J, Shaw J, Duncan P, eds. Brightfutures: guidelines for health supervision on infants, children and adolescents. 3rd ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2008. 

	8. .
	8. .
	CDC. Immunization of adolescents. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, the American Academy of Pediatrics, the American Academy of Family Physicians, and the American Medical Association. MMWR Recomm Rep. 1996;45(RR-13):1-16. 

	9. .
	9. .
	US Department of Health and Human Services. Immunization and infectious diseases. Healthy People 2020 website. /2020/topics-objectives/topic/ immunizationand-infectious-diseases. Accessed 09 March, 2017. 
	https://www.healthypeople.gov


	10. .
	10. .
	CDC. U.S. vaccination coverage reported via NIS-Teen. 2016; https:/ / ./ coverage/teenvaxview /index.html. .Accessed 09 March 2017. .
	www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers


	11. .
	11. .
	Mangione-Smith R, DeCristofaro AH, Setodji CM, et al. The quality of .ambulatory care delivered to children in the United States. N Engl J Med. .2007;357(15) :1515-1523. DOI: 10.1056 /NEJMsao64637 .

	12. .
	12. .
	National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Recommendations from the National Vaccine Advisory committee: standards for adult immunization practice. Public Health Rep. 2014;129(2):115-123. 

	13. 
	13. 
	Shefer A, Briss P, Rodewald L, et al. Improving immunization coverage rates: an evidence-based review of the literature. Epidemiol Rev. 1999;21(1):96-142. 

	14. 
	14. 
	CDC. Vaccine-preventable diseases: improving vaccination coverage in children, adolescents, and adults. A report on recommendations from the Task Force on Community Preventive Services. MMWR Recomm Rep. 1999;48(RR-8):1-15. 

	15. .
	15. .
	Ndiaye SM, Hopkins DP, Shefer AM, et al. Interventions to_improve influenza, pneumococcal polysaccharide, and hepatitis B vaccination coverage among high-risk adults: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med. 2005;28(5 Suppl) :248279. DOI: 10.1016/j.amepre.2005.02.016 

	16. .
	16. .
	Briss PA, Rodewald LE, Hinman AR, et al. Reviews of evidence regarding interventions to improve vaccination coverage in children, adolescents, and adults. The Task Force on Community Preventive Services. Am J Prev Med. 2000;18(1 Suppl):97-140. DOI: 10.1016/So749-3797(99)00118-X 

	17. .
	17. .
	Task Force on Community Preventive S. Recommendations regarding interventions to improve vaccination coverage in children, adolescents, and adults12. Am J Prev Med. 2000;18(1, Supplement 1):92-96. DOI: 10.1016/So749-3797(99)00121-X 

	18. .
	18. .
	CDC. Vaccination programs: provider assessment and feedback. The Com~unity Guide website. 2015; provider-assessment-and-feedback. Accessed 09 March 2017. 
	https:/ /www.thecommunityguide.org/findings/vaccination-programs



	12. Vaccine Information Sources 
	In addition to these general recommendations, the following sources contain specific 
	and updated vaccine information. 

	CDC-INFO Contact Center · 
	CDC-INFO Contact Center · 
	The CDC-INFO contact center is supported by CDC and.provides public health-related 
	information, including vaccination information, for health-care providers and the 
	public, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. To contact CDC-INFO online at any time, visit 
	wwwn.cdc.gov/dcs/RequestForm.aspx. To contact CDC-INFO by telephone, call 
	between 8 am to 8 pm Eastern Time Monday through Friday at [English and Spanish]: 
	800-232-4636; telephone [TTY]: 800-232-6348. 

	CDC's National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases 
	CDC's National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases 
	CDC's National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases website provides 
	direct access to ACIP's best practices for vaccination guidance, vaccination schedules, 
	automated child schedulers, an adult immunization scheduler, vaccine safety information, publications, provider education and training, and links to other vaccination-related websites (h~tp://www.cdc.gov/vaccines). 

	Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) 
	Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) 
	Some ACIP guidance regarding vaccine use, statements of vaccine policy as they are developed, and reports of specific disease activity are published by CDC in the MMvVR series and Subscriptions to print versions also are available from the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402-9235 (telephone: 202-512-1800). 
	can be found at http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/ACIP-list.htm. Electronic 
	subscriptions are free (http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/mmwrsubscribe.html). 

	American Academy of Famil:y Physicians (AAFP) 
	American Academy of Famil:y Physicians (AAFP) 
	Information from the professional organization offamily physicians is available at 
	http://
	www.aafp.org. 


	American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) 
	American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) 
	Every 3 years, AAP issues the Red Boole: Report ofthe Committee on Infectious 
	Diseases, which contains a composite summary ofAAP and ACIP recommendations 
	concerning infectious diseases and vaccinations for infants, children, and adolescents 
	(telephone: 888-227-1770; website: ). 
	http://www.aap.org


	American College of Physicians (ACP) 
	American College of Physicians (ACP) 
	Produced by faculty ofACP's Quality Improvement Programs and members of the ACP Adult Immunization Advisory Board, the ACP Guide to Adult Immunization helps internists develop systematic processes for incorporating immunization in their day-today practice (/)
	seehttp://www.acponline.org
	.. 


	American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) 
	American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) 
	The American Congress of Obstetricians anQ. Gynecologists (ACOG), formerly the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, is a professional association of physicians specializing in obstetrics and gynecology in the United States. Information about ACOG can be found at . 
	www.acog.org

	American Pharmacists Association (APhA) 
	Founded in 1852, APhA is the largest association ofpharmacists in the United States,
	7 
	with more than 62,000 practicing pharmacists, pharmaceutical scientists, student pharmacists, pharmacy technicians as mel!lbers. Information about APhA educational activities can be found at . 
	www.pharmacist.com/immunization-center



	Group on Immunization Education of the Society of Teachers of Family Medicine 
	Group on Immunization Education of the Society of Teachers of Family Medicine 
	The Group on Immunization Education of the Society ofTeachers of Family Medicine provides information for clinicians, including the free program Shots. Shots includes the childhood, adolescent, and adult schedules for iPhone, Palm, and Windows devices, as 
	well as online versions (http://www.immunizationed.org/ ). 


	Immunization Action Coalition (IAC) 
	Immunization Action Coalition (IAC) 
	IAC provides child~ teen, and adult immunization information for health care professionals and CDC-reviewed technical pieces, patient handouts, VISs in multiple languages, and the weekly immunization news and information service "IAC Express," available at . Information for the general public about vaccines and vaccine-preventable diseases is available at . 
	their patients at http: //www.immunize.org. Free materials include 
	http://www.immunize.org/express
	http://www.vaccineinformation.org


	Institute for Vaccine Safety 
	Institute for Vaccine Safety 
	Located at the Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, tp.e Institute for Vaccine Safety provides information about vaccine safety concerns and objective and timely information to physicians and health-care providers and parents. The Institute for Vaccine Safety also includes links to tables that include all vaccine components () . 
	http://www.vaccinesafety.edu


	State and Local Health Departments 
	State and Local Health Departments 
	State and local health departments provide technical advice through hotlines, e-mail, and websites, including printed information regarding vaccines and_immunization schedules, posters, and other educational materials (see and /international/ relres.html). 
	http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers/awardee-imz-websites.html 
	www.cdc.gov/mmwr 

	Vaccine Education Center 
	Vaccine Education Center 
	Located at the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, the Vaccine Education Center provides patient and provider vaccine information (programs /vaccine-education-center). 
	http://www.chop.edu/centers

	Appendix 1: Glossary 
	Adverse event. An untoward event that occurs after a vaccination that might be caused by the vaccine product or vaccination process. Adverse events include those that have the following characteristics: 1) vaccine induced (caused by the intrinsic characteristic ofthe vaccine preparation and the individual response ofthe vaccinee): these events would not have occurred without vaccinatio,n (e.g., vaccine-associated para~ytic poliomyelitis); 2) vaccine potentiated: the events would have occurred anyway but wer
	Adverse events following immunization: assessing probability of causation. Pediatr Neural. 1989;5:287--90. 
	Adverse reaction. An undesirable medical condition that has been demonstrated to be caused by a vaccine. Evidence for the causal relation is usually obtained through randomized clinical trials, controlled epidemiologic studies, isolation of the vaccine strain from the pathogenic site, or recurrence of the condition with repeatedvaccination (i.e., rechallenge); synonyms include side effect and adverse effect. 
	Adjuvant. A vaccine component distinct from the antigen that enhances the immune response to the antigen. 
	Antitoxin. A solution of antibodies against a toxin. Antitoxin can.be derived from either human (e.g., tetanus immune globulin) or animal (usually equine) sources (e.g., 
	189
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 1: Glossary 
	diphtheria and botulism antitoxin). Antitoxins are used to confer passive immunity and 
	for treatment. 
	Hyperimmune globulin (specific). Special preparations obtained from blood plasma from donor pools preselected for a high antibody content against a specific antigen (e.g., hepatitis B immune globulin, varicella-zoster immune globulin, rabies immune globulin, tetanus immune globulin, vaccinia immune globulin, cytomegalovirus 
	I 
	immune globulin, botulism immune globulin). 
	Immune globulin. A sterile solution containing antibodies, which are usually obtained from human blood. It is obtained by cold ethanol fractionation oflarge pools of blood plasma and contains 15%-18% protein. Intended for intramuscular administration, immune globulin is primarily indicated for routine maintenance of immunity among certain immunodeficient persons and for passive protection against measles and hepatitis A. 
	Immunobiologic. Antigenic substances (e.g., vaccines and toxoids) or antibody
	containing preparations (e.g., globulins and antitoxins) from human or animal donors. These products are used for active or passive immunization or therapy. Examples of immunobiologics include antitoxin, immune globulin and hyperimmune globulin, 
	monoclonal antibodies, toxoids, and vaccines. 
	Intravenous immune globulin. A product derived from blood plasma from a donor pool similar to the immune globulin pool, but prepared so that it is suitable for intravenous use. Intravenous immune globulin is used primarily for replacement therapy in primary antibody-deficiency disorders, for treatment of Kawasaki disease, immune thrombocytopenic purpura, hypogammaglobulinemia in chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and certain cases of human immunodeficiency virus infection (Table 3-5). 
	Monoclonal antibody. An antibody product prepared from a single lymphocyte clone, which contains only antibody against a single antigen. 
	Simultaneous. In the context of vaccine timing and spacing, occurring on the same clinic day, at different anatomic sites, and not combined in the same syringe. 
	190
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 1: Glossary 
	Toxoid. A modified bacterial toxin that has .been made nontoxic, but retains the ability to stimulate the formation of antibodies to the toxin. 
	Vaccination andimmunization. The terms vaccine and vaccination are derived from vacca, the Latin term for cow. Vaccine was the term used by Edward Jenner to describe material used (i.e., cowpox virus) to produce immunity to smallpox. The term vaccination was used by Louis Pasteur in the 19th century to include the physical act of administering any vaccine or toxoid. Immunization is a more inclusive term, denoting the process of inducing or providing immunity by administering an immunobiologic. Immunization 
	Vaccine. A suspension oflive (usually attenuated) or inactivated microorganisms (e.g., bacteria or viruses) or fractions thereof administered to induce immunity and prevent infectious disease or its sequelae. Some vaccines contain highly defined antigens (e.g., the polysaccharide of Haemophilus influenzae type b or the surface antigen of hepatitis B); others have antigens that are complex or incompletely defined (e.g., Bordetella pertussis antigens or live, attenuated viruses). 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 1: Glossary 
	191 
	Appendix 2: Membership 
	Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices .Membership List, October 2014 .Chair: TEMTE, Jonathan L., MD, PhD, University ofWisconsin School of Medicine .
	and Public Health Madison, WI · .
	Executive Secretary: Larry Pickering, MD, National Center for Immunization and .Respiratory Diseases, CDC, Atlanta, Georgia. .Members: BENNETT, Nancy, MD, MS, University of Rochester School of Medicine .
	and Dentistry Rochester, NY .· BELONGIA, Edward, MD, Marshfield Clinic Research Foundation Marshfield, WI .
	BOCCHINI, Joseph A., Jr., MD, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center .Shreveport, LA .CAMPOS-OUTCALT, Douglas, MD, MPA, Mercy Care Plan Phoenix, AZ .HARRIMAN, Kathleen, PhD, MPH, RN, California Department of Public Health .
	Richmond, CA .HARRISON, Lee H., MD, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA ,_ .KARRON, Ruth A., MD, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health Baltimore, .
	MD .KEMPE, Allison, MD, MPH, The Children's Hospital of Denver, Denver, CO .PELLEGRINI, Cynthia, March of Dimes Washington,_DC .REINGOLD, Arthur L., MD, School of Public Health University of California Berkeley, .
	CA .RILEY, Laura E., MD, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA .ROMERO, Jose R., MD, FAAP, Arkansas Children's Hospital Research Institute, Little .
	Rock,AR .RUBIN, Lorry, MD, Hofstra-North Shore LIJ School of Medicine Hempstead, NY .VAzQUEZ, Marietta, MD, Yale University School of Medicine New Haven, CT .Ex Officio Members: Amy Groom, MPH, Indian Health Service, .Albuquerque, New .
	Mexico; Jesse Geibe, MD, Department of Defense, CDC; Melissa Houston, MD, Health Resources and Services Administration;Rockville, Maryland; Bruce Gellin, MD, National Vaccine Program Office, Washington, District of Columbia; Mary Beth Hance, 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 2: Membership 
	Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Baltimore, Maryland; Richard L. Gorman, 
	MD, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland; Wellington Sun, MD, Food and 
	Drug Administration, Bethesda, Maryland; Linda Kinsinger, MD, Department of 
	Veterans Affairs, Durham, North Carolina. 
	Liaison Representatives: American Academy of Family Physicians, Jamie Loehr, MD, Ithaca, New York; American Academy of Pediatrics, Carrie Byington, MD, Salt Lake City, Utah; David Kimberlin, MD, Birmingham, Alabama; American Academy of Physician Assistants, Marie-Michele Leger MPH, Alexandria, Virginia; American College Health Association, Susan Even, MD, Columbia, Missouri; American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, Kevin Ault, MD, Kansas City, Kansas; American College of Physicians, Sandra Adams
	Ruiz, Mexico; National Medical Association, Patricia Whitley-Williams, MD, New Brunswick, New Jersey; National Vaccine Advisory Committee, Walter Orenstein, MD, Atlanta, Georgia; Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society, Mark Sawyer, MD, San Diego, California; Janet Englund, MD, Seattle, Washington; Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers ofAmerica, Damian A. Braga, Swiftwater, Pennsylvania; Society for Adolescent Medicine, Amy Middleman, MD, Houston, Texas; Society for Healthcare Epidemiology ofAmerica, Dav
	Members ofthe General Recommendations on Immunization Working Group 
	Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), Marietta Vazquez, MD; Doug Campos-Outcalt, MD; Harriman, Kathleen, PhD, MPH, RN; Pellegrini, Cynthia; ACIP Liaison and Ex-Officio Members, Chris Barry, American Academy of Physician Assistants; Katie Brewer, MSN, RN, American Nurses Associatfon; Stephan L. Foster, PharmD, American Pharmacists Association; Stanley E. Grogg, DO, American Osteopathic Association; Paul Hunter, MD, American Academy of Family Physicians; 
	General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 2: Membership 19 3 
	Shainoor Ismail, Public Health Association of Canada; Walter Orenstein, MD, American .Academy of Pediatrics; Mark Sawyer, MD, Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society; David .Weber, MD, Society for Healthcare Epidemiology ofAmerica; CDC Staff Members, .Angela Calugar, MD, Robin Curtis, MD, Sophia Greer, Theresa Harrington, MD, .Jennifer Liang, DVM, MPH, Elaine Miller, Gina Mootrey, DO, Larry Pickering, MD, .Jean Smith, MD, Raymond Strikas, MD, MPH, Donna Weaver, MSN, Jessie Wing, MD, .MPH, Joellen Walicki, RN,
	194







	IV. New Bus. B. Transient Vacation Rentals and C. Chpt 9 and 6
	Structure Bookmarks
	IV. New Business 
	B.Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to the "Interpretative Administrative Zoning Rules and Regulations (2014) ofthe l(auai Planning Commission," Relating to Chapter 8, 9, and 10 of the l(auai County Code (1987), Enforcement of I<.PAR 8-19, l(auai County Code, Chapter 8, Article 17, Relating to Transient Vacation Rentals of the Kauai County Code, promulgated by the County ofl(auai Planning Commission 
	lli ,:L lli' ~ ,:o:rn 
	Figure

	PRE-PUBLIC HEARING .SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT .TO THE .
	~~dllt-6
	~~dllt-6
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 
	(Hawaii Revised Statutes §201 M-2) Department or Agency: Kauai Planning Department Adm in istrative Ru Ie Ti tie and Chapter: 
	lnlerprellve Administrative Zoning Rules and Regulations of !he Kauai Planning Commission 
	Chapter Name: 
	Administrative Rules Pertaining to tho lntorpretallon and Enforcement of Kauai County Code Chapter 8. Article 17 Relaling lo Transient Vacalion Rentals 
	Contact Person/Title: Kaaina Hull, Deputy Director Planning Department; Jodi Higuchi, Deputy County Attorney 
	Phone Number: (808)241-4050; (808)241-4930 
	E-mail Address: Date: 1-30-17 
	khull@kauai.gov
	; jhiguchi@kauai.gov 

	A .To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §927, please attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general .description of the subjects involved. · .
	B. .Are the draft rules available for viewing i~erson and on the Lieutenant Governor's .Website pursuant to HRS §92-7? Yes ./ Non (If Yes, please provide .webpage address and when and where ru es mayTe viewed in person© .
	http:l/www.kauai.gov/Planning 
	http:l/www.kauai.gov/Planning 

	(Please keep the proposed rules on this webpage until after the SBRRB meeting.) 
	I. .Rule Description: New I./IRepeal D Amendment D Compilation D 
	II. .Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? Yes l./1 No D (If No, no 
	need to submit this form.) 
	* .
	* .
	* .
	"Affect small business" is defined as "any potential or actual requirement imposed upon a small business ... that will cause a direct and significant economic burden upon a small business, or is directly related to the formation, operation, or expansion of a small business." HRS §201 M-1 

	* .
	* .
	"Small business" is defined as a "for-profit enterprise consisting of fewer than one hundred full-time or part-time employees." HRS §201 M-1 


	Ill. Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that does not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the statute or ordinance? Yes D No l./1 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 
	(e.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the agency the discretion to consider less restrictive alternatives.) HRS §201 M-2(d) 
	IV. Is the proposed rule bei,!!.9.,adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? (HRS §201M-2(a)) Yes LJ No l./1 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 
	* * * 
	Revised I /05/20 16 
	Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement Page 2 
	If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, please provide a reasonable determination of the following: 
	1. .Description of the small businesses that will be required to comply with the .proposed rules and how they may be adversely affected. .
	Owners and entities engaging in non-conforming transient vacation rental uses will be required to comply with the amended rules. .Additional clarification is provided on the requirements of the NCUC renewal application. The most significant amendment .eliminates the former grace period where renewal applications may be accepted 30 days past the deadline to renew, which .conflicted with Kauai County Code §8-17.10. Finally, the fines schedule was amended to create consistency with KCC §8-1 7.6. .
	2. .In dollar amounts, the increase in the level of direct costs such as fees or fines, .and indirect costs such as reporting, recordkeeping, equipment, construction, .labor, professional services, revenue loss, or other costs associated with .compliance. .
	The increased fines will be case-by-case-specific. 
	If the proposed rule imposes a new or increased fee or fine: 
	a. Amount of the current fee or fine and the last time it was increased. 
	Fines for Class I or II structural violations found during an inspection connected to a NCUC renewal application was $250. Fines for other non-compliance with the TVR NCUC ordinance including having no NCUC sign posted was $250. 
	b. 
	b. 
	b. 
	Amount of the proposed fee or fine and the percentage increase. .Increase is 100% and 400% respectively. .

	c. .
	c. .
	Reason for the new or increased fee or fine. 


	KCC §8-17.6 requires a minimum $500 fine and maximum $10,000 fine. Thus, the amendment is consistent with the KCC and establishes consistency whether a Class I, II, or Ill .structural violation. .Many impacts and complaints of TVR impacts arise from neighbors Thus, an Increased fine for no NCUC sign posting is a high priority to the Department to emphasize the importance .of such notice to neighboring landowners that a non-conforming TVR use is legal. .
	d. Criteria or methodology used to determine the amount of the fee or fine 
	(i.e., Consumer Price Index, Inflation rate, etc.). Fine is proposed relative to the other fines imposed, and under the maximum amount established by County Council. 
	3. .The probable monetary costs and benefits to the agency or other agencies .directly affected, including the estimated total amount the agency expects to .collect from any additionally imposed fees and the manner in which the moneys .will be used. .
	The fines are deposited in an account and those funds offset administrative costs for TVR .enforcement activities. The clarification on procedures and requirements of the NCUC .application will promote greater efficiency in the NCUC renewal process. .
	Revised 1/05/20 16 
	Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement Page 3 
	4. .The methods the agency considered or used to reduce the impact on small .business such as consolidation, simplification, differing compliance or reporting .requirements, less stringent deadlines, modification of the fines schedule, .performance rather than design standards, exemption, or other mitigating .techniques. .
	The amendment clarifies and updates the ordinance, which should reduce impacts in the NCUC renewal process. For instance, clarification was made to specify that "copies of annual tax returns and reconciliation reports for the previous year" should be submitted to evidence payment of GET and TAT taxes. 
	5. .The availability and practicability of less restrictive alternatives that could be .implemented in lieu of the proposed rules. .
	The rules are the least restrictive alternative and should promote greater efficiency in the .NCUC renewal process. .
	6. .Consideration of creative, innovative, or flexible methods of compliance for small .businesses. The businesses that will be directly affected by, bear the costs of, or .directly benefit from the proposed rules. .
	Again, the rules should clarify the NCUC renewal process. 
	7. .How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed .rules. .
	The rules will be placed on the Planning Commission agenda where the public will be able to comment and suggest amendments to the amendments. 
	a. .If there were any recommendations made by small business, were the recommendations incorporated into the proposed rule? If yes, explain. If no, why not. 
	none. 
	8. .Whether the proposed rules include provisions that are more stringent than those .mandated by any comparable or related federal, state, or county standards, with .an explanation of the reason for imposing the more stringent standard. .
	The amendments are compliant with but do not impose more stringent provisions than the federal, state, or county standards. Many of the amendments were designed to be consistent with the implementing ordinance, KCC Chapter 8, Article 17. 
	If yes, please provide information comparing the costs and benefits of the proposed rules to the costs and benefits of the comparable federal, state, or county law, including the following: 
	Revised I /05/2016 
	Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
	Page4 
	a. .Description of the public purposes to be served by the proposed rule. 
	n/a 
	b. .The text of the related federal, state, or county law, including information about the purposes and applicability of the law. 
	n/a 
	c. .A comparison between the proposed rule and the related federal, state, or county law, including a comparison of their purposes, application, and administration. 
	n/a 
	d. .A comparison of the monetary costs and benefits of the proposed rule with the costs and benefits of imposing or deferring to the related federal, state, or county law, as well as a description of the manner in which any additional fees from the proposed rule will be used. 
	n/a 
	e. .A comparison of the adverse effects on small business imposed by the proposed rule with the adverse effects of the related federal, state, or county law. 
	n/a 
	* * 
	* 
	Small Business Regulatory Review Board/ DBEDT .Phone: (808) 586-2594 .
	Email: dbedt.sbrrb@hawaii.gov .

	This Statement may be found on the .SBRRB Website at: .
	http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/small-business-impact-statements-pre-and-post-pubic-hearing .

	Revised 1/05/2016 
	A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please attach a statement ofthe topic of the proposed rules or a general description ofthe subjects involved. 
	The amendment to the interpretive rules clarify the Planning Department's responsibilities in implementing Kaua'i County Code (KCC) Chapter 8, Article 17 Relating to Transient Vacation Rentals and the amendment brings the rules in line with the requirements of KCC Chapter 8, Article 
	17. Namely, the amendment further elaborates what items must be submitted to the Planning Department along with applications to renew non-conforming use certificates (NCUC), the deadlines for NCUC applications, and the repercussions for failing to submit an application by the NCUC's annual expiration date. In addition, the amendment increases the per day fine amount for Class I or II type structural violations from $250 to $500 and non-compliance with the ordinance violations, which include posting· no NCUC
	Figure
	Figure
	PLANNING COMMISSION County ofKaua'i State of Hawai'i 
	ADMINISTRATIVE RULES PERTAINING TO THE INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF KAUAI COUNTY 
	R8, se04:5 
	R8, se04:5 
	OD 
	Figure

	ARTICLE 17 RELATING TO TRANSIENT VACATION RENTALS 
	AUTHORITY: 
	Pursuant to Article XIV Section 14.03.E of the Kauai County Chaiter, the Planning Commission of the County of Kaua'i adopts the following administrative rulfspe1iaining to the responsibility of the Planning Department to enforce Chapter 8, Article l 7t~P1the Kauai County Code 1987, as amended, ("KCC") concerning to the certification and er,fHWb~ent ofTransient Vacation 
	1


	Rentals. .t!IIIIIIP"ll!lllljl 
	Rentals. .t!IIIIIIP"ll!lllljl 
	Pursuant to KCC Section 8-1 7.l 2(h), the annuaj t~jjij I•al ofa non-l~~'fvr,ning use certificate is require[d]s as prescribed--ifl [in accordance witH]iKee Sections 8-17-i'd(a·}1)-The renewal documentation requires at a minimum: \liij;j 'ii!lllll 
	11
	11 

	~. I@· "_------..,,,,1, --~ Jt1~ 
	...pro_ofthat there is a _CU!Xef/~~J !f./_qi~~~J.k'~ ?e~ lS~~ lt't:ense and_ 
	0

	transient accommo~ d£J,ifbehs,e,J01~th.e1n ncot1i ornung~ , ·,_Failure to meet this 
	. . . . 1,..w..,1.1. 1,,,t,~~ ''itl1,1, ,
	condition will result m of~R,{~o or renewal ofthe
	thejg.utemcfhc:'ll{17f.al 

	·q~ -11,q11i' 
	n~ g-tt~t~W~ 

	1
	-._wr~~ _,_ .: ' 1111 ll I 1,, -·ill!11, 
	1
	1

	Non-conforming use~ f!''e19efi~e\:l under KCmsectjo'iJ il1a1.Q~iand s#ecifically Section 8-13.2(b),
	1
	11

	I 1.,, T:•11 'Iti 11 ,, ,. 1
	1

	qt;\' 
	which states as follo'.,.q: . !'It. -;il'!!!II, 'hl!l
	1 
	1 
	11 
	1 

	1
	11,l!, Pill 'i: 1
	Ifany nonconforinin'gyi1se ceqsGsfor any t asonfor a continuous period oftwelve (12) .,:.,u •11• } qii I•, 1Jlllri1~l'111111 if h!tjil b l h h h ll b
	11

	cal1m uu,:1m'or1,t,1sor;t f\'0,;ie,11j SeijSIOlnz t eluwe eseasona, tent euses a not e
	1 
	1

	: .1111 1111 I 'II•, I(! !! 'I I I'.•,. I.I ) . .
	(i'~~}1~a a~alqTTfi!We oJ~1(ll' land or blif{«1~g t ereafter shall be zn full confornuty ofthe .1!1?,r.l~viswns ofth1s·.~(1apter. llllll 1!!!1 .I 1111· 111111 i 111 .
	1
	1

	FINDINGS:11111111 1111l1 '1111111 
	The re~eireme.JJl~~irr,ose ofthJJJ,ruies is to eJC clarify the Planning Department's 
	responsibilities in irhplementing!ilie-Chapter 8, Article 17 of the KCC,_ lack specificityIn particular, the rules clail{fx :rietjt~ihing to the annual renevv'al process, including late filing, the documentat10n anev1 eno~,eqmre e me
	. 
	,HI
	1
	' . ~ • 
	d • T
	7 
	CC

	~to mamtam a non-con1ormmg use asm 1-.... Section 8-13, and the procedures necessary for a ce1tificate holder to seek due process in the event ofnon-renewal. 
	d 'd 
	1 
	• d
	. d fi 

	RULE: 
	1. .NON-CONFORMING USE CERTIFICATE (NCUC) RENEWAL 
	1. .NON-CONFORMING USE CERTIFICATE (NCUC) RENEWAL 
	A. .A-Requirements for Renewal. Applications for renewal shall en!-y--be accepted by the Planning Department no earlier than sixty (60) days prior to the certificate's NCUC's renewal expiration date. The annual renewal deadline is on the same day and 
	the same month and day ofthe original determination by the Planning Department, .which cetiified the non-conforming usemade by the Planning Department certifying .the non conforming use. .Along with the mandatory renewal form, the following documents must accompany .the submittal, pursuant to KCC 8-17. l 2(h)(l): .
	Figure
	DB. Renewal Applications. It is the certificate holder's responsibility to submit Submittalapplications to renew the NCUC by the renew·al NCUC's expiration date. Idate is the certificate holder's responsibility as the Planning Department shall not be responsible for notifying the holder ofany pertinent deadlines. Renewals postmarked by the deadline and received within seven (7) days after the deadline shall be accepted by the Planning Department as submitted timely. 
	2 .
	CF. Late Renewal Applications. Failure to submit an application to renew the NCUC by the NCUC's expiration date will result in the automatic denial ofthe application. The Planning Department shall not accept applications submitted after the expiration date. Renewal applications received by the Planning Department within thirty days (30) after the deadline may renew, provided that in addition to the renewal fee, a certificate holder shall pay an administrative processing fee oftwice the renewal fee. 
	Figure
	3 .
	2. VIOLATIONS 
	2. VIOLATIONS 
	A. Transient Vacation Rentals with NCUC and Violations. Pursuant to KCC Section 8-17.12(h)(2), the Planning Department may withhold the renewal of a NCUC ifa violation of the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance (CZO) or other pertinent land use laws are identified on the property. A temporary cease and desist order shall be issued to the certificate holder to immediately suspend vacation rental activities until the violation has been rectified. Should the vacation rental use continue in violation ofthe temporary
	I. .CZO Violations. For lots with active trans~*~~!' a~ation rental NCUCs, the Planning Department shall keep a recov~jg~,a~~ [{R.t;11Plaints and violations on the property. Along with a withhold notice, ~gy viola'tidhs shall require the issuance 
	. 1lll!!)JI h 'fi 'llli·\, ld . h' (10) d
	of a temporary cease and des1st qruei11to t e cert1 1cate1nR er wit m ten ays 
	from submittal ofthe renewal fi ~tnWThe letter shall c1d!Ht1iState that any vacation ·1 h l i11 ,. • . ~,..l 'f 1i'n111i, d . 1 d
	renta1use must cease unt1 t e vto at10n 1s rectl e1,1sor 1 t e or er 1s appea e . 
	F e VlOatlon ~ ~1:Jfif r~f,0te¼~.Pt2!~ !lStfan
	·1 ·r h
	· 1
	· ·'li
	1
	nrnh~
	~~
	\
	' 
	'.l--
	f 
	h
	·im1
	~
	d

	al Ure to rectl y t .lt}llf;~ desist order shal he c,01ilSia~r.ei.Virffiirfcicfnh1eiiH.tb.~rs:UaU(;.-t5"=1«es'¼~tion 8-23.2(b).
	1
	1 

	'',Hn I,'1·::-· •tt'1 Vi1~~-L ,.,,
	Fines for th@ a t-ea cv..,~ :WioJathons d:eaa·H\'-01ro ce1tific~ ithholding shall be
	\;.,\,VI~ , .~ '?i tf fl) ~ 
	1 
	1 

	issued as a se r ttzb~ rJl:!:rtll ~eP,:-irately...,m~eill~~ 
	tpl~ '•'l1/n~ rri·p11
	-l:1~5Gl?,;~ .-e:.1'· ~-~ n111,1 !11t 
	-. iola~ s•.0Ji1pJp:ei]-h tt1ne .t l~and Us1i1ia~~· For lpfs,with active transient 
	1 
	vacattim#lti6~rnu*flru1JCs, the PJanningjWM~l4·Hnent silUii notify other County 
	agenal:e m:the ndim,i1
	agenal:e m:the ndim,i1
	11
	1

	~donformid~3'se~·th instmbtibns to carbon copy any violation 
	1
	1


	'~fll '· 1 tit q1 IJI.: ·•
	11 
	11 

	notices 0fjJheir rele ant codes to.tn:e Planning Depaiiment. The Depmiment shall 'l, q,. · 1 l!t · A''I H• f 1 l ld 1 d
	Cata1og these1y10 atlOfl1flOtlces. q .e time O renewa, S 10U a Cata oge 
	1
	11 

	1 
	, 1jvib~·a~· n noi1~¥i1l1.1 /~J.J~e\it~~d actii~lh;\ the file, the Planning Department shall 
	1
	1
	1
	1

	1 I 11111;\~1. I fl1i· d'GJl11. dq" 1 · h · ,:-. · h 'fi
	1

	l · 1ss e,~~mporar)I cease an ues1st 9r er a ong wit m1ormat10n t e cert! 1cate
	1

	11111




	t! I!, 
	t! I!, 
	Il

	holder triMtj'the a iUJle-renewatWiWbe withheld pending resolution of any
	r11~ i ·q11 1 
	Ill ,
	1

	, J11 vio~ations.. 1fttgi1~~er s~~ll~learly state that. any vacation re~tal use mus.t cease 
	1 

	1!1mJtil the v10lati.,?i~,1s rectiifl~?i and the order 1s appealable. Failure to rectify the~~ion within!~~ie o) ye~r' ofthe temporary cease and desist order shall be coH~~qered abanqoHment pursuant to KCC Section 8-23.2(b). A letter from the 'agency tl1i~the violation has been rectified must be submitted to the Planni~Ml~e.riai-HW~~t to release the hold on the renewal.
	1
	1
	viRt
	1
	Courit~ 
	1
	1

	'•llldl!!l"' 
	B. .Single-Family T'ransient Vacation Rentals Operating Without Certificate, A Zoning Compliance notice shall be issued on a lot where an inspection has ascertained a Single-Family Transient Vacation Rental use. An after-the-fact NCUC shall not be issued by the Planning Depaitment, the final appealable decision ofthe Director shall be upon the second notice, should the use persist, whereby the Director has levied a fine. 
	4 .
	3. ENFORCEMENT. 
	3. ENFORCEMENT. 
	A. .Zoning Compliance Notice. A Zoning Compliance Notice related to Single-Family use shall require a response from the person notified within ten (10) days of service. A withholding ofthe renewal and temporary cease and desist order shall be treated as a Zoning Compliance Notice. 
	B. .Notice of Violation. Should no response be received after service of a Zoning Compliance Notice, or the Planning Director finds lack ofprogress to timely rectify the violation the Planning Department shall issue a¥btjce ofViolation. The Notice of 
	1 1
	!

	Violation shall include a levy of fines, which maiji~~Jppealed pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure ofthe,PXM'i~ ng Commission. ·tli 1111"''1111 
	11

	4. 
	FINE SCHEDULE I fllllil ' ' 111111. 11 .
	. h 11 b 1 . d . dd" ~, 11 . . ~ ll.!lhd 'f h
	F

	mess a e ev1e ma 1tlon to1~ _, perm1tt111g 1ees reqm~9 Ito rectI y t e "-llj!I . qIJ111
	1
	1 
	1

	violation. .~ . 
	1
	1L " :rtm?ir ~ 
	TVR NCUC FINE SCHEDULE 
	Starting at $500 
	Starting at $2,500 
	Starting at $5,000 
	$10,000 
	Baseyard in Res District 
	Startin at $5000 
	TVR w/o NCUC 
	$10,000 
	OTHER VIOLATIONS 
	Non-Compliance with Ordinance No NCUC Sign Starting at $2-W1 ,000 
	5 .

	~®UW~~
	~®UW~~
	Figure

	PLANNING COMMISSION County of Kaua'i State of Hawai'i 
	PLANNING COMMISSION County of Kaua'i State of Hawai'i 
	JUL I l ,Z,ol /4 
	l! 
	ADMINISTRATIVE RULES PERTAINING TO THE INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF KAUAI COUNT 
	ADMINISTRATIVE RULES PERTAINING TO THE INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF KAUAI COUNT 
	CO 

	Figure
	ARTICLE 17 RELATING TO TRANSIENT VACATION RENTALS 
	AUTHORITY: 
	Pursuant to Article XIV Section 14.03.E of the Kauai County Charter, the Planning Commission of the County ofKaua'i adopts the following administrative r~Wsipertaining to the responsibility of the Planning Depaiiment to enforce Chapter 8, Article 1 (!l~~lt~b Kauai County Code 1987, as !Ir rqgment ofTransient Vacation 
	amended, ("KCC") concerning to the certification and e 

	pl<tjl''•
	Rentals. t( ' l!i!jl
	1

	11 
	1 
	I
	. 8 17 12(h) h l "llllli 1 f iln1i,,. . 'fi .
	1

	Pursuant to Kee Section -. , t e annua ,!l'e ewa o a non-coq.rormmg use ce1i1 1cate 1s 
	,l!P 11 H llj
	require[ d]s as prescribed in [in accordance wi,H]l!WCC Sections 8-17-1Q~r.,~). The renewal documentation requires at a minimum: 11111!!' 1lllj11 
	1
	1
	1

	. . 111111 ,i.1111111, . 1111,!J., . 
	...proofthat there is a currer1;tl~,dvalzd.State 0Jlflagwa11,/Meneral excise tax 0,eense and 
	. d . wl.,11, fi h lfl 111v,, . D ·t h.

	transient accommo atlons taW~n~f or t e non'.,owormzng use. ral ure to meet t is 
	transient accommo atlons taW~n~f or t e non'.,owormzng use. ral ure to meet t is 
	1 

	condition will result in the autd~ 9tY.~)IJJenr·a1 ofthe b»Ji.,1·cationfor renewal ofthe 
	1

	11 I 111111 l) 't t !I
	nonconforming use certificates. !'h ', iliJ'ji . I I'll 
	11 . ,,!!'! llll!i11 ,I . 1lI]111 , !lll, . . 
	111
	1 
	\
	1l
	' 
	1
	!'

	Non-conformmg uses ~ 9l~efin,t# under KC~ l! ect , [?]VilFif'and spec1fically Sect10n 8-l3,2(b), which states as follo:'. j I 111 111 i\lllltl I• dl1!JJ
	1 

	1 .llll!i I 11 qil1.
	Ifany nonconfor,)ifng, rise .CeClf.eStrr any eason for a continuous period ofMelve (12) 
	cale!M''llW/1'"months o;o/J,i,id~~:lrqY1bttsQn ifthM!Hsle be seasonal, then the use shall not be 
	f l II Hi I ff: 111 I I '• ' II I, I, '. h , . .
	,~g)MaaM!il~n){!t(se oflflej land or oil1l'llin.g thereafter shall be m full conformity ofthe 
	IIIP' Hi, Ir ''II 1 •ffl!H 
	I 
	1

	I W,:~visions ofthlS 'a71uipter. 111' !II
	·I'!I '!11 I· 1
	l 
	1 11

	i1jj
	! 'j, 
	FINDINGSl'lli1111 111111 j 1l111111 
	The purpose of1A~~lf"les is to !/~rify the Planning Department's responsibilities in 
	implementi~g Chapibi)i~'r ~ rti~}ill\ P of the I~CC_. In pa1iicular, th~ rules clarify the . documentat10n and ev1cigHce jreijU1red to mamtam a non-conformmg use as defined 111 KCC 
	Section 8-13, and the pr~gg~tjt~~ necessary for a ce1iificate holder to seek due process in the 
	event of non-renewal. 
	RULE: 
	1 .
	1. NON-CONFORMING USE CERTIFICATE {NCUC) RENEWAL 
	1. NON-CONFORMING USE CERTIFICATE {NCUC) RENEWAL 
	A. Requirements for Renewal. Applications for renewal shall be accepted by the Planning Department no earlier than sixty (60) days prior to the NCUC's expiration date. The annual renewal deadline is on the same day and month of the original determination by the Planning Depaiiment, which certified the non-conforming use. 
	Along with the mandatory renewal form, the following documents must accompany the submittal, pursuant to KCC 8-l 7.12(h)(l): 
	1. .
	1. .
	1. .
	The renewal fee in the amount set fo1ih by ordinance; 

	2. .
	2. .
	A copy of a current and valid General Excise Tax (GET) ce11ificate; and 

	3. .
	3. .
	A copy of a current and valid Transient Accommodation Tax (TAT) certificate. 


	Fmiher, in order to comply with KCC Section 8-17.S(b) and asce1iain continuous use pursuant to KCC Section 8-13 .2(b ), the following shall also be submitted to the Planning Department: 
	. d. d . . h . .fjil!lill• d I NCUC 'fi
	1. A copy o f a11 pnnt an internet a vert1smg t fltfnc u es t 1e certI 1cate number or registration number, and an on-''.~I~tlb!24/7 contact name and phone number. qjj 1' 'l!i 1111
	11

	1 1 
	2. A dated, updated copy of the "For '(ldHf Safety ana_!cr0mfo11" information 
	111
	1. 

	document provided to vacation retif ~dtenants; ,qJ'lil 
	. f h . d ,llf>l "· • .I;+ . h h h .
	3
	3
	3
	. Adated picture o t e reqmre tfi·@s1ent vacation renta s1n wit t e ouse m viewing range; and 'l!lllll!l ''till Iii, 
	5 


	4. .
	4. .
	A copy or copies of annual tax returll
	1
	1 



	1and rec,oli'thliation repo tforl the previous 
	'H,!).c RIII iii' 'I!'! I
	year that evidences payment ofthe GE .1!:an' ~AT taxes. 11I
	1

	11,dH) I I 11 II I 
	5. .For the period of one~((!1•)\?°TI from the dm;e9l approval of these R7.lles, the c ll • 1. II l 1. f1 I1 • I11I h ,
	10 owmg Stta a sou . . I· • ·,o·· . : 
	Figure

	after the deadfo\,~l~\~~ renev,r, provided that in addition to the renewal fee, a ce1iificate holder shall pay an administrative processing fee of twice the renewal fee. 
	1

	D. .Inspections. Once an application is accepted, the Planning Department may require an inspection to verify the non-conforming use and compliance with the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance and other pe1iinent land use laws. The Planning Department may withhold approval of a renewal application and issue cease and desist notices to the applicant until all violations have been resolved to the satisfaction of the Planning Director. 
	2 
	E .Renewal Notices. The Planning Department shall notify the certificate holder if the renewal application has been approved, approved pending a certain action, withheld, or denied within forty-five (45) days ofthe certificate's renewal deadline. 
	F. .Non Compliance Timeline. After the thirtieth (30lh) day after the renewal deadline, the Department shall raject any rene\.val application and issue a forfeiture letter. 
	F. .Appeal. Determination that the renewal application has been approved, approved pending a certain action, withheld, or denied may be appealed pursuant to Chapter 9 ofthe Rules ofPractice and Procedure of the Planning Commission. 
	G. Voluntary Forfeiture. A certificate holder m•nif »l/arily forfeit the NCUC .provided an declaration attesting to the voluntar¥ila~tion is submitted .
	~~ 

	1
	contemporaneously with a form provided briltHJp1a%1'ng Department. .I\· !11 j· .
	1
	1
	1 
	1

	. ir n1l11111 ,ll!111i11
	1 .1



	1
	1
	,uh 

	IJ11. ·d111} q/111 
	·1 1111 '1111111111,[1 !11!i!J1, I !!1111111 'I d'1'11 I[! I ' 
	!dlj111 111111 111Il, ' It'IiI:IilIllI iiiIIIII 111 lll!lil!lllll!1111 11111,, ··:,;11, 1111111111'1 11111, 1!! II 1!• I l 1 '!111·11 111.1 I !ijj!Jj1 q11111· ti Iit I 
	' (l 
	11

	i, 111·111111111111111111111, 111111111111 · llll!!i!l11111111111,11111111, 1111 ( 11'!' l!!i 111111!11
	I 
	(lll\j!11• 111111111·1 11111111, 
	11111111 ' '1 I1 ''!llh .·tlp1, ·l .
	•!!111 1 I l .•1[1111111111!1 .
	3 .
	2. VIOLATIONS 
	2. VIOLATIONS 
	A. Transient Vacation Rentals with NCUC and Violations. Pursuant to KCC Section 8-17.12(h)(2), the Planning Department may withhold the renewal of a NCUC if a violation of the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance (CZO) or other pertinent land use laws are identified on the property. A temporary cease and desist order shall be issued to the certificate holder to immediately suspend vacation rental activities until the violation has been rectified. Should the vacation rental use continue in violation of the tempora
	1 
	1. CZO Violations. For lots with active transi~.~~ljjacation rental NCUCs, the 
	l'li !1 1I,
	d
	1
	11 

	Planning Department shall keep a rec01'. j9J1any,:9omplaints and violations on the 
	1 
	property. Along with a withhold noficlc, ~hy viola~ighs shall require the issuance of a temporary cease and desist or4~~!lib the certificrit~l»older within ten (10) days from submittal ofthe renewal ±;9:i$.The letter shall cle1~l~! tate that any vacation 
	1

	11
	1 .tor 1 t e,or.er 1s appea e
	1 .tor 1 t e,or.er 1s appea e
	·1 
	h 
	1
	,1 " · ·fi d 
	n
	IJ. d
	1 d

	renta use must cease untl e v10 at on 1srectl 1e . 
	· 
	'f li· 


	·1 'f h . l . .'ttt11f II (1) dh f h IIJ!lh, d
	F 

	a1 ure to rect1 y t e v10 at10n wit 14 ~~e ,~ffflF•o t e tempqra1~y cease an desist order shall be f~f}~idered abanciontn~~'r i~rsuant to KCc's!~~tion 8-23.2(b). Fines for the actual c iol~i9.lations lead'Nl.~~o certificate withholding shall be 
	• .I 11' lq 11P ' '( II
	1

	issued as a separate order!' ai\.cP-~eP.arately ap ecil~ble. 
	II11 11 •i q!,r;,. 'll'I i
	'1 llqll11 •i Ii·
	I 
	2. Violations of:lother Pertine1t~ILand Us~1Ilaws. For l~ts,with active transient 
	. .,n1'"' ilm' l\l.l • ·'.111 l, 't_!II, .
	11111

	vacat10~,r~µta ~~ UCs, the l?;l,anm11Rlf.3ppa\',myq.t sriall notify other County agenc~ffal~f the nJ1~fi~,rrormin~IVf,¢:t ith insd-Ul!lh~ns to carbon copy any violation notices ~t jtheir rele~~ft codes tol;tn~ Planning Department. The Depaiiment shall catalog thcl!~Y·olatidn notices. Ai~He time ofrenewal, should a cataloged
	1
	1

	1 1
	IHJ''' ' ii. t IHll!lilll 1Jl!Pj,, d ·i ui1. h fil h Pl . .h 11
	I

	'll'1I ;it,mW,'?-~not1c.rt1n 1?res ntd1~,~;p~_ct1 lfdl1ll1t le 1 e, ~ he. cannm~ Dephaiime?fit s a 
	' issue·a',kmporary, cease an uesistjor er a ong wit m101mat1on t e ce1i1 1cate 
	(f Jllllrt 111), 111' Ip
	1

	111
	1! I I h?lde~· tnallt~~,a fut4}Jr-i1-;enewal wi }1be withheld pend~ng resolution ofany .11111 v10lat10ns. lrhtHetter Mn~ll clearly state that any vacation rental use must cease 'illlttntil the violati'.~n,is redi!ried and the order is appealable, Failure to rectify the
	1

	~~Ri~tion within!~~e(1) y~~l-' ofthe temporary cease and desist order shall be cdH~idered aban9prlrnent pursuant to KCC Section 8-23.2(b). A letter from the CourlWl1hrnncy tn~t1~he violation has been rectified must be submitted to the 
	I .
	1
	1

	' ·lJ fp_ I Jl!jl
	Planning!.LY~J.i ·r ment to release the hold on the renewal. 
	'tiq ll Ip· 
	B. .Single-Family Transient Vacation Rentals Operating Without Certificate. A Zoning Complia11ce notice shall be issued on a lot where an inspection has asce1iained a Single-Family Transient Vacation Rental use. An after-the-fact NCUC shall not be issued by the Planning Depaiiment, the final appealable decision of the Director shall be upon the second notice, should the use persist, whereby the Director has levied a fine. 
	4 .

	3. ENFORCEMENT. 
	3. ENFORCEMENT. 
	A. .Zoning Compliance Notice. A Zoning Compliance Notice related to Single-Family use shall require a response from the person notified within ten (10) days of service. A withholding ofthe renewal and temporary cease and desist order shall be treated as a Zoning Compliance Notice. 
	B. .Notice of Violation. Should no response be received after service of a Zoning Compliance Notice, or the Planning Director finds lack ofprogress to timely rectify the violation the Planning Department shall issue ~l¥btjce ofViolation. The Notice of Violation shall include a levy of fines, which ma~~l!ppealed pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure ofthel 1JE~ ng Commission. 
	1

	-i1 I j1P''1!1111 
	4. 
	FINE SCHEDULE ,,if'illlil' I.I 111111 I .11 .
	Fines shall be levied in addition toi~!\~l~ermitting fees reql i~~dto rectify the 
	1
	violation. l !!l!1II . d1l'l1II .111' IIii!!'11 I11 
	11 
	11 
	!!1, 
	,di
	iIt
	l!t1 .

	Figure
	TVR NCUC FINE SCHEDULE 
	TVR NCUC FINE SCHEDULE 
	ll!![11,. Fine per instance or 
	ll!![11,. Fine per instance or 
	ll!![11,. Fine per instance or 
	Figure
	111111 "lllle'11mp1e 
	1

	Type 

	1 ~I , n,, I j 11, per day 
	ld
	1
	1



	'Ulh ''1\Pli[ 'liljll
	'Ulh ''1\Pli[ 'liljll
	1

	STRU9f µRE VIOht.rip Ns 


	I Ill·
	I Ill·
	I hi, f It • !I I 1, 1, I ,il.Jl,11j1P' ' 11y111 I Lawn B'~ilpir9,{Unp.ermift~~l11 
	Figure
	.rillll!l!ll!li11i 
	1

	~} Starting at $500
	~} Starting at $500
	, 

	Class 1:~nNrequire 

	, 1.1ac;rr11 . l 
	11 q ..uon 
	1 .111 l)p.
	Class Ill r~RHi_red 
	l!l)unpermitt~ 1~·?nstruction 
	Starting at $500 
	'\Ult,. 
	Starting at $2,500 iii[ 111~-ill\; 
	i lllBqJPrif..1V req ,r.ri~rd1IP~nr.rr111itted 'lW,',;wtruction 
	II 

	!ll!lse Pe'ri:m:~aria'H~\eili
	I

	'I\ ljl. i• q 
	I Buildin'g ;eignt violation 
	Starting at $5,000
	re'Ql!JI ~:d ', 
	It. ·!I, , .Not allowecll)hltr,e.
	1 
	$10,000
	Illegal D~nsity 
	'l!ll!!th, 

	1h, zoninq disthct li 'l1!111,
	111·,11 
	USE VIOLATIONS 
	USE VIOLATIONS 
	' 
	1111111, 
	llh 
	Use:fi·e~r;niWariancell 
	Baseyard in Res District 
	1
	r.~6'1;1ired 11' 
	Startinq at $5000 Not allo~Er~i in t~eIll! 
	TVR w/o NCUC 
	zoninQ cli~tri8d ll 
	$10,000 "h11' 
	OTHER VIOLATIONS 
	Non-Compliance with 
	No NCUC Sign 
	Figure

	Starting at $1,000
	Starting at $1,000
	Ordinance 

	5 .
	IV. New Business 
	C. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Title 1, Rules ofPractice and Procedure ofthe l(auai County Planning Commission (Codified May 2014), as follows, promulgated by the County of l(auai Planning Commission: 
	1. 
	1. 
	1. 
	Chapter 9, Appeals from Actions of the Planning Director 

	2. 
	2. 
	Chapter 6, Agency Hearing Procedures 


	A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please attach a statement ofthe topic of the proposed rules or a general description ofthe subjects involved. 
	The amendment to Chapter 9, Appeals from Actions of the Planning Director, Rules of Practice and Procedure of the Kauai County Planning Commission clarifies the actions of the Planning Director that may be appealed to the Planning Commission by eliminating reference to specific articles within the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision Ordinance. In addition, the amendment clarifies that any person, not just applicants, can petition to appeal actions under the Shoreline Setback Ordinance. Finally, t
	Figure
	~ ©~OW~ ~ 
	JUL 1 WI 1-.W 
	1 

	I 
	Figure

	lo)~©~D W~ ~ 
	lo)~©~D W~ ~ 
	CHAPTER9 
	lJl] JUL ' 1,z.o (1 ~ 
	APPEALS FROM ACTIONS OF THE PLANNING DI 
	Figure
	1-9-1 .Applicability. 
	.ill)_ An applicant may petition to appeal an action ofthe Director in the administration ofthe Comprehensive Zoning and Subdivision Oordinances as provided for in Chapter 8 [, Articles 17, 18, 19, 24 , ans 28] and Chapter 9 [, Articles 3 ans 5] of th~Kaua'i County Codef,as
	1
	Amenses, 1987]. Intervention, pursuant to Chapter 4 ofthe~· ,1~vles, shall not be allowed in applicant appeals from actions ofthe Director. ril!l!I · 
	1

	/t..\ n · · 0t.. l' " t.. 1 n · · n · l n · · f
	Jli .llllil, 
	illllllll 

	n:n 
	n:n 
	n:n 
	r~rtammg to any c11ore me cetuaci<: uetermmat10n,,npprova ;·uema or uetermmat1on o 

	. 
	. 
	l

	t..'l' t.. l n· .,lf'll•i 'jld111 , c t.. n· .


	I.napp 10au11ty uy t1e utreetor, any person may,petmon to appea at1.aflt10n od11e utrector m t.. ,.1 , , , c t.. ri t.. · -dl1JP '..i· !Ufi!lic · rit.. 8 A • l
	1

	'7
	ttte aum1mstrat10n o.dtte vomprettens1ve bOnin~,orumanoe as prov1ueo,J:Qr m vttapter, nrt1e e 11•1; ·1111
	1
	1
	11 

	27 ofthe Kaua'i Gounty Gose. t IHl[i . llillll . tllilh, rilljll!i• ·\IJ!i .
	1

	b An erson who can show that a' clU'ect robable1arn:fao His or her erson 0llh1s or her 
	1

	• ld h d • • ., • • l
	b bl bl'li! t.!I')\ 
	1 
	1111 

	I fl 
	prope1ty mterest, or pro a e pu 1c,uarm··cou occur rom t e ec1s10n may petlt10n to appea any Shoreline Setback Determination.Ult\p'#tb\ial,. Denial dPbetermination ofInapplicability by 
	l / 11' ."I( I, J.J,llL
	the Director pursuant to Chapter 8, Article 27 ofitlfo Kaua'i c;o;t.'mty Code. .,· 1j, 1 'lfl' l'l ·qwj .
	1

	1
	1-9-2 .Submission ofA ea'.'Jli!llllllllllillj11 ··1,!!11111 -1:l!ji/!1/illillilil'iPjl' !ll· 
	11
	1 

	1111 l' ' ·1 1 111'!; l' ii ' . ..ill)_ Ti_me for Filing. Pdi!~f;0~s t~,~~Jl~ial an actidJofthe Director shall be submitted and filed .
	1

	1 
	with the,Qlerk of the Gbn11ntss10n.lj!Jll!I llli1i 
	1

	!lllJ!!lill!lltll!ll'll11, '1111 !I:'' l%111i11 l:il:
	I l 
	1t!ll ll, i (1) jlR~:'~ppe lsl;o~,the Dir~c~<1n·'s actions pursuant to the Com~rehensive · 111111 Zolli1~ri Ord1M~~1f;e, pet1t1ons shall be filed no later than thirty (30) days
	1
	1

	1
	l\jjh after tl1'Ji date ot tlie Director's decision or service of the Order. 
	1
	1

	1 
	11 

	(3) .
	(3) .
	(3) .
	For appeals of any Shoreline Setback Determination, Approval, Denial or Determination ofInapplicability by the Director pursuant to Chapter 8, Article 27 ofthe Kaua'i County Code, petitions shall be filed no later than thirty (30) days after the date ofthe Commission meeting that the Director notifies the Commission ofthe Director's decision . 

	(
	(
	1) .The name, address and telephone number of the appellant. 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	The identification ofthe prope1iy and the appellant's interest therein. 

	(3) .
	(3) .
	The particular provision ofthe zoning ordinance or subdivision ordinance or regulation in question. 

	(
	(
	4) .All pertinent facts. 

	(5) .
	(5) .
	The action of the Director. 111111 
	1 



	.(hl Contents of a Petition for Appeal. The petition to appeal shall contain the following: 
	• f 1111111. 
	(6) .The reasons for the appeal, inctlld\~~l~lstatement as to why the appellant h h D' ',,llld, b!,TI fi d' f
	11 

	b lat t e 1rector s ft9t1on was a e, on an erroneous 111 mg o a
	• 

	material fact, or that the ~\t~Jior had act~a 1ijlflIT arbitrary or capricious 
	e 1eves t 
	I 

	manner, or had rnanif~ftli~!~bused his discretidqllllil, 
	1
	. d N . If .. 1/l,!1, . h ii • I lllhi, 'b d. 1 9 
	I 9 3 .Contested C ase Heanng an ot1ce. a petition cor,ta111s t ef1;eqmrements prescn e 111 -
	• .,, 111 . ,. 11!!1I ' !1 111 • •
	1
	1

	2(1)-(6), the Director shall place the1matter on the Co 1ss10n agenda and the <Domm1ss1on 
	-,,1 1 ,lill: I !ill tpl • . shall afford the appellant an opp01t1.1pity1tt9qe heard. SuqContested Case Hearing shall be 
	1

	1 
	conducted in conformity with the apJHeabre(~1royisions e Wim::;hed herein for Contested Case 
	. .. . . '!Ill "'11(1•,J,1 · 111 11· 
	heanngs before the Comm1ss1011111 Chapter 6 of'tlies Rules. 1jl1lj 
	·111llllllPP1 ' ll!1·q:: Iill1P1· II llli 
	1
	1 

	1-9-4 Commission Actio,1,1.;III / l llll!i 1ll\1.. , 1r!lq 1 •' ,I 111!11111·'i' ,·1i;ll w11 11
	1 
	I 
	·I)-
	I· 
	1
	:,I 

	I I l 
	\ .
	1. 
	11 

	(a) In cases where appeals'clt·:eipursum\\1~0 the pro~i'~i!.:ms of the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance, the Commi sion ihall con~m~li tisa~eimithin SI~ty (60) days of the filing ofthe notice of appea1.,1Hjtr~lg~ !l:i tere thetgb~ is~i~~ 1~eai:~.th~tinatter, it must render a decision within 
	111 
	1
	1
	1 

	. .r' mt J ''111,li\r ,, •1!~ . ',l,•n,h, .. . . 
	thuiyt;~3.0) days after tn~1~lose of[f1ear111g. In tH~1¢ase where a Hear111g Officer 1s appo111ted, the Comrr{rn!\w. must act odi~~li-eco1rifirn11 ation within thirty (30) days after receipt ofthe Hearing , '"' ·,11, I ·11111
	1

	Officer's reo,~,endation. I1 II I iJili 
	(b) In cases where J~~nts are pur\Jllnt to the provisions ofthe Subdivision Ordinance, the Commission shall c'0hsider thd,~Jme within fo1iy-five (45) days ofthe filing ofthe notice of 
	1 

	111 11
	11 

	h,1 c' · · h h · d d · · · h. 
	appea.l I n t h l i!\He,, omm1ss1on ears t e matter, 1t must ren er a ec1s1on wit 111
	e case w1et~forty-five (45) days after th~close ofHearing. In the case where a Hearing Officer is appointed, the Commission must act on its recommendation within thiiiy (30) days after receipt ofthe Hearing Officer's recommendation. 
	1

	(c) A longer period to rendering any decision in Sections 1-9-4 (a) and (b) may be permitted by agreement of the applicant. 
	1-9-5 .Decision and Order. The Director shall promptly notify the appellant of the decision of the Commission. Ifthe Commission affirms the action ofthe Director, such order shall be 
	1-9-5 .Decision and Order. The Director shall promptly notify the appellant of the decision of the Commission. Ifthe Commission affirms the action ofthe Director, such order shall be 
	accompanied by separate findings offact and conclusions of law. A copy thereof shall be sent, return receipt, immediately to the [applicant] appellant. 

	Figure
	A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please attach a statement of the topic ofthe proposed rules or a general description ofthe subjects involved. 
	The amendment to Chapter 6, Agency Hearing Procedures, Rules ofPractice and Procedure of the Kauai County Planning Commission clarifies the rules for contested case proceedings by eliminating civil style discovery, clarifying the time for filing motions, requiring resolution ofmotions by the Presiding Officer without a hearing unless the Presiding Officer requires otherwise, and specifying that no reply or supplemental memoranda shall be filed unless required by the Presiding Officer. These amendments are d
	Figure
	Figure
	111111. t'I . . .. .For appealb ofthe D1rector's actions pursuant to the Subd1v1s10n 1j@Tdinan@ I' etitions shall be submitted no later than fifteen 15 da s ~:ft~rtlitJofthe Director's decision or service Order. 11' i!!l
	dll!ii , 
	(29]l!lll 
	1
	1
	1
	1 





	~©rn~w ~~ 
	~©rn~w ~~ 
	Figure

	PRE-PUBLIC HEARING 
	JUL 1 1 ,lo/1-
	~ 
	SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT .TO THE .SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD .
	Figure
	(Hawaii Revised Statutes §201 M-2) 
	Department or Agency: Kauai Planning Department 
	Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: Planning Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure, Chapter 6 
	Chapter Name: CHAPTER 6 -AGENCY HEARING PROCEDURES 
	Contact Person/Title: Kaaina Hull, Deputy Director Planning Department; Jodi Higuchi, Deputy County Attorney 
	Phone Number: (808)241 -4050; (808)241-4930 
	E-maiI Address: ; Date: 7-10-17 
	khull@kauai.gov
	jhiguchi@kauai.gov 

	A. .To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §927, please attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general .description of the subjects involved. .
	B. .Are the draft rules available for viewing i~erson and on the Lieutenant Governor's .Website pursuant to HRS §92-7? Yes ./ Non (If Yes, please provide .webpage address and when and where ru es mayTe viewed in person© .
	http://www.kauai.gov/Planning 
	http://www.kauai.gov/Planning 

	(Please keep the proposed rules on this webpage until after the SBRRB meeting.) 
	I. .Rule Description: New D Repeal I./IAmendment D Compilation D 
	II. .Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? Yes I./INo D (If No, no 
	need to submit this form.) 
	* .
	* .
	* .
	"Affect small business" is defined as "any potential or actual requirement imposed upon a small business ... that will cause a direct and significant economic burden upon a small business, or is directly related to the formation, operation, or expansion of a small business." HRS §201 M-1 

	* .
	* .
	"Small business" is defined as a "for-profit enterprise consisting of fewer than one hundred full-time or part-time employees." HRS §201 M-1 


	Ill. .Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that does not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the statute or ordinance? Yes D No l./1 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 
	(e.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the agency the discretion to consider less restrictive alternatives.) HRS §201 M-2(d) 
	IV. Is the proposed rule bei~adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? (HRS §201M-2(a)) Yes LJ No l./1 (If Yes, no need to submit this form.) 
	* 
	* * 
	Revised I/05/2016 
	Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement Page 2 
	If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, please provide a reasonable determination of the following: 
	1. .Description of the small businesses that will be required to comply with the .proposed rules and how they may be adversely affected. .
	Any person or entity appealing a Director's decision under the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision Ordinance, or requesting a contested case for an application for a zoning permit will have to comply with the proposed amendments. The amendments will streamline and clarify the process by ellmlnallng civil style discovery. The amendments also clarify the lime for filing motions, resolution of motions by the Presiding Officer without a hearing unless the Presiding Officer requires a hearing, and tha
	2. .In dollar amounts, the increase in the level of direct costs such as fees or fines, .and indirect costs such as reporting, recordkeeping, equipment, construction, .labor, professional services, revenue loss, or other costs associated with .compliance. .
	Overall, the cost should decrease by preserving the administrative contested case process as a less formal process while still providing for procedural due process. 
	If the proposed rule imposes a new or increased fee or fine: 
	a. Amount of the current fee or fine and the last time it was increased. 
	n/a 
	b. .Amount of the proposed fee or fine and the percentage increase. 
	n/a 
	c. .Reason for the new·or increased fee or fine. 
	n/a 
	d. .Criteria or methodology used to determine the amount of the fee or fine (i.e., Consumer Price Index, Inflation rate, etc.). 
	n/a 
	3. .The probable monetary costs and benefits to the agency or other agencies .directly affected, including the estimated total amount the agency expE;Jcts to .collect from any additionally imposed fees and the manner in which the moneys .will be used. .
	These amendments should foster expeditious and inexpensive determination of contested .cases while providing for a just administrative contested case procedure. .
	Revised I /05/20 16 
	Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement Page 3 
	4. .The methods the agency considered or used to reduce the impact on small .business such as consolidation, simplification, differing compliance or reporting .requirements, less stringent deadlines, modification of the fines schedule, .performance rather than design standards, exemption, or other mitigating .techniques. .
	The amendments became necessary when many contested cases became backlogged and onerous while the Hearings Officer accommodated extensive motions and hearings on motions, and civil discovery. The amendments should simplify and encourage efficiency and a less costly contested case process. 
	5. .The availability and practicability of less restrictive alternatives that could be .implemented in lieu of the proposed rules. .
	The rules are the least restrictive alternative and should help clarify and simplify the contested case process. 
	6. .Consideration of creative, innovative, or flexible methods of compliance for small .businesses. The businesses that will be directly affected by, bear the costs of, or .directly benefit from the proposed rules. .
	Again, the rules should help the foster expeditious and inexpensive determination of contested cases for applicants of zoning permits, and appellants of the Planning Director's actions. 
	7. .How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed .rules. .
	The rules will be placed on the Planning Commission agenda where persons and entities may provide input on the rules 
	a. .If there were any recommendations made by small business, were the recommendations incorporated into the proposed rule? If yes, explain. If no, why not. 
	n/a 
	8. .Whether the proposed rules include provisions that are more stringent than those .mandated by any comparable or related federal, state, or county standards, with .an explanation of the reason for imposing the more stringent standard. .
	The rules are compliant with but do not impose more stringent provisions than state or other 
	county standards. 
	If yes, please provide information comparing the costs and benefits of the proposed rules to the costs and benefits of the comparable federal, state, or county law, including the following: 
	Revised I /05/201 6 
	Pre-Public Hearing Small business Impact Statement 
	Page4 
	a. Description of the public purposes to be served by the proposed rule. 
	n/a 
	Table
	TR
	b. 
	The text of the related federal, state, or county law, including information 

	TR
	about the purposes and applicability of the law. 

	n/a 
	n/a 

	TR
	c. 
	A comparison between the proposed rule and the related federal, state, or 

	TR
	county law, including a comparison of their purposes, application, and 

	TR
	administration. 

	n/a 
	n/a 

	TR
	d. 
	A comparison of the monetary costs and benefits of the proposed rule with 

	TR
	the costs and benefits of imposing or deferring to the related federal, state, 

	TR
	or county law, as well as a description of the manner in which any 

	TR
	additional fees from the proposed rule will be used. 

	n/a 
	n/a 

	TR
	e. 
	A comparison of the adverse effects on small business imposed by the 

	TR
	proposed rule with the adverse effects of the related federal, state, or 

	TR
	county law. 

	n/a 
	n/a 


	* * * 
	Small Business Regulatory Review Board / DBEDT .Phone: (808) 586-2594 .
	Email: dbedt.sbrrb@hawaii.gov .

	This Statement may be found on the .SBRRB Website at: .
	http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/small-business-impact-statements-pre-and-post-pubic-hearing .

	Revised 1/05/2016 
	CHAPTER6 .AGENCY HEARING PROCEDURES .
	Figure
	1-6-1 Presiding Officer. 
	Figure
	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	In all Agency Hearings before the Commission, the Chair, or one ofthe Commissioners, or a Hearing Officer duly appointed and designated shall preside at the hearing. 

	(b) 
	(b) 
	The Presiding Officer shall control the course ofhe~rmgs, administer oaths, receive evidence, hold appropriate conferences before or during headcl~s~l:ruJe upon all objections or motions, receive offers of proof, fix the time for the filing.o~i~\~l!Jmittals, dispose ofany other 


	1
	matter.that normally and properly arises in the course qm¥il~eJ~i~~: and take all other ~ctions authonzed by law that are deemed necessary to thelm'ife,,ry and)/;l~fonduct ofa hearmg. 
	ll

	. Th Pl . D ' 11,U l. d . t1!11· d h . . h II .
	1
	11

	1-6-2 Partles. e anmng epartmen ,aumitte mtervendrs ~n t e petitioner s a m
	1
	every case be patties to such proceedings. qlll,li' 'tql!\j''!j'! I1111 lj1 
	. Th p 'd' Offi 11 C t1!fll11 d !1 1!11, .
	1
	1

	1 6 3 Contmuance. resi mg cause, postp,0ne or contmue
	--e iced nl:1);', 10 1gqo
	· ,1, !···'· 1f111i, . 1, .pi
	111

	any heanng from day to day, or to a aierdate, or to a d\ffel'ent place without not'lce other than lll]~: \,1 1,ji, • h 111tt: 1· C s . I M
	1
	1

	the announcement thereof at tl1e Agen;? ·•11'.rau,ng w en an: apR ICant 1or a pec1a anagement
	1

	1
	Area, Class IV, Use, Variance Permit, ·'.l,~pJ~i~ljil?.fermit suBhptssignificant data, reports or 
	1
	1

	. h . f h h . . d Ii . ! il!,!lr1ri . l.!.\l,i, d h bl' .
	d
	I 

	stu ies at t e time o t e earmg, 111 or e1t0 give·t \e,~ on1ll1iss19n j n t e pu 1c an opportumty to evaluate and considerifqFm~r 1 ll
	11

	.reports ot;:studie\ '.j.llllllill! , 
	11

	1 
	11 1111 dilh llilh.1'!jlllil .i[l\!!Jh
	1-6-4 Ex Pai e Communi'Gation. No pe1is~p·\¥hether or' not a party to a Proceeding h C . . 't,nll /1 11 'h· ilf d' b' f h
	b e omm1ss10n sn~ f comm Wregar mg any su ~ect matter o t e
	c 

	e1ore t icate ex pa~proceeding ij@·t~1anv merrihel1· of! Millt·,ommission' 011Mearing Officer who will be a participant in
	1

	.
	··· 
	• • f u i•.1m, '' ll!j 1'I ,, tq 11 111 ·1·111
	the dec1sldH· · ('t.qglP.rRcess. ·, 11111! 1 11 
	1

	1
	111 I'' · 111,11 ' 111 .1.
	111 

	_6 5 Notice of~ enc JijMHn . 'I l!li .111 11. 11111 ' . . illi I I '.l11'1 1),. . .
	lll
	111
	1

	(a) ~ tll be served upon all Parties and persons on the mailing list for tl{}~!Hurpose at d~~·r last recorded address at least fifteen (15) days prior to the Agency Hearing d! ~e:i,unless othbrlwise provided by law. Further, the notice will be filed at least
	TH~ln9t1ce of Agenc¼~eann~
	1
	1
	1

	•1n111 Ill I 
	(b) The notice shal !ulLain the appropriate information as required in Chapter 91, HRS. 
	1-6-6 Waiver ofProcedure. Any procedure in a Contested Case may be modified or waived by stipulation of the Parties and informal disposition may be made of any Contested Case by stipulation, settlement, agreement, consent order, or default. 
	1-6-7 Prehearing Conference. A Presiding Officer or designated representative may hold a prehearing conference with the Parties for the purpose of formulating or simplifying the issues, arranging for the exchange ofproposed exhibits or proposed written testimony, setting of 
	1 .
	schedules, exchanging names of witnesses, limitation ofnumber of witnesses, and such other matters as may expedite orderly conduct and disposition ofthe Proceeding. 
	1-6-8 Requests for Transcripts. Any Party may cequest transcripts according to the provisions see forth in Section 1-2-6 (b ). Requests shall be made in writing at least seven (7) days prior to the Agency Hearing. 
	1-6-9 Limiting Testimony. Just, expeditious, and inexpensive determination. 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	To avoid unnecessary cumulative evidence, the Presiding Officer may limit the number ofwitnesses or the time for testimony upon a particu}a·,r~sue. 

	(b) 
	(b) 
	The P:13residing Oefficer shall not order or appr.<'>~~!!eivil style discovery against non-parties; and unless stipulated to by all parties, the heUl-'.i'ii~s. officer shall not order or a rove civil st le discover between arties. Civil st',fgJ1:hs28~~r, refers to rocedures initiated b arties under 'udicial rules of civil rod~'clut!e. s ecifi'bili includin but not 


	. fl 111 ii' . . 'III! ll • .C'
	I
	. d d . . I . . 

	mute to, epos1t10ns on ora or wntten guestlollS, wntten mterrogatvnes, requests 1or roduction of documents or thin s. re uests tW~iter land or other rotl ~Ht I h sical and mental examinations, and requests for admissid~m,111 lJjJ, ·qq l1111 
	1

	l . p· .d'~ fF Clllh,l ,t!.l[!lli fL N h' l!l1.1, 1
	1-6-lo Stlu at10n as to m 1u· s o acts orio usi<:ms o aw. ot m~ m t 1ese rules shall prohibit Parties from entgl-r ,'M!,ht.o appropriaW ~~foulations as to findings offact, 
	. 

	. fl .d d' . 'f 11, 1:fllli,, . h l!!r!L,, . . 
	1 i;wy, concernmg t e suuJect petition. 
	l aw, an con 1t1ons, 

	cone us1ons o i 'I{ ~11111 l It . ''.1111 ]t ' -. . 
	. . . lj!(li 
	1
	1
	11

	(1) .A Pet1t10neult ho desires t~'.lehter mtolWst11::>ulat10nJshall prepare a stipulation as .ti!l/llh' fi' 11!J.1·1· f .c-l[!il l 1-dlH1!1if,••1 ''d!'l' d' · 'f 
	1
	1

	to a~YilWW 1 miN,~~~ 0 1a~t.' l~wnc HSl,I, an con 1tlons, 1 any,
	1
	1

	~IlS O !1ijW.conc~u11111g the suBJ~ct petltlom!Jiljl 1111 II ll.II; 1'.
	1 
	''tllijp \ 

	l ' 
	(2) All PartiesllJtiall s·J the;oropose~ tipulation as to any or all proposed findings 
	1

	'lil''i.n .,Hn t1 m1H11i,1i t1111 t1.
	ll!
	1 
	1

	ll! IH~!1flfl\conclu. 10nf$1of· aW,\I\IBH concl.'ilpns, and proposed decision and order, ifI at Jn,1'4~~ shall 1t'W:5mit such st1gpl~tioh to the Commission seven (7) days prior 
	'I\! 

	I
	1 t jt to the A~JHc.y HeJ ·i!\g ,date, unl~!~lbtherwise permitted by the Presiding Officer. 
	1 
	1

	I I
	111 '11111' 11111111 
	(3) 
	(3) 
	(3) 
	(3) 
	11!\\ffihe CommissJ~may rJJHfre the parties to submit additional Jr·dence concer ·hg the stipulation and proposed decision and order. 
	1
	1


	l t1\1111i.. . . , 1111 h d d . . d d b d'

	(4) .
	(4) .
	The G(ilmm1ss1<;>n tt{ay approve t e propose ec1s1on an or er y amen mg l!Hlh 1-tlJlt! l d d . . d d


	or adoptmgjt ,1e-mropose ec1s10n an or er. .'•q1111 r .
	1
	1

	1-6-11 Order of Agency Hearing Procedure. At the commencement ofthe Agency Hearing, the Presiding Officer may read the notice ofhearing and then briefly outline the procedures to be followed, which shall be in the following manner: 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	Entertain Requests for Intervention. All persons seeking to intervene as Parties shall be asked to identify themselves and their counsel. The Presiding Officer shall proceed in accordance with Chapter 4 herein. 

	(b) 
	(b) 
	Presentation of Evidence. The Department shall first present evidence and shall 


	2 .
	be subject to questioning by all Parties and the Commission. The Petitioner may then make a presentation and be subject to questioning by all Parties and the Commission. In cases where intervention is allowed and a timetable for evidentiary Proceedings for the paiiies has been established, any questioning by the Parties and the Commission may be--suspended until such time as designated by the Presiding Officer. 
	.(hl_Order of Presentation. The Petitioner's presentation shall be first, followed by the Department and then the intervenors. In cases where there multiple Intervenors, the Presiding_ Officer shall establish the order or the Intervenors' presentations. 
	fct-£.!2ublic Testimony. The presiding officer shall then s9sp~li;ct the rules and open the Agency Hearing to the public as required by law. Cross-exami1 1l~l~lb'rpublic witnesses shall not be 
	allowed ofthe Petitioner and Intervenorn. ' !JJ!ill fllllill 
	1
	1 
	hl_ ,,,111111%111111 
	11 

	(:ej(Q_LClose Public Testimony. Upon1tt'Jadmission or all publidevidence, the
	1
	1

	1
	Presiding officer shall close the public testimoriy!portion of the Agency'PI~~·'ng.
	1
	··q11111l, ,11!ljj!1tt\l11h fB&_Additional Testimonyt1f~be Presiding owc~r,sp.all allow the SUOI1?-A$sion of additional written evidence from ptl~'.li~j~ i1Pesses up t~!!~~~n (7) days after the close of the 
	1
	11 

	. . h h c'lll, HI.ii• . d t!UJi• . h d
	Agency Heanng m cases w ere t e ommissron oes not ta.i: e act10n on t e same ay.
	'll!llil ·t,'ll!lll!1' 'I 1lll
	1

	111h111
	'c 
	L
	1 
	1

	Ln'i(f'R Tsb . p1i' p·d''· rF.fL D ..
	o
	u
	ropose 
	11
	I 
	mgS
	1
	!0·
	1 one us10ns o

	.
	,o1i.i.L. equest , m1t m act, aw, ec1s10n
	1
	,,!l.!j!l•l,1!,i, . 'lj'' 1/!l\;I1q1 • 111111 • •
	And Order When ~ No ~ terventron. hi cas~s'wp.eq;,there rs no mterventron, the 
	The1:e.1I

	. . ft .f 1,1 , 'd L,lll~ . lJ! ,1 1 . , 1IP. htll1Jd1,, , k' · f h
	Pet1troner may, a er,t e ev1 entiar, lport10n 'but p111nr to t e·ctec.1s10n-ma mg portion o t e 
	ljI I : ii l \II JI Ip' I ''I.
	Meeting (when a duly~»}.~de motio11iby the Cornm,ission to act on the docket is made), request the opportunity'Wjl:!µbmit ,~ ~rf?POsed Fi1~~J·~· gs of Fact, Conclusions ofLaw, Decision 
	,, .• 111! l1 ,,It )1 11111! ·, I I•, . . . .
	of Law. Sholifd11the.Pet1t10ne 1110t1,u1Jm1ttav·equest( t s.uch time, the Pet1t10ner's nght to 
	1
	11

	. i1H!l1J11 111·Hifll ~ ,,q .nr, mn, . . .
	1
	1
	1 

	1111 mi.,
	subm1t,~ual~1aocument1! Ji~ll be:?,etlfued wai Y1m1m d the Comm1ss10n may commence with
	I ,Ill . . I • h, .I\ I ,,t' . . . 
	appropp~,e dec1sion-ma~w.~ actio lltf a reque~tl1slmade, the Pres1dmg Officer may contmue the docU~tlflpd set a timetaijfFjor th'e.;{;~vduct or the post-hearing Proceedings pursuant to Section 1-<i( i~\I •[ ll d[!!11, 
	!11111 ll ' 
	(-1-Bf_g)_Re<i:!J'nv,ening of Col~tested Case Hearing Portion. In cases where there are 
	'IIII" J' Iif
	Intervenors or adve1~fj!farties,affda Contested Case Hearing is reconvened to complete the presentation of evideridy~;fht1 Pit'fididing Officer may explain the Proceedings, note and discuss objections to the ProceediliU' !from each Party, ifany are submitted, and then administer the 
	1
	1

	• I, tf f 
	oath to witnesses. 
	On.hw @f Pros~mtati@fl. Tho Potiti@flor's prosirntati@n shall 00 first, full@wo€1 hy tho 
	Department afl€1 tlioR tlio intorvon0rs. In oases whore tlioro mHltiplo IPitorvorrnrs, tho 
	Presiding Offioor shall ostaelish Hrn €H€lor 0r tho lfltorvm~0rspresontati0ns. 
	1 

	t!0®-Cross-Examination. Each Party shall have the right to conduct such crossexamination of other Parties and their witnesses as may be required for a full and true disclosure of the facts. The order of cross-examination and re-cross shall be determined by the Presiding Officer. The Commission shall have the right to question each Paity after 
	3 
	completion of re-cross by the other Parties. 
	E-1-)fil_Rebuttal Evidence. Each Party shall be afforded the opportunity ror rebuttal in the same order as item 1-6-11 (h) above. 
	fmj{ilClose Contested Case Hearing. Upon completion ofall testimony and evidence submitted by each party and their witnesses, the Presiding Officer shall close the Contested Case portion ofthe Hearing. 
	l 6 12 Co-Counsel. No more than two (2) counsels may appear for any Party at any Proceeding before the Commission. Where a Party is reprd!~pted by more than one counsel, only . ll' !ll!11. . 
	1 

	--l--e-l-J l-6-1 2 one ofthe counsel shall be permit ~~j pqross-examme a witness or to state any objections or to make closing argum~nt~) IP'' l!;jll·i l-6-M I-6-13 Reguests For Subpoenas. f111jli· ,qIJ ' 1 11 
	1
	1 

	(a) Subpoenas ofWitnesses. Requests! r,~~the issuance ofsubp~Wn:"r, requiring the atterdance of a witness for the purpose oftakirl~!~ ·al testimoi;iy before t1m1~1·~P,1mission shall 
	. .. d I 11 h h h l l!l. iit,,h · .t\_,,i,. d b
	bem wntmg, an s 1a state t e reasons w y t e testJmonv1orj~ e witness 1s i1;1_~1,~ve to e 
	. . . , 'lillll, HI II,' . . ·i!!.n
	matenal and relevant to the issues 1nVofiYed. Only Pai't1esbrla Comm1ss10ner may'request the . 'I IHI 'I\ ·111111111
	issuance of a subpoena. I]' I !Jlil,, 1 11 . 
	1

	ll) ili11 . II1II 
	1
	1 

	h 11 f..-· · and shall command each~erso 1 to whorrl.lft ·s direct ~itft ~ttend1~\idgive testimony at a time 
	1
	1c 
	1

	(b) Every subpoena s a state t I-i~·t~t e uIue1m·ocee1ngt1:9r w1t 1s to e issue , 
	i'·
	· 
	1 ' 
	.1.
	1 
	t
	t:· 
	d'
	1
	1
	] 
	h' h · 
	b
	d

	11 
	and place therein specff}~H'. illj li'[.jl• lll ]1 ,11'1! lll I lll!lj!l!!'l• ''HI·
	1

	11
	-1,111: ti 11 ,Il!li! I l,ii
	1
	1

	(c) Subpoenas ~«9es Tecuml Requests lfdfi the issuance or subpoenas for the 
	1
	production of documentJi6b·ecora~f shall be in «/rihng; shall specify the particular document 
	, WIii!!• , ;H ,hr!IJ )) Ol'Hli'I It•. 'l!I I
	1

	or record,H•b1 iP.~lT thereor, des1I1e@,to oe'ihil'<a\lced; a1 t1 shall state the reasons why the
	fh 1111 .. '(ffljl' 1 1'11
	·m111n !J{•. . 11 1!111, tin • .
	1
	11

	produclt o thereof'1 ;oeheved tq16e matenal-anci·i;elevant to the issues mvolved. q11:· ''ll!!IJ' \I111, 'I ljj!' 
	1
	1

	q, 1jli, , Pli 
	)l'Who May Issue Subpoena'st,subpoenas may be issued by the Chair or in his
	1

	1l' • • '•
	I'
	1
	1
	1

	'11../.1,11 flfli •
	desired witness. ~i~n~d and seaifi& blank subpoenas will not be issued to anyone. The name and address of the vtl~)~s shall' 1¥,b inserted in the original subpoena, a copy of which shall be filed in the proceedinl .Slfbp~ij~~s shall show at whose instance the subpoena is issued. The Patties at whose instanc~~[~~bpoena is issued shall arrange for service thereof, and shall file a return and acknowledgment or service thereon. 
	1

	(e) 
	(e) 
	(e) 
	Fees and Mileage. Witnesses summoned shall be paid the same fee and mileage as are paid witnesses in Circuit Courts ofthe State ofHawai'i and such fees and mileage shall be paid by the Party at whose instance the witness appear. 

	(f) 
	(f) 
	Oath. Witnesses shall be sworn under oath or affirmation prior to testifying. 


	--l--6~1-6-14 Consolidation. The Commission, upon its own initiative or upon motion, 
	4 .
	may consolidate for hearing or for other purposes, or may contemporaneously consider, two or more Proceedings which involve substantially the same parties or issues which are the same or closely related if it finds that such consolidation or contemporaneous consideration will be conducive to the proper dispatch of its business and to the ends ofjustice and will not unduly delay the Proceedings. 
	-l-6-+el-6-15 Substitution of Parties. Upon motion and for good cause shown, the Commission may order substitution of Parties, except that in the case of death of a Party, substitution may be ordered without the filing of a motion. 
	Figure
	(2) 
	(2) 
	(2) 


	Motions i\fter the Start ofthe Contested Case Hearing. Motions may befiled following the start ofa Contested Case hearing if the factual basis for the motion arises d·aring the course of the Contested Case hearing. Motions made after a Hearing has started shall be-made at least fourteen 
	(14) days prior to the date set for final argument on the matter. 
	Motions that faii to meet the requirements set forth in this rule shall .vaived unless good cause is shown. 5 
	be deemed 
	1

	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	Form and Contents. All motions shall be made in ,,vriting to the Commission or Hearing Officer, and shall state the relief sought and shall be accompanied by an affidavit or legal memorandum setting forth the grounds upon which they are based. For good cause shown the Commission may allow oral motions to be made during a Contested Case hearing. 

	(a) 
	(a) 
	Service ofMotions. The moving party shall serve a copy ofall motions on all other Parties and shall file with the Commission the original with proof ofservice. 

	(a) 
	(a) 
	Memorandum in Opposition. A memorand'dm in opfiosition or counter affidavit shall be served on all Parties and the original and proof of serv\6;e,shall be filed with the


	1
	Commission within seven (7) days after being served witlf'ff~9;tib~. The Presiding Officer may order the memorandum in opposition to be filed =~-,;~:==:::
	Commission, for good cause shown, may continu ~~ ~ rder 
	iL /2:~\~, i ~ ~~ 
	111 

	. I C . . . 1 d I 'd t ~'-• d d
	e 
	memoran

	to give t1eon1ll11ss1on an opportumty to e','a 'dar,~conSI er t~~;rnot10n an Ul 
	1
	iH--eJ,position to the motion. I\ /II ,I!: ' •ll!lilll 
	1

	• ' esition ~U1ft,metion er failure ~earat1eeanng mayeeeme a 1,va1ver Q,Ho,~eo,w, =i:-o t e grantmgJRr, ema O t e motion. A Party who does net Ojlpo10jt~e motion shl/ hi ty \he Presiding ollidel· and opposing counsel or Party prompt1Y.1! !ldjpi!~-illll Wit, . 
	Figure
	· ', · · · ·· I. 
	11 
	1

	iq!! llq!l!j'1 •l 1111 -l-/i---l-1l l-6-l 7 Evi~ence 11111 ! lill!li!lljj1; 111111111 1111 t!!ll!.!11. !l, . .,di ,111111,, -11lh .. 
	11 

	(a) Form andlA/fnissiH,p1ty. The C vun1~slq~sHa1\iriqlbe bound by the Hawa1'1 Rules
	1
	• 
	1
	1

	fl , • '!IJn ,,Iii (j I ,, , ,
	• • · rnn 
	,, 
	1

	I ,
	of Evidence relatmglt~;;~he adm1~~1br or reJeotto :~'k ev1dence, tBut may exercise its own 
	discretion in such m~he 1I ith a vigWsuring that justice is served.
	1 

	W.IJ' towards 1U_
	' 11!1 1! i q,,,1 
	(b) BJ.Jrden ofProofl!Exiiepl its!Htherwise r,rp.vided by law, the Paity initiating
	l'
	, , IIHI 1I IllI , , '\ / I ~II I I, 'J ll) L . .
	1
	1 
	1 
	I 

	Comm1ss1bnjHo :'!fie ·ation iH«{ hMve elBuhien oEuroof, mcludmg the burden of
	1

	1
	..i11 nr :·· ··n , , ,·1. ·1 i,uP,, -11 
	prodlwimMlevidence Usl1i ,ef.J as tH~!?iw·den of pe~l ~Sl011. The degree or quantum ofproof 
	1

	shall Held1P,reponderance ~</f,tfie evi'~fi ~ e. ' 'I ilH 111111 11 hh ( ) Ec ·~9us1on o rre ey;apt aterl~l. s a matter opoicy, t 1e omm1ss10n sa
	lln~ 
	· f I
	I nli,
	M
	ll.i.1· 
	A.
	f 
	1
	· l
	C
	. . h
	11 

	. 1 h . . fl Ii . . . . .
	provide for the ~~olus10n or 1nele;vant, 1mmatenal, or unduly repetlt10usevidence. 
	(d) R Ing:a e am1ss111ty oev1uc
	. 'ltjT'dJll!
	Offi h 11
	I h
	d
	'b'
	l' 
	f 11 
	'd S
	h

	u mg. 1~<rfc._i·es1 1cer s ru e on t a ence. 
	!!I
	J]!i
	n
	. 

	11
	ruling may be reviewed'~~ l\ii.~lcommission in determining the matter on its merits. In extraordinary circumstanc'es llwhere prompt decision by the Commission is necessary to promote justice, the Presiding Officer may refer the matter to the Commission for determination. 
	(e) 
	(e) 
	(e) 
	Objections and Exceptions. When objections are made to the admission or exclusion of evidence, the grounds relied upon shall be stated briefly. Formal exceptions to rulings are unnecessary and need not be taken. 

	(
	(
	f) Offer ofProof. An offer ofproof for the record shall consist of a statement of the substance ofthe evidence to which objection has been sustained. 

	(g) 
	(g) 
	Prepared Testimony. With the approval of the Presiding Officer, a witness may read into the record his testimony on direct examination. Before any prepared testimony is read, unless excused by the Presiding Officer, the witness shall deliver copies thereof to the Presiding Officer, the clerk reporter, and all counsel or Parties. Admissibility shall be subject to the rules governing oral testimony. Ifthe Presiding Officer deems that substantial saving in time will result, a copy of the prepared testimony may

	(h) 
	(h) 
	Documentary Evidence. Ifrelevant and material [ill~1l~;.offered in evidence is embraced in a document containing other matters, the li~f*l;Jfifiering it shall designate specifically the matter so offered. Ifother matter in,t1r~;a;bcuMtjk1r,7ou1d unnecessarily 
	1
	1



	6 
	1. 1
	encumber the record, the document will not be re.Gi~yydin evid6hqtiput at the discretion of the 
	1

	1
	Presiding Officer, the relevant and material m5tt~}j~1ay be read int~litt1:y ecord or copies thereof received as an exhibit. Other parties shall be 'JRfbliaed opportunity to ~WJ~11ine the document, 
	11

	-c: .'d h t!.11'' d d 1'1.llt,
	f
	11
	1
	1

	and ence oter port10ns t ereouer r ve matenaan re evanu ,
	• 
	h
	. 
	f
	. 1

	too 1er m ev1 ·.. \ l I11!I1 · 11]lllIl I\ q111 II .
	1

	(i) 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	Exhibits. lilJIIJi!il , ' -I IIJJlj 111' .111 

	(1) 
	(1) 
	Form-Size. ExHib)J!~ha'.Ilbe clear! !~dpermanently legible and in such
	1



	11111 
	e: b • ·L1'!'-'· h C llfiH, • E h'b' h II b b d
	1 
	1

	1orm as may e p~escnuea PY.jt. e oml1lffiWon. x 1 its s a e oun
	1
	Oiifolde~ to the re~Bgctive aWi1~1t!·mate sii e!Jwhere practical. Wherever 
	1111111m1 , 1ffh H~'l\PJ tt!~-''• ·11 11 
	1

	acti'ca l'e~sheets o£each d 'il.Wt sia:11be numbered and data and other 
	1
	1
	1

	1
	' ,· ''tll • ! tl'i ,JIil' I' 11 I1It
	( 
	M
	1

	figures slialljibe set fortHj'h ta ular Fo1m) 
	1

	!I' ti II! 11 ii I' ' 
	Ill 
	f

	(2) .cr½:~·ies. W~'enlexhibits are offered in evidence, and when practicable the '\t /,l!\, l .;.i lll!"'l (12) IH., h 11 b fu . h d h p 'd'
	1
	1

	• , on ma an:~rxe~e CO'tD~es S a e rms e tot e res1 mg 
	1 

	·11!jjllllll1llll!lllliR~fi~iiJffi; U~ dgB~ltR];r,~,C~'Rijt!Y to the Proceed~ng other t~an the .JIii I l [<r0rom1ssl~fi ;unless suolijoop1es have been previously furmshed or the.
	!.1
	I .'t!!fll! rm, ) ' il!I
	it Pre~tff'ng O'fff~e · otherwise . .1.
	l

	. llllh11, .. . I 1l~h l!l! IJ11i1, .
	G) C~l, 1n1ss1on Recor, r,jiThe file.[\<;ept by the Department on the matter pendmg before the Com"~l°n shall c ' lute evidence for the purposes of an Agency Hearing. 
	11 
	generally recognized techhiHMf or scientific facts within the Commission's specialized 
	knowledge when Parties and given notice either before or during the hearing or the material so 
	noticed and afforded the opportunity to contest the facts so noticed. 
	(1) Additional Evidence. No supplemental evidence shall be accepted into the record after the Agency Hearing is closed. However, the Presiding Officer may, at the hearing, require the production offurther evidence upon any issue. Upon agreement of the Paities, the Presiding Officer may authorize the filing of specific documentary evidence as a part of the record within a fixed time after submission reserving exhibit number therefor. 
	7 
	-l--6-+91-6-18 Post Hearing Procedures for Hearing Conducted By Commission. 
	(a) Correction of Transcripts in Cases where Transcripts are Provided. Motions to conect a transcript shall be filed with the Commission within fourteen (14) days after receipt of the transcript unless otherwise directed by the Presiding Officer, and shall be served on all Parties. Motions to correct transcripts shall certify the date when the transcript was received. Any objections to proposed corrections must be served on all Paiiies and received by the Commission at least seven (7) days after the date of
	the stenographic transcript ofthe hearing. ii ljjlllJJJ1 
	(b) Submittals ofProposed Decisions and Orde~st.j~~?~rParty to the proceeding may
	1 
	submit a pr~posed decisio~ and order to the Com~~~sf~H lthi6ij.!niwll include findi~gs offact and conclusions oflaw. Said proposals shall be senved to each PahiYJ ito the proceedmg.
	1 
	1

	1 
	fs b · 1 u 1 h t1!1.Plilldl· db hP
	U 1:11tta s. e1w11!·ecte 
	m
	~
	~.

	'.ll Ju. ofri 
	re 11cer, In 
	.. 

	·.
	· .
	( )T
	. 

	_c 1mmg O 
	~1~.
	n ess 0~ 
	n ess 0~ 
	n ess 0~ 
	y t 

	e 

	proceedmgs where transcnpts are not required,ls,tibi;p1ttal ofalwoposed dcl~~ on and order shall be made within thitty (30) days from the dat~!~riclos~· -~ qFthe hearing. f!{JP,roceedings
	1 
	whereby transcripts are required, S\,9~ itltal shall be lli~tlNl: ~ti1/in fourteen (14) tlM~s from the
	11
	date or service ofthe transcript. ![ 111 l!Jp11_, 1(
	11 

	1
	i •,!!11· !Ii
	l
	11 

	1 
	(d) · 1 fE · oL.. · H!l (.) d s·nli,, · 1 h c · · f
	S 
	b 
	111

	u m1tta o xcept1ons to ~p1s10n aflulrnr er. u~p-Htta to t e omm1ss10n o 
	1
	exceptions to a proposeR1Hecision and or~~l.-lshall b~n\laa~ withib;~e11,en (7) days from the date 
	1

	1 11
	1 

	f · r ·d i <lJhltl:i d d , · 1..,p, 11'•·· r' :,, ·fi db I P ·d· 
	1111 
	11
	1
	111

	o service o sat pro~R!l~ll ec1s1qllifi'~ or er, 9ifit •qinjlli' c1Vi!i\~lllo time spec, 1e y t1e rest mg Officer. Such submittasnail be se1v~.R'lon all pa1t1es.J II •Ii I 
	ll 
	1
	1

	1111 
	1
	•111 ,111 111111 
	(e) Final Argume~t~~if.he,J=tre~iftiP.g Offic ;~!shall establish the date for presentationml'1111,,l),l. h' h 11·1-1nn11.11 'l''' £ ,11 t.11h d I h . d' db
	1
	1
	1

	0 ffimaIat:'i'HJmentS ~ ll c S ,0 eGUr In t 1e1OJi owmg1or er, un ess ot erw1se ll'ecte y
	1
	the p:11f~Wli'l'lffib~rc11111,1 'I ., I1j i11 ,,, 111i111111111 'Ill'
	1 
	li11111l, (1.) Ent~~~~~li·enij~~~V,brnitted motion~, -:xceptions or corrections to lll\l the tra~ d ·1pt, 1fai;tY,, by the Comm1ss10n;
	II I l .,1, 
	(2jl!l\[li Presenta f~hof oral arguments by the Pet_itioner, Depaiiment, then qllnterver:(©·IfIn cases where there are multiple Intervenors, the '~•· ·llo£fi h 11 d · h · d f ·
	111
	111 

	vr~ 111g.· 1cer s a etermme t etr or er o presentat10n. 
	• I IIll'. 
	1

	(3) Closing arguments or rebuttal by the Petitioner. 
	The Presiding Officer may set appropriate time limitations for oral argument provided that not more than one (1) hour on each side ofthe Proceeding will be allowed for argument without special leave ofthe Commission. 
	(f) 
	(f) 
	(f) 
	Issuance ofDecision and Order. A Proceeding shall stand submitted for decision by the Commission after the taking ofevidence and the presentation ofsuch oral argument as may have been prescribed by the Presiding Officer. The Commission may: 

	(1) .
	(1) .
	Adopt a decision and order as submitted by any ofthe Parties, with or without revisions; 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	Take action on the matter and may require the Department or a Party to the proceeding to submit a written decision and order which conforms with the evidence; or 

	(3) .
	(3) .
	If no proposed findings of fact, conclusions oflaw, decision and order have been submitted by any party, take action on the matter and require the Director to notify the Parties.. 


	8 .
	. f D . . D . . h 11 b d .,1,llll!JI'. b h D' b ·1·
	( ) Sg erv1ce o ec1s10ns. ec1s10ns s a e serve if11 i'?''ntmg y t e 1rector y ma1 mg copies thereof (return receipt) to the Parties ofrecord. \}[Jli9~ff~l'.Vice is not accomplished by mail, it may be effected by personal delivery ofa cop){(tp,ereoi J[f ~en a party to a Proceeding has appeared by a representative, service upon su »ji;rp~·esentati~ijlp · counsel shall be deemed to be service upon the Party. ijj !IJ I 'illljj 
	111

	1 
	(h) 
	(h) 
	(h) 
	Withdrawal ofApplication. In case here an application is lliltii~.·awn by the 

	P 
	P 
	. . ft d d . . . d db Iii{ !, C ,pt, . d . If! 1, h 'fi .


	et1t10ner a er an a verse ec1s1on 1s ren ere yt~/e011)tns~1on an pnor,,0 1t e ratl 1cat10n ~ . d f h fi I d .. ' d d h ljlil!., 1·In .JI b . 11 i,. ·1
	1 
	1
	1
	f
	1 
	1
	1
	11

	ore 1ectlve ate o sue ma ec1s10n an or er, t e ap,P, ICfltlOn or su stantia yt1s1m1 ar
	1
	application shall not be resubmitted!~~dil~i' than one cij:~g~r following the withdrawal. ' 11!1' l!Jfii!I·, lltl!'I 
	(i) Appeals. Any Paity aggrie e~bl a ~fl',~}order anll,~e.cision of the Planning
	11111 1
	h .

	. . b . J d' . I . f1. i, Ch 91
	1
	111111 

	Comm1ss10n mayo tam u 1c1a rev1ews,foereo 1.o;i~ ~ manne111~4rsuant to apter , 
	1 
	HRS. 1111111111i111111111 1111111 •j;j/11111111111011• •l!IIJ1 -l--e-2Gl-6-l ~llr.ost A enc .l~earin P1db~!~J~s for HeJl!Jh Conducted b Hearin Office~·: tll!ljti 11·111 ':111]1 
	1

	1
	1!illil!ll''11 q 1t1 1i!l-1II Il'llllll1 I '· lll11 
	1
	1

	~ai IJr¢.eon1*1~i;idatiori qvHearing tJfficer,: II 
	1

	1 111. 111·1· IP ''·llll1 j ' 11,1111. '· ~llt1111> •.
	111 
	11 

	I •
	IJ · (1) U~~11l complep}-,Qn of takmg of the evidence, the Hearing Officer shall 
	I 

	1
	prep! ~~il;\ repo't'.t!Mefling for the proposed findings offact, conclusions of 11,lill· 1aw, th¼lreasons tk¢,efore, and a recommended order, and shall submit · 1111! 't the repo,ff the Proceeding to the Commission. · 
	lijl1! 

	(2) 
	(2) 
	(2) 
	(2) 
	ll,j~,\\ereccifJlhall include the petition, notice ofhearing, motions,l'"dl!ld . f h h . 'f . d d
	11
	111


	ru lPR~'01' ers, transcnpt o t e earmg, 1 reqmre , ocumentary evid~i\~e, stipulations, proposed findings, or other documents submitted by the Parties, objections to the conduct ofthe hearing and the report ofthe Hearing Officer and all other matters placed in evidence. 
	1


	(3) .
	(3) .
	The Hearing Officer shall cause a copy ofthe report to be served upon all Parties to the Proceedings. 

	(b) 
	(b) 
	Exception to Hearing Officer's Report and Recommendations. 

	(1) .
	(1) .
	Prior to seven (7) working days after service ofthe report and recommendations by the Hearing Officer, a Party may file with the Commission, exceptions to the report. Such Party shall serve copies ofexceptions upon each party to the Proceeding. 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	(2) .
	The exceptions shall: 

	(i) 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	Set forth specifically the questions ofprocedure, fact, law, or policy, to which exceptions are taken; 

	(ii) 
	(ii) 
	Identify that part ofthe Hearing OfffJ~!i's report and recommended order to which obje~ti:i 1\~!~i·e made; 




	9 
	.. ') D . b . . 11l1rlUllllll!t1~. f h d . d 
	(
	1

	m es1gnate y page c1tat1on•ro tue p01, fors o t e recor re 1e upon; · I 'll ' [111
	1ll111. 
	l!lill1, 
	1

	(iv) !')exceptions to a ntlihg, finding, conclusion 
	State all the grounds£ 
	f 

	d . .TH'' .I l' d . d ··~··m 11 d
	11 

	or ~·ecodmmen atlon. ,?i glf~un snot cite or spe ,ii '\cl!a y urge are 
	waive .. ! l!l!i. 1j' 'I IJ11 ' 
	!
	!
	1

	• •I> 11111 ,111 II JI I • 1!,11 
	1

	(c) Support of Hearmg Offifrr;~,f eport and R~riorn1}7-ndations. ti 
	I 
	11
	111llill111,, ll[llh,
	1
	1

	(1) .Prior to seven (7t)jiW011~fhgdays afterl~e·~vice of the exceptions taken to 
	, .11,l '•llt,1If\, Ii! ii .
	the Heanng Officyu's rep·011?~n.v other R1:trty may file with the 
	. . dP, . 1n..n1, 111r;.i. r-c: ..
	Cori111,uss1on argume\its m suppor t6fthe Hearmg O 11cer's recommendations.
	·'! Hll '1ill1! lili . 1 
	·'! Hll '1ill1! lili . 1 
	11 
	1

	dlll • Iii I), 1' .

	uch'Par~.x,1shall serve co.pies u~9J:1. each, m~rty to the Proceed mg. 11,1I ,r .11111, lti1111 '!11111 "iJ11lJ!l1 
	' · 

	(2) .Th Ml1bmittal snaH: 
	six (6) days prior to tn~~f"lI!~earing with the Office of the CountyClerk.
	1 
	1 
	absence, ai1y f[1omm1ss1oner. \~.o subpoe1i~)~hall be issued unless the Party requestmg the subpoena has u~~plied with t~~~rovisioris herein and gives the name and address of the 
	1

	1
	JUd1c1ally noticed by thJW9wt~;1ofthe State of Hawai'l. Official notice may also be taken of 
	. . . (k) Official w~~k~ ~fi1i , ~s. Official notice 1:1~Y be t~ken o~ such matters as may be

	1 Ii 
	1 Ii 
	1 

	,·1i11lii111illl0!:A:!]~[j,jp~~1w~l\i/Y,ilhepoin~ lbf procedure, fact, law or policy to 
	1

	1
	.i ." \,\,h1~h~xcep~ig~s were t~l~¢~lllll I ill
	ilt!li· 
	1 

	I 11111· (ii) State1\~r _factsfln~1reasons why the report and recommendations must be 11111i affirmed; ,ill! II 11!1· · ·) D · li1lb · · h . f h d 1· d
	!ll!k·

	'l!lilh,
	'l!lilh,
	Ill .

	11 11 ' 'I 11i111111 .I l
	1
	\~fes1gna e y page citation t e port10ns o · t e recor re 1e upon. 
	1 
	1. 

	'i. I ll'I'
	11h11 ,I 1,I
	11 

	(d) Oral Argument Bpfi ~d1 e Commission. q! I!I·,
	11

	., 
	(1) .
	(1) .
	(1) .
	Ifa Party desires to argue orally before the Commission, a written request with reasons therefore shall accompany the exceptions filed. The Commission may grant the request. 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	The Commission may direct oral argument on its own motion. 

	(e) 
	(e) 
	Commission Action. 

	(1) 
	(1) 
	In the event no statement ofexceptions is filed, the Commission may 


	proceed to reverse, modify, or adopt the recommendations ofthe Hearing 10 
	proceed to reverse, modify, or adopt the recommendations ofthe Hearing 10 
	Officer. 

	(2) .Upon the filing of the exceptions and support documents, the Commission may: 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	Render its decision upon the record; 

	(ii) 
	(ii) 
	If oral argument has been allowed, the Commission may render its decision after oral argument; or 


	Figure
	11 .
	CHAPTER6 .AGENCY HEARING PROCEDURES .
	Figure
	1-6-1 Presiding Officer. 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	In all Agency Hearings before the Commission, the Chair, or one ofthe Commissioners, or a Hearing Officer duly appointed and designated shall preside at the hearing. 

	(b) 
	(b) 
	The Presiding Officer shall control the course of he~rings, administer oaths, receive evidence, hold appropriate conferences before or during hear·n~~~Lrule upon all objections or motions, receive offers ofproof, fix the time for the filin~,rft s\\b'mittals, dispose ofany other matter that normally and properly arises in the course off1J11Ml!ing, and take all other actions


	1JII! IJ!l!'l •
	fin 

	authorized by law that are deemed necessary to the orderly ana Jµstconduct of a hearmg. 
	' III '' 111111 
	· h 1 · ,,111 I· d · l1i1, d h · · h 11 ·
	1
	11
	1

	1-6-2 Parties. T e P annmg DepartmYi , ~ mttte mtervenot~lflTI t e pet1ttoner s a m every case be parties to such proceedings. qi 1, d[]II'!l , 11 
	1
	11' 

	· Tl p 'd' Offi [1 c: .,tlllh d '..1llti.
	1
	1

	1 .
	1 6 3--Contmuance. 1e rest mg tcer q l:liV?1ot goo cause, postp0n.e or continue 
	• ll•i PO 1111 111 • 'it',I 1 
	1 

	any heanng from day to day, or to a!i~terqate, or to a cl~~)eNent place without not&e other than 
	1

	the announcement thereof at the AgeWc~ 4{e'aFing when ~W ~ab.plicant for a Special Management . p . !'I 18 ttql ' 1~ . Jti,1 1 . 'fi d
	1

	Area, Class Iv, Use, Vanance erm1t, ;or pec1~ 1!Yrm1t subrrpfs s1gm 1cant ata, reports or 
	1 

	111
	1
	1

	studies at the time ofthe h.earing, in ordJl 1io giv~' 4~ljG~mmisbhnj~nd the public an opportunity'd }flll tl'' 1pl d' 'ldfl1111 Iii
	1 d r I ll!''j j]t'
	to eva uate an cons1 e1r1t 1e1,~t~, reports ot;·stu 1es. 1illlll1lpniio1,lllill!1 . '111!11. Ill1liP ., Ililjjl-i 1-6-4 Ex Pailtelcommunie~tion. No #{~,n \vhether dr, Yl'.ot a party to a Proceeding 
	I 
	11
	1

	11 11 111
	"

	c: h C . . ·1> 11 • Olli d' b'
	b 

	1if h
	e1ore t e ommtss10n' s, a commup1cate ex papte regar mg any su ~ect matter o t e 
	1
	. ' 1 l{1l!h f Hlhi" ' · tll lu · Offi h '11 b · · · 
	d
	111 

	procee mg w1t 1a.ny me.mu~n 0 It e ~ omnuss10n 0r1ruearmg teer w o w1 e a participant m 
	1

	ij!lllP Lill!.! '! 1 'Ir •1,·..r111 1111 't 'Ii
	1 

	11
	1
	0
	1

	the decisi?Hrp.;ial<iinq!firocess. dl ',li!tj1,
	1
	1 .1111111. 111111ir , 11111, . 1111n,.
	11 
	1
	1

	11
	q~.5 Notice ofAl enc Hearin .
	1
	1 111 
	1·

	·11· Ill I 
	11 

	Tll]ll, fA · 11 P · l
	I 

	( a) Hgern;:yle serveupon a arties anpersons on t 1e
	· 
	IJJ
	1.ri.earmg1
	n ll!1i,
	.ll b

	d 
	d 

	~nfitlce o w1 mailing list for tHt~murpose at ti~,,}·r last recorded address at least fifteen (15) days prior to the Agency Hearing d!~rtJ,vnless ot1im{wise provided by law. Futther, the notice will be filed at least six (6) days prior to tH~j~ gencirilFiearing with the Office of the CountyClerk. 
	dl I,·111! · 
	1
	11

	(b) The notice shal ~ghtain the appropriate information as required in Chapter 91, HRS. 
	1-6-6 Waiver ofProcedure. Any procedure in a Contested Case may be modified or waived by stipulation of the Patties and informal disposition may be made ofany Contested Case by stipulation, settlement, agreement, consent order, or default. 
	1-6-7 Prehearing Conference. A Presiding Officer or designated representative may hold a prehearing conference with the Parties for the purpose of formulating or simplifying the issues, arranging for the exchange ofproposed exhibits or proposed written testimony, setting of 
	1-6-7 Prehearing Conference. A Presiding Officer or designated representative may hold a prehearing conference with the Parties for the purpose of formulating or simplifying the issues, arranging for the exchange ofproposed exhibits or proposed written testimony, setting of 
	schedules, exchanging names ofwitnesses, limitation of number of witnesses, and such 

	other matters as may expedite orderly conduct and disposition of the Proceeding. 
	1-6-8 Requests for Transcripts. Any Party may request transcripts according to the · provisions see fo1th in Section 1-2-6 (b). Requests shalI be made in writing at least seven (7) days prior to the Agency Hearing. 
	1-6-9 .Just, expeditious, and inexpensive determination. 
	(a) To avoid unnecessary cumulative evidence, the Presiding Officer may limit the .number of witnesses or the time for testimony upon a particula1'iissue. .
	. (b) The Presi~ing Officer shall not_order or ap~r~~el~~Wi'f'~tyle discovery against nonpartles; and unless stipulated to by all parties, the hean~gYldf~cer shall not order or approve . ·1 1 d' b . c· ·1 1 d'I, ulld . . . db
	1sc0,y
	llYre1ers'to proce
	y

	c1v1 sty e 1scovery etween parties. 1v1 sty e ures 1111tiate 
	.~
	1 
	b 
	11 

	parties under judicial rules of civil procedure, sp~witiqatiy inc1~d1Wg,but not limited to, 
	1
	depositions on oral or written questions, writtertlln't~l-~·ogatories, retjbg~ts for production of documents or thmgs, requests to enter an
	.
	l
	d ,pPriit' h . '1'!1H1w I

	01\ ot er property, p ys1ca an,u,menta 
	11. 1
	examinations, and requests for admissions. 1~ll j , 1111!1j
	1
	1
	1 

	1 . . I' f · 111111,l ,r1.11!l!IP· f :11111,.1)
	1-6-lo Stlpu at10n as to Fmd ngs o Facts, Cone usl'0ns o Law. Nothmgm these 'b' p . f ll l~•lfll!•', . lft!IIH, I . fi d' f-C
	. 
	h

	1 h .11
	ru es s a pro 1 1t artles rom enterp1g vuo appropriatest~pu at10ns as to m mgs o iact, 
	1

	· f 1 .d d' · ·flPT 111!!11, . h IH,·fi' ..
	1

	I
	cone us10ns O aw, an con ltlons, 1 ·,w,COl~Ylj~ g t e Sl\Tf[ i1 pet1t10n. 1111 
	11

	(1) A Petition~~jY,,ho desires to,!~n.ter intoll~~tip:ulatio~l!ihitll prepare a stipulation as to anwR 1:~Yl·fil~tii'11gs offact}!bbnclust~HY~f!l~w. a~d)conditions, ifany,
	1

	11
	conce~mgthe ~~ililclipetitio~t11i'i'iiil'" ··
	111111 
	1
	(2) All Par~ie11Jhap sii the propos~k.~tipulation as to any or all proposed findings
	1
	1
	1

	,!!]li:lr~lf~a\ con~1W1t81~~IJrU~ an~ con~iiions, and proposed decision and order, if 1111
	ll
	1
	1

	~t·Jn~.fild,-shall Y~&mit su~h Ytl~Ulatjdl{ to the Commission seven (7) days prior
	1

	t( 'lfll1111 fl\tl, 'l!lllj, . . ...
	1

	to the Agep:oy Hean,rg !date, unless otherwise permitted by the Pres1dmg Officer.11 111p11 •:11 11 
	Ill 
	II

	(3) .
	(3) .
	(3) .
	(3) .
	lll!l!fihe Commis1f~fiimay 1'.Jij~Jre the patties to submit additional e~i~ence concei+~g the stipulation and proposed decision and order. 
	1


	1,11u11h . . l1ltJ h d d . . d d b d'
	Th


	(4) .
	(4) .
	e 0$mm1ss1dn ,may approve t e propose ec1s1on an or er y amen mg11;1 I. d d


	or adoptlt}g, wpropose or
	t1
	·tf!fllll'
	. . d 
	d

	ec1s10n an er.lll!ll!J' 1-6-11 Order of Agency Hearing Procedure. At the commencement of the Agency Hearing, the Presiding Officer may read the notice ofhearing and then briefly outline the procedures to be followed, which shall be in the following manner: 
	1 

	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	Ente1tain Requests for Intervention. All persons seeking to intervene as Parties shall be asked to identify themselves and their counsel. The Presiding Officer shall proceed in accordance with Chapter 4 herein. 

	(b) 
	(b) 
	Order ofPresentation. The Petitioner's presentation shall be first, followed by the 


	2 .
	Department and then the intervenors. In cases where there multiple Intervenors, the Presiding Officer shall establish the order or the Intervenors' presentations. 
	(c) 
	(c) 
	(c) 
	Public Testimony. The presiding officer shall then suspend the rules and open the Agency Hearing to the public as required by law. Cross-examination of public witnesses shall not be allowed of the Petitioner aii.d Intervenors. 

	(d) 
	(d) 
	Close Public Testimony. Upon the admission or all public evidence, the Presiding officer shall close the public testimony portion of the Agency Hearing. 

	(e) 
	(e) 
	Additional Testimony. The Presiding Officer shall~Ji0,w the submission of 


	1
	additional written evidence from public witnesses up to sefJb!('7)days after the close ofthe Agency Hearing in cases where the Commission does n ·i11ri~b action on the same day. 
	1
	1

	1111 11 ''11111,
	111 

	(f) Request To Submit Proposed Findings oflf'act, ConcluYi?ns ofLaw, Decision And 
	Order When The~·e Is ~o Inter:ention. I~ casesd~?~ii_t~ere is n~ id <:;f~~~tion, the Petit~oner may, after the ev1dentlary portion but pnor tqjlfle!Hec1s1on-makmg po itiqh ofthe Meetmg (when a duly-made motion by the Commissiori ttb,~ct on the docket is rrid~~) request the 
	1111 
	D

	. b . d F' d' f F 'i•JI ill l . 'Ji fL 1,. fL
	opportumty to su m1t a propose m mgs o act, tp nc US\Oti~•o aw, eo.\S ?in o aw. 
	1
	Should the Petitioner not submit a reg_uest at such tnJJ~jthe~Uitioner's right t~ s~bmit such 
	1

	. d l'h,-il' i:.• C . . I, 1J.i_!IIJ . h ' .
	document s ha11 be deemed waive a 4 tue omm1ss10n 1p~Xcommence wit appropnate decision-making action. Ifa request i'!~!de)'t~e Presiding!W'fficer may continue the docket 
	1

	I 1ii;JI , • {1I11,,, ,
	, "II 

	and set a timetable for the conduct or tHy ,post-Heanng Procee'11,11gs pursuant to Section 1-6
	18. Iii It 'll ' q I I I I I 'II 
	1 1111. ,:jlll!ll1111 I I Ill 
	11111lj!ill!llill11
	1
	111 
	1 

	(g) 
	(g) 
	(g) 
	Reconvetj ls,of Cont~~trd Case He~ri,~g !Portion: Ir \,yases where there are Intervenors or advers€ ~a,ties andl~lcontestedl~~se Hearing is reconvened to complete the presentation ofevidenc~Ht~PresM· ~ilOfficer &i~~Iexplain the Proceedings, note and discuss 
	11


	b. 
	b. 
	natty, 1 a y are su m1tte, an
	· tt..'' P d' 
	1 
	1
	ft · 
	11 
	I 
	'f\ H
	· 
	d
	d 1 d · · h



	o ~ect10ns to ue1 xocee mgs ·om eao t 1en a mm1ster t e 
	hn b 

	1
	Oath to,,ci~~e~sek' i111111i!I ll;l1(1'•1;l l,i 1!11111,, I 
	1
	1

	1
	"1 l 1 II !1! ,t11i I 1(n \ ;: ·oss-Examinatidn Each f.m-cy shall have the right to conduct such cross
	1

	1 
	examinati~-m,¼[ 1other Paitie~iJJct their Withesses as may be required for a full and true 
	'II ~ tl°I! I fl 
	disclosure oft ~ ~acts. The orde1of cross-·examination and re-cross shall be determined by the Presiding Off(~ er. The Co~~ission shall have the right to question each Party after 
	1
	1

	. f 1lfllt h ,JIii p .
	1
	comp et10n o re-cros~I fl t e o!t~~r arties. 1,11 ,111111 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	~ J Each Patty shall be afforded the opportunity ror rebuttal in the same order as item 1-6-11 (h) above. 
	Rebuttal Evideh~9
	1


	U) 
	U) 
	Close Contested Case Hearing. Upon completion of all testimony and evidence submitted by each party and their witnesses, the Presiding Officer shall close the Contested Case p01tion ofthe Hearing. 


	1-6-12 Co-Counsel. No more than two (2) counsels may appear for any Pa1ty at any Proceeding before the Commission. Where a Party is represented by more than one counsel, only one ofthe counsel shall be permitted to cross-examine a witness or to state any objections or to make closing arguments. 
	3 
	1-6-13 Requests For Subpoenas. 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	Subpoenas of Witnesses. Requests for the issuance ofsubpoenas requiring the atterdance ofa witness for the purpose oftaking oral testimony before the Commission shall be in writing, and shall state the reasons why the testimony or the witness is believed to be material and relevant to the issues involved. Only Parties or a Commissioner may request the issuance ofa subpoena. 

	(b) 
	(b) 
	Every subpoena shall state the title ofthe proceeding for which it is to be issued, and shall command each person to whom it is directed to attend and give testimony at a time and place therein specified. , H: i11
	1



	1I• 
	iJ11jli

	(c) Subpoenas Duces Tecum. Requests for the ~s~~~~~Ti or subpoenas for the 
	1
	production ofdocuments or records shall be in writin~jjs,ila'II s~b'cify the particular document 
	• 1, •t! !Jt I ,
	or record, or part thereor, desJl'ed to be produced; and snail state qe•reasons why the production thereof is believed to be material ard11 &i~vant to the iss~~k'involved. 
	'\1!!1 jl 'll!lli; I 
	'\1!!1 jl 'll!lli; I 
	(d) Who May Issue Subpoenas. Subpoenas may be is~ped by the ~~~ir or in his absence, any Commissioner. No subpoena shall be!J~wed ~~l~~s the Party 1(e~uesting the 
	• • I • • • 
	,, :JI,. ,I I I .' ll/1,
	subpoena has complied with the pror ~lons herem and~1v 1the name and address ofthe desired witness. Signed and sealed b\ lnk~\\bpoenas willP?i be issued to anyone. The name 
	1
	1 
	1
	11

	1 
	and address ofthe witness shall be ins~;t~~!lti!tl~,r original S\1~~oena, a copy ofwhich shall be filed in the proceeding. Subpoenas shall .~ow'kt 1~ hose instciHe,~ the subpoena is issued. The Parties at whose instance a·riubRoena is issued shall ~rt'·apge for ~bl·yice thereof, and shall file a 
	1 

	II 11'11 ,-1, • 1,11, 'IJI H!lj•II '1I
	1 
	1 
	1

	return and acknowledgmen 011 'service thereon. ,j I l'· j , 
	1 

	'1111_1 } j ," I I 1, 
	(e) Fees and Mi)~eage. WitAe ses sum~q~~d shall be paid the same fee and mileage as are paid witnesses in CiIJ~~'fr;Collrt~'ofthe State '6flHawai'i and such fees and mileage shall be 
	1
	1

	• llll'tt ·, 111, n 1 11111 \! ' 
	1
	1
	1

	paid by thel:Pany,at, hose instai1cethe w,ithe s appiear. 
	1

	1
	1
	1

	i 1111 pllil . 11! !!'11,' '1111!'1· '<11111111'"1 ljll
	1!: t) Oath. Witne~s6s·,shall Jl~worn unde1.to~th or affirmation prior to testifying. 
	1

	lij' 'II jl! .tt11'11 
	1111, 111!1 ld1h 
	. l-6Ji~l1Cons.olidation. ~pe Co~!ssion, upon its own initiative or upo? motion, may consolidate for h~anng or for other purposes, or may contemporaneously consider, two or more cl~1\nt olve subd\~1tially the same parties or issues which are the same or closely related if it fiqd~that s~1~Ii consolidation or contemporaneous consideration will be conducive to the propeh,1{spawWofits business and to the ends ofjustice and wm not unduly delay the Proceedings. •11111 
	Proceedings whi 
	1 
	1
	1
	1
	1

	1-6-15 Substitution ofParties. Upon motion and for good cause shown, the Commission may order substitution ofParties, except that in the case ofdeath ofa Party, substitution may be ordered without the filing ofa motion. 
	1-6-16 Motions. 
	(a) All motions, other than those made during a hearing, shall be made in writing to the Presiding Officer, shall state the reliefsought, and shall be accompanied by an affidavit, declaration, and/or memorandum setting forth the grounds upon which they are based. 
	4 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	All motions are non-hearing and shall be decided upon written submission, unless the Presiding Officer elects to set a time for hearing. 

	(c) 
	(c) 
	Unless otherwise specified by the Presiding Officer, a memorandum in opposition or a counter affidavit or declaration may be filed and served on all parties no later than fifteen (15) days after service of the motion. 

	(d) 
	(d) 
	No reply or supplemental memoranda shall be filed unless specifically allowed by the Presiding Officer. 

	(e) 
	(e) 
	The original documents and proof of service shall be ~\4~1with the commission. When service is made by mail, two calendar days shall be added to t.he i ~1·i6ds required in subsections (c). 


	,1:!llll11t!llh 
	(f) Unless otherwise specified by the Presiding Offi9er, all pretrial motions shall be filed no 
	later than twenty (20) days prior to the assigned Contes d .case hearinMqat . 111 11' 111 !I, 
	1

	1-6-17 Evidence. •11111 i: •li\J1iiiJ1 
	11 
	(a) Fann and Admissibility. The CommiJ~~f hall, ·~/be bound b)-f,1,j'awai'i Rules 
	1
	11

	l9r,rejection of e-l;,i~~Mpe: but may exercis~ 'its own 
	ofEvidence relating to the admissi,o''
	1
	1
	1

	. . . h . l . \ I t I I d . . H11 ,,. • • d
	d

	1scretlon m sue matter wit 1 a v1ew1owar s msunng t atuustice 1s serve . .I' I 11I ' "'' .
	1
	1

	(b) Burden of Proof. Except asqtherwj~e Pfovided by)aw, the Pa1iy initiating
	1

	1 
	Commission consideration shall have tnci;b\lrden ot'iproof, inciL~,·ng the burden of 'd''llll; • h b d 1fJl1 h d I Ill j
	1
	ence as 
	1

	producmgev1 we .asjt e ur en o ,•persua 1011.·1 e egree or quantum oproo
	. 
	.tl!,lj 
	f 
	f 

	I'"1i, · ,l I 'I 1J t ,I" 1 •111shall be a preponderw,ic;~ of tne evidence. Ii, IJ! ' ' ,,lil!'I 
	I 
	11 

	1
	11111 
	'
	1 

	1111, 11 11Iill! ' I . (c) Exclusion ~R~ rn~l~vant,at~rial. Asl~;m~tter ofpolicy, ~~e Co~ission shall provide for the exc1us1on orlw · 1eantV1mmatena1!10 · unduly repet1t10us ev1dence. 11llllllll11!111111,, LI! 11111 " '!Lilll1!111 'i
	1
	1
	1 
	11
	1
	11 
	1 
	1 

	11 
	1
	!Ruling. h~dR ·esidirig 0, fficer shall r,~l~ on the admissibility ofall evidence. Such 
	i!llt~) 

	1 ru mg maye rev1ewe D:Y. t e OIT\m1ss1on m eterm1111ng t e matter on its ments. n
	. i) J: b . l11tt1· 1 C J fl, . . . d !II . . h . . I 
	I

	'.!1 111. • t Ii I, h 1!11\h, d · · b h C · · · 
	d
	1

	extraor m~rn~ ctrcumstances, m:,ere proilfP,t eCISlOn y t e omm1ss1on IS necessary to
	1
	promote ju~h~~·,the Presiding b{ficer m aY,!refer the matter to the Commission for 
	11 
	1
	determination. I!\Iii 'li:ill 
	(e) ObjectiJ IJ.\,d E"9~~fions. When objections are made to the admission or 
	exclusion of evidence, thJps ;~l'.mds relied upon shall be stated briefly. Formal exceptions to rulings are unnecessary and,need not be taken. 
	(f) 
	(f) 
	(f) 
	Offer ofProof. An offer of proof for the record shall consist ofa statement of the substance ofthe evidence to which objection has been sustained. 

	(g) 
	(g) 
	Prepared Testimony. With the approval of the Presiding Officer, a witness may read into the record his testimony on direct examination. Before any prepared testimony is read, unless excused by the Presiding Officer, the witness shall deliver copies thereof to the Presiding Officer, t~e clerk reporter, and all counsel or Parties. Admissibility shall be subject to the rules governing oral testimony. If the Presiding Officer deems that substantial saving in 


	5 .
	time will result, a copy of the prepared testimony may be received in evidence without reading, provided that copies thereofshall have been served upon all Parties and the Commission to permit proper cross-examination ofthe witness on matters contained in said prepared testimony. 
	(h) 
	(h) 
	(h) 
	Documentary Evidence. Ifrelevant and material matter offered in evidence is embraced in a document containing other matters, the Party offering it shall designate specifically the matter so offered. Ifother matter in the document would unnecessarily encumber the record, the document will not be received in evidence, but at the discretion ofthe Presiding Officer, the relevant and material matter may be read into the record or copies thereof received as an exhibit. Other parties shall be afforded opportutlfY,
	1


	(i) 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	Exhibits. .•lil!lilllliltljjjjlJ

	. E h'b' h ll'b' !':l)I; I d ll!liii. l I 'bl d. h
	S


	(1) .
	(1) .
	Form-ize. x 1 its s a n e c ear y an perm~nent y eg1 e an m sue 


	1 
	form as may be prescrib~olby the Commission.JS¾hibits shall be bound or fo~ded to the respectit~~ap~,~-o~imat~~ize, whe1!b h,rfl~tical. Wherever practicable, sheets of each ex.1 bit shajillo'e numbered 'an1tl1·1data and other 
	1
	11

	'I "i if111 II' Tl II
	figures shallb(j1set foith in tabtUar or . .I · 
	1
	1

	1 
	(2) .Copies. Wheril~x~ibit~ are offere~1hier idence, and when practicable the original and twi 1~·e·(l2)!bcmies shal1H,elifurnished to the Presiding
	1
	1
	1
	1

	'11 1 ,v,,,, T[i 
	I 
	Officer with a copylto each Piflrcy to the Broceeding other than the , '·II 11 n.. fI II'I 1 f d
	omw1ss10n, un esl::;uccop ~sj' ave een prev10us yurms 1eor te 
	'1 l Ul.. .. 1 
	L
	h 
	' I,
	b
	• 
	. l 
	h

	I ~ {II JI ,,,,,fl, 1ll,1i'Jil!lll '1 11111 p 
	·esidirtg©f.ficer other:w~se I ,ijlllll
	l; Ill I '11,,1,111 l l 
	Ill
	! 
	1

	1
	·h1 II IUJ 
	1
	1 

	U) CommissionlR.:t ·cords. ] e file kept Dv'J{he Department on the matter pending before the Commission ~~111 con~titlhe:evidence·tol· the purposes ofan Agency Hearing.
	'I 'llll' Ill II ,·11 •H11 ,1 I
	1 jl ' 
	1
	r1/ ~ ii I' '. II 11 H1, tiiiI1'. !, 1II 1:, i1 
	111 
	,,
	1
	1
	1

	;j~l~J Official Noti'9eof Fact;S·,Officia ht>tice, may be taken ofsuch matters as may be
	1 judici~ll~noticed by theJb4rts ofth ;~tate ofHawai'i. Official notice may also be taken of 
	1 
	1
	1

	generallyH~1~.gnized teclmic:%,or sd~l~ti:fic facts within the Commission's specialized 
	1

	1
	knowledge Wtj~n Parties and ~ten notig~'either before or during the hearing or the material so noticed and aff~Hied the oppo1{~ility to contest the facts so noticed. 
	. . 11111i, . ,d !ll . ..
	'11"1 'I''
	(1) 
	(1) 
	(1) 
	(1) 
	Addit1onal!Ev1dency,~o supplemental evidence shall be accepted mto the record after the Agency HeariHtis ~1bked. However, the Presiding Officer may, at the hearing, require the production of further d fH~nce upon any issue. Upon agreement of the Paities, the Presiding Officer may authorize the filing of specific documentary evidence as a pa1t of the record within a fixed time after submission reserving exhibit number therefor. 
	1


	1-6-l8 Post Hearing Procedures for Hearing Conducted By Commission. 

	(a) 
	(a) 
	Correction ofTranscripts in Cases where Transcripts are Provided. Motions to correct a transcript shall be filed with the Commission within fourteen (14) days after receipt of the transcript unless otherwise directed by the Presiding Officer, and shall be served on all Parties. Motions to correct transcripts shall ceitify the date when the transcript was received. 


	6 
	Any objections to proposed corrections must be served on all Parties and received by the Commission at least seven (7) days after the date of service of the corrections. If no objections are received, the transcript will, upon approval of the Commission, be changed to reflect such corrections. If objections are received, the motion will be acted upon with due consideration to the stenographic transcript of the hearing. 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	Submittals of Proposed Decisions and Orders. Each Party to the proceeding may submit a proposed decision and order to the Commission which shall include findings of fact and conclusions of law. Said proposals shall be served to each Party to the proceeding. 

	(
	(
	c) Timing of Submittals. Unless otherwise directed b)jjtffe Presiding Officer, in proceedings where transcripts are not required, submittal 9f jptoposed decision and order shall be made within thi1ty (30) days from the date of closi'1gi?.f the hearing. In proceedings whereby transcripts are required, submittal shall be m~UFl~itW¾jfi utteen (14) days from the date or service ofthe u·anscript. i1Jj!J1 'lilll 
	11 



	11 
	(d) Submittal of Exceptions to DecisidU1~Id Order. Submittal 1ithe Commission of 
	'll1I I .Hlj
	exceptions to a proposed decision and order shal be made within seven (7J. jd1',YS from the date ofservice of said proposed decision and order, or witl{ih, l ~h p ),~;'of time spec'iM~« lbri' the Presiding Officer. Such submittal shall be servedwr1rll parties. I 1111111 11l 1,l 
	1
	1 

	. .11] ,!lli!!llltc t I•, . .
	(e) Fmal Arguments. The Pres1~}ng U1ifjcer shall e am sh the date for presentat1011 offinal arguments which shall occur i~t~e fo'ii8U,ihorder, iirilbss otherwise directed by 
	1
	9
	1

	the Presiding Officer: , !ltjjll!IIP! ·11111, ' 1l'!il!lj· •,l!Jjj1 11!1•11 ,_I 111111, l'Jt. ,1l!ll1 ll_r '•I 1111111, • • 
	1 
	1 

	(I ) I11i,Wpterta111°:~n11t·orf submbl~tU~lrnc, ot10n~, ~ q~ptlons or corrections to 
	·tq~j1l·anscn~l'j 1 any, y ifjlh omm1ss10n;Ill ,,, I1111,, .., l'J 
	i1111\!iK1f~Hl1III Presen. filip of oniJ,ffP?i~me ~~ by the Pet_itioner, Depaitment, then 
	I
	w

	I11[Ihtervendl}ll(11 cases ~l~ylelhi1b are multiple Intervenors, the 
	1
	1111 ./nine their order of presentation.
	•I ~f(\ijJ~g·'l\,1t•II di¥e,. 11111 1.
	l!!t(3) Closingl~rgumentJ/or rebuttal by the Petitioner. 
	l1lJdlh11 .Offi I ' • 1· . . C: l


	'lllli~! 
	'lllli~! 
	I
	The Presi '~m11 1cer nt~ir,,set appropnate time imitat10ns 1or ora argument provided that not mbi·i:than on ~(b hour on each side of the Proceeding will be allowed for 
	1

	11111
	. h . 11 ea! e f h omm1ss· 1on. argument wit out specrn ''t e C · 
	I 1111 jl 
	(f) 
	(f) 
	(f) 
	Issuance ofDecision and Order. A Proceeding shall stand submitted for decision by the Commission after the taking ofevidence and the presentation of such oral argument as may have been prescribed by the Presiding Officer. The Commission may: 

	(1) .
	(1) .
	Adopt a decision and order as submitted by any of the Parties, with or without revisions; 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	Take action on the matter and may require the Department or a Patty to the proceeding to submit a written decision and order which conforms with the evidence; or 


	7 
	(3) .
	(3) .
	(3) .
	If no proposed findings offact, conclusions of law, decision and order have been submitted by any party, take action on the matter and require the Director to notify the Parties. 

	(g) 
	(g) 
	Service of Decisions. Decisions shall be served in writing by the Director by mailing copies thereof (return receipt) to the Parties of record. When service is not accomplished by mail, it may be effected by personal delivery of a copy thereof. When a pruty to a Proceeding has appeared by a representative, service upon such representative or counsel shall be deemed to be service upon the Party. 


	(h) Withdrawal of Application. In cases where an flRil~lk\\on is withdrawn by the 
	~~I,~ /on and prim: to th: r~tification or effective date ofsuch final dec1s10n and order, the aBph·catA~,i i?ir substantially smi1lar application shall not be resubmitted sooner than on~l'(l)' year folio 'iirn the withdrawal. 
	Petition~r after an adverse decisio.n.is rendered by the, C

	Illl I'' tp iI
	(i) Appeals. Any Party aggrieved by a MHJ order and decisi6W(M the Planning Commission may obtain Judicial reviews the-i!d~£·n the manner pursuaHtll~IChapter 91 ,
	1

	1
	'llj I .1111 11
	1. ·1 jtll 11· 
	HRS 
	111 

	, • 111111111r1 I1 .1111,
	1-6-19 Post A enc Hearin' 1#1:0cedures for HeahH , onducted b Hearm Officer. 
	11'1:11111, 1 '!!111 
	1
	111 
	1 

	I 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	(a) 
	Recommendation ofHeariddmr ,dgt)i , lillllj

	(I) 
	(I) 
	tI»Slll~Ompletion Jf ll.king ~~fil~Jfriden~~Jllhe Hearing Officer shall 


	1
	1.1 11
	j

	11P.'ii!p~}~~ ·enort settih~lfo -th~p' 1iotpH 6'cMijndi~gs offact, conclusions of
	1
	1
	1

	1[. P' 11r1i 'm IIT ''II Ill
	1
	9 
	1

	law, the reasons therefore, and a recommended order, and shall submit 
	1 
	1

	'1' .d I
	ll
	tl\~/f port otl e.Procee iq~rto the Commission. .11ll1111u I!!II,,11IIIII II 1l!1 1·,. ,1;!P .
	1
	1

	1JI 1(0J 1.HI 111T,he reo9 ·~shall ih'el~'~e\he Pftition, notice of hearing, motions, 
	Ill

	11. 11
	11111 I ' 1rUlings, Mahs, transc~-i~t1b~th~ hearing, ifrequired, documentary 
	1111/1 1J lltl l(h'
	1

	lj eviqence, st1p lations, proposed findings, or other documents 
	l

	1Prn 't 1111·
	llj submitted by t 1~jfi~11:ies, objections to the conduct ofthe hearing and 
	l 
	' 1' 11I 
	1

	I
	tt l1i, L,
	(3) .The Hea ·i.ng Officer shall cause a copy of the rep011 to be served upon 
	I II, ,i .1 ,1
	alltF? rti~s to the Proceedings. 
	11 
	IP 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	Exception to Hearing Officer's Report and Recommendations. 

	(1) .
	(1) .
	Prior to seven (7) working days after service ofthe report and recommendations by the Hearing Officer, a Pru1:y may file with the Commission, exceptions to the repo11. Such Pai1:y shall serve copies of exceptions upon each party to the Proceeding. 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	The exceptions shall: 


	8 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	Set fmth specifically the questions ofprocedure, fact, law, or policy, to which exceptions are taken; 

	(ii) 
	(ii) 
	Identify that part ofthe Hearing Officer's report and recommended order to which objections are made; 


	(iii) Designate by page citation to the pmtions of the record relied upon; 
	(iv) State all the grounds for exceptions to a ruling, finding, conclusion or recommendation. The grounds not cited or specifically urged are 
	waived. .1 11illi1, 
	(c) Support of Hearing Officer's Report and Re ~~W ndations. 
	II I 
	ql"Ii
	l1111i 'I! t111 
	(1) .Prior to seven (7) working d~ys after serviceof the exceptions taken to 
	1

	11 11 
	1 .

	• Offi " ·,, .. ,. h p I • fil • h h
	h H .

	t e e~ru~g 1cer s r~?P~lany ot er a1t~ mfl~ ll 1_e wit t e . Corrumss1on argumentS ·in~uppo1t ofthe Hearmg Oi[!c9r's recommendat1ons. Such Paity shall serve copi~s4pon each pa ·ty to the Prgbe~ding. 
	1
	1

	'lit. .I ill' 111 11
	,,1111 ·1111 1'11
	(2) .
	1

	The submittal sh~r·1111 . 1111:11, 1II· . 'fi 1ll,lll!l\11, • f I dld f: l l'
	(
	1
	1 

	1) Answer spec1 1cat, Y. tHep9mts o proc ;i:ire, act, aw or po icy to 
	1

	. h . 1h ' k . 11,11
	h

	w 1c exceptions were ta en; ,d I · !
	I I . q t!j·
	'I'll 

	. ' '11' '% I Iii 1l.Jtii!111 Iii 
	1 
	1

	(ii)iState the f: cts and reasons wh1,the 1;~po1t and recommendations must be *. Hit I 11 I' I lli l1 ii111111
	1
	11
	1
	1

	a1f.Ufped· and tj'lllj 'jl1 · 1 ,l
	1
	1

	llll!lt ' .ll! 11., '!l 
	.. . 1l1i, I ..ll,1, . ..
	(111) D~~1g ate M1~age c1tat1on the port10ns ofthe record relied upon . r[dlji'IIJll!llll!l11,;'I~ j 1111!~1!1 lliq~llll.ll,,1l'll,IJ1,
	1
	111 

	(d) v a 1gume1~ti8 e101e Heomm1ss1on. ,, ,ill i1' 11 :11 11 I I II 
	1
	0
	1 

	P tu!\ 11 ~ c ·
	111 

	11,'\'V a aity lfe~ll'es to argue ora y e1ore t e omm1ss10n, a wntten request
	1 
	'1'!
	11)
	If 
	· ' ·
	b
	h
	· 
	· 

	1
	with reasdns therefore shall accompany the exceptions filed. The
	''!Ill 

	lJjl
	' .·1111 • 

	1l,1•commission may grant the request. 
	1

	t I , 1l 'I Ii I 
	i.!l111 1111 
	1

	(2) .The\::ommi~i,ion may direct oral argument on its own motion. 
	1111111''
	"illlll
	11 

	(e) 
	(e) 
	(e) 
	J 
	Commission 
	Action.II 



	(1) .
	(1) .
	In the event no statement of exceptions is filed, the Commission may proceed to reverse, modify, or adopt the recommendations ofthe Hearing Officer. 

	(2) .
	(2) .
	(2) .
	Upon the filing of the exceptions and suppo1t documents, the Commission may: 

	(i) 
	(i) 
	(i) 
	Render its decision upon the record; 

	(ii) 
	(ii) 
	Iforal argument has been allowed, the Commission may render its decision after oral argument; or 




	9 .
	(iii) Reopen the docket and take further evidence or may take such other disposition ofthe case that is necessary under the circumstances. 
	Figure
	10 .
	111 llljj· th: repg*il f. the Fi~~ring Officer and all other matters placed in 111ev1denc~.I 
	1 
	1 

	V. Administrative Matters 
	V. Administrative Matters 
	A. Discussion with eGovemment Services & Customer Services Representative regarding the Development and Implementation ofa New Website for the Board 
	No Handouts 

	V. Administrative Matters 
	V. Administrative Matters 
	B.Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Chapter 201M, HRS 
	§201M-5 Small business regulatory review board; powers. (a) There shall be established within the department of business, economic development, and tourism, for administrative purposes , a small business regulatory review board to review any proposed new or amended rule or to consider any request from small business owners for review of any rule adopted by a state agency and to make recommendations to the agency or the legislature regarding the need for a rule change or legislation. For requests regarding c
	(b ) The board s ha l l consist of nine members , who shall be appointed by the governor pursuant t o section 26-34; provided t hat : 
	(1) 
	(1) 
	(1) 
	Three members shall be appointed from a list ofnominees submitted by the president ofthe senate; 

	(2) 
	(2) 
	Three members shall be appointed from a list ofnominees submitted by the speaker ofthe house ofrepresentatives; 

	(3) 
	(3) 
	Two members shall be appointed by the governor; 

	(4) 
	(4) 
	The director ofbusiness, economic development, and tourism, or the director's designated representative, shall serve as an ex officio[,] voting member ofthe board; 

	(5) 
	(5) 
	The appointments shall reflect representation ofa variety ofbusinesses in the State; 

	(6) 
	(6) 
	No more than two members shall be representatives from the same type ofbusiness; and 

	(7) 
	(7) 
	There shall be at least one representative from each county. 


	For the purposes of paragraphs (1) and (2) , nominations shall be solicited from small business organizations, state and county chambers of commerce, and other interested business organizations . 
	(c) 
	(c) 
	(c) 
	Except for t he ex officio member, all members of the board shall be either a current or former owner or officer of a business and shall not be an officer or empl oyee of the federal , state, or county government . A majority of t he board shall elect t he chairperson . The chairperson s hall serve a term of not more than one year, unless removed earlier by a two-thirds vote of all members to which t he board is entitled. 

	(d) 
	(d) 
	A majority of all t he members to which t he board is entitled shall constitute a quorum to do business , and the concurrence o f a majority of all t he members to which the board is entitled shall be necessary to make any action of the board valid. 

	(e) 
	(e) 
	In addition to any other powers provided by this chapter, the board may : 

	(
	(
	1) Adopt any rules necessary to implement this chapter; 

	(2) 
	(2) 
	Organize and hold conferences on problems affecting small business; and 

	(3) 
	(3) 
	Do any and all things necessary to effectuate the purposes ofthis chapter. 

	(f) 
	(f) 
	The board shall submit an annual report to the legislature twenty days prior to each regular session detailing any requests from small business owners for review of any rule adopted by a state agency, and any recommendations made by the board to an agency or the legislature regarding the need for a rule change or legislation. The report shall also contain a summary of the comments made by the board to agencies regarding its review of proposed new or amended rules . [L 1998, c 168, pt of §2, §5; am L 2002, c


	Previous Vol04 Ch0201-0257 Next 
	§201M-7 Periodic review; evaluation report. (a) Each agency having rul es that affect small business shall submit by June 30 of each odd-numbered year, a list of those rules to the small business regulatory review board; provided that, by June 30 of each year, each agency shall submit to the small business regul atory review board a list of a ny rules to be amended or repealed, based upon any new, amended, or repealed statute. The agency s hall also submit a report describing t he specific public purpose or
	(b) 
	(b) 
	(b) 
	The small business regulatory review board shall provide to the head of each agency a list of any rules adopted by the agency that affect small business and have generated complaints or concerns , including any rules that the board determines may duplicate, overlap, or conflict with other rules, or exceed s t atutory authority. Within forty-five days after being notified by the board of the list, the agency shall submit a written report to the board in response to the complaints or concerns . The agency sha

	(c) 
	(c) 
	The board may solicit testimony from the public regarding any report submitted by the agency under this section at a public meeting held pursuant to chapter 92. Upon considerati on of any report submitted by an agency under this section and any public testimony, the board shall submit an evaluation report to t he next regular session of the legislature. The evaluation report shall include an assessment as to whether t he public interest significantly outweighs a rule's effect on small business and any legis


	Previous Vol04 Ch0201-0257 Next 
	V. Administrative Matters 
	C. Update on this Board's Newly Created Position, .Office Assistant III .
	No Handouts 

	V. Administrative Matters 
	V. Administrative Matters 
	D.Update on the Board's Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board's Powers, under Section 201M-5, HRS 
	No Handouts 








